Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja

Improving Crop Productivity in Sustainable Agriculture

Related Titles

Tuteja, N., Gill, S. S., Tiburcio, A. F., Tuteja, R. (eds.)

Improving Crop Resistance to Abiotic Stress 2012 ISBN: 978-3-527-32840-6

Meksem, K., Kahl, G. (eds.)

The Handbook of Plant Mutation Screening Mining of Natural and Induced Alleles 2010 ISBN: 978-3-527-32604-4

Jenks, M. A., Wood, A. J. (eds.)

Genes for Plant Abiotic Stress 2009 ISBN: 978-0-8138-1502-2

Hirt, H. (ed.)

Plant Stress Biology From Genomics to Systems Biology 2010 ISBN: 978-3-527-32290-9 Hayat, S., Mori, M., Pichtel, J., Ahmad, A. (eds.)

Nitric Oxide in Plant Physiology 2010 ISBN: 978-3-527-32519-1

Yoshioka, K., Shinozaki, K. (eds.)

Signal Crosstalk in Plant Stress Responses 2009 ISBN: 978-0-8138-1963-1

Kahl, G., Meksem, K. (eds.)

The Handbook of Plant Functional Genomics Concepts and Protocols 2008 ISBN: 978-3-527-31885-8

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja

Improving Crop Productivity in Sustainable Agriculture

WILEY-BLACKWELL

The Editors

Dr. Narendra Tuteja

International Center for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (ICGEB) Aruna Asaf Ali Marg New Delhi 110 067 India

Dr. Sarvajeet Singh Gill

Plant Molecular Biology Int. Center for Genetic Engin. and Biotechnology (ICGEB) Aruna Asaf Ali Marg New Delhi 110 067 India

and

Stress Physiology and Molecular Biology Lab Centre for Biotechnology MD University Rohtak - 124 001 Haryana (India)

Dr. Renu Tuteja

International Center for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (ICGEB) Aruna Asaf Ali Marg New Delhi 110 067 India

Picture Credits for Cover

Strawberries © Margarita Borodina, Fotolia.com Groundnut Plants © axway, Fotolia.com Millet field © stoonn, Fotolia.com Abiotic stress tolerance QTLs mapped on the barley genome, excerpt, © Nicola Pecchioni Roses © PS Ahuja Rice © Tatyana Nyshko, Fotolia.com Pulses © moonrise, Fotolia.com Limit of Liability/Disclaimer of Warranty: While the publisher and author have used their best efforts in preparing this book, they make no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this book and specifically disclaim any implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. No warranty can be created or extended by sales representatives or written sales materials. The Advice and strategies contained herein may not be suitable for your situation. You should consult with a professional where appropriate. Neither the publisher nor authors shall be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damages, including but not limited to special, incidental, consequential, or other damages.

Library of Congress Card No.: applied for

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data A catalogue record for this book is available from

the British Library. Bibliographic information published by the Deutsche

Nationalbibliothek

The Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliografie; detailed bibliographic data are available on the Internet at http://dnb.d-nb.de.

© 2013 Wiley-VCH Verlag & Co. KGaA, Boschstr. 12, 69469 Weinheim, Germany

Wiley-Blackwell is an imprint of John Wiley & Sons, formed by the merger of Wiley's global Scientific, Technical, and Medical business with Blackwell Publishing.

All rights reserved (including those of translation into other languages). No part of this book may be reproduced in any form – by photoprinting, microfilm, or any other means – nor transmitted or translated into a machine language without written permission from the publishers. Registered names, trademarks, etc. used in this book, even when not specifically marked as such, are not to be considered unprotected by law.

 Print ISBN:
 978-3-527-33242-7

 ePDF ISBN:
 978-3-527-66518-1

 ePub ISBN:
 978-3-527-66519-8

 mobi ISBN:
 978-3-527-66520-4

 oBook ISBN:
 978-3-527-66533-4

Cover Design Adam-Design, Weinheim

Typesetting Thomson Digital, Noida, India

Printing and Binding Markono Print Media Pte Ltd, Singapore

Printed in Singapore



Professor G.S. Khush (August 22, 1935)

Professor G.S. Khush was born in a small village in Punjab, India, and did B.Sc. in 1955 from Government Agricultural College (now Punjab Agricultural University), Ludhiana, and Ph.D. in 1960 from the University of California, Davis. After serving as an Assistant Geneticist at University of California, Davis, for 7 years, he joined International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), Los Banos, Philippines (1967), as a Plant Breeder. He was promoted as Head of Plant Breeding Department in 1972 and became Principal Plant Breeder and Head of Division of Plant Breeding. Genetics and Biochemistry (1986). Professor Khush is a world-renowned plant breeder who has made enormous contribution to the development of more than 300 high-yielding rice varieties that played significant role toward achieving "Green Revolution," thereby boosting rice production. Professor Khush provided excellent leadership for the global rice improvement program benefiting millions of resource-poor rice growers in the world. A semi-dwarf rice variety IR36 developed by him was one of the most widely grown rice varieties in the world during 1980s. IR64 developed during 1980s is the most widely planted rice variety in the world. In India, Professor Khush has been actively involved in the development of Plant Breeding and Agriculture Biotechnology. He has authored 3 books, edited 6 books, 40 review articles, 45 book chapters, and 160 research papers. His scientific work featured in the most prestigious international journals. Professor Khush received many awards and honors from various scientific bodies, such as Borlaug Award (1977), Japan Prize (1987), World Food Prize (1996), Rank Prize (1998), Wolf Prize (2000), and Padma Shri from the President of India. He received D.Sc. (hc) degrees from 10 universities, including Punjab Agricultural University, Jawahar Lal Nehru Agriculture University, De Montfort University, Cambridge University, and Ohio State University. He is elected to the Fellowship of Indian Academy of Sciences, Bangalore; National Academy of Sciences (India), Allahabad; National Academy of Agricultural Sciences, New Delhi; Indian National Science Academy (INSA), New Delhi; the Academy of Sciences for the Developing World; Chinese Academy of Sciences; Russian Academy of Agricultural Sciences; US National Academy of Sciences; and The Royal Society (London). At present, Professor Khush is serving as Adjunct Professor in University of California, Davis.

This book is dedicated to Prof. G.S. Khush, the undisputed Hero of Rice Revolution.

Contents

Foreword XIX Preface XXI List of Contributors XXV

PART I Climate Change and Abiotic Stress Factors 1

1 Climate Change and Food Security 3

R.B. Singh

- 1.1 Background and Introduction 3
- 1.2 State of Food Security 6
- 1.3 Climate Change Impact and Vulnerability 9
- 1.4 Natural Resources Management 13
- 1.5 Adaptation and Mitigation 17
- 1.6 Climate Resilient Agriculture The Way Forward 18 References 22
- 2 Improving Crop Productivity under Changing Environment 23
 - Navjot K. Dhillon, Satbir S. Gosal, and Manjit S. Kang
- 2.1 Introduction 23
- 2.1.1 Global Environmental Change Alters Crop Targets 28
- 2.1.2 Crop Productivity 28
- 2.1.3 Climatic Factors Affecting Crop Production 29
- 2.1.3.1 Precipitation 29
- 2.1.3.2 Temperature 29
- 2.1.3.3 Atmospheric Humidity 30
- 2.1.3.4 Solar Radiation 30
- 2.1.3.5 Wind Velocity 30
- 2.1.4 Plant Genetic Engineering 31
- 2.1.4.1 Engineering for Herbicide Resistance 32
- 2.1.4.2 Engineering for Insect Resistance 32
- 2.1.4.3 Engineering for Disease Resistance 33

VII

VIII Contents

2.1.4.4	Engineering for Improving Nutritional Quality 36
2.1.4.5	Engineering for Male Sterility 36
2.1.4.6	Engineering for Molecular Farming/Pharming 37
2.1.4.7	Engineering for Improving Postharvest Traits 37
2.1.4.8	Engineering for Abiotic Stress Tolerance 38
2.1.5	Molecular Breeding 39
2.2	Conclusions 40
	References 40
3	Genetic Engineering for Acid Soil Tolerance in Plants 49
2 1	Suguriku Mishiru, Linguruj Sunoo, unu Sunjio K. Punuu
5.1 2.1	Deutotaucion 49
5.Z 2 7 1	Al Induced Morphophysiological Changes in Posts 50
2.2.1	Nogative Influence of Al on Cytocholotal Network of Diant Collar 51
3.2.2	Interaction of Λ^{13+} long with Cell Well and Plagma Membrane 52
3.2.5	Ovidative Stress Desponse upon Al Stress 52
3.2.7	Aluminum Tolerance Mechanisms in Plants 53
331	Preventing the Entry of Al into Plant Cell 53
332	Role of Organic Acids in External and Internal Detoxification of Al 54
3.4	Aluminum Signal Transduction in Plants 55
3.5	Genetic Approach for Development of Al-Tolerant Plants 56
3.6	Transcriptomics and Proteomics as Tools for Unraveling Al Responsive
510	Genes 59
3.7	Future Perspectives 60
	References 61
4	Evaluation of Tropospheric O_3 Effects on Global Agriculture:
	A New Insight 69
	Richa Rai, Abhijit Sarkar, S.B. Agrawal, and Madhoolika Agrawal
4.1	Introduction 69
4.2	Tropospheric O ₃ Formation and Its Recent Trend 71
4.2.1	Projected Trends of Ozone Concentrations 74
4.3	Mechanism of O ₃ Uptake 75
4.3.1	Mode of Action 76
4.3.2	O ₃ Sensing and Signal Transduction 76
4.3.3	ROS Detoxification Mechanisms: From Apoplast to Symplast 77
4.3.4	Physiological Responses 80
4.3.4.1	Photosynthesis 80
4.3.5	Cultivar Sensitivity in Relation to Growth and Yield 84
4.4	Looking Through the "-Omics" at Post-Genomics Era 87
4.4.1	Evolution of Multi-Parallel "-Omics" Approaches in Modern
	Biology 87
4 4 9	
4.4.2	"-Omics" Response in Ozone-Affected Crop Plants: An In Vivo

- 4.4.2.1 Case Studies in Major Crop Plants 88
- Different Approaches to Assess Impacts of Ozone on Agricultural 4.5 Crops 92
- Tropospheric O₃ and Its Interaction with Other Components of Global 4.6 Climate Change and Abiotic Stresses 94
- 4.6.1 Elevated CO₂ and O₃ Interaction 94
- 4.6.2 O₃ and Drought Interaction 95
- O₃ and UV-B Interaction 95 4.6.3
- 4.7 Conclusions 96 References 97

PART II Methods to Improve Crop Productivity 107

5 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases in Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Crop Plants: "-Omics" Approaches 109

Monika Jaggi, Meetu Gupta, Narendra Tuteja, and Alok Krishna Sinha

- 5.1 Introduction 109
- 5.2 MAPK Pathway and Its Components 112
- 5.2.1 MAP3Ks 112
- 5.2.2 MAP2Ks 114
- 5.2.3 MAPKs 114
- 5.3 Plant MAPK Signaling Cascade in Abiotic Stress 115
- MAPK Cascades under Salt Stress 117 5.3.1
- 5.3.2 Drought Stress-Induced MAPKs 117
- 5.3.3 Temperature Stress Response and MAPK Cascades 119
- 5.3.4 Activation of MAPKs by Oxidative Stress 120
- 5.3.5 Ozone-Induced MAPKs 121
- 5.3.6 Wounding-Induced MAPKs 121
- 5.3.7 MAPKs in Heavy Metal Signaling 122
- 5.4 Crosstalk between Plant MAP Kinases in Abiotic Stress Signaling 122
- 5.5 "-Omics" Analyses of Plants under Abiotic Stress 123
- Conclusions and Future Perspectives 127 5.6
- Acknowledgments 128 References 128

```
6
           Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria-Mediated Amelioration of Abiotic
           and Biotic Stresses for Increasing Crop Productivity 133
```

- Vasvi Chaudhry, Suchi Srivastava, Puneet Singh Chauhan,
- Poonam C. Singh, Aradhana Mishra, and Chandra Shekhar Nautiyal
- 6.1 Introduction 133
- 6.2 Factors Affecting Plant Growth 134
- Biotic Stress 135 6.2.1
- Abiotic Stress 135 6.2.2
- 6.3 Plant-Mediated Strategies to Elicit Stresses 136

X Contents

6.3.1	Osmoadaptation 137
6.3.2	Antioxidative Enzyme Production 137
6.3.3	Effect of Stress on Plant Nutrient Uptake 137
6.4	Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria-Mediated Beneficiaries
	to the Environment 138
6.4.1	PGPR as Abiotic Stress Ameliorating Agent 138
6.4.2	PGPR Action against Multiple Pathogens 139
6.4.3	Determinants of PGPR Colonization in Stressed Environment 140
6.4.4	PGPR-Mediated Induction of Defense Mechanism 143
6.4.5	Modulation of Plant Genes through Bacterial Intervention 144
6.5	PGPR-Based Practical Approaches to Stress Tolerance 145
6.5.1	Development and Commercialization of PGPRs:
	Approaches and Limitations 145
6.5.2	Implications of Bacterial Genes for Transgenic Development 146
6.6	Conclusions 147
010	References 147
_	
7	Are Viruses Always Villains? The Roles Plant Viruses May Play
	in Improving Plant Responses to Stress 155
-	Stephen J. Wylie and Michael G.K. Jones
/.1	Introduction 155
/.2	Viruses Are Abundant and Diverse 156
/.3	Wild Versus Domesticated 156
7.4	New Encounters 157
7.5	Roles for Viruses in Adaptation and Evolution 158
7.6	Conclusions 160
	References 160
8	Risk Assessment of Abiotic Stress Tolerant GM Crops 163
	Paul Howles and Joe Smith
8.1	Introduction 163
8.2	Abiotic Stress 164
8.3	Abiotic Stress Traits are Mediated by Multiple Genes 165
8.4	Pleiotropy and Abiotic Stress Responses 167
8.5	General Concepts of Risk Analysis 168
8.6	Risk Assessment and Abiotic Stress Tolerance 169
8.6.1	Choice of Comparator 171
8.6.2	Production of an Allergenic or Toxic Substance 171
8.6.3	Invasiveness and Weediness 172
8.6.4	Pleiotropic Effects 173
8.6.5	Gene Transfer to Another Organism 175
8.7	Abiotic Stress Tolerance Engineered by Traditional Breeding
	and Mutagenesis 176
8.8	Conclusions 177
	Acknowledgments 177

Contents XI

- 9 Biofertilizers: Potential for Crop Improvement under Stressed Conditions 183
 - Alok Adholeya and Manab Das
- 9.1 Introduction 183
- 9.2 What Is Biofertilizer? 184
- 9.3 How It Differs from Chemical and Organic Fertilizers 184
- 9.4 Type of Biofertilizers 184
- 9.5 Description and Function of Important Microorganisms Used as Biofertilizers 187
- 9.5.1 Rhizobia 187
- 9.5.2 Azotobacter and Azospirillum 187
- 9.5.3 Blue-Green Algae or Cyanobacteria 188
- 9.6 Phosphate Solubilizing Bacteria 189
- 9.7 Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria 189
- 9.8 Mycorrhiza 189
- 9.9 Inoculation of Biofertilizers 190
- 9.9.1 Carrier Materials for Biofertilizers 190
- 9.10 Potential Role of Various Biofertilizers in Crop Production and Improvement 192
- 9.10.1 Bacterial Biofertilizers 192
- 9.10.2 Fungal Biofertilizers 194
- 9.11 Conclusions 195 References 195

PART III Species-Specific Case Studies 201

Section IIIA Graminoids 201

- 10 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance -**Retrospects and Prospects** 203 Salvinder Singh, M.K. Modi, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Narendra Tuteja 10.1 Introduction 204 Single Action Genes 204 10.2 10.2.1 Osmoprotectants 204 10.2.2 Late Embryogenesis Abundant Proteins 207 10.2.3 Detoxifying Genes 208 10.2.4 Multifunctional Genes for Lipid Biosynthesis 210 Heat Shock Protein Genes 211 10.2.5 10.2.6 Regulatory Genes 212 10.2.7 Transcription Factors 212 10.2.8 Other Transcription Factors 215 10.2.9 Signal Transduction Genes 216 Functional Proteins 217 10.2.10 10.2.11 ROS Scavenging System 217 10.2.12 Sodium Transporters 218
- 10.3 Choice of Promoters 220

XII Contents

10.4	Physiological Evaluation of Stress Effect 221
10.5	Means of Stress Impositions, Growth Conditions, and Evaluations 222
10.6	Adequate Protocols to Apply Drought and Salinity Stress 223
10.7	Conclusions 224
	References 225
11	Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches to Enhance Grain
	Iron Content 237
	Salvinder Singh, D. Sudhakar, and M.K. Modi
11.1	Introduction 237
11.2	Micronutrient Malnutrition 237
11.2.1	Approaches to Decrease Micronutrient Deficiencies and/or
	Malnutrition 238
11.2.2	Importance of Iron in Human Physiology 239
11.2.3	Source of Iron for Human Nutrition 239
11.2.4	Approaches to Decrease Micronutrient Deficiencies 240
11.2.1	Pharmaceutical Prenaration 241
11.2.5	Disease Reduction 241
11.2.0	Food Fortification 241
11.5	Biofortification 242
11.4	Biofortification through Classical Breeding Approach 243
11.4.2	Biofortification through Canatic Engineering Approach 244
11.4.2	Biofortification by Decreasing Antiputrient Contents 245
11. 1 .J	Biofortification by Increasing Iron Bioavailability Promoting
11.4.4	Compounds 246
11 5	Iron Untake and Transport in Plants 247
11.5	The Reduction Strategy 247
11.5.1	The Chelation Strategy 247
11.5.2	Regulation of the Reduction Strategy 248
11.5.5	Iron Signaling and Sensing in Plants 240
11.5.4	Iron Transport within the Plant 249
11.5.5	Intercellular Iron Transport 249
11.5.5.1	Subcellular Iron Transport 250
11.5.5.2	Vacuales 251
11.5.5.5	Chloroplasta 251
11.5.5.5	Mitochondrin 252
11.5.5.5	Conclusions 252
11.0	References 253
	KUUUKUS 255
12	Pearl Millet: Cenetic Improvement in Talerance to Abietic Stresses 261
12	O D Vaday K N Pai and S K Cunta
12.1	
12.1	Introduction 262
12.2	Introduction 262
1221	Introduction 262 Drought: Its Nature and Effects 264
12.2.1	Introduction 262 Drought: Its Nature and Effects 264 Seedling Phase 264
12.2.1 12.2.2	Introduction 262 Drought: Its Nature and Effects 264 Seedling Phase 264 Vegetative Phase 264

- 12.2.3 Reproductive Phase 265
- 12.3 Genetic Improvement in Drought Tolerance 265
- 12.3.1 Conventional Breeding 266
- 12.3.1.1 Selection Environment 266
- 12.3.1.2 Selection Criteria 268
- 12.3.1.3 Yield Improvement 270
- 12.3.2 Molecular Breeding 273
- 12.4 Heat Tolerance 274
- 12.4.1 Tolerance at Seedling Stage 274
- 12.4.2 Tolerance at Reproductive Stage 275
- 12.5 Salinity Tolerance 277 References 279
- 13Bamboo: Application of Plant Tissue Culture Techniques for Genetic
Improvement of Dendrocalamus strictus Nees 289

C.K. John and V.A. Parasharami

- 13.1 Introduction 289
- 13.2 Vegetative Propagation 290
- 13.3 Micropropagation 291
- 13.4 Genetic Improvement for Abiotic Stress Tolerance 291
- 13.5 Dendrocalamus strictus 292
- 13.6 Future Prospects 299 References 299

Section IIIB Leguminosae 303

14 Groundnut: Genetic Approaches to Enhance Adaptation of Groundnut (Arachis Hypogaea, L.) to Drought 305 R.C. Nageswara Rao, M.S. Sheshshayee, N. Nataraja Karaba, Rohini Sreevathsa, N. Rama, S. Kumaraswamy, T.G. Prasad, and M. Udayakumar 14.1 Introduction 306 Importance of Groundnut 306 14.1.1 Origin and Diversity 307 14.1.2 Area, Production, and Productivity 307 14.1.3 Major Abiotic Stresses 307 14.1.4 14.2 Response to Water Deficits at the Crop Level 309 14.2.1 Effects of Water Deficits on Yield 309 Effects of Multiple Water Deficits 309 14.2.2 Effects of Water Deficit at Different Stages of Crop Growth 311 14.2.3 14.2.3.1 Germination and Emergence 311 14.2.3.2 Vegetative Phase 312 Reproductive Phase 313 14.2.3.3 Effects of Water Deficits on Some Physiological Processes 14.2.4 313 14.2.4.1 Water Deficit and Temperature Interaction 314

- XIV Contents
 - 14.2.4.2 Water Uptake and Plant–Water Relations 315 N Fixation 315 14.2.4.3 Photosynthesis and Transpiration 316 14.2.4.4 Partitioning of Dry Matter to Pods and Harvest Index 317 14.2.4.5 14.2.5 Effects of Water Deficit on Seed Ouality 318 14.2.5.1 Protein 318 14.2.5.2 Oil Content and Quality 318 14.2.5.3 Aflatoxin 319 14.3 Some Physiological Mechanisms Contributing to Drought Tolerance in Groundnut 320 14.3.1 Water Extraction Efficiency 321 14.3.2 Transpiration Efficiency 321 Surrogate Measures of TE 322 14.3.3 14.3.4 Epicuticular Wax 324 14.3.5 Survival under and Recovery from Drought 324 14.3.6 Acquired Thermotolerance 325 Integration of Physiological Traits to Improve Drought Adaptation of 14.4 Groundnut 326 Status of Genomic Resources in Groundnut 330 14.5 14.5.1 Marker Resources in Groundnut 330 14.5.2 Drought-Specific ESTs Libraries in Groundnut 331 14.6 Molecular Breeding and Genetic Linkage Maps in Groundnut 337 14.6.1 Genetic Linkage Maps for Groundnut 338 14.7 Transgenic Approach to Enhance Drought Tolerance 339 Transgenics: An Option to Pyramid Drought Adaptive Traits 340 14.7.1 14.8 Summary and Future Perspectives 343 Options and Approaches 344 14.8.1 Molecular Breeding a Potential Option for Genetic Improvement in 14.8.2 Groundnut 344 14.8.3 Transgenics: A Potential Future Alternative Strategy 345 Acknowledgments 345 References 345 15 Chickpea: Crop Improvement under Changing **Environment Conditions** 361 B.K. Sarmah, S. Acharjee, and H.C. Sharma 15.1 Introduction 362 15.2 Abiotic Constraints to Chickpea Production 363 15.3 Modern Crop Breeding Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance 364 15.3.1 Drought, Salinity, and Low Temperature 364 15.4 Genetic Engineering of Chickpea for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses 365 Drought and Salinity 365 15.4.1 Elevated CO₂ Concentrations 366 15.4.2 15.5 Biotic Constraints in Chickpea Production 366

Contents XV

- 15.5.1 Insect Pests 366
- 15.5.2 Diseases 368
- 15.5.3 Biological Nitrogen Fixation 369
- 15.6 Modern Molecular Breeding Approaches for Biotic Stress Tolerance 369
- 15.6.1 Pod Borers 369
- 15.6.2 Ascochyta and Fusarium 370
- 15.6.3 Wide Hybridization 371
- 15.7 Application of Gene Technology 372
- 15.7.1 Pod Borers 372
- 15.8 Conclusion 372 References 373
- 16 Grain Legumes: Biotechnological Interventions in Crop Improvement for Adverse Environments 381 Pooja Bhatnagar-Mathur, Paramita Palit, Ch Sridhar Kumar,
 - D. Srinivas Reddy, and Kiran K. Sharma
- 16.1 Introduction 382
- 16.2 Grain Legumes: A Brief Introduction 382
- 16.3 Major Constraints for Grain Legume Production 383
- 16.3.1 Biotic Stresses 383
- 16.3.1.1 Fungal Diseases 384
- 16.3.1.2 Viral Diseases 385
- 16.3.1.3 Insect Pests 385
- 16.3.1.4 Parasitic Weeds 385
- 16.3.2 Abiotic Stresses: A Threat to Grain Legumes 386
- 16.3.2.1 Heat Stress 386
- 16.3.2.2 Salinity 386
- 16.4 Biotechnological Interventions in Grain Legume Improvement 387
- 16.4.1 Groundnut 387
- 16.4.1.1 Biotechnology for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses 388
- 16.4.1.2 Biotechnology for Resistance to Biotic Stresses 389
- 16.4.2 Chickpea 391
- 16.4.2.1 Biotechnology for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses 392
- 16.4.2.2Biotechnology for Resistance to Biotic Stresses394
- 16.4.3 Pigeonpea 395
- 16.4.3.1 Biotechnology for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses 396
- 16.4.3.2 Biotechnology for Resistance to Biotic Stresses 39716.4.4 Soybean 398
- 16.4.4.1 Biotechnology for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses 398
- 16.4.4.2 Biotechnology for Resistance to Biotic Stresses 40016.4.5 Cowpea 401
- 16.4.5.1 Biotechnology for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses 402
- 16.4.5.2 Biotechnology for Resistance to Biotic Stresses 403
- 16.4.6 Common Beans 403

XVI Contents

16.4.6.1	Biotechnology for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses 403
16.4.6.2	Biotechnology for Resistance to Biotic Stresses 404
16.4.7	Lentils 405
16.4.7.1	Biotechnology for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses 405
16.4.7.2	Biotechnology for Resistance to Biotic Stresses 406
16.5	Future Prospects 407
16.6	Integration of Technologies 407
16.7	Conclusion 408
	References 409
17	Pulse Crops: Biotechnological Strategies to Enhance Abiotic
	Stress Tolerance 423
	S. Ganeshan, P.M. Gaur, and R.N. Chibbar
17.1	Pulse Crops: Definition and Major and Minor Pulse Crops 423
17.2	Pulse Production: Global and Different Countries from FAOStat 424
17.3	Abiotic Stresses Affecting Pulse Crops 424
17.4	Mechanisms Underlying Stress Tolerance: A Generalized Picture 426
17.5	Strategies to Enhance Abiotic Stress Tolerance: Conventional 428
17.5.1	Breeding 428
17.5.2	Mining Germplasm Resources 430
17.5.3	Variation Creation: Traditional Mutagenesis and TILLING 430
17.6	Strategies to Enhance Abiotic Stress Tolerance:
	Biotechnology and Genomics 432
17.6.1	Genetic Mapping and QTL Analysis 432
17.6.2	Transcriptomic Resources 434
17.6.3	Transgenic Approaches 435
17.6.4	In Vitro Regeneration and Transformation 436
17.7	Concluding Remarks 438
	References 438

Section IIIC Rosaceae 449

18	Improving Crop Productivity and Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Cultivated Fragaria Using Omics and Systems Biology Approach 451 Jens Rohloff, Pankaj Barah, and Atle M. Bones
18.1	Introduction 451
18.2	Abiotic Factors and Agronomic Aspects 453
18.2.1	Botany and Agricultural History 453
18.2.1.1	Botany and Distribution 453
18.2.1.2	Nutritionals and Phytochemicals 454
18.2.1.3	Economic Aspects of Production and Environment 455
18.2.2	Abiotic Factors in Strawberry Production 458
18.2.2.1	Light 458
18.2.2.2	Temperature 459
18.2.2.3	Water 459

18.2.2.4 Soil 460 18.2.2.5 Atmospheric Gases and Airborne Contamination 460 18.2.2.6 Abiotic Stress Alleviation through Agricultural Practice 461 18.2.3 Fragaria Breeding toward Abiotic Factors 461 18.2.3.1 Cultivation and Berry Production 461 18.2.3.2 Fresh Market Quality and Consumer Demand 462 18.2.3.3 Postharvest and Food Chain 462 18.2.3.4 Processing and Industry 462 Classical Breeding of Varieties and Hybrids 18.2.3.5 463 18.2.3.6 Marker-Assisted Breeding (MAB) 463 18.3 Genetically Modified (GM) Plants 466 18.4 Omics Approaches toward Abiotic Stress in Fragaria 467 18.4.1 Genomic Approaches toward Fragaria 467 18.4.1.1 Case I: Genomic Approaches toward Cold Acclimation/Freezing Tolerance in Fragaria 468 18.4.2 Proteomic Approaches toward Fragaria 469 Case II: Proteomic Approaches toward Cold Acclimation/Freezing 18.4.2.1 Tolerance in Fragaria 469 18.4.3 Metabolomic Approaches toward Fragaria 470 18.4.3.1 Case III: Metabolomic Approaches toward Cold Acclimation/Freezing Tolerance in Fragaria 471 18.5 Systems Biology as Suitable Tool for Crop Improvement 473 18.5.1 Omics Data Integration for Improving Plant Productivity/Translational Research 474 18.5.2 Plant/Crops Systems Biology 476 Pathway Modeling and the Concept of "Virtual Plant" 477 18.5.3 Network-Based Approaches 477 18.5.4 Correlation Studies Using Multivariate Data 18.5.4.1 478 18.5.4.2 Protein–Protein Interaction (PPI) Networks 478 18.5.4.3 Gene Regulatory Networks 478 18.5.4.4 Coexpression Networks 479 18.6 Conclusions and Future Prospects 479 Technology-Driven Innovations for Fragaria Breeding and 18.6.1 Development 480 Biology-Related Issues for Improvements in the Fragaria Genus 18.6.2 480 Acknowledgments 480 References 480 19 Rose: Improvement for Crop Productivity 485 Madhu Sharma, Kiran Kaul, Navtej Kaur, Markandey Singh, Devendra Dhayani, and Paramvir Singh Ahuja 19.1 Introduction 485 Abiotic Stress and Rose Yield 487 19.2 19.2.1 Drought Stress 487 19.2.1.1 Ethylene Biosynthesis 490

19.2.2	Salt Stress 491
19.2.3	Light Stress 493
19.2.4	Low-Temperature Stress 494
19.2.5	High-Temperature Stress 494
19.3	Abiotic Stress and Reactive Oxygen Species 497
19.4	Stress-Related Genes Associated with Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Rose
	and Attempts to Transgenic Development 497
19.5	Conclusions 499
	Acknowledgments 500
	References 500

Index 507

Foreword

Agriculture is now at a crossroad of conservation and sustainability along with the challenge of increasing productivity. Global agricultural land is limited; the same is true for the water availability and other natural resources. However, population is increasing, particularly in the developing countries. The vertical growth of crop productivity is the only way to meet the daunting task and ensure food security for ever-increasing population. I am glad to see this book addressing those issues and providing scientific know-how to solve some of the problems. I firmly believe that genetic potential of the crop productivity can be utilized and further improved through science and technology interventions.

Several chapters including (1) Climate Change and Food Security by Dr R.B. Singh, (2) Improving Crop Productivity under Changing Environment by Drs Dhillon, Gosal, and Kang, (3) Are Virus Always Villains? The Roles Plant Viruses May Play in Improving Plant Responses to Stress by Drs Wylie and Jones, (4) Risk Assessment of Abiotic Stress-Tolerant GM Crops by Drs Howles and Smith, (5) Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance – Retrospects and Prospects by Dr Singh *et al.*, (6) Groundnut: Genetic Approaches to Enhance Adaptation of Groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) to Drought by Rao *et al.*, (7) Pulse Crops: Biotechnological Strategies to Enhance Abiotic Stress Tolerance by Drs Ganeshan, Gaur, and Chibar, and so on make focused discussions on the subject. All chapters are well written and create a scientific interest in the learners/readers and researchers.

Congratulations and my best compliments to editors of this book Drs N. Tuteja, Sarvajeet S. Gill, and R. Tuteja who performed an outstanding work in getting valuable contributions from some world experts on the relevant subject. I am sure the readers in the field of agriculture and particularly in abiotic stress management, biotechnology, and new genetics in plant breeding would find this book very useful. The publisher also deserves congratulations for publishing this useful book.

ICAR, New Delhi April 11, 2012 Prof. Swapan K. Datta, FNAAS, FNASc Deputy Director General (Crop Science) ICAR, New Delhi

Preface

The world's population is projected to hit ~9.2 billion in 2050. On the other hand, agricultural production is decreasing because of negative implications of global climate change. Therefore, it has become essential to increase the global agricultural production to feed the increasing population. Globally, a major loss in crop production is imposed by a suite of stresses, resulting in 30–60% yield reduction every year. Abiotic stress factors such as heat, cold, drought, salinity, wounding, heavy metal toxicity, excess light, floods, high-speed wind, nutrient loss, anaerobic conditions, radiation, and so on represent key elements affecting agricultural productivity worldwide. In an agriculturally important country, agriculture is the main driver of agrarian prosperity and comprehensive food and nutritional security. The loss of productivity is triggered by a series of morphological, physiological, biochemical, and molecular stress-induced changes. Therefore, minimizing these losses is a major area of concern for the whole world.

Genetic engineering of abiotic stress-related genes is an important objective for increasing agricultural productivity. Plant adaptation to environmental stresses is dependent on the activation of cascades of molecular networks involved in stress perception, signal transduction, and the expression of specific stress-related genes and metabolites. Consequently, these genes that protect and maintain the function and structure of cellular components can enhance tolerance to stress. Genetic engineering of important genes and QTLs have now become valuable tools in crop improvement for rapid precision breeding for specific purposes. Additionally, drip irrigation and fertigation, leaf color chart (LCC) for need-based application of nitrogen, sensor-based yield monitors, nitrogen sensors/green seekers, special-purpose vehicles with sensor-based input applicators, integrated nutrient management (INM) systems, integrated pest management (IPM) systems, integrated disease management (IDM) systems, site-specific management systems using remote sensing, GPS, and GIS, and Web-based decision support systems for controlling diseases and insect pests have been developed and are being commercialized for precision farming.

In this book "Improving Crop Productivity in Sustainable Agriculture," we present a collection of 19 chapters written by 55 experts in the field of crop improvement and abiotic stress tolerance. This volume is an up-to-date overview of current progress in improving crop quality and quantity using modern methods. Included

XXI

literature in the form of various chapters provides a state-of-the-art account of the information available on crop improvement and abiotic stress tolerance for sustainable agriculture. In this book, we present the approaches for improving crop productivity in sustainable agriculture with a particular emphasis on genetic engineering; this text focuses on crop improvement under adverse conditions, paying special attention to such staple crops as rice, maize, and pulses. It includes an excellent mix of specific examples, such as the creation of nutritionally fortified rice and a discussion of the political and economic implications of genetically engineered food. The result is a must-have hands-on guide, ideally suited for the biotech and agro industries. This book best complements our previous title "Improving Crop Resistance to Abiotic Stress" (ISBN 978-3-527-32840-6, Volumes 1 and 2, Wiley-Blackwell, 2012).

For the convenience of readers, the whole book is divided into three major parts, namely, Part I: Climate Change and Abiotic Stress Factors; Part II: Methods to Improve Crop Productivity, and Part III: Species-Specific Case Studies. Further, Part III has been divided into three sections, namely, Section IIIA: Graminoids; Section IIIB: Leguminosae; and Section IIIC: Rosaceae. Part I covers four chapters. Chapter 1 deals with climate change and food security, where emphasis has been paid to food security and climate resilient agriculture. Chapter 2 uncovers the ways for improving crop productivity under changing environment. Chapter 3 deals with the approaches such as genetic engineering for acid soil tolerance in crop plants, whereas Chapter 4 focuses on the evaluation of tropospheric O3 effects on global agriculture. Part II covers five chapters. Chapter 5 deals with "-omics" approaches for abiotic stress tolerance where emphasis has been paid to understand the importance of mitogen-activated protein kinases in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Chapter 6 unravels the importance of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria for the amelioration of abiotic and biotic stresses for increasing crop productivity. Chapter 7 interestingly uncovers the importance of viruses in reducing damage from both biotic and abiotic stressors in crop plants. This chapter focuses on the new technologies that revealed that viruses are far more abundant and diverse than previously known and unexpected roles as symbionts and as sources of genetic raw material for evolution are informing a new appreciation of the roles plant viruses play in nature. Chapter 8 is on risk assessment of abiotic stress-tolerant GM crops. This chapter outlines the likely issues for consideration in risk assessment for the commercial release of a GM plant with a novel abiotic stress tolerance trait. Chapter 9 is on biofertilizers as potential candidate for crop improvement under stressed conditions. Part III deals with different crop plants under three sections. Section IIIA covers four chapters that deal with rice, pearl millet, and bamboo. In this section, Chapter 10 deals with the genetic engineering approaches for abiotic stress tolerance in rice - retrospects and prospects. Chapter 11 uncovers the genetic engineering approaches to enhance grain iron content in rice. The creation of nutritionally fortified rice can have a dramatic impact on human health because it is a major staple crop in the world. Chapter 12 deals with the genetic improvement for tolerance to abiotic stresses in pearl millet. Chapter 13 deals with the application of plant tissue culture techniques for genetic improvement of bamboo

(*Dendrocalamus strictus* Nees). Section IIIB includes four chapters on groundnut, chickpea, grain legumes, and pulse crops. Chapter 14 deals with genetic approaches to enhance adaptation of groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) to drought stress. Chapter 15 discusses the strategies for crop improvement under changing environment conditions in chickpea. Chapter 16 deals with grain legumes, where biotechnological interventions in crop improvement for adverse environments have been discussed. Chapter 17 uncovers the biotechnological strategies to enhance abiotic stress tolerance in pulse crops. Section IIIC includes two chapters on *Fragaria* and rose. Chapter 18 deals with improving crop productivity and abiotic stress tolerance in cultivated *Fragaria* using "-omics" and systems biology approach. Chapter 19 discusses the strategies for improving crop productivity in rose. The editors and contributing authors hope that this book will add to our existing knowledge of improving crop productivity in sustainable agriculture that, in turn, may eventually open up new avenues for improving the stress tolerance in crop plants.

We are highly thankful to Dr. Ritu Gill, Centre for Biotechnology, MD University, Rohtak, for her valuable help in formatting and incorporating editorial changes in the manuscripts. We would like to thank Prof. Swapan K. Datta, Deputy Director General (Crop Science), ICAR, New Delhi, for writing the foreword and Wiley-Blackwell, Germany, particularly Gregor Cicchetti, Senior Publishing Editor, Life Sciences, and Anne Chassin du Guerny for their professional support and efforts in the layout. This book is dedicated to Professor G.S. Khush, the undisputed Hero of Rice Revolution.

ICGEB, New Delhi MDU, Rohtak ICGEB, New Delhi Narendra Tuteja Sarvajeet Singh Gill Renu Tuteja

July, 2012

List of Contributors

S. Acharjee

Assam Agricultural University Department of Agricultural Biotechnology Jorhat 785013 Assam India

Alok Adholeya

The Energy and Resources Institute Biotechnology & Bioresources Division Darbari Seth Block Lodhi Road New Delhi 110003 India

Madhoolika Agrawal

Laboratory of Air Pollution and Global Climate Change Department of Botany Banaras Hindu University Varanasi 221005 Uttar Pradesh India

S.B. Agrawal

Laboratory of Air Pollution and Global Climate Change Department of Botany Banaras Hindu University Varanasi 221005 Uttar Pradesh India

Paramvir Singh Ahuja

Institute of Himalayan Bioresource Technology (CSIR) Division of Biotechnology Palampur Kangra 176061 Himachal Pradesh India

Pankaj Barah

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Department of Biology Høgskoleringen 5 7491 Trondheim Norway

Pooja Bhatnagar-Mathur

International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT) Genetic Transformation Laboratory Patancheru Hyderabad 502324 Andhra Pradesh India

Atle M. Bones

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Department of Biology Høgskoleringen 5 7491 Trondheim Norway

XXVI List of Contributors

Vasvi Chaudhry

CSIR-National Botanical Research Institute Division of Plant Microbe Interactions Rana Pratap Marg Lucknow 226001 Uttar Pradesh India

Puneet Singh Chauhan

CSIR-National Botanical Research Institute Division of Plant Microbe Interactions Rana Pratap Marg Lucknow 226001 Uttar Pradesh India

Ravindra N. Chibbar

University of Saskatchewan College of Agriculture and Bioresources Department of Plant Sciences 51 Campus Drive Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5A8 Canada

Manab Das

The Energy and Resources Institute Biotechnology & Bioresources Division Darbari Seth Block Lodhi Road New Delhi 110003 India

Devendra Dhayani

Institute of Himalayan Bioresource Technology (CSIR) Division of Biotechnology Palampur Kangra 176061 Himachal Pradesh India

Navjot K. Dhillon

Punjab Agricultural University School of Agricultural Biotechnology Ludhiana 141004 Punjab India

S. Ganeshan

University of Saskatchewan College of Agriculture and Bioresources Department of Plant Sciences 51 Campus Drive Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5A8 Canada

P.M. Gaur

International Crops Research Institute for Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT) Patancheru Hyderabad 502324 Andhra Pradesh India

Sarvajeet Singh Gill

International Centre for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (ICGEB) Plant Molecular Biology Group Aruna Asaf Ali Marg New Delhi 110067 India

and

MD University Faculty of Life Sciences Centre for Biotechnology Stress Physiology and Molecular Biology Lab Rohtak 124 001 Haryana India

Satbir S. Gosal

Punjab Agricultural University School of Agricultural Biotechnology Ludhiana 141004 Punjab India

Meetu Gupta

Jamia Millia Islamia Central University Department of Biotechnology New Delhi 110025 India

S.K. Gupta

International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT) Patancheru Hyderabad 502324 Andhra Pradesh India

Paul Howles

Office of the Gene Technology Regulator 15 National Circuit Canberra, ACT 2600 Australia

Monika Jaggi

National Institute of Plant Genome Research Aruna Asaf Ali Marg New Delhi 110 067 India

C.K. John

National Chemical Laboratory Plant Tissue Culture Division Pune 411008 Maharashtra India

Michael G.K. Jones

Murdoch University School of Biological Sciences and Biotechnology Western Australian State Agricultural Biotechnology Centre Plant Virology Group Perth, WA 6150 Australia

Manjit S. Kang

Punjab Agricultural University Ludhiana 141004 Punjab India

N. Nataraja Karaba

University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Crop Physiology GKVK Campus Bengaluru 560065 Karnataka India

Kiran Kaul

Institute of Himalayan Bioresource Technology (CSIR) Division of Biotechnology Palampur Kangra 176061 Himachal Pradesh India

Navtej Kaur

Institute of Himalayan Bioresource Technology (CSIR) Division of Biotechnology Palampur Kangra 176061 Himachal Pradesh India

XXVIII List of Contributors

Ch. Sridhar Kumar

International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT) Genetic Transformation Laboratory Patancheru Hyderabad 502324 Andhra Pradesh India

S. Kumaraswamy

University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Crop Physiology GKVK Campus Bengaluru 560065 Karnataka India

Aradhana Mishra

CSIR-National Botanical Research Institute Division of Plant Microbe Interactions Rana Pratap Marg Lucknow 226001 Uttar Pradesh India

Sagarika Mishra

Indian Institute of Technology Department of Biotechnology Guwahati 781039 Assam India

M.K. Modi

Assam Agricultural University Department of Agricultural Biotechnology Jorhat 785013 Assam India

Chandra Shekhar Nautiyal

CSIR-National Botanical Research Institute Division of Plant Microbe Interactions Rana Pratap Marg Lucknow 226001 Uttar Pradesh India

Paramita Palit

International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT) Genetic Transformation Laboratory Patancheru Hyderabad 502324 Andhra Pradesh India

Sanjib Kumar Panda

Assam University Department of Life Science & Bioinformatics Silchar 788011 Assam India

V.A. Parasharami

National Chemical Laboratory Plant Tissue Culture Division Pune 411008 Maharashtra India

T.G. Prasad

University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Crop Physiology GKVK Campus Bengaluru 560065 Karnataka India

K.N. Rai

International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT) Patancheru Hyderabad 502324 Andhra Pradesh India

Richa Rai

Laboratory of Air Pollution and Global Climate Change Department of Botany Banaras Hindu University Varanasi 221005 Uttar Pradesh India

N. Rama

University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Crop Physiology GKVK Campus Bengaluru 560065 Karnataka India

R.C. Nageswara Rao

The University of Queensland Centre for Plant Science Queensland Alliance for Agriculture and Food Innovation (QAAF) Kingaroy, Queensland 4610 Australia

D. Srinivas Reddy

International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT) Genetic Transformation Laboratory Patancheru Hyderabad 502324 Andhra Pradesh India

Jens Rohloff

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Department of Biology Høgskoleringen 5 7491 Trondheim Norway

Lingaraj Sahoo

Indian Institute of Technology Department of Biotechnology Guwahati 781039 Assam India

Abhijit Sarkar

Laboratory of Air Pollution and Global Climate Change Banaras Hindu University Department of Botany Varanasi 221005 Uttar Pradesh India

Bidyut K. Sarmah

Assam Agricultural University Department of Agricultural Biotechnology Jorhat 785013 Assam India

H.C. Sharma

ICRISAT Division of Entomology Patencheru Hyderabad 502324 Andhra Pradesh India

XXX List of Contributors

Kiran K. Sharma

International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT) Genetic Transformation Laboratory Patancheru Hyderabad 502324 Andhra Pradesh India

Madhu Sharma

Institute of Himalayan Bioresource Technology (CSIR) Division of Biotechnology Palampur Kangra 176061 Himachal Pradesh India

M.S. Sheshshayee

University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Crop Physiology GKVK Campus Bengaluru 560065 Karnataka India

Markandey Singh

Institute of Himalayan Bioresource Technology (CSIR) Division of Biotechnology Palampur Kangra 176061 Himachal Pradesh India

Poonam C. Singh

CSIR-National Botanical Research Institute Division of Plant Microbe Interactions Rana Pratap Marg Lucknow 226001 Uttar Pradesh India

R.B. Singh

President National Academy of Agricultural Sciences NASC Complex, DPS Marg, Pusa New Delhi 110012 India

Salvinder Singh

Assam Agricultural University Department of Agricultural Biotechnology Jorhat 785013 Assam India

Alok Krishna Sinha

National Institute of Plant Genome Research Aruna Asaf Ali Marg New Delhi 110 067 India

Joe Smith

Office of the Gene Technology Regulator 15 National Circuit Canberra, ACT 2600 Australia

Rohini Sreevathsa

University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Crop Physiology GKVK Campus Bengaluru 560065 Karnataka India

Suchi Srivastava

CSIR-National Botanical Research Institute Division of Plant Microbe Interactions Rana Pratap Marg Lucknow 226001 Uttar Pradesh India

D. Sudhakar

Tamil Nadu Agricultural University Centre for Plant Molecular Biology Department of Plant Molecular Biology and Biotechnology Coimbatore 641003 Tamil Nadu India

Narendra Tuteja

International Centre for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (ICGEB) Plant Molecular Biology Group Aruna Asaf Ali Marg New Delhi 110067 India

M. Udayakumar

University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Crop Physiology GKVK Campus Bengaluru 560065 Karnataka India

Stephen J. Wylie

Murdoch University School of Biological Sciences and Biotechnology Western Australian State Agricultural Biotechnology Centre Plant Virology Group Perth, WA 6150 Australia

O.P. Yadav

All India Coordinated Pearl Millet Improvement Project Mandor Jodhpur 342304 Rajasthan India Part I Climate Change and Abiotic Stress Factors |1

1 Climate Change and Food Security

R.B. Singh

Abstract

The Green Revolution ushered in the 1960s brought unprecedented transformation in agricultural production, productivity, food security, and poverty reduction. But, it has now waned. The numbers of hungry, undernourished, and poor remain stubbornly high. Moreover, the natural agricultural production resources, particularly water and land, have shrunk and degraded. The problem has further exacerbated by the global climate change and extreme weather fluctuations widely depressing agricultural yields, increasing production instability, and degrading natural resources. If the change is not managed adequately, the agricultural yields will drop by up to 20% by the year 2050 and the national GDP will erode annually at least by 1%. A series of adaptation and mitigation pathways involving business unusual have been suggested toward developing climate smart agriculture by increasing agricultural resilience to climate change through integrating technology, policy, investment, and institutions with special reference to the resource poor, women, and other more vulnerable people.

3

1.1

Background and Introduction

Toward the year 2050, the world population is projected to stabilize at around 9.2 billion. In order to adequately feed this population, the global agriculture must double its food production, and farm productivity would need to increase by 1.8% each year – indeed a tall order. On the other hand, the natural resources – the agricultural production base, especially land, water, and biodiversity – are fast shrinking and degrading. For instance, by 2025, 30% of crop production will be at risk due to the declining water availability. Thus, in order to meet the ever-intensifying demand for food and primary production, more and more is to be produced from less and less of the finite natural and nonrenewable resources.

4 1 Climate Change and Food Security

The challenges of attaining sustainably accelerated and inclusive growth and comprehensive food security have been exacerbated by the global climate change and extreme weather fluctuations. The global warming due to rising concentration of greenhouse gases (GHGs) causing higher temperature, disturbed rainfall pattern causing frequent drought and flood, sea level rise, and so on is already adversely impacting productivity and stability of production, resulting in increased vulnerability, especially of the hungry and resource-poor farmers, and is a growing threat to agricultural yields and food security. World Bank projects that the climate change will depress crop yields by 20% or more by the year 2050. Livestock and fish production will likewise be impacted. Pathogen virulence, disease incidences, pest infestations, epidemic breakouts, and biotic stresses in general are predicted to intensify.

The impact of the climate change will vary across ecogeographic and demographic domains. As projected, the bulk of the population increase will materialize in developing countries. Most of these are agriculture based, and several of them are food deficit. Moreover, these countries have high concentration of smallholder resource-poor farmers and their agriculture is predominantly rainfed, which is inherently low yielding and vulnerable to weather fluctuations. In such countries, sustained and accelerated agricultural growth is fundamental not only to achieving food security but also to generating economic growth and opportunity for overall livelihood security.

India will be the most populous country in the world by 2050, with a projected population of over 1.5 billion, and will need to double its food production by then to ensure its food security. The country was able to overcome its food crisis and insecurity through ushering in the Green Revolution in the mid-1960s. Between 1965 and 1995, the food and agriculture production and productivity had more than doubled and the intensity of hunger and poverty had halved [1]. This revolution was largely due to the synergy of technology, policies, services, farmers' enthusiasm, and strong political will. However, the Green Revolution has now waned. During the past decade or so, while the overall national GDP had registered a high growth rate of 7–9%, the agricultural growth had gone sluggish (although recovered lately).

Unethical as it is, the country is still home to almost one-fourth of the world's hungry and poor, and over 40% of our children are undernourished. The income gap between farmers and nonfarmers has widened rather unacceptably, farmers' income being about one-fifth of that of the nonfarmers (Figure 1.1). This is primarily due to the steadily declining share of agriculture in GDP while the intensity of dependence on agriculture for livelihoods has remained high. The agriculture's share in GDP fell from about 35% in 1980 to 15% in 2010, and is expected to fall to 5% in 2040 (Figure 1.2), whereas in 2010 over 50% of the population was dependent primarily on agriculture.

In an agriculturally important country like ours, agriculture is the main driver of agrarian prosperity and comprehensive food and nutritional security. The past Five-Year Plans have been aiming at an agricultural growth rate of 4% and above to achieve a balanced overall GDP growth rate of about 8–9%. But, we have not been able to achieve the targeted growth in the agricultural sector, being 3.3% during



Figure 1.1 Per worker GDP in agriculture and nonagriculture sectors, Rs. at 1999–2000 prices. (*Source*: Ref. [2].)

1980–2010 and only 2.3% during the decade ending 2010. The coefficient of variation (CV) of the agricultural growth has been high and, if not managed, will further increase with the increasing volatilities caused due to climate change. The XII Plan also targets an overall agricultural output growth of 4.0–4.5% coupled with inclusiveness and gender sensitivity. A business unusual rooted in the principles of ecology, environment, economics, and equity is called for ensuring sustained and enhanced livelihood security of our people in face of the fast changing climate.



Figure 1.2 Agriculture's share in GDP steadily declining. (Source: Refs [3, 4].)

6 1 Climate Change and Food Security

1.2 State of Food Security

The number of undernourished people in the world had been increasing for a decade or so and the number of hungry for the first time had crossed the 1 billion mark in 2008–2009 [2], but the number came down to 925 million in 2009–2010. Nearly all hungry people were from developing countries. The gains made in the 1980s and early 1990s in reducing chronic hunger have been lost and the hunger reduction targets of the Millennium Development Goal 1 (MDG1) as well as of the World Food Summit (WFS) remain elusive. The soaring food prices of 2007–2008 had drawn the poor farther from food, resulting in the unusual increase in the number and even proportion of undernourished. Despite the fall in international food and fuel prices starting in the late 2008, the prices in domestic markets remained 15–25% higher in real terms than the trend level – continuing the distress for the poor. High food inflations and the associated household food security have been recurrent features in India.

The continued neglect of agriculture during the past decades had denied hundreds of millions of people access to adequate food and has kept them below the poverty line. Globally, as also in India, the hunger and poverty incidences are mirror images (Table 1.1) and cause and consequence of each other. The rapid increase in the number of hungry and poor in the recent years reveals that food, fuel, and economic crises arise from the fragility of present food systems and livelihood security programs. Necessary structural adjustment and macroeconomic stabilization policies should be designed to minimize the impact of the shocks, particularly through enhanced investment in agriculture (including nonfarm rural activities and employment), expanding safety nets and social assistance programs, and, of course, improving governance.

In India, as mentioned earlier, the Green Revolution had transformed the country from the status of a food-deficit country to a food self-sufficient nation (at macro level). Per caput dietary energy supply (DES) increased from 2370 kcal/day in 1990–1992 to 2440 kcal/day in 2001–2003, and prevalence of undernourishment in total population decreased correspondingly from 25 to 20%. Between 1993/1994 and 1999/2000, 58 million individuals came out of the poverty trap, the number of poor dropping from 317 million to 259 million. Other livelihood indicators such as literacy rate and longevity also increased significantly. Life expectancy at birth in

Region	% Poverty	% Hunger (undernourished)
Asia-Pacific	27	17
Latin America and Caribbean	8	10
Sub-Saharan Africa	51	32
Total developing countries	29	20

Table 1.1 Poverty (\$1.25 a day or less) and hunger levels in the developing world.

Source: Ref. [5].

Year	Total population (million)	Undernourish	ment
		Number (million)	Percent
1990–1992	863	215	25
1995–1997	949	202	21
2001-2003	1050	212	20
2005-2007	1116	221	20
2009–2010	1168	245 (est.)	21

Table 1.2 Number and percentage of undernourished people in India since the base year 1990–1992.

Source: Refs [3, 5].

2005/2006 was over 63 and 66 years, respectively, for males and females against 58 and 59 years in 1986–1991 [3].

Despite India's national level food self-sufficiency and security, the number of food insecure people in India has remained stubbornly high, in recent years hovering around 245 million, one-fourth of the world's food insecure people. In fact, during 2007–2010, the number of hungry in the country, as in the world as a whole, had increased due to soaring food prices. In percentage term, however, food insecurity in India had reduced from 25% in 1990–1992 to 20% in 2001–2003, but in recent years has increased to 21% (Table 1.2). The record food grain production of over 230, 240, and 250 million tons during the years 2009–2010, 2010–2011, and 2011–2012, respectively, should have improved the situation, which should be known from the latest household survey reports. In any case, one-fifth to one-fourth of our people are still hungry and poor.

The above situation is ascribed primarily to the high and increasing population pressure (nearly 16 million being added annually to the already 1.20 billion population) and to the distributional and economic access problems, aggravating the household and individual level food insecurities. Obviously, India has made little progress toward WFS and MDG targets, whereas China and Brazil are fairly close to achieving the targets. India must critically analyze the situation and take necessary measures to get on the track to meet the targets, as done by Brazil and China.

The Global Hunger Index (GHI), which incorporates three interlinked hungerrelated indicators – the proportion of undernourished in the population, the prevalence of underweight in children, and the mortality rate of children, worldwide improved from 19.8% in 1990 to 15.1% in 2010. The higher GHI was for South Asia at 22.9. In 2010, among the 84 countries (for which data could be available) having GHI above 5.0 (ranging from 5.2% in Syrian Arab Republic to 41.0% in Democratic Republic of the Congo), India with GHI at 24.1 ranked 67. This alarming GHI in India was driven by high levels of child underweight (Table 1.3). Unfortunately, over 40% of the undernourished children of the world have their homes in India (Figure 1.3). Thus, in order to improve the GHI score, India must

Table 1.3 Contrib countries.	utions of the three	e components of GF	H and the underlyin _i	g data for calculatin	g the 1990 and	4 2010 GHI in	India and in its major n	eighboring
Country	Proportion of u in the popu	undernourished ulation (%)	Prevalence of L children unde	ınderweight in :r 5 years (%)	Under 5 rate	mortality (%)	ō	=
							With data from 1988 to 1992	With data from 2003 to 2008
	1990–1992	2004–2006	1990–1992	2003–2008	1990	2008	0661	2010
India	24.0	22.0	59.5	43.5	11.6	6.9	31.7	24.1
Bangladesh	36.0	26.0	56.5	41.3	14.9	5.4	35.8	24.2
China	15.0	10.0	15.3	6.0	4.6	2.1	11.6	6.0
Pakistan	22.0	23.0	39.0	25.3	13.0	8.9	24.7	19.1
World					I	I	19.8	15.1
Source: Ref. [6].								

8 1 Climate Change and Food Security



Figure 1.3 Share of underweight children under 5 years of age. (Source: Ref. [7].)

accelerate progress in reducing child underweight by improving childhood nutrition. Seasonal oscillations in food grain production often caused due to extreme weather conditions exacerbate the situation.

1.3 Climate Change Impact and Vulnerability

Climate change, especially aberrations in rainfall, temperature, soil, and water availability and quality, is emerging as a major threat to the food security and agricultural sustainability.

India with its huge population being dependent on agriculture and experiencing excessive pressure on its natural resources, coupled with its poor coping mechanisms, is highly vulnerable to the climate change, especially the poor and resource-poor farmers. The warming trend in India over the past 100 years has indicated an increase of 0.60 °C. Negative impacts of these changes on yield of wheat and paddy in parts of India due to increased temperature, increased water stress, and reduction in number of rainy days are already felt. Significant negative impacts have been projected with medium-term climate change, for example, yield reduction by 11–18%, depending on the magnitude and distribution of warming, eroding roughly 1.5% of the GDP per year.

The ICAR's National Network Project on "Impact, Adaptation, and Vulnerability of Indian Agriculture to Climate Change," started in 2004 involving 23 institutes/universities covering all major sectors of agriculture, namely, crops, horticulture, plantations, livestock, inland and marine fisheries, poultry, and natural resources such as water and soil, has the following objectives [8]:

 Quantify the sensitivities of current food production systems to different scenarios of climate change by integrating the response of different sectors.
- **10** 1 Climate Change and Food Security
 - Quantify the least risk or "no regrets" options in view of uncertainty of global environmental change that would also be useful in sustainable agricultural development.
 - Determine the available management and genetic adaptation strategies for climatic change and climatic variability.
 - Determine the mitigation options for reducing global climatic changes in agroecosystems.
 - Provide policy support for the international negotiations on global climatic changes.

The project has revealed both negative and positive trends in annual rainfall and minimum and maximum temperature. For instance, the project report, based on the past six decades' data, revealed an increasing trend in maximum 1-day precipitation in the west coast of Maharashtra, south Madhya Pradesh, east Bihar, Assam, north and west Karnataka, eastern Uttar Pradesh, western Jharkhand, and Ganga Nagar area of Rajasthan. A declining trend was observed in parts of southern Karnataka, western Maharashtra, northern Chhattisgarh, northern Madhya Pradesh, and western Uttar Pradesh.

As regards temperature, the number of cold days significantly declined in northwestern Madhya Pradesh, southern Chhattisgarh, and western Gujarat, and in parts of peninsular India. Number of cold nights declined in major parts of north India, south and west Gujarat, west Maharashtra, coastal Andhra Pradesh, southern Karnataka, northwestern Tamil Nadu, and northern Kerala, whereas it increased in north Chhattisgarh and northern Jammu and Kashmir states.

The occurrence of warm days significantly increased in parts of southern Rajasthan, western Madhya Pradesh, western Gujarat, northern Jammu and Kashmir, and Manipur, while it declined in parts of West Bengal, Jharkhand, southern Bihar, eastern Himachal Pradesh, Uttarakhand, northwestern Uttar Pradesh, and northern Haryana. In peninsular India, the number increased except in north and eastern Andhra Pradesh, southern Tamil Nadu, northern Karnataka, and in south and north of Maharashtra.

The report further showed that the emission of greenhouse gases has been increasing from agricultural soils. Emission of methane from Indian rice fields has remained almost constant, but emission of nitrous oxide is increasing. The CO₂ emission of marine fishing boats has increased.

The impact of climate change on wheat, rice, and maize yields will be significantly negative, varying from region to region. For instance, the climate change is projected to reduce the timely sown irrigated wheat production by about 6% in 2020 scenario. But, when late and very late sown wheat are also considered, the loss could be 18% in 2020, 23% in 2050, and 25% in 2080 scenarios, if no adaptation measures are followed (Figure 1.4). Likewise, in northwest India toward 2050 irrigated rice will have a yield loss of 15–17%. However, with adoption of suitable adaptation measures, the losses can be averted and even additional yields could be harvested. This underpins the importance of developing new techniques such as stress-tolerant



Figure 1.4 Net vulnerability of wheat in 2020 scenario. (*Source*: Ref. [8], with kind permission by Naresh Kumar, ICAR.)

varieties, efficient nutrient and water use technologies, and management practices suited to different agroecological regimes. Similar trends were projected for potato.

The simulation results had shown that the future climate change will have a positive impact on productivity of rainfed soybean and to a lesser extent on groundnut. The maximum positive impact was on chickpea productivity, ranging from 23 to 57%. The differential behavior of soybean and groundnut was due to increased rainfall and that of chickpea due to increased crop season temperature.

Regarding horticultural crops, the coconut model indicated positive impact on coconut yield in west coast and parts of Tamil Nadu and Karnataka and negative effects in east coast. The overall national level impact is simulated to be positive. The climate change is projected to shift the apple belt upward and cause shifts in cropping patterns.

As regards livestock, global warming is expected to lead to a loss of 1.6 million tons in milk production by 2020 and 15 million tons by 2050 under the usual scenario. Based on temperature–humidity index (THI, Figure 1.5), this loss in 2020 is valued at about Rs. 2661 crores at current prices. The loss will be highest in Uttar Pradesh. The crossbred cows are expected to suffer more from climate change.



Figure 1.5 Annual THI load on livestock. (*Source*: Ref. [8], with kind permission by Naresh Kumar, ICAR.)

This underpins the need for conserving and improving local breeds that are tolerant to the climatic fluctuations and stresses.

As regards fisheries, even a 1 °C temperature increase would have profound impact. The marine and freshwater fishes will respond differently. Moreover, within each group, the interspecies differences in their responses to climate change will be profound. For instance with warming of sea surface, the oil sardine is able to find temperature to its preference in the northern latitudes and eastern longitudes, thus expanding its distributional boundaries. Likewise, the spawning season of several fishes will be changed. As regards inland fisheries, a major shift in spawning and breeding behavior of Indian carps has been seen. A number of fish species that were predominantly available in lower and middle Ganga about 50 years ago are now found in the upper cold water stretch up to Tehri.

As regards impact of climate change on natural resources, while in general there will be an increase in mean annual streamflow, it will decrease in summer months. With the increase in latitude, the annual runoff and soil loss will decrease. However, in most part of the country, mostly during monsoon season, the runoff and soil loss will increase considerably, being 6–12 times during 2071–2100 that of 1961–1990 in Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu. In other places, the increase will range from 56 to 309 % (Figure 1.6).

Water supplies will be impacted the most by the climate change. The flow of rivers originating in the Himalayas will be disrupted. For instance, Brahmaputra could lose 20% of its flow by 2050, adversely impacting the livelihoods of an estimated 28–41 million people. This underpins the need for sharp improvement in water use efficiency.



Figure 1.6 Annual runoff and soil loss during 1961–1990 and 2071–2100 from different agroecological regions of the country. (*Source*: Ref. [8], with kind permission by Naresh Kumar, ICAR.)

1.4 Natural Resources Management

Climate change impacts agriculture mostly through its impact on the natural resources, especially land, water, and biodiversity. In order to attain and maintain desired level of TFP growth, it is essential to launch an integrated management of these resources. As regards soil fertility management, thousands of well-equipped and well-functioning soil testing laboratories should be established and strategically located throughout the country (in which the private sector, agriclinics, and entrepreneurs can be effectively partnered) and each farmer should be issued a soil health card. Farmers should be oriented and convinced to get their soils tested on regular basis and manage their soil fertility through integrated nutrient application. Conservation agriculture involving technologies such as zero/reduced tillage is both time and cost saving in popular intensive cropping systems; for example, rice–wheat or maize–wheat rotation or potato plus maize (intercropped) and other diversified systems should be adopted extensively.

The sharp fall in water quantity and quality is the foremost threat to food security. Despite a viable national water policy being in place, water continues to be the most misused commodity. A countrywide campaign is required to conserve water and to

14 1 Climate Change and Food Security

optimize its use as per resources. Other policy measures for water conservation and efficient use should include the following:

- Restoring water bodies around the country including village ponds, implementing the Million Well Recharge Program, promoting mandatory rainwater harvesting in rural as well as urban India, and managing water bodies and reservoirs by stakeholders and water users with the participation of Gram Panchayats and other local democratic bodies and self-help groups (SHGs) including women representatives.
- Withdrawing and not repeating all populist orders such as free electric supply to farmers by various State Governments that encourage excessive pumping of ground water and its wastage.
- Regulating and rationalizing the city water supply, and recycling the city wastewater to save the rivers from silting and pollution, thus increasing freshwater supply for domestic, agricultural, and industrial uses, and educating public at large continuously, making schools as base on importance of water and its rational use, and imposing penalty on the offenders. (Nearly Rs. 10 000 crores have gone down the drains under the Clean Ganges Campaign, but Ganga remains polluted as ever and is "dying" at places.)
- Extending the technologies for dryland farming to the small and marginal farmers and the National Rainfed Area Authority can have as its mandate the launching of second green revolution in dry farming areas beginning with pulses and oilseeds.
- On the basis of carbon credits, there can be water credits with each water user, be that a farmer, industrialist, or household, and he or she can earn credits or be punished accordingly.

The background paper for 12th Five-Year Plan has rightly identified the following NRM issues that require focused attention:

- Securing ecology of watershed and catchments.
- Cumulative environmental impact assessments (CEIAs) for vulnerable regions.
- Carrying capacity studies in selected river basins.
- Maintaining acceptable water quality and quantity through pollution control of water resources.
- Restoration of wetlands and lakes.
- Management of wastewater discharge from industrial and commercial establishments into major water bodies.

Several of the above issues were identified also in the past two Plans, but commensurate progress has not been made. Targeted activities should be defined under each district plan and judiciously implemented.

Bulk of the allocations to agriculture in the past Plans has gone to irrigation, which had significantly contributed to the Green Revolution process, but due to low water use efficiency at the farm level and losses in conveyance from source to the field, the overall payoff has been unsatisfactory. Misuse of water has resulted in widespread waterlogging and salinization. Several of the irrigation projects were delayed, but lately the accelerated completion of irrigation projects, microirrigation, and participatory water management have been emphasized. India has been a leader in agroecological zoning and watershed-based integrated land and water use. Recent reviews of watershed programs have revealed that the programs had generally ignored the social, humanware, and equity concerns and had suggested to adopt watershed plus plus approach. A water productivity atlas should be prepared for the whole nation.

Rainfed regions, despite accounting for 40% of the population, 40% of food grain production, and 60% of the livestock population, are 13–15 times underinvested compared to irrigated command development. Effective rainwater harvesting and recycling and risk-proofing technologies and devices should encourage farmers to adopt improved farming practices and to bridge the huge yield gaps. Nearly 28 million ha of rainfed area has good potential for runoff harvesting. This harvested water can be used for at least one supplementary irrigation with high payoff yielding additional 9–10 million tons of food grains (Table 1.4).

Crop group	Traditional production (million tons)	Additional production (million tons) with limited irrigation	
		Normal rains	Subnormal rains
Rice	7.612	3.549	3.776
Coarse cereals	8.300	4.410	3.415
Oilseeds	4.213	1.658	1.590
Pulses	3.717	1.152	1.078
Total	23.842	10.769	9.859

 Table 1.4
 Additional production estimate of proper management of rains in India.

Source: Ref. [9].

Biodiversity, besides providing diversified food and nutrition resources, has direct implications on natural resources conservation, regional and global ecologies, and sustainability of agricultural production systems. Fortunately, India has been endowed with one of the richest biodiversity reserves in the Himalayas, river valley basins, costal areas, including offshore islands, and rain forests. But the pace and manner of development is presenting an imminent threat to the multiplicity of biodiversity. As a part of strategy to save and conserve, intertwining of biodiversity conservation should be an integral part of the large river valley projects, railroad construction, industrial and urban expansion, mining projects, and special economic zones (SEZs). Any further loss of biodiversity will have an adverse effect on the conservation and upkeep of land and water resources, which have a direct bearing on food and agriculture production, productivity, and food security. India having ratified the International Convention on Biodiversity (CBD) and being a party to the convention must be committed to conserve its biodiversity and also play a leading role globally. A national biosecurity umbrella encompassing food safety, environmental safety,

16 1 Climate Change and Food Security

human and livestock health, and SPS and other risk management and regulatory provisions particularly under TRIPS should be created.

Forests and the benefits they provide in the form of food, income, and watershed protection have an important and often critical role in enabling people around the world to secure a stable and adequate food supply. Forest food resources are important to the most food insecure people because to them the forest food is most accessible and nutritious. Tropical forests present a range of uncultivated foods such as fruits, grains, seeds, leaves, roots, and tubers of food value, fish and a range of wild animals, as well as feed and fodder for animals. Need, however, is to check the deforestation and their degradation through increasing the awareness, educating the masses, and strict implementation of laws and policies. Rights of forest tribes, as detailed in the forest and tribal bill, should be protected.

Enhanced sustainability is a must for obviating instability in food availability and only a safe environment can sustain high productivity. Sustainable agriculture in safer environment is essential to save the environmental parameters in atmosphere, lithosphere, and hydrosphere while conducting agricultural operations. This is to be achieved through adoption of an ecotechnology approach encompassing integrated crop management (ICM) inclusive of integrated nutrient management (INM), integrated water management (IWM), and integrated pest management (IPM) – all grouped under "Green Agriculture." In addition to being eco-friendly, the technology should be cost effective and suited to the resource-poor farmers, encompassing the three E concerns for food security: economics, ecology, and equity. The paradigm shifts toward integrated farming system and ecotechnologies should be widely operationalized.

State and Central Governments, SAUs, KVKs, ICAR institutes, ATMAs, NGOs, private sector, farmers, women groups, small farmers' estates, cooperatives, Panchayati Raj Institutions, and other grassroot rural and community-based institutions must work in a participatory and interactive mode through adopting watershed-based approach that provides multiple entry points and synergistically converges efforts of the various partners. Panchayati Raj Institutions should be suitably strengthened to bring the necessary convergence at grassroot level.

Regional diagnostic centers equipped with modern facilities should be established for seed testing, soil and plant analysis, and diagnosis of insect pests and diseases of crops, animals, and fishes. These centers should be capable of addressing the farmers' problems of the region in all agricultural, horticultural, animal husbandry, poultry, fishery, postharvest management, and marketing subsectors. Also, they should have the backward links with district development programs and forward links with SAUs and ICAR institutes in the region. There has to be a strong team of specialists including socioeconomists placed at the centers. Selected KVKs and ATMAs with due strengthening could perform this role. Some of the KVKs should strategically be earmarked primarily for catering to the needs of women farmers. It may be remembered that other things being similar, women suffer more than men when exposed to climate change stresses. Therefore, women-specific adaptation and mitigation programs and plans should be designed.

1.5 Adaptation and Mitigation

Agricultural diversity is a manifestation of climatic adaptation. Farmers and farming communities have shaped and channeled the adaptation depending on technology availability, economic viability, and their socioeconomic capacity. A twodimensional approach is needed to increase adaptive capacity of agriculture to climate change. In the longer term, adaptation to increased mean temperature and rainfall intensity will be important. In the short term, adaptation to unpredictable weather extremes such as drought, flood, heat, and cold will assume priority. Shortterm land and water use plans must therefore be developed for ensuring climate resilience.

Adaptation should include autonomous as well as planned measures. Autonomous adaptation – the ongoing implementations of existing knowledge and technology in response to changes in climate – would include variety and crop substitution, altering irrigation, water management practices, fertilizer and other inputs timing, quantity and mix to cut cost without compromising yield, water harvesting, watershed management and increased water use efficiency, communitybased management of water, adjusting overall farming system, and making intelligent use of weather forecasting.

The long-term adaptation is a must now. It will need additional knowledge, information, technologies, investments, infrastructures, and institutions integrated with the decision support system. Insurances, safety nets, cash transfers, and other risk management options to reduce vulnerability to shocks are also important parts of the solution. Greater emphasis must be placed on land and water use planning, monitoring, and community action. The Government must have a dynamic policy, plan, and strategy on climate change management to address the various issues.

As regards mitigation, agriculture being both a victim of and a contributor to GHGs and other environmental pollutions, an integrated resource and pollutant management strategy should be adopted. As regards GHGs, a three-pronged approach based on reducing emissions, enhancing removals, and avoiding (or displacing) emissions should prove effective. Grassroot organizations, primary agricultural cooperatives, and other cooperative systems should be empowered to increase carbon sequestration and their participation in the carbon market and income generation from environmental services without jeopardizing short-term production at smallholder farms. Governments, international agencies, private sector, farmers' organizations, CSOs, investors, and donors should collaborate in developing a win–win situation.

Research on genetic improvement, promotion of resource conservation technologies, and diversification would help the smallholder farmers in empowering them to adapt to and cope up with the situations. Research on organic recycling, alternative sources of energy, and enhanced and efficient biomass production and utilization will have high payoff. Successful models of identifying and applying appropriate technologies and supporting collective action of farmers with natural

18 1 Climate Change and Food Security

resource management in the most fragile environment and in tribal areas should be up- and outscaled. Systems such as mobile telephony for carrying the viable technologies, weather forecasts and weather-related information, and information on markets, prices, and pest and disease management should be promoted.

As the smallholder farmers are most vulnerable, an affordable and effective insurance system has to be introduced and implemented. The main risks of such farmers are related to (i) crop, (ii) weather, (iii) life, (iv) health, and (v) price. Whereas an effective price support system and marketing infrastructure may cover price-related risks and National Agriculture Insurance Schemes may cover the crop-related risks, the ITGI's products relating to weather insurance, general insurance, health insurance, and accidental death and injury insurance are particularly useful for climate change management. Rural cooperatives and other private organizations could become nodal points and agents for these insurance products and cover their members. A transparently and professionally managed Agriculture Risk Fund, as recommended by the National Commission on Farmers, should be established to insulate extremely poor and distressed farmers in the event of extreme weather and natural disaster conditions [10].

Since climate change poses complex challenges such as multiple abiotic stresses on crops and livestock, shortage of water, land degradation, and loss of biodiversity, a focused and long-term research is required to find solutions to the problems specific to our country. In this context, it is gratifying to note that a National Initiative on Climate Resilient Agriculture (NICRA) with a substantive budgetary outlay has been launched by the ICAR under the supervision of NRM Division with implementation by CRIDA. The scheme attempts to develop and promote climate resilient technologies in agriculture that will address vulnerable areas of the country. The outputs of the scheme will help the districts and regions prone to extreme weather conditions such as drought, floods, frost, heat waves, and so on to cope with such extremes, with special consideration to small and marginal farmers in rainfed, coastal, and hill areas.

The Initiative, however, should develop common metrics and tools for demonstrating the impacts on a wider scale, and also for benefiting from external financing (e.g., Clean Development Mechanism, Adaptation Fund of the Kyoto Protocol, Green Climate Fund, and private sector sources) to support community-based efforts to implement CSA practices and projects. In this context, effective GHG accounting methods should prove helpful.

1.6

Climate Resilient Agriculture – The Way Forward

The developing countries bear 75–80% of the costs of damages caused by the changing climate and the disturbed ecological, environmental, economic, social, and biological settings. Recognizing that agriculture is both a victim of and a contributor to GHGs and other environmental pollutions, a two-pronged approach to reduce the emission on one hand and to develop adaptive measures to increase

agricultural resilience on the other hand will be needed. Fortunately, alternative agricultural practices designed for specific agroecologies are proving effective in reducing GHG emissions from agriculture and at the same time in improving yields under extreme weather.

The road ahead to agricultural adaptation to climate change should therefore integrate technology, policy, and finance options toward lowering emission and promoting inclusive growth. Agroclimatic zone-specific approaches for management of water and other natural resources through adaptation of appropriate agricultural practices such as integrated watershed management, designer crops that may tolerate extreme biotic and abiotic stresses, conservation agriculture, system of rice intensification (SRI), development and use of climate analogues, and carbon finance for adaptation should be actively promoted.

It is well recognized that growth in agricultural sector of developing countries reduces hunger and poverty more effectively than do urban and industrial growth. This is particularly true under the fast changing climate. Bridging the yield gaps and enhancing sustainability of production systems should be the main pillars of achieving the desired accelerated and inclusive agricultural growth. The following actions are called for:

- Getting technology moving and ensuring access of farmers to the technology by re-establishing a trained, retooled, and dedicated cadre of extension workers, and strengthening of agricultural research and technology development.
- Increasing investment, efficiency, and systems support, rationalizing subsidy, and ensuring timely flow of cost-effective quality inputs and credit, insurance, and other institutional support systems.
- Augmenting the physical and economic connectivity of farm to market, postharvest operations including the role of food processing industries, cautious diversification without jeopardizing food security, and ultimately enhancing farmers' income and rural employment security.
- Promoting inclusiveness by enhancing access to land, water, credit, market, skills, and technology on the part of the poor and women, especially in the hot spots.

Food grain production and productivity, particularly of small and marginal farmers, should be accelerated to achieve the desired growth rate and equity. While the ongoing miniaturization of farm sizes should be halted and reversed through promoting off- and nonfarm rural employment, land reforms and land leasing, and other measures, improving small farm productivity must be the most important single development strategy to empower the resource-poor farmers to manage the stresses caused due to climate change. Village seed and food banks, preferably managed by women, should be established in each Panchayat.

Low-yield areas should be mapped and location-specific causes of the productivity gaps and land factor productivity should be identified and specific land and water use decisions should be promoted by restructured and retooled State Land Use Boards to realize the yield and income potential. Agricultural diversification should be promoted in consonance with market opportunities, farmers' income, and ecological sustainability.

20 1 Climate Change and Food Security

The slowdown in livestock and horticulture subsectors where huge yield gaps and unexploited potential exist should be arrested and small farm estates for horticulture, cotton, poultry, and aquaculture should be created to promote group farming and postharvest management. Knowledge-based and market-led diversification and extension should be promoted by institutionalizing the Every Village a Knowledge Center or Gyan Choupal movement. Climate change extension agents should be deployed in village clusters and should be equipped with relevant information and communication tools and devices.

In the livestock subsector, productivity of livestock in India is low due to fodder, feed, healthcare, market, and price constraints. Integrated crop–livestock–fish farming systems, cooperatives (Amul being world famous experience), and SHGs, especially women SHGs for livestock and agriclinics operated by veterinary and farm science graduates and paravets, coupled with fodder and feed banks, will immensely increase the productivity and income of livestock owners. Livestock insurance should particularly be accessible to smallholders. In view of the setback to poultry industry due to bird flu outbreaks, quarantine and testing facilities at all ports of entry should be established. Poultry rearing should be recognized as an agricultural activity and appropriate support should be extended to backyard poultry farmers to establish smallholders' poultry estates.

As regards the fisheries subsector, the following steps are suggested for accelerating production:

- Introduce integrated coastal zone management and scientific fish rearing, harvesting, and processing, including introducing mother ships, and develop suitable dynamic policies and governance, particularly for the management of exclusive economic zone (EEZ) extending to nearly 2 million km² of sea surface, which amounts to two-thirds of the land surface available to India. Strengthen early warning systems and instant communications to escape damages from typhoons, cyclones, and other weather aberrations.
- Undertake and institutionalize well-planned Aquarian Reforms to provide landless labor families access to village ponds and other water bodies in the public domain for aquaculture, and clarify property and use rights.
- The National Fisheries Development Board (NFDB) should promote the Aquarian Reforms and ensure congruence of ecology, economics, gender equity, and employment generation and should help resolve the conflicts between aquaculturists and agriculturists as well as resolve problems of local population due to salt water entering into the aquifer and pollution caused by intensive systems of aquaculture, and settle conflicts related to seaweed farming and introduction of exotic carps and other alien invasive species.
- Establish Fish for All Training and Capacity Building Centers (decentralized) for comprehensive training of the capture/culture–consumption chain, quality, hygienic handling, and biosecurity (with due attention to needs of fisherwomen) to enable fisher families to take up additional income earning activities.
- Institutionalize Responsible Fisheries (ecosystem approaches), promote wider application of semi-intensive production systems, and strengthen research and

extension for integration of aquaculture and other subsectors of agriculture and public–private partnership particularly in hatcheries and stocking programs.

Under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) in 2011, the Commission on Sustainable Agriculture and Climate Change encouraged policy action to help achieve food security while addressing climate change. It recommended seven priority actions [11]. Two of the most important priority actions in the context of climate smart agriculture (CSA) are (1) sustainably intensify agricultural production while reducing emissions and other environmental impacts and (2) create comprehensive information systems on human and ecological dimensions. Expanding CSA that results in increased food production, limits greenhouse gas emissions, and prepares for future climate change is a major goal and challenge especially in agriculture-based countries such as India where rural livelihoods depend primarily on shrinking and degrading ecosystems.

Research and technology development (supported by policy and institutions) will need to be geared to meet the veritable challenges. The much needed congruence of high productivity and sustainability in face of the intensifying volatilities due to climate change, biotic and abiotic stresses, and market instabilities, let alone the challenges of adequately feeding the swelling population from shrinking and degrading natural resources, can be underpinned only by developing smart technological solutions and innovations. New and modern sciences and cutting-edge technologies, especially intensive characterization of germplasm, molecular breeding, and genetic engineering for crop improvement and development of designer crops, coupled with associated resource management practices, including indigenous knowledge, practices, and technologies, will increasingly be called upon to provide the desired solutions.

There is a need for more integrated research and improved knowledge systems on the specific agricultural production methods that would work best for individual regions, farming systems, and landscapes. In addition, for agricultural practitioners in general, there is a need for public domain systems that provide information on "repeated observations" of successful CSA practices that are suitable for both large- and smallholder agriculture. Impacts of such practices should be tracked and reported through (1) design of standardized tracking metrics for measuring the impacts of CSA practices/strategies in terms of food production, GHG emissions, and climate resilience, (2) development or adoption of a public domain system for reporting and illustrating the results of these efforts, and (3) the potential establishment of a private sector-supported Climate Fund providing a mechanism for corporate to participate in the promotion and sustainability of climate smart agricultural practices.

The system may customize data collection and communication of successful project activities and adapt the Web-based software tool, such as CarbonCountsTM being used for monitoring, reporting, and verification (MRV) in Mexico for tracking of GHG mitigation and adaptation activities. Some modifications to this tool would likely be necessary; otherwise, a reporting tool specifically for Indian activities should be designed. Further, national investments in climate financing should

22 1 Climate Change and Food Security

be streamlined to attract sustained national and international funds. With the increasing emphasis on corporate social responsibility (CSR) initiatives, a "Climate Fund" should be established to leverage the financial capacity of the private sector to direct additional philanthropic resources toward climate-friendly adaptation interventions that will target and support the advancement of India's poorest farmers and help uptake of CSA practices.

Finally, commensurate with priority policy actions, as also suggested by UNFCC/ CSACC, the following policy options are needed: (1) integrate food security and sustainable/resilient agriculture into global and national policies, (2) increase global and national investments in resilient/sustainable agriculture and food systems, and (3) target programs and policies to assist vulnerable populations. Scientists should inform policies regarding the relative importance of adaptation and mitigation across various subsectors of agriculture (crop, livestock, fishery, and forestry) and provide guidelines to ensure synergies for improving food security and livelihoods. Effective methodologies should be developed for assessing risks and benefits and for evidence-based evaluations to enable scaling up to "safe operating space."

References

- 1 Singh, R.B. (2011) *Towards an Evergreen Revolution: The Road Map*, National Academy of Agricultural Sciences, New Delhi.
- 2 National Sample Survey, various years, Government of India.
- **3** Ministry of Agriculture, Government of India (2010) *Agricultural Statistics at a Glance.*
- 4 Binswanger-Mkhize, H. and Parikh, K. (2011) The Future of Indian Agriculture and Rural Poverty Reduction. Main Report.
- 5 FAO (2010) The State of Food Insecurity in the World 2010. The Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome.
- 6 Global Hunger Index (2010) The Challenge of Hunger – Focus on the Crisis of Child Undernutrition. International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC.
- 7 United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) (2009) Tracking Progress on Child and Maternal Nutrition – A survival and development priority, November 2009, p. 18.

- 8 Kumar, S.N., Singh, A.K., Aggarwal, P.K., Rao, V.U.M., and Venkateswarlu, B. (2012) Climate Change and Indian Agriculture: Impact, Adaptation and Vulnerability, ICAR.
- 9 Sharma, B.R., Rao, K.V., Vittal, K.P.R., Ramakrishna, Y.S., and Singh, A. (2010) Estimating the potential of rain fed agriculture in India – prospects of water productivity improvement. *Agric. Water Manage.*, 97, 23–30.
- 10 National Commission on Farmers (NCF) (2006) Save Farmers to Save Farming. Summary Report, Ministry of Agriculture, Government of India.
- 11 Beddington, J.R., Asaduzzaman, M., Clark, M.E., Fernandez Bremauntz, A., Guillou, M.D., Howlett, D.J.B., Jahn, M. M., Lin, E., Mamo, T., Negra, C., Nobre, C.A., Scholes, R.J., Van Bo, N., and Wakhungu, J. (2012) What next for agriculture after Durban? *Science*, 335, 289–290.

Navjot K. Dhillon, Satbir S. Gosal, and Manjit S. Kang

Abstract

Climate change is affecting agriculture directly or indirectly, worldwide. Temperature (high and low), level of greenhouse gases, rainfall, and high humidity directly affect the crops, pathogens, insects, and weeds. Several new diseases, weeds, and insect pests have started appearing with the changing climate. Some horticultural crops such as apple and pear will not be getting minimum chilling hours, which will reduce their production. New technologies such as plant genetic engineering and DNA markers have now become valuable tools in crop improvement for rapid precision breeding for specific purposes. Several climate resilient agricultural technologies such as zero tillage (no tillage), raised-bed planting, tensiometer, laser land leveling, happy seeder, and rotavator have been developed for conservation agriculture. Further, drip irrigation and fertigation, leaf color chart (LCC) for need-based application of nitrogen, sensor-based yield monitors, nitrogen sensors/green seekers, special-purpose vehicles with sensor-based input applicators, integrated nutrient management (INM) systems, integrated pest management (IPM) systems, integrated disease management (IDM) systems, site-specific management systems using remote sensing, GPS, and GIS, and Web-based decision support systems for controlling diseases and insect pests have been developed and are being commercialized for precision farming and to mitigate the climate change.

2.1

Introduction

Climate change refers to changes in the statistical distribution of weather across a period of time that ranges from decades to millions of years. It can be a change in the average weather or a change in the distribution of weather events around an average. Climate change may be limited to a specific region, or may occur across the whole Earth, and this type of climate change has been documented [1]. In the context of environmental policy, climate change usually refers to changes in modern climate. It may be experienced as anthropogenic climate change, more

Improving Crop Productivity in Sustainable Agriculture, First Edition.

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

© 2012 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

generally known as "global warming" or "anthropogenic global warming" (AGW). Recent environmental change attribution is the effort to observe the Earth's climate scientifically and to know the mechanisms responsible for recent changes. The effort has focused on changes observed during the period of instrumental temperature record, when records are most reliable, particularly for the past 50 years, when human action has grown fastest and observations of the troposphere have become accessible. The dominant mechanisms [2] responsible for recent climate change have been attributed to the following human activities:

- Deforestation that is responsible for global changes to land surface.
- Increasing atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases (GHGs).
- Increasing atmospheric concentrations of aerosols.

Recent reports from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) have concluded that most of the observed increase in globally averaged temperatures since the mid-twentieth century is very likely caused by the observed increase in anthropogenic greenhouse gas concentrations [3]. It is extremely unlikely (<5%) that the global warming pattern during the past half-century can be explained without invoking external forces (i.e., it is contradictory to being the result of internal variability), and it is very unlikely that it can be attributed to only known natural external causes. The warming occurred in both the ocean and the atmosphere and took place at a time when natural external forcing factors would likely have shaped cooling [4]. Further, from new estimates of the combined anthropogenic forcing due to greenhouse gases, aerosols, and land surface changes, it is extremely likely that human actions have exerted a considerable net warming influence on climate since 1750. It is virtually certain that anthropogenic aerosols produce a net radioactive forcing (negative cooling) influence with a greater magnitude in the Northern Hemisphere than in the Southern Hemisphere. The panel defines "very likely," "extremely likely," and "virtually certain" as indicating probabilities greater than 90, 95, and 99%, respectively [2]. Environmental change is also attributed to the land use patterns. While 66% of anthropogenic CO2 emissions during the past 250 years have resulted from burning fossil fuels, 33% have resulted from changes in land use such as deforestation. Deforestation both reduces the quantity of carbon dioxide absorbed by deforested regions and releases greenhouse gases, jointly with aerosols, through biomass burning that normally accompanies it. Further, the climate change has been attributed to land use; that is, terrestrial land is often altered by use. This effect is more noteworthy locally than globally [5].

Livestock production has also contributed to climate change. Scientists attribute more than 18% of anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions to livestock and livestock-related activities such as deforestation and increasingly fuel-intensive farming practices. Attributions to the livestock include 9% of global carbon dioxide emissions, 35–40% of global methane emissions (primarily caused by enteric fermentation and manure), and 64% of global nitrous oxide emissions, primarily caused by fertilizer use [6]. Agriculture is strongly influenced by

changes in climate. During the past few decades, climate change caused by global warming has become the focus of worldwide attention. The most eminent change is the increase in the atmospheric temperature caused by increased levels of greenhouse gases, that is, carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O), and chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) in the atmosphere. The CO₂, CH₄, and N₂O concentrations were 280 ± 6 ppm, 700 ± 60 ppb, and 270 ± 10 ppb between 1000 and 1750 AD. In 2005, these values had increased to 379 ppm, 1774 ppb, and 319 ppb, respectively. The global increases in CO₂ concentrations are primarily attributable to fossil fuel use and land use change, whereas those of methane and nitrous oxide are primarily attributable to agriculture. These increases in GHGs have resulted in the warming of the climate system by 0.74 °C between 1906 and 2005. Eleven of the 12 years (1995–2006) rank among the 12 warmest years in the instrumental record of global surface temperature kept since 1850 [7].

The United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), along with the World Meteorological Organization (WMO), established the IPCC in 1988 to periodically access the state of global environment and to advise various UN agencies on climate change. According to a recent report of the IPCC [7], the rate of global warming has been much higher in the recent decades and the nighttime minimum temperatures have been increasing at twice the rate of daytime maximum temperatures. The quantity of rainfall and its distribution have also become more uncertain. In some places, climatic extremes such as droughts, floods, timing of rainfall, and snowmelt have also increased. The sea level has risen by 10–20 cm, with regional variations. Similarly, snow cover is also believed to be gradually decreasing. All these changes can have tremendous effects on agricultural production and hence food security of any region.

Human and industrial activities are primarily responsible for the rise in the concentration of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere. The increasing levels of CO_2 are mostly because of fossil fuel combustion. The CO_2 is often referred to as "polluting gas," which is true only if it is present in too large a quantity. But in reality it is also a "life savior." Nature has provided us with a miraculously balanced energy cycle, in which CO₂ plays an important role by acting as a sink for trapping the energy from the sun. There is a large fixation of CO₂ in agriculture, but estimates are generally not available because of continuous consumption of its products by the human beings and other secondary consumers. In India, fixation of CO₂ assumes importance because almost 190 million ha of land is being used for farming. The estimated dry matter production from agriculture in India is almost 800 million tons/year. This is equivalent to fixation of 320 Tg of C or 1000 Tg of CO₂ per annum. Only a part of this is retained across time, while the rest is released back to the atmosphere. The data in Table 2.1 show that the United States is the major contributor to CO₂ emission, accounting for about one-fourth of the total global emissions (23.06%), whereas India's contribution is about 4%. Per capita production of carbon is also highest in the United States followed by Canada [8].

Country	Year		
	1990	2003	
Unites States	23.04	23.06	
China	10.41	14.07	
Russia	9.67	6.38	
Japan	5.54	4.79	
India	2.63	4.07	
Germany	4.24	3.35	
Canada	2.19	2.39	
United Kingdom	2.76	2.24	
Italy	1.91	1.85	
France	1.80	1.63	
Rest of the world	38.61	36.17	

 Table 2.1
 Global share (%) of some countries in CO₂ emission [8].

The IPCC has recently compiled the magnitude of change in CO_2 for different parts of the world and according to it, by 2010, CO_2 level will increase to 397–416 ppm and by 2070 to 605–755 ppm. The industrial processes and products cause CFC emissions, whereas the increased agricultural activities and organic waste management are presumed to be contributing to the buildup of CH_4 and N_2O in the atmosphere. The greenhouse gases produced by various activities are considered to be the agents of climate change and their relative contribution is given in Figure 2.1.

Crop productivity is constrained by the interseasonal and intraseasonal variation of the weather parameters through their direct as well as indirect effects,



Figure 2.1 Relative contribution to the anthropogenic greenhouse effect. (Source: Ref. [7].)

such as weather-induced changes, on incidence of pests and diseases, and requirement or availability of water for irrigation. The given uncertainties in regional climates are even aggravated by global warming, which may have serious direct and indirect consequences on crop production and, hence, on food security. It is, therefore, important to have an assessment of the consequences of climatic variability on crops, especially cereals, and of possible adaptation strategies.

The CO_2 is vital for photosynthesis and hence for plant growth. An increase in the atmospheric CO_2 concentration affects agricultural production by changing climate, and photosynthesis and transpiration rates. The rise in atmospheric CO_2 concentration from pre-industrial level of about 280 ppm to about 377 ppm currently is well documented [9]. It is, therefore, important to assess the combined effects of elevated atmospheric concentration and climate change on the productivity of a region's dominant crops. The direct effects of increased concentrations of CO_2 are generally beneficial to vegetation, especially for C_3 plants (wheat, rice, barley, oats, peanut, cotton, sugar beet, tobacco, spinach, and soybean), as elevated levels lead to higher assimilation rates and to an increase in stomatal resistance, resulting in a decline in transpiration and improved water use efficiency of crops.

Simulation studies have been conducted for predicting the plausible effects of elevated levels of CO_2 on yields of crops. Under elevated CO_2 levels, yields of rice and wheat increased by 15 and 28%, respectively, for a doubling of CO_2 in northwest India. We have also found that CO_2 levels are able to counteract the adverse effects of temperature increase on growth and yield of crops to some extent. A temperature increase of 1.0 °C from normal and doubled CO_2 concentration of 600 ppm increased maximum leaf area index of wheat, rice, and maize by 7.8, 0.8, and 3.6% from normal, respectively, and grain yield of wheat, rice, and maize by 10.4, 0.5, and 2.3% from normal, respectively [10].

To feed the almost 7 billion people living on this planet, the production of high-quality food must increase, with reduced inputs, but this will be challenging under changing environment. Plant breeders need to focus on traits that increase yield and also improve quality. Thus, new technologies must be developed to accelerate breeding through improving genotyping and phenotyping methods and by increasing and utilizing the available genetic diversity in breeding germplasm. The major gain will come from delivering these technologies in developing countries, but the technologies will have to be economically accessible and readily disseminated. Breeding and agronomic improvements have achieved a linear increase in food production globally, at an average rate of 32 million metric tons per year. To meet the recent Declaration of the World Summit on Food Security target of 70% more food by 2050, an average annual increase in production of 44 million metric tons per year is required, which represents a 38% increase over past increases in production, and it must be sustained for 40 years. This magnitude of sustained increase in global food production is unprecedented and requires substantial changes in methods relative to agronomic and crop improvement practices [11].

2.1.1

Global Environmental Change Alters Crop Targets

Rising CO₂ acts as a fertilizer for C₃ crops and accounts for approximately 0.3% of the observed 1% rise in global wheat production [12], although this benefit is likely to shrink, because rising temperatures will increase photorespiration and nighttime respiration. Rising temperature benefit is the alleviation of low-temperature inhibition of growth, which is a limitation at higher latitudes and altitudes. Offsetting these benefits, however, are the obvious detrimental changes, such as an increased frequency of damaging high-temperature events, new pest and disease pressures, and distorted patterns of drought. Negative effects of other pollutants, particularly ozone, will also lessen benefits from rising CO₂ and temperature to plant growth. Particularly exigent for society will be changes in weather patterns that will require modifications in farming practices and infrastructure, for example, transport networks and water storage. Because onethird of the world's food is produced on irrigated land [13], the expected impacts on global food production are many. Along with agronomic and managementbased approaches to improving food production, improvements in a crop's capability to maintain yields and quality with lower water supply will be critical. Put cleanly, we need to increase the tolerance of crops to drought, salinity, and high temperature.

Nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) has also emerged as a key target in the context of global environmental change. Human actions have already more than doubled the amount of atmospheric N_2 fixed annually, which has led to environmental impacts, such as increased water pollution, and the emission of greenhouse gases, such as nitrous oxide. Nitrogen inputs are gradually being managed by legislation that limits fertilizer use in agriculture. Furthermore, rising energy costs mean that fertilizers are now commonly the highest input cost for farmers. New crop varieties with improved NUE will need to be developed. Consequently, it is important that breeding programs should aim at developing strategies to select for high yield, quality, and NUE.

2.1.2 Crop Productivity

Crop productivity is measured as the ratio of agricultural outputs to agricultural inputs. While individual products are usually measured by weight, their varying densities make measuring overall agricultural output difficult. Therefore, output is usually measured as the market value of final output, which excludes intermediate products, such as corn feed used in the meat industry. This output value may be compared with many different types of inputs such as labor and land (yield). These are called partial measures of productivity. Agricultural productivity may also be measured by what is referred to as total factor productivity (TFP). This method of calculating agricultural productivity compares an index of agricultural inputs to an index of outputs, which was established to remedy the shortcomings of the partial measures of productivity; notably, it is often hard to identify the factors that cause them to change. Changes in TFP are usually attributed to technological improvements [14]. Increase in agricultural productivity is often linked with questions about sustainability and sustainable development. Changes in agricultural practices necessarily bring changes in demands on resources. This means that as regions implement measures to increase the productivity of their farmland, they must also find ways to ensure that future generations will also have the resources that they will need to live and thrive.

2.1.3

Climatic Factors Affecting Crop Production

Man cannot control the climate, but crop management practices can be altered to maximize yield. Climate is the most dominating factor influencing the suitability of a crop to a particular region. The yield potential of a crop mainly depends on climate. More than 50% of yield variation of crops is attributable to solar radiation, temperature, rainfall, and relative humidity. Further, wind velocity also influences crop growth to some extent. Atmospheric factors that affect the crop plants are called climatic factors, which include

- precipitation;
- temperature;
- atmospheric humidity;
- solar radiation;
- wind velocity and atmospheric gases.

2.1.3.1 Precipitation

It results from evaporation of water from seawater and land surfaces. The process involved in the transfer of moisture from the sea to the land and back to the sea is known as the hydrologic cycle. Hydrologic cycle is the continuous circulation of water between hydrosphere, atmosphere, and lithosphere. Precipitation includes rainfall, snow, or hail; fog drip and dew also contribute to moisture. Fog consists of small water droplets, whereas dew is the condensation of the water vapor present in the air. Precipitation influences the vegetation of a place. Most of the crops receive their water supply from rainwater, which is the source of soil moisture so essential for the life of a plant. The yearly precipitation, both in total amount and in seasonal distribution, greatly affects the choice of cultivated crops of a place.

2.1.3.2 Temperature

It is regarded as a measure of intensity of heat energy. The range of maximum growth for most plants is between 15 and 40 $^{\circ}$ C. Every plant community has its own minimum, optimum, and maximum temperatures, known as their cardinal points. Temperature is determined by the distance from the equator (latitude) and by the altitude.

2.1.3.3 Atmospheric Humidity

Water that is present in the atmosphere in the form of invisible water vapor is termed as humidity of the air. Evapotranspiration of crop plants increases with the temperature but decreases with high relative humidity affecting the quantity of irrigation water. Moist air favors the growth of many fungi and bacteria that seriously affect crop production.

2.1.3.4 Solar Radiation

Solar energy provides two essential needs of plants:

- a) Light required for photosynthesis and for many other functions of the plant, including seed germination, leaf expansion, growth of stem and shoot, flowering, fruiting, and even dormancy.
- b) Thermal conditions required for the normal physiological functions of the plant. Light helps in synthesis of chlorophyll pigment. Light affects the plants in four ways: intensity, quality (wavelength), duration (photoperiod), and direction.

2.1.3.5 Wind Velocity

It affects growth mechanically (damage to crop) and physiologically (evaporation and transpiration). Hot, dry winds adversely affect photosynthesis and hence productivity, by causing closure of the stomata even when soil moisture is adequate. Moderate winds have beneficial effects on photosynthesis by continuously replacing the CO_2 absorbed by leaf surfaces.

Changing environment is regarded as a major threat to crop productivity, worldwide. To mitigate the effect of climate change, there is the need to develop matching crop varieties and production/protection technologies. New innovative approaches, such as conservation agriculture (CA), precision agriculture (PA), and biotechnology (BT), hold great promise for sustaining agricultural production. Conservation agriculture involves techniques of "no tillage" and crop residue management (recycling) and helps conserve natural resources such as water, soil, and nutrients. Several CA technologies have been developed, for example,

- zero tillage (no tillage);
- raised-bed planting;
- tensiometer;
- laser land leveling;
- happy seeder;
- rotavator.

The "precision agriculture" is the need of the hour to apply right amount of inputs, at right time, at right place, and in right manner with right hardware. Several techniques ensuring "precision agriculture" have been developed and are being commercialized. Most popular technologies include

- drip irrigation and fertigation;
- leaf color chart for need-based application of nitrogen;

- sensor-based yield monitors;
- nitrogen sensors/green seekers;
- special-purpose vehicles with sensor-based input applicators;
- integrated nutrient management (INM) systems;
- integrated pest management (IPM) systems;
- integrated disease management (IDM) systems;
- site-specific management systems using remote sensing, geographical positioning system (GPS), and geographical information system (GIS);
- Web-based decision support systems for controlling diseases and insect pests;
- germplasm enhancement for biotic and abiotic stress management.

"Seed is the carrier of technology"; therefore, plant breeding involving innovative approaches of biotechnology can play a dominant role in developing climate resilient varieties.

A series of high-yielding crop cultivars possessing resistance to diseases and insect pests and with improved quality have been developed following the conventional methods such as introduction, selection, hybridization, polyploidy, and mutation breeding. However, these methods are very timeconsuming and laborious. Moreover, it has been rather difficult to develop improved varieties in vegetatively propagated and seedless crops. Plant genetic engineering and DNA marker technologies have now become a valuable adjunct in crop improvement for rapid precision breeding for specific purposes.

2.1.4 Plant Genetic Engineering

During the past 20 years, the combined use of recombinant DNA technology, gene transfer methods, and tissue culture techniques has led to efficient transformation and production of transgenics in a wide variety of crop plants [15]. In fact, transgenesis has emerged as an additional tool to carry out single-gene breeding or transgenic breeding of crops. Unlike conventional breeding, only cloned gene(s) of agronomic importance are being introduced without cotransfer of undesirable genes from the donor. The recipient genotype is least disturbed, which eliminates the need for repeated backcrosses. Above all, the transformation method provides access to a larger gene pool than available using conventional backcrossing, as the gene(s) can come from viruses, bacteria, fungi, insects, animals, human beings, unrelated plants, and even from chemical synthesis in the laboratory. Various gene transfer methods [16-20] have been developed for genetic transformation of plants. Rapid and remarkable achievements have been made in the production, characterization, and field evaluation of transgenic plants in several field, fruit, and forest plant species. However, the major interest has been in the introduction of cloned gene(s) of agronomic importance into commercial cultivars for their incremental improvement. Using different gene transfer methods and strategies, transgenics carrying useful agronomic traits have been developed and released in several crops.

2.1.4.1 Engineering for Herbicide Resistance

There have been two approaches to develop herbicide-resistant transgenic plants.

2.1.4.1.1 **Transfer of a Gene Whose Enzyme Product Detoxifies a Herbicide (Detoxification)** Using this approach, the introduced gene produces an enzyme that degrades the herbicide sprayed on the plant. For instance, introduction of bar gene cloned from bacteria *Streptomyces hygroscopicus* into plants makes them resistant to herbicides based on phosphinothricin. Bar gene produces an enzyme, phosphinothricin acetyltransferase (PAT), that degrades phosphinothricin into a nontoxic acetylated form. Plants engineered with bar gene were found to grow in phosphinothricin at levels 4–10 times higher than normal concentrations in field applications [21–23]. Likewise, bxn gene of *Klebsiella ozaenae*, which produces nitrilase enzyme, imparts resistance to plants against herbicide bromoxynil. Other genes, including tfdA for 2,4-D tolerance and GST gene for atrazine tolerance, have also been used.

2.1.4.1.2 **Transfer of a Gene Whose Enzyme Product Becomes Insensitive to Herbicide (Target Modification)** Using this approach, a mutated gene is introduced into the plant that produces a modified enzyme in the transgenic plant and that is not recognized by the herbicide; hence, the herbicide cannot kill the plant. For instance, a mutant *aroA* gene from bacteria *Salmonella typhimurium* has been used for developing tolerance to herbicide, glyphosate. The target site of glyphosate is a chloroplast enzyme 5-enol-pyruvylshikimic acid 3-phosphate synthase (EPSPS). Introduction of mutant *aroA* gene produces modified EPSPS, not recognizable to glyphosate. Likewise, sulfonylurea and imidazolinone herbicides inhibit acetolactate synthase (ALS) chloroplast protein. Tolerance to these herbicides has been achieved by engineering the expression of the mutant herbicide ALS gene derived from a plant.

2.1.4.2 Engineering for Insect Resistance

There have been two approaches to developing insect-resistant transgenic plants by transferring insect control protein genes.

2.1.4.2.1 **Introduction of Plant Gene(s)** Several insecticidal proteins of plant origin, such as lectins, amylase inhibitors, and protease inhibitors, can retard insect growth and development when ingested by insects at high doses [24, 25]. Some genes such as CpTi, PIN-1, PIN 11, α A-1, and GNA have been cloned from different plants and are being used in the genetic transformation programs aimed at developing insect resistance in plants [26–28].

2.1.4.2.2 **Introduction of Bacterial Genes** *Bacillus thuringiensis* synthesizes an insecticidal crystal protein, which resides in the inclusion bodies produced by the *Bacillus* during sporulation. This crystal protein when ingested by insect larvae is solubilized in the alkaline conditions of the midgut of the insect and processed by midgut proteases to produce a protease-resistant polypeptide that is toxic to the

insect. Lepidopteran-specific Bt gene from *B. thuringiensis* subsp. *kurstaki* has been widely and successfully used in tobacco, tomato, potato, cotton, rice, and maize for developing resistance against several lepidopteran insect pests [29–34]. The use of redesigned synthetic Bt gene has also been used in some of these crops and in several instances the synthetic versions have exhibited up to 500-fold increase in the expression [35]. Insect-resistant transgenic varieties/hybrids of several crops have been released for commercial cultivation in many countries [36].

2.1.4.3 Engineering for Disease Resistance

2.1.4.3.1 Bacterial Resistance Genetic engineering for bacterial resistance has met with relatively little success. The expression of a bacteriophage T₄ lysozyme in transgenic potato tubers led to increased resistance to Erwinia carotovora. Besides, the expression of barley α -thionin gene significantly enhanced the resistance of transgenic tobacco to bacterium Pseudomonas syringae. Advances in the cloning of several new bacterial resistance genes may provide better understanding in the area of plant-bacterial interactions. Further, RNAi technology has also been tried to control bacterial diseases. A crown gall disease management strategy [37] that targets the process of tumorigenesis (gall formation) by initiating RNAi of the iaaM and ipt oncogenes has been developed. Expression of these genes is a prerequisite for wildtype tumor formation. Transgenic Arabidopsis thaliana and Lycopersicon esculentum transformed with RNAi constructs, targeting iaaM and ipt gene(s), showed resistance to crown gall disease. Transgenic plants generated through this technology contained a modified version of these two bacterial gene(s) required to cause the disease and this was the first report to manage a major bacterial disease through RNAi. The extra genes recognize and effectively shut down the expression of the corresponding bacterial gene during infection, thus preventing the spread of infection. The incoming bacteria could not make the hormones needed to cause tumors and plants deficient in the silencing mechanism were hypersusceptible to Agrobacterium tumefaciens [38]. Successful infection relied on a potent anti-silencing state established in tumors whereby siRNA synthesis is specifically inhibited. The procedure can be exploited to develop broad-spectrum resistance in ornamental and horticultural plants that are susceptible to crown gall tumorigenesis. This approach can be advocated for the effective management of those pathogens that multiply very rapidly and result in tumor formation, such as Albugo candida, Synchytrium endobioticum, and Erwinia amylovora. The natsiRNA (nat-siRNAATGB2) was strongly induced in Arabidopsis upon infection by P. syringae pv. tomato and downregulated a PPRL gene that encodes a negative regulator of the RPS2 disease resistance pathway. As a result, the induction of nat-siRNAATGB2 increases the RPS2-mediated race-specific resistance against P. syringae pv. tomato in Arabidopsis [39]. Recently, the accumulation of a new class of siRNA, 30-40 nucleotides in length, termed as long siRNAs (lsiRNAs), was found associated with P. syringae infection. One of these lsiRNAs, AtlsiRNA-1, contributes to plant bacterial resistance by silencing AtRAP, a negative regulator of plant defense [40]. A Pseudomonas bacterial flagellinderived peptide was found to induce the accumulation of miR393 in Arabidopsis.

The miR393 negatively regulated mRNAs of F-box auxin receptors, resulting in increased resistance to the bacterium (*P. syringae*), and the overexpression of miR393 was shown to reduce the plant's bacterial titer by fivefold [41].

2.1.4.3.2 **Virus Resistance** The genetic engineering of virus-resistant plants has exploited new genes derived from viruses themselves in a concept referred to as pathogen-derived resistance (PDR).

Coat Protein-Mediated Resistance (CP-MR) Introduction of a viral coat protein gene into the plant makes the plant resistant to virus from which the gene for the CP was derived. It was first demonstrated for TMV in tobacco [42]. Subsequently, virus-resistant transgenics have been developed in tomato, melon, rice, papaya, potato, and sugar beet [43]. A variety of yellow squash called "Freedom 11" has been released in the United States. Several CP-MR varieties of potato, cucumber, and tomato are under field evaluation. Transgenic papaya resistant to papaya ringspot virus (PRSV) has been developed and is being commercially grown in the United States [44].

RNAi Technology Antiviral RNAi technology has been successfully used for viral disease management in human cell lines [45–48]. The effectiveness of the technology in generating virus-resistant plants was first reported for PVY in potato, harboring vectors for simultaneous expression of both sense and antisense transcripts of the helper component of proteinase (HC-Pro) gene [49]. The P1/HC-Pro suppressors from the potyvirus inhabited silencing at a step downstream of dsRNA processing, possibly by preventing the unwinding of duplex siRNAs, or the incorporation into RISC, or both [50]. RNAi-mediated silencing of geminiviruses using transient protoplast assay where protoplasts were cotransferred with a siRNA designed to replicase (Rep) coding sequence of African cassava mosaic virus (ACMV) and the genomic DNA of ACMV resulted in 99% reduction in Rep transcripts and 66% reduction in viral DNA [51]. The siRNA was able to silence a closely related strain of ACMV but not a more distantly related virus. More than 40 viral suppressors have been identified in plant viruses [52].

A different siRNA vector has been used to target the viral suppressor of the cucumber mosaic virus (CMV), a suppressor that interacted with and blocked the slicer activity of AGO1 [53] that has also been shown to confer resistance to CMV infection in transgenic tobacco. A strong correlation between virus resistance and the expression level of the 2b-specific amiRNA was shown for individual plant lines. It is evident from the above-mentioned reports that the RNA components, such as single-strand template RNA, dsRNA, and/or siRNA of the silencing pathways, are the preferred targets of most viral suppressors. However, plant viruses are known to have evolved a counter-silencing mechanism by encoding proteins that can overcome such resistance [54, 55]. These suppressors of gene silencing are often involved in viral pathogenicity, mediate synergism among plant viruses, and result in the induction of more severe disease. Simultaneous silencing of such

diverse plant viruses can be achieved by designing hairpin structures that can target a distinct virus in a single construct [55].

2.1.4.3.3 **Fungal Resistance** Genetic engineering for fungal resistance has been limited. But several new advances in this area now present an optimistic outlook. Many reports have found positive results with transgenic plants expressing genes for disease resistance.

Antifungal Protein-Mediated Resistance Introduction of chitinase gene into tobacco and rice has been shown to enhance fungal resistance in plants [56, 57]. Chitinase enzyme degrades the major constituents of the fungal cell wall (chitin and α -1,3-glucan). Coexpression of chitinase and glucanase genes in tobacco and tomato plants confers a higher level of resistance than either gene alone. Use of genes for ribosome inactivating proteins (RIPs), along with chitinase, has also shown synergistic effects. A radish gene encoding antifungal protein 2 (Rs-AFP2) was expressed in transgenic tobacco and resistance to *Alternaria longipes* was observed [58]. Other pathogenesis-related proteins/peptides include osmotin, thionins, and lectins [59].

Antifungal Compound-Mediated Resistance The low molecular weight compounds, such as phytoalexins, possess antimicrobial properties and have been postulated to play an important role in plant resistance to fungal and bacterial pathogens [60]. Expression of a stilbene synthase gene from grapevine in tobacco resulted in the production of new phytoalexin (resveratrol) and enhanced resistance to infection by Botrytis cinerea. Active oxygen species (AOS), including hydrogen peroxide, also play an important role in plant defense responses to pathogen infection [61]. Transgenic potato plants expressing a H2O2 generating fungal gene for glucose oxidase were found to have elevated levels of H2O2 and enhanced levels of resistance to both fungal and bacterial pathogens, particularly to Verticillium wilt. Further, overexpression of defense response genes in transgenic plants has provided enhanced resistance to a variety of fungal pathogens [62]. For example, transgenic wheat lines carrying a barley seed class II chitinase exhibited enhanced resistance to powdery mildew [63, 64]. Varying amounts of resistance to powdery mildew were observed in transgenic wheat lines carrying a barley chitinase or a barley β -1,3-glucanase [65]. With respect to FHB, a transgenic wheat line carrying a rice thaumatin-like protein and a line carrying a combination of a wheat β -1,3-glucanase and chitinase exhibited delayed symptoms of FHB in greenhouse trials [66, 67]. In addition, transgenic Arabidopsis carrying an overexpressed Arabidopsis thionin has exhibited increased resistance to Fusarium oxysporum [68]. Transgenic wheat expressing the Arabidopsis NPR1 gene, which regulates defense responses, was shown to exhibit a high level of resistance to FHB in greenhouse evaluations [69].

The RNA-mediated gene silencing (RNA silencing) is being tried as a reverse tool for gene targeting in fungi. Homology-based gene silencing induced by transgenes (cosuppression), antisense, or dsRNA has been demonstrated in many plant pathogenic fungi, including *Cladosporium fulvum* [70], *Magnaporthe oryzae* [71], *Venturia inaequalis* [72], *Neurospora crassa* [73], *Aspergillus nidulans* [74], and *Fusarium*

graminearum [75]. Hairpin vector technology [72] has been used to trigger simultaneous high-frequency silencing of a green fluorescent protein (GFP) transgene and an endogenous trihydroxynaphthalene (THN) reductase gene in *V. inaequalis*. The GFP transgene served as an easily detectable visible marker, whereas the THN reductase gene played a role in melanin biosynthesis.

A protocol for silencing the mpg1 and polyketide synthase-like genes has been developed [75]. The mpg1 gene is a hydrophobic gene that is essential for pathogenicity as it acts as a cellular relay for adhesion and triggers the development of appressorium [76]. It was possible to successfully silence the genes at varying degrees by pSilent-1-based vectors in 70–90% of the resulting transformants. Ten to fifteen percent of the silenced transformants exhibited almost "null phenotype." This vector was also efficiently applicable to silencing a GFP reporter in another ascomycete fungus *Colletotrichum lagenarium* [75].

2.1.4.4 Engineering for Improving Nutritional Quality

There is now a growing interest in improving the nutritional quality of food crops. Genes cloned from plants and microbes are being introduced into crop plants to enhance their nutritional value. For instance, introduction of provitamin A and β -carotene genes has resulted in the production of "golden rice" [77–79]. Likewise, high-protein "phaseolin" and AmA1 genes have been introduced into heterologous systems. Introduction of AmA1 gene into potato [80, 81] has caused improvement in yield, protein content, and quality. Vitamin-producing transgenic plants have also been developed [82] and emphasis is being laid on multigene engineering [83]. The main objective of these crops is to add value to agri-foods [84].

2.1.4.5 Engineering for Male Sterility

The exploitation of heterosis (hybrid vigor) through the use of hybrid varieties is one of the major achievements of conventional plant breeding. However, in many crops, an efficient and economical method of producing hybrid seed is not available. To overcome these difficulties, genetic engineering of male sterility [85] and its restoration have emerged as tangible options for the development of male sterile and restorer lines for hybrid seed production. There are several biotechnological approaches to developing male sterile lines, but the barnase-barstar genes have been used with greater success. The barnase gene, from the bacterium Bacillus amyloliquefaciens, encodes the enzyme barnase (ribonuclease), which is produced in the transgenic plant/line during the development of anthers. Barnase destroys the tapetal tissues and prevents pollen production, conferring male sterility, whereas the introduction and expression of barstar gene, also from B. amyloliquefaciens, into another plant/line results in the development of restorer line. The hybrid plants derived from crosses of male sterile and restorer lines are fully fertile. This system has been commercially exploited in maize and oilseed rape [86-88]. Likewise, this method can be further extended to other crops for the production of hybrid seeds.

2.1.4.6 Engineering for Molecular Farming/Pharming

An additional goal for the production of transgenic plants is the use of living systems for the production of metabolites at the industrial scale, for example, specialty chemicals, antibodies, pharmaceuticals, edible vaccines, and so on. Cell's metabolic networks that evolved in nature are not optimized for industrial production of these metabolites. So, the performance of metabolic pathways is being manipulated, so that metabolites are overproduced. The introduction of heterologous genes and regulatory elements in the living systems is commonly called metabolic engineering. There are an increasing number of reports dealing with the production of specialty chemicals, biopharmaceutics, and edible vaccines that can be stored and distributed as seeds, tubers, or fruits [83, 89-93]. Solulin is a recombinant soluble derivative of human thrombomodulin [94]. To evaluate the production of pharmaceutical protein in plants, expression vectors were generated using four different Nterminal signal peptides. Immunoblot analysis of transiently transformed tobacco leaves showed that intact "solulin" could be detected using three of these signal peptides [95]. Furthermore, transgenic tobacco plants and BY2 cells producing solulin were generated. It has been demonstrated that plants and plant cell cultures can be used as alternative systems for the production of an active recombinant thrombomodulin derivative.

2.1.4.7 Engineering for Improving Postharvest Traits

The ripening of fleshy fruits involves changes in color, texture, and flavor. This process occurs through the action of enzymes. The activities of many of the key enzymes are regulated by the controlled expression of "ripening genes." In climacteric fruits such as tomato, the expression of ripening genes is stimulated by ethylene, which functions as a ripening hormone. Many ripening genes have now been cloned, including polygalacturonase and pectinesterase involved in cell wall softening, phytoene synthase required for carotenoid synthesis, and ACC synthase and ACC oxidase that catalyze the production of ethylene. A number of techniques are now available for overexpression of particular genes in fruits to change their physiological and biochemical properties. The techniques of gene silencing using either antisense genes or sense suppression have been used successfully to reduce or inactivate the expression of specific genes and determine their function. Ripening of fruits and senescence in flowers can be delayed by antisense expression of genes involved in pectin metabolism or ethylene biosynthesis. Genetically engineered tomatoes have low polygalacturonase activity that causes delayed ripening. Transgenic tomato variety "Flavr Savr" possessing longer shelf life was released in the United States, whereas reduction in ethylene synthesis has been shown to improve quality and storage life of tomato and melon. Fruit ripening was delayed by controlling ethylene production in apple [96, 97], grapes [98], and citrus [99]. Likewise, these approaches are now being used to introduce desirable traits, such as color, shape, plant architecture, and vase life to meet consumer demand for novelty. Transgenic carnations and geranium, exhibiting low ethylene production, show delayed petal senescence. Attempts are now being made to develop marker-free transgenic plants [100].

2.1.4.8 Engineering for Abiotic Stress Tolerance

Transfer of cloned genes has resulted in transgenics that are tolerant to some abiotic stresses [101]. For instance, for frost protection, an antifreeze protein gene from fish has been transferred into tomato and tobacco. Likewise, a gene coding for glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase from Arabidopsis has been transferred to tobacco for enhancing cold tolerance. Hal2 gene is being tried for developing salt tolerance. P5CS from Vigna aconitifolia was introduced through "particle gun" method of gene transfer into Saccharum officinarum under the action of AIPC promoter. Results indicated that stress-inducible proline accumulation in transgenic sugarcane plants under water-deficit stress acts as a component of antioxidative defense system rather than as an osmotic adjustment mediator [102]. TPS1-TPS2 fusion gene construct was introduced into Arabidopsis through Agrobacterium-mediated gene transfer under the control of CaMV 35S or stress-regulated Cd 29A promoter. No morphological growth alterations were observed in lines overexpressing the TPS1-TPS2 construct, whereas the plants overexpressing the TPS1 alone under the control of 35S promoter showed abnormal growth, color, and shape [103]. Thus, it can be concluded that engineering trehalose metabolism in plants can substantially increase their capacity to tolerate abiotic stresses. Late embryogenesis abundant (LEA) proteins are mainly low molecular weight (10-30 kDa) proteins that are involved in protecting higher plants from damage caused by environmental stresses, especially drought (dehydration) [104]. The OsLEA3-1 gene has been transformed into rice through the Agrobacterium-mediated gene transfer method under the control of different promoters. Constitutive and stress-inducible expression of OsLEA3-1 under the control of CaMV 35S and HVA1-like promoter, respectively, resulted in transgenic rice plants showing increased tolerance to drought under field conditions [105].

The gene regulating protein factors that regulate gene expression and signal transduction and function under stress responses may be useful for improving the abiotic stress tolerance in plants. These genes comprise regulatory proteins, that is, transcription factors (bZip, MYC, MYB, DREB, NACs, NAM, ATAF, CUC, etc.), protein kinases (MAP kinase, CDP kinase, receptor protein kinase, ribosomal protein kinase, transcription regulation protein kinase, etc.), and proteinases (phosphoesterase, phospholipase, etc.). Transgenic overexpression of HvCBF4 from barley in rice resulted in an increase in tolerance to drought, high-salinity, and lowtemperature stresses without stunting growth. Using the 60K Rice Whole Genome Microarrays, 15 rice genes were identified that were activated by HvCBF4. When compared with 12 target rice genes of CBF3/DREB1A, 5 genes were common to both HvCBF4 and CBF3/DREB1A, and 10 and 7 genes were specific to HvCBF4 and CBF3/DREB1A, respectively [106]. Overexpression of stress-responsive gene SNAC1 (stress-responsive NAC1) significantly enhanced drought resistance in transgenic rice (22-34% higher seed setting than control) in the field under severe drought stress conditions at the reproductive stage while showing no phenotypic changes or yield penalty. The transgenic rice exhibited significant improvement in drought resistance and salt tolerance at the vegetative stage. Compared with wild type, the transgenic rice was more sensitive to abscisic acid and lost water more slowly by closing more stomatal pores, yet displayed no significant difference in the rate of photosynthesis. DNA chip analysis revealed that a large number of stress-related genes were upregulated in the SNAC1-overexpressing rice plants. SNAC1 holds promise for improving drought and salinity tolerance in rice [107]. Several transcription factors have been used to develop transgenic plants tolerant to abiotic stresses [108–111].

2.1.5

Molecular Breeding

Development and utilization of molecular markers for detecting differences in the DNA of individual plants have many valuable applications to crop improvement. These differences are known as molecular markers because they are often associated with specific genes and act as "signposts" to those genes. Several types of molecular markers that have been developed and are being used in plants include restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLPs), amplified fragment length polymorphisms (AFLPs), randomly amplified polymorphic DNAs (RAPDs), sequence-tagged sites (STS), expressed sequence tags (ESTs), simple sequence repeats (SSRs) or microsatellites, sequence-characterized amplified regions (SCARs), and single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) [112-114]. Such markers, closely linked to genes of interest, can be used to select indirectly for the desirable allele, which represents the simplest form of marker-assisted selection (MAS) that is now being exploited to accelerate backcross breeding and pyramid several desirable alleles [115]. Using molecular markers, genotypes can be distinguished at plant, tissue, or even at cellular level. These molecular markers are not stage specific. Selection of a marker flanking a gene of interest allows selection for the presence (or absence) of a gene in progeny. Thus, molecular markers can be used to follow any number of genes during the breeding program [116]. DNA markers are now extensively being used for gene mapping/tagging [117–125]. Further, these can also be used for dissecting polygenic traits into their Mendelian components or quantitative trait loci [126, 127]. Likewise, molecular markers are also extensively used to probe the level of genetic diversity among different varieties and related species. The applications of such evaluations are many, including DNA profiling, fingerprinting for patenting and IPR issues, efficiently managing genetic resources, and facilitating introgression of chromosomal segments from alien species. In addition, markers and comparative mapping of various species have been very valuable for improving the understanding of genome structure and function and have allowed the isolation of genes of interest via map-based cloning. Molecular maps [121] in several crop plants, for example, tomato, wheat, and rice, have been prepared using different molecular markers. The discovery of molecular markers has enabled dissection of quantitative traits into their single genetic components [128-131] and selection and pyramiding of QTL alleles through MAS [132-135]. A novel upland rice variety Birsa Vikas Dhan 111 (PY 84) has recently been released in the Indian state of Jharkhand [136]. It was developed

using marker-assisted backcrossing with selection for multiple QTL for improved root growth to improve its performance under drought conditions. It is an earlymaturing, drought-tolerant, and high-yielding variety with good grain quality suitable for the direct seeded uplands and transplanted medium lands of Eastern India. It outyields the recurrent parent by 10% under rainfed conditions.

2.2 Conclusions

Climate change is now taking place, worldwide. Climate change is affecting agriculture directly or indirectly. It is evident that there is an increase in the average temperature, globally. The levels of greenhouse gases such as carbon dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide have been increased. Maximum and minimum relative humidity levels have shown increasing trend, whereas high temperature and high humidity directly affect the crops, pathogens, insects, and weeds. Wheat and rice, which are the important cereal crops of the world, are being affected by elevated temperatures and humidity levels. Several new diseases such as powdery mildew and foliar blight of wheat have started appearing, and there is a risk of stem rust (black rust), caused by Ug99, which started from Uganda and has now spread up to Iran. Likewise, new insect pests such as black aphids and pink stem borer have started appearing on wheat. The horticultural crops, which require chilling for flowering, will not be getting minimum chilling hours, which may reduce their production. New technologies must be developed to accelerate breeding through improving genotyping and phenotyping methods and by increasing the available genetic diversity in crop breeding programs. Plant genetic engineering and DNA marker technologies have now become valuable tools in crop improvement for rapid precision breeding for specific purposes. Several climate resilient agricultural technologies such as zero tillage (no tillage), raised-bed planting, tensiometer, laser land leveling, happy seeder, and rotavator have been developed for conservation agriculture. Further, drip irrigation and fertigation, leaf color chart for need-based application of nitrogen, sensor-based yield monitors, nitrogen sensors/green seekers, special-purpose vehicles with sensorbased input applicators, integrated nutrient management systems, integrated pest management systems, integrated disease management systems, site-specific management systems using remote sensing, GPS, and GIS, and Web-based decision support systems for controlling diseases and insect pests have been developed and are being commercialized for precision farming and to mitigate the climate change.

References

- Sahney, S., Benton, M.J., and Falcon-Lang, H.J. (2010) Rainforest collapse triggered Pennsylvanian tetrapod diversification in Euramerica. *Geology*, 38, 1079–1082.
- 2 Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt, K.B., Tignor, M., and Miller, H.L. (eds) (2007) Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to

the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- 3 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2009) Available at http:// www.ipcc.ch/ (accessed June 1, 2011).
- 4 Steinfeld, H. (2006) *Livestock's Long Shadow*, Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations.
- 5 Geerts, B. (2011) Aerosols and Climate. Available at http://www.das.uwyo.edu/ geerts cwx/notes/chap02/ aerosol&climate.hhtm (accessed June 1, 2011).
- 6 Tett, S.F.B., Jones, G.S., Stott, P.A., Hill, D.C., Mitchell, J.F.B., Allen, M.R., Ingram, W.J., Johns, T.C., Johnson, C.E., Jones, A., Roberts, D.L., Sexton, D.M.H., and Woodage, M.J. (2002) Estimation of natural and anthropogenic contributions to twentieth century temperature change. *J. Geophys. Res.*, **107**, 4306.
- 7 IPCC (2007) Summary for policy makers, in Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (eds M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden, and C.E. Hanson), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 7–22.
- 8 Sathaye, J., Shukla, P.R., and Ravindranath, N.H. (2006) Climate change, sustainable development and India: global and national concerns. *Curr. Sci.*, 90, 314–325.
- 9 Keeling, C.D. and Whorf, T.P. (2005) Atmospheric CO₂ records from sites in the SIO air sampling network, in Trends: A Compendium of Data on Global Change, Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, U.S. Department of Energy, Oak Ridge, TN.
- 10 Kaur, P. and Hundal, S.S. (2010) Global climate change vis-à-vis crop productivity, in Natural and Anthropogenic Disasters – Vulnerability, Preparedness and Mitigation (ed. M.K. Jha), Capital Publishing Company/Springer, New Delhi/The Netherlands, pp. 413–431.

- Tester, M. and Langridge, P. (2010) Breeding technologies to increase crop production in a changing world. *Science*, 327 (5967), 818–822.
- 12 Schmidt, G.A. (2005) Water vapour: feedback or forcing? RealClimate. Available at http://www.realclimate.org/ index.php?p=142 (accessed June 1, 2011).
- 13 UNFCCC (1998) The Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Available at http:// unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/kpeng. html (accessed June 1, 2011).
- 14 Zepeda, L. (ed.) (2001) Agricultural Investment and Productivity in Developing Countries, FAO Economic and Social Development Paper No. 148, FAO Corporate Document Repository, July 12, 2007. Available at http://www. fao.org/docrep/003/X9447E/x9447e00. html (accessed June 1, 2011).
- 15 Chahal, G.S. and Gosal, S.S. (2002) Principles and Procedures of Plant Breeding: Biotechnological and Conventional Approaches, Narosa Publishing House, New Delhi.
- 16 Christou, P. (1994) Particle Bombardment Technology for Gene Transfer (eds N.S. Yang and P. Christou), Oxford University Press.
- Sudhakar, D., Duc, L.T., Bong, B.B., Tinjuangjun, P., Maqbool, S.B., Valdez, M., Jefferson, R., and Christou., P. (1998) An efficient rice transformation system utilizing mature seed-derived explants and a portable, inexpensive particle bombardment device. *Transgenic Res.*, 7, 289–294.
- 18 Maqbool, S.B. and Christou, P. (1999) Multiple traits of agronomic importance in transgenic indica rice plants: analysis of transgene integration patterns, expression levels and stability. *Plant Mol. Breed.*, 5, 471–480.
- 19 Gosal, S.S. and Gosal, S.K. (2000) Genetic transformation and production of transgenic plants, in *Plant Biotechnology – Recent Advances* (ed. P.C. Trivedi), Panima Publishers, New Delhi, pp. 29–40.
- 20 Ahmed, A., Maqbool, S.B., Riazudin, S., and Sticklen., M.B. (2002) Expression of

synthetic *Cry1Ab* and *Cry1Ac* genes in basmati rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) variety 370 via *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation for the control of the European corn borer (*Ostrinia nubilalis*). *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Plant*, **38**, 213–220.

- 21 Gordon-Kamm, W.J., Spencer, T.M., Mangano, M.L., Adams, T.R., Daines, R. J., Start, W.G., O'Brien, J.V., Chambers, S.A., Adams, W.R., Jr., Willetts, N.G., Rice, T.B., Mackey, C.J., Krueger, R.W., Kausch, A.P., and Lemaux., P.G. (1990) Transformation of maize cells and regeneration of fertile transgenic plants. *Plant Cell*, **2**, 603–618.
- 22 Choi, H.J., Chandrasekhar, T., Lee, H.Y., and Kim, K.M. (2007) Production of herbicide-resistant transgenic sweet potato plants through *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* method. *Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult.*, **91**, 235–242.
- 23 Shizukawa, Y. and Mii, M. (2008) Production of bialaphos-resistant *Nierembergia repens* by electroporation. *Plant Biotechnol. Rep.*, **2**, 219–226.
- 24 Jongsma, M.A. and Boulter, C.J. (1997) The adaptation of insects to plant protease inhibitors. J. Insect Physiol., 43, 885–895.
- **25** Tamayo, M.C., Rufat, M., Bravo, J.M., and San, S. (2000) Accumulation of a maize proteinase inhibitor in response to wounding and insect feeding, and characterization of its activity toward digestive proteinases of *Spodoptera littoralis* larvae. *Planta*, **211**, 62–71.
- 26 Bu, Q.Y., Wu, L., Yang, S.H., and Wan, J. M. (2007) Cloning of a potato proteinase inhibitor gene PINII-2x from diploid potato (*Solanum phurejia* L.) and transgenic investigation of its potential to confer insect resistance in rice. *J. Integr. Plant Biol.*, 48, 732–739.
- 27 Maheswaran, G., Pridmore, L., Franz, P., and Anderson, M.A. (2007) A proteinase inhibitor from *Nicotiana alata* inhibits the normal development of light-brown apple moth, *Epiphyas postvittana* in transgenic apple plants. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 26, 773–782.
- 28 McCafferty, H.R.K., Moore, P.H., and Zhu, Y.J. (2008) Papaya transformed with

the *Galanthus nivalis* GNA gene produces a biologically active lectin with spider mite control activity. *Plant Sci.*, **175**, 385–393.

- 29 DeMaagd, R.A., Bosch, D., and Stiekema, W. (1999) *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxinmediated insect resistance in plants. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 4, 9–13.
- 30 Gosal, S.S., Gill, R., Sindhu, A.S., Dhaliwal, H.S., and Christou, P. (2003) Introducing the Cry1A(c) gene into basmati rice and transmitting transgenes to R₃ progeny, in *Advances in Rice Genetics* (eds G.S. Khush, D.S. Brar, and B. Hardy), Proceedings of the Fourth Rice Genetics Symposium, October 22– 27, 2000, IRRI, Philippines, pp. 558–560.
- 31 Bashir, K., Husnain, T., Fatima, T., Riaz, N., Makhdoom, R., and Riazuddin, S. (2005) Novel indica basmati line (B-370) expressing two unrelated genes of *Bacillus thuringiensis* is highly resistant to two lepidopteran insects in the field. *Crop Prot.*, 24, 870–879.
- 32 Wei, T., Chen, H., Xu, C.G., Li, X.H., Lin, Y.J., and Zhang, Q.F. (2006) Development of insect resistant transgenic indica rice with a synthetic cry1C gene. *Mol. Breed.*, 18, 1–10.
- 33 Cao, J., Shelton, A.M., and Earle, E.D. (2008) Sequential transformation to pyramid two Bt genes in vegetable Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea* L.) and its potential for control of diamondback moth larvae. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 27, 479–487.
- Jafari, M., Norouzi, P., Malboobi, M.A., Ghareyazie, B., Valizadeh, M., Mohammadi, S.A., and Mousavi, M. (2009) Enhanced resistance to a lepidopteran pest in transgenic sugar beet plants expressing synthetic *cry1Ab* gene. *Euphytica*, 165, 333–334.
- 35 Brandy, D.C., William, M., Seung-Bum, L., Michael, M., and Henry, D. (2001) Overexpression of the Bt *cry2Aa2* operon in chloroplasts leads to formation of insecticidal crystals. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 19, 71–77.
- 36 James, C. (2009) Global Status of Commercialized Biotech/GM Crops. ISAAA Brief No. 38, Ithaca, NY.
- 37 Escobar, M.A., Civerolo, E.L., Summerfelt, K.R., and Dandekar, A.M.

(2001) RNAi-mediated oncogene silencing confers resistance to crown gall tumorigenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **98**, 13437–13442.

- 38 Dunoyer, P., Himber, C., Ruiz-Ferrer, V., Alioua, A., and Voinnet, O. (2007) Intraand intercellular RNA interference in *Arabidopsis thaliana* requires components of the microRNA and heterochromatic silencing pathways. *Nat. Genet.*, 39, 848–856.
- 39 Katiyar-Agarwal, S., Morgan, R., Dahlbeck, D., Borsani, O., Villegas, J.A., Zhu, J., Staskawicz, B.J., and Jin, H. (2006) A pathogen-inducible endogenous siRNA in plant immunity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **103**, 47–52.
- 40 Katiyar-Agarwal, S., Gao, S., Vivian-Smith, A., and Jin, H. (2007) A novel class of bacteria-induced small RNAs in Arabidopsis. Genes Dev., 21, 3123–3134.
- 41 Navarro, L., Dunoyer, P., Jay, F., Arnold, B., Dharmasini, N., Estelle, M., Vionnet, O., and Jones, J.D. (2006) A plant miRNA contributes to antibacterial resistance by repressing auxin signalling. *Science*, **312**, 436–439.
- **42** Powell-Abel, P., Nelson, R.S., De, B., Hoffman, N., Rogers, S.G., Fraley, R.T., and Beachy, R.N. (1986) Delay of disease development in transgenic plants that express the tobacco mosaic virus coat protein gene. *Science*, **232**, 738–743.
- 43 Fuchs, M. and Gonsalves, D. (2007) Safety of virus-resistant transgenic plants two decades after their introduction: lessons from realistic field risk assessment studies. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.*, 45, 173–202.
- 44 Ferreira, S.A., Pitz, K.Y., Manshardt, R., Zee, F., Fitch, M.M., and Gonsalves, D. (2002) Virus coat protein transgenic papaya provides practical control of papaya ringspot virus in Hawaii. *Plant Dis.*, 86, 101–105.
- **45** Bitko, V. and Barik, S. (2001) Phenotypic silencing of cytoplasmic genes with sequence specific double stranded short interfering RNA and its applications in the reverse genetics of wild type negative strand RNA virus. *BMC Microbiol.*, **1**, 34–44.

- 46 Gitlin, L., Karelsky, S., and Andino, R. (2002) Short interference confers intracellular antiviral immunity in human cells. *Nature*, 4, 418–430.
- 47 Jacque, J.M., Triques, K., and Stevenson, M. (2002) Modulation of HIV-1 replication by RNA interference. *Nature*, 418, 435–438.
- 48 Novina, C.D., Murray, M.F., Dykxhoorn, D.M., Beresford, P.J., Riess, J., Lee, S.K., Collman, R.G., Lieberman, J., Shanker, P., and Sharp, P.A. (2002) siRNAdirected inhibition of HIV-1 infection. *Nat. Mediterr.*, 8, 681–686.
- 49 Waterhouse, P.M., Graham, M.W., and Wang, M.B. (1998) Virus resistance and gene silencing in plants can be induced by simultaneous expression of sense and antisense RNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, 95, 13959–13964.
- 50 Chapman, E.J., Prokhnevsky, A.I., Gopinath, K., Dolja, V.V., and Carrington, J.C. (2004) Viral RNA silencing suppressors inhibit the micro-RNA pathway at an interphase step. *Genes Dev.*, 18, 1179–1186.
- 51 Vanitharani, R., Chellappan, P., and Fauquet, C.M. (2003) Short interfering RNA mediated interference of gene expression and viral DNA accumulation in cultured plant cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 100, 9632–9636.
- 52 Ruiz-Ferrer, V. and Voinnet, O. (2007) Viral suppression of RNA silencing: 2b wins the golden fleece by defeating argonaute. *Bioassays*, 29, 319–323.
- 53 Qu, J., Ye, J., and Fang, R. (2007) Artificial miRNA-mediated virus resistance in plants. J. Virol., 81, 6690–6699.
- 54 Li, F. and Ding, S.W. (2006) Virus counter defence: diverse strategies for evading the RNA silencing immunity. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.*, 60, 503–531.
- 55 Dóaz-Pendón, J.A. and Ding, S.W. (2008) Direct and indirect roles of viral suppressors of RNA silencing in pathogenesis. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.*, 46, 303–326.
- 56 Nishizawa, Y.Z., Nishio, K., Nakazono, M., Soma, E., Nakajima, M.U., and Hibi, T. (1999) Enhanced resistance to blast (*Magnaporthe grisea*) in transgenic Japonica rice by constitutive expression

of rice chitinase. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, **99**, 383–390.

- 57 Lee, H.I. and Raikel, N.V. (1995) Prohevein is poorly processed but shows enhanced resistance to a chitin-binding fungus in transgenic tomato plants. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.*, 28, 743–750.
- 58 Broekaert, W.F., Terras, F.R.G., Cammue, B.P.A., and Osborn, R.W. (1995) Plant defensins: novel antimicrobial peptides as components of the host defence system. *Plant Physiol.*, 108, 1353–1358.
- 59 Florack, D.E.A. and Stiekema, W.J. (1994) Thionins: properties, possible biological roles and mechanisms of action. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 26, 25–37.
- 60 Leckband, G. and Lorz, H. (1998) Transformation and expression of a stilbene synthase gene of *Vitis vinifera* L. in barley and wheat for increased fungal resistance. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 96, 1004– 1012.
- 61 Wu, G.B., Shortt, J., Lawerence, E.B., Levine, E.B., Fitzsimmons, K.C., and Shah, D.M. (1995) Disease resistance conferred by expression of a gene encoding H₂O₂-generating glucose oxidase in transgenic potato plants. *Plant Cell*, 7, 1357–1368.
- 62 Muehlbauer, G.J. and Bushnell, W.R. (2003) Transgenic approaches to resistance, in *Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat and Barley* (eds K.J. Leonard and W.R. Bushnell), American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN.
- 63 Bliffeld, M., Mundy, J., Potrykus, I., and Futterer, J. (1999) Genetic engineering of wheat for increased resistance to powdery mildew disease. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 98, 1079–1086.
- 64 Oldach, K.H., Becker, D., and Lorz, H. (2001) Heterologous expression of genes mediating enhanced fungal resistance in transgenic wheat. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.*, 14, 832–838.
- 65 Bieri, S., Potrykus, I., and Futterer, J. (2003) Effects of combined expression of antifungal barley seed proteins in transgenic wheat on powdery mildew infection. *Mol. Breed.*, 11, 37–48.

- 66 Chen, W.P., Chen, P.D., Liu, D.J., Kynast, R., Friebe, B., Velazhahan, R., Muthukrishnan, S., and Gill, B.S. (1999) Development of wheat scab symptoms is delayed in transgenic wheat plants that constitutively express a rice thaumatinlike protein gene. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 99, 755–760.
- 67 Anand, A., Zhou, T., Trick, H.N., Gill, B. S., Bockus, W.W., and Muthukrishnan, S. (2003) Greenhouse and field testing of transgenic wheat plants stably expressing genes for thaumatin-like protein, chitinase and glucanase against *Fusarium* graminearum. J. Exp. Bot., 54, 1101–1111.
- 68 Epple, P., Apel, K., and Bohlmann, H. (1997) Overexpression of an endogenous thionin enhances resistance of *Arabidopsis* against *Fusarium oxysporum*. *Plant Cell*, 9, 509–520.
- 69 Makandar, R., Essig, J.S., Schapaugh, M. A., Trick, H.N., and Shah, J. (2006) Genetically engineered resistance to *Fusarium* head blight in wheat by expression of *Arabidopsis* NPR1. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.*, 19, 123–129.
- 70 Hamada, W. and Spanu, P.D. (1998) Co-suppression of the hydrophobin gene *Hcf-1* is correlated with antisense RNA biosynthesis in *Cladosporium fulvum*. *Mol. Gen. Genet.*, **259**, 630–638.
- 71 Kadotani, N., Nakayashiki, H., Tosa, Y., and Mayama, S. (2003) RNA silencing in the pathogenic fungus *Magnaporthe* oryzae. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact., 16, 769–776.
- 72 Fitzgerald, A., Kha, J.A.V., and Plummer, K.M. (2004) Simultaneous silencing of multiple genes in the apple scab fungus *Venturia inaequalis*, by expression of RNA with chimeric inverted repeats. *Fungal Genet. Biol.*, 41, 963–971.
- 73 Goldoni, M., Azzalin, G., Macino, G., and Cogoni, C. (2004) Efficient gene silencing by expression of double stranded RNA in *Neurospora crassa*. *Fungal Genet. Biol.*, 41, 1016–1024.
- 74 Hammond, T.M. and Keller, N.P. (2005) RNA silencing in *Aspergillus nidulans* is independent of RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. *Genetics*, 169, 607–617.
- 75 Nakayashiki, H., Hanada, S., Nguyen, B. Q., Kadotani, N., Tosa, Y., and Mayama,

S. (2005) RNA silencing as a tool for exploring gene function in ascomycete fungi. *Fungal Genet. Biol.*, **42**, 275–283.

- 76 Talbot, N.J., Kershaw, M.J., Wakley, G.E., de Vries, O.M.H., Wessels, J.G.H., and Hamer, J.E. (1996) MPG1 encodes a fungal hydrophobin involved in surface interactions during infection-related development of *Magnaporthe grisea*. *Plant Cell*, 8, 985–999.
- 77 Burkhardt, P.K., Beyer, P., Wünn, J., Klöti, A., Armstrong, G., Schledz, M., Von, J.L., and Potrykus, I. (1997) Transgenic rice (*Oryza sativa*) endosperm expressing daffodil (*Narcissus pseudonarcissus*) phytoene synthase accumulates phytoene, a key intermediate of provitamin A biosynthesis. *Plant J.*, **11**, 1071–1078.
- 78 Ye, X., Al-Babili, S., Klöti, A., Zhang, J., Lucca, P., Beyer, P., and Potrykus, I. (2000) Engineering provitamin A (β-carotene) biosynthetic pathway into (carotenoid-free) rice endosperm. *Science*, 287, 303–305.
- 79 Beyer, P., Al-Babili, S., Ye, X., Lucca, P., Schaub, P., Welsch, R., and Potrykus, I. (2002) Golden rice: introducing the β-carotene biosynthesis pathway into rice endosperm by genetic engineering to defeat vitamin A deficiency. J. Nutr., 132, 506–510.
- **80** Chakraborty, S., Chakraborty, N., and Datta, A. (2000) Increased nutritive value of transgenic potato by expressing a nonallergenic seed albumin gene from *Amaranthus hypochondriacus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **97**, 3724–3729.
- 81 Randhawa, G.J., Singh, M., and Sharma, R. (2009) Duplex, triplex and quadruplex PCR for molecular characterization of genetically modified potato with better protein quality. *Curr. Sci.*, 97, 21–23.
- 82 Herbers, K. (2003) Vitamin production in transgenic plants. *Plant Physiol.*, 160, 821–829.
- 83 Daniell, H. and Dhingra, A. (2002) Multigene engineering: dawn of an exciting new era in biotechnology. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 13, 136–141.
- 84 Newell-McGloughlin, M. (2008) Nutritionally improved agricultural crops. Plant Physiol., 147, 939–953.

- 85 Williams, M.E. (1995) Genetic engineering for pollination control. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 13, 344–349.
- 86 Denis, M., Delourme, R., Gourret, J.P., Mariani, C., and Renard, M. (1993) Expression of engineered nuclear male sterility in *Brassica napus*: genetics, morphology, cytology and sensitivity to temperature. *Plant Physiol.*, 101, 1295–1304.
- 87 Bisht, N.C., Jagannath, A., Gupta, V., Burma, P.K., and Pental, D. (2004) A two gene–two promoter system for enhanced expression of a restorer gene (*barstar*) and development of improved fertility restorer lines for hybrid seed production in crop plants. *Mol. Breed.*, 14, 129–144.
- 88 Ray, K., Bisht, N.C., Pental, D., and Burma, P.K. (2007) Development of *barnase/barstar* transgenics for hybrid seed production in Indian oilseed mustard (*Brassica juncea* L. Czern & Coss) using a mutant acetolactate synthase gene conferring resistance to imidazolinone-based herbicide pursuit. *Curr. Sci.*, 93, 1390–1396.
- 89 Fischer, R. and Emans, N. (2000) Molecular farming of pharmaceutical proteins. *Transgenic Res.*, 9, 279–299.
- **90** Gidding, S.G., Allison, G., Brooks, D., and Carter, A. (2000) Transgenic plants as factories for biopharmaceuticals. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **18**, 1151–1155.
- **91** Daniell, H., Streatfield, S.J., and Wycoff, K. (2001) Medical molecular farming: production of antibodies, biopharmaceuticals and edible vaccines in plants. *Trends Plant Biol.*, **6**, 219–226.
- 92 Bonetta, L. (2002) Edible vaccines: not quite ready for prime time. *Nat. Med.*, 8, 94–97.
- 93 Maliga, P. (2003) Progress towards commercialization of plastid transformation technology. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 21, 20–28.
- 94 Weisel, J.W., Nagaswami, C., Young, T. A., and Light, D.R. (1996) The shape of thrombomodulin and interactions with thrombin as determined by electron microscopy. J. Biol. Chem., 271, 31485–31490.
- 46 2 Improving Crop Productivity under Changing Environment
 - 95 Schinkel, H., Schiermeyer, A., Soeur, R., Fischer, R., and Schillberg, S. (2005) Production of an active recombinant thrombomodulin derivative in transgenic tobacco plants and suspension cells. *Transgenic Res.*, 14, 251–259.
 - **96** Yao, J.L., Cohen, D., Atkinson, R., Richardson, K., and Morris, B. (1995) Regeneration of transgenic plants from the commercial apple cultivar Royal Gala. *Plant Cell Rep.*, **4**, 407–412.
 - **97** Hrazdina, G., Kirs, E., Rosenfield, C., Norelli, J.L., and Aldwinckle, H.S. (2000) Down regulation of ethylene production in apples. Use of agriculturally important genes in biotechnology. Proceedings of the NATO Advanced Research Workshop, October 17–21, 2000, Szeged, Hungary, pp. 26–31.
 - 98 Mehlenbacher, S.A. (1995) Classical and molecular approaches to breeding fruit and nut crops for disease resistance. *HortScience*, 30, 466–477.
 - 99 Wong, W.S., Li, G.G., Ning, W., Xu, Z.F., Hsiao, W.L.W., Zhang, L.Y., and Li, N. (2001) Repression of chilling induced ACC accumulation in transgenic citrus by over-production of antisense 1aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate synthase RNA. *Plant Sci.*, 161, 969–977.
 - 100 Puchta, H. (2003) Marker free transgenic plants. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult., 74, 123–134.
 - 101 Gosal, S.S., Wani, S.H., and Kang, M.S. (2009) Biotechnology and drought tolerance. J. Crop Improv., 23, 19–54.
 - 102 Molinari, H.B.C., Marura, C.J., Darosb, E., Freitas de Camposa, M.K., Portela de Carvalhoa, J.F.R., Filhob, J.C.B., Pereirac, L.F.P., and Vieira, L.G.E. (2007) Evaluation of the stress-inducible production of proline in transgenic sugarcane (*Saccharum* spp.): osmotic adjustment, chlorophyll fluorescence and oxidative stress. *Physiol. Plant.*, **130**, 218–229.
 - 103 Miranda, J.A., Avonce, N., Suárez, R., Thevelein, J.M., Dijck, P.V., and Iturriaga, G. (2007) A bifunctional TPS-TPP enzyme from yeast confers tolerance to multiple and extreme abiotic-stress conditions in transgenic *Arabidopsis. Planta*, 226, 1411–1421.

- 104 Hong, B.S., Zong-Suo, L., and Ming-An, S. (2005) *LEA* proteins in higher plants: structure, function, gene expression and regulation. *Colloids Surf. B*, 45, 131–135.
- 105 Xiao, B., Huang, Y., Tang, N., and Xiong, L. (2007) Over-expression of *LEA* gene in rice improves drought resistance under field conditions. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 115, 35–46.
- 106 Oh, S.J., Kwon, C.W., Choi, D.W., Song, S.I., and Kim, J.K. (2007) Expression of barley *HvCBF4* enhances tolerance to abiotic stress in transgenic rice. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 5, 646–656.
- 107 Hu, H., Dai, M., Yao, J., Xiao, B., Li, X., Zhang, Q., and Xiong, L. (2006) Overexpressing a NAM, ATAF, and CUC (NAC) transcription factor enhances drought resistance and salt tolerance in rice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 103, 12987–12992.
- 108 Pellegrineschi, A., Reynolds, M., Pacheco, M., Brito, R.M., Almeraya, R., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Hoisington, D. (2004) Stress-induced expression in wheat of the *Arabidopsis thaliana DREB1A* gene delays water stress symptoms under greenhouse conditions. *Genome*, **47**, 493–500.
- 109 Oh, S.J., Song, S.I., Kim, Y.C., Jang, H.J., Kim, S.Y., Kim, M., Kim, Y.K., Nahm, B. H., and Kim, J.K. (2005) *Arabidopsis CBF3/DREB1A* and *ABF3* in transgenic rice increased tolerance to abiotic stress without stunting growth. *Plant Physiol.*, 138, 341–351.
- 110 Cong, L., Zheng., H.C., Zhang, Y.X., and Chai, T.Y. (2008) *Arabidopsis DREB1A* confers high salinity tolerance and regulates the expression of GA dioxygenases in tobacco. *Plant Sci.*, 174, 156–164.
- 111 Jung, C., Seo, J.S., Han, S.W., Koo, Y.J., Kim, C.H., Song, S.I., Nahm, B.H., Choi, Y.D., and Cheong, J.J. (2008) Overexpression of AtMYB44 enhances stomatal closure to confer abiotic stress tolerance in transgenic *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiol.*, **146**, 623–635.
- 112 Paterson, A.H., Tanksley, S.D., and Sorrels, M.E. (1991) DNA markers in plant improvement. *Adv. Agron.*, 46, 39–90.

- 113 Hoisington, D., Listman, G.M., and Morris, M.L. (1998) Varietal development: applied biotechnology, in *Maize Seed Industries in Developing Countries* (ed. M.L. Morris), Lynne Rienner Publishers/CIMMYT, Boulder, CO, pp. 77–102.
- 114 Joshi, S.P., Ranjekar, P.K., and Gupta, V. S. (1999) Molecular markers in plant genome analysis. *Curr. Sci.*, 77, 230–240.
- 115 Singh, S., Sidhu, J.S., Huang, N., Vikal, Y., Li, Z., Brar, D.S., Dhaliwal, H.S., and Khush, G.S. (2001) Pyramiding three bacterial blight resistance genes (*xa5*, *xa13* and *Xa21*) using markerassisted selection into indica rice cultivar PR106. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, **102**, 1011–1015.
- 116 Paran, I. and Michelmore, R.W. (1993) Development of reliable PCR-based markers linked to downy mildew resistance genes in lettuce. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 85, 985–993.
- 117 Vikal, Y., Chhuneja, P., Singh, R., and Dhaliwal, H.S. (2004) Tagging of an *Aegilops speltoides* derived leaf rust resistance gene *Lr*28 with a microsatellite marker in wheat. *J. Plant Biochem. Biotechnol.*, 13, 47–49.
- 118 Gill, B.S., Li, W., Sood, S., Kuraparthy, V., Friebe, B., Simons, K.J., Zhang, Z., and Faris, J.D. (2007) Genetics and genomics of wheat domestication-driven evolution. *Isr. J. Plant Sci.*, 55, 223–229.
- 119 Kuraparthy, V., Chhuneja, P., Dhaliwal, H.S., Kaur, S., Bowden, R.L., and Gill, B. S. (2007) Characterization and mapping of cryptic alien introgression from *Aegilops geniculata* with novel leaf rust and stripe rust resistance genes *Lr57* and *Yr40* in wheat. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 114, 1379–1389.
- 120 Kuraparthy, V., Sood, S., Chhuneja, P., Dhaliwal, H.S., and Gill, B.S. (2007) Identification and mapping of tiller inhibition gene (*tin3*) in wheat. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 114, 285–294.
- 121 Singh, K., Ghai, M., Garg, M., Chhuneja, P., Kaur, P., Schnurbusch, T., Keller, B., and Dhaliwal, H.S. (2007) An integrated molecular linkage map of diploid wheat using a *Triticum boeoticum* × *T*.

monococcum RIL population. Theor. Appl. Genet., **115**, 301–312.

- 122 Gill, B.S., Huang, L., Kuraparthy, V., Raupp, W.J., Wilson, D.L., and Friebe, B. (2008) Alien genetic resources for wheat leaf rust resistance, cytogenetic transfer, and molecular analysis. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.*, 59, 197–205.
- 123 Lagudah, E.S., Krattinger, S.G., Herrera-Foessel, S., Singh, R.P., Huerta-Espino, J., Spielmeyer, W., Brown-Guedira, G., Selter, L.L., and Keller, B. (2009) Gene-specific markers for the wheat gene *Lr34/Yr18/Pm38* which confers resistance to multiple fungal pathogens. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 119, 889–898.
- 124 Li, Y., Niu, Y.C., and Chen, X.M. (2009) Mapping a stripe rust resistance gene *YrC591* in wheat variety C591 with SSR and AFLP markers. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 118, 339–346.
- 125 Tsilo, T.J., Chao, S., and Jin., Y. (2009) Identification and validation of SSR markers linked to the stem rust resistance gene Sr6 on the short arm of chromosome 2D in wheat. Theor. Appl. Genet., 118, 515–524.
- 126 Luo, Z. and Kearsey, W. (1992) Interval mapping of quantitative trait loci in an F₂ population. *Heredity*, 69, 236–242.
- 127 Yamasaki, M., Tsunematsu, H., Yoshimura, A., Iwata, N., and Yasmi, H. (1999) Quantitative trait locus mapping of ovicidal response in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) against whitebacked planthopper (*Sogatella furcifera* Horváth). *Crop Sci.*, 39, 1178–1183.
- 128 Tanksley, S.D. (1993) Mapping polygenes. Annu. Rev. Genet., 27, 205–233.
- 129 Pelleschi, S., Leonardi, A., Rocher, J.P., Cornic, G., de Vienne, D., Thévenot, C., and Prioul, J.L. (2006) Analysis of the relationships between growth, photosynthesis and carbohydrate metabolism using quantitative trait loci (QTLs) in young maize plants submitted to water deprivation. *Mol. Breed.*, 17, 21–39.
- 130 Bernier, J., Kumar, A., Ramaiah, V., Spaner, D., and Atlin, G. (2007) A largeeffect QTL for grain yield under

48 2 Improving Crop Productivity under Changing Environment

reproductive-stage drought stress in upland rice. *Crop Sci.*, **47**, 505–516.

- 131 Kato, Y., Hirotsu, S., Nemoto, K., and Yamagishi, J. (2008) Identification of QTL controlling rice drought tolerance at seedling stage in hydroponic culture. *Euphytica*, 160, 423–430.
- 132 Ribaut, J.M., Bänziger, M., Setter, T., Edmeades, G., and Hoisington, D. (2004) Genetic dissection of drought tolerance in maize: a case study, in *Physiology and Biotechnology Integration for Plant Breeding* (eds N. Nguyen and A. Blum), Marcel Dekker, New York, pp. 571–611.
- 133 Chhuneja, P., Kaur, S., Goel, R.K., Aghaee-Sarbarzeh, M., Prashar, M., and Dhaliwal, H.S. (2007) Transfer of leaf rust and stripe rust resistance from *Aegilops umbellulata* Zhuk. to bread

wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Genet. Resour. Crop Evol., **55**, 849–859.

- 134 Neeraja, C.N., Maghirang-Rodriguez, R., Pamplona, A., Heuer, S., Collard, B.C.Y., Septiningsih, E.M., and Vergara, G. (2007) A marker-assisted backcross approach for developing submergencetolerant rice cultivars. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 115, 767–776.
- 135 Ribaut, J.M. and Ragot, M. (2007) Marker-assisted selection to improve drought adaptation in maize: the backcross approach, perspectives, limitations, and alternatives. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 58, 351–360.
- 136 Steele, K.A. (2009) Novel upland rice variety bred using marker-assisted selection and client-oriented breeding released in Jharkhand, India. *Plant Breed. News*, 200, 2009.

3 Genetic Engineering for Acid Soil Tolerance in Plants

Sagarika Mishra, Lingaraj Sahoo, and Sanjib K. Panda

Abstract

Acid soils are characterized with the excessive occurrence of aluminum, manganese, and protons and are subsequently nutritionally deficient. Almost, 50% of the arable lands are affected mainly due to aluminum toxicity. Aluminum syndrome accounts for morphophysiological, biochemical, and molecular changes in plants. Extensive reports have been made in deciphering the components involved in aluminum toxicity, whereas the exact molecular mechanisms of aluminum menace still remain to be discovered. However, using genetic engineering approach, some success in generation of transgenic plants with enhanced aluminum tolerance abilities have been achieved. Emerging technologies explore for novel genes and their underlying involvement in Al tolerance mechanisms in plants. A breakthrough in this field can be achieved by unraveling the internal mechanisms of Al toxicity and tolerance. This chapter focuses on several aspects of Al interaction with plants in detail.

3.1 Introduction

Acid soil has been posing a constant threat to the agricultural productivity worldwide. It is naturally prevalent in the humid tropics and subtropics and almost half of agriculturally suitable land is under its negative impact [1]. Moreover, several additional factors like leaching, irrigational practices, and acid rain along with the extensive use of ammonia fertilizers have equally contributed to the increased rate of acidification of irrigated lands [2, 3]. Acid soil is mainly characterized by the excessive occurrence of minerals like aluminum and manganese that ultimately leads to the deficiency of phosphorous, calcium, magnesium, and molybdenum [1]. A minimum of $10 \,\mu$ M of aluminum in soil is sufficient to evoke primary and secondary responses in plants owing

50 3 Genetic Engineering for Acid Soil Tolerance in Plants

to its toxicity [4]. Among the practices followed to alleviate aluminum toxicity, liming has been the most widely used approach. It restores the agricultural importance of the acidified soil by increasing its alkalinity. But unfortunately, liming is a costly affair for poor farmers in underdeveloped areas and also seems impractical taking into consideration the vast Al-affected land resource. Furthermore, conventional surface liming is ineffective in reducing the subsoil acidity [5]. Conventional breeding manifests the future possibilities of generation of Al-tolerant species. However, this approach is limited due to genetic incompatibility, and absence of genetic variability among certain cultivars, and so on. Genetic engineering approaches explore the intrinsic molecular mechanisms involved in varied response plants to Al toxicity for development of crops tolerant to Al and other related stress.

Aluminum is the third most abundant mineral in the earth crust with a high reactivity potential, but its toxic effect becomes apparent only when the pH of soil is below 5.5. Aluminum owing to its complex chemistry exists in several forms and their availability is invariably dependent on soil pH. At low pH, aluminum occurs as octahedral hexahydrate, $Al(H_2O)_6^{3+}$, also known as Al^{3+} , a highly soluble phytotoxic form of Al. With the increase in pH, Al transforms into mononuclear forms like $AlOH^{2+}$ and $Al(OH)_2^+$. Interestingly, these cationic forms are observed to be highly toxic for certain dicotyledonous plants. At cytosolic pH, the insoluble form $Al(OH)_3$ is observed and at a relatively higher pH, the highly insoluble form of Al, that is, $Al(OH)_4^-$, predominates [6]. Again, the chemical interaction of these monovalent species of Al includes oxygen donor ligands, organic acids, inorganic phosphates, nucleotides, and sulfate to form low molecular complexes.

3.2 Phytotoxic Effect of Aluminum on Plant System

3.2.1

Al-Induced Morphophysiological Changes in Roots

The initial interaction of Al with plant begins at root level in the rhizosphere and, subsequently manifested by altered morphological changes in the root system. The root apices and lateral roots become swollen, thick, short, and fragile [7]. As a result, the water and mineral uptake capacity of plants is highly affected on account of damaged root system [8]. The root cap, meristem, and transition and elongation zones together constitute the root apex region, which is a prime target of Al toxicity [9]. More specifically, the distal region of transition zone of the root apex is attributed as the most sensitive region to Al toxicity [10, 11]. It accounts for high accumulation of Al and callose, a sensitive indicator for Al toxicity [11]. This observation has been in contradiction with Bennet and Breen [12] and in agreement with experimental evidence by Ryan *et al.* [9], with the former focusing only on the pivotal role of root cap in the signal cascade for aluminum stimulus, whereas the latter

indicating the elongation zone (0–3 mm behind the root cap) of the root apex. The reduced root growth was more pronounced in the Al-sensitive wheat variety Scout-66, visible within 1–3 h of Al treatment, than in Al-tolerant Atlas-66 variety. Furthermore, Sasaki *et al.* [13] showed longitudinal cell expansion and induced lateral cell swelling in the elongation zone of wheat roots. Combined together, plants experience root growth inhibition and reduced root cell elongation with the onset of Al toxicity.

3.2.2

Negative Influence of Al on Cytoskeletal Network of Plant Cells

The microtubules and microfilaments, components of the cytoskeleton, are associated with functions related to cell division, elongation, expansion of apical root cells, and cell wall biosynthesis [14-17]. The reduced root growth indicates the possible interference of Al with the cytoskeletal network of root cells. Alterations in stability and organization of microtubules and actin microfilaments upon Al stress have been studied extensively. Indirect immunofluorescence microscopy data has indicated altered microtubules and microfilaments in both stability and organization upon exposure to Al [18]. Root growth inhibition was observed in maize immediately within 1h of exposure to Al followed by reorientation of microtubules in the inner cortex within next 3 hours. Subsequently, after 6 h, there was radial expansion of root due to abnormal isodiametric expansion leading to root swelling within the inner cortical cells. Schwarzerovă et al. [19] showed similar results of disorientation of cortical microtubules after 3 h exposure of Al in tobacco cell suspension culture. Moreover, there have been contradictory reports regarding the depolymerization of cortical microtubules in wheat, maize roots, tobacco cell suspension culture, and Arabidopsis seedlings [20-22] with that of stabilization of microtubules by Al stress [18]. The distal part of the transition zone (DTZ) in Al sensitive variety of maize was found to be significantly affected with the depletion of MTs in the outermost cortical cell layer within 60 min of onset of Al stress and the increased exposure accounted for lesions to the MT cytoskeleton in its epidermal and outer cortical layers [20, 21]. Calcineurin or a calcineurin-type calcium-dependent phosphatase, a potential regulator of tension in the actin network, showed reduced activity in soybean suspension root culture exposed to Al [23]. Furthermore, the abnormalities in cytoskeletal organization caused by Al toxicity have been indicated for imbalance in Ca²⁺ homeostasis, Ca²⁺ calmodulin activity, and inhibition of phosphoinositide signaling [24]. Blancaflor et al. [18] also demonstrated the rigidity of the actin network in maize root cells with onset of Al stress. Furthermore, Amenós et al. [25] have demonstrated the impact of Al on the actin cytoskeleton and vesicle trafficking using maize cultivars differing in their sensitivities to Al. The interaction of Al ions in the nucleolar region has been related to the inhibition of the cell division as observed in Triticum turgidum root tips, soybean cells, zea mays-sensitive variety, and Arabidopsis [26-29].

3.2.3

Interaction of Al³⁺ Ions with Cell Wall and Plasma Membrane

Cell wall and plasma membrane display high negative surface charge that facilitates the binding of Al³⁺ ions. Numerous reports suggested that alteration in the mechanical stability of cell wall leads to impaired root growth. Liu et al. [30] demonstrated that in triticale cultivars, the involvement of oxidative stress and visible increment of hemicellulose component in inhibition of root elongation. Similar explanation has been presented in hydroponically cultured Vicia faba roots exposed to Al stress [31]. Lipid peroxidation was observed on account of the oxidative stress by Al³⁺ ions [32]. Plasma membrane depolarization was reported due to Al toxicity [22, 33]. Al changes the membrane potential toward more positive values, thus altering the ion transport processes [34]. Regulation of the PM membrane potential in plant cells is mainly mediated by H⁺-ATPase, which influences cellular processes with the maintenance of electrochemical gradient across the membrane coupled with the secondary ion transport. Al toxicity is followed by the depolarization of plasma membrane in near-isogenic wheat lines ES8 (Al-sensitive) and ET8 (Al-tolerant) [35]. Earlier, Ahn *et al.* [36] correlated the decrease in H^+ ions pumping through PM in Al-sensitive plants with that of the membrane depolarization. PM repolarization was suggested with the accumulation of malate and reduced inhibition of H^+ -ATPase activity. This observation was in agreement with Jones and Kochian [37], who demonstrated that reduction in binding affinities of Al with lipid can be achieved with high concentration of calcium and organic acid exudates a kind of tolerance mechanisms followed by most of the plants under Al stress. Similarly, upregulation of H⁺-ATPase was coupled with the secretion of citrate from soybean roots [38]. Effect of Al on the closure of plasmodesmata, which mediates the apoplastic and symplastic transport of water molecules, nutrients, and signaling molecules-hormones across the plasma membrane of plant cells, has been investigated and concluded with the deposition of callose at the plasmodesmata occurring due to imbalance in calcium homeostasis in plants [39]. Furthermore, Al³⁺ ions were found to block the K⁺ influx and efflux in the wheat protoplast [40].

3.2.4

Oxidative Stress Response upon Al Stress

Production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in plants is generally observed during normal as well as under stress conditions. The destructive action of ROS on cellular metabolism is neutralized by the antioxidant enzymes. Aluminum-induced oxidative stress has been reported in *Arabidopsis* [41], maize [42], rice [43], pea [44], wheat [45], and ryegrass [46]. Consequently, the altered gene expression of the oxidative enzymes like superoxide dismutase (SOD), guaiacol peroxidase (GPOX), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), monodehydroascorbatereductase (MDHAR), dehydroascorbatereductase (DHAR), and glutathione reductase (GR) have also been indicated under Al toxicity (Figure 3.1) [43, 47].



Figure 3.1 Probable activities in aluminum stress signaling pathway in plant cells.

3.3 Aluminum Tolerance Mechanisms in Plants

The potential inherent mechanism displayed by plants for their survival against environmental cues also classifies them into two main categories: the susceptible and the tolerant types. Plants follow different mechanisms to counter Al stress in soil which includes the organic exclusion from root apices, immobilization of Al^{3+} ions to cell wall, mucilage secretion, increasing pH condition in the rhizosphere, and internalization of Al^{3+} ions. These mechanisms shall be discussed in detail in the following section.

3.3.1 Preventing the Entry of Al into Plant Cell

Plant cell wall is the first barrier that any foreign component has to overcome to enter inside the cell. It has been reported that root mucilage secretion is mediated by plants to immobilize Al ions in cell wall [48, 49], thereby restricting their entry into the cell.

3.3.2

Role of Organic Acids in External and Internal Detoxification of Al

The most widely followed mechanism by plants is the secretion of organic acids (citrate, oxalate, and malate) to form insoluble and nontoxic Al-organic acid complex. These organic acids involved in the process are the intermediates of tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. Plants differ in the type of organic acids for detoxification of Al. The exudation of an aluminum-chelating compound citrate in the rhizosphere has been elucidated in snap beans [50], maize [51], Cassia tora [52], and Stylosanthes [53]. It has been observed that the response solely depends on Al stress and is not due to phosphorous deficiency as observed in acid soil or due to the effect of Lanthanum (La^{3+}) or ytterbium (Yb³⁺) that share the same ionic charge to that of Al^{3+} . Secretion of malate was also observed in case of isogenic wheat lines. The secretion of malate in case of Al tolerant wheat variety was 5-10fold greater than the sensitive variety, suggesting the presence of altered mechanisms within same species against Al toxicity [54]. In addition, the inhibition of root elongation was alleviated with the chelation of Al ions with malate in the cortical cells [55]. Secretion of malate and citrate observed in triticale is regulated by the genes on the short arm of chromosome 3R [56, 57]. Taro (Colocasia esculenta L.), a nonaccumulating tropical plant, exudes oxalic acid in response to Al toxicity [58]. Oxalic acid secretion in the root apices of buckwheat occurs within 30 min of Al exposure and further increases linearly with the increase in Al ion [59]. Using the patch clamp technique, Pineros et al. [60] studied Al-activated anion channel activity in maize protoplasts suggesting the occurrence of an additional internal Al tolerance mechanism associated with Al-inducible changes in organic acid synthesis and compartmentation. Internal detoxification of Al with malic acid, in addition to secretion of malate and citrate, has been shown to the overall adaptation of eucalypt species to acid soil. Moreover, Al-accumulating plants like tea, Richeria grandis, hydrangea, buckwheat, and Melastoma are known to exhibit internal detoxification mechanism involving specific organic acids. As Al exhibits high affinity for cellular components, oxygen-donor compounds like Pi, ATP, nucleotides, RNA, DNA, proteins, phospholipids, polysaccharides, and anthocyanins, the toxicity of Al ions in symplasm is ameliorated by effective mechanisms by plants. High Al-citrate complex is observed in hydrangea leaves, which exhibits 3000 g/kg of Al on a dry weight basis [62]. Buckwheat that accumulates 450 g/kg of Al exhibits both external and internal detoxification strategies in order to overcome Al stress. The occurrence of Al in buckwheat leaves accounted for up to 90% of total Al in the plant cell. Interestingly, a hexacoordinated Al-oxalate complex (1:3 ratio) was detected in leaves of buckwheat due to the conversion of Al-oxalate complex into Al-citrate (1:1) complex in the xylem, and subsequently into Al-oxalate (1:3) complex during unloading from xylem to leaves. In addition to the formation of nontoxic complexes, sequestration of these Al³⁺ ions into vacuoles has been suggested as a possible mechanism for the high accumulation of Al in buckwheat [63–67]. The root tips of Al-sensitive cultivar of wheat (Scout 66) stained with eriochrome cyanine R solution in the presence and absence of Al as well as the Al-oxalic acid complexes

(1:1, 1:2, and 1:3 ratios) verified the presence of 1:1 Al-oxalate complex in the root apex. Similarly, in Melastoma malabathricum, a woody plant accumulating more than 10 000 mg/kg of Al in mature leaves, the translocation of Al-citrate complex from root to shoot and finally conversion into Al-oxalate complex for storage in leaves has been observed [68]. However, higher mobility of Al concurrent to more Al in young leaves as compared to mature ones was reported in buckwheat [69]. The above facts were correlated in tea and apparently that there exists a chain of conversions of Al-organic complexes occurring at different stages of transport in case of Al-accumulating plants. In tea roots, xylem sap, and leaves, occurrence of Al-oxalate, Al-citrate, Al-catechin were noted, respectively [70, 71]. Furthermore, the secretion of organic acids is charectorized as Pattern I wherein an immediate response to Al stimulus is generated by secretion of organic acids as in Al-tolerant wheat variety (Atlas 66, ET3) and buckwheat. Whereas, in pattern II a delayed response to the stimuli, indicating the activation of certain genes involved in the detoxification process. A delayed secretion of malic and citric acid vy 6-10 h has been observed in rye and triticale [56]. Ryan et al. [40] reported for the first time activation of an ion channel in the plasma lemma of wheat protoplasts by Al³⁺ ions. Subsequent studies categorized activation of an anion channel under Pattern I response. As the organic acids are present in highly deprotonated form in the cytoplasm and the equilibrium potential is much higher than the resting membrane potential, the activation of these channels results in the efflux of anions across the concentration gradient [72]. The marked difference in the activation of this anion channel was correlated with the variation in the level of secreted malate in case of Al-sensitive ES8 and Al-tolerant ET8 wheat variety. Further insight into the modified the OA secretion hypothesis by Kinraide et al. [73] raises our conern on the importance of protecting immature cortical cells displaying high binding affinity towards Al³⁺ ions as an alternative against root surface region for imparting tolernace against Al syndrome.

3.4 Aluminum Signal Transduction in Plants

Although a number of molecular mechanisms have been identified till date, the exact regulatory pathway still needs to be unraveled. The involvement of a signaling intermediate in Al induced cellular response is still under question and further investigation can provide insight to it. Al is beleived to induce a cascade of signals manifested in plant cells to overcome Al toxicity. Transcriptional factors are important components regulating gene expression in the cell. A C₂H₂-type zinc finger transcription factor ART1 (for Al resistance transcription factor 1) has been shown to regulate expression of genes involved in Al tolerance in rice. *ART1* was nuclear localized and showed constitutive expression in the root, irrespective of Al treatment. This observation suggested the occurrence of posttranscriptional modification required to activate it to functional form [74]. The gene pool regulated by *ART1* involves several categories comprising genes involved in cell wall

56 3 Genetic Engineering for Acid Soil Tolerance in Plants

maintenance, root elongation, membrane proteins, metabolism, and internal as well as external detoxification of Al. Recently, functional characterization of a rice gene, OsALS1, encoding half-size ABC transporter regulated by ART1, elucidated its potential role in compartmentalization of Al into vacuoles [75]. The role of *cis*acting element of ART1, GGN(T/g/a/C)V(C/A/g)S(C/G) identified by gel shift assays and transient expression analysis was verified by tandemly repeating as upstream element to study the expression of green fluorescence protein under a minimal 35S promoter in the presence or absence of ART1 gene. The expression of green fluorescence protein corresponding to ART1 expression confirmed the identified region as the target DNA binding domain of ART1 [76]. A Cys2/His2 zinc finger-type transcription factor STOP1 was found to be involved in the signal transduction pathway of Al³⁺ and H⁺ response. The stop1 mutant of Arabidopsis was unable to activate AtALMT1 and ALS3 gene under acidic conditions emphasizing its potential role in Al tolerance mechanism [77, 78]. Further investigation on signal transduction of these transcription factors can promote a comprehensive understanding to the molecular mechanism of Al toxicity in plants. The oxidative stress response is one of the factors involved in Al signaling in plants. The 5' UTR of glutathione S-transferase genes, AtGSTl and AtGST11, driving the GUS reporter was introduced into Arabidopsis ecotype Landsberg erecta. The time-dependent expression was observed with the *pAtGST1::GUS* gene being induced after a short Al exposure, while pAtGSTII::GUS gene took nearly 8 h for exhibiting maximum expression. The gus expression in leaves indicated the presence of a signaling system induced upon Al stress [79]. Recently, Kunihiro et al. [80] proposed an Al-signaling pathway involving the oxidative outburst in Arabidopsis cell suspension culture mediated by a NADPH oxidase encoded by AtrbohD gene (plant respiratory burst oxidase homologues, rbohs) and induced by salicylic acid. Thus, the increased ROS production is followed by subsequent events leading to cell death. The antioxidant role of nitric oxide (NO), a key signaling molecule, is known to protect plants against oxidative stress response mediated by Al. Results in Cassia tora revealed that NO promoted root elongation and a reduced Al accumulation in the root apex upon Al stress. Furthermore, the production of ROS like O2⁻ and H₂O₂ along with lipid peroxidation is reduced by NO [81].

3.5

Genetic Approach for Development of Al-Tolerant Plants

The development of plants with enhanced aluminum tolerance through transgenic approach is most promising for sustainable agriculture in acidic soil. The expression of Al-induced plant genes encoding organic acids has resulted in significant enhancement of Al tolerance in plants. Overexpression of citrate synthase (CS) gene of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in transgenic tobacco and papaya plants resulted in enhanced Al tolerance [82]. Overexpression of *Arabidopsis* mitochondrial citrate synthase in carrot cells as well as in *Arabidopsis thaliana* conferred superior growth features in phosphorus-limiting soil through increased citrate synthase activity [83].

Transgenic canola lines overexpressing *At-mtCS* gene displayed enhanced transcript level of CS gene, reduced inhibition of root elongation, and increased Al tolerance level in comparison to the wild-type plants [84]. Engineering alfalfa with bacterial and *P. aeruginosa* CS presented enhanced plant growth due to higher exclusion of Al³⁺ from the root tips [85]. Overexpression of *Citrus junos* mitochondrial citrate synthase gene in *Nicotiana benthamiana* conferred aluminum tolerance [86]. Furthermore, transgenic tobacco expressing expression of a full-length citrate synthase gene of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.), showed increased the Al tolerance [87].

Similarly, overexpression of malate dehydrogenase in alfalfa reported a 7.1 fold increase of citrate, oxalate, malate, succinate, and acetate in root exudates, thereby resulting in an increased level of Al tolerance [88]. Apart from overexpression of the organic acids to alleviate Al toxicity, there has been an upsurge in the identification and characterization of genes encoding for transporters mediating the secretion of these organic acids. Sasaki et al. [89] were the first group to report the isolation and characterization of a ALMT1 (aluminum-activated malate transporter) gene constitutively expressed in wheat. Later, citrate efflux was shown to mediate Al tolerance in wheat [90]. Hoekenga et al. [91] showed that At ALMT1 expression only in root apices was critical in exhibiting Al tolerance in Arabidopsis. Similarly, Ligaba et al. [92] cloned two homologues of the TaALMT1 gene, BnALMT1 and BnALMT2, from rape. Heterologous expression of TaALMT1, AtALMT1, and BnALMT proteins separately in Xenopous oocytes and cultured tobacco cells lead to increased Al-induced malate efflux in each case. Furthermore, their heterologous expression enhanced the Al resistance of the transgenic tobacco cells. Furukawa et al. [93] were successful in identifying the gene named as HvAACT1, which is responsible for the Al-activated citrate secretion in barley. The gene was identified by fine mapping combined with microarray analysis, using an Al-resistant cultivar, Murasakimochi, and an Al-sensitive cultivar, Morex. HvAACT1 belongs to the multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) family and was constitutively expressed mainly in the roots of the Al-resistant barley cultivar. Heterologous expression of HvAACT1 in X. oocytes accounted for the efflux of citrate ion and increased Al resistance in transgenic tobacco plants. Immunostaining showed that HvAACT1 was localized in the epidermal cells of the barley root tips. A gene belonging to the multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) family coding for Al-activated citrate transporter, at the Alt_{SB} locus, in sorghum was identified [94]. Transgenic barley expressing ALMT1 conferred an Al-activated malate efflux and enhanced Al tolerance [95]. Overexpression of TaALMT1 in wheat conferred Al tolerance [96]. The possible pathway for Al influx in Arabidopsis was suggested via endocytosis in root hair region [97] overexpression of F9E10.5 gene related to endocytosis located on chromosome 1 A. thaliana imparted higher tolerance level in the transgenic lines. OsFRDL4 gene belonging to the MATE family in rice was functionally characterized as an Al-induced citrate transporter, regulated by ART1, and localized to plasma membrane root tip cells. Knockout of OsFRDL4 showed decreased citrate

58 3 Genetic Engineering for Acid Soil Tolerance in Plants

efflux and increased Al sensitivity [98]. The role of Mg in the alleviation of Al stress in plants was demonstrated in rice bean roots. The action of Mg in enhanced citrate exudation and restoration of the H⁺-ATPase activity indicated its potent role in Al tolerance mechanism [99]. The overexpression of AtMGT1, a member of the Arabidopsis magnesium transporter family involved in Mg²⁺ transport, displayed increased level of Mg, Mn, and Fe and lower callose deposition. Root elongation was inhibited by 47% in transgenic plants compared to that of wild-type plants [100]. Under normal conditions, calcium is maintained at lower concentration in the cytoplasm. Imbalance in calcium homeostasis is a primary outcome of Al toxicity. It has been suggested in the calcium displacement hypothesis that the apoplasmic pectin-bound Ca²⁺ ions are displaced by Al³⁺ ions from the cell wall, thus altering its physiological properties. Recent findings by Li et al. [101] explain the role of Ca²⁺ transporters in alleviating Al toxicity in yeast. The yeast mutant, pmc1, lacking the vacuolar calcium ion (Ca^{2+}) high affinity pump Ca^{2+} -ATPase (*Pmc1p*) was found to be more sensitive to Al treatment than the wild-type strain. Furthermore, overexpression of either PMC1 or an antiapoptotic factor, such as Bcl-2, Ced-9, or PpBI-1, decreased cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ levels and rescued yeast from Al sensitivity in both wild-type and pmc1 mutant. The importance of sequestration of Al ions is a prime requisite for the root cells to mediate internal detoxification. The meristematic and the distal portion of the transition zone exhibited high Al internalization [33]. Kollmeier et al. [10] suggested the existence of signaling pathway in the root apex mediating Al signal between DTZ and EZ through alterations in basipetal auxin transport. An Al-specific plasma membrane influx transporter, Nrat1 (Nramp aluminum transporter 1), in rice, was regulated by ART1 and showed enhanced expression with Al stress. Knockout mutants of Nrat1 exhibited decreased Al uptake and increased Al binding to the cell wall along with increased Al sensitivity. Furthermore, overexpression of Nrat1 resulted in enhanced Al uptake in transgenic rice confirming the role of Nrat1 in the internal detoxification of Al via their sequestration in vacuole [102, 103]. The ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters represent a large family in plants associated with a nucleotide binding domain (NBD) and a transmembrane domain (TMD). A bacterial type transporter comprising OsSTAR1 (NBD) and OsSTAR2 (TMD) was found to be an essential element for detoxification of Al in rice. Expression and localization study in onion epidermal cells, rice protoplast, and yeast demonstrated the association of OsSTAR1 and OsSTAR2 to form a functional complex localized to the root cells, except for the epidermal layer. Furthermore, its expression in Xenopus laevis oocytes revealed the transport of UDP-glucose indicating its role in the cell wall modification and in alleviation of Al toxicity [104]. AtSTAR1 gene encoding an ATP binding domain of a bacterial type ABC transporter in Arabidopsis is an orthologue of rice OsSTAR1. The importance of AtSTAR1 in Al tolerance was further supported with the findings that knockout of AtSTAR1 resulted in increased sensitivity to aluminum. Expressional analysis detected the presence of AtSTAR1 in both roots and shoots of Arabidopsis unlike OsSTAR1 whose

expression was restricted to roots only. *ALS3* (an ABC transporter like protein) was observed to be associated with *AtSTAR1* for the proper functioning of the resulting complex [105]. Earlier, Larsen *et al.* [106] demonstrated the distribution of *AtALS3* in leaf hydathodes, root cortex, and phloem throughout the plant and related its function with the detoxification of Al from the sensitive tissues to promote their growth. ALS1 protein represents a half-type ABC transporter, primarily localized to the root tip and vasculature throughout the plant and expressed in an Al-independent manner as studied in the als1-1 mutant of *Arabidopsis*. The *ALS1::GFP* fusion accumulated in the vacuolar membrane of root cells suggesting its possible role in sequestration of Al in vacuoles [107].

Aluminum is known to induce oxidative stress in plants. Therefore, the importance of antioxidants in reducing the oxidative stress response was exploited. Overexpression of an Arabidopsis blue-copper binding protein gene (AtBCB), a tobacco glutathione S-transferase gene (parB), a tobacco peroxidase gene (NtPox), and a tobacco GDP-dissociation inhibitor gene (NtGDI1) enhanced the aluminum tolerance in transgenic Arabidopsis ecotype Landsberg. Increased tolerance is attributed to the activity of these genes NtPox and parB against the oxidative stress [108]. Transgenic canola lines expressing a wheat manganese superoxide dismutase displayed lower root growth inhibition and accumulation of MDA, an indicator of lipid peroxidation under Al-stress condition [109]. Overexpression of enzyme dehydroascorbatereductase (DHAR) increased antioxidant capacity and Al tolerance in transgenic tobacco due to high level of ascorbic acid (AsA) and ascorbate peroxidase (APX) activity. However, similar results could not be obtained with overexpression of monodehydroascorbatereductase (MDAR), involved in the process [110]. Recently, overexpression of *PTrx* in barley displayed increased protection of transgenic barley against oxidative stress due to Al stress. PTrx gene belongs to the thioredoxin family known to react to oxidative stress [111].

3.6

Transcriptomics and Proteomics as Tools for Unraveling Al Responsive Genes

High-throughput technology such as microarrays and subtractive hybridization, have enabled identification of differentially expressed genes under Al stress. Transcriptome and proteome profiling of Al-sensitive and tolerant plants has enriched the repository of Al-induced genes. The upregulation of genes related to cell wall modification, oxidative stress-related genes, transporters, transcription factors, signaling elements, pathogen-related genes, and other stress-inducible genes along with novel ones were observed in almost all the cases, whereas, the down-regulated genes comprised of those related to cellular metabolism.

The cell wall modifying gene pectin methyl esterase was found to be upregulated in sensitive maize variety L53, whereas downregulated in populus. Pectin methylesterase (PME) regulates the negative charge of pectin content in cell

60 *3* Genetic Engineering for Acid Soil Tolerance in Plants

wall by demethylation and, in turn, increases the sensitivity of plant by higher accumulation of Al³⁺ at the root region. Therefore, its lower expression reduces the chance of binding of Al³⁺ to pectin matrix, thereby limiting its accumulation in the apoplasm in tolerant species [112, 113]. Furthermore, the oxidative response in plants is a commonly known phenomenon in response to various stress conditions. The upregulation of several oxidative responsive genes like peroxidases and glutathione S-transferase were noted in maize [113], wheat [114], and Arabidopsis [115]. The transcriptome profiling obtained with the comparison of soybean cultivars Al-tolerant (PI 416937) and Al-sensitive (Young) indicated a myriad of genes, reportedly transcription factors, auxin downregulated-like protein (ADR6-like) and basic leucine zip-per (bZIP 94), sulfur transmembrane transport protein and lipid transfer protein, and several novel genes in the tolerant genotype compared to the sensitive variety. Furthermore, proteomic analysis of soybean roots under Al stress using a tandem combination of 2-D-DIGE, mass spectrometry, and bioinformatics tools indicated the upregulation of genes malate dehydrogenase, enolase, malate oxidoreductase, and pyruvate dehydrogenase, encoding citrate in PI 416937 but not in Young [116, 117]. Genes related to the biosynthesis of auxin, ethylene, and lignin were upregulated in the Al-sensitive maize genotype, indicating that these pathways might be associated with root growth inhibition [118]. In Arabidopsis interestingly, lack of abundance of transcripts encoding TCA cycle enzymes, except for malate dehydrogenase, suggested that synthesis of organic anions in response to Al may not be transcriptionally regulated. A similar result was obtained in Al-resistant bean genotype, which did not experience the upregulation of genes encoding enzymes involved in citrate metabolism, although an upregulation in ESTs belonging to the citrate transporter gene family (MATE) was observed [119]. Increased abundance of transcripts for several membrane receptor kinases and nonmembrane calcium response kinases suggested to be involved in transmission of Al-stress signals. Among Al responsive transcription factors, the most predominant families identified were AP2/EREBP, MYB, and bHLH [120]. Goodwin and Sutter [115] also identified several upregulated genes in Arabidopsis involved in vacuolar signaling, sorting, and docking, mainly Ras GTP-binding protein, ABC-cassette binding, and the AtELP1 receptor genes.

3.7

Future Perspectives

Development of available land source toward agricultural sustainability is a prime necessity. Functional genomics and proteomics tools are promising for elucidation of novel genes that previously have not been identified, and that can further resurrect our approach toward overcoming Aluminum syndrome that takes a toll on the agricultural productivity. The identification of distinguishing factors prevailing in nature, that is, among the genetically varied plant species, analysis of single gene with the help of mutants, and studying of loss and gain of function for related genes toward Al toxicity and tolerance mechanisms can provide intriguing success in future. The extent of success in this field has been possible with the identification of genes related to the secretion of OAs, transporters belonging to ALMT and MATE family, transcription factors, and oxidative stress agents. The main aim is to unravel the interaction of Al with plant at the molecular level that holds the key to regulate the time-dependent signal transduction occurring with the onset of Al exposure.

References

- Panda, S.K., Baluska, F., and Matsumoto, H. (2009) Aluminum stress signaling in plants. *Plant Signal. Behav.*, 4, 592–597.
- 2 Kochian, L.V. (1995) Cellular mechanisms of aluminum toxicity and resistance in plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol., 46, 237–260.
- 3 Panda, S.K. and Matsumoto, H. (2007) Molecular physiology of aluminum toxicity and tolerance in plants. *Bot. Rev.*, 73, 326–347.
- 4 Čiamporova, M. (2002) Morphological and structural responses of plant roots to aluminum at organ, tissue and cellular levels. *Biol. Plant.*, 45, 161–171.
- 5 Barceló, J., Poschenrieder, C., Vázquez, M.D., and Gunsé, B. (1996) Aluminum phytotoxicity: a challenge for plant scientists. *Fertilizer Res.*, 43, 217–223.
- 6 Kochian, L.V., Pence, N.S., Letham, L.D., Pineros, M.A., Magalhaes, J.V., Hoekenga, O.A., and Garvin, D.F. (2002) Mechanisms of metal resistance in plants: aluminum and heavy metals. *Plant Soil*, 247, 109–119.
- 7 Vardar, F. and Ünal, M. (2007) Aluminum toxicity and resistance in higher plants. Adv. Mol. Biol., 1, 1–12.
- 8 Kochian, L.V., Pineros, M.A., and Hoekenga, O.A. (2005) The physiology, genetics and molecular biology of plant aluminum resistance and toxicity. *Plant Soil*, 274, 175–195.
- **9** Ryan, P.R., Ditomaso, J.M., and Kochian, L.V. (1993) Aluminum toxicity in roots: an investigation of spatial sensitivity and the role of the root cap. *J. Exp. Bot.*, **44**, 437–446.

- 10 Kollmeier, M., Felle, H.H., and Horst, W.J. (2000) Genotypical differences in aluminum resistance of maize are expressed in the distal part of the transition zone. Is reduced basipetal auxin flow involved in inhibition of root elongation by aluminum? *Plant Physiol.*, 122, 945–956.
- 11 Sivaguru, M. and Horst, W.J. (1998) The distal part of the transition zone is the most aluminum sensitive apical root zone of maize. *Plant Physiol.*, **116**, 155–163.
- 12 Bennet, R.J. and Breen, C.M. (1991) The aluminum signal: new dimensions to mechanisms of aluminum tolerance. *Plant Soil*, 134, 153–166.
- 13 Sasaki, M., Yamamoto, Y., and Matsumoto, H. (1996) Lignin deposition induced by aluminum in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) roots. *Plant Physiol.*, 96, 193–198.
- 14 Baluška, F., Volkmann, D., and Barlow, P.W. (1996) Specialized zones of development in roots: view from the cellular level. *Plant Physiol.*, **112**, 3–4.
- 15 Baluška, F., Vitha, S., Barlow, P.W., and Volkmann, D. (1997) Rearrangements of F-actin arrays in growing cells of intact maize root apex tissues: a major developmental switch occurs in the post mitotic transition region. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.*, 72, 113–121.
- 16 Sasaki, M., Yamamoto, Y., and Matsumoto, H. (1997) Aluminum inhibits growth and stability of cortical micro-tubules in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) roots. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.*, 43, 469–472.

- 62 3 Genetic Engineering for Acid Soil Tolerance in Plants
 - 17 Shibaoka, H. (1994) Plant hormoneinduced changes in the orientation of cortical microtubules: alterations in the cross-linking between microtubules and the plasma membrane. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.*, 45, 527–544.
 - 18 Blancaflor, E.B., Jones, D.L., and Gilroy, S. (1998) Alterations in the cytoskeleton accompany aluminum-induced growth inhibition and morphological changes in primary roots of maize. *Plant Physiol.*, 118, 159–172.
 - 19 Schwarzerovă, K., Zelenkova, S., Nick, P., and Opatrny, Z. (2002) Aluminuminduced rapid changes in the microtubular cytoskeleton of tobacco cell lines. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 43, 207–216.
 - 20 Sivaguru, M., Baluška, F., Volkmann, D., Felle, H.H., and Horst, W.J. (1999) Impacts of aluminum on the cytoskeleton of the maize root apex: short-term effects on the distal part of the transition zone. *Plant Physiol.*, **119**, 1073–1082.
 - **21** Sivaguru, M., Yamamoto, Y., and Matsumoto, H. (1999) Differential impacts of aluminum on microtubule organization depends on growth phase in suspension-cultured tobacco cells. *Plant Physiol.*, **107**, 110–119.
 - 22 Sivaguru, M., Ezaki, B., He, Z.H., Tong, H.Y., and Osawa, H. (2003) Aluminum induced gene expression and protein localization of a cell wall-associated receptor kinase in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiol.*, 132, 2256–2266.
 - 23 Grabski, S., Arnoys, E., Busch, B., and Schindler, M. (1998) Regulation of actin tension in plant cells by kinases and phosphatases. *Plant Physiol.*, 116, 279–290.
 - 24 Jones, D.L. and Kochian, L.V. (1995) Aluminum inhibition of the inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate signal transduction pathway in wheat roots: a role in aluminum toxicity? *Plant Cell*, 7, 1913–1922.
 - 25 Amenós, M., Corrales, I., Poschenrieder, C., Illéš, P., and Baluška, F. (2009) Different effects of aluminum on the actin cytoskeleton and brefeldin a-sensitive vesicle recycling in root apex

cells of two maize varieties differing in root elongation rate and aluminum tolerance. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, **50**, 528–540.

- 26 Doncheva, S., Amenós, M., Poschenrieder, C., and Barceló, J. (2005) Root cell patterning: a primary target for aluminum toxicity in maize. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 56, 1213–1220.
- 27 Frantzios, G., Galatis, B., and Apostolakos, P. (2000) Aluminum effects on microtubule organization in dividing root-tip cells of *Triticum turgidum*. I. Mitotic cells. *New Phytol.*, 145, 211–224.
- 28 Rounds, M.A. and Larsen, P.B. (2008) Aluminum-dependent root-growth inhibition in *Arabidopsis* results from *AtATR*-regulated cell-cycle arrest. *Curr. Biol.*, 18, 1495–1500.
- 29 Silva, I.R., Smyth, T.J., Moxley, D.F., Carter, T.E., Allen, N.S., and Rufty, T.W. (2000) Aluminum accumulation at nuclei of cells in the root tip: fluorescence detection using lumogallion and confocal laser scanning microscopy. *Plant Physiol.*, 123, 543–552.
- **30** Liu, Q., Yang, J.L., He, L.S., Li, Y.Y., and Zheng, S.J. (2008) Effect of aluminum on cell wall, plasma membrane, antioxidants and root elongation in triticale. *Biol. Plant.*, **52**, 87–92.
- 31 Zhang, H., Zhang, S., Meng, Q., Zou, J., Jiang, W., and Liu, D. (2009) Effects of aluminum on nucleoli in root tip cells, root growth and the antioxidant defense system in *Vicia faba L. Acta Biol. Crac. Ser. Bot.*, 51, 99–106.
- 32 Chaffaia, R., Marzouk, B., and Ferjani, E. E.I. (2005) Aluminum mediates compositional alterations of polar lipid classes in maize seedlings. *Phytochemistry*, 66, 1903–1912.
- 33 Illěš, P., Schlicht, M., Pavlovkin, J., Lichtscheidl, I., Baluška, F., and Ovečka, M. (2006) Aluminum toxicity in plants: internalization of aluminum into cells of the transition zone in *Arabidopsis* root apices related to changes in plasma membrane potential, endosomal behaviour, and nitric oxide production. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 57, 4201–4213.
- 34 Ahn, S.J., Sivaguru, M., Chung, G.C., Rengel, Z., and Matsumoto, H. (2002) Aluminum induced growth inhibition is

associated with impaired efflux and influx of H⁺ across the plasma membrane in root apices of squah (*Cucurbita pepo*). *J. Exp. Bot.*, **53**, 1959–1966.

- 35 Ahn, S.J., Rengel, Z., and Matsumoto, H. (2004) Aluminum-induced plasma membrane surface potential and H⁺-ATPase activity in near-isogenic wheat lines differing in tolerance to aluminum. *New Phytol.*, 162, 71–79.
- 36 Ahn, S.J., Sivaguru, M., Osawa, H., Chung, G.C., and Matsumoto, H. (2001) Aluminum inhibits the H⁺-ATPase activity by permanently altering the plasma membrane surface potentials in squash roots. *Plant Physiol.*, 126, 1381–1390.
- 37 Jones, D.L. and Kochian, L.V. (1997) Aluminum interaction with plasma membrane lipids and enzyme metal binding sites and its potential role in Al cytotoxicity. *FEBS Lett.*, 400, 51–57.
- 38 Shen, H., He, L.F., Sasaki, T., Yamamoto, Y., Zheng, S.J., Ligaba, A., Yan, X.L., Ahn, S.J., Yamaguchi, M., Sasakawa, H., and Matsumoto, H. (2005) Citrate secretion coupled with the modulation of soybean root tip under aluminum stress: upregulation of transcription, translation, and threonine-oriented phosphorylation of plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase. *Plant Physiol.*, 138, 287–296.
- 39 Sivaguru, M., Fujiwara, T., Šamaj, J., Baluška, F., Yang, Z., Osawa, H., Maeda, T., Mori, T., Volkmann, D., and Matsumoto, H. (2000) Aluminuminduced 1-3-β-d-glucan inhibits cell-tocell trafficking of molecules through plasmodesmata: a new mechanism of Al toxicity in plants. *Plant Physiol.*, **124**, 991–1018.
- 40 Ryan, P.R., Skerrett, M., Findlay, G.P., Delhaize, E., and Tyerman, S.D. (1997) Aluminum activates an anion channel in the apical cells of wheat roots. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 94, 6547–6552.
- 41 Richards, K.D., Schott, E.J., Sharma, Y.K., Davis, K.R., and Gardner, R.C. (1998) Aluminum induces oxidative stress genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Physiol.*, **116**, 409–418.

- 42 Boscolo, P.R.S., Menossi, M., and Jorge, R.A. (2003) Aluminum-induced oxidative stress in maize. *Phytochemistry*, 62, 181–189.
- **43** Sharma, P. and Dubey, R.S. (2007) Involvement of oxidative stress and role of antioxidative defense system in growing rice seedlings exposed to toxic concentrations of aluminum. *Plant Cell Rep.*, **26**, 2027–2038.
- 44 Panda, S.K. and Matsumoto, H. (2010) Changes in antioxidant gene expression and induction of oxidative stress in pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) under Al stress. *Biometals*, **23**, 753–762.
- 45 Nasr, N., Carapetian, J., Heidari, R., Rezaei, S.A., Abbaspour, N., Darvishzadeh, R., and Ghezelbash, F. (2011) The effect of aluminum on enzyme activities in two wheat cultivars. *Afr. J. Biotechnol.*, **10**, 3354–3364.
- 46 Cartes, P., McManus, M., Wulff-Zottele, C., Leung, S., Gutiérrez-Moraga, A., and Mora, de la L.M. (2011) Differential superoxide dismutase expression in ryegrass cultivars in response to short term aluminum stress. *Plant Soil.*, 350, 353–363.
- **47** Panda, S.K., Yamamoto, Y., Kondo, H., and Matsumoto, H. (2008) Mitochondrial alterations related to programmed cell death in tobacco cells under aluminum stress. *C.R. Biol.*, **331**, 597–610.
- 48 Archambault, D.J., Zhang, C., and Taylor, C.J. (1996) Accumulation of Al in root mucilage of an Al-resistant and an Alsensitive cultivar of wheat. *Plant Physiol.*, 112, 1471–1478.
- **49** Watanabe, T., Misawa, S., Hiradate, S., and Osaki, M. (2008) Root mucilage enhances aluminum accumulation in *Melastomama labathricum*, an aluminum accumulator. *Plant Signal. Behav.*, **3**, 603–605.
- 50 Miyasaka, S.C., Buta, J.G., Howell, R.K., and Foy, C.D. (1991) Mechanism of aluminum tolerance in snapbeans: root exudation of citric acid. *Plant Physiol.*, 96, 737–743.
- 51 Pellet, D.M., Grunes, D.L., and Kochian, L.V. (1995) Organic acid exudation as an aluminum-tolerance mechanism in

64 3 Genetic Engineering for Acid Soil Tolerance in Plants

maize (Zea mays L.). Planta, 196, 788–795.

- 52 Ma, J.F., Zheng, S.J., and Matsumoto, H. (1997) Specific secretion of citric acid induced by Al stress in *Cassia tora* L. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 38, 1019–1025.
- 53 Li, X.F., Zuo, F.H., Ling, G.Z., Li, Y.Y., Yu, Y.X., Yang, P.Q., and Tang, X.L. (2009) Secretion of citrate from roots in response to aluminum and low phosphorus stresses in *Stylosanthes*. *Plant Soil.*, 325, 219–229.
- 54 Delhaize, E., Ryan, P.R., and Randall, P.J. (1993) Aluminum tolerance in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.): II. Aluminum stimulated excretion of malic acid from root apices. *Plant Physiol.*, 103, 695–702.
- 55 Kikui, S., Sasaki, T., Osawa, H., Matsumoto, H., and Yamamoto, Y. (2007) Malate enhances recovery from aluminum caused inhibition of root elongation in wheat. *Plant Soil.*, 290, 1–15.
- 56 Li, X.F., Ma, J.F., and Matsumoto, H. (2000) Pattern of aluminum-induced secretion of organic acids differs between rye and wheat. *Plant Physiol.*, **123**, 1537–1544.
- 57 Ma, J.F., Taketa, S., and Yang, Z.M. (2000) Aluminum tolerance genes on the short arm of chromosome 3R are linked to organic acid release in triticale. *Plant Physiol.*, **122**, 687–694.
- 58 Ma, Z. and Miyasaka, S.C. (1998) Oxalate exudation by taro in response to Al. *Plant Physiol.*, **118**, 861–865.
- 59 Zheng, S.J., Ma, J.F., and Matsumoto, H. (1998) High aluminum resistance in buckwheat: I. Al-induced specific secretion of oxalic acid from root tips. *Plant Physiol.*, 117, 745–751.
- 60 Pineros, M.A., Magalhaes, J.V., CarvalhoAlves, V.M., and Kochian, L.V. (2002) The physiology and biophysics of an aluminum tolerance mechanism based on root citrate exudation in maize. *Plant Physiol.*, 129, 1194–1206.
- 61 Silva, R., Novais, R.F., Jham, G.N., Barros, N.F., Gebrim, F.O., Nunes, F.N., Neves, J.C.L., and Leite, F.P. (2004) Responses of eucalypt species to aluminum: the possible involvement of low molecular weight organic acids in the

Al tolerance mechanism. *Tree Physiol.*, **24**, 1267–1277.

- **62** Ma, J.F., Zheng, S.J., Matsumoto, H., and Hiradate, S. (1997) Detoxifying aluminum with buckwheat. *Nature*, **390**, 569–570.
- 63 Ma, J.F., Hiradate, S., and Matsumoto, H. (1998) High aluminum resistance in buckwheat: II. Oxalic acid detoxifies aluminum internally. *Plant Physiol.*, 117, 753–759.
- 64 Ma, J.F. and Hiradate, S. (2000) Form of aluminum for uptake and translocation in buckwheat (*Fagopyrum esculentum* Moench). *Planta*, 211, 355–360.
- 65 Shen, R. and Ma, J.F. (2001) Distribution and mobility of aluminum in an Alaccumulating plant, *Fagopyrum esculentum* Moench. J. Exp. Bot., 52, 1683–1687.
- 66 Shen, R., Ma, J.F., Kyo, M., and Iwashita, T. (2002) Compartmentation of aluminum in leaves of an Alaccumulator, *Fagopyrum esculentum* Moench. *Planta*, 215, 394–398.
- 67 Shen, R., Iwashita, T., and Ma, J.F. (2004) Form of Al changes with Al concentration in leaves of buckwheat. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 55, 131–136.
- 68 Watanabe, T. and Osaki, M. (2001) Influence of aluminum and phosphorus on growth and xylem sap composition in *Melastomama labathricum* L. *Plant Soil*, 237, 63–70.
- **69** Watanabe, T., Steven, J., and Osaki, M. (2005) The beneficial effect of aluminum and the role of citrate in Al accumulation in *Melastomama labathricum*. *New Phytol.*, **165**, 773–780.
- 70 Morita, A., Horie, H., Fujii, Y., Takatsu, S., Watanabe, N., Yagi, A., and Yokota, H. (2004) Chemical forms of aluminum in xylem sap of tea plants (*Camellia sinensis* L.). *Phytochemistry*, 65, 2775–2780.
- 71 Morita, A., Yanagisawa, O., Takatsu, S., Maeda, S., and Hiradate, S. (2008) Mechanism for the detoxification of aluminum in roots of tea plant (*Camellia sinensis* (L.) Kuntze). *Phytochemistry*, **69**, 147–153.
- 72 Pineros, M.A. and Kochian, L.V. (2001) A patch clamp study on the physiology of aluminum toxicity and aluminum

tolerance in *Zea mays*: identification and characterization of Al³⁺-induced anion channels. *Plant Physiol.*, **125**, 292–305.

- 73 Kinraide, T.B., Parker, D.R., and Zobel, R.W. (2005) Organic acid secretion as a mechanism of aluminum resistance: a model incorporating the root cortex, epidermis, and the external unstirred layer. J. Exp. Bot., 56, 1853–1865.
- 74 Yamaji, N., Huang, C.F., Nagao, S., Yano, M., Sato, Y., Nagamura, Y., and Ma, J.F. (2009) A zinc finger transcription factor *ART1* regulates multiple genes implicated in aluminum tolerance in rice. *Plant Cell*, **21**, 3339–3349.
- 75 Huang, C.F., Yamaji, N., Chen, Z., and Ma, J.F. (2012) A tonoplast-localized halfsize ABC transporter is required for internal detoxification of aluminum in rice. *Plant J.*, 69, 857–867.
- 76 Tsutsui, T., Yamaji, N., and Ma, J.F. (2011) Identification of a *cis*-acting element of *ART1*, a C₂H₂-type zinc finger transcription factor for aluminum tolerance in rice. *Plant Physiol.*, **156**, 925–931.
- 77 Iuchi, S., Koyama, H., Iuchi, A., Kobayashi, Y., Kitabayashi, S., Kobayashi, Y., Ikka, T., Hirayama, T., Shinozaki, K., and Kobayashi, M. (2007) Zinc finger protein STOP1 is critical for proton tolerance in *Arabidopsis* and co-regulates a key gene in aluminum tolerance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **104**, 9900–9905.
- 78 Sawaki, Y., Iuchi, S., Kobabyashi, Y., Kobabyashi, Y., Ikka, T., Sakurai, N., Fujita, M., Shinozaki, K., Shibata, D., Kobayashi, M., and Koyama, H. (2009) STOP1 regulates multiple genes that protect *Arabidopsis* from proton and aluminum toxicities. *Plant Physiol.*, 150, 281–294.
- 79 Ezaki, B., Suzuki, M., Motoda, H., Kawamura, M., Nakashima, S., and Matsumoto, H. (2004) Mechanism of gene expression of *Arabidopsis* glutathione S-transferase, *AtGST1*, and *AtGST11* in response to aluminum stress. *Plant Physiol.*, **134**, 1672–1682.
- 80 Kunihiro, S., Hiramatsu, T., and Kawano, T. (2011) Involvement of salicylic acid signal transduction in aluminumresponsive oxidative burst in *Arabidopsis*

thaliana cell suspension culture. *Plant Signal. Behav.*, **6**, 611–616.

- 81 Wang, Y.S. and Yang, Z.M. (2005) Nitric oxide reduces aluminum toxicity by preventing oxidative stress in the roots of *Cassia tora* L. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 46, 1915–1923.
- 82 de la Fuente, J.M., Ramírez-Rodríguez, V., Cabrera-Ponce, J.L., and Herrera-Estrella, L. (1997) Aluminum tolerance in transgenic plants by alteration of citrate synthesis. *Science*, 276, 1566–1568.
- 83 Koyama, H., Kawamura, A., Kihara, T., Hara, T., Takita, E., and Shibata, D. (2000) Overexpression of mitochondrial citrate synthase in *Arabidopsis* thaliana improved growth on a phosphoruslimited soil. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 41, 1030–1037.
- 84 Anoop, V.M., Basu, U., McCammon, M.T., McAlister-Henn, L., and Taylor, G.J. (2003) Modulation of citrate metabolism alters aluminum tolerance in yeast and transgenic canola overexpressing a mitochondrial citrate synthase. *Plant Physiol.*, 132, 2205–2217.
- 85 Barone, P., Rosellini, D., LaFayette, P., Bouton, J., Veronesi, F., and Parrott, W. (2008) Bacterial citrate synthase expression and soil aluminum tolerance in transgenic alfalfa. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 27, 893–901.
- 86 Deng, W., Luo, K., Li, Z., Yang, Y.W., Hu, N., and Wu, Y. (2009) Overexpression of *Citrus junos* mitochondrial citrate synthase gene in *Nicotianabenthamiana* confers aluminum tolerance. *Planta*, 230, 355–365.
- 87 Han, Y., Zhang, W., Zhang, W., Zhang, S., Wang, W., and Ming, F. (2009) One novel mitochondrial citrate synthase from *Oryza sativa* L. can enhance aluminum tolerance in transgenic tobacco. *Mol. Biotechnol.*, 42, 299–305.
- 88 Tesfaye, M., Temple, S.J., Allan, D.L., Vance, C.P., and Samac, D.A. (2001) Overexpression of malate dehydrogenase in transgenic alfalfa enhances organic acid synthesis and confers tolerance to aluminum. *Plant Physiol.*, 127, 1836–1844.
- 89 Sasaki, T., Yamamoto, Y., Ezaki, B., Katsuhara, M., Ahn, S.J., Ryan, P.R.,

66 3 Genetic Engineering for Acid Soil Tolerance in Plants

Delhaize, E., and Matsumoto, H. (2004) A wheat gene encoding an aluminumactivated malate transporter. *Plant J.*, **37**, 645–653.

- 90 Ryan, P.R., Raman, H., Gupta, S., Horst, W.J., and Delhaize, E. (2009) A second mechanism for aluminum resistance in wheat relies on the constitutive efflux of citrate from roots. *Plant Physiol.*, 149, 340–351.
- 91 Hoekenga, O.A., Maron, L.G., and Piňeros, M.A. (2006) AtALMT1, which encodes a malate transporter, is identified as one of several genes critical for aluminum tolerance in *Arabidopsis*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 103, 9738–9743.
- 92 Ligaba, A., Katsuhara, M., Sakamoto, W., and Matsumoto, H. (2007) The BnALMT1 protein that is an aluminumactivated malate transporter is localized in the plasma membrane. *Plant Signal. Behav.*, 2, 255–257.
- 93 Furukawa, J., Yamaji, N., Wang, H., Mitani, N., Murata, Y., Sato, K., Katsuhara, M., Takeda, K., and Ma, J.F. (2007) An aluminum-activated citrate transporter in barley. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 48, 1081–1091.
- 94 Magalhaes, J.V., Liu, J., Guimaraes, C.T., Lana, U.G.P., Alves, V.M.C., Wang, Y.H., Schaffert, R.E., Hoekenga, O.A., Piňeros, M.A., and Shaff, J.E. (2007) A gene in the multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) family confers aluminum tolerance in sorghum. *Nat Genet.*, 39, 1156–1161.
- 95 Delhaize, E., Ryan, P.R., Hebb, D.M., Yamamoto, Y., Sasaki, T., and Matsumoto, H. (2004) Engineering highlevel aluminum tolerance in barley with the *ALMT1* gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 101, 15249–15254.
- 96 Pereira, J.F., Zhou, G., Delhaize, E., Richardson, T., Zhou, M., and Ryan, P.R. (2010) Engineering greater aluminum resistance in wheat by over-expressing *TaALMT1. Ann. Bot.*, 106, 205–214.
- 97 Ezaki, B., Kiyahara, H., Matsumoto, H., and Nakashima, S. (2007) Overexpression of an auxilin- like gene (F9E10.5) can suppress Al uptake in roots of *Arabidopsis*. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 58, 497–506.

- 98 Yokosho, K., Yamaji, N., and Ma, J.F. (2011) An Al-inducible MATE gene is involved in external detoxification of Al in rice. *Plant J.*, 68, 1061–1069.
- 99 Yang, Q., Wang, Y., Zhang, J., Shi, W., Qian, C., and Peng, X. (2007) Identification of aluminum responsive proteins in rice roots by a proteomic approach: cysteine synthase as a key player in Al response. *Proteomics*, 7, 737–749.
- 100 Deng, W., Luo, K., Li, D., Zheng, X., Wei, X., Smith, W., Thammina, C., Lu, L., Li, Y., and Pei, Y. (2006) Overexpression of an *Arabidopsis* magnesium transport gene, *AtMGT1*, in *Nicotiana benthamiana* confers Al tolerance. J. Exp. Bot., 57, 4235–4243.
- 101 Li, X., Qian, J., Wang, C., Zheng, K., Ye, L., Fu, Y., Han, N., Bian, H., Pan, J., Wang, J., and Zhu, M. (2011) Regulating cytoplasmic calcium homeostasis can reduce aluminum toxicity in yeast. *PLoS One*, 6, e21148.
- 102 Xia, J., Yamaji, N., Kasai, T., and Ma, J.F. (2010) Plasma membrane-localized transporter for aluminum in rice. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA*, 107, 18381–18385.
- 103 Xia, J., Yamaji, N., and Ma, J.F. (2011) Further characterization of an aluminum influx transporter in rice. *Plant Signal. Behav.*, 6, 160–163.
- 104 Huang, C.F., Yamaji, N., Mitani, N., Yano, M., Nagamura, Y., and Ma, J.F. (2009) Bacterial-type ABC transporter is involved in aluminum tolerance in rice. *Plant Cell*, 21, 655–667.
- 105 Huang, C.F., Yamaji, N., and Ma, J.F. (2010) Knockout of a bacterial-type ATPbinding cassette transporter gene, *AtSTAR1*, results in increased aluminum sensitivity in *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol.*, 153, 1669–1677.
- 106 Larsen, P.B., Geisler, M.J.B., Jones, C.A., Williams, K.M., and Cancel, J.D. (2005) ALS3 encodes a phloem-localized ABC transporter-like protein that is required for aluminum tolerance in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant J.*, 41, 353–363.
- 107 Larsen, P.B., Cancel, J., Rounds, M., and Ochoa, V. (2007) *Arabidopsis* ALS1 encodes a root tip and stele localized half type ABC transporter required for root

growth in an aluminum toxic environment. *Planta*, **225**, 1447–1458.

- 108 Ezaki, B., Gardner, R.C., Ezaki, Y., and Matsumoto, H. (2000) Expression of aluminum-induced genes in transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants can ameliorate aluminum stress and/or oxidative stress. *Plant Physiol.*, 122, 657–665.
- 109 Basu, U., Good, A.G., and Taylor, G.J. (2001) Transgenic *Brassica napus* plants overexpressing aluminum-induced mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase cDNA are resistant to aluminum. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 24, 1269–1278.
- 110 Yin, L., Wang, S., Eltayeb, A.E., Uddin, M.I., Yamamoto, Y., Tsuji, W., Takeuchi, Y., and Tanaka, K. (2010) Overexpression of dehydroascorbate reductase, but not monodehydroascorbate reductase, confers tolerance to aluminum stress in transgenic tobacco. *Planta*, 231, 609–621.
- Li, Q.Y., Niu, H.B., Yin, J., Shao, H.B., Niu, J.S., Ren, J.P., Li, Y.C., and Wang, X. (2010) Transgenic barley with overexpressed *PTrx* increases aluminum resistance in roots during germination. *J. Zhejiang Univ. Sci. B*, **11**, 862–870.
- 112 Grisel, N., Zoller, S., Künzli-Gontarczyk, M., Lampart, T., Münsterkötter, M., Brunner, I., Bovet, L., Métraux, J.P., and Sperisen, C. (2010) Transcriptome responses to aluminum stress in roots of aspen (*Populus tremula*). *BMC Plant Biol.*, 10, 185.
- 113 Maron, L.G., Kirst, M., Mao, C., Milner, M.J., Menossi, M., and Kochian, L.V. (2008) Transcriptional profiling of aluminum toxicity and tolerance

responses in maize roots. *New Phytol.*, **179**, 116–128.

- 114 Houde, M. and Diallo, A.O. (2008) Identification of genes and pathways associated with aluminum stress and tolerance using transcriptome profiling of wheat near-isogenic lines. *BMC Genomics*, 9, 400.
- 115 Goodwin, S.B. and Sutter, T.R. (2009) Microarray analysis of *Arabidopsis* genome response to aluminum stress. *Biol. Plant.*, 53, 85–99.
- 116 Duressa, D., Soliman, K., Taylor, R., and Senwo, Z. (2011) Proteomic analysis of soybean roots under aluminum stress. Int. J. Plant Genomics, 2011, 1–12.
- 117 Duressa, D., Soliman, K.M., Taylor, R.W., and Chen, D. (2011) Gene expression profiling in soybean under aluminum stress: genes differentially expressed between Al-tolerant and Al-sensitive genotypes. *Am. J. Mol. Biol.*, 1, 156–173.
- 118 Mattiello, L., Kirst, M., da Silva, F.R., Jorge, R.A., and Menossi, M. (2010) Transcriptional profile of maize roots under acid soil growth. *BMC Plant Biol.*, 10, 196.
- Eticha, D., Zahn, M., Bremer, M., Yang, Z., Rangel, A.F., Rao, I.M., and Horst, W.J. (2010) Transcriptomic analysis reveals differential gene expression in response to aluminum in common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) genotypes. *Ann. Bot.*, 105, 1119–1128.
- 120 Kumari, M., Taylor, G.J., and Deyholos, M.K. (2008) Transcriptomic responses to aluminum stress in roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Mol. Gen. Genomics*, 279, 339–357.

Evaluation of Tropospheric O₃ Effects on Global Agriculture: A New Insight

Richa Rai, Abhijit Sarkar, S.B. Agrawal, and Madhoolika Agrawal

Abstract

4

Tropospheric ozone (O₃) is now considered as the most widespread and toxic gaseous pollutant in our environment. To date, unsustainable resource utilization has turned this secondary pollutant into a major component of global climate change, and a prime threat to agricultural production. The projected levels to which O₃ will increase are critically alarming, and have become a major issue of concern for global food production. Plants are "soft targets" for O₃. Ozone enters plants through stomata, where it can be dissolved in the apoplastic fluid. Ozone has several potential effects on plants: direct reaction with cell membranes; generation of ROS and H_2O_2 (which alters cellular function by causing cell death); induction of premature senescence; and up- or down-regulation of responsive components such as genes, proteins, and metabolites. In this chapter, we make an attempt to present an overview picture of agricultural crops and O₃ interactions. We summarize the vast number of available reports on plant responses to O₃ at the morphological, physiological, cellular, and biochemical levels, and also address effects on crop yield, and on "-omics" level.

4.1 Introduction

Agriculture plays a very important role in human welfare and provides the basis of human and animal nutrition. Past agricultural growth has been a precursor of industrial revolution across temperate and Asian countries generating agricultural surplus and enabling lower food prices. But, food security in the twenty-first century faces multifaceted challenges to feed the ever-increasing population with changing consumption patterns and changing climatic scenarios. Global climate change may alter many elements of the future crop production environment. Rise in concentrations of tropospheric ozone (O₃), carbon dioxide (CO₂), and other greenhouse gases may lead to changes in global climate. Tropospheric O₃ being a secondary pollutant is not emitted as such by any specific source; rather, it is

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

© 2012 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.



Figure 4.1 Atmospheric cycle of surface level/tropospheric O₃ and major emission sources of different precursor molecules.

formed during the atmospheric photochemical reactions involving oxides of nitrogen and reactive hydrocarbons emitted from automobiles [1] (Figure 4.1). Higher levels of surface O_3 may be found hundreds or thousands of miles away from the original sources, often affecting the remote rural areas, the active centers of agricultural production. Tropospheric O_3 is recognized as the most important air pollutant affecting plant productivity losses in most parts of the world [2–5] and hence is a major threat to global food security to feed the growing population in China, India, and the United States as they are the worst affected countries, bearing more than half of all global losses and threatened areas [2]. Food security in India is the most important issue of present time for the rapidly increasing population. Currently, we use 168 million ha of arable land for crop and animal production and there are not much prospects to expand the cultivated area further. We therefore need to produce 50–70% more food from the same or less land, water, and other natural resources.

Ozone is a potent phytotoxic air pollutant that reduces plant productivity. Ozone after entering through the stomata dissolves in the apoplast region of plant cells, where it generates different reactive oxygen species (ROS), which are capable of altering cellular functions that cause premature senescence, cell death, and up- or downregulation of specific genes [6]. This chapter focuses on the variations in cultivar-specific responses of agricultural crops to O_3 with special reference to mechanism of action, growth, physiology, and yield responses and crop improvement techniques to protect plants from O_3 or enhance the plant productivity by application of "-omics" approach.

4.2 Tropospheric O₃ Formation and Its Recent Trend

Ozone is produced in planetary boundary layer (PBL), free troposphere, and in the stratosphere. In the stratosphere, O_3 is produced due to photolysis of O_2 by ultraviolet radiation into atomic oxygen to form O_3 . However, in the troposphere O_3 formation occurs due to photolysis of NO₂. In the free troposphere, O_3 formation depends on reaction of methane, carbon monoxide (CO), and nonmethane organic compounds with NO_x. These reactions are principally controlled by sunlight and temperature. Nitrogen dioxide diminishes when O_3 reaches its peak. Ozone concentration peaks during the late morning and early afternoon hours [7].

In the ambient air, O_3 precursors play important role during long-range transport downwind from the sources (Figure 4.1). Polluted air masses from urban and industrial areas can affect suburban and rural areas, even reaching to remote rural areas for considerable distances. High O_3 levels from one particular urban area can extend as far as 48–80 km [1]. Ozone formation also depends largely upon prevailing meteorological conditions of the area. Tiwari *et al.* [7] reported positive correlation between mean maximum temperature/sunlight and O_3 concentration.

Background O_3 concentrations have more than doubled in the past century [8] and there is an increase in annual mean values of O_3 ranging from 0.1 to 1 ppb/ year [9]. In the northern hemisphere, O_3 is also influenced by the influx from the stratosphere [10, 11]. However, O_3 varies strongly with episodic peak concentrations during the warmest months in summer in the most polluted regions and maximum concentrations during spring prevailing at background sites [12]. In regions such as East Asia exposed to summer monsoon that transports oceanic air with less O_3 , the seasonal patterns show a peak during pre- and post-monsoon periods [13]. During the day, O_3 concentration pattern depends on elevation and shows strong diurnal variations at lowland sites where its destruction dominates during the night and vertical mixing together with photochemical activity causes highest levels in the afternoon.

As sensitive crops mostly show visible injury/yield reductions above 40 ppb, a cumulative indicator of O₃ exposure above 40 ppb threshold (AOT40) was established by United Nations Economic Commission for Europe International Co-operative Programme (UN/ECE-ICP) [14]. AOT40 associated with a 5% yield reduction of wheat was suggested to be the most appropriate value for critical level for O₃. The critical level (AOT40) required for 5% reduction in yield for watermelon was 1.56 ppm h, for wheat 2.96 ppm h, for pulses 3.03 ppm h, for cotton 3.31 ppm h, for turnip 3.47 ppm h, for tomato 3.62 ppm h, for onion 4.13 ppm h, for soybean 4.31 ppm h, and for lettuce 4.63 ppm h [14]. These crops were categorized as sensitive crops as critical levels were less than 5 ppm h. For moderately sensitive crops, for example, sugar beet, potato, rapeseed, and tobacco, critical levels ranged between 5 and 10 ppm h. Rice, maize, grape, and broccoli were categorized as moderately resistant crops and critical levels ranged between 10 and 20 ppm h.

In rural areas of Europe, mean O_3 concentrations reach 40–50 ppb from spring to summer and variations in average levels of AOT40 calculated for May, June, and

72 4 Evaluation of Tropospheric O₃ Effects on Global Agriculture: A New Insight

July (from 1997 to 2001) ranged from less than 3 ppm h in northern Scandinavia to values >10 ppm h in southern Europe [15]. At individual sites, maximum values of around 30 ppm h (2003) were recorded in southern Switzerland and around 20 ppm h at sites in Italy [16]. In rural agricultural areas of the United States, mean ozone concentrations reach between 50 and 60 ppb (90th percentile) [17]. Concentrations over the mid- and high latitude of the Eurasian and North American continents were 15–25 ppb in 1860, but increased between 40 and 50 ppb even in remote areas and from 10–15 to 20–30 ppb over the mid- and high-latitude Pacific Ocean [18]. Measures taken to reduce O_3 precursor emissions led to changes in O_3 levels in many rural and urban areas of Europe, North America, and Japan; for example, the frequency of the highest values shows a declining trend, while lowest values are increasing [19]. The US EPA has reported that emission reduction in O_3 precursors has been substantial over the past 29 years [20]. The percent changes in emissions of nitrogen oxides (NO_x) and volatile organic compounds (VOCs) were 40 and 47%, respectively, for the period 1980–2008.

A major study, pooling together the monitoring data and modeling studies across the whole of Europe, showed that European emissions of O_3 precursors had decreased over the past three decades (between 20 and 40% for NO_x), with even larger reductions in Russia, and peak O_3 concentrations had also decreased but not in a linear fashion compared to emission reductions, although peak concentration of some sites had decreased between 1 and 1.5%/year [21]. In Southeast Asia, trends are different as a decrease in average concentration of O_3 was observed in the Yangtze Delta region of China, with an increase in the daily amplitude of the diurnal variation due to increasing frequencies at both high and low ends of the O_3 distribution due to higher NO_x concentrations [22].

In India, despite favorable climatic conditions for O_3 formation, very limited data from systematic monitoring of O_3 are available (Table 4.1 and Figure 4.2). It is clear from Table 4.1 that O_3 concentrations are continuously increasing from 1992 to 2008 with higher peaks in rural areas. In a field transect study at urban sites of Varanasi, O_3 concentrations varied from 6 to 10.2 ppb during 1989–1991 [23]. During the same period, daytime O_3 concentrations (9 h mean) were reported to vary from 9.4 to 128.3 ppb at an urban site in Delhi [24]. It was observed that 10 h ground level mean O_3 concentrations in Delhi varied between 34 and 126 ppb during the winter of 1993 [25]. At Pune, an annual average daytime O_3 concentration of 27 ppb and hourly concentration between 2 and 69 ppb were reported during August 1991 to July 1992 [26]. Lal *et al.* [27] studied the pattern of O_3 concentrations from 1991 to 1995 at an urban site of Ahmedabad (India), and reported that daytime mean O_3 concentrations exceeding 80 ppb were rarely observed. The monthly average O_3 concentrations ranged between 62 and 95 ppb in summer (April–June) and between 50 and 82 ppb in autumn (October–November) at New Delhi [28].

At suburban sites of Varanasi, 7 h O_3 concentrations varied from 23.4 to 62.4 ppb during 2002–2006. Seasonal variations in O_3 concentration showed maximum values in summer followed by winter and minimum in rainy season [7]. At a suburban site, mean O_3 concentrations (12 h) between 36.4 and 48 ppb from December to March during growth period of wheat [29] and at a rural site between 23.4 and

City	Ozone concentration	Site	Month/Year	Reference
Varanasi	6.0–10.2 ppb	Urban	1989–1990	[23]
Delhi	4–128.3 ppb	Urban	1989–1990	[24]
Delhi	34–126 ppb	Urban	1993	[25]
Pune	2–69 ppb	Urban	August 1991–July 1992	[26]
Ahmedabad	62–95 ppb	Urban	1995	[28]
Varanasi	23.4–44 ppb	Rainy rural	July–October 2006	[29]
Varanasi	41.65–54.2 ppb	Rural	November 2006–March 2008	[30]
Varanasi	41.3–59.9 ppb	Rural	July–October 2007	[31]
Varanasi	45.3 ppb	Rural	December 2006–March 2007	[32]
Varanasi	47.3 ppb	Rural	December 2007–March 2008	[32]
Ahmedabad	70–100 ppb	Rural site	January 2001–2002	[33]
	65 ppb	Urban site	, ,	
Mt Abu		Remote mountain site	1993–2000	[34]
	46 ppb		Winter	
	34 ppb		Summer	
	36.3 ppb		Rainy	
Anantapur		Rural site	2002–2003	[35]
1	46 ppb		Summer	
	22 ppb		Rainy	
	55 ppb		Winter	
Pune	33.1 ppb	Urban	2001-2005	[36]
	29.7 ppb	Rural	January 2001–December	
			2005	
	33.8 ppb	Remote rural	March–June 2005	
Chennai	30–69 ppb	Urban	March-October 2005	[37]
Delhi		Urban	1997–2004	[38]
	57.7 ppb		Summer	
	47.9 ppb		Winter	
	40.3 ppb		Rainy	

Table 4.1 Trends of tropospheric ozone concentration in India from 1989 to 2008.

44.4 ppb from July to October during growth period of rice [39] were reported. O₃ monitoring conducted by Sarkar and Agrawal [32] at a rural site of Varanasi during 2007–2008 and 2008–2009 recorded mean O₃ concentrations of 45.3 and 47.3 ppb, respectively. Beig and Ali [40] reported O₃ levels reaching up to 45–80 ppb in the upper and middle Gangetic plains. Roy *et al.* [41] reported AOT40 value of 3.6 ppm h in Pune, which is almost 3.6 times higher during late winter to pre-monsoon season. It was also reported that AOT40 values were substantially higher throughout the year over Indo-Gangetic plains than the other regions of India. Emberson *et al.* [5] reported that large parts of South Asia experience up to 50–90 ppb mean



Figure 4.2 India: a future O_3 hot spot. (a) Major Indian cities with reported O_3 concentrations. (b) Global projection of O_3 for the year 2100. (modified from Ref. [4], with kind permission of Elsevier, \bigcirc 2009)

7 h (M 7) O_3 concentration. Mittal *et al.* [42] using the HANK model reported O_3 concentration varying from 25 to 100 ppb over the entire Indian region.

4.2.1

Projected Trends of Ozone Concentrations

Future trends of O₃ concentrations will depend on the anthropogenic emission path of precursors and on trends in temperature, humidity, and solar radiation, but the effects of both factors will vary spatially [43]. By 2030, average O₃ in surface air over much of the northern hemisphere may increase by 2–7 ppb across the range of IPCC SRES emission scenarios described by Nakicenovic and Swart [44]. By 2100, two more extreme scenarios projected baseline O₃ increases of >20 ppb, while the other four scenarios yielded changes of –4 to +10 ppb [45]. Although anthropogenic emissions cause the largest response in O₃, a major factor influencing future trend in O₃ is climate change. More recently, multimodel simulations for 2030 projected that with current air quality legislation implemented worldwide global surface O₃ would increase by 1.5 ± 1.2 ppb on average and for IPCCSRES A2 scenario by 4.3 ± 2.2 ppb [46], with the strongest increase in South Asia, Southeast Asia, and the Middle East [47]. Using 18 atmospheric models, Ellingsen *et al.* [48], for the CLE scenario (current legislation in place), obtained an increase in AOT40 by

21–38% by 2030 over the northern hemisphere, relative to 2000, and by 50% on the Indian subcontinent, but a decrease with current regional legislation in Europe. For the A2 scenario, the largest increase in AOT40 (80–100%) was found for India and Southeast Asia. With respect to the effect of climate change by 2030, the latter study provided inconclusive results because of the short time horizon. In the United Kingdom, the annual average O_3 concentrations are predicted to reach 30–40 ppb in rural areas leading to doubling of AOT40 (accumulated exposure over a threshold of 40 ppb) values by 2030 [49]. Global photochemical models project that under current legislation emission scenarios, parts of Asia will experience further significant increases in O_3 concentrations up to 2030 [46]. Meehl *et al.* [8] projected an increase of 20–25% in O_3 concentrations between 2015 and 2050 and 40–60% by 2100 in Asia.

4.3 Mechanism of O₃ Uptake

The phytotoxic effects of O_3 depend on the ambient exposure pattern and the amount of O_3 diffusing into the leaves and then converting into the liquid phase within the cells and its reactivity with cellular constituents. Leaves are the primary route of uptake, which is controlled by the stomatal aperture and conductance to gas diffusion [50]. The absorption of O_3 is a consequence of chemical potential gradient between atmosphere and the site of deposition, either on the foliar surface or on the cells of the leaf interior [51].

Studies have shown that a major factor affecting plant response to O₃ appears to be stomatal conductance (g_s) , and at higher concentrations of O_3 , stomatal closure was reported in the majority of species [52, 53]. Efforts to understand the discrepancies between O3 concentration in the air and variable plant response have focused on molecular and biochemical mechanisms involved in O₃ detoxification processes and certain interacting environmental factors affecting stomatal conductance (gs) [54, 55]. The responses to O3 concentration for a particular crop and cultivar depend upon genetic differences and environmental conditions experienced during the growing season. Stomatal conductance is typically higher in warm and humid environments that are likely to increase the risk of O3 injury. Thus, crops in warm, humid environment are more likely under threat of O3 damage compared to cool and dry environment. This approach holds promise as a relatively simple method for including environmental factors that influence g_s into O₃ exposure indices. The absorbed cumulative dose of O3 is the most relevant in determining cause and effect relationships and quantifying dose responses. A modeling study based on multiplicative algorithm of stomatal conductance (gs) developed by Emberson et al. [56] tested for wheat showed that 5% yield loss level was associated with approximate cumulative O_3 uptake of $0.3 \text{ mmol/m}^2/\text{s}$ and $1.6 \text{ mmol/m}^2/\text{s}$ for potato suggesting that cumulative uptake of O₃ in potato was larger than that in wheat.

76 4 Evaluation of Tropospheric O_3 Effects on Global Agriculture: A New Insight

Responses of stomata vary under O_3 exposure, such as partial opening/stomatal closure. Mechanisms suggested for ozone-induced stomatal closure are (1) reduced photosynthesis and increased guard cell CO_2 concentrations, (2) direct guard cell ion channel modulation, (3) altered plant calcium homeostasis, and (4) altered induction of signal transduction intermediates such as H_2O_2 and NO [57].

4.3.1 Mode of Action

Ozone that has entered through leaf internal air spaces dissolves in the aqueous layer surrounding the foliar cells. The breakdown of O_3 in pure water produces hydroxyl (OH[•]), peroxyl (HO₂^{•-}), and superoxide (O₂^{•-}) radicals, although the reactions proceed very slowly at neutral pH [58]. Ozone is known to react with a diverse set of molecules that would be encountered within the cell wall and on the plasma membrane surface. Initial targets for O_3 include plasma membrane lipids, susceptible amino acids in plasma membrane, proteins or apoplastic enzymes, and a variety of organic metabolites localized in the cell wall [59].

Both $O_2^{\bullet-}$ and H_2O_2 accumulated at the leaf margins of the sensitive white clover following O_3 exposure (150 ppb, 3 h), while only H_2O_2 accumulates in asymptomatic red clover [60]. The cytochemical localization of H_2O_2 by staining methodology revealed that H_2O_2 accumulation was one of the earliest detectable responses to O_3 in sensitive clone of poplar [61]. Levine *et al.* [62] reported that levels of H_2O_2 required to induce cell death are usually higher than those capable of inducing gene activation. Sarkar and Agrawal [31] also observed interveinal yellowing or chlorotic stippling in the leaves of mature rice plants under both ambient and elevated O_3 exposure conditions in open-top chambers (OTCs), and found that the magnitude of visible foliar injury formation depends on the cumulative effect of both concentration and duration of O_3 exposure.

A detailed study conducted by Ranieri *et al.* [63] on H_2O_2 localization and time course of production in sunflower leaves exposed to 150 ppb O_3 for 4 h showed that H_2O_2 progressively accumulates in the cells starting from 30 min of exposure mainly in the spongy mesophyll cells than in palisade parenchyma. Pellinen *et al.* [64] showed that when ROS formation exceeds the apoplastic antioxidant capacity perception, O_3 -derived ROS induces an active additional ROS production, resulting in self-propagating secondary ROS generation that continues even after the end of O_3 exposure giving rise to a biphasic oxidative burst. Consequently, H_2O_2 accumulates in the cell wall and on the surface of the plasma membrane, and in the second time ROS production may occur in the cytoplasm, peroxisomes, and mitochondria.

4.3.2

O₃ Sensing and Signal Transduction

Ozone is known to induce deep changes in gene expression responsible for biochemical adjustments and metabolic shifts, ultimately leading to the overall plant response [59]. Kangasjarvi et al. [65] proposed three mechanisms for O₃ perception, that is, by an apoplastic receptor, protein, and production of lipidderived signal changes in the cell redox balance. It was found that following the apoplastic ROS increase over a threshold limit, a complex sequence of events takes place in the guard cells at both chloroplast and plasma membrane levels leading to endogenous ROS production and activation of MAP kinase cascade in the adjacent cells. MAPK activation in turn seems to be involved in the upregulation of the synthesis of ethylene (ET) that along with salicylic acid (SA) is needed for the development of O₃-induced lesions, whereas jasmonic acid (JA) acts antagonistically to contain the spread of cell death. The induction of ET biosynthetic gene is one of the earliest responses to O_3 [66]. It has been shown that lesion propagation and the extent of cell death are under the control of ET. A dramatic increase in ET has been observed in O₃-sensitive cultivar of tobacco (Bel W3) following O3 exposure [67]. A functional ET perception is a fundamental step in triggering the signal transduction machinery and the consequent biological response [68]. A central role for SA has been demonstrated in lesion initiation and progression in response to O3 [69]. Pasqualini et al. [70] reported high level of SA in highly O3-sensitive tobacco cultivar Bel W3. In tomato, JA biosynthetic genes were induced during the recovery period [71].

4.3.3

ROS Detoxification Mechanisms: From Apoplast to Symplast

After O_3 exposure, there is a need to tune the level of ROS produced to achieve a positive cell reaction through the signaling cascade without inducing uncontrolled cell death. As ROS are physiologically generated from various sources during cell metabolism, plants have evolved very efficient enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidant defense systems, capable of detoxifying substantial amount of these reactive oxygen species. The antioxidant defense system plays a fundamental role in determining the cell fate, not only by keeping ROS level under control, but also by acting as a central component of the cell redox balance and of the signaling modulation.

The first line of defense against O_3 -derived ROS is the apoplast, where ascorbate (ASC) is believed to provide important protection from the oxidative injury. The O_3 -induced changes in apoplast ascorbate and redox state were first reported in 1996 [72]. Ranieri *et al.* [73] reported enhanced apoplast ascorbate level, while intracellular concentration did not vary markedly, supporting the hypothesis of an O_3 -induced stimulation of ASC synthesis followed by active export to the apoplast in young asymptomatic and mature symptomatic leaves of pumpkin exposed to 150 ppb O_3 (5 h/day, 5 days). The protective role of ASC as ROS scavenger is also supported by the enhanced O_3 sensitivity shown by mutants deficient in ASC [74]. The importance of ascorbic acid is demonstrated in the VTC1 mutant of *Arabidopsis*, where low ascorbic acid (AA) content in leaf tissue was associated with increased O_3 sensitivity. There is also evidence that

78 4 Evaluation of Tropospheric O₃ Effects on Global Agriculture: A New Insight

 O_3 -tolerant genotypes have elevated AA content [75, 76]. Burkey and Eason [77] exposed three cultivars, that is, Tendrette and Provider (O_3 -tolerant) and Oregon-91 (O_3 -sensitive), and four experimental lines R123, R142, S144, and S156 of snap bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) to 75 ppb O_3 for 12 h and found higher levels of leaf apoplast ASC in O_3 -tolerant genotypes relative to sensitive lines. Higher apoplast AA/ASC_T ratio was found in O_3 -tolerant cultivars than sensitive lines suggesting greater capacity for transport of DHA (dehydroascorbate) from the apoplast into the cytoplasm.

Leaf ascorbic acid content and redox status were compared in O3-tolerant (Provider) and O₃-sensitive (S156) genotypes of snap bean exposed to 71 ppb O₃ in open-top chambers for 10 days in mature leaves early in the morning (06:00-08:00 h) or in the afternoon (13:00-15:00 h) [78]. Results showed that total ascorbate content [AA + DHA] of leaf tissue was 28% higher in tolerant genotype compared to sensitive ones, exhibiting that tolerant cultivar (Provider) maintains total ascorbate content under O3 stress and levels of apoplastic ascorbate were significantly higher in the afternoon than early morning for both genotypes. Rai and Agrawal [39] found higher ascorbic acid content in sensitive cultivar of rice NDR 97 compared to tolerant cultivar Saurabh 950 exposed to ambient O3 concentration of 35.5 ppb grown in OTCs (Table 4.2). Higher ascorbic acid content was observed in tolerant soybean cultivar PK 472 compared to sensitive cultivar Bragg at 70 and 100 ppb O₃ for 4 h from germination to maturity. Feng et al. [79] showed that leaf apoplastic ascorbate content was 33.5% higher in tolerant wheat cultivar Y2 exposed to elevated O3 concentration (83.8 ppb) that was 27% higher than the ambient O₃ concentration (66 ppb). Since ASC is synthesized inside the cells and the oxidized form must be transported back into symplast to be re-reduced, the transport rate across the plasma membrane must be taken into account when discussing the antioxidative capacity of apoplastic ASC in the detoxification of O₃. Burkey and Eason [77] showed that transport of DHA from the apoplast into the cytoplasm was higher in tolerant genotypes of snap bean than sensitive lines.

The antioxidant role played by ASC depends mainly on the cell ability to maintain it in a reduced state and it occurs at the cost of reduced glutathione (GSH) by monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDHAR) or dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR). Glutathione is generated by glutathione reductase (GR) at the expense of NADPH oxidation in the Halliwell–Asada cycle. Among the tobacco cvs Bel B and Bel W3 known for their differential sensitivity to O₃, reduction in the chloroplastic GR mRNA was recorded in Bel W3 at exposure to 150 ppb to O₃ for 5 h [84]. Ascorbate may act as reducing substrate for ascorbate peroxidase (APX), which is one of the most efficient ROS scavenging systems. In sunflower, increased level of extracellular APX activity may contribute to avoid the buildup of toxic H_2O_2 concentrations [63]. The higher constitutive APX activity measured in a resistant white clover clone with respect to a sensitive clone was further enhanced following long-term exposure to O₃ (60 ppb for 5 h/day for 56 days). Sarkar *et al.* [82] reported increase in APX and GR activities in wheat cultivars exposed to elevated O₃ (Table 4.2).

Plant	Ozone concentration		Per	cent change (incr	ease/decrease)		Reference
		MDA	APX	SOD	РОХ	АА	
Clover	150 ppb for 3 h						[09]
T. repens			(-) 22.2		(-) 22.2		-
T. pratense			(-) 27.3		(-) 33.3		
Clover	60 ppb for 7 h					I	[80]
NC-S	4	(+) 80	N.S.	(+) 75	(+) 350		
NC-R		(+) 12.5	(+) 116.6	(+) 16.4	(+) 133		
Wheat cv. M 234	42.2 ppb	(+) 41.6			(+) 38.1	(+) 11.2	[29]
Rice	38 ppb for 12 h		I				[39]
NDR 97		(+) 51.2		(+) 43.3	(+) 74.8	(+) 16.8	
Saurabh 950		(+) 69.2		(+) 43.6	(+) 36.6	(+) 6.4	
Soybean	70 and 100 ppb for 4 h						[81]
PK 472					(+) 34, (+) 47.7	(-) 18, (-) 19	
Bragg					(+) 29, $(+)$ 41	(-) 3, (-) 8.5	
Wheat	47.3 ppb						[82]
Sonalika		(+) 24.1	(+) 30.4	(+) 35.6	(+) 25	(+) 23.1	
M 510		(+) 14.1	(+) 31.5	(+) 60.2	(+) 16.7	(+) 14.1	
Mustard	43.4 ppb						[83]
Kranti		(+) 54.9	(+) 20	(+) 9.2	(+) 34.1	(+) 8	
Aashirwad		(+) 74.6	(+) 70.5	(+) 7.2	(+) 14.3	(+) 25.9	
Vardan		(+) 41	(+) 11.1	(+) 10.2	(+) 17.5	(+) 43.1	
Wheat	66 ppb						[52]
Y2						(-) 88.8	
Y16						(-) 10	
(-) Decrease; (+) Incre	ase; N.S.: not significant.						

 Table 4.2
 Impact of tropospheric O3 on lipid peroxidation and antioxidative enzyme activities.

ease; (⊤)

4.3 Mechanism of O₃ Uptake 79

4.3.4

Physiological Responses

4.3.4.1 Photosynthesis

Tropospheric O₃ and their generated ROS are known to alter membrane properties and membrane-bound organelles such as chloroplast, which may lead to destruction of photosynthetic pigments, and thus ultimately affect photosynthetic activity. Accelerated chlorophyll destruction is reported due to induced metabolic changes within the plant cells caused by oxidative force of O₃ [85]. Several studies have suggested chlorophyll content of leaves as an indicator of stress under O3 exposure [31, 86] (Table 4.3). Total chlorophyll content decreased significantly by 14, 32, 52, and 47% at elevated levels of O₃, that is, 74, 86, 100, and 124 ppb, respectively, in maize plants [86]. In a study with 20 cultivars of wheat, Biswas et al. [87] found 24-35% reduction in total chlorophyll content in recent cultivars and 3-12% reduction in older cultivars of wheat exposed to 82 ppb O3 for 7 h/day over 21 days in OTCs, suggesting that recent cultivars are more sensitive than older ones. Similar finding was also reported by Pleijel et al. [88] with two wheat cultivars, one modern cultivar "Dragon" and another 100-year-old "Lantvete," when exposed to 57 ppb O3 (nonfiltered chamber receiving elevated O₃) compared to 9 ppb O₃ (filtered chamber). It was found that O₃ induced decline in flag leaf chlorophyll content, which proceeded at a faster rate in "Dragon" compared to Lantvete. Reduction in chlorophyll content is known to reflect the activation of leaf senescence. The degradation of chloroplastic absorbing pigments might be an adaptive response to limit the production of ROS mainly driven in chloroplasts by excess absorption in photosynthetic apparatus [89].

Carotenoids are vital photoprotective agents, which prevent photooxidative chlorophyll destruction [81]. Carotenoid content also reduced due to oxidative destruction under O₃ stress, leading to a decreased capacity to protect photosystems against photooxidation [81]. Hence, the loss of chlorophyll and carotenoids can produce a decrease in the light absorbing capacity to develop thermal dissipation energy under O₃ exposure [81].

Several studies have indicated that an early or primary response to O₃ in leaves is an interference with photosynthesis, carbohydrate metabolism, partitioning of photosynthetic products between mobile and stored pools in the leaf, and/or the translocation of photosynthate within the plants. Reductions in photosynthesis have been widely reported under ambient field conditions at higher concentrations of air pollutants [52, 82, 95]. Metadata analyses of wheat, soybean, and rice varieties showed varying degrees of negative response of photosynthesis under O₃ exposure [96]. Tropospheric ozone also reduces assimilation by decreasing leaf longevity and increasing senescence in wheat plants grown in NFCs compared to FCs [82]. Loss of assimilation capacity was attributed to reduced carboxylation efficiency, which can be directly related to loss of Rubisco activity. Ozone affects the synthesis as well as leads to the degradation of Rubisco due to its oxidation [97]. Nondenatured Rubisco has a large number of free sulfhydryl (–SH) residues and these groups are responsible for maintaining the correct structural conformation of Rubisco. Ozone-induced oxidation of SH groups in Rubisco could alter the

Plant	Ozone concentration	Percent change (increase/decrease)		Reference
		F _v /F _m	Total chlorophyll	
Lettuce	39 and 83 ppb for 12 h			[90]
Valladolid		(-) 2.5, (-) 6.4	(-) 20.8, (-) 60	
Morella		(-) 2.6, (-) 3.4	(+) 30.8, (-) 8.3	
Soybean	58–60 ppb for 7 h			[76]
Essex		_	(+) 2.5	
Forrest		_	(+) 7.4	
Mustard	47.9 ppb	(-) 9.4	(-) 11.3	[30]
Soybean	70 and 100 ppb for 4 h		()	[81]
PK 472		(-) 16, (-) 16.9	(-) 26.6, (-) 34	
Bragg		(-) 2.5, (-) 5.9	(-) 19.2, (-) 37	
Clover				[91]
NC-R		(-) 12.1	(-) 23.6	
NC-S		(-) 5.1	(-) 32	
Tomato	150 ppb for 3 h	()	()	[92]
Cuor di Bue	11	(-) 2	_	
93.1033/31		(-) 8.9	_	
Clover	60 ppb for 7 h			[80]
NC-S	11		(-) 10	
NC-R			(-) 36.1	
Rice	42.7 ppb for 7 h			[93]
SY63	11	_	(-) 46.3	
WYJ3		_	(-) 25.7	
Cotton	100 ppb for 7 h			[94]
Romanos	11	_	(-) 71	
Allegria		_	(-) 75	
Wheat				[79]
Y19		(-) 6	_	
Y2		(-) 2	_	
Wheat	42.2 ppb for 7 h	(-) 4.9	(-) 39.2	[29]
Rice	38.8 ppb for 12 h			[39]
NDR 97	11	(-) 16.7	(-) 22.9	
Saurabh 950		(-) 19.5	(-) 27.2	
Wheat	47.3 ppb			[32]
Sonalika		(-) 5	(-) 12.5	
M510		(-) 11.1	(-) 23.1	
Wheat cv.	45.1 ppb	(-) 14	(-) 37	[85]
M533		. *		

Table 4.3 Impact of tropospheric O_3 on photosynthetic pigments and chlorophyll fluorescencekinetics.

(-) Decrease; (+) Increase.

82 4 Evaluation of Tropospheric O₃ Effects on Global Agriculture: A New Insight

structural conformation of this enzyme, resulting in reduced catalytic activity and increased vulnerability [97].

Ozone caused reduction in the level of RNA transcript for the small subunit (rbcS) of Rubisco and also decreased the expression of photosynthetic genes for Rubisco and Rubisco activase [98]. Ozone led to reductions in mRNA levels of both small (rbcS) and large (rbcL) subunits of Rubisco in wheat [89]. In a proteomic analysis conducted under *in vivo* conditions on rice seedlings exposed to O_3 (40, 80, and 120 ppb for 6 h/day for 9 days), reductions in expression of Rubisco large subunit (LSU) and small subunit (SSU) were reported [98]. Agrawal *et al.* [97] found that O_3 imposes a negative effect on energy metabolism by altering gene expression of enzymes involved in energy metabolism, that is, fructose bisphosphate aldolase, chloroplast P, and ATP synthase beta subunit. This leads to reduction in ATP production through photophosphorylation and thus affects the Calvin cycle in photosynthesis. Similar findings of reductions in expression of large subunit and small subunit of Rubisco were observed in rice cultivars Shivani and Malviya dhan 36 grown in NFCs at a rural site of Varanasi at 20 ppb above ambient O_3 level (51 ppb) under natural field conditions [31].

An analysis of the documented work from 2000 to 2010 on changes in rate of photosynthesis and stomatal conductance due to O_3 is given in Table 4.4. Sarkar *et al.* [82] reported more reductions in photosynthesis in sensitive cultivar of wheat than tolerant cultivar, which also showed higher reduction in g_s suggesting more stomatal closure to avoid O_3 uptake. Response of rice cultivars showed a contrasting trend as sensitive cultivar NDR 97 showed higher photosynthesis rate and more reductions in g_s compared to Saurabh 950, a tolerant cultivar [39].

Biswas et al. [87] and Pleijel et al. [88] found that modern or cultivated species demonstrated higher O_3 flux as shown by increased g_s resulting in higher relative reduction in photosynthesis than wild/old species of wheat. Two cultivars of clover exposed to 150 ppb for 3 h showed 37% reduction in photosynthesis and 38% reduction in gs in Trifolium repens, a sensitive cultivar, while tolerant cultivar T. pratense did not show any change in photosynthesis and gs suggesting that tolerant cultivar performed better due to better ability of photosynthetically active mesophyll cells to cope up with photooxidative stress [104]. Similar findings were also recorded in two tomato genotypes 93.1033/1 and Cuor di Bue exposed to O3 (150 ppb for 3.5 h) [101]. Among bush bean cultivars exposed to 160 ppb O₃ for 3 h, higher reduction in photosynthesis was recorded in sensitive cultivar (36%), while no change was recorded in tolerant cultivar [102]. Ozone at 60 and 100 ppb concentrations reduced photosynthesis rate by 27.6-39.9% in Sufi and Bijoy wheat cultivars of Bangladesh suggesting no variation in sensitivity [95]. Feng et al. [52] exposed wheat cultivars Yangmai 16 (Y16) and Yangfumai 2 (Y2) after flag leaf development to 27% higher ambient O3 (52.1 ppb for 7 h) and found significant reductions in photosynthesis rate and stomatal conductance in Y2.

The reduction in photosynthesis may also occur due to structural damage of thylakoids, which affects the photosynthetic transport of electron, indicated as reduction in F_v/F_m ratio. Reduction of F_v/F_m ratio indicates an alteration of photosystem II (PS II) photochemistry associated with a sign of photoinhibition, making plants more sensitive to light. Lowering of F_v/F_m ratio is observed in lettuce cvs Valladolid
Plant	O ₃ concentration	Percent change (increase/decrease)		Reference
		Ps	$g_{ m s}$	-
Tomato	150 ppb for 3 h			[92]
Cuor di Bue		(-) 17.6	(-) 7.6	
93.1033/31		(-) 31.2	(-) 33.3	
Barley cvs Haider	71 ppb for 6 h	(-) 13-21	(-) 6-12	[99]
93, Haider 91, Jou				
87, Jou 85				
Soybean cv. S156	60 ppb	(-) 38	(-) 52.6	[100]
Tomato	150 ppb for 3.5 h			[101]
93.1033/1		(+) 19.8	(-) 26.5	
Cuor di Bue		(-) 26.9	(-) 43.7	
Wheat, 20 cultivars	82 ppb for 7 h	(-) 24	(—) 8	[87]
Rice	35 ppb for 12 h			[39]
Saurabh 950		(-) 28.3	(-) 36.6	
NDR 97		(-) 18.3	(-) 52.2	
Soybean	58–60 ppb for 7 h			[76]
Essex		(-) 2.8	(+) No change	
Forrest		(-) 3	(–) 14.5	
Bush bean	165 ppb for 3 h			[102]
Camellino		(-) 36	(-) 26	
Top crop		N.S.	N.S.	
Soybean	70 and 100 ppb for			[81]
	4 h			
PK 472		(-) 19.8, (-) 40.4	(-) 21, (-) 26	
Bragg		(-) 25.6, (-) 31.6	(-) 61, (-) 66	
Wheat	145 ppb for 4 h			[103]
Yannog 19		(-) 30	(–) 27.1	
Nongda 311		(—) 24	(-) 16.6	
Cotton	100 ppb for 7 h			[94]
Romanos		(-) 20	(—) 69	
Allegria		(-) 33	(-) 60	
Rice	42.7 ppb for 7 h			[93]
SY 63		(-) 27.1	(-) 33	
WYJ3		(-) 14.8	N.S.	
Mustard	47.9 ppb	(-) 20	(–) 27.2	[30]
Wheat	47.3 ppb for 12 h			[82]
M 510		(-) 31	(-) 9.5	
Sonalika		(–) 15.5	(–) 12	
Wheat	60 and 100 ppb for 7 h			[95]
Sufi		(-) 27.7, (-) 37.4	(+) 31.8, (+) 1	
Bijoy		(-) 5.2, (-) 39.9	(+) 2.4, (-) 10	
Wheat	56.4 ppb for 7 h	,	,	[52]
Y2		(-) 66.6	(-) 50	
Y16		(-) 50	(-) 16	
		- *		

Table 4.4 Changes in rate of photosynthesis (Ps) and stomatal conductance (g_s) of selected plants at different concentrations of O₃ (studies from 2000 to 2011).

(-) Decrease; (+) Increase; N.S.: not significant.

84 4 Evaluation of Tropospheric O₃ Effects on Global Agriculture: A New Insight

(2.5%) and Morella (2.6%) at mean O₃ concentration of 60 ppb [90]. F_v/F_m ratio reduced by 12% in white clover sensitive clone (NC-S) at 200 ppb O₃ for 5 h/ day [91], by 9.3% in snap bean cv. S156 at 60 ppb O₃ [100], and by 5.4% in wheat cv. M 234 at mean O₃ concentration of 42.4 ppb [29] (Table 4.2). Ishii *et al.* [105] also found lowering of F_v/F_m ratio in rice cvs MR 84 and MR 185, at low, medium, and high O₃ doses of 27, 55, and 87 ppb, respectively.

The reduction in $F_{\rm m}$ under ambient O₃ levels is ascribed to decline in the ability to reduce the primary acceptor QA and associated increase in nonphotochemical quenching. Reductions recorded in variable fluorescence (F_v) are more strongly correlated with lowering of $F_{\rm m}$, suggesting impairment of an electron transport, which involves a recombination reaction between P680 and reduced phaeophytin (Phaeo⁻) within PS II or directly affecting a PS II antenna system [105]. Degl'Innocenti et al. [104] exposed T. repens and T. pratense to 150 ppb O3 for 3 h and maximum reductions in $F_{\rm m}$ and $F_{\rm o}$ were recorded in sensitive cultivar T. pratense (28 and 13.2%). But after fumigation, recovery in F_v/F_m ratio was observed in T. repens, a resistant clone, and no recovery in T. pratense. Under O3 exposure, there are several reports for increase in $F_{\rm o}$ and a parallel decrease in $F_{\rm m}$ in wheat [29] and rice [39] suggesting impairment of PS II activity due to the inability of the reduced plastoquinone acceptor Q_A to oxidize completely because of retardation of the electron flow through PS II or due to the separation of light harvesting chl a/b protein complexes. This effect may be due to the inhibition of Calvin cycle activity as indicated by the reduction in CO2 assimilation rates, signifying that O3 increased excitation pressure on PS II reaction centers and thus decreased the possibility of e⁻ transport from PS II to PS I [106].

4.3.5

Cultivar Sensitivity in Relation to Growth and Yield

Tropospheric O_3 was found to adversely affect the growth and yield of a variety of agricultural plants. Tropospheric O_3 reduced the marketable yield of a range of crop species even in the absence of visible injury, primarily through its effects in reducing photosynthesis rates and accelerating leaf senescence [107]. Ozone exposure reduces root biomass as reported in many agricultural crops such as rice [3], wheat [32], and mustard [30]. Root biomass shows a greater sensitivity to elevated O_3 than shoot biomass, leading to reduced root–shoot ratio. The possible cause is reduced photosynthesis in the leaves of lower canopy, the major source of assimilate to roots, as these older leaves are more susceptible to accelerated senescence under elevated O_3 [108], leading to reduced C availability to roots. Wilkinson and Davies [57] proposed that reductions in root biomass could also be ethylene based as ethylene has been known to reduce root growth and its elongation, and under O_3 exposure ethylene O_3 exposure due to reduction in carbon assimilation and/or assimilate diversion in producing proteins involved in detoxification of ROS.

Cultivar sensitivity was evaluated on the basis of experiments conducted in opentop chambers [16] and FACE experiments [109]. In Pakistan, 29–47% yield reductions were reported for six varieties of wheat [110, 111], 28–42% for two varieties of rice [112], and 37–46% for two varieties of soybean [113] due to different pollutants in the ambient air. Exposure to O_3 at 80 ppb concentration for 1.5 h daily for 30 days showed yield reductions of 29.5% in *Vicia faba*, 20.6% in *Oryza sativa*, 13% in *Panicum miliaceum*, and 9.7% in *Cicer arietinum* [114]. Various studies conducted worldwide on crop yield response to O_3 are presented in the table. Differential responses were recorded among different crops and their cultivars. Maximum reductions were found in soybean (40–60%) followed by wheat (20–40%), rice (10–20%), and minimum in barley [96]. Same trend of sensitivity, reporting legumes to be most sensitive and barley to be most resistant under O_3 exposure, has been reported [5, 14, 95].

In open-top chamber studies, wheat and soybean cultivars were studied extensively. Ozone exposure of 70 and 100 ppb for 4 h/day for 70 days led to reductions in yield by 13.9 and 10 and 33.5 and 25% in soybean cvs PK 472 and Bragg [115]. The yield reductions in wheat cvs HP 1209 and M 234 at O3 concentrations of 70 and 100 ppb for 4 h daily for 70 days were 8 and 4.7 and 17 and 15.5%, respectively [114]. Rai et al. [29] found 20.7% reduction in yield of wheat cv. M 234 grown in chambers ventilated with ambient air (40.6 ppb) as compared to filtered chamber. Analyzing the cultivar sensitivity response, Sarkar and Agrawal [32] found reductions of 7, 16.7, and 22% in wheat cv. Sonalika and 8.4, 18.5, and 25% in cultivar HUW 510 grown in NFCs (45.3 ppb), NFCLOs (50.4 ppb), and NFCHOs (55.6 ppb) compared to FCs. Rai and Agrawal [39] reported yield reductions of 10 and 14% in rice cultivars Saurabh 950 and NDR 97 at ambient O3 concentration of 35.5 ppb grown in open-top chambers (Table 4.4). Among soybean cultivars, highest reduction in yield was recorded in Forrest under O3 exposure as compared to Essex [76]. In SoyFACE experiment, 10 soybean cultivars were exposed to ambient (46.3 and 37.9 ppb) and elevated (82.5 and 61.3 ppb) O₃ concentrations in 2007– 2008 [116]. Yield reductions varied from 11.3 to 36.8% in 2007 and from 7.5 to 16% in 2008 at ambient and elevated O₃ levels and the yield response relationships also indicated that Loda and Pana were tolerant and IA 3010 was sensitive [116]. Zhu et al. [109] exposed four winter wheat cultivars (Yannog 19, Yangmai 16, Yangmain 15, and Yangfumai 2) under elevated O3 using a FACE system with 7 h mean O₃ levels of 56.9 ppb for 7 h in 2006–2007, 57.6 ppb in 2007–2008, and 57.3 ppb in 2008-2009. The grain yield reductions recorded in most sensitive cultivar Y19 were 18.7, 34.7, and 10.1% in three consecutive years of O₃ exposure from 2006 to 2009.

Morgan *et al.* [117] showed that a 23% increase in O₃ from an average daytime ambient level of 56–69 ppb will lead to 20% more reduction in soybean yield. Feng and Kobayashi [96] calculated that at projected O₃ concentration (51–75 ppb), the yield losses would be 10% more for soybean, wheat, and rice and 20% more for bean than at present ambient level of O₃ (41–40 ppb), thus predicting that future rise in O₃ is a significant threat to food production in the world.

The different studies conducted worldwide using study approaches such as OTCs and FACE showed economic losses varying from US\$ 24 to 1573 in major crops as shown in Table 4.5. Rai *et al.* [118] reported economic loss of US\$ 25-623 ha⁻¹ for major agricultural crops wheat, rice, mustard, urd, soybean, pea,

86 4 Evaluation of Tropospheric O₃ Effects on Global Agriculture: A New Insight

Study site	Crops and cultivars	O ₃	Economic loss (US\$/ha)	Reference
Pakistan	Wheat	71 ppb		[120]
	Inqilab 91		297	
	Punjab 96		603	
	Pasban 90		576	
Pakistan	Barley	72 ppb		[99]
	Haider 93		124	
	Haider 91		267	
	Jou 87		224	
	Jou 83		205	
Urbana-	Soybean	AOT 4017 ppm h	47	[121]
Champaign, USA				
Urbana-	Soybean			[122]
Champaign, USA	,			
enanipuign, e er	2002	AO ₃ (62 ppb), EO ₃ (75 ppb)	1573–1337	
	2003	AO_3 (50 ppb), EO_3 (63 ppb)	966–724	
India	Wheat M 234	42 ppb	487	[29]
China	Rice	11		[123]
		32 ppb	111	
		62 ppb	191	
		85 ppb	330	
China	Rice	56 ppb		[124]
	WJ 15		55	
	YD6		33	
	SY 63		287	
	LYPI		424	
India	Soybean			[81]
IIIuu	PK 472	70 ppb	145-303	
	Bragg	100 ppb	121-269	
India	Rice	35 ppb		[39]
	NDR 97		87	[]
	Saurabh 950		40	
India	Mustard cv.	48 ppb	153	[83]
India		471		[07]
	w neat	47 ppb	110	[8/]
	Sonalika		110	
т	M 510		28/	(50)
Japan	wheat	AO ₃ (44 ppb), EO ₃ (57.3 ppb)		[52]
	Y2		457	
	Y15		91	
	Y19		46	
	Y16		526	
Japan	Wheat			[95]
	Sufi	60 ppb	221-853	
	Bijoy	100 ppb	915–1257	

 Table 4.5
 Estimates of economic loss for different crops due to tropospheric O₃.

Minimum support price (2010) as on 10/6/2010: wheat US\$ 0.23 per kg, mustard US\$ 0.38 per kg, rice US\$ 0.22 per kg, barley US\$ 0.16 per kg, and soybean US\$ 0.49 per kg. EO_3 : elevated O_3 ; AO_3 : ambient O_3 .

and mung bean grown at ambient O₃ using different study approaches like in Indo-Gangetic plains of India. Van Dingenen *et al.* [4] using a global chemistry transport model calculated economic losses of approximately US\$ 14–26 billion due to O₃ at world market prices for the year 2000. Emberson *et al.* [5] conducted modelingbased studies to assess the extent and magnitude of O₃ risk to agriculture and suggested that yield losses of 5–20% for important crops may be common in areas experiencing elevated O₃ concentrations. It was also concluded that Asian wheat and rice cultivars are more sensitive to O₃ than the North American cultivars. The economic loss for 23 horticultural and agricultural crops due to O₃ was estimated to be 3% (€ 6.7 billion) for the base year 2000 in Europe [119]. But with the scenario of implementation of current legislation, the overall loss of all crop species is estimated to be 2% (€ 4.5 billion) for 2020 [119]. The scenario is, however, entirely different for Asia due to tremendous increase in anthropogenic activities and rapid expansion of economy, leading to an increased emission of O₃ precursors.

4.4 Looking Through the "-Omics" at Post-Genomics Era

4.4.1 Evolution of Multi-Parallel "-Omics" Approaches in Modern Biology

We are running through the golden era of *genomics* (study of whole "genome" is called "genomics"), for both plants and animals, and are also in position to use multiple parallel approaches for the functional analysis of genomes in a high-throughput manner. These parallel approaches surely result in an exceptionally swift and effective system for the analyses and deductions of gene(s) function in a wide range of plants, at the level of transcript (*transcriptomics*), protein (*proteomics*), and metabolite (*metabolomics*) (Figure 4.3). Altogether these four approaches are commonly referred to as the multi-parallel "-omics" approaches in modern biology.

The integration of multiple "-omics" techniques such as *proteomics* and *transcriptomics* with *metabolomics* would also help further elucidate the biochemical and common metabolic mechanisms used by plants not only under normal growth and development, but also in response to environmental stresses. Herein, bio-informatics and systems biology will play a crucial role in our quest for understanding the plant and its molecular components in response to the various environmental stresses, especially O₃.

4.4.2

"-Omics" Response in Ozone-Affected Crop Plants: An In Vivo Assessment

Over the years, many integrated and individual studies on O_3 stress responses have been reported in several plant species, and such studies have used typical research approaches. Although the demonstration of complicated mechanisms of O_3 response in plants has been attempted, much work still remains to be



Figure 4.3 Evolution of multi-parallel "-omics" approaches in modern biology.

done in this area. In recent years, analyses have been performed to obtain information on O_3 -triggered responses in plants; to this end, many high-throughput "-omics" approaches were performed in *Arabidopsis*, bean, maize, pepper [125– 128], rice [6, 97], and wheat [82]. However, as this chapter mainly deals with the agricultural crops, in the following section we will discuss about the "-omics" responses of some important crops under O_3 stress.

4.4.2.1 Case Studies in Major Crop Plants

4.4.2.1.1 **Rice (Oryza satival.)** Among all the major crops, rice (*O. sativa* L.) has been studied most for its response to O_3 stress [6, 97, 98, 129]. Agrawal *et al.* [97] first reported a detailed combined transcriptomics and proteomics response of rice plants under elevated O_3 exposure. Two-week-old rice (cv. Nipponbare) seed-lings were exposed to 200 ppb O_3 for 3 days in a controlled fumigation chamber. A drastic visible necrotic damage in O_3 -exposed leaves and consequent increase in ascorbate peroxidase protein(s) accompanied by rapid changes in the immunoblotting analysis and 2-DE protein profiles was observed. They also reported nearly 52 differentially expressed proteins, among which O_3 caused drastic reductions in the major leaf photosynthetic proteins, including the abundantly present ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase (Rubisco), and induction of various defense/stress-related proteins. Most prominent change in the rice leaves,

within 24 h post-treatment with O₃, was the induced accumulation of a pathogenesis-related (PR) class 5 protein (PR5), three PR10 class proteins, ascorbate peroxidase(s), superoxide dismutase, calcium binding protein, calreticulin, a novel ATP-dependent CLP protease, and an unknown protein. Feng et al. [98] also followed similar experimental model with 2-week-old rice seedlings exposed to 0, 40, 80, and 120 ppb O₃ for 9 days. A drastic damage in the photosynthetic proteins, mainly large and small subunits of Rubisco, and primary metabolismrelated proteins, but an induced expression of some major antioxidants such as glutathione S transferase and Mn superoxide dismutase and defense/stressrelated proteins such as PRPR5 and two PR10 proteins OsPR10/PBZ1 and RSOsPR10 was reported. Feng et al. [98] also confirmed that the damage in rice proteome is strictly O₃ dose dependent. In another independent study, Cho et al. [6] also checked the expression profiles of genes in leaves of 2-week-old rice seedlings exposed to 200 ppb O₃ for 1, 12, and 24 h using a 22K rice DNA microarray chip. A total of 1535 genes were differentially expressed more than fivefold over the control. Their functional categories suggested that genes involved in transcription, pentose phosphate pathway, and signal transduction at 1h and genes related to antioxidant enzymes, ribosomal protein, post-translational modification (PTM), signal transduction, jasmonate, ethylene, and secondary metabolism at 12 and 24 h play a crucial role in O₃ response [6]. Recently, Frei et al. [129] have tried to identify the possible mechanism of O₃ response in rice seedlings by characterizing two important quantitative trait loci (QTL), in two different chromosome segment substitution lines (SL15 and SL41), and demonstrated that the activity of some major antioxidant genes might contribute significantly in the response strategy of rice plant under higher O₃ stress.

In contrast with the above laboratory-based experimental models, Sarkar and Agrawal [31] had applied "field-based integrated -omics" approach to understand the background of O_3 response in two high-yielding cultivars (Malviya dhan 36 and Shivani) of mature rice plants under natural conditions (Figure 4.4) and found dependable phenotypical response, in the form of foliar injury, followed by definite changes in leaf proteome. Major damage in the photosynthetic proteins such as large and small subunits of Rubisco and primary metabolism-related proteins, but an induced expression of some antioxidants and defense/stress-related proteins in rice leaf proteome was reported. As illustrated in Figure 4.4, this "field-based integrated -omics" approach mainly differs from the previous laboratory-based approach in terms of the exposure setup and age of the plants. Sarkar and Agrawal [31] had used opentop chambers for exposing the rice plants against O_3 .

4.4.2.1.2 Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) Wheat (*T. aestivum* L.) is the third most important crop around the globe, and nearly two-thirds of the world population depends on this crop for their primary nutrition supplement. Sarkar *et al.* [82] recently employed "field-based integrated -omics" approach (Figure 4.4) to understand the background of O_3 response in two wheat cultivars (cvs Sonalika and HUW 510) against elevated O_3 concentrations (ambient + 10 and 20 ppb) under

90 4 Evaluation of Tropospheric O₃ Effects on Global Agriculture: A New Insight



Obtained results might be helpful to understand the *in vivo* response of plant's proteome and genome under O₃ stress

Probably guide better



Figure 4.4 Detailed diagram of field-based "-omics" approaches for assessing O_3 effects in modern-day agricultural crops.



Figure 4.5 Response of wheat proteome under elevated O₃ stress.

near-natural conditions using OTCs. Results of their study showed drastic reductions in the abundantly present Rubisco large and small subunits. Western blot analysis confirmed induced accumulation of antioxidative enzymes such as superoxide dismutase and ascorbate peroxidase protein(s) and common defense/stressrelated thaumatin-like protein(s). 2-DGE analysis revealed a total of 38 differentially expressed protein spots, common in both the wheat cultivars (Figure 4.5). Among those, some major leaf photosynthetic proteins (including Rubisco and Rubisco activase) and important energy metabolism proteins (including ATP synthase, aldolase, and phosphoglycerate kinase) were drastically reduced, whereas some stress/defense-related proteins (such as harpin binding protein and germin-like protein) were induced.

4.4.2.1.3 **Maize (***Zea mays L.***)** Maize (*Z. mays L.*) is another important crop at global context. Being a C_4 crop, its response to climate change has been always bit different from the others. Torres *et al.* [127] have done detailed investigation of O_3 response in maize (cv. Guarare 8128) plants through gel-based "-omics" approaches. In that experiment, 16-day-old maize plants (grown in controlled environment at greenhouse) were exposed to 200 ppb O_3 for 72 h, and then the response was compared with a controlled plant (grown under filtered pollutant-free air). Results showed that nearly 12 protein spots were differentially expressed under O_3 exposure, and can be exploited as marker proteins. Expression levels of

92 4 Evaluation of Tropospheric O₃ Effects on Global Agriculture: A New Insight

catalase (increased), SOD (decreased), and APX (increased) were drastically changed by O_3 depending on the leaf stage, whereas cross-reacting heat shock proteins (HSPs; 24 and 30 kDa) and naringenin-7-*O*-methyltransferase (NOMT; 41 kDa) proteins were strongly increased in O_3 -stressed younger leaves. The study also enumerated leaf injury as biomarker under O_3 stress in maize leaves.

4.4.2.1.4 **Bean** (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) Torres *et al.* [127] also conducted a study on response of cultivated bean (*P. vulgaris* L. cv. IDIAP R-3) against O_3 stress using the same experimental protocol, and the effects were evaluated through integrated "-omics" approach using gel-based proteomics followed by MS and immunoblotting. Results showed that in bean leaves two SOD proteins (19 and 20 kDa) were dramatically decreased, while APX (25 kDa), small HSP (33 kDa), and NOMT (41 kDa) were increased after O_3 fumigation.

4.4.2.1.5 **Pepper (***Capsicum annuum* L.) cDNA microarray technique was applied to monitor the transcriptome of ozone stress-regulated genes (ORGs) in two pepper cultivars (*Capsicum annuum* cv. Dabotop (O₃-sensitive) and cv. Buchon (O₃-tolerant)) and results showed that O₃ stress up- or downregulated 180 genes more than threefold with respect to their controls [127]. Transcripts of 84 ORGs increased, transcripts of 88 others diminished, and those of 8 either accumulated or diminished at different time points in the two cultivars or changed in only one of the cultivars. Sixty-seven percent (120) of the ORGs were regulated differently in O₃-sensitive and O₃-tolerant pepper cultivars, most being specifically upregulated in the O₃-sensitive cultivar.

4.4.2.1.6 **Linseed** (*Linum usitatissimum* L.) The response of linseed plants under elevated O_3 stress through combined genomics and proteomics approaches was analyzed by Tripathi *et al.* [130]. The results showed that 10 ppb elevation over ambient O_3 concentration can cause 50% damage in the genome stability of linseed plants. In line with the genome response, leaf proteome also got severely affected under O_3 stress, and the damages were mainly found on the photosynthetic and primary metabolism-related proteins.

4.5

Different Approaches to Assess Impacts of Ozone on Agricultural Crops

Application of chemical oxidants for protection of vegetation from O_3 has been extensively studied over the past four decades. A large number of chemicals mainly synthetic antioxidants, fungicides, insecticides, herbicides, nematocides, growth regulators, antitranspirants [131], and fertilizers [30] are used for the protection of plants. Some antioxidants were found to protect sensitive crops from O_3 -induced injury with varied effectiveness, while others were ineffective or produced unacceptable side effects. The most efficient and the most studied synthetic protectant is ethylene diurea (EDU; N-[2-{2-oxo-1-imididazodinyl}ethyl]-N-phenylurea), which has also been used extensively to detect plant injury caused by ambient O₃ under bioindicator programs [132]. EDU was also potentially used as a research tool for O3 injury survey work and plant response assessment in remote areas, particularly in developing regions where electricity and funding are limited [133]. EDU protects plants from premature senescence and pigment degradation and helps in maintenance of higher nutrient levels to allow successful growth and reproduction [134]. Studies using EDU as a chemical protectant to O₃ have shown that at seasonal mean O3 concentration of 60 ppb for 6 h daily during the growth period, vield reductions of up to 40% in mung bean and 37% in pea were recorded in rural areas of Varanasi [135]. Singh and Agrawal [136, 137] used EDU for screening cultivar sensitivity of wheat and soybean. Among five wheat cultivars (M 234, M 468, M 510, PBW 343, and Sonalika), maximum yield reductions were recorded in M 510 (20.5%) and minimum in PBW 343 (2%) at 400 ppm EDU at 43 ppb mean 8 h O₃ concentration. Soybean cultivars Pusa 9814 and Pusa 9712 showed yield reductions of 28.2 and 29.8% at 52 ppb and 29 and 33% at 72 ppb, respectively. Variability in response of EDU was recorded at different exposures of O3: EDU showed maximum protection at higher O3 levels. EDU treatment showed improvement in total biomass and its accumulation in leaves during vegetative period and translocation of more photosynthates toward reproductive parts, which resulted in yield enhancement in black gram (Vigna mungo L.) cultivars Barkha (36.4%) and Shekhar (35.6%) while no changes in TU-94-2 [138]. Singh et al. [139] evaluated the response of EDU against negative impact of O3 on two cultivars of clover T. repens L., Vardan and Bundel, at two EDU concentrations of 150 and 300 ppm and found Vardan relatively sensitive to O₃ and 300 ppm as the most effective dose of EDU to alleviate O₃ stress. A metadata analysis conducted by Feng et al. [140] to estimate the effects of EDU treatment on plants as a proportionate change relative to non-EDU-treated plants using 50 publications revealed that EDU application significantly reduced foliar injury against ambient O₃ by 76%. The largest increase due to EDU was found in wheat (19.5%) and soybean (19.4%). EDU significantly decreased visible injury by 77, 73, and 82% for crops, grasses, and trees, respectively.

The influence of NPK fertilizer on the sensitivity to O_3 has been studied in many crops [30, 83]. Higher N supply may contribute to delay in leaf senescence under O_3 stress by maintaining higher protein levels. Nitrogen is one of the most important nutrients for crop production as it affects dry matter production by influencing leaf area development and maintains the photosynthetic efficiency under O_3 stress. Singh *et al.* [83] reported that application of 1.5 times higher NPK (1.5 RNPK) caused lower magnitude of oxidative stress in mustard cultivars (Kranti, Aashirwad, and Vardan) than recommended NPK level grown under ambient O_3 (43.4 ppb) and hence showed lower activities of antioxidative enzymes such as peroxidase, superoxide dismutase, and ascorbate peroxidase compared to recommended dose of NPK (RNPK). The level of NPK showed a significant positive correlation with total chlorophyll and carotenoids in all cultivars of mustard suggesting higher production or less destruction of photosynthetic pigments at 1.5 RNPK under O_3 stress. Higher levels of carotenoids at 1.5 RNPK may have provided protection to chlorophyll molecules against ROS generated by O_3 . Even more K availability may have

94 4 Evaluation of Tropospheric O₃ Effects on Global Agriculture: A New Insight

enhanced the uptake of nutrients such as SO_4^{2-} , Fe^{2+} , and Mg^{2+} that are associated with the synthesis of chlorophyll.

The other antioxidants/plant metabolites displaying potential to mitigate O_3 induced injuries are (i) ascorbic acid, (ii) phytohormones, (iii) flavonoids, and (iv) polyamines. The protective effects of exogenous ascorbic acid against O_3 are ascribed to its antioxidant potential that inhibits stimulation of ethylene production by O_3 [141], and also ameliorates CO_2 [142].

Zheng *et al.* [142] reported that foliar spray of ascorbic acid $(10 \times 10^{-3} \text{ ppm})$ before O₃ exposure (40 ppb for 7 h) in *Plantago major* had caused no change in stomatal conductance but photosynthesis rate increased by 31% over those not sprayed with ascorbic acid. Exogenous ascorbic acid and its salt were shown to reduce acute O₃-induced foliar necrosis, biomass reduction, membrane damage, and alteration of mitochondrial respiration in sensitive plants, but no change in resistant plants [143]. Phytohormones have been widely used in modern agriculture as growth regulators and antisenescence agents. Apart from their effects on plant development, some phytohormones, that is, cytokinins, gibberellins, salicylic acid, and abscisic acid, were shown to enhance tolerance of crops to O₃ stress [143]. Some phytohormones such as cytokinins, gibberellins, and abscisic acid were showed to be antioxidants [144].

4.6

Tropospheric O_3 and Its Interaction with Other Components of Global Climate Change and Abiotic Stresses

UV-B, CO_2 , and O_3 are major components of the global climate and slight changes in their levels have been shown to adversely affect the growth and productivity of crop plants.

4.6.1

Elevated CO₂ and O₃ Interaction

Exposure to O_3 -CO₂ interaction in most of the studies has shown that CO₂ enrichment protects plants from O_3 stress. Meta-analysis conducted by Ainsworth [145] on rice using Web of Science database and the Agricola database for all the peerreviewed literature on rice photosynthesis, biomass, and yield responses at elevated CO₂/O₃ from 1980 to 2007 showed that rise in CO₂ concentration in future may ameliorate the detrimental effects of elevated O₃. Booker *et al.* [146] showed in soybean that inhibitory effects of O₃ (72 ppb) on photosynthesis rate were generally attenuated by elevated CO₂ and O₃ as well. Booker and Fiscus [147] reported 24% increased biomass production of soybean under elevated CO₂ and CO₂ + O₃ treatment and reductions by 28% were recorded in elevated O₃ treatment in soybean as compared to elevated CO₂/O₃ treatments. Feng and Kobayashi [96] conducted a

meta-analysis of Web of Science reviewed literature between 1980 and 2007 on wheat, rice, soybean, and barley and showed that elevated CO_2 ameliorated the detrimental effects of elevated O_3 in wheat and soybean. Soybean cv. Pioneer 93B15 grown at elevated CO_2 (650 ppm), elevated O_3 (90 ppb), and elevated $O_3 + CO_2$ showed a 60% increase in total antioxidant capacity but dampened and delayed transcriptional response [148]. Heagle *et al.* [149] found that elevated CO_2 was much less protective against O_3 stress in highly O_3 -sensitive snap bean cultivar S156 under severe O_3 suppression of 24% pod yield.

4.6.2

O₃ and Drought Interaction

 O_3 episodes and incidences of drought often occur together during the reproductive stage of crops [150]. It is widely accepted that drought may reduce O₃ injury in crop plants through drought-induced suppression of stomatal conductance under elevated O₃. Wilkinson and Davis [151] were the first to show that ethylene-dependent reductions in stomatal sensitivity to abscisic acid under O3 stress lead to higher stomatal conductance under soil moisture deficit and elevated O₃; hence, plants continue to lose water and O₃ flux increases [57]. Elevated O₃ concentration also upregulates ethylene emissions. In response to direct application of ABA (abscisic acid), O₃ repressed stomatal closure even in response to soil drying treatments (drought) where plants synthesize ABA endogenously. The O₃ response is also characterized by an induction of ROS, including H₂O₂ in the form of an oxidative burst [71]; hence, O₃ and ROS such as H₂O₂ induce upregulation of NO production associated with guard cells. Higher concentrations of NO inhibit ABAinduced K⁺ efflux at the guard cells and prevent stomatal closure. This result conflicts with predictions that drought may offer some protection against O₃ damage by inducing stomatal closure and restricting O₃ uptake [152]. Biswas and Jiang [153] exposed primitive Triticum turgidum L. (O3-tolerant) and modern wheat (T. aestivum L. cv. Xiaoyan 22, O₃-sensitive) to O₃ (83 ppb for 7 h/day) and drought (42% soil water capacity) from flowering to grain maturity to assess drought-induced modulation of O₃ tolerance. It was reported that the primitive wheat, more tolerant to O₃, showed greater O₃-induced reduction in photosynthesis (37%) due to higher loss of Rubisco and carboxylation efficiency in drought-stressed plants than in modern species that showed only 29% reduction in photosynthesis rate. Yield and yield attributes did not vary significantly in O₃-drought interaction suggesting primitive wheat lost its tolerance against O₃ in combination with drought, and modern species though sensitive against O₃ showed increased level of tolerance to O₃.

4.6.3 O₃ and UV-B Interaction

There has been an average of 7% increase in biologically active UV-B radiation in northern mid-latitudes due to depletion of the stratospheric O_3 layer, induced by anthropogenic emissions in the past two decades [154]. Field experiments

96 4 Evaluation of Tropospheric O₃ Effects on Global Agriculture: A New Insight

conducted to assess the growth, physiological, and biochemical responses of wheat plants exposed to supplemental UV-B (7.1 kJ/m^2) and O_3 (70 ppb) showed that enhanced UV-B and O_3 reduced ascorbic acid content and catalase activity [154]. Photosynthesis rate declined significantly in O_3 by 13% and 22.1% in UV + O_3 treated plants and even higher reductions were observed in stomatal conductance. Similarly, chlorophyll content, biomass accumulation, and yield were lower in all the treatments, but more pronounced in combined treatments, suggesting that interactive effects were less than additive.

Impact of ambient O₃ (60 ppb) and supplemental UV-B (ambient + 7.2 kJ/m²/day) on linseed showed that in combined treatment, symptoms were of low intensity compared to the individual treatments [130]. The treatment of plants with sUV-B and O₃ led to enhanced lipid peroxidation and reduction in plant biomass. Antioxidative enzymes increased significantly in O₃ followed by sUV-B + O₃ and minimum in sUV-B treatment. Hence, the interactive study between sUV-B and O₃ was more synergistic.

4.7

Conclusions

The projected levels of O_3 are critically alarming, and have become a major issue of concern for food security. Scientific evidence clearly indicates that crop plants are sensitive to O_3 in different ways. Plant resistance to O_3 involves a wide array of responses ranging from the molecular and cellular level to the whole plant level. Significant effects of O_3 are early leaf senescence, decreased photosynthetic assimilation, altered stomatal behavior, decreased growth and productivity, reduced carbon allocation to roots, and changes in metabolic pathways. Genotype differences in response to O_3 are related to stomatal behavior, antioxidative potential hormonal regulation, and carbon allocation during reproduction affecting the yield responses. Detailed understanding of genotypic response is crucial in predicting the long-term impacts of O_3 on agriculture in global context, including the breeding of resistant cultivars. Several potential O_3 biomarkers have been identified, which may be exploited to screen and develop O_3 -tolerant varieties in future.

The studies on interactions of different factors of climate change and abiotic stresses with O_3 are also needed to predict crop responses under futuristic scenario of multifactorial stresses such as drought, heat, CO_2 , and UV-B. Estimating the interactive effects of rising O_3 concentration along with drought, CO_2 , heat, and so on is especially important for agriculture in view of their common occurrence in tropical countries such as India. Studies are also needed on interactive effects of macro- and micronutrients and O_3 on crop plants in view of changing nutrient availability in agricultural soil. The experiments using "-omics" approach on O_3 response were mostly performed under controlled conditions and hence more studies are required on molecular characterization of biomarkers under natural field conditions.

References

- Krupa, S.V. and Manning, W.J. (1998) Atmospheric ozone: formation and effects on vegetation. *Environ. Pollut.*, 50, 101–137.
- 2 Teixeira, E., Fischer, G., van Velthuizen, H., van Dingenen, R., Dentener, F., Mills, G., Walter, G., and Ewert, F. (2011) Limited potential of crop management for mitigating surface ozone impacts on global food supply. *Atmos. Environ.* doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2011.02
- 3 Rai, R., Agrawal, M., and Agrawal, S.B. (2010) Threat to food security under current levels of ground level ozone: a case study for Indian cultivars of rice. *Atmos. Environ.*, 44, 4272–4282.
- 4 Van Dingenen, R., Dentener, F.J., Raes, F., Krol, M.C., Emberson, L., and Cofala, J. (2009) The global impact of ozone on agricultural crop yields under current and future air quality legislation. *Atmos. Environ.*, 43, 604–618.
- 5 Emberson, L.D., Buker, P., Ashmore, M. R., Mills, G., Jackson, L.S., Agrawal, M., Atikuzzaman, M.D., Cinderby, S., Engardt, M., Jamir, C., Kobayshi, K., Oanh, O.T.R., Quadir, Q.F., and Wahid, A. (2009) A comparison of North America and Asian exposure–response data for ozone effects on crop yields. *Atmos. Environ.*, **43**, 1945–1953.
- 6 Cho, K., Shibato, J., Agrawal, G.K., Jung, Y.H., Kubo, A., Jwa, N.S., Tamogami, S., Satoh, K., Kikuchi, S., Higashi, T., Kimura, S., Saji, H., Tanaka, Y., Iwahashi, H., Masuo, Y., and Rakwal, R. (2008) Integrated transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics analyses to survey ozone responses in the leaves of rice seedlings. *J. Proteome Res.*, 7, 2980–2998.
- 7 Tiwari, S. Rai, R., and Agrawal, M. (2008) Annual and seasonal variations in tropospheric ozone concentrations around Varanasi. *Int. J. Remote Sens.*, 29, 4499–4514.
- 8 Meehl, G.A., Stocker, T.F., Collins, W.D., Friedlingstein, P., Gaye, A.T., Gregory, J. M., Kitoh, A., Knutti, R., Murphy, J.M., Noda, A., Raper, S.C.B., Watterson, I.G., Weaver, A.J., and Zhao, Z.C. (2007)

Global climate projections, in *Climate Change 2007: The Physical Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to Fourth Assessment Report of IPCC on Climate Change* (eds S. Solomon, D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor, and H.L. Miller), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- 9 Coyle, M. Flower, D., and Ashmore, M.R. (2003) New directions: implications of increasing tropospheric background ozone concentrations for vegetation. *Atmos. Environ.*, 37, 153–154.
- 10 Lefohn, A.S., Oltmans, S.J., Dann, T., and Singh, H.B. (2001). Present-day variability of background ozone in the lower troposphere. *J. Geophys. Res.*, 106, 9945–9958.
- Grewe, V. (2007) Impact of climate variability on tropospheric ozone. *Sci. Total Environ.*, 74, 167–181.
- 12 Vingarzan, R. (2004) A review of surface ozone background levels and trends. *Atmos. Environ.*, 38, 3431–3442.
- 13 He, Y.J., Uno, I., Wang, Z.F., Pochanart, P., Li, J., and Akimoto, H. (2008) Significant impact of the East Asia monsoon on ozone seasonal behavior in the boundary layer of Eastern China and the west Pacific region. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.*, 8, 14927–14955.
- 14 Mills, G., Buse, A., Gimeno, B., Bermejo, V., Holland, M., Emberson, L., and Pleijel, H. (2007) A synthesis of AOT40based response functions and critical levels of ozone for agricultural and horticultural crops. *Atmos. Environ.*, 41, 2630–2643.
- 15 Lövblad, G., Tarrasón, L., Tørseth, K., and Dutchak, S. (eds) (2004) EMEP Assessment. Part I. European Perspective, EMEP. Available at http://www.emep.int (last accessed October 2008).
- 16 ICP Vegetation (2008) International Cooperative Programme on Effects of Air Pollution on Natural Vegetation and Crops. Annual Report 2007. Available at http://icpvegetation.ceh.ac.uk/ (last accessed October 2008).
- 17 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) (2006) Air Quality Criteria for

Ozone and Related Photochemical Oxidants (Final), EPA/600/R-05/004aFcF, US EPA, Washington, DC.

- 18 Lelieveld, J. and Dentener, F.J. (2000) What controls tropospheric ozone. J. Geophys. Res., 105 (D3), 3531–3551.
- 19 Jenkin, M.E. (2008) Trends in ozone concentration distributions in the UK since 1990: local, regional and global influences. *Atmos. Environ.*, 42, 5434–5445.
- 20 US EPA (2009) *1980–2008* Average Annual Emissions, All Criteria Pollutants in MS Excel. National Emissions Inventory (NEI) Air Pollutant Emissions Trend Data, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards.
- 21 Derwent, R.G., Simmonds, P.G., O'Doherty, S., Stevenson, D.S., Collins, W.J., Sanderson, M.G., Johnson, C.E., Dentener, F., Cofala, J., Mechler, R., and Amann, M. (2005) External influences on Europe's air quality: methane, carbon monoxide and ozone from 1990 to 2030 at Mace Head, Ireland. *Atmos. Environ.*, 40, 844–855.
- 22 Xu, X., Lin, W., Wang, T., Yan, P., Tang, J., Meng, Z., and Wang, Y. (2008) Long term trend of surface ozone at a regional background station in eastern China 1991–2006: enhanced variability. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.*, 8, 215–243.
- 23 Pandey, J. and Agrawal, M. (1992) Ozone: concentration variabilities in a seasonally dry tropical climate. *Environ. Int.*, 18, 515–520.
- 24 Varshney, C.K. and Aggarwal, M. (1992) Ozone pollution in the urban atmosphere of Delhi. *Atmos. Environ.*, 26, 291–294.
- 25 Singh, A., Sarin, S.M., Shanmugan, D., Sharma, N., Attri, A.K., and Jain, W.K. (1997) Ozone distribution in the urban environment of Delhi during winter months. *Atmos. Environ.*, **31**, 3421–3427.
- 26 Khemani, L.T., Momin, G.A., Rao, P.S.P., Vijaykumar, R., and Safai, P.D. (1995) Study of surface ozone behaviour at urban and forested sites in India. *Atmos. Environ.*, 29, 2021–2024.
- 27 Lal, S., Naja, M., and Subbaraya, B.H. (2000) Seasonal variations in surface ozone and its precursors over an urban

site in India. Atmos. Environ., **34**, 2713–2724.

- 28 Jain, S.L., Arya, B.C., Kumar, A., Ghude, S.D., and Kulkarni, P.S. (2005) Observational study of surface ozone at New Delhi, India. *Int. J. Remote Sens.*, 26, 3515–3524.
- 29 Rai, R., Agrawal, M., and Agrawal, S.B. (2007) Assessment of yield losses in tropical wheat using open top chambers. *Atmos. Environ.*, 41, 9543–9554.
- 30 Singh, P., Agrawal, M., and Agrawal, S.B. (2009) Evaluation of physiological, growth and yield responses of a tropical oil crop (*Brassica campestris* L. var. Kranti) under ambient ozone pollution at varying NPK levels. *Environ. Pollut.*, 157, 871–880.
- 31 Sarkar, A. and Agrawal, S.B. (2010) Identification of ozone stress in Indian rice through foliar injury and differential protein profile. *Environ. Monit. Assess.*, 161, 283–302.
- 32 Sarkar, A. and Agrawal, S.B. (2010) Elevated ozone and two modern cultivars: an assessment of dose dependent sensitivity with respect to growth, reproductive and yield parameters. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 69, 328–337.
- 33 Chand, D. and Lal, S. (2004) High ozone at rural sites in India. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.*, 4, 3359.
- 34 Naja, M., Lal, S., and Chand, D. (2003) Diurnal and seasonal variabilities in surface ozone at a high altitude site Mt Abu (24.6°N, 72.7°E, 1680m asl) in India. *Atmos. Environ.*, 37, 4205–4215.
- 35 Reddy, R.R., Rama, G.K., Reddy, S.S., Narasimhulu, K., Raghavendra, K.K., Nazeer, A.Y., and Reddy, C.V.K. (2008) Measurements of surface ozone at semi arid site Anantapur (14.62°N, 77.65°E 331 asl) in India. *J. Atmos. Chem.*, 59, 47–59.
- 36 Debaje, S.B. and Kakade, A.D. (2009) Surface ozone variability over western Maharashtra, India. J. Hazard. Mater., 161, 686–700.
- 37 Pulikesi, M., Baskaralingam, P., Rayudu, V.N., Chango, D., Ramamurthi, V., and Sivanesan, S. (2006) Surface ozone measurements at urban coastal site

Chennai in India. J. Hazard. Mater., **B137**, 1554–1559.

- 38 Ghude, S.D., Jain, S.L., Arya, B.C., Beig, G., Ahammad, Y.N., Kumar, A., and Tyagi, B. (2008) Ozone in ambient air at a tropical megacity, Delhi: characteristics, trends and cumulative ozone exposure indices. J. Atmos. Chem., 60, 237–252.
- 39 Rai, R. and Agrawal, M. (2008) Evaluation of physiological and biochemical responses of two rice (*Oryza* sativa L.) cultivars to ambient air pollution using open top chambers at a rural site in India. Sci. Total Environ., 407, 679–691.
- 40 Beig, G. and Ali, K. (2006) Behaviour of boundary layer ozone and its precursors over a great alluvial plain of the world: Indo-Gangetic plains. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 33, L 24813.
- 41 Roy, S.D., Beig, G., and Ghude, S.D. (2009) Exposure–plant response of ambient ozone over the tropical Indian region. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.*, 4, 3359– 3380.
- 42 Mittal, M.L., Hess, P.G., Jain, S.L., Arya, B.C., and Sharma, C. (2007) Surface ozone in the Indian region. *Atmos. Environ.*, 41, 6572–6584.
- 43 Zeng, G., Pyle, J.A., and Young, P.J. (2008) Impact of climate change on tropospheric ozone and its global budgets. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.*, 8, 369–387.
- 44 Nakicenovic, N. and Swart, R. (eds) (2000) Special Report on Emission Scenarios. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- 45 Prather, M., Gauss, M., Berntsen, T., Isaksen, I., Sundet, J., Bey, I., Brasseur, G., Dentener, F., Derwent, R., Stevenson, D., Grenfell, L., Hauglustaine, D., Horowitz, L., Jacob, D., Mickley, L., Lawrence, M., von Kuhlmann, R., Muller, J.F., Pitari, G., Rogers, H., Johnson, M., Pyle, J., Law, K., vanWeele, M., and Wild, O. (2003) Fresh air in the 21st century? *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **30**, 1100.
- 46 Dentener, F., Stevenson, D., Cofala, J., Mechler, R., Amann, M., Bergamaschi, P., Raes, F., and Derwent, R. (2005) The impact of air pollutant and methane

emission controls on tropospheric ozone and radiative forcing: CTM calculations for the period 1990–2030. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.*, **5**, 1731–1755.

- 47 Gauss, M., Ellingsen, K., Isaksen, I.S.A., Dentener, F.J., Stevenson, D.S., Amann, M., and Cofala, J. (2007) Changes in nitrogen dioxide and ozone over Southeast and East Asia between year 2000 and 2030 with fixed meteorology source. *Terres. Atmos. Ocean Sci.*, 18, 475–492.
- 48 Ellingsen, K., Gauss, M., Van Dingenen, R., Dentener, F.J.E.L., Fiore, A.M., Schultz, M.G., Stevenson, D.S., Ashmore, M.R., Atherton, C.S., Bergmann, D.J., Bey, I., Butler, T., Drevet, J., Eskes, H., Hauglustaine, D.A., Isaksen, I.S.A., Horowitz, L.W., Krol, M., Lamarque, J.F.l., Lawrence, M.G., Van Noije, T., Pyle, J., Rast, S., Rodriguez, J., Savage, N., Strahan, S., Sudo, K., Szopa, S., and Wild, O. (2008) Global ozone and air quality: a multi-model assessment of risks to human health and crops. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.*, 8, 2163–2223.
- **49** Giorgi, F. and Meleux, F. (2007) Modelling the regional effects of climate change on air quality. *C. R. Geosci.*, **339**, 721–733.
- 50 Long, S.P. and Naidu, S.L. (2002) Effects of oxidants at the biochemical, cell and physiological levels, with particular reference to ozone, in *Air Pollution and Plant Life* (eds J.N.B. Bell and M. Treshow), John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Chichester.
- 51 Taylor, G.E. Jr., Tingey, D.T., and Ratsch, H.C. (1982) Ozone flux in *Glycine max*. L Merr.: sites of regulation and relationship to leaf injury. *Oecologia*, 53, 179–186.
- 52 Feng, Z., Pang, J., Kobayashi, K., Zhu, J., and Orts, D.R. (2011) Differential responses in two varieties of winter wheat to elevated O₃ concentration under fully open-air field conditions. *Global Change Biol.*, 17, 580–591.
- 53 Darrall, N.M. (1989) The effect of air pollutants on physiological processes in plants. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 12, 1–30.
- 54 Massman, W.J. (2004) Toward an ozone standard to protect vegetation based on effective dose: a review of deposition

resistances and a possible metric. *Atmos. Environ.*, **38**, 2323–2337.

- 55 Pleijel, H., Eriksen, A.B., Danielsson, H., Bondesson, N., and Sellden, G. (2006) Differential ozone sensitivity in an old and a modern Swedish wheat cultivar grain yield and quality, leaf chlorophyll and stomatal conductance. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 56, 63–71.
- 56 Emberson, L., Ashmore, M.R., Simpson, D., Tuovinen, J.-P., and Cambridge, H.M. (2000) Modelling stomatal ozone flux across Europe. *Environ. Pollut.*, 109, 403–413.
- 57 Wilkinson, S. and Davies, W.J. (2010) Drought, ozone, ABA and ethylene: new insights from cell to plant to community. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 33, 510–525.
- 58 Fiscus, E.L., Booker, F.L., and Burkey, K. O. (2005) Crop loss responses to ozone: uptake, mode of action, carbon assimilation and partitioning. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 28, 997–1011.
- 59 Heath, R.L. (2008) Modification of the biochemical pathways of plants induced by ozone: what are the varied routes to changes? *Environ. Pollut.*, 155, 453–463.
- 60 Scebba, F., Soldatini, G., and Ranieri, A. (2003) Ozone differentially affects physiological and biochemical responses of two clover species: *Trifolium repens* and *Trifolium pratense*. *Environ. Pollut.*, 123, 209–216.
- 61 Diara, C., Castagna, A., Baldan, B., Mensuali, S.A., Sahr, T., Langerbartels, C., and Sebastiani, L. (2005) Differences in the kinetics and scale of signalling molecule production modulate the ozone sensitivity of hybrid poplar clones: the roles of H₂O₂, ethylene and salicylic acid. *New Phytol.*, 168, 351–364.
- 62 Levine, A., Pennell, R.I., Alvarez, M.E. et al. (1996) Calcium-mediated apoptosis in a plant hypersensitive disease resistance response. *Curr. Biol.*, 6, 427–437.
- 63 Ranieri, A., Castagna, A., Pacini, J., Baldan, B., Mensuali Sodi, A., and Soldatini, G.F. (2003) Early production and scavenging of hydrogen peroxide in the apoplast of sunflower plants exposed to ozone. J. Exp. Bot., 54, 2529–2540.

- 64 Pellinen, R., Palva, T., and Kangasjasrvi, J. (1999) Subcellular localization of ozone-induced hydrogen peroxide production in birch (*Betula pendula L.*) leaf cells. *Plant J.*, 20, 349–356.
- Kangasjarvi, J., Jaspers, P., and Kollist, H. (2005) Signalling and cell death in ozone-exposed plants. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 28, 1021–1036.
- **66** Tuomainen, J., Betz, C., Kangasjasrvi, J., Ernst, D., Yin, Z.H., Langebartels, C., and Sandermann, H. Jr. (1997) Ozone induction of ethylene emission in tomato plants: regulation by differential transcript accumulation for the biosynthetic enzymes. *Plant J.*, **12**, 1151–1162.
- 67 Ederli, L., Morettini, R., Borgogni, A., Wasternack, C., Miersch, O., Reale, L., Ferranti, F., Tosti, N., and Pasqualini, S. (2006) Interaction between nitric oxide and ethylene in the induction of alternative oxidase in ozone-treated tobacco plants. *Plant Physiol.*, 142, 595–608.
- Kangasjasrvi, J., Jaspers, P., and Kollist, H. (2005) Signalling and cell death in ozone exposed plants. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 28, 1021–1036.
- 69 Rao, M.V., Lee, H.I., and Davis, K.R. (2002) Ozone-induced ethylene production is dependent on salicylic acid, and both salicylic acid and ethylene act in concert to regulate ozone-induced cell death. *Plant J.*, 32, 447–456.
- 70 Pasqualini, S., Antonielli, M., Ederli, L., Piccioni, C., Reale, L., and Antonielli, M. (2002) Ozone uptake and its effect on photosynthetic parameters of two tobacco cultivars with contrasting ozone sensitivity. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 40, 599–603.
- 71 Overmyer, K., Kollist, H., Tuominen, H. et al. (2008) Complex phenotypic profiles leading to ozone sensitivity in *Arabidopsis* thaliana mutants. *Plant Cell Environ.*, **31**, 1237–1249.
- 72 Ranieri, A., Petacco, F., Castagna, A., and Soldatini, G.F. (2000) Redox state and peroxidase system in sunflower plants exposed to ozone. *Plant Sci.*, 159, 159–167.
- 73 Ranieri, A., D'Urso, G., Nali, C., Lorenzini, G., and Soldatini, G.F. (1996)

Ozone stimulates apoplastic antioxidant systems in pumpkin leaves. *Physiol. Plant.*, **97**, 381–387.

- 74 Conklin, P.L., Williams, E.H., and Last, R.L. (1996) Environmental stress sensitivity of an ascorbic acid-deficient *Arabidopsis* mutant. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, 93, 9970–9974.
- 75 Burkey, K.O., Wei, C., Eason, G., Ghosh, P., and Fenner, G.P. (2000) Antioxidant metabolic levels in ozone-sensitive and tolerant genotypes of snap bean. *Physiol. Plant.*, **10**, 195–200.
- 76 Robinson, J.M. and Britz, S.J. (2000) Tolerance of a field grown soybean cultivar to elevated ozone level is concurrent with higher leaflet ascorbic level, higher ascorbate–dehydroascorbate redox status, and long term photosynthetic productivity. *Photosynth. Res.*, 64, 77–87.
- 77 Burkey, K.O. and Eason, G. (2002) Ozone tolerance in snap bean is associated with elevated ascorbic acid in the leaf apoplast. *Physiol. Plant.*, **114**, 387–394.
- 78 Burkey, K.O., Eason, G., and Fiscus, E.L. (2003) Factors that affect leaf extracellular ascorbic acid and redox status. *Physiol. Plant.*, 117, 51–57.
- 79 Feng, Z., Pang, J., Nouchi, I., Kobayashi, K., Yamakawa, T., and Zhu, J. (2010) Apoplastic ascorbate contributes to the differential ozone sensitivity in two varieties of winter wheat under fully open-air field conditions. *Environ. Pollut.*, 158, 3539–3545.
- 80 Nali, C., Pucciariello, C., Mills, G., and Lorenzini, G. (2005) On the different sensitivity of white clover clones to ozone: physiological and biochemical parameters in a multivariate approach. *Water Air Soil Pollut.*, 165, 137–153.
- 81 Singh, E., Tiwari, S., and Agrawal, M. (2009) Effects of elevated ozone on photosynthesis and stomatal conductance of two soybean varieties: a case study to assess impacts of one component of predicted global climate change. *Plant Biol.*, 11101–108.
- 82 Sarkar, A., Rakwal, R., Agrawal, S.B., Shibato, J., Ogawa, Y., Yoshida, Y., Agrawal, G.K., and Agrawal, M. (2010) Investigating the impact of elevated

levels of O_3 on tropical wheat using integrated phenotypical, physiological, biochemical and proteomics approaches. *J. Proteome Res.*, **9**, 4565–4584.

- 83 Singh, P., Agrawal, M., and Agrawal, S.B. (2011) Differences in ozone sensitivity at different NPK levels of three tropical varieties of mustard (*Brassica campestris* L.): photosynthetic pigments, metabolites and antioxidants. *Water Air Soil Pollut.*, 214, 435–450.
- 84 Pasqualini, S., Batini, P., Ederli, L., Porceddu, C., Piccioni, C., De Marchis, F., and Antonielli, M. (2001) Effects of short-term fumigation on tobacco plants: response of the scavenging system and expression of the glutathione reductase. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 24, 245–252.
- 85 Rai, R., Agrawal, M., and Agrawal, S.B. (2011) Effects of ambient O₃ on wheat during reproductive development: gas exchange, photosynthetic pigments, chlorophyll fluorescence and carbohydrates. *Photosynthetica*, 49, 285–294.
- 86 Leitao, L., Delacôte, E., Dizengremel, P., Thiec, D.L., and Biolley, J.-P. (2007) Assessment of the impact of increasing concentrations of ozone on photosynthetic components of maize (*Zea mays* L.), a C₄ plant. *Environ. Pollut.*, 146, 5–8.
- 87 Biswas, D.K., Xu, H., Li, Y.G., Sun, J.Z., Wang, X.Z., Han, X.G., and Jiang, G.M. (2008) Genotypic differences in leaf biochemical, physiological and growth responses to ozone in 20 winter wheat cultivars released over the past 60 years. *Global Change Biol.*, 14, 46–59.
- 88 Pleijel, H., Eriksen, A.B., Danielsson, H., Bondesson, N., and Sellden, G. (2006) Differential ozone sensitivity in an old and a modern Swedish wheat cultivar grain yield and quality, leaf chlorophyll and stomatal conductance. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 56, 63–71.
- 89 Herbinger, K., Tausz, M., Womsch, A., Soja, A., Sorger, A., and Grill, D. (2002) Complex interactive effects of drought and ozone stress on the antioxidant defence systems of two wheat cultivars. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 40, 691–696.

- 90 Calatayud, A. and Barreno, E. (2004) Response to ozone in two lettuce varieties on chlorophyll a fluorescence, photosynthetic pigments and lipid peroxidation. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 42, 549–555.
- 91 Francini, A., Nali, C., Picchi, V., and Lorenzini., G. (2007) Metabolic changes in white clover clones exposed to ozone. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 60, 11–19.
- **92** Guidi, L., Degl'Innocenti, E., Genovesi, S., and Soldatini, G.F. (2005) Photosynthetic process and activities of enzymes involved in the phenylpropanoid pathway in resistant and sensitive genotypes of *Lycopersicon esculentum* L. exposed to ozone. *Plant Sci.*, **168**, 153–160.
- 93 Pang, J., Kobayashi, K., and Zhu, J. (2009) Yield and photosynthetic characteristics of flag leaves in Chinese rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) varieties subjected to free-air release of ozone. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* doi. 10.1016/j.agee.2009.03.012
- 94 Zouzoulas, D., Koulroubas, S.D., Vassilion, G., and Vardavakis, E. (2009) Effects of ozone fumigation on cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.) morphology, anatomy, physiology, yield and qualitative characteristics of fibres. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 67, 293–303.
- 95 Akhtar, N., Yamaguchi, M., Inada, H., Hoshino, D., Kondo, T., and Izuta, T. (2010) Effects of ozone on growth, yield and leaf gas exchange rates of two Bangladeshi cultivars of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). *Environ. Pollut.*, 158, 2970– 2976.
- 96 Feng, Z. and Kobayashi, K. (2009) Assessing the impacts of current and future concentrations of surface ozone on crop yield with meta-analysis. *Atmos. Environ.*, 43, 1510–1519.
- 97 Agrawal, G.K., Rakwal, R., Yonekura, M., Akihiro, K., and Saji, H. (2002) Proteome analysis of differentially displayed proteins as a tool for investigating ozone stress in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) seedlings. *Proteomics*, 2, 947–959.
- 98 Feng, Y.W., Komatsu, S., Furukawa, T., Koshiba, T., Koshiba, T., and Kohno, Y. (2008) Proteome analysis of proteins responsive to ambient and elevated

ozone in rice seedlings. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.*, **125**, 255–265.

- 99 Wahid, A. (2006) Productivity losses in barley attributable to ambient atmospheric pollutants in Pakistan. *Atmos. Environ.*, 40, 5342–5354.
- Flowers, M.D., Fiscus, E.L., Burkey, K.O., Booker, F.L., and Dubois, J.-J.B. Photosynthesis, chlorophyll fluorescence, and yield of snap bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) genotypes differing in sensitivity to ozone. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 61190–198.
- 101 Degl'Innocenti, E., Guidi, L., and Soldatini, G.F. (2007) Effects of elevated ozone on chlorophyll fluorescence in symptomatic and asymptomatic leaves of two genotypes. *Biol. Plant.*, 51, 313–321.
- 102 Guidi, L., Degl'Innocenti, E., Martinelli, F., and Piras, M. (2009) Ozone effects on carbon metabolism in sensitive and insensitive *Phaseolus* cultivars. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 66, 117–125.
- 103 Xu, H., Chen, S.B., Biswas, D.K. et al. (2009) Photosynthetic and yield responses of an old and modern winter wheat cultivars to short term ozone exposure. Photosynthetica, 47, 247–259.
- 104 Degl'Innocenti, E., Vaccà, C., Guidi, L., and Soldatini, G.F. (2003) CO₂ photoassimilation and chlorophyll fluorescence in two clover species showing different response to O₃. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, **41**, 485–493.
- 105 Ishii, S., Marshall, F.M., and Bell, J.N.B. (2005) Physiological and morphological responses of locally grown Malaysian rice cultivars (*Oryza sativa* L.) to different ozone concentrations. *Water Air Soil Pollut.*, 155, 205–221.
- 106 Guidi, L., Degl'Innocenti, E., and Soldatini, G.F. (2002) Assimilation of CO₂, enzyme activation and photosynthetic electron transport in bean leaves as affected by high light and ozone. *New Phytol.*, 156, 377–388.
- 107 Ashmore, M.R. (2005) Assessing the future global impacts of ozone on vegetation. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 28, 949– 964.
- 108 Grantz, D.A., Gunn, S., and Vu, H.B. (2006) O₃ impacts on plant development:

a meta-analysis of root/shoot allocation and growth. *Plant Cell Environ.*, **29**, 1193–1209.

- 109 Zhu, X., Feng, Z., Sun, T., Liu, X., Tang, H., Zhu, J., Guo, W., and Kobayashi, K. (2011) Effects of elevated ozone concentration on yield of four Chinese cultivars of winter wheat under fully open-air field conditions. *Global Change Biol.* doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2468.2011.02400.x
- 110 Maggs, R., Wahid, A., Shamsi, S.R.A., and Ashmore, M.R. (1995) Effects of ambient air pollution on wheat and rice yield in Pakistan. *Water Air Soil Pollut.*, 85, 1311–1316.
- 111 Wahid, A., Maggs, R., Shamsi, S.R.A., Bell, J.N.B., and Ashmore, M.R. (1995) Air pollution and its impact on wheat yield in the Pakistan Punjab. *Environ. Pollut.*, 88, 147–154.
- 112 Wahid, A., Maggs, R., Shamsi, S.R.A., Bell, J.N.B., and Ashmore, M.R. (1995) Effects of air pollution on rice yield in the Pakistan Punjab. *Environ. Pollut.*, **90**, 323–329.
- 113 Wahid, A. (2006) Productivity losses in barley attributable to ambient atmospheric pollutants in Pakistan. *Atmos. Environ.*, 40, 5342–5354.
- 114 Agrawal, M. (2005) Effects of air pollution on agriculture: an issue of national concern. *Natl. Acad. Sci. Lett.*, 28, 93–106.
- 115 Singh, E., Tiwari, S., and Agrawal, M. (2010) Variability in antioxidant and metabolite levels, growth and yield of two soybean varieties: an assessment of anticipated yield losses under projected elevation of ozone. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.*, 135, 168–177.
- 116 Betzelberger, A.M., Gillespie, K.M., McGrath, J.M., Koester, R.P., Nelson, R. L., and Ainsworth, E.A. (2010) Effects of chronic elevated ozone concentration on antioxidant capacity, photosynthesis and seed yield of 10 cultivars. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 33, 1569–1581.
- 117 Morgan, P.B., Ainsworth, E.A., and Long, S.P. (2003) How does elevated ozone impact soybean? A meta-analysis of photosynthesis, growth and yield. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 26, 1317–1328.

- 118 Rai, R., Rajput, M., Agrawal, M., and Agrawal, S.B. (2011) Gaseous air pollutants: a review on current and future trends of emissions and impact of agriculture. *J. Sci. Res.*, 55, 72–110.
- 119 Holland, M., Kinghorn, S., Emberson, L., Cinderby, S., Ashmore, M., Mills, G., and Harmens, H. (2006) Development of a Framework for Probabilistic Assessment of the Economic Losses Caused by Ozone Damage to Crops in Europe. CEH Project No. C02309NEW. Report to U.K. Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs under contract 1/2/170 1/3/205.
- 120 Wahid, A. (2006) Influence of atmospheric pollutants on agriculture in developing countries: a case study with three new varieties in Pakistan. *Sci. Total Environ.*, 371, 304–313.
- 121 Christ, M.M., Ainsworth, E.A., Nelson, R., Schurr, U., and Walter, A. (2006) Anticipated yield loss in field grown soybean under elevated ozone can be avoided at the expense of leaf growth during early reproductive growth stages in favourable environmental condition. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 57, 2267–2275.
- 122 Morgan, P.B., Mies, T.A., Bollero, G.A., Nelson, R.L., and Long, S.P. (2006) Season long elevation to ozone concentration to projected 2050 levels under fully open air conditions substantially decreases the growth and production of soybean. *New Phytol.*, 170, 333–343.
- 123 Van, D.T.H., Ishii, S., and Oanh, N.T.K. (2008) Assessment of ozone effects on local rice cultivars by portable ozone fumigation system in Hanoi, Vietnam. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* doi: 10.1007/10661-008-0456-6
- 124 Shi, G., Yang, L., Wang, Y., Kobayashi, K., Zhu, J., Tang, H., Pan, S., Chen, T., Liu, G., and Wang, Y. (2009) Impact of elevated ozone concentration on yield of four Chinese rice cultivars under fully open field conditions. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.*, 131, 178–184.
- 125 Mahalingam, R., Jambunathan, N., Gunjan, S.K. *et al.* (2006) Analysis of oxidative signaling induced by ozone in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 29, 1357–1371.

- Tamaoki, M., Nakajima, N., Kanna, N., Kubo, A., Aono, M., and Saji, H. (2003) Transcriptome analysis of O₃-exposed *Arabidopsis* reveals that multiple signal pathways act mutually antagonistically to induce gene expression. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 53, 443–456.
- 127 Torres, N.L., Cho, K., Shibato, J., Kubo, A., Iwahashi, H., Jwa, N.S., Agrawal, G. K., and Rakwal, R. (2007) Gel-based proteomics reveals potential novel protein markers of ozone stress in leaves of cultivated bean and maize species of Panama. *Electrophoresis*, 28, 4369–4381.
- 128 Lee, S. and Yun, S.C. (2006) The ozone stress transcriptome of pepper (*Capsicum* annuum L.). Mol. Cells, 21, 197–205.
- 129 Frei, M., Makkar, H.P.S., Becker, K., and Wissuwa, M. (2010) Ozone exposure during growth affects the feeding value of rice shoots. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.*, 155, 74–79.
- 130 Tripathi, R., Sarkar, A., Rai, S.P., and Agrawal, S.B. (2011) Supplemental ultraviolet-B and ozone: impact on antioxidants, proteome and genome of linseed (*Linum usitatissimum* L. cv. Padmini). *Plant Biol.*, 13, 93–104.
- 131 Archambault, D., Slaski, D.J., and Li, J.J. (2000) Ozone Protection in Plants. The Potential Use of Chemical Protectants to Measure Oxidant Damage in Alberta Crops. Report prepared for the Air Research Users Group, Alberta Environment, Edmonton, Canada.
- 132 Manning, W.J. and Godzik, B. (2004) Bioindicator plants for ambient ozone in Central and Eastern Europe. *Environ. Pollut.*, 130, 33–39.
- 133 Tiwari, S., Agrawal, M., and Manning, J. W. (2005) Assessing the impact of ambient ozone on growth and productivity of two cultivars of wheat in India using three rates of application of ethylenediurea (EDU). *Environ. Pollut.*, 138, 153–163.
- 134 Blum, O. and Didyk, N. (2007) Study of ambient ozone phytotoxicity in Ukraine and ozone protective effect of some antioxidants. *J. Hazard. Mater.*, 149, 598–602.

- 135 Agrawal, M., Singh, B., Rajput, M., Marshall, F., and Bell, J.N.B. (2003) Effect of air pollution on peri-urban agriculture: a case study. *Environ. Pollut.*, 126, 323–329.
- 136 Singh, S. and Agrawal, S.B. (2009) Use of ethylene diurea (EDU) in assessing the impact of ozone on growth and productivity of five cultivars of Indian wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). *Environ. Monit. Assess.*, 159, 125–141.
- 137 Singh, S. and Agrawal, S.B. (2011) Cultivar specific response of soybean (*Glycine max* L.) to ambient and elevated concentration to ozone under open top chambers. *Water Air Soil Pollut.*, 217, 283–302.
- 138 Singh, S., Agrawal, S.B., Singh, P., and Agrawal, M. (2010) Screening three cultivars of *Vigna mungo* L. against ozone by application of ethylenediurea (EDU). *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* doi: 10.1016/j. ecoenv.2010.05.001
- 139 Singh, S., Kaur, D., Agrawal, S.B., and Agrawal, M. (2010) Responses of two cultivars of *Trifolium repens* L. to ethylene diurea in relation to ambient ozone. *J. Environ. Sci.*, 22, 1096–1103.
- 140 Feng, Z., Wang, S., Szantoi, Z., Chen, S., and Wang, X. (2010) Protection of plants from ambient ozone by applications of ethylene diurea (EDU): a meta-analytic review. *Environ. Pollut.*, 158, 3236–3242.
- 141 Wenzel, A.A. and Mehlorn, H. (1995) Zinc deficiency enhances ozone toxicity in bush beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L. cv. Saxa). J. Exp. Bot., 46, 867–887.
- 142 Zheng, Y., Lyons, T., and Ollerenshaw, J. H. (2000) Ascorbate in the leaf apoplast is a factor mediating ozone resistance in *Plantago major. Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 8, 403–411.
- 143 Didyk, N.P. and Blum, O.B. (2011) Natural antioxidants of plant origin against ozone damage of sensitive crops. *Acta Physiol. Plant.*, 33, 25–34.
- 144 Saeidi-Sar, S., Khavari-Nejad, R., Fahimi, H., Ghorbanli, M., and Majd, A. (2007) Interactive effects of gibberellin A3 and ascorbic acid on lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzyme activities in *Glycine*

max seedlings under nickel stress. *Russ. J. Plant Physiol.*, **54**, 74–79.

- 145 Ainsworth, E.A. (2008) Rice production in a changing climate: a meta-analysis of responses to elevated carbon dioxide and elevated ozone concentration. *Global Change Biol.*, 14, 1642–1650.
- 146 Booker, F.L., Burkey, K.O., Pursley, W. A., and Heagle, A.S. (2007) Elevated carbon dioxide and ozone effects on peanut. I. Gas exchange, biomass and leaf chemistry. *Crop Sci.*, 47, 1475– 1485.
- 147 Booker, F.L. and Fiscus, E.L. (2005) The role of ozone flux and antioxidants in the suppression of ozone injury by elevated CO₂ in soybean. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 5, 2139– 2151.
- 148 Gillespie, K.M., Roger, P., and Ainsworth, E.A. (2011) Growth at elevated ozone or elevated carbon dioxide concentration alters antioxidative stress in soybean (*Glycine max*). J. Exp. Bot. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erq435
- Heagle, A.S., Miller, J.E., Burkey, K.O., Eason, G., and Pursley, W.A. (2002) Growth and yield responses of snap bean to mixtures of carbon dioxide and ozone. *J. Environ. Qual.*, **31**, 2008–2014.

- 150 Black, V.J., Stewart, C.A., Roberts, J.A., and Black, C.R. (2011) Timing of exposure to ozone affects reproductive sensitivity and compensatory ability in *Brassica campestris. Environ. Exp. Bot.* doi: 10.1016/j.envexpbot.2011.07.006
- 151 Wilkinson, S. and Davies, W.J. (2009) Ozone suppresses soil drying and abscisic acid (ABA)-induced stomatal closure via an ethylene-dependent mechanism. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 32, 949–959.
- 152 Wittig, V.E., Ainsworth, E.A., Naidu, S.L., Karnosky, D.F., and Long, S.P. (2009) Quantifying the impact of current and future tropospheric ozone on tree biomass, growth, physiology and biochemistry: a quantitative metaanalysis. *Global Change Biol.*, 15, 396–424.
- 153 Biswas, D.K. and Jiang, G.M. (2011) Differential drought-induced modulation of ozone tolerance in winter wheat species. J. Exp. Bot. doi: 10.1093/jxb/ err104
- 154 Ambasht, N. and Agrawal, M. (2003) Effects of enhanced UV-B radiation and tropospheric ozone on physiological and biochemical characteristics of field grown wheat. *Biol. Plant.*, 47, 625–628.

Part II Methods to Improve Crop Productivity

5 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases in Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Crop Plants: "-Omics" Approaches

Monika Jaggi, Meetu Gupta, Narendra Tuteja, and Alok Krishna Sinha

Abstract

Plants, in order to grow and survive, need to counter a plethora of stresses, both biotic and abiotic. During the process of evolution, plants have developed sophisticated mechanisms to perceive these stresses and transduce them down to the nucleus for appropriate cellular adjustment. Phosphorylation of proteins is one of the important mechanisms for controlling many fundamental cellular processes in all living organisms. A network of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) is an evolutionarily conserved phosphorelay cascade among animals, plants, and yeasts that transduces a variety of signals from cell surfaces to the nucleus. This unique protein cascade is also involved in the development and survival of the plants. This cascade consists essentially of three components, a MAPK kinase kinase (MAPKKK), a MAPK kinase (MAPKK), and a MAPK connected to each other by the event of phosphorylation. Signaling through MAP kinase cascade can lead to cellular responses including cell division and differentiation as well as responses to various stresses. In plants, MAP kinases are represented by multigene families and are involved in efficient transmission of specific stimuli and also involved in the regulation of the antioxidant defense system in response to stress signaling. In this chapter, we summarize and investigate the participation of MAPKs as possible mediators of various abiotic stresses in plants. We also focus on recent progress in integrated transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics analyses of MAPK signaling pathway that regulates plant physiological processes during abiotic stress responses. We also deal with the limitations and future prospects of these "-omics" approaches.

5.1 Introduction

Plants have developed a very fine integrated signaling network that mediates the perceptions of environmental cues for their survival, growth, and development. Because plants are sessile, they are particularly sensitive to environmental changes.

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

© 2012 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

Improving Crop Productivity in Sustainable Agriculture, First Edition.

110 5 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases in Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Crop Plants: "-Omics" Approaches

To sustain their normal growth and development, plants must respond and adapt to continuously changing environmental conditions. Analyses of plant responses to abiotic stresses are simpler than studies of biotic or host–pathogen responses in a way that it is comparatively easy to give an abiotic stress treatment. The term "abiotic stress" includes various stresses present in the environment, for example, light, wound, UV irradiation, drought, salinity, temperature, and so on. These stresses greatly affect plant growth and productivity, sometimes leading to great losses to the crops. Therefore, it is very important to deeply understand the regulatory mechanism underlying the abiotic stress responses to improve crop productivity under unfavorable or stressful conditions.

Before the advent of the genomics era, a gene-by-gene approach was used to identify the genes involved in abiotic stress response. The application of molecular biology approach revolutionized our understanding of plant stress regulation. A lot of information was gathered using both forward and reverse genetic approaches on the functional aspects of various genes involved in gene regulation, signal transduction, and stress tolerance [1]. Many abiotic stress-inducible genes were isolated and their functions were deciphered in transgenic plants. Thus, these studies broadened and deepened our knowledge of abiotic stress responses and tolerance in plants. In the genomics era, the availability of the complete genome sequences facilitated access to essential information for all genes, for example, gene products and their functions, transcript levels, putative *cis*-regulatory elements, and so on. In the post-genomics era, comprehensive analyses using functional genomics technologies such as transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics have increased our understanding of the complex regulatory networks associated with stress adaptation and tolerance.

As environmental conditions begin to change, plants sense this and alarm a signal that is relayed via several signal transduction cascades. Post-translation modifications of proteins also played important role in different signaling cascades. The phosphorylation of proteins by specific protein kinases modulates the activity of specific signaling molecules, resulting in signal amplification. Different types of kinases have been identified from plants and classified into different groups. One of the largest and most important categories is the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAP kinases). These are present in both the cytoplasm and nucleus and are involved in different signal transduction pathways such as osmoregulation, cell growth, and differentiation. These are also known as a universal signal module that helps in mediating plant responses to various environmental stresses. In a general model, stimulated plasma membrane receptors activate MAPK kinase kinases (MAP3Ks, MAPKKKs, or MEKKs) or MAPK kinase kinase kinases (MAP4Ks). These activated MAP3Ks then subsequently mediate the phosphorylation of MAPK kinases (MAP2Ks, MAPKKs, or MEKs) that in turn phosphorylate MAPKs. MAPKs then target various effector proteins in the cytoplasm or nucleus, which include other kinases, enzymes, or other transcription factors (Figure 5.1). These kinases are functionally interlinked and have been found to play a central role in signal



Figure 5.1 A typical MAP kinase cascade. "?" denotes an unknown component between MPK and transcription factor.

transduction mechanisms. Stressor-specific induction of MAPK genes and increased MAPK kinase activity have been detected when plants are exposed to different abiotic stresses, for example, touch, cold, salinity, genotoxic agents, UV irradiation, ozone, and oxidative stress. In plant systems, the MAP kinase genes were first reported from pea in 1993 and now the cDNA clones of MAPKs are reported from many plants (see Ref. [2]). The major milestones in the discovery of MAP kinases with special emphasis on plant MAP kinases are described earlier [2]. The biochemical assay of MAP kinase activity is based on the ability of this enzyme to phosphorylate a protein containing a consensus sequence, P-x-S/T-P (proline–X–serine/threonine–proline). Myelin basic protein (MBP) is the widely used substrate for MAP kinase assay. A routine technique involves the incorporation of MBP into a polyacrylamide gel over which cellular proteins are separated. The kinasing reaction is carried out in the presence of γ^{32P} -ATP, followed by autoradiography (see Ref. [2]).

In this chapter, we focus on recent progress in integrated transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics analyses of MAPK signaling pathway that regulates plant physiological processes during abiotic stress responses. We also deal with the limitations and future prospects of these "-omics" approaches.

5.2

MAPK Pathway and Its Components

MAPK cascades are conserved signaling modules found in all eukaryotes that transduce environmental and developmental cues into intracellular responses. A MAPK cascade is minimally composed of MAP3Ks/MAPKKKs/MEKKs, MAP2Ks/MAPKKs/MEKs/MKKs, and MAPKs/MPKs [2, 3]. During stress, stimulated plasma membrane activates MAP3Ks or MAP4Ks [4]. MAP4Ks may act as adaptors linking upstream signaling steps to the core MAP4K cascades. MAP3Ks are serine/threonine kinases phosphorylating two amino acids in the S/T-X₃₋₅-S/T motif of the MAP2K activation loop. MAP2Ks phosphorylate MAPKs on threonine and tyrosine residues at a conserved T-X-Y motif [5]. MAP4Ks are serine/threonine kinases able to phosphorylate a wide range of substrates, including other kinases and/or transcription factors. The formation and integrity of a specific MAPK cascade can be mediated by scaffold proteins, shared docking domains, and adaptor or anchoring proteins [6–8]. MKPs (MAPK phosphatases) are involved in the time-dependent controller in the shutdown of the pathway after signaling [9].

In the first reports of MAPKs in 1986, Sturgill and Ray discovered microtubule-associated protein–protein kinase (MAP-2 kinase) in animal cells [10] and renamed it as mitogen-activated protein kinase [11]. In plants, the MAPK genes were first identified as MsERK1 in alfalfa [12] and D5 kinase in pea [13]. Complete sequencing of the genome of various genera revealed a large number of genes coding for MAPK-related kinases. *Arabidopsis* possesses genes encoding 20 MAPKs, 10 MAP2Ks, and 80 MAP3Ks [14]. A similar repertoire of genes was observed in the sequenced genomes of other plants such as rice (*Oryza sativa*), poplar (*Populus trichocarpa*), grapevine (*Vitis vinifera*), or sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*).

5.2.1 MAP3Ks

MAPKKKs form the upstream component of the MAPK module and are often activated by G proteins. However, there are also reports of their activation by MAP4Ks. In *Arabidopsis*, at least 10 genes encoding MAP4K are related to yeast Sterile (Ste20) or mammalian p21-activated protein kinases (PAKs), but none of these plant kinases has been shown to regulate a MAPK pathway [15].

MAPKKKs form the largest group in this cascade with putative numbers being 80 in *Arabidopsis* [14, 15] and 75 in rice [16]. This largest group is further subdivided into three major subtypes, namely, Raf, MEKK, and ZIK [16, 17] (Figure 5.2). The Raf subfamily consists of 43 members from rice and 48 members from *Arabidopsis*, MEKK had 22 from rice and 21 from *Arabidopsis*, while 10 from rice and 11 from *Arabidopsis* fall in ZIK family. Number of annotated MAPKKKs is 40 in *Sorghum* and 60 in *Populus*. Interestingly, 8–10 MAPKKKs are reported in algal systems *Chlamydomonas* and *Volvox* [3].



Figure 5.2 Phylogenetic tree of MAPKKKs from different plant species. All 80 *Arabidopsis*, 75 rice, and 14 MAPKKKs from other plants were considered for the generation of phylogenetic tree classified into three distinct groups. *Source*: Ref. [16]. Reproduced with permission of Oxford University Press, © 2010.)

The Raf family of MAPKKKs possesses a specific signature motif GTXX(W/Y) MAPE. This kinase domain of human B-Raf has high affinity and activates MEK [18, 19]. In *Arabidopsis*, a member of Raf subfamily, CONSTITUTIVE TRIPLE RESPONSE 1 (CTR1), acts as negative regulator of ethylene signaling [20, 21], while ENHANCED DISEASE RESISTANCE 1 (EDR1) acts in defense response to powdery mildew attack [22, 23]. Both these genes have close homologues in *Physco-mitrella* and *Selaginella*. Intriguingly, the participation of both CTR1 and EDR1 in canonical MAPK cascade has not been confirmed, making it difficult to assign their biochemical function.

The characteristic conserved signature of ZIK family consists of GTPEFMAPE (L/V/M)(Y/F/L) across the membrane. There are 10 and 11 members of MAPKKKs in rice and *Arabidopsis*, respectively. An *Arabidopsis* ZIK family member, WNK1, has been shown to phosphorylate a protein involved in circadian rhythms [24].

Among the three subfamilies, MEKK is relatively well characterized. ANP1 in *Arabidopsis* was found responsive to oxidative stress and is involved in negative

114 5 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases in Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Crop Plants: "-Omics" Approaches

regulation of auxin signal transduction pathway [25, 26]. ANP1 along with ANP2 and ANP3 from *Arabidopsis* is reported to be involved in plant cytokinesis [27, 28]. MAPKKKα is involved in defense response [29], while YODA was characterized in stomatal development [30]. Similarly, the MAP3Ks are reported from tobacco, *Solanum chacoense, Medicago sativa*, and rice. Twenty-two MAPKKKs from rice and 21 from *Arabidopsis* belong to this subfamily. G(T/S)PX(F/Y/W)MAPEV forms a conserved signature catalytic domain of this family.

5.2.2 MAP2Ks

Plant MAP2Ks have the S/T-X₅-S/T as the phosphorylation site and a putative MAPK docking domain K/R-K/R-K/R-X₁₋₆-LX-L/V/I [31]. They are classified into four different groups (A–D), which are known from *Arabidopsis*, rice, and *Populus* [32] (Figure 5.3). Interestingly, the numbers of MAP2Ks are almost half of the numbers of MAPKs in these plants. There are 10, 8, and 11 members of MAP2Ks reported from *Arabidopsis*, rice, and *Populus*, respectively. Group A includes *Arabidopsis thaliana* MKK1 and MKK2 that act upstream of the MAPK MPK4 [33]. Group B includes MKK3 in *Arabidopsis* that has orthologues in rice, *Selaginella*, *Physcomitrella*, and *Chlamydomonas*. Kinases in this group are characterized by a nuclear transfer factor (NTF) domain [32] that enhances the nuclear import of cargo proteins indicating their involvement in cytoplasmic/nuclear trafficking [34]. Group C comprises of MKK4 and MKK5 and rest MKKs from *Arabidopsis* belong to group D. Functional evidence for the role of MAP2Ks is available for *Arabidopsis* MKK1, MKK2, MKK4, MKK5, and MKK6, *Medicago* PRKK and SIMKK, tobacco MKK2 and MKK4, parsley MKK5, and rice MEK1 [35].

5.2.3 MAPKs

In all plant species, MAPKs carry either a TEY or TDY phosphorylation motif at the active site similar to animal ERK kinases. In contrast to TEY MAPKs, all TDY MAPKs have long C-terminal extensions. *A. thaliana* MAPKs have also been subdivided into four groups (A–D) (Figure 5.4) [14]. TEY MAPKs contain groups A, B, and C, whereas group D comprises TDY MAPKs. Group A consists of *A. thaliana* MPK3 and MPK6 and their homologous sequences in tobacco, alfalfa, rice, and poplar. They are involved in developmental processes and are activated in response to biotic and abiotic stresses [36–38]. Group B MAPKs are related to AtMPK4 and are involved in pathogen defense and abiotic stress response [39–43]. Group D MAPKs are identified by a C-terminal common docking domain that may act as a docking site for MAP2Ks [44]. Recent investigations have confirmed major roles of defined MAPK pathways in developmental, cellular proliferation, and hormone physiology, as well as in biotic and abiotic stress signaling.



Figure 5.3 Phylogenetic relationships of 10 *Arabidopsis*, 11 poplar, and 8 rice MAPKK genes. MAPKKs are divided into four different groups. *Source*: Ref. [32]. Reproduced with permission of Elsevier, © 2006.)

5.3 Plant MAPK Signaling Cascade in Abiotic Stress

Signaling pathways are induced in response to environmental stresses, and recent molecular and genetic studies have revealed that these pathways involve a host of diverse responses [45, 46]. It has been well established that abiotic stress response





TRENDS in Plant Science

Figure 5.4 Phylogenetic relationships of 20 *Arabidopsis*, 21 poplar, and 15 rice MAPK genes. MAPKs are divided into four different groups. *Source*: Ref. [32]. Reproduced with permission of Elsevier, © 2006.)

is a complex trait governed by multiple genes. In the past two decades, basic biological research has taken a big leap from studying the expression of single genes or proteins to focusing on a large number of genes or gene products simultaneously, enabling genome-wide expression strategies for better understanding of these complex traits. One of the signaling pathways involved in abiotic stress response is the MAPK cascade. This signaling module links external stimuli with several cellular responses and is evolutionarily conserved among eukaryotic organisms [15, 47]. In several species, including *Arabidopsis*, MAPK cascades have been shown to be involved in signaling pathways activated by abiotic stresses such as cold, salt, touch, wounding, heat, UV, osmotic shock, heavy metals, and so on (Table 5.1). Latest insights and findings are discussed in the context of MAPK pathways in plant abiotic stress signaling.

5.3.1

MAPK Cascades under Salt Stress

Salt stress afflicts plant agriculture in many parts of the world, particularly irrigated land [80]. In *Arabidopsis*, previous study has demonstrated that the MEKK1 (a MAPKKK) mRNA accumulated in response to environmental stresses, including high salinity [54]. Yeast two-hybrid analyses showed protein–protein interactions between MEKK1 and MKK2/MEK1 (MAPKKs), between MKK2/MEK1 and MPK4 (a MAPK), and between MPK4 and MEKK1 [81]. Further study demonstrated that environmental stress signals are transmitted to at least two MAPK cascades. One is the MPK4 cascade (MEKK1–MEK1/MKK2–MPK4) and the other involves MPK6 and p44MAPK [57]. Under salt or cold stress, MAPK pathway involves MEKK1 as an upstream activator of MKK2 and the downstream MAPKs MPK4 and MPK6 [58]. MKP1 plays a negative role in salt stress signaling through MAPKs (MPK6 and MPK4) [9].

In alfalfa, a 46 kDa SIMK (salt stress-induced MAPK) was activated by salt [48]. Yeast two-hybrid analysis identified an upstream activator kinase SIMKK that interacts specifically with SIMK and enhanced the salt-induced activation of SIMK *in vivo* as well as *in vitro* [36]. It was also reported that tobacco protoplasts exposed to salt and osmotic stress showed enhancement of a 48 kDa kinase, the SIPK (salicylic acid-induced protein kinase) [75]. Osmotic stress reportedly activated the expression of AtMPK3, AtMPK4, and AtMPK6 in *Arabidopsis* [40, 55]. Recently, three salt stress-induced MAPKs, ZmMPK3, ZmMAPK5, and ZmSIMK1, have been identified in *Zea mays* [62, 66, 82]. Overexpression of OsMAPK5 in rice transgenic plants increased tolerance, while suppression led to hypersensitivity to various stresses including salt [70]. Salt stress also activated expression of CbMAPK3 [59] and GhMPK7 [61].

5.3.2

Drought Stress-Induced MAPKs

Among the stresses, drought is a major environmental factor limiting productivity and distribution of plants [83]. When soil moisture is continuously low, water extraction by root and water transport within the plant is reduced and a droughtlike situation prevails. Drought is a major constraint to increase yield in crop plants. Many stress-responsive genes have been identified and their altered gene

118 5 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases in Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Crop Plants: "-Omics" Approaches

Plant	Component of MAPK cascade	Remarks	References
Alfalfa	SIMK	Activated by hyperosmotic conditions and	[48, 49]
	MMK2, MMK3,	Activated by heavy metal stress	[49]
	SAMK	A	1501
	P44MKK4	Activated by cold and drought	[50]
	MMK4/MKK4	Wound stress	[51]
	UMIKI	Oxidative stress	[52]
	HAMK	Heat stress	[53]
A 1 · 1 ·	SAMK		[50]
Arabidopsis	Atmekki, Atmpk3	louch, cold, and salt stress	[54]
	AtMPK3, AtMPK6	Hypoosmolarity, ozone	[55, 56]
	AtMPK1	Salt stress	[57]
	AtMPK4,6	Low temperature, dehydration, touch,	[57]
	,	wounding, hyperosmotic stress	
	МАРКК, МКК2	Cold and salt stress	[58]
С.	СЪМАРК3	Cold. salt	[59]
bungeana			[]
Cotton	GhMAPK	Wounding, cold, salinity	[60]
	GhMPK7	Salt, wounding	[61]
Maize	ZmMPK3	Activated by cold, drought, UV, salinity,	[62]
		heavy metals, wounding	
	ZmMPK7	H ₂ O ₂ , osmotic stress	[63]
	ZmMAPK5	H ₂ O ₂ , PEG, NaCl, CdCl ₂ , cold, wounding, UV	[64]
	ZmMPK5	Low-temperature stress	[65]
	ZmSIMK1	Salt stress	[66]
Pea	PsMPK2	Wounding, ABA, H_2O_2	[67]
Potato	StMPK1	Wounding, heat	[68]
Rice	OsMSRMK2	Wounding, UV, metal, salt, drought, ozone,	[69]
		high and low temperatures	
	MAPKK4,6	Cold and salt	[31]
	MAPKK1	Salt, drought	[31]
	MAPKK10-2	Cold	[31]
	OsMAPK5	Wounding, drought, salt, cold	[70]
	OsBWMK1	Mechanical wounding	[71]
	DSM1 (MAPKKK)	Drought	[72]
S.	SbMAPKK	Dehydration, cold, salt	[73]
brachiata		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	r 1
Soybean	МАРК	Activated by light, wound stress	[74]
Tobacco	SIPK	Salt and osmotic stress, ozone	[75, 76]
	NtWIPK1	Wounding	[77]
	NtMPK4	Wounding, ozone tolerance	[78]
. .	IN THE	W/	[70]

 Table 5.1
 List of MAPKs from different plant sources involved in abiotic stresses.

expression plays an important role in plant drought resistance [80, 84, 85]. *In gel* kinase assays followed by immunoprecipitation with specific peptide antibodies raised against different alfalfa MAP kinases showed that alfalfa p44MKK4 (MAP kinase kinase) gene expression and kinase activity got activated under drought conditions in an ABA-independent manner [50]. Research in *Arabidopsis* found that the expression of AtMEKK1 and AtMPK3 could be induced by drought [54]. Drought stress resulted in the activation of OsMSRMK2 and OsMAPK5 in rice plants [69, 70]. Overexpression of DSM1 (a putative rice MAPKKK gene in rice) increased the tolerance to dehydration stress [72]. Peng *et al.* [86] investigated the expression patterns of MaMAPK and showed that activity of MAPK might be one of the molecular mechanisms of different drought tolerance in *Malus.* ZmMPK3 also plays an important role in response to environmental stresses including drought stress [62].

5.3.3 Temperature Stress Response and MAPK Cascades

Plants exhibit a range of responses to the temperature of their environment. They depend on the perception of both high and low temperatures, both for their survival and for the regulation of key developmental events. Although environmental change is expected to increase average temperatures, this will also have important consequences for the way in which plants perceive low temperature. A lot of studies have been carried out in Arabidopsis that indicated the role of MAPKs in temperature stress. AtMEKK1 and AtMPK3 are transcriptionally induced by cold stress [54], while AtMPK4 and AtMPK6 are also activated by cold stress [57]. Arabidopsis MAPKK, MKK2, also got upregulated in response to cold stress [58]. Yeast two-hybrid as well as protein kinase assays revealed that AtMPK4 and AtMPK6 were direct and specific substrates of MKK2 [87]. Functional and interaction analyses in yeast suggested that MEKK1 functions upstream of MKK1, MKK2, and MPK4 [81] and a role for the MAPK module consisting of MEKK1-MKK2-MPK4/6 has now been confirmed in cold stress. The transcript level of ZmMPK3 increased markedly within 30 min and remained high during a 4 h period [62]. Cold stress also induced the expression and activity of ZmMAPK5 [65, 88]. Recently, a lot of information has been gathered where cold stress led to the activation of MAPKs in different plant genera, for example, Chorispora bungeana [59], Gossypium hirsutum (GhMAPK) [61], and Salicornia brachiata (SbMAPKK) [73].

Not only low temperature but also high temperature leads to the activation of MAPKs. The sudden increase in ambient maximum temperature, in a matter of few days, by 5–7 °C with corresponding increase in the minimum temperature, creates heat stress on plants. The normal physiology of the plant gets affected and the plant maturity is accelerated. In practical agriculture, such heat stress inflicts enormous crop losses. In the European heat wave of 2003, crop production was reduced by around 30% [89]. Due to global weather change, the frequency of heat stress is predicted to increase in different parts of the world. Sangwan *et al.* [53] identified the first plant heat shock-activated MAPK (HAMK) from alfalfa cells. In tomato photoautotrophic cell cultures, a partially purified heat-activated MAPK was shown

120 5 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases in Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Crop Plants: "-Omics" Approaches

to phosphorylate HsFA3 transcription factor [90]. Another report was published on *Solanum tuberosum* where heat treatment to potato tubers elevated StMPK1 transcript levels [68]. In rice, changes in temperature affected the transcript levels of OsMSRMK2 [69]. High temperature ($37 \,^\circ$ C) resulted in a considerable decrease in its transcript level at 30 min, whereas at 25 °C an increase was observed at 30 min, which drastically decreased with time. Interestingly, at low temperature ($12 \,^\circ$ C), the OsMSRMK2 transcript started to accumulate only around 60 min, reaching a maximum at 90 min, followed by a slight decline at 120 min. Thus, rapid induction of OsMSRMK2 mRNA at 37 °C suggests its role in sensing high temperatures [69].

5.3.4

Activation of MAPKs by Oxidative Stress

Oxidative stress is a term used to describe the effect of oxidation in which an abnormal level of reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as the free radicals (e.g., hydroxyl, nitric acid, superoxide) or the nonradicals (e.g., hydrogen peroxide, lipid peroxide), leads to damage (called oxidative damage) to specific molecules with consequential injury to cells or tissue. Most types of abiotic stresses such as drought, salinity, heat, and cold stresses disrupt the metabolic balance of cells, resulting in enhanced production of reactive oxygen species [91]. Removal or neutralization of ROS is achieved with antioxidants, endogenous (e.g., catalase, glutathione, superoxide dismutase) or exogenous (e.g., vitamins A, C, and E, bioflavonoids, carotenoids). Plants overcome oxidative stress with the production of scavenger enzymes such as catalases, which decompose H₂O₂. For example, A. thaliana CAT1 is regulated by ABA, and Xing et al. [92] found that the MAP2K inhibitor PD98059 hindered ABA-mediated CAT1 expression. In addition, the A. thaliana mkk1 and mpk6 mutants were altered in their responses to ABA and desiccation stress. These results, together with the lack of ABA-mediated activation of MPK6 in mkk1 mutants, suggested that MKK1-MPK6 regulate H2O2 metabolism through CAT1 [93]. In contrast with CAT1, the closely related CAT2 expression seems to be regulated by MEKK1 and MPK4 [94], which are involved in plant defense and SA accumulation. The MEKK1-MPK4 cascade playing an important role in ROS metabolism was first demonstrated by Nakagami et al. [95]. In addition, other MAPKKKs are activated in A. thaliana protoplasts by H₂O₂ that include ANP1, which may cause the downstream activation of MPK3 and MPK6 [26]. These findings imply that multiple MAPK modules mediate oxidative stress responses and that MAP kinase cascades not only are induced by ROS but may also regulate ROS levels by affecting catalase activity. Notably, ROS homeostasis is a convergence point that indicates plant stress status because oxidative stress is a common response to biotic and abiotic stresses. A recent review compiled ROSmediated MAPK signaling literature [94]. The continued examination of available A. thaliana mutants and other in planta studies of stress-specific protein interactions will help dissect the roles of MAPK modules. An important issue that has emerged in this field is how cellular redox status determines cell growth and differentiation and, thus, development. In alfalfa, a novel MAPKKK, OMTK1
(oxidative stress-activated MAP triple kinase 1), was identified that further activated downstream MAPK, MMK3 [52]. H₂O₂-induced activation of plant MAPK has also been reported in various genera, for example, maize [63, 82] and pea [67].

5.3.5 Ozone-Induced MAPKs

Ozone is a strong oxidant and atmospheric pollutant and is known to activate MAPK signaling pathway. MAP kinases in plants are also activated by exposure to ozone [76]. A 46 kDa MBP kinase activity immunoprecipitable with anti-SIPK is induced in tobacco leaves and cells after ozone treatment. Ozone treatment also triggers the accumulation of H₂O₂, superoxide anion, and hydroxyl radicals that ultimately cause an oxidative burst in cells [96]. Ozone also showed a dramatic increase in the transcript level of OsMSRMK2 gene (MAP kinase) in rice [69]. In A. thaliana, MPK3 and MPK6 were activated by ozone exposure [56], and plants lacking these kinases became hypersensitive to ozone [97]. Similarly, NtMPK4-silenced tobacco plants showed enhanced sensitivity to ozone [78]. In poplar, ozone treatment activated two MAPKs and activation of these MAPKs was dependent on the production of reactive oxygen species, the influx of calcium ions via membrane channels, the activation of an upstream, membrane-localized component, and a cognate MAPK kinase [98]. Recently, a MKP2 was identified as an important regulator for controlling both ozone-induced MPK3 and MPK6, and MKP2 RNAi plants were shown to exhibit hypersensitivity to ozone [99].

5.3.6 Wounding-Induced MAPKs

Wounding in plants is typically caused by physical injury and herbivore or insect attack. When wounded, plants express several sets of defense-related genes that are involved in healing damaged tissues and protecting against pathogen infection and insect attack [100, 101]. These genes are activated through signaling pathways that include various protein kinases. Many plant species demonstrate an increase in MAPK levels after being wounded. First report of the activation of a MAP kinase in response to wounding was published in tobacco [77] and named as WIPK (woundinduced MAP kinase). Bogre et al. [51] demonstrated that wounding alfalfa leaves specifically induced the activation of MMK4 (MAPK). AtMPK4 and AtMPK6 are also shown to get rapidly activated by wounding [57]. NtMPK4, a tobacco homologue of AtMPK4, revealed wound-induced activation along with two other woundresponsive tobacco MAPKs, WIPK and SIPK [78]. Molecular characterization of StMPK1 (potato MAPK) revealed its transcriptional upregulation upon wounding [68]. During the past 10 years, several wound-activated MAPKs have been identified in various plant species, for example, rice [69-71], tomato [79], soybean [74], cotton [60, 61], pea [67], and maize [62, 82].

5.3.7

MAPKs in Heavy Metal Signaling

Heavy metal ions are essential in many physiological and developmental processes of plants but higher dose of these heavy metals adversely affects plant growth and development. The presence of enhanced level of heavy metal ions triggers a wide range of cellular responses. In plants, higher amount of copper, cadmium, and mercury ions resulted in the activation of a novel MAPK gene OsMSRMK2 from japonica-type rice (cv. Nipponbare) [69]. Yeh et al. [102] confirmed the activation of a MAPK gene and MBP kinases in rice in response to cadmium stress. Exposure of Medicago seedlings to excess copper or cadmium ions resulted in a complex activation pattern of four distinct MAPKs: SIMK, MMK2, MMK3, and SAMK (stress-activated MAPK) [49]. In protoplasts, the Medicago MAPKK, SIMKK, only conveyed activation of SIMK and SAMK, but not of MMK2 and MMK3. Furthermore, SIMKK only mediated activation by copper but not by cadmium ions. Gupta et al. [103] reported the activation of MAPK activity in response to As(III) treatment indicating role of this important cascade in transducing As(III)-mediated signals. Recently, activation of MAPKs by heavy metals was demonstrated in maize [62, 82]. These data show that MAPK cascades are involved in signaling activated by different heavy metals.

5.4

Crosstalk between Plant MAP Kinases in Abiotic Stress Signaling

The term "crosstalk" is used generally to refer to situations where different signaling pathways share one or more intermediates/components or have some common outputs. Various abiotic stresses result in both general and specific effects on plant growth and development. Based on the presence of general and specific abiotic stress tolerance mechanisms, it is logical to expect plants to have multiple stress perception and signal transduction pathways, which may crosstalk at various steps in the pathways. As discussed above, MAP kinases play a central role in transduction of different types of signals. Perhaps some of the strongest evidence for crosstalk during abiotic stress signaling in plants comes from studies of MAPK cascades. The Arabidopsis genome contains approximately 80 MAPKKKs, 10 MAPKKs, and 20 MAPKs that offer scope for crosstalk between different stress signals. MAPKs are involved in developmental, hormonal, biotic, and abiotic stress signaling [3]. Members of MAPK cascades are activated by more than one type of stress (Figure 5.5); for example, AtMPK6 is involved in O₃, H₂O₂, ethylene, ABA, and JA signaling pathways, and also in important developmental processes such as epidermal patterning, and anther and embryo development. The functional interaction of MPK6 has been demonstrated by a wide set of MAP2Ks such as MKK2 [58], MKK3 [104], MKK4, MKK5 [105], and MKK9 [44]. Thus, it suggests that MAPK cascades act as points of convergence in stress signaling.



Figure 5.5 Schematic representation of crosstalk among different plant MAP kinase signaling components. The scheme of general signal transduction is shown on the left. The homologues in *Arabidopsis* (At), tobacco (Nt),

maize (Zm), pea (Ps), and C. *bungeana* (Cb) are shown. Broken arrows indicate hypothetical pathways; question marks indicate unknown cascade components.

5.5 "-Omics" Analyses of Plants under Abiotic Stress

One purpose of studying abiotic stress responses in plants is to improve the abiotic stress tolerance of crops by means of genetic manipulation. The results of basic research using *Arabidopsis* have been applied to improve stress tolerance in other plant species, including crop plants. These studies have been summarized very well in several recent reviews [106–108]. The complete genome sequence of rice and *Arabidopsis*, and emerging sequence information for several other plant genomes, such as *Populus, Medicago*, lotus, tomato, maize, and chickpea, has given rise to the use of tools that can aid in the determination of the function of any genes simultaneously. Thus, an era has arisen in which the data generated can be used as a resource to answer many biological problems, which may thus provide rapid systematic ways to identify genes for crop improvement. Transcriptomics, proteomics, metabolomics, bioinformatics, and high-throughput DNA sequencing have enabled active analysis of regulating networks that control abiotic stress responses. Such analyses have markedly increased our understanding of global plant systematic responses and adaptation to stress conditions.

Transcriptomics is often considered as a step next to genomics in the study of biological systems. The transcriptome is a set of all mRNA molecules or transcripts produced in one organism or cell type under a given set of conditions. It is more complex than genomics, mostly because an organism's genome is rather constant, while a transcriptome differs from cell to cell and constantly changes with

124 5 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases in Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Crop Plants: "-Omics" Approaches

changing environmental conditions. Thus, the transcriptome reflects the genes that are being relatively expressed at any given time, with the exception of mRNA degradation phenomenon such as transcriptional attenuation. Microarray technologies are powerful tools for the global analyses of transcripts. The use of microarrays to study global gene expression profiling in response to abiotic stress in rice was first reported by Kawasaki et al. [109]. Global gene expression analysis of rice in response to drought and high-salinity stresses in shoot, flag, and panicle has also been performed using microarrays [110]. In Arabidopsis, the AtGenExpress project (http://www.arabidopsis.org/portals/expression/microarray/ATGenExpress.isp) has collected thousands of transcript profiles on the basis of the Affymetrix ATH1 GeneChip that are now publicly available. This contribution has enabled the discovery of candidate genes on the basis of expression profiles in various tissues, developmental stages, and environmental conditions [111–113]. Transcriptome analysis technologies have advanced to the point where high-throughput DNA sequencers and high-density microarrays such as tiling arrays are readily available [114, 115]. These studies revealed whole-genome transcriptomes of plants exposed to abiotic stresses such as dehydration, cold, heat, high-salinity, and osmotic stresses, as well as ABA treatment [116, 117]. These technologies provide new opportunities to analyze noncoding RNAs and also to clarify aspects of epigenetic regulation of gene expression.

The systematic analysis of the entire protein complement or proteome is referred to as "proteomics." Analysis of the proteome provides a direct link of genome sequence with biological activity [118, 119]. Analysis of the proteome includes knowledge of the entire protein repertoire as well as studies on other aspects, such as expression levels, post-translational modifications, and interactions, to understand the cellular processes at the protein level [120]. The combination of mass spectrometry (MS) with two-dimensional gel electrophoresis (2DGE) in the 1990s proved to be useful for proteome analysis. Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time of flight (MALDI-TOF) and electrospray ionization (ESI) are the two most commonly used MS techniques [121, 122]. Proteome analysis of rice was performed by Salekdeh et al. [123] to study changes in response to drought stress. Bae et al. [124] used 2DGE and MALDI-TOF-MS to study the Arabidopsis nuclear proteome and changes in the nuclear proteome in response to cold stress. Proteome analysis was performed to study the effect of cold stress on rice anthers at the young microspore stage [125]. The rice root proteome was also studied to identify salt stress-responsive proteins [126]. The study of tobacco leaf apoplast proteome in response to salt stress identified 20 proteins whose expression changed in response to stress. These included several well-known stress-associated proteins, together with chitinases, germin-like protein, and lipid transfer proteins [127]. Recently, Popescu et al. [128] identified several MKK/MPK/substrate signaling pathways by employing Arabidopsis protein microarrays.

Protein–protein interactions are at the core of all cellular processes. Proteins function by interacting with other biomolecules such as other proteins, lipids, nucleic acids, and several low molecular weight compounds. Therefore, a comprehensive knowledge of protein interactions is an important source of information to understand the cellular processes on a genome-wide level. The collection of all protein interactions in an organism is typically referred to as an interactome [129]. One of the major goals in the post-genomics era is to analyze the complete protein linkage map, that is, interactome of an organism to understand the signaling pathways operative inside the cell that help it in responding and adapting to the fluctuating environmental conditions. The yeast two-hybrid method is the most commonly used technique to study protein-protein interactions. A large-scale yeast two-hybrid analysis was performed by Cooper et al. [130] to identify rice proteins involved in stress and development. In 2009, Ding et al. [64] generated a rice kinase-protein interaction map and reported a protein interaction map of 116 representative rice kinases and 254 of their interacting partners. Similarly, a directed protein-protein interaction screen between all the Arabidopsis MAPKs and their upstream activators MAPKKs was carried out to gain insight into their potential relationships [131]. A large number of bioinformatics tools are available for plant proteome analysis. These include the Proteins of A. thaliana Database (PAT) (http://www.pat.sdsc.edu/), MIPS A. thaliana Database (MAtDB) (http://mips.gsf .de/proj/thal/db), and Rice Proteome Database (RPD) (http://gene64.dna.affrc.go .jp/RPD/main_en.html).

The metabolome represents the collection of all metabolites in a biological organism, which are the end products of its gene expression. Thus, while mRNA gene expression data and proteomic analyses do not tell the whole story of what might be happening in a cell, metabolic profiling can give an instantaneous snapshot of the physiology of the cell. The word was coined in analogy with transcriptomics and proteomics as like the transcriptome and the proteome, the metabolome is dynamic, that is, changing every second. Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS), gas chromatography-time-of-flight mass spectrometry (GC-TOF-MS), and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) are currently the standard mass spectrometry methods for metabolite analyses. The metabolic changes in plants in response to environmental stress factors have been extensively analyzed using several MS technologies and bioinformatics [132]. Integrated metabolome and transcriptome analyses of model plants have markedly increased our understanding of plants' responses to various stresses. Metabolite profiling has been used to characterize stress responses to abiotic stresses such as water deficit (dehydration and high salinity) [133, 134] and extreme temperature (cold and heat) [135–139] for comprehensive analyses of the final steps of stress signal transduction pathways. Thus, metabolomics represents an important addition to the tools currently employed for crop improvement.

Phylogenomics refer to analyses involving genome data and phylogenetics to predict the biological functions of members of large gene families by assessing the similarity among gene products. This approach is especially helpful in studying large gene families because redundancy limits the ability to assess the function of individual genes experimentally. Recently, Jung *et al.* [140] described the application of phylogenomics to elucidate the functions of individual members of the large rice kinase gene family. The authors developed rice kinase database for 1508 rice kinases [141] and also identified the functions of MAPKs, MAP2Ks, and six MAP3K



TRENDS in Plant Science

Figure 5.6 Identification of eight MAPK genes predicted to function in the same signaling cascade. (a) The left panel shows phylogenomics data for each MAPK, MAP2K, and MAP3K subfamilies and the right panel shows hierarchical clustering (HCL) analysis of normalized Affymetrix gene expression data for all subfamilies in 32 types of anatomically or development-related tissues or organs. Corresponding Affymetrix differential expression data following exposure to various biotic or abiotic stresses are also shown. Asterisks indicate eight genes grouped by HCL analysis, using normalized expression levels, including one MAPK, one MA2PK, and six MA3PKs. These genes are similarly regulated under various biotic or abiotic stresses. (b) A proposed regulatory model for the six MAPKs, MAP2Ks, and MAP3Ks identified in (a). Biotic or abiotic stresses are perceived by receptors represented by four color-filled boxes. Stress perception is transferred from the receptors to downstream responses via a MAPK cascade. Lines with two dark-filled circles indicate the protein–protein interactions confirmed by yeast two-hybrid screening assays. (Adopted from Ref. [140].)

genes playing important roles in a broad range of stress responses. Based on the expression pattern of all rice MAPKs during development, a cluster was developed. This along with protein–protein interaction data identified a set of MAPK components that appear to function in the same signaling cascade (Figure 5.6).

Integrating the orthologous gene information from other recently sequenced crop plants with rice database will enable the prediction of gene function in these species.

5.6 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

Plants must respond and adapt to abiotic stresses to survive under various environmental conditions. Plant growth and productivity are greatly affected by environmental stresses such as dehydration, temperature, and salinity and thus it is important to understand plants' stress responses to improve crop productivity under stressful conditions. Both forward and reverse genetic approaches have elucidated genes and gene products that are involved in gene expression, signal transduction, and stress tolerance [1]. MAP kinase modules have evolved in eukaryotes as efficient modulators in signaling pathways. MAPK signaling cascade forms complex interconnected networks within cells [142]. Traditional genetic and biochemical methods have identified MKKK/MKK/MPK signaling modules with overlapping roles in controlling cell division, development, hormone signaling and synthesis, and response to abiotic stress and pathogens. For example, for Arabidopsis, the MEKK1-MKK1/2-MPK4/6 module was activated by various stress treatments [57, 58] and the YODA-MKK4/5-MPK3/6 cascade was established as a key regulator of stomatal development and patterning [143]. A detailed biochemical analysis of single and multiple MAP kinase mutants will facilitate a better understanding of the role of MAP kinase signaling. Identification of MAP kinase partners, various substrates, and negative regulators of all the components of this cascade will help in understanding the MAP kinase pathway in plants.

During the past decade, comprehensive analyses using functional genomic technologies such as transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics have increased our understanding of the complex regulating networks associated with stress adaptation and tolerance. The global profiling of mutants and wild-type plants at different developmental stages after exposure to stresses is currently generating useful information. Deep sequencing and global transcriptome profiling also increase the resolution with which we can follow metabolic and physiological processes from the perspective of gene expression. Database mining is revealing candidate interaction partners and signaling modules based on coexpression. Such bioinformatic studies will help assign novel functions for differentially expressed kinases at the tissue and developmental levels [144]. Recently, the overexpression of CsNMAPK, encoding a mitogen-activated protein kinase of cucumber, in tobacco has been shown to enhance seed germination as well as stress tolerance under salt and osmotic stresses [145]. The knowledge gained so far about plant MAP kinases has built a strong case for further studies toward careful analysis of the genes involved for elucidating their biological functions using genetic, genomic, and proteomic approaches. Further insights are also expected from three-dimensional structural

128 5 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases in Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Crop Plants: "-Omics" Approaches

studies of individual components of MAP kinase cascade and their scaffold/anchoring proteins.

Although the whole genome sequence is available for a limited number of plant species, such as Arabidopsis, rice (O. sativa), poplar (P. trichocarpa), and grapevine (V. vinifera), it is important to decode the gene functions of other crops such as soybean and potato and industrial and medicinal plants such as rubber tree and artemisinin-producing plants. "-Omics" analyses are crucial to understand the whole processes of molecular networks in response to abiotic stress. Thus, a systems biology approach based on construction of mathematical models using large "-omics" data sets should lead to better understanding of hidden networks of molecular elements (genes, transcripts, proteins, and metabolites) in plant life [146, 147], which will eventually be applicable to biotechnology in the future, when plant biotechnology might come to have a more indispensable role in our lives. Recently, it has been shown that MPK2 from Reaumuria soongorica (a stresstolerant woody shrub) is involved in the regulation of the antioxidant defense system in response to stress signaling, which suggests that MAPKs also function as possible mediators of abiotic stresses [148]. In conclusion, we can say that in plants MAP kinase cascades are not linear pathways but complex networks, which are necessary for many fundamental physiological functions such as stress signaling, hormonal responses, cell cycle regulation, and defense mechanisms. This network is also known to be involved in plant innate immunity, conferring resistance to fungal and bacterial pathogens. Overall, MAPK kinase cascades are highly conserved and have emerged as universal signal transduction components that link different receptors/sensors to cellular and nuclear responses.

Acknowledgments

M.J. acknowledges the NIPGR Research Associate fellowship. Department of Biotechnology, Government of India, and National Institute of Plant Genome Research are thanked for financial support. Authors apologize for the missed out references due to space limitation.

References

- Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. and Shinozaki, K. (2006) Annu. Rev. Plant Biol., 57, 781–803.
- 2 Mishra, N.S., Tuteja, R., and Tuteja, N. (2006) *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.*, 452, 55–68.
- 3 Rodriguez, M.C., Petersen, M., and Mundy, J. (2010) Annu. Rev. Plant Biol., 61, 621–649.
- 4 Dan, I., Watanabe, N.M., and Kusumi, A. (2001) *Trends Cell Biol.*, **11**, 220–230.
- 5 Chang, L. and Karin, M. (2001) *Nature*, **410**, 37–40.
- 6 Whitmarsh, A.J. and Davis, R.J. (1998) Trends Biochem. Sci., 23, 481–485.
- 7 Bardwell, A.J., Flatauer, L.J., Matsukuma, K., Thorner, J., and Bardwell, L. (2001) *J. Biol. Chem.*, 276, 10374–10386.

- 8 Takekawa, M., Tatebayashi, K., and Saito, H. (2005) *Mol. Cell*, 18, 295–306.
- 9 Ulm, R., Ichimura, K., Mizoguchi, T., Peck, S.C., Zhu, T. *et al.* (2002) *EMBO J.*, 21, 6483–6493.
- 10 Sturgill, T.W. and Ray, L.B. (1986) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 134, 565–571.
- 11 Rossomando, E.F., Hadjimichael, J., Varnum-Finney, B., and Soll, D.R. (1987) Differentiation, 35, 88–93.
- 12 Duerr, B., Gawienowski, M., Ropp, T., and Jacobs, T. (1993) *Plant Cell*, 5, 87–96.
- 13 Stafstrom, J.P., Altschuler, M., and Anderson, D.H. (1993) *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 22, 83–90.
- 14 MAPK Group (2002) Trends Plant Sci., 7, 301–308.
- 15 Jonak, C., Okrész, L., Bögre, L., and Hirt, H. (2002) Curr. Opin. Plant Biol., 5, 415–424.
- 16 Rao, K.P., Richa, T., Kumar, K., Raghuram, B., and Sinha, A.K. (2010) DNA Res., 17, 139–153.
- Wrzaczek, M. and Hirt, H. (2001) Biol. Cell, 93, 81–87.
- 18 Marais, R., Light, Y., Paterson, H.F., Mason, C.S., and Marshall, C.J. (1997) *J. Biol. Chem.*, **272**, 4378–4383.
- Papin, C., Denouel-Galy, A., Laugier, D., Georges, C., and Eychene, A. (1998)
 J. Biol. Chem., 273, 24939–24947.
- 20 Kieber, J.J., Rothenberg, M., Roman, G., Feldmann, K.A., and Ecker, J.R. (1993) *Cell*, **72**, 427–441.
- Huang, Y., Li, H., Hutchison, C.E., Laskey, J., and Kieber, J.J. (2003) *Plant J.*, 33, 221–233.
- 22 Frye, C.A. and Innes, R.W. (1998) Plant Cell, 10, 947–956.
- 23 Frye, C.A., Tang, D., and Innes, R.W. (2001) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 98, 373–378.
- 24 Murakami-Kojima, M., Nakamichi, N., Yamashino, T., and Mizuno, T. (2002) *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 43, 675–683.
- 25 Kovtun, Y., Chiu, W.L., Zeng, W., and Sheen, J. (1998) *Nature*, 395, 716–720.
- 26 Kovtun, Y., Chiu, W.L., Tena, G., and Sheen, J. (2000) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 97, 2940–2945.

- 27 Krysan, P.J., Jester, P.J., Gottwald, J.R., and Sussman, M.R. (2002) *Plant Cell*, 14, 1109–1120.
- 28 Lukowitz, W., Roeder, A., Parmenter, D., and Somerville, C. (2004) *Cell*, 116, 109–119.
- **29** del Pozo, O., Pedley, K.F., and Martin, G.B. (2004) *EMBO J.*, **23**, 3072–3082.
- 30 Bergmann, D.C., Lukowitz, W., and Somerville, C.R. (2004) *Science*, 304, 1494–1497.
- 31 Kumar, K., Rao, K.P., Sharma, P., and Sinha, A.K. (2008) *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 46, 891–897.
- 32 Hamel, L.P., Nicole, M.C., Sritubtim, S. et al. (2006) Trends Plant Sci., 11, 192–198.
- 33 Ichimura, K., Casais, C., Peck, S.C., Shinozaki, K., and Shirasu, K. (2006) *J. Biol. Chem.*, 281, 36969–36976.
- 34 Steggerda, S.M. and Paschal, B.M. (2002) Int. Rev. Cytol., 217, 41–91.
- 35 Nakagami, H., Pitzschke, A., and Hirt, H. (2005) *Trends Plant Sci.*, 10, 339–346.
- 36 Kiegerl, S., Cardinale, F., Siligan, C., Gross, A. et al. (2000) Plant Cell, 12, 2247–2258.
- 37 Zhang, S. and Klessig, D.F. (2001) Trends Plant Sci., 6, 520–527.
- 38 Seo, S., Katou, S., Seto, H., Gomi, K., and Ohashi, Y. (2007) *Plant J.*, 49, 899–909.
- 39 Petersen, M., Brodersen, P., Naested, H., Andreasson, E. *et al.* (2000) *Cell*, 103, 1111–1120.
- 40 Droillard, M.J., Boudsocq, M., Barbier-Brygoo, H., and Lauriere, C. (2004) *FEBS Lett.*, 574, 42–48.
- 41 Andreasson, E., Jenkins, T., Brodersen, P., Thorgrimsen, S. *et al.* (2005) *EMBO J.*, 24, 2579–2589.
- 42 Brodersen, P., Petersen, M., Bjorn Nielsen, H., Zhu, S. *et al.* (2006) *Plant J.*, 47, 532–546.
- 43 Qiu, J.L., Fiil, B.K., Petersen, K., Nielsen, H.B. *et al.* (2008) *EMBO J.*, 27, 2214–2221.
- 44 Yoo, S.D., Cho, Y.H., Tena, G., Xiong, Y., and Sheen, J. (2008) *Nature*, 451, 789–795.
- 45 Chinnusamy, V., Schumaker, K., and Zhu, J.K. (2004) J. Exp. Bot., 55, 225–236.
- 46 Sreenivasulu, N., Sopory, S.K., and Kavi Kishor, P.B. (2007) Gene, 388, 1–13.

- 130 5 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases in Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Crop Plants: "-Omics" Approaches
 - 47 Tena, G., Asai, T., Chiu, W.L., and Sheen, J. (2001) Curr. Opin. Plant Biol., 4, 392–400.
 - 48 Munnik, T., Ligterink, W., Meskiene, I.I., Calderini, O. *et al.* (1999) *Plant J.*, 20, 381–388.
 - 49 Jonak, C., Nakagami, H., and Hirt, H. (2004) *Plant Physiol.*, 136, 3276–3283.
 - 50 Jonak, C., Kiegerl, S., Ligterink, W., Barker, P.J., Huskisson, N.S., and Hirt, H. (1996) *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 93, 11274–11279.
 - 51 Bogre, L., Ligterink, W., Meskiene, I., Barker, P.J. *et al.* (1997) *Plant Cell*, 9, 75–83.
 - 52 Nakagami, H., Kiegerl, S., and Hirt, H. (2004) J. Biol. Chem., 279, 26959–26966.
 - 53 Sangwan, V., Orvar, B.L., Beyerly, J., Hirt, H., and Dhindsa, R.S. (2002) *Plant J.*, 31, 629–638.
 - 54 Mizoguchi, T., Irie, K., Hirayama, T., Hayashida, N. et al. (1996) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 93, 765–769.
 - 55 Droillard, M., Boudsocq, M., Barbier-Brygoo, H., and Laurière, C. (2002) *FEBS Lett.*, 527, 43–50.
 - 56 Ahlfors, R., Macioszek, V., Rudd, J., Brosché, M. et al. (2004) Plant J., 40, 512–522.
 - 57 Ichimura, K., Mizoguchi, T., Yoshida, R., Yuasa, T., and Shinozaki, K. (2000) *Plant J.*, 24, 655–665.
 - 58 Teige, M., Scheikl, E., Eulgem, T., Dóczi, R. et al. (2004) Mol. Cell, 15, 141–152.
 - 59 Zhang, T., Liu, Y., Xue, L., Xu, S. et al. (2006) Plant Physiol. Biochem., 44, 78–84.
 - 60 Wang, M., Zhang, Y., Wang, J., Wu, X., and Guo, X. (2007) *J. Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, 40, 325–332.
 - 61 Shi, J., An, H.L., Zhang, L., Gao, Z., and Guo, X.Q. (2010) *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 74, 1–17.
 - 62 Wang, J., Ding, H., Zhang, A., Ma, F., Cao, J., and Jiang, M. (2010) J. Integr. Plant Biol., 52, 442–452.
 - 63 Zong, X.J., Li, D.P., Gu, L.K., Li, D.Q., Liu, L.X., and Hu, X.L. (2009) *Planta*, 229, 485–495.
 - 64 Ding, X., Richter, T., Chen, M., Fujii, H. et al. (2009) Plant Physiol., 149, 1478– 1492.
 - 65 Berberich, T., Sano, H., and Kusano, T. (1999) Mol. Gen. Genet., 262, 534–542.

- 66 Gu, L., Liu, Y., Zong, X., Liu, L., Li, D.P., and Li, D.Q. (2010) *Mol. Biol. Rep.*, 37, 4067–4073.
- 67 Ortiz-Masia, D., Perez-Amador, M.A., Carbonell, P. *et al.* (2008) *Planta*, 227, 1333–1342.
- 68 Blanco, F.A., Zanetti, M.E., Casalongué, C.A., and Daleo, G.R. (2006) *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 44, 315–322.
- 69 Agrawal, G.K., Rakwal, R., and Iwahashi, H. (2002) *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 294, 1009–1016.
- 70 Xiong, L. and Yang, Y. (2003) Plant Cell, 15, 745–759.
- He, C., Fong, S.H., Yang, D., and Wang, G.L. (1999) *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.*, 12, 1064–1073.
- 72 Ning, J., Li, X., Hicks, L.M., and Xiong, L. (2010) *Plant Physiol.*, 152, 876–890.
- 73 Agarwal, P.K., Gupta, K., and Jha, B. (2010) Mol. Biol. Rep., 37, 981–986.
- 74 Lee, S., Hirt, H., and Lee, Y. (2001) Plant J., 26, 479–486.
- 75 Mikołajczyk, M., Awotunde, O.S., Muszyńska, G., Klessig, D.F., and Dobrowolska, G. (2000) *Plant Cell*, 12, 165–178.
- 76 Samuel, M.A., Miles, G.P., and Ellis, B.E. (2000) Plant J., 22, 367–376.
- 77 Seo, S., Okamoto, M., Seto, H., Ishizuka, K., Sano, H., and Ohashi, Y. (1995) *Science*, 270, 1988–1992.
- 78 Gomi, K., Ogawa, D., Katou, S., Kamada, H. et al. (2005) Plant Cell Physiol., 46, 1902–1914.
- 79 Xing, T., Malik, K., Martin, T., and Miki, B.L. (2001) *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 46, 109–120.
- 80 Zhu, J.K. (2002) Annu. Rev. Plant Biol., 53, 247–273.
- 81 Ichimura, K., Mizoguchi, T., Irie, K., Morris, P. et al. (1998) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 253, 532–543.
- 82 Ding, H.D., Zhang, X.H., Xu, S.C., Sun, L.L. et al. (2009) J. Integr. Plant Biol., 51, 961–972.
- 83 Boyer, J.S. (1982) Science, 218, 443-448.
- 84 Li, W.X., Oono, Y., Zhu, J., He, X.J. et al. (2008) Plant Cell, 20, 2238–2251.
- 85 Lee, H.K., Cho, S.K., Son, O., Xu, Z., Hwang, I., and Kim, W.T. (2009) *Plant Cell*, 21, 622–641.

- 86 Peng, L.X., Gu, L.K., Zheng, C.C., Li, D.Q., and Shu, H.R. (2006) Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. (Shanghai), 38, 281–286.
- 87 Mizoguchi, T., Ichimura, K., Yoshida, R., and Shinozaki, K. (2000) MAP kinase cascades in Arabidopsis: their roles in stress and hormone responses, in Results and Problems in Cell Differentiation: MAP Kinases in Plant Signal Transduction (ed. H. Hirt) Springer, Heidelberg, pp. 29–38.
- 88 Ding, H., Zhang, A., Wang, J., Lu, R. et al. (2009) Planta, 230, 239–251.
- 89 Ciais, P., Reichstein, M., Viovy, N., Granier, A. et al. (2005) Nature, 437, 529–533.
- 90 Link, V., Sinha, A.K., Vashista, P., Hofmann, M.G., Proels, R.K., Ehness, R., and Roitsch, T. (2002) *FEBS Lett.*, 531, 179–183.
- **91** Mittler, R. (2002) *Trends Plant Sci.*, 7, 405–410.
- 92 Xing, Y., Jia, W., and Zhang, J. (2007) J. Exp. Bot., 58, 2969–2981.
- 93 Xing, Y., Jia, W., and Zhang, J. (2008) Plant J., 54, 440–451.
- 94 Pitzschke, A. and Hirt, H. (2009) Plant Physiol., 149, 606–615.
- 95 Nakagami, H., Soukupova, H., Schikora, A., Zarsky, V., and Hirt, H. (2006) J. Biol. Chem., 281, 38697–38704.
- **96** Samuel, M.A. and Ellis, B.E. (2002) *Plant Cell*, **14**, 2059–2069.
- 97 Miles, G.P., Samuel, M.A., Zhang, Y., and Ellis, B.E. (2005) *Environ. Pollut.*, 138, 230–237.
- 98 Hamel, L.P., Miles, G.P., Samuel, M.A., Ellis, B.E., Séguin, A., and Beaudoin, N. (2005) *Tree Physiol.*, 25, 277–288.
- 99 Lee, J.S. and Ellis, B.E. (2007) J. Biol. Chem., 282, 25020–25029.
- 100 Lawton, M.A. and Lamb, C.J. (1987) Mol. Cell. Biol., 7, 335–341.
- 101 Brederode, F.T., Linthorst, H.J., and Bol, J.F. (1991) *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 17, 1117–1125.
- 102 Yeh, C.M., Hsiao, L.J., and Huang, H.J. (2004) Plant Cell Physiol., 45, 1306–1312.
- 103 Gupta, M., Sharma, P., Sarin, N.B., and Sinha, A.K. (2009) *Chemosphere*, 74, 1201–1208.

- 104 Takahashi, F., Yoshida, R., Ichimura, K., Mizoguchi, T. *et al.* (2007) *Plant Cell*, 19, 805–818.
- 105 Asai, T., Tena, G., Plotnikova, J., Willmann, M.R., Chiu, W.L. *et al.* (2002) *Nature*, 415, 977–983.
- 106 Flowers, T.J. (2004) J. Exp. Bot., 55, 307–319.
- 107 Bartels, D. and Sunkar, R. (2005) Crit. Rev. Plant Sci., 24, 23–58.
- 108 Umezawa, T., Fujita, M., Fujita, Y., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Shinozaki, K. (2006) *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 17, 113–122.
- 109 Kawasaki, S., Borchert, C., Deyholos, M., Wang, H. *et al.* (2001) *Plant Cell*, 13, 889–905.
- 110 Zhou, J., Wang, X., Jiao, Y., Qin, Y. et al. (2007) Plant Mol. Biol., 63, 591–608.
- 111 Seki, M., Narusaka, M., Ishida, J., Nanjo, T. et al. (2002) Plant J., 31, 279–292.
- 112 Seki, M., Umezawa, T., Urano, K., and Shinozaki, K. (2007) *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, 10, 296–302.
- 113 Winter, D., Vinegar, B., Nahal, H., Ammar, R., Wilson, G.V., and Provart, N. J. (2007) *PLoS ONE*, 2, e718.
- 114 Zhang, X., Yazaki, J., Sundaresan, A., Cokus, S. et al. (2006) Cell, 126, 1189–1201.
- 115 Gregory, B.D., Yazaki, J., and Ecker, J.R. (2008) *Plant J.*, 53, 636–644.
- 116 Matsui, A., Ishida, J., Morosawa, T., Mochizuki, Y. *et al.* (2008) *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 49, 1135–1149.
- 117 Zeller, G., Henz, S.R., Widmer, C.K., Sachsenberg, T. *et al.* (2009) *Plant J.*, 58, 1068–1082.
- 118 Pandey, A. and Mann, M. (2000) Nature, 405, 837–846.
- 119 Agrawal, G.K. and Rakwal, R. (2006) Mass Spectrom. Rev., 25, 1–53.
- **120** Peck, S.C. (2005) *Plant Physiol.*, **138**, 591–599.
- 121 Mann, M. and Pandey, A. (2001) *Trends* Biochem. Sci., 26, 54–61.
- 122 Mann, M., Hendrickson, R.C., and Pandey, A. (2001) Annu. Rev. Biochem., 70, 437–473.
- 123 Salekdeh, G.H., Siopongco, J., Wade, L.J., Ghareyazie, B., and Bennett, J. (2002) *Proteomics*, 2, 1131–1145.

- 132 5 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases in Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Crop Plants: "-Omics" Approaches
 - 124 Bae, M.S., Cho, E.J., Choi, E.Y., and Park, O.K. (2003) *Plant J.*, **36**, 652–663.
 - 125 Imin, N., Kerim, T., Rolfe, B.G., and Weinman, J.J. (2004) *Proteomics*, 4, 1873–1882.
 - 126 Yan, S., Tang, Z., Su, W., and Sun, W. (2005) *Proteomics*, 5, 235–244.
 - 127 Dani, V., Simon, W.J., Duranti, M., and Croy, R.R. (2005) *Proteomics*, 5, 737–745.
 - Popescu, S.C., Popescu, G.V., Bachan,
 S., Zhang, Z. et al. (2009) Genes Dev., 23, 80–92.
 - 129 Magdalena, S. (2005) Nat. Rev. Genet., 6, 800.
 - 130 Cooper, B., Clarke, J.D., Budworth, P., Kreps, J. et al. (2003) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 100, 4945–4950.
 - 131 Lee, J.S., Huh, K.W., Bhargava, A., and Ellis, B.E. (2008) *Plant Signal. Behav.*, 3, 1037–1041.
 - 132 (a) Shulaev, V., Cortes, D., Miller, G., and Mittler, R. (2008) *Physiol. Plant.*, 132, 199–208; (b) Fiehn, O. (2002) *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 48, 155–171.
 - 133 Cramer, G.R., Ergül, A., Grimplet, J., Tillett, R.L. *et al.* (2007) *Funct. Integr. Genomics*, 7, 111–134.
 - 134 Urano, K., Maruyama, K., Ogata, Y., Morishita, Y. *et al.* (2009) *Plant J.*, 57, 1065–1078.
 - 135 Cook, D., Fowler, S., Fiehn, O., and Thomashow, M.F. (2004) *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 101, 15243–15248.
 - 136 Kaplan, F., Kopka, J., Haskell, D.W., Zhao, W. et al. (2004) Plant Physiol., 136, 4159–4168.

- 137 Hannah, M.A., Wiese, D., Freund, S., Fiehn, O., Heyer, A.G., and Hincha, D.K. (2006) *Plant Physiol.*, 142, 98–112.
- 138 Wienkoop, S., Morgenthal, K., Wolschin, F., Scholz, M., Selbig, J., and Weckwerth, W. (2008) *Mol. Cell. Proteomics*, 7, 1725–1736.
- 139 Maruyama, K., Takeda, M., Kidokoro, S., Yamada, K. *et al.* (2009) *Plant Physiol.*, 150, 1972–1980.
- 140 Jung, K.H., Cao, P., Seo, Y.S., Dardick, C., and Ronald, P.C. (2010) *Trends Plant Sci.*, 15 (11), 595–599.
- 141 Dardick, C., Chen, J., Richter, T., Ouyang, S., and Ronald, P. (2007) *Plant Physiol.*, 143, 579–586.
- 142 Pedley, K.F. and Martin, G.B. (2005) Curr. Opin. Plant Biol., 8, 541–547.
- 143 Wang, H., Ngwenyama, N., Liu, Y., Walker, J.C., and Zhang, S. (2007) *Plant Cell*, 19, 63–73.
- 144 Menges, M., Dóczi, R., Okrész, L., Morandini, P. et al. (2008) New Phytol., 179, 643–662.
- 145 Xu, H., Li, K., Yang, F., Shi, Q., and Wang, X. (2009) Mol. Biol. Rep., 37, 3157–3163.
- 146 Kusano, M., Fukushima, A., Arita, M., Jonsson, P. et al. (2007) BMC Syst. Biol., 1, 53.
- 147 Morioka, R., Kanaya, S., Hirai, M.Y., Yano, M., Ogasawara, N., and Saito, K. (2007) BMC Bioinform., 8, 343.
- 148 Liu, Y., Li, X., Tan, H., Liu, M., Zhao, X., and Wang, J. (2010) *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 48 (10–11), 836–844.

Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria-Mediated Amelioration of Abiotic and Biotic Stresses for Increasing Crop Productivity

Vasvi Chaudhry, Suchi Srivastava, Puneet Singh Chauhan, Poonam C. Singh, Aradhana Mishra, and Chandra Shekhar Nautiyal

Abstract

6

Several microbes with ability to promote plant growth and their products that can stimulate plant growth have been commercialized. This chapter is mainly restricted to the bacteria that are derived from plant rhizosphere and demonstrate their beneficial effects on the root. Such group of bacteria is generally designated as PGPR (plant growth promoting rhizobacteria). Beneficial effects of this group of rhizobacteria on plant growth can be demonstrated by both direct and indirect mechanisms. Various abiotic and biotic stresses negatively influence survival, biomass production, and crop yield. This chapter begins with the description of various abiotic and biotic stress factors affecting plant growth. Tolerance to these stresses is achieved by both physiological and molecular level adaptation. To exert the beneficial effects, bacteria must colonize the root surface efficiently as the roots are the first underground part of the plant system that experiences adverse conditions. Mechanisms of abiotic and biotic stress amelioration in the rhizosphere by PGPRs are subsequently described. PGPRs often have more than one mechanism for enhancing plant growth and experimental evidence suggests that the plant growth stimulation is the net result of multiple mechanisms of action that may be activated simultaneously. Thus, to fulfill the need of food production for ever-increasing global population under extreme environmental conditions or with limited sources, PGPRs are surely a major target to be developed for the improvement of tolerance to stresses.

6.1 Introduction

Human population is increasing as never before in the human history and is expected to reach 7 billion within 25 years and over 10 billion in the year 2050. As the world population is outstripping food supply, one of the major challenges for twenty-first century will be an environmentally sound and sustainable crop

Improving Crop Productivity in Sustainable Agriculture, First Edition.

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

© 2012 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

134 6 Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria-Mediated

production from the available resources that are subjected to limitations such as desertification and salinization of agricultural lands. Abiotic stress is the primary cause of crop loss worldwide, reducing average yields for most of the major crop plants by more than 50%. Drought and salinity are becoming particularly widespread in many regions, and may cause serious salinization of more than 50% of all arable land by the year 2050 [1]. These stresses cause considerable losses in crop yields worldwide, while the demand for food and energy is on the hike [2]. Thus, one way of addressing food insecurity is to increase food productivity in fields and environment continuously exposed to a myriad of abiotic and biotic stresses such as drought, flooding, heat, radiation, salinity, chilling, and freezing. Easier said than done, improving crop productivity in stressed environments is an awful challenge since biotic stresses are rarely singular. More likely, they affect plant populations as a set of interacting multiple stresses present in a given environment, including the biotic stresses such as disease, pests, and so on. Conventional breeding [3, 4], trait-based approaches [5], and wide crossing [6, 7] have achieved significant impacts. With respect to molecular technologies, marker-assisted selection (MAS) is routinely applied for genetically simple traits indirectly related to abiotic and biotic tolerance [8, 9]. Transgenic and genomic technologies have generated substantial information on the molecular basis of abiotic stress adaptation and are a relatively fast and precise means of achieving improved stress tolerance. Many organisms have evolved traits that endue them to survive in extreme environments. and the gene(s) that confer these properties can potentially be acquainted into higher plants that may soon deliver impacts [10-12].

For several years, microorganisms have been used as a model to characterize the properties of stress-induced genes and their products. There is a long list of studies that demonstrate the beneficial effects of microorganisms, reporting that they promote significant improvement in plant growth and in the yield of several types of crops under stress conditions.

6.2

Factors Affecting Plant Growth

Plants in natural environment are continuously exposed to several biotic and abiotic stresses. These stresses adversely affect plant growth and productivity and are considered a severe threat to sustainable crop production under changing climatic conditions. The global temperatures are predicted to increase by 2.5–4.3 °C by the end of the century with significant effects on agriculture production. Extreme environmental conditions such as prolonged droughts, intense rains and floods, heat waves, and frost are likely to increase in future due to climate change. In 2009–2010, heat waves affected wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) production in Central Asia, while extreme floods affected agricultural production in South Asia [13].

Soil environment, in which the plants are rooted, impose tremendous positive or negative effects on their growth. Soil biota consist of beneficial as well as antagonist organisms affecting plant growth. Antagonists, as biotic stress, impose negative effect on plant growth. The rapid change in environmental conditions mainly originated from anthropogenic activities causing soil and air pollution, and thus plants are exposed to climatic or edaphic stresses. These abiotic and biotic stresses are important limiting factors in agricultural productivity and how they affect plant growth is discussed here.

6.2.1 Biotic Stress

Biotic stresses caused by living organisms including herbivores (insects, nematodes), pathogens such as virus, bacteria, and fungi, and parasitic weeds create several constraints to crop productivity, which influence the total agricultural production. Herbivory is the prime biotic environmental stress factor for a lot of plants [14]. However, maximum loss of plant productivity is because of viral diseases. Due to vast economic losses caused by biotic stresses, it has become a major concern for agricultural research. The relationship between biotic stress and plant yield affects economic decisions, crop yield, population dynamics, plant–stressor coevolution, and ecosystem nutrient cycling.

6.2.2 Abiotic Stress

Abiotic stresses consist of nonliving factors imposing negative impact on living organisms in a specific environment. The nonliving variables beyond their normal range adversely affect the population performance [15]. Abiotic stresses affect both plants and animals, but being sessile, plants are especially affected by environmental factors, and they are the most harmful factor concerning the growth and productivity of crops worldwide and result in yield losses ranging from 50 to 82%, depending on the crop [16]. Reports have also shown that abiotic stressors are most harmful when they occur in combination and they include heat, chilling, excessive light, drought, waterlogging, wounding, ozone exposure, UV-B irradiation, osmotic shock, and salinity [17].

It has been estimated that only 10% of arable land comes under the nonstress category, which implies that crops grown on the other 90% of arable land experience one or more environmental stresses. Drought, salinity, and high temperature are among the important abiotic stresses that cause severe loss in crop production [18]. Drought stress is a major constraint to yield stability and crop production in drought-prone areas, particularly arid and semi-arid areas. Increasing crop production under drought conditions requires an integrated approach in which infrastructure development, crop and resources management, and plant breeding are essential elements. Soil salinity is another major factor that is an enormous worldwide problem for agriculture especially for crops that are grown under irrigation

136 6 Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria-Mediated

because salt inhibits the growth of a large number of crop plants [19]. It is of major concern that about 20–50% of the land devoted to irrigated crops is adversely affected by salinity [20]. In many semi-arid and arid regions of the world, crop yield is limited due to increasing salinity of irrigation water as well as soil salinity. Reduced leaf growth rate due to decreased water uptake restricts photosynthetic capacity under high salinity. Soil salinity also affects total nitrogen uptake and soil nitrogen contribution [21]. High salinity exposure results in imbalance of ion homeostasis, mainly Cl⁻ and Na⁺, and because of excess Na⁺, membrane dysfunction and inhibition of metabolic activity have been reported [22]. Salt stress also affects the balance of other ions such as K⁺, Ca²⁺, and NO₃⁻ and physiological processes such as vascular K⁺ circulation, translocation of Ca²⁺ in root and shoot, and transition metal exchange in stress response of the plants.

Heat or high-temperature stress often is defined as high temperatures for sufficient time to cause irreversible damage to plant function or development. High day temperatures have both direct and indirect damaging effects associated with hot tissue temperatures, plant water deficits due to high transpiration, and low plant water potentials [23]. High day temperatures also cause reduction in the rate of photosynthesis and carbon assimilation compared to optimum temperatures because of damage to components of photosystem II [24]. Comparison of contrasting species in response to heat indicates that photosystem II in wheat is more sensitive to heat than rice and pearl millet, which are warm season species adapted to much higher temperatures [24]. It is also expected that with the decrease in the ozone layer, UV exposure will become an important stress for the cropping system [25].

6.3

Plant-Mediated Strategies to Elicit Stresses

Tolerance and yield stability are complex genetic traits of a crop. A crop can face stress in a continuous or an intermittent manner. Plant responses to stresses and its adaptation include both physiological and molecular aspects. Dehydration, salinity, temperature, and other abiotic stresses lead to metabolic toxicity, membrane disorganization and generation of ROS, retardation of photosynthesis, reduced nutrient acquisition, and altered hormone levels. Ubiquitous occurrence of the genetic determinants helps us to further dissect the abiotic stress tolerance. Plant physiological responses involve avoidance, escape, and tolerance by osmotic adjustment and water use efficiency, whereas accumulation of osmoprotectants, production of scavengers, exclusion or compartmentalization of ions, and production of specific enzymes involved in the regulation of plant hormones are some of the molecular mechanisms that plants have evolved for adaptation to abiotic stresses [26]. Salt tolerance of plants depends primarily on three characteristics: physical uptake, transport and compartmentalization, and physiological and metabolic events that counteract the presence of salt at the cellular level, which depends on sensitivity/tolerance level of the plant [27]. Salt-sensitive plants restrict the uptake of salt and synthesize compatible solutes (e.g., proline, glycine betaine, and soluble sugars) to adjust their osmotic pressure [28], while salt-tolerant plants sequester and accumulate salt into the cell vacuoles, controlling the salt concentrations in the cytosol and maintaining a high cytosolic K^+/Na^+ ratio in their cells [29]. Drought tolerance in plants is mostly mediated by avoidance through morphological adaptations and tolerance by low water use efficiency and osmoregulation [30]. Being a multigenic as well as a quantitative trait, it is a challenge to understand the molecular basis of abiotic stress tolerance as compared to biotic stresses. These characteristics suggest that crops with inbuilt capacity to withstand abiotic stresses would help to stabilize the crop production. This is well explained by the response of a photosynthetic apparatus of homochlorophyllous desiccation-tolerant and poikilochlorophyllous desiccation-tolerant plants in response to drought [31]. Knowledge of stressinduced functional changes has added one step ahead in the development of methods to isolate genes involved in the metabolic pathways or their associated physiology for the development of stress-tolerant transgenic crops [32].

6.3.1

Osmoadaptation

Osmotic adjustment is the net increase in intercellular solutes in response to water stress, which allows turgor maintenance at lower water potential [33]. Accumulation of nitrogenous compounds such as amino acids, amides, imino acids, proteins, quaternary ammonium compounds, and polyamines in response to abiotic stresses has been reported frequently [30]. Proline has been proposed to act as a compatible osmolyte and its role as a ROS scavenger and chaperone and in the maintenance of cytosolic pH and regulation of redox potential has been reported [34]. Up to 80% proline accumulation of the total amino acids by inhibition of proline degradation under stress conditions has been observed. Although the regulation and function of proline accumulation are not yet completely understood, engineering of proline metabolism could open new avenues to improve plant tolerance under environmental stresses [35].

6.3.2

Antioxidative Enzyme Production

Exposure of plants to stresses such as temperature extremes, heavy metals, drought, or salt stress can increase the production of ROS, for example, ${}^{1}O_{2}$, O_{2}^{-} , $H_{2}O_{2}$, and OH^{-} ; to protect themselves against these toxic oxygen intermediates, plant cells employ antioxidant defense systems [36]. Detoxification of excess ROS in plant, induction of antioxidant enzymes, and accumulation of antioxidants such as ascorbic acid and glutathione for the alleviation of salinity stress have been studied [37].

6.3.3

Effect of Stress on Plant Nutrient Uptake

Stress affects nutrient availability to plants, which is governed by root and shoot. The overall response of plants to nutrient uptake is determined by stress and the

138 6 Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria-Mediated

ability of the root system to adjust nutrient acquisition capacity to meet variations in shoot demand caused by environmental stresses. This further depends on the soil nutrition conditions, exogenous addition of which alleviates the adverse effects of stress. Nitrogen and phosphorous are the major nutrient components playing important role in stress adaptation [38].

6.4

Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria-Mediated Beneficiaries to the Environment

Plant roots are surrounded by a thin layer of soil known as rhizosphere that serves as an active area for root activity and metabolism. It is a narrow zone of soil whose physical, chemical, and biological properties change due to root growth and activity. Among the microbes surrounding the rhizosphere, bacteria are the most abundant. Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) having positive correlation with a plant root influence the plant growth from direct mechanisms to indirect effects. Advancement in the concept of rhizosphere as an ecosystem has gained importance in functioning of the biosphere. Microorganisms could play a significant role in this respect, if we can exploit their unique properties of tolerance to extremities, their ubiquity, their genetic diversity, and their interaction with crop plants, and develop methods for their successful deployment in agriculture production. Use of these microorganisms can alleviate stresses in crop plants, thus opening a new and emerging application in agriculture [39]. These microbes also provide excellent models for understanding the stress tolerance, adaptation, and response mechanisms that can be subsequently engineered into crop plants to cope with stresses induced by climate change.

6.4.1

PGPR as Abiotic Stress Ameliorating Agent

PGPRs help in imparting tolerance to the plants against various abiotic stresses. Drought stress limits the growth and productivity of crops, particularly in arid and semi-arid areas. The mechanisms involved are expression of drought-responsive genes and production of 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate (ACC) deaminase. Under stress conditions, including drought, the plant hormone ethylene endoge-nously regulates plant homeostasis and results in reduced root and shoot growth. However, degradation of the ethylene precursor ACC by bacterial ACC deaminase releases plant stress and rescues normal plant growth [40]. The ethylene produced under high salt stress is reduced by ACC deaminase activity of bacteria. Interestingly, some of the volatile organic compounds (VOCs) that are emitted from *Bacillus subtilis* GB03 are bacterial determinants involved in tolerance against stress conditions [41]. The introduced PGPRs in the rhizosphere also enhance soil aggregation by production of exopolysaccharide (EPS), thereby improving the water availability to plants, and form biofilms in the rhizosphere that protect plants from surrounding harsh environments [42]. They induce the synthesis of heat shock



Figure 6.1 Simplified overview of the mechanisms involved in plants in response to abiotic and biotic stresses. (From author's laboratory.)

proteins and osmoprotectants such as proline and glycine betaine and help in maintaining cell membrane integrity, all of which contribute to improved stress tolerance in plants. Proline synthesis has been shown to be increased in abiotically stressed plants in the presence of beneficial bacteria such as *Burkholderia* [43], as well as *Arthrobacter* and *Bacillus* [44]. Bacterial inoculation alters the selectivity for Na⁺, K⁺, and Ca²⁺, resulting in higher K⁺/Na⁺ ratios, and helps in maintaining the ion homeostasis (Figure 6.1). Khan *et al.* [45] reported the multifarious role of *Paenibacillus lentimorbus* B-30488r as a potent plant growth promoting and bioremediation agent useful in Cr-contaminated rhizosphere soil by enhanced biofilm formation using sodium alginate and CaCl₂. Biofilm acts as a protective covering around the root and protects the plant from a major metal pollutant, Cr.

6.4.2

PGPR Action against Multiple Pathogens

New species of bacteria may provide potentially new biological control agents with novel mechanisms of disease suppression active in a range of environments. The rich diversity of the microbial world from stressed environments provides a seemingly endless resource for disease suppression [46]. These beneficial microbes can be exploited as biological pesticides either alone or in combination with chemicals to lower the doses of chemicals needed to obtain a profitable crop yield. DasGupta *et al.* [47] reported three plant growth promoting

140 6 Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria-Mediated

strains of *Bacillus*, for example, *B. lentimorbus* B-30486 (B-30486), *B. subtilis* B-30487 (B-30487), and *B. lentimorbus* B-30488 (B-30488), which were isolated from the milk of Sahiwal cows.

PGPR-induced systemic resistance (ISR) is a widespread phenomenon of plants against pathogens by using salicylic acid (SA)-dependent signaling pathway in response to infection [48, 49]. PGPR-induced systemic protection against tomato late blight under *in vitro* conditions has been reported by Park *et al.* [50]. Compared to systemic acquired response (SAR), induced by the pathogen, beneficial PGPRs induce ISR in a jasmonic acid-dependent manner.

The introduction and augmentation of microbial antagonist to seeds and other plant-associated bacteria are common approaches to biocontrol of plant diseases. In particular, there has been much success in obtaining biocontrol of pathogens using seed bacterization [51]. These bacteria are mostly Pseudomonas fluorescens [52], P. putida, and Bacillus sp. [53, 54]. Single bacterium may have resulted in inadequate colonization, limited tolerance to changes in environmental conditions, and fluctuations in the production of antifungal metabolites. Several approaches have been used to overcome these problems, including combined application of two or more biocontrol strains to enhance the level and consistency in disease control. Multiple strain mixture of microbial agents has been employed with some success against plant pathogens including mixtures of fungi, bacteria, and bacteria and fungi [55]. Enhancing biocontrol activity by using mixtures of antagonists may have the following advantages: (i) it may broaden the spectrum of activity, (ii) it may enhance the efficacy and reliability of the biocontrol, and more importantly (iii) it may allow the combination of various traits without employment of genetic engineering [56] (Figure 6.1). Moreover, the designing of strain combinations and making use of multiple antifungal traits exhibited by them may prove to be advantageous by ensuring that at least one of the biocontrol mechanisms will be functional under the unpredictable field conditions faced by the released PGPR strains [57]. Several potent strains from different species of Bacillus have been tested on a wide variety of plant species for their ability to control several diseases. There are a number of reports on the potential of B. subtilis as a biological control agent against fungal pathogens [58, 59]. Bacillus species produce 167 biological compounds active against bacteria, fungi, protozoa, and viruses [60]. P. fluorescens CHA0 produces antibiotics using GacS/GacA system for the biological control of root pathogenic fungi [61, 62].

6.4.3

Determinants of PGPR Colonization in Stressed Environment

Soil microorganisms are getting affected by a number of biotic and abiotic factors affecting the plants. The occurrence and activity of soil microorganisms are affected by a variety of environmental factors faced by the plant. In response to stress acclimation, plants undergo a number of metabolic and physiological changes that result in changed root exudation. Changes in the root exudation due to metabolic changes in the plants also result in the change in microbial flora. Different sugars, amino acids, and organic acids exuded by the plant serve as nutritional supplements to the root zone bacteria. Plant roots release an enormous amount of root exudates that may represent up to 10-20% of the photosynthethates, leading to a significant stimulation of the microbial density and activity. Plant root exudates are a complex mixture of chemicals and organic compounds secreted into the complex environment drive underground interactions [63]. Microbes entering the rhizospheric environment utilize root exudates' major components as nutrients and minor components, non-nutrients, as signals to guide their movement toward the root surface and elicit changes in gene expression appropriate to the complex beneficial associations and maintain themselves in a competitive manner on the root system [64]. The exact composition of the exudates is determined by many factors, including species and nutritional status of the plant, soil structure, micronutrient status, and plant developmental stage. Colonizing microbes stimulate exudation from plant root and promote the bacterial populations from 3- to 100-fold [65]. Depending on the exact nature of the compound in the root exudates, they may play a role in activation of microbial genes responsible for recognition and initiation of symbiotic association, act as an antimicrobial plant defense agent, activate or disrupt key microbial genes responsible for biofilm formation, or simply act as an easy source of moisture, nutrients, and energy. Mucilage addition to the soil itself increased the microbial C up to 23% and the number of cultivable bacteria by 450%, which affect both the metabolic and genetic structures of the bacterial community [66].

Utilization of various sources by the microbial community and modification of rhizobacterial populations by engineered bacterium for the utilization of opines was achieved by Oger *et al.* [67] and Savka and Farrand [68] based on the concept given by Nautiyal and Dion [69]. Nautiyal and Dion [69] were the first to report catabolization of opines by the pseudomonads, as carbon and nitrogen sources. Effect of nutritional biasing on rhizobacterial colonization was studied by using mannopine (MOP) as a novel substrate (US Patent No. 5,610,044; Figure 6.2). These findings attributed to the fact that opines are excellent substrates for various soil microorganisms outside the genus *Agrobacterium* and underline how opine exudation brought rhizosphere perturbation [69, 70].

Auxin, a hormone responsible for root architecture, is produced by the root zone bacteria by using tryptophan as a precursor from the root exudates of a plant. Auxin plays an intermediary role between the action of a stressor and the realization of response phenotype. Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain stress-induced changes in auxin metabolism and/or receptiveness; however, evidence for stress-induced changes in auxin transport and catabolism is predominantly found in the literature [71].

These root zone bacteria also exudate osmolytes such as glutamate, proline, glycine betaine, and trehalose in response to stresses, which along with other PGP attributes can possibly act synergistically with plant-produced glycine



Figure 6.2 Competition between mannopine-utilizing bacteria and its non-utilizing mutant showing effect of nutritional biasing on rhizobacterial colonization. (From author's US Patent No. 5,610,044.)

betaine in response to the stress and stimulate the plant growth even under stressed conditions by abiotic stress-tolerant PGPRs [72, 73]. The long-term goal of improving plant-microbe interactions for salinity-affected fields and crop productivity can be met with a mechanism of osmoadaptation. Proline plays a major role in osmoadaptation through increase in osmotic stress that shifts the dominant osmolyte from glutamate to proline in *Azospirillum* sp. Under abiotic stress conditions, increased proline biosynthesis was observed for various plant species inoculated with different PGPRs [74, 75]. *P. fluorescens* can survive under dry conditions and hyperosmolarity; the gene algU is a crucial determinant of its adaptation. Recent studies by Sandhya *et al.* [76] and Heidari *et al.* [77] report the potential of PGPR strains in alleviating drought stress effects in maize and basil.

Salinity decreased P accumulation in plants because of ionic imbalance effects, which affect both the sorption and solubilization of the insoluble phosphate, and plants face P-deficiency symptoms. Phosphate solubilizing bacteria, able to solubilize insoluble phosphate under abiotically stressed conditions, offer a scope for amelioration of abiotic stresses such as alkalinity of soil [76, 78]. These P solubilizing strains solubilize insoluble phosphates and improve plant growth even under water-deficit conditions [79]. Production of microbial metabolites during P solubilization results in a decrease in soil pH, which probably plays an important role in the solubilization and enhances the plant growth significantly, and this plant growth promoting capability can be used for the rapid revegetation of barren alkaline land. The soil microbes in the rhizosphere of plants growing on trace metal-contaminated soils play an important role in phytoremediation also.

6.4.4

PGPR-Mediated Induction of Defense Mechanism

When plants are invaded by microorganisms or damaged by mechanical injuries, major physiological changes are induced and plant defense enzymes are generally activated. In spite of major advances in our understanding of the plant defense response, little information is available on PGPR-mediated induced enzymes [80]. Nautiyal et al. [81] has compared the changes in antioxidant potential and phenolics in vegetable systems even after minimal processing induced by either PGPR-treated fresh or processed vegetables and fruits. B. lentimorbus B-30488 (B-30488) induces antioxidant potential in functional food and the PGPR strain B-30488 has the potential to induce antioxidant enzyme activities of polyphenol oxidase (PPO), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), catalase (CAT), and superoxide dismutase (SOD). The antioxidant potential of the hydroalcoholic extracts in in vitro1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging, superoxide scavenging, photochemiluminescence, percent inhibition of lipid peroxidation, and prevention of oxidation of reduced glutathione (GSH) in B-30488-treated fresh or processed vegetables and fruits demonstrates the usefulness of bioinoculant for vegetables as well as fruits. Liang et al. [82] demonstrated the effects of two PGPR strains, Pseudomonas strains 13 and 63-28, which significantly induced plant defense enzymes both locally and systemically. PGPR consortia enhanced combinations of plant defense mechanisms such as peroxidase enzymes, lignification, superoxide dismutase, or phenolic compounds more than those treated with individual PGPR strains [83].

144 6 Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria-Mediated

Co-inoculation of lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L.) with PGPR *Pseudomonas mendocina* and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (*Glomus intraradices* or *G. mosseae*) augmented an antioxidant catalase under severe drought conditions, suggesting that they can be used in inoculants to alleviate the oxidative damage elicited by drought [84].

6.4.5

Modulation of Plant Genes through Bacterial Intervention

There are several PGPR inoculants that seem to promote growth through one or more mechanisms, suppression of plant disease (biocontrol agents), improved nutrient acquisition (biofertilizers), or phytohormone production (biostimulants). Use of *Rhizobium* sp. and its co-inoculation with *Pseudomonas* improves growth and nodulation because of the production of phytohormones such as auxins, gibberellins, and cytokinins by the inoculant and nutrient uptake [85, 86].

Inoculation of plants by a root zone bacterium primes the physiological status of a plant through ISR and accumulation of signaling molecules against different abiotic and biotic stresses [87]. Accumulation of salicylic acid and/or jasmonic acid induces pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins and triggers the systemic acquired response and activation of a family of defense-related genes encoding proteins for resistance against a variety of pathogens. The plant-PGPR interaction plays an important role in mitigating the adverse effects of ethylene overproduction and increases the plant biomass [87]. Overproduction of ethylene due to adverse environmental conditions results in the inhibition of plant growth or death. A PGPR containing ACC deaminase activity can hydrolyze ACC, the immediate precursor of ethylene, to α -ketobutyrate and ammonia, and in this way promote plant growth. ACC deaminase producing PGPR may assist plant growth by alleviating deleterious effects of overproduced ethylene [88-90]. Application of Achromobacter piechaudii on tomato seedlings exposed to high salt was found to reduce the ethylene content by its ACC deaminase activity and increased the growth of tomato seedlings by as much as 66% in the presence of high salt. Induced systemic tolerance (IST) to salt stress was also noted in a new study with Arabidopsis [91]. Bacterial volatiles also play a regulatory role in stress adaptation by regulating the expression of HKT1, a gene responsible for inward movement of Na⁺ in Arabidopsis thaliana [92]. Bacillus sp. TW4-mediated ethylene metabolism in pepper has also been reported to relieve the osmotic stress [44].

Changes in gene expression in *A. thaliana*, inoculated with *Paenibacillus polymyxa* followed by the provision of abiotic and biotic stress, support the induction of ERD15, a drought-responsive gene involved in plant response to biotic and abiotic stresses [93]. Verhagen *et al.* [94] determined changes in gene expression of *Arabidopsis* plants grown in the presence of strain WCS417, using a microarray representing about 8000 genes. Substantial changes were found in the expression of genes involved in cell rescue and defense, metabolism, transcription, cellular communication, and ethylene signaling. Wang *et al.* [95] further substantiated the work

by using 22K gene chip and performed the microarray analysis using a biocontrol agent *P. fluorescens*. Srivastava *et al.* [96] have reported the gene activation in *A. thaliana* leaves by an abiotic stress-tolerant phosphate solubilizing strain of *P. putida*. Plant growth promoting *P. putida* strain was able to enhance plant growth in *A. thaliana* by inducing ISR, hormone biosynthesis, increased nutrient uptake and amino acid biosynthesis, mitosis and meiotic division, and ethylene signaling-related genes. Barriuso *et al.* [97] demonstrated the overexpression of PR1 gene by the inoculation of ISR inducing *Arthrobacter oxydans* strain in a defense response. Defense genes involved in pathogen response were reported to be overexpressed by the priming of bacterial strain BS107 onto pepper roots by Yang *et al.* [62], proving the ISR mechanism.

6.5 PGPR-Based Practical Approaches to Stress Tolerance

6.5.1 Development and Commercialization of PGPRs: Approaches and Limitations

The large-scale application of PGPRs to crops as inoculants would be attractive as it would substantially reduce the use of chemical fertilizers and pesticides, which often pollute the environment. The growing cost of pesticides, particularly in less affluent regions of the world, and consumer demand for pesticidefree food have led to a search for substitutes for chemical inputs. There are also a number of fastidious diseases for which chemical solutions are few, ineffective, or nonexistent [98]. Biological control is thus being considered as an alternative or a supplemental way of decreasing the use of chemicals in agriculture, but their inconsistent performance under field conditions has hindered widespread commercialization. To overcome these problems, it is therefore important to understand the ultimate fate of bacteria released in a stressful environment, such as natural soil, and to fully comprehend the mechanisms involved in plant protection. Commercialization of PGPRs mainly proceeded with Bacillus spp. rather than pseudomonads as earlier attempts to commercialize products containing fluorescent pseudomonad strains of PGPRs generally failed due to lack of long-term viability of these asporogenous bacteria. Bacillus offers ecological advantages over these because it produces endospores that are tolerant to extreme environmental conditions such as heat and desiccation. Survival of introduced rhizobacteria in any given microbial community is an important factor in determining the degree of plant stimulation because competition for limited resources is crucial, and bacteria are also susceptible to environmental stressors; the most prominent beneficial effects of inoculation with a potential PGPR are to be expected in poor soils when the development of the indigenous microbial community is inhibited [99, 100]. The use of PGPR offers an attractive way to replace chemical fertilizers, pesticides, and supplements.

146 6 Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria-Mediated

In general, though PGPRs perform well and promote plant growth under normal conditions, they are highly sensitive to the fluctuations in environmental conditions and are inconsistent in their performance. The inconsistent performance is due to poor shelf life, lack of multidisciplinary approach, technology constraints and optimization of fermentation technology, and mass production of PGPR strains. The consistency of PGPRs could be enhanced through several means with and without going in for genetic engineering approaches.

6.5.2

Implications of Bacterial Genes for Transgenic Development

As per estimates recorded in 2002, transgenic crops are cultivated worldwide on about 148 million acres (587 million hectares) of land by about 5.5 million farmers. Transgenic plants have many beneficial traits such as insect resistance, herbicide tolerance, delayed fruit ripening, improved oil quality, weed control, and so on. Herbicide-resistant crops (HRCs) and insect-resistant crops (Bt crops) accounted, respectively, for 59 and 15% of the total global area of all transgenic crops in 2000 [101]. For both herbicide- and insectresistant crops, bacterial genes glyphosate oxidase, from *Ochrobactrum anthropi*, that converts glyphosate to glyoxylate and aminomethylphosphonic acid and cry toxins from *Bacillus thuringiensis* that form crystal protein have been used successfully for transgenic development. Isopentenyl transferase from *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* was another example found to reduce tobacco hornworm [102].

Trehalose synthesis under stressed conditions in bacteria is one of the mechanisms of stress adaptation. Trehalose is produced by the action of trehalose phosphate synthase and trehalose phosphate phosphatase that degrades trehalose-6phosphate into trehalose and both of these genes in combination have been used for transgenic development in rice against abiotic stress adaptation [103]. Other than trehalose, glutamate dehydrogenases from an algae and gutD from E. coli have been overexpressed and used for transgenic development [104]. The choline oxidase gene from Arthrobacter sp. was also used to produce transgenic rice with high levels of glycine betaine giving tolerance against water-deficit stress. The E. coli betA encodes CDH while betB encodes BADH. Transgenic tobacco plants producing both CDH and BADH were developed by crossing betA- and betB-producing plants and selecting for double transgenic lines. Transgenic tobacco expressing both betA and *betB* produced a considerable amount of betaine $(66 \pm 18 \text{ nmol/g of fresh})$ weight) and was able to grow in the presence of 200 mM NaCl [105]. Bacterial chaperones have been shown as a promising means for transgenic development against abiotic stress tolerance in plants [106]. popA gene from the phytopathogenic bacterium Ralstonia solanacearum and entC and pmsB bacterial genes were used to develop transgenic tobacco plants resistant to the virulent fungus Phytophthora parasitica and Oidium lycopersicum [107, 108].

Any strategy to address food insecurity in the arid or semi-arid regions, which are highly prone to abiotic stresses, must tackle the climatic conditions and conditions prevailing in the soil. While control of climatic factors is beyond direct or immediate human interference, local soil edaphic factors such as salinity, alkalinity, and drought are easier to manipulate to overcome stress temporarily and enhance crop productivity. PGPRs play an important role in such shortterm soil manipulations, subsequently leading to improved soil properties on repeated use by production of organic acids, hormones, and so on, increased root biomass and rhizosphere effect, and induced stress tolerance in plants, to name a few. The molecular genetic basis of stress tolerance in PGPRs is being identified and harnessed to develop stress-tolerant plants and finally lead to translation of abiotic stress tolerance to the farmer's field. Thus, to meet human needs, productivity in extreme environments, PGPRs are surely a major target to be developed for the improvement of tolerance to abiotic stresses, including extremes in water availability, temperature, and soil contamination by salts and heavy metals. PGPR are bioresources having novel and potential tool for providing substantial benefits to the agriculture exposed to stresses. Application of PGPRs is gaining worldwide importance and acceptance and appears to be the trend for the future.

References

- Wang, W., Vinocur, B., and Altman, A. (2003) Plant response to drought, salinity and extreme temperatures: towards genetic engineering for stress tolerance. *Planta*, 218, 1–14.
- 2 Walley, J.W., Coughlan, S., Hudson, M. E., Covington, M.F., Kaspi, R., Banu, G., Harmer, S.L., and Dehesh, K. (2007) Mechanical stress induces biotic and abiotic stress responses via a novel *cis*element. *PLoS Genet.*, **3**, 1800–1812.
- 3 Duvick, D.N. (2005) The contribution of breeding to yield advances in maize (*Zea* mays L.). Adv. Agron., 86, 83–145.
- 4 Reynolds, M.P. and Borlaug, N.E. (2006) Impacts of breeding on international collaborative wheat improvement. *J. Agric. Sci.*, 144, 3–17.
- 5 Richards, R.A. (2006) Physiological traits used in the breeding of new cultivars for water-scarce environments. *Agric. Water Manage.*, 80, 197–211.

- 6 Ali, A.J., Xu, J.L., Ismail, A.M., Fu, B.Y., Vijaykumar, C.H.M., Gao, Y.M., Domingo, J., Maghirang, R., Yu, S.B., Gregorio, G. *et al.* (2006) Hidden diversity for abiotic and biotic stress tolerances in the primary gene pool of rice revealed by a large backcross breeding program. *Field Crops Res.*, 97, 66–76.
- 7 Trethowan, R. and Mujeeb-Kazi, A. (2008) Novel germplasm resources for improving environmental stress tolerance of hexaploid wheat. *Crop Sci.*, 48, 1255–1265.
- 8 William, H.M., Trethowan, R., and Crosby-Galvan, E.M. (2007) Wheat breeding assisted by markers: CIMMYT's experience. *Euphytica*, 157, 307–319.
- 9 Langridge, P. (2005) Molecular breeding of barley and wheat, in *In the Wake of the Double Helix: From the Green Revolution to*

the Gene Revolution (eds R. Tuberosa, R.L. Phillips, and G.M. Bologna), Avenue Media, Italy, pp. 279–286.

- 10 Bohnert, H.J., Gong, Q., Li, P., and Ma, S. (2006) Unraveling abiotic stress tolerance mechanisms getting genomics going. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, 9, 180–188.
- 11 Parry, M.A.J., Flexas, J., and Medrano, H. (2005) Prospects for crop production under drought: research priorities and future directions. *Ann. Appl. Biol.*, 147, 211–226.
- 12 Umezawa, T., Fujita, M., Fujita, Y., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Shinozaki, K. (2006) Engineering drought tolerance in plants: discovering and tailoring genes to unlock the future. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 17, 113–122.
- 13 Varshney, R.K., Bansal, K.C., Aggarwal, P. K., Datta, S.K., and Craufurd, P.Q. (2011) Agricultural biotechnology for crop improvement in a variable climate: hope or hype? *Trends Plant Sci.*, 16, 363–371.
- 14 Hummel, G.M., Schurr, U., Baldwin, I. T., and Walter, A. (2009) Herbivoreinduced jasmonic acid bursts in leaves of *Nicotiana attenuata* mediate short-term reductions in root growth. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 32, 134–143.
- 15 Vinebrooke, R.D., Cottingham, K.L., Norberg, J., Scheffer, M., Dodson, S.I., Maberly, S.C., and Sommer, U. (2004) Impacts of multiple stressors on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: the role of species co-tolerance. *Oikos*, 104, 451–457.
- 16 Gao, J.P., Chao, D.Y., and Lin, H.X. (2007) Understanding abiotic stress tolerance mechanisms: recent studies on stress response in rice. *J. Integr. Plant Biol.*, 49, 742–750.
- 17 Mittler, R. (2006) Abiotic stress, the field environment and stress combination. *Trends Plant Sci.*, **11**, 15–19.
- 18 Dita, M.A., Rispail, N., Prats, E., Rubiales, D., and Singh, K. B. (2006) Biotechnology approaches to overcome biotic and abiotic stress constraints in legumes. *Euphytica*, 147, 1–24.
- 19 Cuartero, J. and Fernández-Muñoz, R. (1999) Tomato and salinity. *Sci. Hortic.*, 78, 83–125.

- 20 Flowers, T.J. and Flowers, S.A. (2005) Why does salinity pose such a difficult problem for plant breeders? *Agric. Water Manage.*, 78, 15–24.
- 21 Van Hoorn, J.W., Katerji, N., Hamdy, A., and Mastrorilli, M. (2001) Effect of salinity on yield and nitrogen uptake of four grain legumes and on biological nitrogen contribution from the soil. *Agric. Water Manage.*, 51, 87–98.
- 22 Hasegawa, P.M., Bressan, R.A., Zhu, J.-K., and Bohnert, H.J. (2000) Plant cellular and molecular responses to high salinity. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.*, **51**, 463–499.
- 23 Hall, A.E. (2001) Crop Responses to Environment, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- 24 Al-Khatib, K. and Paulsen, G.M. (1999) High-temperature effects on photosynthetic processes in temperate and tropical cereals. *Crop Sci.*, **39**, 119–125.
- 25 Chimphango, S.B.M., Musil, C.F., and Dakora, F.D. (2003) Effects of UV-B radiation on plant growth, symbiotic function and concentration of metabolites in three tropical grain legumes. *Funct. Plant Biol.*, 30, 309–318.
- 26 Mahajan, S. and Tuteja, N. (2005) Cold, salinity and drought stresses: an overview. Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 444, 139–158.
- 27 Wincov, I. (1998) New molecular approaches to improving salt tolerance in crop plants. Ann. Bot., 82, 703–710.
- 28 Hussain, T.M., Chandrasekhar, T., Hazara, M., Sultan, Z., Saleh, B.K., and Gopal, G.R. (2008) Recent advances in salt stress biology – a review. *Biotechnol. Mol. Biol. Rev.*, 3, 8–13.
- 29 Blumwald, E. (2000) Sodium transport and salt tolerance in plants. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.*, 12, 431–434.
- 30 Amudha, J. and Balasubramani, G. (2011) Recent molecular advances to combat abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. *Biotechnol. Mol. Biol. Rev.*, 6, 31–58.
- 31 Yordanov, I., Velikova, V., and Tsonev, T. (2003) Plant responses to drought and stress tolerance. *Bulg. J. Plant Physiol.*, (special issue), 187–206.

- 32 Singla-Pareek, S.L., Reddy, M.K., and Sopory, S.K. (2001) Transgenic approaches towards developing abiotic stress tolerance in plants. *Proc. Indian Natl. Sci. Acad.*, 67, 265–284.
- 33 Chaves, M.M., Maroco, J.P., and Pereira, J.S. (2003) Understanding plant responses to drought from genes to the whole plant. *Funct. Plant Biol.*, 30, 239–264.
- 34 Maggio, A., Miyazaki, S., Veronese, P., Fujita, T., Ibeas, J.I., Damsz, B., Narasimhan, M.L., Hasegawa, P.M., Joly, R.J., and Bressan, R.A. (2002) Does proline accumulation play an active role in stress-induced growth reduction? *Plant J.*, 31, 699–712.
- 35 Szabados, L. and Savouré, A. (2010) Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 15, 89–97.
- 36 Gill, S.S. and Tuteja, N. (2010) Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 48, 909–930.
- 37 Abogadallah, G.M. (2010) Antioxidative defense under salt stress. *Plant Signal. Behav.*, 5, 369–374.
- 38 Dias, A.S., Fernando, A.L., and Lidon, F. C. (2009) Heat stress in *Triticum*: kinetics of Na, K and P accumulation. *Braz. J. Plant Physiol.*, 21, 143–152.
- 39 Grover, M., Ali, S.Z., Sandhya, V., Rasul, A., and Venkateswarlu, B. (2011) Role of microorganisms in adaptation of agriculture crops to abiotic stresses. *World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 27, 1231–1240.
- 40 Glick, W.H., and Miller, C.C., Cardinal, L.B. (2007) Making a life in the field of organization science. *J. Org. Behav.*, 28, 817–835.
- 41 Ryu, C.M., Farag, M.A., Paré, P.W., and Kloepper, J.W. (2005) Invisible signals from the underground: bacterial volatiles elicit plant growth promotion and induce systemic resistance. *Plant Pathol. J.*, 21, 7–12.
- 42 Venkateswarlu, B. and Grover, M. (2009) Can microbes help crops cope with climate change? *Indian J. Microbiol.*, 49, 297–298.

- 43 Barka, E.A., Nowak, J., and Clement, C. (2006) Enhancement of chilling resistance of inoculated grapevine plantlets with a plant growthpromoting rhizobacterium, *Burkholderia phytofirmans* strain PsJN. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 72, 7246–7252.
- Sziderics, A.H., Rasche, F., Trognitz, F., Sessitsch, A., and Wilhelm, E. (2007) Bacterial endophytes contribute to abiotic stress adaptation in pepper plants (*Capsicum annuum L.*). *Can. J. Microbiol.*, 53, 1195–1202.
- 45 Khan, N., Mishra, A., Chauhan, P.S., Sharma, Y.K., and Nautiyal, C.S. (2011) *Paenibacillus lentimorbus* enhances growth of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) in chromium-amended soil. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*, 101, 453–459.
- 46 Chapon, A., Guillerm, A.Y., Delalande, L., Lebreton, L., and Sarniguet, A. (2002) Dominant colonisation of wheat roots by *Pseudomonas fluorescens* Pf29A and selection of the indigenous microflora in the presence of the take-all fungus. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.*, 108, 449–459.
- 47 DasGupta, S.M., Khan, N., and Nautiyal, C.S. (2006) Biological control ability of plant growth-promoting *Paenibacillus lentimorbus* NRRL B-30488 isolated from milk. *Curr. Microbiol.*, 53, 502–505.
- 48 Martínez-Viveros, O., Jorquera, M.A., Crowley, D.E., Gajardo, G., and Mora, M. L. (2010) PGPR with multiple mechanisms of action. *J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.*, 10, 293–319.
- **49** Piromyou, P., Buranabanyat, B., Tantasawat, P., Tittabutr, P., Boonkerd, N., and Teaumroong, N. (2011) Effect of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) inoculation on microbial community structure in rhizosphere of forage corn cultivated in Thailand. *Eur. J. Soil Biol.*, **47**, 44–54.
- 50 Park, J.Y., Han, S.H., Lee, J.H., Han, Y. S., Lee, Y.S., Rong, X., McSpadden Gardener, B.B., Park, H.S., and Kim, Y. C. (2011) Draft genome sequence of the biocontrol bacterium *Pseudomonas putida* B001, an oligotrophic bacterium that induces systemic resistance to

plant diseases. J. Bacteriol., **193**, 6795–6796.

- 51 Whipps, J.M. (2001) Microbial interactions and biocontrol in the rhizosphere. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 52, 487–511.
- 52 Siddiqui, I.A. and Shaukat, S.S. (2004) Systemic resistance in tomato induced by biocontrol bacteria against the root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne javanica* is independent of salicylic acid production. *Phytopathology*, 152, 48–54.
- 53 Padaria, C.J. and Kapoor, V. (2001) Plasmid mediated gene of *B. pumilus* MTCC7615 responsible for fungal antagonism towards *Rhizoctonia* solani. Indian J. Biotechnol., 10, 316–320.
- 54 Padaria, J.C. and Singh, A. (2009) Molecular characterization of soil bacteria antagonistic to *Rhizoctonia* solani, sheath blight of rice. J. Environ. Sci. Health B, 44, 397–402.
- 55 Nandakumar, R., Babu, S., Viswanathan, R., Sheela, J., Raguchander, T., and Samiyappan, R. (2001) A new bioformulation containing plant growth promoting rhizobacterial mixture for the management of sheath blight and enhanced grain yield in rice. *Biocontrol*, 46, 493–510.
- 56 Janisiewicz, W. (1996) Ecological diversity, niche overlap, and coexistence of antagonists used in developing mixtures for biocontrol of postharvest disease of apples. *Phytopathology*, 86, 473–479.
- 57 Nakkeeran, S.W.G., Fernando, D., and Siddiqui, Z.A. (2005) Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria formulations and its scope in commercialization for the management of pests and diseases, in *PGPR: Biocontrol and Biofertilization* (ed. Z.A. Siddiqui), Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 257–296.
- 58 Nautiyal, C.S., Mehta, S., and Singh, H. B. (2006) Biological control and plant growth-promoting *Bacillus* strains from milk. *J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 16, 184–192.
- 59 Sun, J.B., Peng, M., Wang, Y.G., Zhao, P. J., and Xia, Q.Y. (2011) Isolation and characterization of antagonistic bacteria against fusarium wilt and induction of

defense related enzymes in banana. *Afr. J. Microbiol. Res.*, **5**, 509–515.

- 60 Bottone, E.J. and Peluso, R.W. (2003) Production by *Bacillus pumilus* (MSH) of an antifungal compound that is active against Mucoraceae and *Aspergillus* species: preliminary report. *J. Med. Microbiol.*, 52, 69–74.
- 61 Kloepper, J.W., Choong-Min, R., and Zhang, S. (2004) Induced systemic resistance and promotion of plant growth by *Bacillus* spp. *Phytopathology*, 94, 1259–1266.
- 62 Yang, J.W., Yu, S.H., and Choong-Min, R. (2009) Priming of defense-related genes confers root-colonizing bacilli-elicited induced systemic resistance in pepper. *Plant Pathol. J.*, 25, 389–399.
- **63** Bais, H.P., Park, S.W., Weir, T.F., Callaway, R.M., and Vivanco, J.M. (2004) How plants communicate using the underground information superhighway. *Trends Plant Sci.*, **9**, 26–32.
- 64 Kiely, P.D., Haynes, J.M., Higgins, C.H., Franks, A., Mark, G.L., Morrissey, J.P., and O'Gara, F. (2006) Exploiting new systems-based strategies to elucidate plant–bacterial interactions in the rhizosphere. *Microb. Ecol.*, 51, 257–266.
- 65 Bais, H.P., Tiffany, L.W., Laura, G.P., Simon, G., and Jorge, M.V. (2006) The role of root exudates in rhizosphere interactions with plants and other organisms. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, 57, 233–266.
- 66 Benizri, E., Nguyen, C., Piutti, S., Slezack-Deschaumes, S., and Philippot, L. (2007) Additions of maize root mucilage to soil changed the structure of the bacterial community. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 39, 1230–1233.
- 67 Oger, P.M., Petit, A., and Dessaux, Y. (1997) Genetically engineered plants producing opines alter their biological environment. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 15, 369–372.
- 68 Savka, M.A. and Farrand, S.K. (1997) Modification of rhizobacterial population by engineering bacterium utilization of a novel plant-produced resource. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 15, 363–368.
- **69** Nautiyal, C.S. and Dion, P. (1990) Characterization of the opine-utilizing

microflora associated with samples of soil and plants. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **56**, 2576–2579.

- 70 Tremblay, G., Gagliardo, R., Chilton, W. S., and Dion, P. (1987) Diversity among opine-utilizing bacteria: identification of coryneform isolates. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 53, 1519–1524.
- 71 Ludwig-Müller, J.J. (2011) Auxin conjugates: their role for plant development and in the evolution of land plants. *Exp. Bot.*, 62, 1757–1773.
- 72 Paul, D. and Nair, S. (2008) Stress adaptations in a plant growth promoting rhizobacterium (PGPR) with increasing salinity in the coastal agricultural soils. *J. Basic Microbiol.*, 48, 378–384.
- 73 Badri, D.V. and Vivanco, J.M. (2009) Regulation and function of root exudates. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 32, 666–681.
- 74 Han, H.S. and Lee, K.D. (2005) Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria effect on antioxidant status, photosynthesis, mineral uptake and growth of lettuce under soil salinity. *Res. J. Agric. Biol. Sci.*, 1, 210–215.
- 75 Naz, I., Bano, A., and Hassan, T.U. (2009) Isolation of phytohormones producing plant growth promoting rhizobacteria from weeds growing in Khewra salt range, Pakistan and their implication in providing salt tolerance to *Glycine max* L. *Afr. J. Biotechnol.*, 21, 5762–5766.
- 76 Sandhya, V., Ali, S.Z., Grover, M., Reddy, G., and Venkateswarlu, B. (2010) Effect of plant growth promoting *Pseudomonas* spp. on compatible solutes, antioxidant status and plant growth of maize under drought stress. *Plant Growth Regul.*, 62, 21–30.
- 77 Heidari, M., Mousavinik, S.M., and Golpayegani, A. (2011) Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) effect on physiological parameters and mineral uptake in basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) under water stress. *ARPN J. Agric. Biol. Sci.*, 6, 6–11.
- 78 Bianco, C. and Defez, R. (2010) Improvement of phosphate solubilization and *Medicago* plant yield by an indole-3-acetic acid-overproducing

strain of Sinorhizobium meliloti. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., **76**, 4626–4632.

- 79 Ehteshami, S.M., Aghaalikhani, M., Khavazi, K., and Chaichi, M.R. (2007) Effect of phosphate solubilizing microorganisms on quantitative and qualitative characteristics of maize (*Zea mays* L.) under water deficit stress. *Pak. J. Biol. Sci.*, **10**, 3585–3591.
- 80 Chen, C., Bélanger, R.R., Benhamou, N., and Paulitz, T.C. (2000) Defence enzymes induced in cucumber roots by treatment with plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) and *Pythium aphanidermatum*. *Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol.*, 56, 13–23.
- 81 Nautiyal, C.S., Govindarajan, R., Lavania, M., and Pushpangadan, P. (2008) Novel mechanism of modulating natural antioxidants in functional foods: involvement of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria NRRL B-30488. *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 56, 4474–4481.
- 82 Liang, J.G., Tao, R.X., Hao, Z.N., Wang, L.P., and Zhang, X. (2011) Induction of resistance in cucumber against seedling damping-off by plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) *Bacillus megaterium* strain L8. *Afr. J. Biotechnol.*, 10, 6920–6927.
- 83 Jetiyanon, K. and Kloepper, J.W. (2002) Mixtures of plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria for induction of systemic resistance against multiple plant diseases. *Biol. Control*, 24, 285–291.
- 84 Kohler, J., Hernández, J.A., Caravaca, F., and Kohler, A.R. (2008) Plant-growthpromoting rhizobacteria and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi modify alleviation biochemical mechanisms in waterstressed plants. *Funct. Plant Biol.*, 35, 141–151.
- 85 Verma, J.P., Yadav, J., and Tiwari, K.N. (2010) Application of *Rhizobium* sp. BHURC01 and plant growth promoting rhizobacteria on nodulation, plant biomass and yields of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Int. J. Agric. Res.*, 5, 148–156.
- 86 Egamberdieva, D. (2011) Survival of Pseudomonas extremorientalis TSAU20 and P. chlororaphis TSAU13 in the rhizosphere of common bean (Phaseolus)

vulgaris) under saline conditions. Plant Soil Environ., 57, 122–127.

- 87 Saharan, B.S. and Nehra, V. (2011) Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria: a critical review. *Life Sci. Med. Res.*, 2011, 1–30.
- 88 Sapsirisopa, S., Chookietwattana, K., Maneewan, K., and Khaengkhan, P. (2009) Effect of salt-tolerant *Bacillus* inoculum on rice KDML 105 cultivated in saline soil. *Asian J. Food Agro Ind.*, 69–74.
- 89 Jalili, F., Khavazi, K., Pazira, E., Nejati, A., Rahmani, H.A., Sadaghiani, H.R., and Miransari, M. (2009) Isolation and characterization of ACC deaminaseproducing fluorescent pseudomonads, to alleviate salinity stress on canola (*Brassica napus* L.) growth. J. Plant Physiol., 166, 667–674.
- 90 Mayak, S., Tirosh, T., and Glick, B.R. (2004) Plant growth-promoting bacteria confer resistance in tomato plants to salt stress. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 42, 565–572.
- 91 Yang, J., Kloepper, J.W., and Ryu, C.M. (2009) Rhizosphere bacteria help plants tolerate abiotic stress. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 14, 1–4.
- 92 Zhang, H., Kim, M.S., Sun, Y., Dowd, S. E., Shi, H., and Paré, P.W. (2008) Soil bacteria confer plant salt tolerance by tissue-specific regulation of the sodium transporter HKT1. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.*, 21, 737–744.
- 93 Timmusk, S. and Wagner, E.G. (1999) The plant-growth-promoting rhizobacterium *Paenibacillus polymyxa* induces changes in *Arabidopsis thaliana* gene expression: a possible connection between biotic and abiotic stress responses. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.*, 12, 951–959.
- 94 Verhagen, B.W.M., Glazebrook, J., Zhu, T., Chang, H.S., van Loon F L.C., and Pieterse, C.M.J. (2004) The transcriptome of rhizobacteria-induced systemic resistance in *Arabidopsis. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.*, 17, 895–908.
- 95 Wang, Y., Ohara, Y., Nakayashiki, H., Tosa, Y., and Mayama, S. (2005) Microarray analysis of the gene expression profile induced by the endophytic plant growth-promoting

rhizobacteria, Pseudomonas fluorescens FPT9601-T5 in Arabidopsis. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact., **18**, 385–396.

- 96 Srivastava, S., Chaudhry, V., Mishra, A., Singh, P.C., Rehman, A., Yadav, A., Tuteja, N., and Nautiyal, C.S. (2012) Gene expression profiling through microarray analysis in *Arabidopsis thaliana* colonized by *Pseudomonas putida* MTCC5279, a plant growth promoting rhizobacterium. *Plant Signal. Behav.*, 7, 1–11.
- 97 Barriuso, J., Ramos Solano, B., and Gutiérrez Mañero, F. J. (2008) Protection against pathogen and salt stress by four plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria isolated from *Pinus* sp. on *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Phytopathology*, 98, 666–672.
- 98 Compant, S., Duffy, B., Nowak, J., Clément, C., and Barka, E.A. (2005) Use of plant growth-promoting bacteria for biocontrol of plant diseases: principles, mechanisms of action, and future prospects. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 71, 4951–4959.
- **99** Strigul, N.S. and Kravchenko, L.V. (2006) Mathematical modeling of the PGPR strains inoculation in rhizosphere. *Environ. Model. Softw.*, **21**, 1158–1171.
- 100 Ramos Solana, B., Pereyra de la Iglesia, M.T., Probanza, A., Lucas Garcia, J.A., Megias, M., and Gutiérrez-Mañero, F.J. (2006) Screening of PGPR to improve growth of *Cistus ladanifer* seedlings for reforestation of degraded Mediterranean ecosystems. *Plant Soil*, 289, 59–68.
- 101 Altieri, M.A. (2000) The ecological impacts of transgenic crops on agroecosystem health. *Ecosyst. Health*, 6, 13–23.
- 102 Jewell, M.C., Campbell, B.C., and Godwin, I.D. (2010) Transgenic plants for abiotic stress resistance, in *Transgenic Crop Plants* (eds C. Kole*et al.*), Springer, Berlin, pp. 67–132.
- 103 Jang, I.C., Oh, S.J., Seo, S.J., Choi, W.B., Song, S.I., Kim, C.H., Kim, Y.S., Seo, H. S., Choi, Y.D., Nahm, B.H., and Kim, J.K. (2003) Expression of a bifunctional fusion of the *Escherichia coli* genes for trehalose-6-phosphate synthase and trehalose 6-phosphate phosphatase in transgenic rice plants increases trehalose

accumulation and abiotic stress tolerance without stunting growth. *Plant Physiol.*, **131**, 516–524.

Huang, J., Hirji, R., Adam, L., Rozwadowski, K.L., Hammerlindl, J.K., Wilf, A., and Selvaraj, G. (2000) Genetic engineering of glycinebetaine production toward enhancing stress tolerance in plants: metabolic limitations. *Plant Physiol.*, 122, 747–756.

- 105 Holmström, K.O., Somersalo, S., Mandal, A., Palva, T.E., and Björn, W. (2000) Improved tolerance to salinity and low temperature in transgenic tobacco producing glycine betaine. *Exp. Bot.*, 51, 177–185.
- 106 Castiglioni, P., Warner, D., Bensen, R.J., Anstrom, D.C., Harrison, J., Stoecker, M., Abad, M., Kumar, G., Salvador, S., D'Ordine, R., Navarro, S., Back, S.,

Fernandes, M., Targolli, J., Dasgupta, S., Bonin, C., Luethy, M.H., and Heard, J.E. (2008) Bacterial RNA chaperones confer abiotic stress tolerance in plants and improved grain yield in maize under water-limited conditions. *Plant Physiol.*, **147**, 446–455.

- 107 Belbahri, L., Boucher, C., Candresse, T., Nicole, M., Ricci, P., and Keller, H. (2001) A local accumulation of the *Ralstonia solanacearum* PopA protein in transgenic tobacco renders a compatible plant– pathogen interaction incompatible. *Plant J.*, 28, 419–430.
- 108 Verberne, M.C., Verpoorte, R., Bol, J.F., Jesus, M.B., and Linthorst, H.J.M. (2000) Overproduction of salicylic acid in plants by bacterial transgenes enhances pathogen resistance. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 18, 779–783.

7 Are Viruses Always Villains? The Roles Plant Viruses May Play in Improving Plant Responses to Stress

Stephen J. Wylie and Michael G.K. Jones

Abstract

Viruses have traditionally been seen as pathogens of plants and animals. Recent research has shown that most viruses induce no pathology in natural plant hosts and in some cases they may be of benefit in reducing damage from both biotic and abiotic stressors. New technologies are revealing that viruses are far more abundant and diverse than previously known, and unexpected roles as symbionts and as sources of genetic raw material for evolution are informing a new appreciation of the roles plant viruses play in nature.

7.1

Introduction

Approximately 2000 virus species are recognized by the International Committee on the Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV), and many are the stuff of nightmares. The influenza virus, for example, appears year after year, and scientists are locked into an annual battle to develop new vaccines against new strains. We are constantly reminded that this common human virus has the potential to mutate and quickly kill millions in devastating pandemics, as it did in 1918 [1]. Ebola virus causes death in 68% of human infections from multiple organ dysfunction syndrome [2]. Rinderpest devastated human civilizations for millennia by cutting swathes through their cattle and buffalo herds where they were domesticated. It is likely that lethal viruses such as rinderpest were responsible for some of the 10 great plagues of Egypt described in the Hebrew Bible [3].

In domesticated crop plants, viral epidemics have probably occurred since plants were first domesticated 10 000 years ago. They still occur today, and are particularly serious in places where subsistence farming is widely practiced, such as in parts of sub-Saharan Africa. For example, the important subsistence species cassava (*Manihot esculenta*) is an essential source of dietary carbohydrate. The plant is ideally suited to the region as it is able to yield a crop even on very marginal soils and under drought conditions. It is susceptible to a number of begomoviruses (family

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

© 2012 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

156 7 Are Viruses Always Villains? The Roles Plant Viruses May Play in Improving Plant Responses to Stress

Geminiviridae) collectively known as cassava mosaic viruses. Cassava mosaic disease (CMD) was recorded for the first time about 100 years ago but it remained benign until the 1990s when a recombinant hybrid of two begomoviruses was associated with a severe and rapidly spreading epidemic throughout East and Central Africa [4]. The epidemic affected most of Uganda causing losses of US\$ 60 million each year between 1992 and 1997 [5]. Farmers abandoned growing cassava in large parts of the country, and in eastern districts widespread food shortages led to famine-related deaths [6].

7.2

Viruses Are Abundant and Diverse

Today we are beginning to recognize viruses as the most abundant life forms on Earth, and for holding the greatest genetic diversity. It is this great diversity that makes viruses such a successful group. Although viruses are the simplest of life's many forms, their genomes are highly plastic, enabling them to ride the evolutionary wave where it takes them. They colonize life on every continent and some viruses even parasitize other viruses [7]. As new technologies have become available to study viral abundance and diversity, some astonishing figures have emerged. In seawater, for example, viruses are enormously abundant. Estimates range from 3 million virus particles per milliliter in the deep ocean to 100 million virus particles per milliliter in coastal waters. Assuming the volume of the oceans is 1.3×10^{21} liters and the average abundance of viruses is 3×10^9 per liter, then ocean waters contain $\sim 4 \times 10^{30}$ viruses. Because a marine virus is about 100 nm long, if they were stretched end on end they would span approximately 10 million light years [8]. The roles these viruses play in marine ecosystems are largely unknown but are likely to be highly significant.

In plant virology, the picture is less clear, but early indications are that there too viruses are considerably more abundant in plants than previously recognized. Approximately 900 plant viruses are recognized by the ICTV, in addition to a large number that have been described but are not assigned taxa. In a metagenomic study of randomly selected rainforest plants in Costa Rica, it was found that thousands of previously unknown viruses inhabit them [9]. Interestingly, none of the infected plants showed visible symptoms commonly associated with infection by viruses. In a similar metagenomic study of natural tallgrass prairie in Oklahoma, 25% of plants randomly sampled contained virus sequences, but only 2.3% had any visible symptoms of disease [10]. So far these types of studies in plants are preliminary, but they promise to reveal a diversity of plant viruses that is well beyond our current understanding.

7.3 Wild Versus Domesticated

Most of the plant viruses currently described are pathogens of cultivated plants, yet in natural ecosystems viruses appear to be abundant but induce few or no damaging symptoms of virus infection. What could be the reason for these apparently divergent reactions? Do symptoms occur more widely in wild plants than are observed? Is the prevalence of symptom-inducing viruses an artifact inadvertently created by plant pathologists whose skills lie in detecting disease and diseasecausing viruses in domesticated plants? Whatever the case, the question remains, why are domesticated plants often so severely affected by pathogenic viruses, when their wild cousins are not?

Fields of crops differ in crucial ways from surrounding wild plant communities. Edible domesticated plants have been bred for greatly enhanced food value, and are thereby favored by arthropod vectors of plant viruses. Modern crops are usually genetically uniform and are planted in dense stands, enabling ease of harvest. This means that viruses that successfully invade one individual are able to rapidly spread through the crop. The wild progenitors of most crop species evolved in lands far distant from where they are grown today. This means that crops have only recently become exposed to viruses that evolved in the areas they currently grow. Recent associations between a plant and a virus it has never "seen" before are much more likely to induce severe symptoms than an ancient association [11]. None of these factors apply to wild plants living in natural systems. Wild plants have multiple defense mechanisms against the organisms that feed on them. There is wide genetic variation between individuals and plants may grow widely apart from one another. Possibly the most important factor is that the viral associations they have may be of a long-standing nature.

7.4 New Encounters

Judging from the wide diversity of plant viruses currently known, plants and viruses have undoubtedly coevolved over millennia. The place where a virus or its host evolves is its center of biodiversity. There, its members have the greatest genetic diversity. An example of this was reported from wild leguminous plants indigenous to a small region in the southwestern tip of Australia. Endemic Hardenbergia comptoniana plants from there were often infected with a potyvirus named Hardenbergia mosaic virus (HarMV). There is a considerable variation in morphology of H. comptoniana plants, indicating wide genetic diversity in the host, and plants responded to infection by the virus in widely different ways - from asymptomatic to severe reactions (in a small number of cases). When over 30 isolates of the virus were collected from across its natural range, the viral coat protein genetic diversity was very high, up to 24%. Such high variation is typical of an organism that evolved in an isolated area or host over an extended period of time [12]. When this virus spread naturally from its natural host to a recently introduced leguminous crop plant, narrow-leafed lupin (Lupinus angustifolius), the new host reacted with severe deformation and flower abortion. In some cases, the lupin plants died [13].
It is probable that scenarios resembling this one are the initial events that eventually lead to viral epidemics. The trigger for epidemics may be the physical location of a crop species close to original vegetation and/or the introduction of a new vector that is capable of transmitting certain types of viruses. An important example is the spectacular emergence of the begomoviruses over the past 20 years or so. This group of viruses and their aggressive partner, the whitefly *Bemisia tabaci*, have piggybacked on transportation and agricultural production systems to explode from their centers of origin to became serious threats to primary production in tropical and subtropical areas and in glasshouses the world over [14]. The role of humans in this process is obvious, and as the climate warms, new opportunities for viruses and their vectors will undoubtedly arise.

Not every domesticated plant/virus association results in deformation or death. There are a number of "latent" or "symptomless" viruses known that do not induce symptoms in their hosts.

7.5

Roles for Viruses in Adaptation and Evolution

If most virus relationships with wild plants generally do not induce disease, do they have an ecological role? Do virus infections benefit plants in any way? In some cases, they do. Some plants infected with a mild strain of a virus are immune to much more damaging strains of the same virus. Indeed, in regions where citrus tristeza virus is a severe pathogen, growers deliberately infected trees with a mild strain of the virus to protect their crops from serious damage [15].

Another means by which virus infection may benefit a host plant is through the process of "spillover," a competitive strategy resembling biological warfare. This is recorded in wild oats (*Avena fatua*) infected by the generalist virus (one with a wide host range) *Barley yellow dwarf virus* (BYDV). Wild oats display mild symptoms when infected with BYDV, and but other grasses growing in the same plant communities become severely stunted after infection. Wild oats gain a competitive advantage when they act as a reservoir for BYDV, which is spread by vectors to nearby susceptible grasses, thereby limiting competition. BYDV spillover from *A. fatua* decreased the abundance of two other host grass species through pathogenmediated competition [16].

Under laboratory conditions, some plants infected with viruses are able to withstand longer periods without water than uninfected plants. Xu *et al.* [17] showed that *Nicotiana benthamiana* plants infected with tobacco mosaic virus (TMV), cucumber mosaic virus (CMV), brome mosaic virus (BMV), or tobacco rattle virus (TRV) survived longer under drought conditions than uninfected plants. The same was true for rice infected with BMV, for *Nicotiana tabacum* (tobacco) plants infected with TMV, and for beet, cucumber, pepper, water-melon, squash, tomato, *Chenopodium amaranticolor*, and *Solanum habrochaites* plants infected with CMV. In addition, beet infected with CMV survived cold treatments that killed uninfected plants.

The precise mechanisms of this phenomenon are not known. A widespread protective mechanism against drought and frost in plants is the accumulation of certain organic metabolites – the osmoprotectants and antioxidants [18–20]. Virus infection also stimulates accumulation of some of these compounds. A profile of the metabolites in BMV-infected rice and CMV-infected beet showed that levels of plant osmoprotectants were higher in virus-infected plants than in uninfected plants [17]. Virus presence can stimulate other stress-related responses. In *Arabidopsis*, cauliflower mosaic virus infection induced lipid transfer protein expression, which is also regulated by environmental stimuli, for example, high and low temperatures, drought, abscisic acid, and osmotic stress [21]. Similarly, heat shock proteins and defense-like proteins are induced in some plants infected by viruses [22], conceivably priming them to withstand biotic and abiotic stresses.

A mutualistic association among a virus (*Curvularia* thermal tolerance virus), a fungal endophyte (*Curvularia protuberata*), and a tropical panic grass (*Dichanthelium lanuginosum*) is essential for survival of all three species under the extreme conditions in which they grow. The plant can tolerate soil temperatures of up to 65 °C in geothermal areas of Yellowstone National Park. When the plant and fungus are separated, neither is able to grow at temperatures above 38 °C. When the fungus was "cured" of the virus and reintroduced to the plant, heat tolerance was not conferred, but heat tolerance was restored after the virus was reintroduced. The virus-infected fungus confers heat tolerance not only to its native panic grass host but also to an unrelated host plant, which suggested that the underlying mechanism involves pathways that are conserved between plants [23].

White clover plants are often infected by the persistent virus *White clover cryptic virus* (WCCV). When white clover plants are grown in high nitrogen-containing soils, the plant uses the coat protein gene of WCCV to suppress nodulation [24].

Perhaps the most profound way in which viruses might benefit their hosts is as a source of genetic material. Horizontal gene transfer during infection can occur from host to virus or from virus to host, and both have been observed. In the host to virus direction, viral acquisition of a number of plant genes including a heat shock protein in *Beet yellows virus* has happened over evolutionary history [25]. In the virus to host direction, retrovirus (RNA viruses with reverse transcriptase activity) elements are common in the genomes of many nonplant organisms, including humans where human endogenous retroviral (HERV) elements account for 42.2% of the genome [26]. Some are of benefit; for example, at least 50% of the human-specific HERV-K long-terminal repeats act *in vivo* as active promoters for host DNA transcription, contributing to the expression of nearby genes, whereas others are detrimental, being implicated in disease [27].

In plants, instead of retrovirus sequences their genomes contain elements of reverse-transcribing DNA viruses (pararetroviruses) such as *Banana streak virus*, *Tobacco vein clearing virus*, and *Petunia vein clearing virus* [28], and surprisingly, some non-reverse-transcribing RNA viral elements [29]. Most plant pararetroviral elements are inactive during normal plant development but some are activated by biotic and abiotic stresses such as wounding, pathogen attack, or tissue culture [30–32]. Genetic material from RNA viruses is derived from plus-sense,

160 7 Are Viruses Always Villains? The Roles Plant Viruses May Play in Improving Plant Responses to Stress

minus-sense, and double-stranded RNA viruses. Some RNA viral sequences integrated in plant genomes are obviously of ancient origin as they are conserved across genera, whereas others are more recent, retained only in a limited number of species. These sequences serve as molecular tools for deciphering evolutionary relationships among plants. There is as yet little information about whether integrated viral components are utilized by plants. The *Arabidopsis thaliana* gene ILR2 has high sequence identity with the coat protein gene of *Rosellinia necatrix partitivirus 2* (RnPV2) and is thought to be derived from it. ILR2 regulates indole-3-acetic acid (IAA)–amino acid conjugate sensitivity and is functional in root development [29].

7.6 Conclusions

The examples given show that in at least some cases viruses play positive roles in plant adaptation and evolution. The widely held dogma, held even by some plant pathologists, that viruses are always villains is certainly incorrect. It is likely that many more persistent and mutualistic relationships between viruses and plants, and other creatures [33–36], will be uncovered as new technologies make it easier to detect and describe viruses and their effects on hosts. Similarly, as more plant genome sequences become available, deeper roles for viruses in plant evolution may be revealed. Study into all aspects of plant/virus associations is ramping up as high-throughput sequencing technologies are utilized in this exciting field. Questions to be asked in greater depth than were previously possible include the roles viruses play in plant ecology and evolution, the importance of mutualistic associations under a climate predicted to become warmer and drier, and the role of host biodiversity in disease emergence.

References

- Taubenberger, J. and Morens, D. (2006) 1918 Influenza: the mother of all pandemics. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.*, 12, 15–22.
- 2 Suzuki, Y. and Gojobori, T. (1997) The origin and evolution of Ebola and Marburg viruses. *Mol. Biol. Evol.*, 14, 800–806.
- **3** Huygelen, C. (1997) The immunization of cattle against rinderpest in eighteenth-century Europe. *Med. Hist.*, **41**, 182–196.
- 4 Legg, J.P. and Fauquet, C.M. (2004) Cassava mosaic geminiviruses in Africa. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, **56**, 585–599.
- 5 Otim-Nape, G.W., Bua, A., Thresh, J.M., Baguma, Y., Ogwal, S., Ssemakula, G.N., Acola, G., Byabakama, B.A., Colvin, J., Cooter, R.J., and Martin, A. (1997) *Cassava Mosaic Virus Disease in East Africa and Its Control*, Natural Resources Institute, Chatham, UK, p. 100.
- 6 Thresh, J.M. and Otim-Nape, G.W. (1994) Strategies for controlling African cassava mosaic geminivirus. *Adv. Dis. Vector Res.*, 10, 215–236.
- 7 La Scola, B. (2008) The virophage as a unique parasite of the giant mimivirus. *Nature*, 455, 100–104.

- 8 Suttle, C.A. (2005) Viruses in the sea. *Nature*, **437**, 356–361.
- 9 Roossinck, M.J., Saha, P., Wiley, G.B., Quan, J., White, J.D., Lai, H., Chavarría, F., Shen, G., and Roe, B.A. (2010) Ecogenomics: using massively parallel pyrosequencing to understand virus ecology. *Mol. Ecol.*, **19** (Suppl. 1), 81–88.
- 10 Muthukumar, V., Melcher, U., Pierce, M., Wiley, G.B., Roe, B.A., Palmer, M.W., Thapa, V., Ali, A., and Ding, T. (2009) Non-cultivated plants of the Tallgrass Prairie Preserve of northeastern Oklahoma frequently contain virus-like sequences in particulate fractions. *Virus Res.*, 141, 169–173.
- 11 Keesing, F., Belden, L.K., Daszak, P., Dobson, A., Harvell, C.D., Holt, R.D., Hudson, P., Jolles, A., Jones, K.E., Mitchell, C.E. *et al.* (2010) Impacts of biodiversity on the emergence and transmission of infectious diseases. *Nature*, 468, 647–652.
- 12 Webster, C., Jones, R.A.C., Coutts, B.A., Jones, M.G.K., and Wylie, S.J. (2007) Virus impact at the interface of an ancient ecosystem and a recent agroecosystem: studies on three legume-infecting potyviruses in the southwest Australian floristic region. *Plant Pathol.*, 56, 729–742.
- 13 Luo, H., Wylie, S.J., Coutts, B.A., Jones, R.A.C., and Jones, M.G.K. (2011) A virus of an isolated indigenous flora spreads naturally to an introduced crop species. *Ann. Appl. Biol.*, 159, 339–347.
- 14 Navas-Castillo, J., Sanchez-Campos, S., Noris, E., Louro, D., Accotto, G.P., and Moriones, E. (2000) Natural recombination between *Tomato yellow leaf curl virus*-Is and *Tomato leaf curl virus*. J. Gen. Virol., 81, 2797–2801.
- 15 Bar-Joseph, M., Marcus, R., and Lee, R.F. (1989) The continuous challenge of *Citrus tristeza virus* control. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.*, 27, 291–316.
- 16 Power, A.G. and Mitchell, C.E. (2004) Pathogen spillover in disease epidemics. *Am. Nat.*, 164 (S5), S79–S89.
- 17 Xu, P., Chen, F., Mannas, J.P., Feldman, T., Sumner, L.W., and Roossinck, M.J. (2008) Virus infection improves drought tolerance. *New Phytol.*, **180**, 911–921.

- 18 Bohnert, H.J., Nelson, D.E., and Jensen, R.G. (1995) Adaptations to environmental stresses. *Plant Cell*, 7, 1099–1111.
- 19 Nuccio, M.L., Rhodes, D., McNeil, S.D., and Hansen, A.D. (1999) Metabolic engineering of plants for osmotic stress resistance. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, 2, 128–134.
- 20 Rontein, D., Basset, B., and Hanson, A.D. (2002) Metabolic engineering for osmoprotectant accumulation in plants. *Metab. Eng.*, 4, 49–56.
- **21** Sohal, A.K., Pallas, J.A., and Jenkins, G.I. (1999) The promoter of a *Brassica napus* lipid transfer protein gene is active in a range of tissues and stimulated by light and viral infection in transgenic *Arabidopsis. Plant Mol. Biol.*, **41**, 75–87.
- 22 Whitham, S.A., Yang, C., and Goodin, M.M. (2006) Global impact: elucidating plant responses to viral infection. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.*, 19, 1207–1215.
- 23 Márquez, L.M., Redman, R.S., Rodriguez, R.J., and Roossinck, M.J. (2007) A virus in a fungus in a plant – three-way symbiosis required for thermal tolerance. *Science*, 315, 513–515.
- 24 Nakatsukasa-Akune, M., Yamashita, K., Shimoda, Y., Uchiumi, T., Abe, M., Aoki, T., Kamizawa, A., Ayabe, S., Higashi, S., and Suzuki, A. (2005) Suppression of root nodule formation by artificial expression of the TrEnodDR1 (coat protein of White clover cryptic virus 1) gene in Lotus japonicus. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact., 18, 1069–1080.
- 25 Agranovsky, A.A., Boyko, V.P., Karasev, A.V., Koonin, E.V., and Dolja, V.V. (1991) Putative 65 kDa protein of beet yellows closterovirus is a homologue of HSP70 heat shock proteins. *J. Mol. Biol.*, 217, 603–610.
- 26 Kurth, R. and Bannert, N. (2010) Beneficial and detrimental effects of human endogenous retroviruses. *Int. J. Cancer*, 126, 306–314.
- 27 Buzdin, A., Kovalskaya-Alexandrova, E., Gogvadze, E., and Sverdlov, E. (2006) At least 50% of human-specific HERV-K (HML-2) long terminal repeats serve *in vivo* as active promoters for host nonrepetitive DNA transcription. *J. Virol.*, 80, 10752–10762.

- 162 7 Are Viruses Always Villains? The Roles Plant Viruses May Play in Improving Plant Responses to Stress
 - 28 Harper, G., Hull, R., Lockhart, B., and Olszewski, N. (2002) Viral sequences integrated into plant genomes. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.*, 40, 119–136.
 - 29 Chiba, S., Kondo, H., Tani, A., Saisho, D., Sakamoto, W., Kanematsu, S., and Suzuki, N. (2011) Widespread endogenization of genome sequences of non-retroviral RNA viruses into plant genomes. *PLoS Pathog.*, 7, e1002146.
 - 30 Grandbastien, M.-A. (1998) Activation of plant retrotransposons under stress conditions. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 3, 181–187.
 - **31** Hirochika, H. (1993) Activation of tobacco retrotransposons during tissue culture. *EMBO J.*, **12**, 2521–2528.
 - 32 Kubiriba, J., Legg, J.P., Tushemereirwe, W., and Adipala, E. (2001) Vector

transmission of *Banana streak virus* in the screenhouse in Uganda. *Ann. Appl. Biol.*, **139**, 37–43.

- 33 Roossinck, M.J. (2011) The good viruses: viral mutualistic symbioses. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.*, 9, 99–108.
- **34** Villarreal, L.P. (2007) Virus–host symbiosis mediated by persistence. *Symbiosis*, **44**, 1–9.
- 35 Moran, N.A., Degnan, P.H., Santos, S.R., Dunbar, H.E., and Ochman, H. (2005) The players in a mutualistic symbiosis: insects, bacteria, viruses, and virulence genes (Inaugural article). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 102, 16919–16926.
- 36 Roossinck, M.J. (2005) Symbiosis versus competition in the evolution of plant RNA viruses. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.*, 3, 917–924.

Risk Assessment of Abiotic Stress Tolerant GM Crops

Paul Howles and Joe Smith

Abstract

8

Genetically modified (GM) crops engineered with herbicide tolerance and/or insect resistance have been grown on a commercial scale throughout the world for well over a decade. A new generation of GM crops, containing a greater variety of traits, including tolerance to abiotic stresses, is currently in field trials and/or approaching commercialization. Whereas engineering of herbicide tolerance or insect resistance can be achieved by insertion of single genes with clearly defined roles and highly specific mechanisms, tolerance to abiotic stresses involves the interaction of numerous genes and regulatory pathways. This chapter outlines the likely issues for consideration in risk assessment for the commercial release of a GM plant with a novel abiotic stress tolerance trait. To inform the discussion, the chapter begins with an overview of current understanding of plant responses to abiotic stress, and how this knowledge is being used to engineer various types of stress tolerance into GM plants.

8.1 Introduction

In 2010, the global area planted with biotech crops containing engineered herbicide tolerance and insect resistance was in excess of 145 million hectares [1]. However, it is likely that the future course of genetically modified (GM) crop commercialization will be characterized by plants containing a greater variety of engineered traits. These traits, sometimes referred to as second-generation GM crop traits, include abiotic and biotic stress tolerance, as well as increased nutritional value and modification to improve the use of the plant material as biofuels [2].

The impetus for the development of these plants can be put down to a number of factors. First, in recent years the needs and associated environmental consequences of the increasing world population have become a growing source of concern. In the year 1800 the world population was under 1 billion, while it had exceeded 6 billion in 2000, with estimates that it may exceed 9 billion by 2050 [3]. Human

Improving Crop Productivity in Sustainable Agriculture, First Edition.

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

© 2012 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

164 8 Risk Assessment of Abiotic Stress Tolerant GM Crops

civilization has always impacted upon the environment, but industrialization and population growth have led to its degradation at an unprecedented rate. Interlinked with this is the concern that agriculture will no longer be able to feed the increasing population in many parts of the world. With such a background, maintaining if not increasing crop yields has become a focal point of attention among both politicians and agricultural scientists.

Second, from the perspective of the biotech companies, although herbicidetolerant and insect-resistant GM crops have proven a financial success, diversification of the portfolio of available products by any company is sound strategy and may potentially reap significant commercial gains [4]. Finally, although attempts at the generation of plants with increased stress tolerances through traditional breeding and mutagenesis have met with some success, they have not produced plants that cope with any of these stresses in a profoundly remarkable manner [5]. Further, at least in the case of breeding with wild relatives, undesirable genes are often transferred along with those expressing the desired trait, necessitating multiple backcrosses to remove them (even then presuming they are not linked). For these reasons, use of other technologies, such as genetic modification, has become more attractive to tackle these stresses [6].

8.2 Abiotic Stress

Abiotic stress can be defined as any nonliving factor that produces a harmful impact upon a plant (or animal). These factors are extremes in the surrounding environment, the most important being drought, excess water (floods), salinity, the presence of toxic chemicals such as heavy metals, nutrient deficiencies, excessive cold or hot temperatures, UV irradiation, fire, and high winds.

Although all these factors can substantially reduce yield and/or restrict the geographical range of a plant, drought is the most significant. The availability of only a limited amount of water, or even none at all, negatively impacts the growth of crops worldwide [7]. Moreover, agriculture accounts for over 80% of freshwater used by humans, but most of this water is lost, either through direct evaporation into the atmosphere or through transpiration by plants themselves [8]. However, the simultaneous occurrence of more than one abiotic stress is usually more detrimental to plant growth than exposure to a single stress. As abiotic stress combination can rarely be analyzed as a sum of the individual stresses, it has been suggested that such combinations should be viewed as new stresses [9].

Natural mechanisms by which plants deal with abiotic stresses are often classified as either avoidance or tolerance [10]. Avoidance mechanisms refer to those that affect the morphology and/or physiology of the plant, the most common being root structure or depth, the length of the life cycle, and the number and structure of stomata. Tolerance mechanisms are those that result from changes in the levels and/or activity of molecules within cells, but that are not associated with large-scale morphological/physiological effects. Such molecules include osmoprotectants, membrane ion transporters, dehydrin proteins, and reactive oxygen species.

Morphological and physiological avoidance responses to many abiotic stresses, especially heavy metals, nutrient deficiency, and UV irradiation, are similar [11]. These frequently include inhibition of cell elongation, redifferentiation of some cells, and the localized stimulation of cell division (leading, for example, to the formation of lateral roots). Responses to drought include reducing the surface area exposed to evaporation (losing leaves), while both salinity and drought are characterized by closing of stomata and reduction in growth [12, 13]. On the other hand, tolerance to an abiotic stress is manifested by responses such as reestablishment of cellular homeostasis, detoxification, and repair of damaged tissues [14].

Ultimately, the response of a plant to abiotic stress is due to changes in the temporal and spatial expression of genes. However, it is the tolerance mechanisms (Figure 8.1), involving switches in gene expression that are easier to characterize (especially by modern technologies such as genomics), that provide greatest scope for biotechnological manipulation [10, 15].

8.3 Abiotic Stress Traits are Mediated by Multiple Genes

As stated above, the engineering of herbicide tolerance and insect resistance has involved the insertion of single genes with clearly defined roles and mechanisms, which directly produce the desired trait. However, tolerance to abiotic stresses involves the interaction of numerous genes and their associated regulatory pathways. Exposure of *Arabidopsis* to stresses such as drought and cold affects the expression of hundreds, if not thousands, of genes [16]. These complex changes in gene expression provide difficulties for researchers in unraveling these traits. Although the expression of a gene may be experimentally linked to tolerance to a given abiotic stress, the role that this gene plays in producing that trait may not be clear.

Furthermore, even if the expression of multiple genes can be associated with each other, and with tolerance to a given abiotic stress, it may be technically difficult to generate a GM plant with all these genes. Obviously, it is easier to insert single genes into transformation vectors and characterize the resulting GM plants. Generating a GM plant containing a number of genes (either by transformation with a single vector containing all the genes or by crossing individual GM plants) is labor intensive. As a result, researchers have largely concentrated on the insertion of single genes for abiotic stress tolerance, but it is expected that multigene GM plants will follow.

A large number of genes have been implicated in abiotic stress responses, and shown to enhance tolerance to these stresses when their expression is purposely manipulated in GM plants [17]. Protein products of such genes can be classified into a number of groups. The most important of these groups are the transcriptional regulators, post-translational modifiers of proteins, proteins associated with





Figure 8.1 Abiotic stress responses. Abiotic stresses trigger signal pathways that often involve transcription factor activation of gene expression. The protein products of these latter genes act to mitigate the effects of the stress, with roles including repairing membranes, extruding ions, and/or promoting the translation of other proteins. Abbreviations:

MAP, mitogen-activated protein; CDPK, calcium-dependent protein kinase; ABA, abscisic acid; DREB, dehydration response element binding protein; CBF, C repeat binding factor; ABF, abscisic acid responsive element binding factor; bZIP, basic leucine zipper transcription factor. (Modified from Ref. [10].) ABA (abscisic acid) metabolism, phospholipases, and proteins known to protect the conformation of other proteins, the so-called molecular chaperones [18]. Although the engineering of constitutive or inducible expression of genes is the common strategy to confer stress tolerance, this trait can sometimes be generated by downregulation [19].

The genes that code for the cold shock proteins (CSPs) from bacteria, which function as RNA chaperones, are promising candidates for the production of both drought and freezing tolerance [7, 20]. Other genes likely to prove significant in the engineering of abiotic stress tolerance are those for which the protein products regulate the expression of multiple (downstream) genes [14, 17]. These genes code for components of signal transduction pathways, such as transcription factors. Here the strategy is to manipulate signal transduction pathways, by either the activation or deactivation of key components, to transmit the signal in a manner that evokes a more effective response. Nevertheless, selecting worthwhile candidate genes for the engineering of abiotic stress tolerance is demanding. Often the lack of a clear understanding of the link between a gene and the expressed trait means that the use of some single genes may be based upon naïve experimental design and expected outcomes [21]. Also, plants possessing single genes are less likely to show the desired phenotype when assayed under various field conditions [18].

8.4 Pleiotropy and Abiotic Stress Responses

Due to the regulatory role of many genes implicated in abiotic stress tolerances, it is not surprising that expression of such genes has often been associated with pleiotropic effects. The overlap (sharing of components) between signal transduction pathways could occur at the stage of receptors, signaling pathways, and/or transcription factors. Some of these pathways are also linked to hormones such as ABA and ethylene, these hormones being essential components of both abiotic and biotic stress responses as well as developmental processes. In the case of ABA, while some abiotic stress response pathways are dependent upon this hormone and others act without reference to it, there is likely interaction of these response pathways in downstream steps [22]. As the ethylene signaling pathway is linked to a range of biochemical processes, manipulation of a component of this pathway for one purpose is frequently accompanied by other unintended effects [23].

The mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) are regulatory proteins, presumptively acting in "upstream" roles, which are known to be involved in abiotic stress responses. In general, these proteins form a sequential cascade, transducing a signal from the plasma membrane to the cytoplasm or nucleus. Some MAPK pathways in plants have been linked to multiple abiotic stresses [24, 25]. In *Arabidopsis*, a MAPK cascade was found to be induced by both cold and salinity, and engineered overexpression of one of the pathway genes gave tolerance to both of these stresses [26]. Overexpression of this gene was marked by changes in

168 8 Risk Assessment of Abiotic Stress Tolerant GM Crops

expression of over 150 genes, including upregulation of genes coding for transcription factors such as DREB1C (described below).

In "downstream" positions, a number of transcription factors have been linked to multiple abiotic stress responses. Perhaps the most well-known example is the DREB/CBF transcription factors that bind to the DRE/CRT (dehydration responsive element/C-element) sequences in the promoters of genes, inducing the expression of these genes [27, 28]. In *Arabidopsis*, while the *DREB1A*, *DREB1B*, and *DREB1C* genes appear specifically induced by only cold, both the *DREB2A* and *DREB2B* genes are responsive to drought and high salinity [28]. However, overexpression of the *DREB1A* and *DREB1B* genes in *Arabidopsis* induced tolerance to a range of abiotic stresses. Homologues of the *Arabidopsis DREB2* genes from other plant species are likewise generally responsive to multiple abiotic stresses in wild-type plants. The *DREB2A* gene from maize, for example, was found to be induced by cold, heat, drought, and salinity [29].

Other transcription factors that are responsive to a range of abiotic stresses include members of the calcium-dependent protein kinase (CDPK) and ABA-responsive element binding protein (AREB) families [30–32]. For example, overexpression of the maize ABP9 protein (a member of the AREB family) in *Arabidopsis* resulted in enhanced tolerance to drought, salinity, cold, and oxidative stress [32]. At least in the case of *Arabidopsis*, members of the AREB family of proteins likely form both homo- and heterodimers in the nucleus and possess overlapping functions [33].

A pleiotropic effect may be unrelated to abiotic stress tolerance. In particular, there often appears to be crosstalk between abiotic and biotic stress response pathways [16]. Many examples illustrate this phenomenon. Overexpression in tobacco of a rice gene coding for a ubiquitin E3 ligase produced plants with enhanced resistance to infection by both bacterial and viral pathogens, and increased drought tolerance [34]. Further, the modified plants had defects in their growth and development. Similarly, overexpression of a tobacco transcription factor in that plant resulted in both tolerance to salt and resistance to a bacterial pathogen [35], while individual overexpression of two fungal chitinases in tobacco induced tolerance to salt and heavy metals, as well as increased resistance to fungal and bacterial pathogens [36]. Examples from natural populations also illustrate pleiotropic effects. One of these is the observed correlation in some plants between tolerance to heavy metals and ability to resist attack by pathogens, a phenomenon that likely involves at least partially overlapping signaling pathways [37].

8.5

General Concepts of Risk Analysis

The trialing and commercialization of GM crops has been accompanied by the development of stringent regulatory requirements, aimed to protect the health and safety of people and protect the environment. A number of documents have played a significant role in the development of the logic and rationale for risk analysis. The

most important of these are the 1983 report from the US Academy of Sciences National Research Council (the "Red Book") and the 1986 OECD booklet entitled *Recombinant DNA Safety Considerations* (the "Blue Book") [38, 39]. The latter was the first intergovernmental document that addressed the risks posed by GMOs. It proposed that potential risks should be considered before the release of any GMO, and that all risk assessments should be guided by existing data on human and environmental effects of organisms, as well as proceeding on a case-by-case basis [40]. Later, Annex III of the 2000 Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety (a supplement to the Convention on Biological Diversity) provided a limited outline on how risk assessments should be conducted. This includes emphasizing that any assessment should be conducted in a scientifically sound and transparent manner.

Although the procedure of risk analysis differs between countries, it is essentially based upon risk assessment, a risk management plan, and risk communication. Risk assessment involves the identification of risks (hazards), and the subsequent characterization of the likelihood and consequences of each. In essence, it involves postulating a series of "what if" scenarios, whereby plausible pathways to potential harm are generated [41, 42]. The assessment of individual risks could be presented in either qualitative or quantitative terms, but usually in the case of GMOs they are described in qualitative language. The qualitative risk analysis approach used in Australia by the Office of the Gene Technology Regulator (OGTR) is described in the *Risk Analysis Framework* [43]. This includes use of a risk matrix, with likelihood and consequence axes, to estimate the level of risk, the extremes being negligible and high.

The conclusions from the risk assessment are used to formulate a risk management plan, which is designed to mitigate any identified risks. Risk communication refers to consultations with relevant government organizations, scientists, and the members of the public. This process occurs throughout risk analysis.

8.6 Risk Assessment and Abiotic Stress Tolerance

Risk assessments for small-scale field trials of GM crops with introduced genes associated with abiotic stress tolerance traits have been conducted in a number of countries, including the United States and Australia. In the United States, the Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) has published preliminary environmental and plant pest risk assessments for the nonregulated status of Monsanto's drought-tolerant maize (MON87460) and environmental assessments (2007, 2009) for ArborGen's cold-tolerant/altered lignin *Eucalyptus* [44–47].

In Australia, the OGTR has prepared risk assessments and risk management plans for field trials of a number of GM crops with abiotic stress tolerances including tolerance to drought, heat, and waterlogged soils (see Table 8.1 and http://www. ogtr.gov.au). Risk assessments for these trials were conducted within a context that included limits in time and space as well as controls to minimize the likelihood of any adverse effects. The same approach was used for the assessment of field trials

170 8 Risk Assessment of Abiotic Stress Tolerant GM Crops

Application number	Сгор	Trait
DIR067/2006	Cotton	Waterlogging tolerance
DIR070/2006	Sugarcane	Enhanced water use efficiency
DIR071/2006	Wheat	Drought tolerance
DIR077/2007	Wheat and barley	Drought and boron tolerances
DIR080/2007	Wheat	Drought tolerance
DIR081/2007	Cotton	Water use efficiency
DIR083/2007	Cotton	Waterlogging tolerance
DIR095	Sugarcane	Drought tolerance and nitrogen use efficiency
DIR100	Wheat	Heat tolerance and water use efficiency
DIR102	Wheat	Drought, salinity, and cold tolerances

 Table 8.1
 Dealings involving an intentional release (DIR) into the environment, issued by the

 Australian Office of the Gene Technology Regulator, which involve plants with abiotic stress
 tolerance traits.

All these DIRs have been for small-scale field trials (limited and controlled releases).

of GM crops with herbicide tolerance and/or insect resistance. The consideration of appropriate limits and controls in the risk assessment of proposed field trials minimizes the likelihood of an adverse effect, and these limits and controls are imposed as license conditions to maintain this context and the validity of the assessment.

The commercial release of any GM plant implies the large-scale and largely unregulated growth of the plant in the environment. The context for such an assessment would differ from the context for a field trial, as there would be few or no limits and controls. The risk assessment for the release of such a plant will entail considering many of the same issues considered in risk assessments for commercial release of GM plants with herbicide tolerance and/or insect resistance. However, additional issues arise that are peculiar to abiotic stress traits, in particular the choice of comparator and potential wider pleiotropic effects. Further, the complex molecular character of responses to abiotic stress (in contrast to the relatively simple mechanisms of herbicide tolerance and insect resistance traits) implies that any risk assessment may have to proceed without knowledge of the exact mechanism underlying the trait. It has been suggested that an in-depth knowledge of the mechanism is really unnecessary for any risk assessment of these crops, the defining trait per se being the important starting point for assessment [48]. Nevertheless, if the mechanism of tolerance is clearly understood, incorporating it into risk assessment will be beneficial, especially in relation to potential pleiotropic effects, and will add weight to the conclusions.

As a background to the risk assessment of any GM plant, it must be appreciated that not only may the expression of the introduced gene(s) induce an adverse effect, but such an effect may also result from the act of insertion into the host genome. The transformation of genes into plants often results in integration occurring preferentially in certain chromosomes, and in certain regions of these chromosomes [49, 50]. However, unless a gene is specifically introduced into an already engineered and characterized site [51], it is not possible to predict the exact site of insertion. In this context, an insertion could disrupt the sequence of an endogenous gene, leading to the complete absence of the final gene product (whether that be RNA (e.g., rRNA, microRNA) or protein) or the expression of a nonfunctional gene product. Alternatively, the insertion could result in either overexpression or underexpression of an adjacent gene. The subsequent alteration in the level of the derived protein, or its catalytic product(s), may be the cause of an adverse effect.

8.6.1 Choice of Comparator

The standard comparator for the risk assessment of GM plants is the conventional non-GM parent plant. For herbicide tolerance and insect resistance traits, the non-GM variety provides an adequate comparator as the engineered traits are found neither in any variety of the same species, nor usually in any related species. Moreover, such GM plants are usually engineered to be put back into the environments they normally inhabit, but with a trait that will enhance their production.

However, the selection of a comparator for GM plants with abiotic stress tolerance presents two issues. First, abiotic stress tolerance traits are sometimes found in other varieties of the same species. These latter plants often possess other traits that make them unsuitable for agriculture, but at the same time, their expression of the engineered trait may make them useful comparators. In such cases, it may be prudent to assess the GM plant against both the unmodified parent plant and those related varieties that express the trait. For example, a number of comparator lines may make it easier to ascertain if the GM trait is accompanied by increased weediness. Also, any pleiotropic effects observed in the GM plant may occur in unmodified relatives, and the consequences of these effects may have been the subject of published studies.

Second, a plant may be engineered with a trait that enables it to thrive in a particular environment where the unmodified plant is incapable of surviving beyond germination. In this case, information on the weediness of the unmodified plant in that environment will not be available or obtainable by future research, and the weediness of the GM plant will have to be assessed without direct reference to this comparator. An example is a plant engineered to withstand cold. Such a plant will be able to grow in cooler climates, especially the winters, where the unmodified parent plant cannot persist. The latter plant will hence be unable to provide comparative data from the new environment for risk assessment [52].

8.6.2 Production of an Allergenic or Toxic Substance

The insertion into a plant of one of more genes for a particular abiotic stress tolerance trait could be accompanied by an increase in the level of an endogenous, or the production of a novel, allergenic, or toxic compound. Such a trait

172 8 Risk Assessment of Abiotic Stress Tolerant GM Crops

would almost certainly represent a distinct risk to human and/or animal health, and it is not likely that a plant possessing it would be selected for commercialization.

Consideration of the origin and known properties of the probable inserted genes makes such a scenario unlikely. Most of the genes that have been proposed as useful for abiotic stress tolerance are derived from plants, or microorganisms, with which humans have had extensive contact [17]. Any presently known, or future discovered, negative effect of the protein product of such a gene on human health would immediately disqualify the gene from ever being transformed into a plant. However, as the potential risk of any compound to human health is proportional to the amount consumed (and hence to the quantity in the food), the increased expression of any introduced gene in a GM plant may warrant consideration in any risk assessment. Also, there is the possibility that a protein, nonallergenic in its natural host, will be allergenic when expressed in a novel context, or sensitize endogenous proteins of the host [53].

The above noted regulatory nature of many candidate genes for abiotic stress tolerance engineering and the likelihood that such genes may have pleiotropic effects are notable differences to the genes used to generate herbicide tolerance and insect resistance. It is thus expected that the metabolic profile of abiotic stress-tolerant crops will be perturbated substantially more than that seen with the currently commercialized GM crops [52]. This likelihood means that in the risk assessments of abiotic stress-tolerant GM plants, greater consideration should be given to data arising from compositional analysis. Nevertheless, as discussed in more detail below, the experience from traditional breeding is that novel toxicants and allergenic compounds are rarely a problem in new crop varieties.

8.6.3

Invasiveness and Weediness

The engineering of abiotic stress tolerance into a plant may be aimed at increasing the growth and productivity of that plant in its established range, and/or extending the range of the plant into regions where environmental variables have previously restricted its survival or productivity. Even if this is not the case, compared to GM crops containing herbicide tolerance and/or insect resistance genes, those engineered to have tolerance to abiotic stresses are predicted to have greater fitness, consequently increasing the chance that they will colonize and establish in new regions [2, 54]. Many crop species are prevented from establishing successful breeding populations outside cultivated areas as a consequence of abiotic (and biotic) conditions. If one or more of these restrictive conditions are overcome by a GM crop, then it may effectively "escape" its previous environmental shackles. Whether this escape is desired or not, its consequences for the environment must be assessed.

Expansion into new regions will likely bring any plant into contact with plants with which it has previously been geographically separated. These latter plants may be either sexually compatible relatives or those with which breeding is impossible. Hybridization between the GM crop plant and a wild relative could lead to the abiotic stress tolerance trait being transferred to the wild plant, possibly increasing its invasiveness or persistence. A further possibility to consider is that a compatible species may be endangered. Crossbreeding between the two species, possibly followed by natural backcrossing to the GM crop, may lead to extinction of the endangered species [55].

Another issue that may deserve attention is pest and disease burden. In a new environment, a GM plant could face either an increase or a decrease in pressure from pests and diseases. In the case of greater pressure from these biotic factors, the plants may become a greater reservoir for their multiplication, while if there is less pressure, the plants may be more prone to develop into weeds.

An analysis of gene expression in natural populations of sunflower provides an example of how there may be links between stress responses in a plant and weediness [56]. In this study, comparing separate wild (nonweedy) and weedy populations of sunflower, it was demonstrated that genes associated with abiotic and biotic stress were significantly overrepresented among those genes showing variation between the two types of populations. Most of these genes were downregulated in the weedy populations. This possibly reflects a cost in maintaining active abiotic and biotic stress response pathways, with weeds downregulating these pathways to concentrate on the increased rates of growth necessary to compete in agricultural fields. If this scenario is related to plants engineered with abiotic stress tolerance, expression of such traits may sometimes act as a brake on the development of weediness.

8.6.4 Pleiotropic Effects

The relatively simple biochemical basis to engineered herbicide tolerance and insect resistance has meant that associated pleiotropic effects have been limited [23]. However, as noted above, many of the genes associated with abiotic stress code for regulatory proteins, such as transcription factors, most of which have established pleiotropic properties. Although signaling pathways are often depicted as being linear, most are part of complex networks (Figure 8.2). Further, control of these pathways is nearly always exerted at a number of points, and usually entails feedback loops, where the product of a downstream reaction affects the expression of an upstream step [57]. Consultation of the published literature will enable all known roles of a gene, or at least its protein product, to be established, and from such data plausible scenarios constructed for how the gene may influence other traits. However, pleiotropic effects from the insertion of a gene into the genome of a plant will often be difficult to predict.

Increased toxicity, allergenicity, and weediness of a GM plant may all be due to pleiotropic effects of the introduced gene. In regards to weediness, the frequent occurrence in plants engineered for one abiotic tolerance of pleiotropic effects related to other abiotic and/or biotic stresses would likely be important in any risk

174 8 Risk Assessment of Abiotic Stress Tolerant GM Crops



Figure 8.2 Outline of the signaling pathways leading from the abiotic stresses of drought, cold, and salinity to the activation of response genes. These pathways can be either dependent on or independent of ABA, and there may be overlap of these pathways in downstream steps. Involvement of the same pathway in response to multiple stresses may result in pleiotropic effects. Exposure and tolerance to one stress may be accompanied by tolerance to one or more other stresses. Two major groups of

transcription factors, DREB/CBF and AREB/ABF, are illustrated but other groups of such factors are also induced by abiotic stresses. These factors bind to specific *cis*-elements in the promoters of "stressinducible" target genes, thus activating their expression. The protein products of the latter genes participate in the induction of the abiotic stress tolerance phenotype. For abbreviations, see Figure 8.1. (Modified from Refs [22, 28].)

assessment. However, other pleiotropic effects of the genetic modification, such as changes in the levels of organic metabolites and inorganic ions (possibly affecting the nutritional value), may occur in a GM plant.

Laboratory and then field trials are the best method to collect information pertaining to the presence and significance of any pleiotropic effects in a GM plant. Expression of two cold shock proteins, *E. coli* CSPA and *B. subtilis* CSPB, in *Arabidopsis*, rice, and maize conferred the desired cold, heat, and drought tolerance (indicating the genetic interrelatedness of these traits). No pleiotropic effects were noted in relation to plant size or development [7]. In a more theoretical study, the *Arabidopsis* ABF3 gene was overexpressed in that plant [58]. Overexpression of this gene conferred tolerance to drought and other abiotic stresses. Microarray analysis suggested that this was due only to modification of pathways that normally respond to these stresses. It was concluded that beyond modifying the abilities of plants to resist other abiotic stresses, unintended pleiotropic effects in engineering drought tolerance through this specific genetic modification may be minimal.

Published risk assessments for small-scale field trials of engineered abiotic stress-tolerant plants have briefly considered the issue of gene pleiotropy. Assessments produced by the OGTR for such field trails note that the insertion of any

gene can potentially have pleiotropic effects, giving rise to novel traits (see www. ogtr.gov.au). APHIS' environmental risk assessment for field trials of modified *Eucalyptus* (2009) makes particular reference to the use of a stress-inducible promoter (*rd29A*) to drive the production of the CBF protein [45]. This promoter will likely alleviate negative effects on agronomic traits, which have been observed when CBF genes are driven by a constitutive promoter. As part of the environmental risk assessments of maize modified for drought tolerance, APHIS used data from the applicant regarding abiotic and biotic stress responses of the modified plant compared to the control [46, 47].

It should be appreciated that any unintended pleiotropic effect may not be detrimental to the survival of a plant or its use as a food commodity, but in fact advantageous. This especially applies to biotic responses. If a GM plant engineered for an abiotic stress is found to be more resistant to infection by a pathogen, then it may well prove a boon for the use and commercialization of that plant.

Finally, although rarely mentioned in the risk assessments of GM plants, the epistatic interactions of genes are worth considering. Here, two or more genes interact with each other to control the expression of a single phenotype. The introduction of a genetic modification to a plant may therefore lead to the obscuring of a trait that is beneficial to the survival and reproduction of the plant.

8.6.5 Gene Transfer to Another Organism

Genes can be transferred between organisms by either so-called "horizontal" and "vertical" means. The transfer of a gene to a recipient organism, whether an endogenous gene or a genetic modification introduced into the donor organism by genetic engineering and transformation, is not in itself an adverse outcome. The risk is that the transfer of a gene could confer upon the recipient organism an undesirable trait, such as toxicity, allergenicity, or weediness.

Horizontal gene transfer is the transfer of genes to other organisms without a parent–offspring relationship. The major mechanism involving plants as the donor organism is the transduction of genetic material by viruses [59]. A number of conditions have to be met for genetic material to be transferred from a plant to another organism by horizontal gene transfer, and for this material to become part of the genetic makeup of the descendents of that recipient organism. These include contact between the plant (or material derived from it) and the organism, transfer of the genetic material to the organism, and survival and reproduction of the recipient organism. Moreover, for any genetic material to be maintained in a recipient organism and its descendants, there must be a selective advantage. Each of these steps is in itself unlikely, and as such the successful completion of all an extremely rare event.

Some putative examples of DNA transfer from plants to bacteria are known, and the feasibility of the process has been demonstrated in experimental studies [60, 61]. However, there is no evidence to conclude that the process is widespread, and many examples reflect extremely ancient events. Viruses are capable of taking up

176 8 Risk Assessment of Abiotic Stress Tolerant GM Crops

host DNA sequences, but only some, most particularly retroviruses and DNA viruses, are surmised to commonly transfer DNA to host eukaryotic genomes [62]. It should also be noted that if any host DNA is transferred to a viral genome, it most often represents sequences of viral origin that have previously been incorporated into the plant genome. It is likely that there has been transfer of DNA between plants and fungi, but such transfer is again proposed to be rare, and even then it may largely involve plants that are not angiosperms [63, 64]. Animals may eat and digest a GM plant, but the transfer of DNA to the germ line cells has not been demonstrated.

In summary, the risk of horizontal gene transfer from any GM plant to a recipient organism is negligible. Other than the case of using viral sequences in a construct to be inserted in a plant (which potentially may be prone to recombination with infecting plant viruses), there is no reason to expect that the sequences in a construct itself are more subject to horizontal gene transfer than the endogenous DNA. The basic assessment of these risks will not be changed by the use of DNA sequences designed to produce abiotic stress tolerance.

Vertical gene transfer in plants occurs by hybridization with a sexually compatible plant, either of the same or of different genera. Hybridization is a common and well-documented phenomenon in the plant kingdom [65]. The risk with an abiotic stress-tolerant plant is that the plant could hybridize with another plant and either transfer an undesirable trait to the recipient or induce such a trait in the recipient. Hybridization may be more likely with plants with abiotic stress tolerance, if as noted above these traits themselves may increase the fitness of the plants, leading to an extension of their range of habitats and the chance that they will cross with sexually compatible plants.

8.7

Abiotic Stress Tolerance Engineered by Traditional Breeding and Mutagenesis

Traditional breeding and mutagenesis have both been used to generate crops with tolerance to various abiotic stresses. Examples from traditional breeding include drought-tolerant varieties of barley, chickpea, pearl millet, rice, and tomatoes [66–69]. The generation of some of these plants has involved hybridization with appropriate wild relatives, previous research having established that these possess useful traits. Mutagenesis, through exposure of seed to either radiation or chemical treatment, has likewise produced a number of successful varieties of crop species. These include drought-resistant and cold-tolerant varieties of wheat, and varieties of rice with various agronomic and nutritional traits [70–72].

Traditional plant breeding has nearly always incorporated backcrossing and observation of the plants over a number of generations prior to commercialization. Plants containing the desired properties are selected, whereas those failing to have these properties, or exhibiting unwanted features, are discarded. As standard practice, breeders have compared their newly generated varieties against the parent(s) and other related varieties on the market. This approach has meant that the safety of these novel plants for human consumption is largely based on trial and error, but its utility has been rarely questioned [73, 74]. It has resulted in the release of numerous new plant varieties, with virtually no undesirable toxic and allergenic properties for the consumer [75]. Such plants present a useful context for any risk assessment of a plant with a GM abiotic stress tolerance trait.

A GM plant usually contains only one or a small number of insertions of a known gene, the genomic positions of these insertions usually being defined. Hence, it is anticipated that GM plants with engineered abiotic stress tolerance will rarely have properties (such as weediness or compounds of concern to human health) that are not predictable on the basis of the known functions of inserted gene(s). Nonetheless, it remains appropriate that risk assessment proceeds on a case-by-case basis.

8.8 Conclusions

Herbicide-tolerant and insect-resistant GM crops are widely grown. In 2010, crops containing one or both of these traits were grown in over 25 countries. Significant proportions of canola, cotton, maize, and soybean grown worldwide (over 75% for soybean) are GM crops with these traits [1]. GM plants with other introduced traits, such as abiotic stress tolerance, are nearing commercial release. Regulatory decision making for approval of these crops will continue to use the same risk assessment framework established for the current GM crops. However, it is expected that the potential weediness of plants with abiotic stress tolerance traits will receive greater attention, reflecting both the intrinsic nature of these traits and the increased possibility of associated pleiotropic effects.

Acknowledgments

We thank Brian Weir, Will Tucker, Paul Keese, and Michael Dornbusch for their valuable comments in the preparation and editing of this manuscript.

References

- James, C. (2010) Executive Summary. Global Status of Commercialized Biotech/GM Crops: 2010. ISAAA Brief 42-2010, Ithaca, NY.
- 2 Warwick, S.I., Beckie, H.J., and Hall, L.M. (2009) Gene flow, invasiveness, and ecological impact of genetically modified crops. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.*, **1168**, 72–99.
- 3 James, C. (2009) Executive Summary. Global Status of Commercialized Biotech/GM Crops: 2009. ISAAA Brief 41-2009, Ithaca, NY.
- 4 Gilbert, N. (2010) Inside the hothouses of industry. *Nature*, **466**, 548–551.
- 5 Pardo, J.M. (2010) Biotechnology of water and salinity stress tolerance. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 21, 185–196.

- 178 8 Risk Assessment of Abiotic Stress Tolerant GM Crops
 - 6 Tester, M. and Bacic, A. (2005) Abiotic stress tolerance in grasses. From model plants to crop plants. *Plant Physiol.*, 137 (3), 791–793.
 - 7 Castiglioni, P., Warner, D., Bensen, R.J., Anstrom, D.C., Harrison, J., Stoecker, M. *et al.* (2008) Bacterial RNA chaperones confer abiotic stress tolerance in plants and improved grain yield in maize under water-limited conditions. *Plant Physiol.*, 147, 446–455.
 - 8 Morison, J.I.L., Baker, N.R., Mullineaux, P.M., and Davies, W.J. (2008) Improving water use in crop production. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B*, 363, 639–658.
 - 9 Mittler, R. (2006) Abiotic stress, the field environment and stress combination. *Trends Plant Sci.*, **11**, 15–19.
 - 10 Vinocur, B. and Altman, A. (2005) Recent advances in engineering plant tolerance to abiotic stress: achievements and limitations. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 16, 123–132.
 - 11 Potters, G., Pasternak, T.P., Guisez, Y., Palme, K.J., and Jansen, M.A.K. (2007) Stress-induced morphogenic responses: growing out of trouble? *Trends Plant Sci.*, 12, 98–105.
 - 12 Chaves, M.M., Flexas, J., and Pinheiro, C. (2009) Photosynthesis under drought and salt stress: regulation mechanisms from whole plant to cell. *Ann. Bot.*, **103**, 551–560.
 - 13 Chaves, M.M., Maroco, J., and Pereira, J. (2003) Understanding plant responses to drought – from genes to the whole plant. *Funct. Plant Biol.*, 30, 239–264.
 - 14 Zhu, J.K. (2002) Salt and drought stress signal transduction in plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol., 53, 247–273.
 - 15 Bohnert, H.J., Gong, Q., Li, P., and Ma, S. (2006) Unraveling abiotic stress tolerance mechanisms – getting genomics going. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, 9, 180–188.
 - 16 Des Marais, D.L. and Juenger, T.E. (2010) Pleiotropy, plasticity, and the evolution of plant abiotic stress tolerance. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.*, 1206, 56–79.
 - 17 Amudha, J. and Balasubramani, G. (2011) Recent molecular advances to combat abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. *Biotechnol. Mol. Biol. Rev.*, 6, 31–58.

- 18 Yang, S., Vanderbeld, B., Wan, J., and Huang, Y. (2010) Narrowing down the targets: towards successful genetic engineering of drought-tolerant crops. *Mol. Plant*, 3, 469–490.
- 19 Cominelli, E. and Tonelli, C. (2010) Transgenic crops coping with water scarcity. *New Biotechnol.*, 27, 473–477.
- 20 Kim, M.H., Sasaki, K., and Imai, R. (2009) Cold shock domain protein 3 regulates freezing tolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 284, 23454–23460.
- 21 Parry, M.A.J., Flexas, J., and Medrano, H. (2005) Prospects for crop production under drought: research priorities and future directions. *Ann. Appl. Biol.*, 147, 211–226.
- 22 Tuteja, N. (2007) Abscisic acid and abiotic stress signaling. *Plant Signal. Behav.*, 2, 135–138.
- 23 Little, H.A., Grumet, R., and Hancock, J.F. (2009) Modified ethylene signaling as an example of engineering for complex traits: secondary effects and implications for environmental risk assessment. *HortScience*, 44, 94–101.
- 24 Rodriguez, M.C.S., Petersen, M., and Mundy, J. (2010) Mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling in plants. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, 61, 621–649.
- 25 Sinha, A.K., Jaggi, M., Raghuram, B., and Tuteja, N. (2011) Mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling in plants under abiotic stress. *Plant Signal. Behav.*, 6, 196–203.
- 26 Teige, M., Scheikl, E., Eulgem, T., Doczi, R., Ichimura, K., Shinozaki, K. *et al.* (2004) The MKK2 pathway mediates cold and salt stress signaling in *Arabidopsis*. *Mol. Cell*, **15**, 141–152.
- 27 Knight, H. and Knight, M.R. (2001) Abiotic stress signalling pathways: specificity and cross-talk. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 6, 262–267.
- 28 Nakashima, K., Ito, Y., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2009) Transcriptional regulatory networks in response to abiotic stresses in *Arabidopsis* and grasses. *Plant Physiol.*, 149, 88–95.
- 29 Qin, F., Kakimoto, M., Sakuma, Y., Maruyama, K., Osakabe, Y., Tran, L.S.P. et al. (2007) Regulation and functional analysis of ZmDREB2A in response to

drought and heat stresses in *Zea mays* L. *Plant J.*, **50**, 54–69.

- 30 Fujita, Y., Fujita, M., Satoh, R., Maruyama, K., Parvez, M.M., Seki, M. et al. (2005) AREB1 is a transcription activator of novel ABRE-dependent ABA signaling that enhances drought stress tolerance in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell, 17, 3470–3488.
- 31 Li, A., Wang, X., Leseberg, C.H., Jia, J., and Mao, L. (2008) Biotic and abiotic stress responses through calciumdependent protein kinase (CDPK) signaling in wheat (*Triticium aestivum* L.). *Plant Signal. Behav.*, 3, 654–656.
- 32 Zhang, X., Wang, L., Meng, H., Wen, H., Fan, Y., and Zhao, J. (2011) Maize ABP9 enhances tolerance to multiple stresses in transgenic *Arabidopsis* by modulating ABA signaling and cellular levels of reactive oxygen species. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 75, 365–378.
- 33 Yoshida, T., Fujita, Y., Sayama, H., Kidokoro, S., Maruyama, K., Mizoi, J. *et al.* (2010) AREB1, AREB2, and ABF3 are master transcription factors that cooperatively regulate ABRE-dependent ABA signaling involved in drought stress tolerance and require ABA for full activation. *Plant J.*, **61**, 672–685.
- 34 Liu, H., Zhang, H., Yang, Y., Li, G., Yang, Y., Wang, X. *et al.* (2008) Functional analysis reveals pleiotropic effects of rice RING-H2 finger protein gene OsBIRF1 on regulation of growth and defense responses against abiotic and biotic stresses. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 68, 17–30.
- 35 Park, J.M., Park, C.J., Lee, S.B., Ham, B. K., Shin, R., and Paek, K.H. (2001) Overexpression of the tobacco *Tsi1* gene encoding an EREBP/AP2-type transcription factor enhances resistance against pathogen attack and osmotic stress in tobacco. *Plant Cell*, 13, 1035–1046.
- 36 de las Mercedes Dana, M., Pinto-Toro, J.A., and Cubero, B. (2006) Transgenic tobacco plants overexpressing chitinases of fungal origin show enhanced resistance to biotic and abiotic stress agents. *Plant Physiol.*, 142, 722–730.
- 37 Bomblies, K. (2010) Doomed lovers: mechanisms of isolation and incompatibility in plants. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, 61, 109–124.

- 38 National Research Council (1983) Risk Assessment in the Federal Government: Managing the Process, National Research Council, National Academy Press, Washington, DC.
- **39** OECD (1986) *Recombinant DNA Safety Considerations*, OECD.
- 40 Schiemann, J. (2006) The OECD blue book on recombinant DNA safety considerations: its influence on ISBR and EFSA activities. *Environ. Biosaf. Res.*, 5, 233–235.
- 41 Talas-Ogras, T. (2011) Risk assessment strategies for transgenic plants. *Acta Physiol. Plant.*, 33, 647–657.
- 42 Wolt, J.D., Keese, P., Raybould, A., Fitzpatrick, J.W., Burachik, M., Gray, A. *et al.* (2010) Problem formulation in the environmental risk assessment for genetically modified plants. *Transgenic Res.*, **19**, 425–436.
- **43** OGTR (2009) Risk Analysis Framework, 3 edn, version 3. Document produced by the Australian Government Office of the Gene Technology Regulator. Available at http:// www.ogtr.gov.au/.
- 44 APHIS (2007) Finding of No Significant Impact and Decision Notice. APHIS No. 06-325-111r. Available at http://www.aphis. usda.gov.
- **45** APHIS (2009) National Environment Policy Act Decision and Finding of No Significant Impact. APHIS Nos. 08-011-106rm and 08-014-101rm. Available at http://www.aphis.usda.gov.
- **46** APHIS (2011) Monsanto Company Petition (07-CR-191U) for Determination of Non-Regulated Status of Event MON87460. Draft Environmental Assessment. Available at http://www.aphis.usda.gov.
- 47 APHIS (2011) Plant Pest Risk Assessment for MON87460 Corn. Available at http:// www.aphis.usda.gov.
- 48 Nickson, T.E. (2008) Planning environmental risk assessment for genetically modified crops: problem formulation for stress-tolerant crops. *Plant Physiol.*, 147, 494–502.
- **49** Salvo-Garrido, H., Travella, S., Bilham, L.J., Harwood, W.A., and Snape, J.W. (2004) The distribution of transgene insertion

180 8 Risk Assessment of Abiotic Stress Tolerant GM Crops

sites in barley determined by physical and genetic mapping. *Genetics*, **167**, 1371–1379.

- 50 Zhang, J., Guo, D., Chang, Y., You, C., Li, X., Dai, X. *et al.* (2007) Non-random distribution of T-DNA insertions at various levels of the genome hierarchy as revealed by analyzing 13 804 T-DNA flanking sequences from an enhancer-trap mutant library. *Plant J.*, 49, 947–959.
- 51 Nanto, K. and Ebinuma, H. (2008) Marker-free site-specific integration plants. *Transgenic Res.*, 17, 337–344.
- 52 Wolt, J.D. (2009) Advancing environmental risk assessment for transgenic biofeedstock crops. *Biotechnol. Biofuels*, 2, 27.
- 53 Herman, E.M. and Burks, A.W. (2011) The impact of plant biotechnology on food allergy. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 22, 224–230.
- 54 Lu, B.R. (2008) Transgene escape from GM crops and potential biosafety consequences: an environmental perspective. International Centre for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (ICGEB). Collect. Biosaf. Rev., 4, 66–141.
- 55 Ellstrand, N.C. (2001) When transgenes wander, should we worry? *Plant Physiol.*, 125, 1543–1545.
- 56 Lai, Z., Kane, N.C., Zou, Y., and Rieseberg, L.H. (2008) Natural variation in gene expression between wild and weedy populations of *Helianthus annuus*. *Genetics*, 179, 1881–1890.
- 57 Hetherington, A.M. and Bardwell, L. (2011) Plant signalling pathways: a comparative evolutionary overview. *Curr. Biol.*, 21, R317–R319.
- 58 Abdeen, A., Schnell, J., and Miki, B. (2010) Transcriptome analysis reveals absence of unintended effects in droughttolerant transgenic plants overexpressing the transcription factor ABF3. BMC Genomics, 11, 69.
- 59 Keese, P. (2008) Risks from GMOs due to horizontal gene transfer. *Environ. Biosaf. Res.*, 7, 123–149.
- 60 Andersson, J.O. (2005) Lateral gene transfer in eukaryotes. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.*,
 62, 1182–1197.
- 61 Pontiroli, A., Rizzi, A., Simonet, P., Daffonchio, D., Vogel, T.M., and Monier, J.M. (2009) Visual evidence of horizontal

gene transfer between plants and bacteria in the phytosphere of transplastomic tobacco. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **75**, 3314–3322.

- 62 Liu, H., Fu, Y., Jiang, D., Li, G., Xie, J., Cheng, J. *et al.* (2010) Widespread horizontal gene transfer from doublestranded RNA viruses to eukaryotic nuclear genomes. *J. Virol.*, 84, 11876–11887.
- 63 Richards, T.A., Soanes, D.M., Foster, P.G., Leonard, G., Thornton, C.R., and Talbot, N.J. (2009) Phylogenomic analysis demonstrates a pattern of rare and ancient horizontal gene transfer between plants and fungi. *Plant Cell*, **21**, 1897–1911.
- 64 Larson, E.M. and Idnurm, A. (2010) Two origins for the gene encoding α-isopropylmalate synthase in fungi. *PLoS ONE*, 5, e11605.
- 65 Mallet, J. (2005) Hybridization as an invasion of the genome. *Trends Ecol. Evol.*, 20 (5), 229–237.
- **66** Gur, A. and Zamir, D. (2004) Unused natural variation can lift yield barriers in plant breeding. *PLoS Biol.*, **2**, e245.
- 67 Serraj, R., Hash, C.T., Rizvi, S.M.H., Sharma, A., Yadav, R.S., and Bidinger, F. R. (2005) Recent advances in markerassisted selection for drought tolerance in pearl millet. *Plant Prod. Sci.*, 8, 334–337.
- 68 Steele, K.A., Price, A.H., Shashidhar, H. E., and Witcombe, J.R. (2006) Markerassisted selection to introgress rice QTLs controlling root traits into an Indian upland rice variety. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 112, 208–221.
- 69 Hajjar, R. and Hodgkin, T. (2007) The use of wild relatives in crop improvement: a survey of developments over the last 20 years. *Euphytica*, 156, 1–13.
- 70 Njau, P., Kinyua, M., Kimurto, P., Okwaro, H., and Maluszynski, M. (2005) Drought tolerant wheat varieties developed through mutation breeding technique. J. Agric. Sci. Technol., 7, 18–29.
- 71 Tomlekova, N.B. (2010) Induced mutagenesis for crop improvement in Bulgaria. *Plant Mutat. Rep.*, 2, 4–27.
- 72 Ahloowalia, B.S., Maluszynski, M., and Nichterlein, K. (2004) Global impact of

mutation-derived varieties. *Euphytica*, **135**, 187–204.

- 73 Cellini, F., Chesson, A., Colquhoun, I., Constable, A., Davies, H.V., Engel, K.H. *et al.* (2004) Unintended effects and their detection in genetically modified crops. *Food Chem. Toxicol.*, 42, 1089–1125.
- 74 Pilacinski, W., Crawford, A., Downey, R., Harvey, B., Huber, S., Hunst, P. *et al.*

(2011) Plants with genetically modified events combined by conventional breeding: an assessment of the need for additional regulatory data. *Food Chem. Toxicol.*, **49**, 1–7.

75 Kuiper, H.A., Kleter, G.A., Noteborn, H.P.J.M., and Kok, E.J. (2001) Assessment of the food safety issues related to genetically modified foods. *Plant J.*, **27**, 503–528.

9 Biofertilizers: Potential for Crop Improvement under Stressed Conditions

Alok Adholeya and Manab Das

Abstract

Biofertilizers are low-cost, renewable source of plant nutrients that supplement chemical fertilizers. Besides promoting increased absorption of nutrients, they also help plant to withstand various biotic and abiotic stresses. They do not directly supply any nutrients to crops what chemical and organic fertilizers do and are cultures of special bacteria and fungi. The installation cost of a biofertilizer unit is very low and production technology is also very simple. Moreover, the long-term use of biofertilizers is economical, eco-friendly, more efficient, productive, and accessible to marginal and small farmers compared to chemical fertilizers. Although there are plenty of evidences of crop improvement under stressed conditions using biofertilizers, a few factors often limit the potential of biofertilizers in fields, which include poor shelf life, lack of suitable carrier materials, susceptibility to high temperature, and problems in transportation and storage. Thus, more field application-based research and outreach activities are required to get optimum results from biofertilizer application and its promotion.

9.1 Introduction

Indiscriminate application of synthetic fertilizers has led to the pollution and contamination of soil and water basins and destroyed microorganisms and friendly insects, making the crops more prone to diseases and leading to reduced soil fertility. Therefore, in order to make agriculture sustainable, it is necessary to implement a balanced and responsible agricultural practice. Thus, an approach is adopted to introduce into the soil potential microorganisms, a practice known as inoculation. The inoculants are also known as biofertilizers. They are low-cost, renewable source of plant nutrients that supplement chemical fertilizers. Besides promoting increased absorption of nutrients, they also help plant to withstand various biotic and abiotic stresses. In this chapter, the discussion is restricted to a review of the main group of biofertilizers and their role in crop improvement under stressed conditions.

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

© 2012 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

9.2

What Is Biofertilizer?

Biofertilizer is a ready-to-use live formulation of such beneficial microorganisms that on application to seed, root, or soil mobilize the availability of nutrients by their biological activity. However, many other definitions and interpretations of the term biofertilizer exist [1]. Important functions of such microbes are as follows:

- Convert ambient nitrogen into forms that the plants can use (nitrate and ammonia).
- Solubilize the insoluble forms of phosphates such as tricalcium, iron, and aluminum phosphates in available forms.
- Decay organic residues with nutrients and CO₂ release.
- Produce hormones and antimetabolites that promote plant growth.
- Defend plants against pathogens by outcompeting pathogens for food.
- Increase soil porosity by gluing soil particles together that aid in water filtration. If pore spaces are too small, they cannot break the surface tension of a water droplet, and water will run off, instead of saturating the soil, where it can be taken up by plant roots.

9.3

How It Differs from Chemical and Organic Fertilizers

Both chemical and organic fertilizers are widely used in agriculture and their advantages and disadvantages are well documented (Table 9.1). Biofertilizers differ from chemical and organic fertilizers in the sense that they do not directly supply any nutrients to crops and are cultures of special bacteria and fungi. The production technology for biofertilizers is relatively simple and installation cost is very low compared to chemical fertilizer plants [2]. Besides, the long-term use of biofertilizers is economical, eco-friendly, more efficient, productive, and accessible to marginal and small farmers compared to chemical fertilizers [3].

9.4

Type of Biofertilizers

Based on functional differences, biofertilizers can be classified as follows:

- 1) Nitrogen-fixing biofertilizer, for example, *Rhizobium* for legume crops, *Azoto-bacter*/*Azospirillum* for nonlegume crops, *Acetobacter* for sugarcane only, and blue-green algae (BGA) and *Azolla* for lowland paddy.
- 2) Phosphorus solubilizing biofertilizer, for example, *Bacillus, Pseudomonas*, and *Aspergillus*.
- 3) Phosphorus mobilizing biofertilizer, for example, mycorrhizae.
- 4) Plant growth promoting biofertilizer, for example, *Bacillus* sp. and *Pseudomonas* sp.

Table 9.1 Advantages and disadvantages of using chemical and organic biofertiliz	ers [2].
Chemical fertilizers	Organic fertilizers
<i>Advantages</i> 1. Nutrients are soluble and immediately available to the plants; therefore, the effect is usually direct and fast. 2. The price is lower and more competitive than organic fertilizers, which makes them more acceptable and often applied by users. 3. They are quite high in nutrient content; only relatively small amounts are required for crop growth.	 <i>Adwantages</i> 1. The nutrient supply is more balanced, which helps to keep plants healthy. 2. They enhance soil biological activity, which improves nutrient mobilization from organic and chemical sources and decomposition of toxic substances. 3. They enhance the colonization of mycorrhizae, which improves P supply. 4. They enhance the colonization of mycorrhizae, which improves P supply. 5. They increase the organic matter content of the soil, therefore improving the exchange capacity of nutrients, increasing soil water retention, promoting soil aggregates, and buffering the soil against acidity, alkalinity, salinity, pesticides, and toxic heavy metals. 6. They release nutrients slowly and contribute to the residual pool of organic N and P in the soil, reducing N leaching loss and P fixation; they can also supply micronutrients. 7. They supply food and encourage the growth of beneficial microorganisms and earthworms. 8. They help to suppress certain plant diseases, soil-borne diseases, and parasites.

9.4 Type of Biofertilizers 185

Chemical fertilizers	
DisadvantagesDisadvantages1. Overapplication can result in negative effects such as leaching, pollution of water resources, destruction of microorganisms and friendly insects, crop water resources, destruction of microorganisms and friendly insects, crop susceptibility to disease attack, acidification or alkalization of the soil, or reduction in soil fertility – thus causing irreparable damage to the overall system.Disadvantages 1. They are comparatively low in nutrient content, provide enough nutrients for crop growth.1. Overapplication of microorganisms and friendly insects, crop susceptibility to disease attack, acidification or alkalization of the soil, or reduction in soil fertility – thus causing irreparable damage to the overall system.Disadvantages trovide enough nutrients for crop growth.2. Oversupply of N leads to softening of plant tissue resulting in plants that are more sensitive to diseases and pests.J. The major plant nutrients may not exist in orga quantity to sustain maximum crop growth.3. They reduce the colonization of plant troots with mycorrhizae and inhibit symbiotic N fixation by rhizobia due to high N fertilization.A. The nutrient composition of compost is highly.4. They enhance the decomposition of soil OM, which leads to degradation of soil structure.S. Iong-term or heavy application to agricultural so or heavy metal accumulation and may adversely at organisms, water quality, and animal and human organisms, water quality, and animal and human	 nutrient content, so larger volume is needed to p growth. o slow to meet crop requirements in a short time; may occur. y not exist in organic fertilizers in sufficient op growth. compost is highly variable; the cost is high in to agricultural soils may result in salt, nutrient, d may adversely affect plant growth, soil imal and human health.

Table 9.1 (Continued)

Microorganisms	Nutrient fixed (kg/ha/year)
Actinorhizae (Frankia sp.)	150 kg N ₂
Algae	25 kg N ₂
Azolla	900 kg N ₂
Azospirillum	10–20 kg N ₂
Rhizobium	50–300 kg N ₂
Azotobacter	0.026–20 kg N ₂
Mycorrhizae	Solubilize food phosphorus (60%)
Phosphate solubilizing bacteria and fungi	Solubilize about 50–60% of the fixed phosphorus in the soil

 Table 9.2
 Important microorganisms constituting biofertilizer and their contribution in nutrient fixation and mobilization.

Some examples of important microorganisms constituting biofertilizers and their contribution to nutrient fixation and mobilization are illustrated in Table 9.2 [4].

9.5 Description and Function of Important Microorganisms Used as Biofertilizers

9.5.1 Rhizobia

Rhizobia have the ability to fix atmospheric nitrogen (diazotroph). They make a symbiotic association with legumes and some nonlegumes such as *Parasponia*. *Rhizobium* bacteria enter into the roots through root hairs. They release certain stimulatory root exudates and form nodules. Inside the root, rhizobia invade expanded cells of cortex, and then differentiate into nitrogen-fixing "bacteroids." However, N₂-fixing capability of rhizobia varies greatly depending on the host plant species. Therefore, selection of best strains must take rhizobia host compatibility for selection of biofertilizers. The plant roots supply essential minerals and newly synthesized substances to the bacteria. Because of their N₂-fixing ability, legumes are less reliant on inorganic N fertilizers than many other nonlegume crops such as cereals and pasture grasses. N fixation by legumes can also maintain soil fertility and can be of benefit to the following crop. *Rhizobium* inoculation is a well-known agronomic practice to ensure adequate N supply for legumes in place of N fertilizer. Heavier application of inoculums mixed into peat granules trickled into soil as the seeds are planted is an alternative technique to encourage nodulation [2].

9.5.2 Azotobacter and Azospirillum

Azotobacter is a heterotrophic free-living nitrogen-fixing bacterium present in alkaline and neutral soils. It also increases germination and vigor in young plants leading to improved crop stands.

188 9 Biofertilizers: Potential for Crop Improvement under Stressed Conditions

Apart from its ability to fix atmospheric nitrogen in soils, it can also synthesize growth promoting substances, namely, auxins, gibberellins, and also to some extent the vitamins. Many strains of *Azotobacter* sp. can also produce antifungal compounds to fight against many plant pathogens. Response of *Azotobacter* has been seen in rice, maize, cotton, sugarcane, pearl millet, vegetables, and some plantation crops.

Azospirillum is a free-living or nonsymbiotic bacterium (does not form nodules but makes association by living in the rhizosphere) and does not need a specific host plant. Azospirillum species establish an association with many plants, particularly with C_4 plants such as maize, sorghum, sugarcane, and so on. It is the most common organism and can form associative symbiosis on a large variety of plants.

9.5.3

Blue-Green Algae or Cyanobacteria

Among the N₂-fixing microorganisms, only blue-green algae are able to generate their own photosynthate from CO₂ and water [5]. This trophic independence makes BGA especially attractive as a biofertilizer. The blue-green algae are small organisms and can be seen under the microscope as a single cell or large accumulation of cells (colonies) or strings of cells (trichomes). Some accumulations may be so large that they are easily seen with the naked eye. Blue-green algae are also known by different names, such as cyanophytes, cyanobacteria, and most recently cyanoprokaryotes. They have a similar external appearance to that of algae and their requirements for light, nutrients, and carbon dioxide are also similar. Certain types of blue-green algae have tiny gas vesicles in their cells, which regulate them to float to the water surface or sink to the bottom in response to the changing of light and nutrient availability.

The blue-green alga (Anabaena azollae) forms a symbiotic relationship with Azolla (aquatic fern) and fixes atmospheric nitrogen. BGA is associated with the Azolla occurring in a ventral pore in the dorsal lobe of each vegetative leaf. The endophyte fixes atmospheric nitrogen and resides inside the tissue of the water fern. Individually, BGA and Azolla can also be used in paddy fields. BGA are capable of performing photosynthetic activity as well as fix the atmospheric nitrogen in the flooded rice ecosystem. Azolla is a fast growing water fern and can double its weight within a week. Azolla is rich organic manure also. It mineralizes the soil nitrogen rapidly, which is made available to the crop in a very short period. Nitrogen release from Azolla is slow but steady, without leaching losses. It also serves as a protein-rich feed to fish and poultry. They use energy derived from photosynthesis to fix nitrogen, and hence are called autotrophs. They are free-living organisms. In addition to fixing atmospheric nitrogen, BGA also synthesize and liberate some growth promoting substances, namely, auxin and amino compounds, that stimulate the growth of rice plants.

9.6 Phosphate Solubilizing Bacteria

Under acidic or calcareous soil conditions, large amounts of phosphorus are fixed in the soil but are unavailable to the plants. Inorganic forms of P are solubilized by a group of heterotrophic microorganisms excreting organic acids that dissolve phosphatic minerals and/or chelate cationic partners of the P ions, that is, phosphate, releasing P into solution [6]. Phosphate solubilizing bacteria (PSB) are being used as biofertilizer since 1950s [7, 8]. Release of P by PSB from insoluble and fixed/adsorbed forms is an import aspect regarding P availability in soils. There are strong evidences that soil bacteria are capable of transforming soil P to the forms available to plant. Microbial biomass assimilates soluble P, and prevents it from adsorption or fixation [9].

9.7 Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria

Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) represent a wide variety of soil bacteria that, when grown in association with a host plant, result in stimulation of host growth. PGPR modes include fixing N_2 , increasing the availability of nutrients in the rhizosphere, positively influencing root growth and morphology, and promoting other beneficial plant-microbe symbioses. Some researchers have indicated that PGPR will often have multiple modes of action. The PGPR can induce mycorrhizal formation by stimulating hyphal growth out of the roots and also through provoking sporulation [10, 11]. Ratti *et al.* [12] found that a combination of the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus aggregatum* and the PGPR *Bacillus polymyxa* and *Azospirillum brasilense* maximized biomass and P content of the aromatic grass palmarosa (*Cymbopogon martinii*) when grown with an insoluble inorganic phosphate.

9.8 Mycorrhiza

Mycorrhizae form mutualistic symbiotic relationships with plant roots of more than 80% of land plants including many important crops and forest tree species [13–15]. They possess special structures known as vesicles and arbuscules. The plant roots transmit substances (some supplied by exudation) to the fungi, and the fungi aid in transmitting nutrients and water to the plant roots. The fungal hyphae may extend the root lengths 100-fold. The hyphae reach into additional and wetter soil areas and help plants absorb many nutrients, particularly the less available mineral nutrients such as phosphorus, zinc, molybdenum, and copper. There are seven types of mycorrhizae: arbutoid mycorrhiza, ectomycorrhiza, endomycorrhiza

190 9 Biofertilizers: Potential for Crop Improvement under Stressed Conditions

or arbuscular mycorrhiza, ectendomycorrhiza, ericoid mycorrhiza, monotropoid mycorrhiza, and orchid mycorrhiza [14, 16–19]. The two dominant types of mycorrhizae are ectomycorrhizae (ECM) and arbuscular mycorrhizae (AM) that can improve water and nutrient uptake and provide protection from pathogens but only a few families of plants are able to form functional associations with both AM and ECM fungi [20, 21]. Because they provide a protective cover, mycorrhizae increase seedling tolerance to drought, high temperatures, infection by disease fungi, and even extreme soil acidity. Plants that have coarse or limited root system benefit the most [2].

9.9

Inoculation of Biofertilizers

There are many ways to apply bacterial and fungal biofertilizers including seed coating, root dipping, seedling inoculation, scattering by hand, and in-furrow application with or without some carrier for the microorganisms, for example, peat, fly ash, clay materials, composts, or stickers [22].

Seed inoculation uses a specific strain of microbe that can grow in association with plant roots; soil conditions have to be favorable for the inoculants to perform well. Selected strains of N₂-fixing *Rhizobium* bacteria have proven to be effective as seed inoculants for legumes. The seed treatment can be done with any of two or more bacteria without antagonistic effect. In the case of seed treatment with *Rhizobium*, *Azotobacter*, or *Azospirillum* along with PSB, first the seeds must be coated with *Rhizobium*, *Azotobacter*, or *Azospirillum*. When each seed has a layer of the aforementioned bacteria, then the PSB inoculant has to be treated on the outer layer of the seeds. This method will provide maximum numbers of population of each bacterium to generate better results.

In soil inoculation, microbes are added directly to the soil where they have to compete with microbes already living in the soil that are already adapted to local conditions and greatly outnumber the inoculums. Inoculants of mixed cultures of beneficial microorganisms have considerable potential for controlling the soil microbiological equilibrium and providing a more favorable environment for plant growth and protection. Although inoculations with PSBs have not been very effective, joint inoculation of PSBs with mycorrhizae and N₂-fixing bacteria has been successful [2].

9.9.1

Carrier Materials for Biofertilizers

Biofertilizers are usually prepared as carrier-based inoculants containing effective microorganisms. Incorporation of microorganisms in carrier material enables easy handling, long-term storage, and high effectiveness of biofertilizers. Among various types of biofertilizers, bacterial inoculant is one major group that includes rhizobia, nitrogen-fixing rhizobacteria, plant growth promoting rhizobacteria, phosphate solubilizing bacteria, and so on. Various types of materials are used as carrier for seed or soil inoculation. For preparation of seed inoculant, the carrier material is milled to fine powder with particle size of $10-40\,\mu$ m. Peat is the most frequently used carrier material for seed inoculation. Peat-based rhizobial inoculant is already used in many countries and a lot of information is available on the properties and effect of the inoculant. The properties of a good carrier material [23] for seed inoculation are as follows:

- 1) nontoxic to inoculant bacterial strain;
- 2) good moisture absorption capacity;
- 3) easy to process and free of lump-forming materials;
- 4) easy to sterilize by autoclaving or gamma irradiation;
- 5) available in adequate amounts;
- 6) inexpensive;
- 7) good adhesion to seeds and good pH buffering capacity;
- 8) nontoxic to plants.

For soil inoculation, carrier materials with granular form (0.5–1.5 mm) such as peat, perlite, charcoal, and soil aggregates are generally used. Other essential criteria for carrier selection relating to survival of the inoculant bacteria should be considered.

- Survival of the inoculant bacteria on seed. Seeds are not always sown immediately after seed coating with the inoculant bacteria. The bacteria have to survive on seed surface against drying conditions until placed into soil.
- 2) Survival of the inoculant bacteria during the storage period.
- 3) Survival of the inoculant bacteria in soil. After being introduced into the soil, the inoculant bacteria have to compete with native soil microorganisms for the nutrient and habitable niche, and have to survive against grazing protozoa. Such carrier materials that offer the available nutrient and/or habitable micropore to the inoculant bacteria will be desirable. In this sense, materials with microporous structure, such as soil aggregate and charcoal, will be good carriers for soil inoculants.

Selection of carrier material is also a crucial step for formulation and application of fungal biofertilizers. Like a bacterial biofertilizer, the success of a carrier-based fungal biofertilizer depends on whether (a) it is economically viable to produce, (b) it does not alter the viability and function of the inoculum, and (c) it is easy to carry and enhance dispersal during application. The inoculum formulation may comprise one or more AM fungi and other organisms that together enhance the ability of the inoculum to form mycorrhizal associations with the target plant. The formulations are available in the form of powder, tablets/pellets or granules, gel beads, and balls [5, 22].

Sterilization of carrier material is essential to keep high number of inoculant bacteria on carrier for long storage period. Gamma irradiation is the most suitable way of carrier sterilization, because the sterilization process makes almost no

192 9 Biofertilizers: Potential for Crop Improvement under Stressed Conditions

change in physical and chemical properties of the material. In brief, carrier material is packed in thin-walled polyethylene bag, and then gamma irradiated at 50 kGy (5 Mrad). Another way of carrier sterilization is autoclaving. Carrier material is packed in partially opened, thin-walled polypropylene bags and autoclaved for 60 min at 121 °C. It should be noted that during autoclaving, some materials change their properties and produce toxic substance to some bacterial strains. http://www.fnca.mext.go.jp/bf/bfm/pdf/3_Carriers_for_Biofertilizer0331final.pdf.

9.10

Potential Role of Various Biofertilizers in Crop Production and Improvement

9.10.1

Bacterial Biofertilizers

Biofertilizers or microbial inoculants as an economic input play a significant role in increasing crop productivity; fertilizer (chemical and organic) doses can be lowered and more nutrients can be harvested from the soil. Under temperate conditions, inoculation of Rhizobium improved number of pods per plant, number of seeds per pod, and 1000-seed weight (g), and thereby yield over the control. The number of pods per plant, number of seeds per pod, and 1000-seed weight (g) recorded were 25.5, 17.1, and 4.7% more over the control, respectively, which was statistically significant [24]. In rice under lowland conditions, the application of BGA and Azospirillum proved significantly beneficial in improving leaf area index (LAI) and all yield attributing aspects. Grain yield and harvest index also exhibit a discernable increase with use of biofertilizers [25]. Afzal [26] found that seed and straw yield of green gram increased significantly up to single inoculation with *Rhizobium* under $20 \text{ kg N} + 45 \text{ kg P}_2 \text{O}_5 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ fertility level. Field trials carried out in different locations have demonstrated that under certain environmental and soil conditions inoculation with azotobacteria has beneficial effects on plant yields. The effect of Azotobacter chroococcum on vegetative growth and yields of maize has been studied by numerous authors [27-32], as well as the effect of inoculation with this bacterium on wheat [33-38]. The inoculation of faba bean with Rhizobium constantly resulted in severe increments in the fresh and dry weights of shoot, root, nodules, number of nodules, nodule dry weight, grain yield, and N2 fixation [39]. Inoculation with a compatible strain of rhizobia was found to enhance nodulation, dry weight of nodules, nitrogen fixation, and yield of alfalfa (Medicago sativa), fenugreek (Trigonella foenum-graecum), cluster bean (Cyamopsis tetragonolobus), field pea (Pisum sativum), and common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) grown in dry land. It was concluded that the productivity of leguminous crops in dry land could be improved by Rhizobium inoculation [40]. Acetobacterium species Asaia bogorensis [41] has been demonstrated to enhance growth of pineapple plants, probably through N2 fixation activity or by producing phytohormones [42, 43].

Phosphate rock minerals are often too insoluble because of their fixation in acidic and alkaline soils to provide sufficient P for crop uptake. Use of PSBs can increase crop yields up to 70% [44]. Combined inoculation of arbuscular mycorrhiza and PSB gives better uptake of both native P from the soil and P coming from the phosphatic rock [45, 46]. Higher crop yields result from solubilization of fixed soil P and applied phosphates by PSB [47]. Microorganisms with phosphate solubilizing potential increase the availability of soluble phosphate and enhance the plant growth by improving biological nitrogen fixation [48, 49]. Pseudomonas sp. enhanced the number of nodules, dry weight of nodules, yield components, grain yield, and nutrient availability and uptake in soybean crop [50]. Phosphate solubilizing bacteria enhanced the seedling length of Cicer arietinum [51], while co-inoculation of PSB and PGPR reduced P application by 50% without affecting corn yield [52]. Inoculation with PSB increased sugarcane yield by 12.6% [53]. Sole application of bacteria increased the biological yield, while the application of the same bacteria along with mycorrhizae achieved the maximum grain weight [54]. Single and dual inoculation along with P fertilizer was 30-40% better than P fertilizer alone for improving grain yield of wheat, and dual inoculation without P fertilizer improved grain yield up to 20% against sole P fertilization [55]. Mycorrhiza along with Pseudomonas putida increased leaf chlorophyll content in barley [54]. Rhizospheric microorganisms can interact positively in promoting plant growth, as well as N and P uptake. Seed yield of green gram was enhanced by 24% following triple inoculation of Bradyrhizobium + Glomus fasciculatum + Bacillus subtilis [47]. Growth and phosphorus content in two alpine Carex species increased by inoculation with Pseudomonas fortinii [56]. Integration of half dose of NP fertilizer with biofertilizer gives crop yield as with full rate of fertilizer, and through reduced use of fertilizers the production cost is minimized and the net return maximized [57].

Several associations between plants and beneficial bacteria also show a protective response under restrictive environmental conditions. Wheat and faba beans subjected to saline stress showed greater growth when inoculated with Azospirillum, compared to noninoculated plants [58, 59]. This favorable effect may be attributable directly to bacteria or indirectly to the effect on plant physiology. The production of microbial metabolites such as polysaccharides modifies the soil structure, and has a positive effect on plants grown under water stress. Growth parameters of sunflower plants under water stress inoculated with an exopolysaccharide (EPS)-producing Rhizobium sp. were greater than those in uninoculated plants [60]. Promotion effect in wheat plants was also observed after inoculation with an EPS-producing Pantoea agglomerans isolate [61]. In wheat plants inoculated with Paenibacillus polymyxa, the aggregation of rhizospheric soil depended on a bacterial polysaccharide that enlarged the amount of soil adhering to roots [62, 63]. Bacteria can also stimulate the plant to turn on particular metabolic activity like increasing its exudates, and consequently, improve rhizospheric soil qualities [64]. In the same way, after inoculation of Arabidopsis with P. polymyxa, the water stress gene ERD15 is switched on [65]. Inoculated plants show improved response against pathogenic colonization and drought stress in comparison to control plants. Hence, it seems that inoculation induces protection against biotic agents, and also against abiotic ones.

9.10.2 Fungal Biofertilizers

The fungi that are probably most abundant in agricultural soils and widespread from arctic to tropics are AM fungi. They account for 5-50% of the biomass of soil microbes [66]. AM fungi belong to nine genera: Acaulospora, Archaeospora, Entrophospora, Gerdemannia, Geosiphon, Gigaspora, Glomus, Paraglomus, and Scutellospora [17]. They play an important role in plant growth, health, and productivity [67, 68]. AM fungi help plants to absorb nutrients, especially the less available mineral nutrients such as copper, molybdenum, phosphorus, and zinc [69]. They increase seedling tolerance to drought, high temperatures, toxic heavy metals, high or low pH, and even extreme soil acidity [2, 70, 71]. AM fungi can also affect plant growth indirectly by improving the soil structure, providing antagonistic effects against pathogens and altered water relationships [13]. AM fungi can reduce the severity of soil-borne pathogens and enhance resistance in roots against root rot disease [2, 72-74]. This results because of competition for colonization sites or nutrients in the same root tissues and production of fungistatic compounds [68, 75]. AM fungi have been shown to have benefits to host plants including increasing herbivore tolerance, pollination, soil stability, and heavy metal tolerance. The use of AM fungi as biofertilizers is not new; they have been produced for use in agriculture, horticulture, landscape restoration, and soil remediation for almost two decades [76]. It was not until the past two decades that the hypothesis of a better adaptation of mycorrhized plants to unfavorable environmental conditions was confirmed by further experiments: inoculation of AM fungi resulted in the reduction of harmful impacts of heavy metals [77], of high salt concentrations in soil [78], and of stress induced by herbicides [79], cold [80], and repotting [81]. Mycorrhized plants exhibit improved growth, in particular under dryness-induced stress conditions [82]. Other fungal biofertilizers that have been used to improve plant growth are Penicillium species. They are phosphate solubilizing microorganisms that improve phosphorus absorption in plants and stimulate plant growth [83, 84]. Application of Penicillium bilaiae can increase dry matter, phosphorus uptake, and seed yield in canola (Brassica napus) [85, 86]. Penicillium radicum and P. italicum are also phosphate solubilizing taxa [83, 87, 88]. Several species of Aspergillus have been reported to be involved in the solubilization of inorganic phosphates such as A. flavus, A. niger, and A. terreus [89]. These fungi are able to solubilize inorganic phosphate through the production of acids, for example, citric acid, gluconic acid, glycolic acid, oxalic acid, and succinic acid [90]. Aspergillus fumigatus isolated from compost has been reported to be potassium releasing fungus [91]. Trichoderma species can not only reduce the occurrence of disease and inhibit pathogen growth when used as mycofungicides, but also increase the growth and yield of plants [92-95], survival of seedlings, plant height, leaf area, and dry weight [96], improve mineral uptake, release minerals from soil and organic matter, enhance plant hormone production, induce systematic resistance mechanisms, and induce root systems in hydroponics [97]. For these reasons, Trichoderma species are known as plant growth promoting fungi [98–100].
9.11 Conclusions

Application of microorganisms as biofertilizers has shown great potential as an effective means in the development and growth of crop plants under stressed environmental conditions. However, regardless of application methods, the number of viable cells reaching the field soil from commercial biofertilizers is smaller than the existing number in soil or rhizosphere microorganisms; hence, the added microorganisms are unlikely to have a beneficial impact on the plant unless multiplication occurs. Moreover, the population of introduced microorganisms will decline and be eliminated in a very short time, often days or weeks. The formulation of inoculums, method of application, and storage of the product are all critical to the success of a biological product. Poor shelf life, lack of suitable carrier materials, susceptibility to high temperature, and problems in transportation and storage are main constraints of biofertilizers that still need to be solved in order to obtain effective inoculation. Thus, more and more field-based research is required to remove existing bottlenecks and to get optimum benefit from biofertilizers. Technical training of manufacturers on standard production processes and quality control, organization of regular technical training to the extension workers and farmers to adopt and popularize the technology should also be encouraged.

References

- Vessey, J.K. (2003) Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria as biofertilizers. *Plant Soil*, 255, 571–586.
- 2 Chen, J.H. (2006) The combined use of chemical and organic fertilizers and/or biofertilizer for crop growth and soil fertility. International Workshop on Sustained Management of the Soil-Rhizosphere System for Efficient Crop Production and Fertilizer Use, October 16–26, Bangkok, Thailand, pp. 1–11.
- 3 Mahdi, S.S., Hassan, J.I., Samoon, S.A., Rather, H.A., Dar, S.A., and Zehra, B. (2010) Bio-fertilizers in organic agricultures. *J. Phytol.*, **2** (10), 42–54.
- 4 Adholeya, A. and Pant, D. (2007) Organic boost: are they here to stay? *Biotech News*, 2 (1), 3–5.
- 5 Roger, P.A. (1985) Blue-green alga in rice fields: their ecology and their use as inoculants. Proceedings of the Consultants Meeting, FAO/IAEA Joint

Project, October 11–15, 1982, Vienna, a technical document issued by the International Atomic Energy Agency, pp. 99–107.

- 6 He, Z.L., Bian, W., and Zhu, J. (2002) Screening and identification of microorganisms capable of utilizing phosphate adsorbed by goethite. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.*, 33, 647–663.
- 7 Krasilinikov, N.A. (1957) On the role of soil micro-organism in plant nutrition. *Microbiologiya*, 26, 659–672.
- 8 Kudashev, I.S. (1956) The effect of phosphobacterin on the yield and protein content in grains of autumn wheat, maize and soybean. *Doki. Akad. Skh. Nauk.*, 8, 20–23.
- 9 Khan, K.S. and Joergensen, R.G. (2009) Changes in microbial biomass and P fractions in biogenic household waste compost amended with inorganic P fertilizers. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 100, 303–309.

- 10 Dunstan, W.A., Malajczuk, N., and Dell, B. (1998) Effects of bacteria on mycorrhizal development and growth of container grown *Eucalyptus diversicolor* F. Muell. seedlings. *Plant Soil*, 201, 241–249.
- 11 Tiwari, P. and Adholeya, A. (2005) Root organ culture of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: step towards reaching sustainable agriculture. *Mycorrhiza News*, 17, 15–17.
- 12 Ratti, N., Kumar, S., Verma, H.N., and Gautams, S.P. (2001) Improvement in bioavailability of tricalcium phosphate to *Cymbopogon martini* var. *motia* by rhizobacteria, AMF and *Azospirillum* inoculation. *Microbiol. Res.*, 156, 145–149.
- 13 Smith, S.E. and Zhu, Y.G. (2001) Application of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: potentials and challenges, in *Bio-Exploitation of Filamentous Fungi*, Fungal Diversity Research Series, vol. 6 (eds B.P. Stephen and K.D. Hyde), Fungal Diversity Press, Hong Kong, pp. 291– 308.
- 14 Gentili, F. and Jumpponen, A. (2006) Potential and possible uses of bacterial and fungal biofertilizers, in *Handbook of Microbial Biofertilizers* (ed. M.K. Rai), Food Products Press, pp. 1–28.
- 15 Rinaldi, A.C., Comandini, O., and Kuyper, T.W. (2008) Ectomycorrhizal fungal diversity: separating the wheat from the chaff. *Fungal Divers.*, 33, 1–45.
- 16 Raina, S., Chamola, B.P., and Mukerji, K.G. (2000) Evolution of mycorrhiza, in *Mycorrhizal Biology* (eds K.G. Mukerji, J. Singh, and B.P. Chamola), Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York, pp. 1–25.
- Das, A., Prasad, R., Srivastava, A., Giang, H.P., Bhatnagar, K., and Varma, A.
 (2007) Fungal siderophores: structure, functions and regulation, in *Microbial Siderophores*, Soil Biology, vol. 12 (eds A. Varma and S.B. Chincholkar), Springer, Berlin, pp. 1–42.
- 18 Tao, G., Liu, Z.Y., Hyde, K.D., and Yu, Z.N. (2008) Whole rDNA analysis reveals novel and endophytic fungi in *Bletilla* ochracea (Orchidaceae). Fungal Divers., 33, 101–122.

- Zhu, G.S., Yu, Z.N., Gui, Y., and Liu, Z.Y. (2008) A novel technique for isolating orchid mycorrhizal fungi. *Fungal Divers.*, 33, 123–137.
- 20 Haskins, K.E. and Gehring, C.A. (2005) Evidence for mutualist limitation: the impacts of conspecific density on the mycorrhizal inoculum potential of woodland soils. *Oecologia*, 145, 123–131.
- 21 Siddiqui, Z.A. and Pichtel, J. (2008) Mycorrhizae: an overview, in Mycorrhizae: Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry (eds Z.A. Siddiqui, M.S. Akhtar, and K. Futai), Springer, pp. 1–36.
- 22 Adholeya, A., Tiwari, P., and Singh, R. (2005) Large scale inoculum production of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on root organs and inoculation strategies, in *In Vitro Culture of Mycorrhizae*, Soil Biology, vol. 4 (eds S. Declerck, D.-G. Strullu, and A. Fortin), Springer, Berlin, pp. 315–338.
- 23 Somasegaran, P. and Hoben, H.J. (1994) Handbook for Rhizobia: Methods in Legume–Rhizobium Technology, Springer, New York, p. 450.
- 24 Bhat, M.I., Rashid, A., Rasool, F., Mahdi, S.S., Haq, S.A., and Bhat, R.A. (2010) Effect of *Rhizobium* and VA-mycorrhizae on green gram under temperate conditions. *Res. J. Agric. Sci.*, 1 (2), 113–116.
- 25 Dar, N.A. and Bali, A.S. (2007) Influence of biofertilizers and nitrogen levels on transplanted rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) under temperate agro-climatic conditions of Jammu and Kashmir. *J. Res. SKUAST-J*, 6 (1), 67–72.
- 26 Afzal, M. (2006) Effect of Rhizobium, PSB with different fertility levels on green gram under temperate conditions of Kashmir. P. G. thesis results, pp. 103–104.
- Hussain, A., Arshad, M., and Hussain, F. (1987) Response of maize (*Zea mays*) to *Azotobacter* inoculation. *Biol. Fertil. Soils*, 4, 73–77.
- 28 Martínez-Viveros, O., Jorquera, M.A., Crowley, D.E., Gajardo, G., and Mora, M.L. (2010) Mechanism and practical considerations involved in plant growth promotion by rhizobacteria. *J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.*, **10** (3), 293–319.

- **29** Nieto, K.F. and Frankenberger, W.T. (1991) Influence of adenine, isopentyl alcohol and *Azotobacter chroococcum* on the vegetative growth of *Zea mays. Plant Soil*, **135**, 213–221.
- 30 Mishra, O.R., Tomar, U.S., Sharama, R.A., and Rajput, A.M. (1995) Response of maize to chemicals and biofertilizers. *Crop Res.*, 9, 233–237.
- Pandey, A., Sharma, E., and Palni, L.M.S. (1998) Influence of bacterial inoculation on maize in upland farming system of the Sikkim Himalaya. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 30, 379–384.
- 32 Radwan, F.I. (1998) Response of some maize cultivars to VA-mycorrhizal inoculation, biofertilization and soil nitrogen application. *Alexandria J. Agric. Res.*, 43, 43–56.
- 33 Emam, N.F., Fayez, M., and Makboul, H.E. (1986) Wheat growth as affected by inoculation with *Azotobacter* isolated from different soils. *Zentralbl. Microbiol.*, 141, 17–23.
- **34** Rai, S.N. and Gaur, A.C. (1988) Characterization of *Azotobacter* spp. and effect of *Azotobacter* and *Azospirillum* as inoculant on the yield and N-uptake of wheat crop. *Plant Soil*, **109**, 131–134.
- 35 Tippannavar, C.M. and Reddy, T.K.R. (1993) Seed treatment of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) on the survival of seed borne Azotobacter chroococcum. Karnataka J. Agric. Sci., 6, 310–312.
- 36 Elshanshoury, A.R. (1995) Interaction of Azotobacter chroococcum, Azospirillum brasilense and Streptomyces mutabilis, in relation to their effect on wheat development. J. Agron. Crop Sci., 175, 119–127.
- 37 Pati, B.R., Sengupta, S., and Chjandra, A.K. (1995) Impact of selected phyllospheric diazotrophs on the growth of wheat seedlings and assay of the growth substances produced by the diazotrophs. *Microbiol. Res.*, 150, 121–127.
- 38 Fares, C.N. (1997) Growth and yield of wheat plant as affected by biofertilisation with associative, symbiotic N₂-fixers and endomycorrhizae in the presence of the different P-fertilizers. Ann. Agric. Sci., 42, 51–60.

- 39 Osman, A.G. and Mohamed, S.S. (1996) Effect of inoculation with *Rhizobium* strain TAL 1400 on the symbiotic properties of faba bean in Khartoum State. *Albuhuth J.*, 5, 126–139.
- 40 Abdelgani, M.E., Osman, A.G., and Mohamed, S.S. (2003) Restoring soil fertility of desertified lands through biological nitrogen fixation, in *Desertification in the Third Millennium* (eds A.S. Sharhan, W.W. Wood, A.S. Goudie, A. Fowler, and E.M. Abdellatif), A.A. Balkema Publishers, Lisse, The Netherlands, pp. 335–338.
- 41 Yamada, Y., Katzura, K., Kawasaki, H., Widyastuti, Y., Saono, S., Seji, T., Uchimura, T., and Komagata, K. (2000) *Asaia bogorensis* gen. nov., sp. nov., an unusual acetic acid bacterium in the α-proteobacteria. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.*, 50, 823–829.
- 42 Weber, O.B., Correia, D., Souza da Silveira, M.R., Araújo Crisóstomo, L., Marhino de Oliveira, E., and Gomes Sá, E. (2003) Efeito da bacteria dizotrófica em mudas micropropagadas de abacaxeiros Cayenne Champac em diferentes substratos. *Pesq. Agropec. Bras.*, 38, 689–696.
- 43 Weber, O.B., Correia, D., Rocha, W.M., Costa Alvez, G., Marhino de Oliveira, E., and Gomes Sá, E. (2003) Resposta de plantas micropropagadas de abacaxeiro à inoculaçao de bactérias diazotróficas em casa de vegetação. *Pesq. Agropec. Bras.*, 38, 1419–1426.
- 44 Verma, L.N. (1993) Biofertiliser in agriculture, in *Organics in Soil Health and Crop Production* (ed. P.K. Thampan), Peekay Tree Crops Development Foundation, Cochin, India, pp. 152–183.
- **45** Goenadi, D.H., Siswanto, A., and Sugiarto, Y. (2000) Bioactivation of poorly soluble phosphate rocks with a phosphorus-solubilizing fungus. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, **64**, 927–932.
- 46 Cabello, M., Irrazabal, G., Bucsinszky, A.M., Saparrat, M., and Schalamuck, S. (2005) Effect of an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus, *G. mosseae*, and a rock-phosphate-solubilizing fungus, *P. thomii*, in *Mentha piperita* growth in a

soilless medium. J. Basic Microbiol., 45, 182–189.

- 47 Zaidi, A. and Khan, M.S. (2006) Coinoculation effects of phosphate solubilizing microorganisms and *Glomus fasciculatum* on green gram– *Bradyrhizobium* symbiosis. *Turk. J. Agric.*, 30, 223–230.
- 48 Kucey, R.M.N., Janzen, H.H., and Legget, M.E. (1989) Microbial mediated increases in plant available phosphorus. *Adv. Agron.*, 42, 199–228.
- 49 Ponmurugan, P. and Gopi, C. (2006) Distribution pattern and screening of phosphate solubilising bacteria isolated from different food and forage crops. *J. Agron.*, 5, 600–604.
- 50 Son, T.T.N., Diep, C.N., and Giang, T.T.M. (2006) Effect of bradyrhizobia and phosphate solubilizing bacteria application on soybean in rotational system in the Mekong delta. *Omonrice*, 14, 48–57.
- 51 Sharma, K., Dak, G., Agrawal, A., Bhatnagar, M., and Sharma, R. (2007) Effect of phosphate solubilizing bacteria on the germination of *Cicer arietinum* seeds and seedling growth. *J. Herb. Med. Toxicol.*, 1, 61–63.
- 52 Yazdani, M., Bahmanyar, M.A., Pirdashti, H., and Esmaili, M.A. (2009) Effect of phosphate solubilization microorganisms (PSM) and plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) on yield and yield components of corn (*Zea mays* L.). *Proc. World Acad. Sci. Eng. Technol.*, 37, 90–92.
- 53 Sundara, B., Natarajan, V., and Hari, K. (2002) Influence of phosphorus solubilizing bacteria on the changes in soil available phosphorus and sugarcane yields. *Field Crops Res.*, 77, 43–49.
- 54 Mehrvarz, S., Chaichi, M.R., and Alikhani, H.A. (2008) Effects of phosphate solubilising microorganisms and phosphorus chemical fertilizer on yield and yield components of barely (Hordeum vulgare L.). Am-Euras. J. Agric. Environ. Sci., 3, 822–828.
- **55** Afzal, A. and Bano, A. (2008) *Rhizobium* and phosphate solubilizing bacteria improve the yield and phosphorus

uptake in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). *Int. J. Agric. Biol.*, **10**, 85–88.

- 56 Bartholdy, B.A., Berreck, M., and Haselwandter, K. (2001) Hydroxamate siderophore synthesis by *Phialocephala fortinii*, a typical dark septate fungal root endophyte. *BioMetals*, 14, 33–42.
- 57 Jilani, G., Akram, A., Ali, R.M., Hafeez, F.Y., Shamsi, I.H., Chaudhry, A.N., and Chaudhry, A.G. (2007) Enhancing crop growth, nutrients availability, economics and beneficial rhizosphere microflora through organic and biofertilizers. *Ann. Microbiol.*, 57, 177–183.
- 58 Bacilio, M., Rodríguez, H., Moreno, M., Hernández, J.P., and Bashan, Y. (2004) Mitigation of salt stress in wheat seedlings by a gfp-tagged Azospirillum lipoferum. Biol. Fertil. Soils, 40, 188–193.
- 59 Hamaoui, B., Abbadi, J.M., Burdman, S., Rashid, A., Sarig, S., and Okon, Y. (2001) Effects of inoculation with *Azospirillum* brasilense on chickpeas (*Cicer arietinum*) and faba beans (*Vicia faba*) under different growth conditions. *Agronomie*, 21, 553–560.
- 60 Alami, Y., Achouak, W., Marol, C., and Heulin, T. (2000) Rhizosphere soil aggregation and plant growth promotion of sunflowers by an exopolysaccharideproducing *Rhizobium* sp. strain isolated from sunflower roots. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 66, 3393–3398.
- 61 Amelal, N., Burtan, G., Bartoli, F., and Heulin, T. (1998) Colonization of wheat roots by an exopolysaccharide-producing *Pantoea agglomerans* strain and its effect on rhizosphere soil aggregation. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 64, 3740–3747.
- 62 Bezzate, S., Aymerich, S., Chambert, R., Czarnes, S., Berge, O., and Heulin, T. (2000) Disruption of the *Bacillus polymyxa* levansucrase gene impairs its ability to aggregate soil in the wheat rhizosphere. *Environ. Microbiol.*, 2, 333–342.
- 63 Gouzou, L., Burtin, R., Philippy, R., Bartoli, F., and Heulin, T. (1993) Effect of inoculation with *Bacillus polymyxa* on soil aggregation in wheat rhizosphere: preliminary examination. *Geoderma*, 56, 479–490.

- 64 Heulin, T., Gucker, A., and Balandeau, J. (1987) Stimulation of root exudation of rice seedlings by *Azospirillum* strains: carbon budget under gnotobiotic conditions. *Biol. Fertil. Soils*, 4, 9–14.
- 65 Timmusk, S. and Wagner, E.G.H. (1999) The plant-growth-promoting rhizobacterium *Paenibacillus polymyxa* induces changes in *Arabidopsis thaliana* expression: a possible connection between biotic and abiotic stress responses. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.*, 12, 951–959.
- 66 Olsson, P.A., Thingstrup, I., Jakobsen, I., and Baath, E. (1999) Estimation of the biomass of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in a linseed field. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 31, 1879–1887.
- 67 Douds, D.D., Gadkar, J.V., and Adholeya, A. (2000) Mass production of VAM fungus biofertilizer, in *Mycorrhizal Biology* (eds K.G. Mukerji, J. Singh, and B.P. Chamola), Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York, pp. 197–214.
- 68 Marin, M. (2006) Arbuscular mycorrhizal inoculation in nursery practice, in *Handbook of Microbial Biofertilizers* (ed. M.K. Rai), Food Products Press, pp. 289–324.
- 69 Yeasmin, T., Zaman, P., Rahman, A., Absar, N., and Khanum, N.S. (2007) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus inoculum production in rice plants. *Afr. J. Agric. Res.*, 2, 463–467.
- 70 Gupta, V., Satyanarayana, T., and Garg, S. (2000) General aspects of mycorrhiza, in *Mycorrhizal Biology* (eds K.G. Mukerji, J. Singh, and B.P. Chamola), Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York, pp. 27–44.
- 71 Kannaiyan F.S. (2002) Biofertilizers for sustainable crop production, in *Biotechnology of Biofertilizers* (ed. S. Kannaiyan), Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 9–50.
- 72 Azcon-Aquilar, C. and Barea, J.M. (1996) Arbuscular mycorrhizae and biological control of soil-borne plant pathogens – an overview of the mechanisms involved. *Mycorrhiza*, 6, 457–464.

- 73 Akhtar, S.M. and Siddiqui, Z.A. (2008) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi as potential bioprotectants against plant pathogens, in *Mycorrhizae: Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry* (eds Z.A. Siddiqui, M.S. Akhtar, and K. Futai), Springer, pp. 61–97.
- 74 Akhtar, S.M. and Siddiqui, Z.A. (2008) Biocontrol of a root-rot disease complex of chickpea by *Glomus intraradices*, *Rhizobium* sp. and *Pseudomonas straita*. *Crop Prot.*, 27, 410–417.
- 75 Johansson, F.J., Paul, R.L., and Finlay, D.R. (2004) Microbial interactions in the mycorrhizosphere and their significance for sustainable agriculture. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.*, 48, 1–13.
- 76 Hart, M.M. and Trevors, J.T. (2005) Microbe management: application of mycorrhizal fungi in sustainable agriculture. *Front. Ecol. Environ.*, 3, 533–539.
- 77 Gildon, A. and Tinker, P.B. (1983) A heavy metal metal-tolerant strain of a mycorrhizal fungus. *Trans. Br. Mycol. Soc.*, 77, 648–649.
- 78 Hirrel, M.C. and Gerdemann, J.W. (1988) Improved growth of onion and bell pepper in saline soils by two mycorrhizal fungi. Proc. Soil Sci. Am., 44, 654–655.
- 79 Siqeira, J.O., Safir, G.R., and Nair, M.G. (1991) VA-mycorrhiza and mycorrhiza stimulating isoflavonoid compounds reduce plant herbicide injury. *Plant Soil*, 134, 233–242.
- 80 Chilvers, M.T. and Daft, M.J.F. (1982) Effects of low temperature on development of the VA mycorrhizal association between *Glomus caledonium* and *Allium cepa*. *Trans. Br. Mycol. Soc.*, 79, 153–157.
- 81 Cooper, K.M. (1983) Mycorrhizal fungi their role in plant establishment.
 Proceeding of International Plant
 Propagators Society, vol. 32, pp. 396–404.
- 82 Sieverding, E. (1981) Influence of soil water regime on VA mycorrhiza. I. Effect on plant growth, water utilization and development of mycorrhiza. Z. Ackr. Pflanzenbau, 150, 400–411.
- **83** Wakelin, S.A., Werren, P.R., and Ryder, H.M. (2004) Phosphate solubilization by

Penicillium spp. closely associated with wheat root. *Biol. Fertil. Soils*, **40**, 36–43.

- 84 Pradhan, N. and Sukla, L.B. (2005) Solubilization of inorganic phosphates by fungi isolated from agriculture soil. *Afr. J. Biotechnol.*, 5, 850–854.
- 85 Grant, C.A., Bailey, L.D., Harapiak, J.T., and Flore, N.A. (2002) Effect of phosphate source, rate and cadmium content and use of *Penicillium bilaii* on phosphorus, zinc and cadmium concentration in durum wheat grain. *J. Sci. Food Agric.*, 82, 301–308.
- 86 Burton, E.M. and Knight, S.D. (2005) Survival of *Penicillium bilaiae* inoculated on canola seed treated with Vitavax RS and Extender. *Biol. Fertil. Soils*, 42, 54–59.
- 87 Whitelaw, M.A., and Hardena, T.J., and Helyar, K.R. (1999) Phosphate solubilisation in solution culture by the soil fungus *Penicillium radicum. Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 3, 655–665.
- 88 El-Azouni, I.M. (2008) Effect of phosphate solubilising fungi on growth and nutrient uptake of soybean (*Glycine max* L.) plants. J. Appl. Sci. Res., 4, 592–598.
- 89 Akintokun, A.K., Akande, G.A., Akintokun, P.O., Popoola, T.O.S., and Babalola, A.O. (2007) Solubilization on insoluble phosphate by organic acidproducing fungi isolated from Nigerian soil. *Int. J. Soil Sci.*, 2, 301–307.
- 90 Barroso, C.B., Pereira, G.T., and Nahas, E. (2006) Solubilization of CaHPO₄ and AlPO₄ by *Aspergillus niger* in culture media with different carbon and nitrogen sources. *Braz. J. Microbiol.*, 37, 434–438.
- 91 Lian, B., Wang, B., Pan, M., Liu, C., and Teng, H.H. (2008) Microbial release of potassium from K-bearing minerals by thermophilic fungus Aspergillus fumigatus. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta*, 72, 87–98.

- 92 Elad, Y., Chet, I., and Henis, Y. (1981) Biological control of *Rhizoctonia* solani in strawberry fields by *Trichoderma* harzianum. Plant Soil, 60, 245–254.
- 93 Harman, G.E., Howell, C.R., Viterbo, A., Chet, I., and Lorito, M. (2004) *Trichoderma* species: opportunistic, avirulent plant symbionts. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.*, 2, 43–56.
- 94 Vinale, F., Sivasithamparam, K., Ghisalberti, E.L., Marra, R., Woo, S.L., and Lorito, M. (2008) *Trichoderma*-plantpathogen interactions. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 40, 1–10.
- 95 Kaewchai, S., Soytong, K., and Hyde, K.D. (2009) Mycofungicides and fungal biofertilizers. *Fungal Divers.*, 38, 25–50.
- 96 Kleifeld, O. and Chet, I. (1992) Trichoderma harzianum – interaction with plants and effect on growth response. Plant Soil, 144, 267–272.
- 97 Yedidia, I., Benhamou, N., and Chet, I. (1999) Induction of defense responses in cucumber plants (*Cucumis sativus* L.) by the biocontrol agent *Trichoderma harzianum*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 65, 1061–1070.
- 98 Hyakumachi, M. and Kubota, M. (2004) Fungi as plant growth promoter and disease suppressor, in *Fungal Biotechnology in Agricultural, Food, and Environmental Applications* (ed. D.K. Arora), Marcel Dekker, New York, pp. 101–110.
- **99** Herrera-Estrella, A. and Chet, I. (2004) The biological control agent *Trichoderma* from fundamentals to application, in *Fungal Biotechnology in Agricultural, Food, and Environmental Applications* (ed. D.K. Arora), Marcel Dekker, New York, pp. 147–156.
- 100 Benítez, F.T., Rincón, M.A., Limón, M. C., and Codón, C.A. (2004) Biocontrol mechanisms of *Trichoderma* strains. *Int. Microbiol.*, 7, 249–260.

Part III Species-Specific Case Studies

Section IIIA: Graminoids

10 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance – Retrospects and Prospects

Salvinder Singh, M.K. Modi, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Narendra Tuteja

Abstract

Abiotic stresses, especially salinity and drought, are the primary causes of crop loss worldwide. The moisture availability is essential for plant growth and agricultural production. Soil moisture stress causes significant water deficits that lead to low production and ultimately result in significant economic losses worldwide. A major limitation of crop production is imposed by a suite of stresses, resulting in 30–60% vield losses globally each year. Minimizing these losses is a major area of concern for all countries. Engineered abiotic stress resistance is an important target for increasing agricultural productivity. Therefore, it is desirable to develop multistress-tolerant varieties. Plants are nonmobile organisms and therefore need to adapt to environmental stresses mostly by modulating their growth and development in addition to physiological and biochemical changes. The plant life style of continuous development also requires proper maintenance of many important functions in the stress environment. Plants may acclimate to the limited stress conditions by integrating stress information with developmental programs. Plant adaptation to environmental stresses is dependent upon the activation of cascades of molecular networks involved in stress perception, signal transduction, and the expression of specific stress-related genes and metabolites. Consequently, engineering genes that protect and maintain the function and structure of cellular components can enhance tolerance to stress. Rice (Oryza sativa) is a staple food for more than half the world and a model for studies of monocotyledonous species. The rice is also frequently impacted by several abiotic stressors, the most important of which are drought, salinity, and cold. Exposure to environmental conditions outside of acceptable tolerance ranges can negatively affect rice growth and production. In this chapter, plant, particularly rice, responses to abiotic stress are presented, with particular attention to the genes and pathways related to environmental stress tolerance. It is apparent that, while progress has been made in identifying genes involved in stress adaptation, many questions remain. Understanding the mechanisms of stress response in rice is important for all research designed to develop new rice varieties with improved tolerance.

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

© 2012 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

10.1 Introduction

Plant growth and productivity can be adversely affected by abiotic stress. Plants are exposed to a number of potentially adverse environmental conditions such as water deficit, high salinity, extreme temperature, and submergence. In response, plants have evolved delicate mechanisms, from the molecular to the physiological level, to adapt to stressful environments.

Rice is the staple food for more than half of the world's population. Evolved in a semiaquatic, low-radiation habitat, rice exhibits distinct tolerance and susceptibilities to abiotic stresses among domesticated cereal crops [1]. Rice thrives in waterlogged soil and can tolerate submergence at levels that would kill other crops, and is moderately tolerant of salinity and soil acidity but is highly sensitive to drought and cold [1]. Cultivated over a broad region between 45° north and south latitudes, rice plants are faced with low temperature in temperate regions, submergence in tropical regions, water deficit in humid tropics, and other stressors [2].

Arabidopsis is a good model in plant molecular biology and genetics research, and the majority of studies examining the impacts of abiotic stress have employed this plant [3–7]. The signaling pathways and regulatory network in *Arabidopsis* have been well characterized and well reviewed. Although progresses were also made on rice, reviews were less focused on this most important crop because of little functional genes characterized. In recent years, multiple genes contributing to abiotic stress responses in rice were identified by using genetics, reverse genetics, and molecular biology method. Here, we present a summary to display those progresses so as to better understand genetics and molecular mechanisms of crops' response to abiotic stress.

10.2 Single Action Genes

10.2.1 Osmoprotectants

Severe osmotic stress causes detrimental changes in cellular components. In stress-tolerant transgenic plants, many genes involved in the synthesis of osmoprotectants – organic compounds such as amino acids (e.g., proline), quaternary and other amines (e.g., glycine betaine and polyamines), and a variety of sugars and sugar alcohols (e.g., mannitol, trehalose, and galactinol) that accumulate during osmotic adjustment – have been used to date [8]. Many crops lack the ability to synthesize the special osmoprotectants that are naturally accumulated by stress-tolerant organisms. It is believed that osmoregulation would be the best strategy for abiotic stress tolerance, especially if osmoregulatory genes could be triggered in response to drought, salinity, and high temperature. Therefore, a widely adopted strategy has been to engineer certain osmolytes or overexpress such osmolytes in plants, as a potential route to breed stress-tolerant crops, particularly rice.

Various strategies are being pursued to genetically engineer osmoprotection in plants. The first step involved in obtaining stress-tolerant transgenic plants has been to engineer genes that encode enzymes for the synthesis of selected osmolytes [9]. This has resulted in a profusion of reports involving osmoprotectants such as glycine betaine [10-19] and proline [20-23]. Iskandar et al. [24] demonstrated that the expression of genes encoding proline biosynthesis was associated with both sucrose accumulation and water deficit, but amino acid analysis indicated that proline was negatively correlated with sucrose concentration, and while total amino acid concentrations increased about sevenfold under water deficit, the relatively low concentration of proline suggested that it had no osmoprotectant role in sugarcane culms. The results show that while there was a change in stressrelated gene expression associated with sucrose accumulation, different mechanisms respond to the stress induced by water deficit, because different genes had altered expression under water deficit [24]. Similarly, Dobra et al. [25] reported the possibility of improving tolerance to heat and drought (alone and in combination) by elevation of the osmoprotectant proline content; stress responses were compared in tobacco plants constitutively overexpressing a gene for the proline biosynthetic enzyme Δ (2)-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CSF129A; EC 2.7.2.11/ 1.2.1.41) and in the corresponding wild-type (WT) plants. A number of "sugar alcohols" (mannitol, trehalose, myo-inositol, and sorbitol) have been targeted for the engineering of compatible solute overproduction, thereby protecting the membrane and protein complexes during stress [26-37]. Arabidopsis plants transformed with the mannose-6-phosphate reductase (M6PR) gene from celerv were dramatically more salt tolerant (at 100 mM NaCl) as exhibited by reduced salt injury, less inhibition of vegetative growth, and increased seed production relative to the wild-type plants [38]. In this study, transcriptome analysis reveals that the M6PR transgene activated the downstream abscisic acid (ABA) pathway by upregulation of ABA receptor genes (PYL4, PYL5, and PYL6) and downregulation of protein phosphatase 2C genes (ABI1 and ABI2). In the M6PR transgenic lines, there were also increases in transcripts related to redox and cell wall strengthening pathways. These data indicate that mannitolenhanced stress tolerance is due at least in part to increased expression of a variety of stress-inducible genes [39]. Ahn et al. [40] recently reported that the methylation of myo-inositol yields O-methyl inositol (D-ononitol) catalyzed by myo-inositol methyltransferase (IMT) when plants are subjected to abiotic stress. D-Ononitol can serve as an osmoprotectant that prevents water loss in plants. The authors isolated the IMT cDNA from Glycine max and found by RT-PCR analysis that GmIMT transcripts are induced by drought and salinity stress treatments in the leaves of soybean seedlings. They confirmed the protein product of GmIMT and its substrate using a recombinant system in Escherichia coli. Transgenic Arabidopsis plants overexpressing GmIMT displayed improved tolerance to dehydration stress treatment and to a lesser extent high salinity stress treatment.

Tonoplast intrinsic protein (TIP) is a subfamily of the aquaporin (AQP), also known as major intrinsic protein (MIP) family, and regulates water movement across vacuolar membranes. Some reports have implied that TIP genes are associated with plant tolerance to some abiotic stresses that cause water loss, such as drought and high salinity. Wang *et al.* [41] isolated TIP from cDNA library screening of *Glycine soja*, and named it as GsTIP2;1. The expression patterns of GsTIP2;1 in *G. soja* under low-temperature, salt, and dehydration stresses were different in leaves and roots. Though GsTIP2;1 is a stress-induced gene, overexpression of GsTIP2;1 in *Arabidopsis thaliana* depressed tolerance to salt and dehydration stresses, but did not affect seedling growth under cold or favorable conditions. Higher dehydration speed was detected in *Arabidopsis* plants overexpressing GsTIP2;1, implying that GsTIP2;1 might mediate stress sensitivity by enhancing water loss in the plant. Such a result is not identical to previous reports, providing some new information about the relationship between TIP and plant abiotic stress tolerance [41].

Similarly, transgenics engineered for the overexpression of polyamines have also been developed [42–47]. Studies on the identification/isolation/cloning of genes that are associated with improved flooding stress tolerance have also focused on enzymes of the glycolytic and alcohol fermentation pathways indicating that respiratory pathway is affected in a major way in response to anaerobic stress. Research on genetically altering the levels of *pdc* and *adh* in tobacco and rice has been extensively carried out to elucidate their role in submergence tolerance. Transgenic rice over- and underexpressing pyruvate decarboxylase 1 (*pdc1*) gene has also been developed, which showed a positive correlation of higher PDC activities with survival after submergence [48].

The results of transgenic modifications of biosynthetic and metabolic pathways in most of the above-mentioned cases indicate that higher stress tolerance and the accumulation of compatible solutes may also protect plants against damage by scavenging of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and by their chaperone-like activities in maintaining protein structures and functions [49-52]. However, pleiotropic effects (e.g., necrosis and growth retardation) have been observed due to disturbance in endogenous pathways of primary metabolism. Also, there are also some reports showing a negative effect of osmotic stress on yield potential [53]. Genetic manipulations of compatible solutes do not always lead to a significant accumulation of the compound (except in some cases of proline overproduction [54]), thereby suggesting that the function of compatible solutes is not restricted to osmotic adjustment, and that osmoprotection may not always confer drought tolerance. A recent review [55] shows that virtually none of the studies that tested the effect of osmotic adjustment on yield under water stress showed any benefit at all, since some benefit of osmotic adjustment might be in the ability of plants to maintain root growth under severe stress [56]. Another recent study with chickpea has also shown that osmotic adjustment provided no beneficial effect on yield under drought stress [57]. Besides, the results of simulation modeling also suggest that changes in a given metabolic process [58, 59] may end up with little benefit for actual yield under stress [60]. For agricultural practices, oversynthesis of compatible solutes should not account for the primary metabolic costs, and hence to minimize the pleiotropic effects, overproduction of compatible solutes should be stress inducible and/or tissue specific [61].

10.2.2 Late Embryogenesis Abundant Proteins

Proteins that may protect macromolecules and membranes include Late embryogenesis abundant (LEA) proteins, osmotin, antifreeze proteins, chaperones, and mRNA binding proteins. LEA proteins represent another category of high molecular weight proteins that are abundant during late embryogenesis and accumulate during seed desiccation and in response to water stress [62]. Among the several groups of LEA proteins, those belonging to group 3 are predicted to play a role in sequestering ions that are concentrated during cellular dehydration. These proteins have 11-mer amino acid motifs with the consensus sequence TAQAAKEKAGE repeated as many as 13 times [63]. The group 1 LEA proteins are predicted to have enhanced water binding capacity, while the group 5 LEA proteins are thought to sequester ions during water loss. Constitutive overexpression of the HVA1, a group 3 LEA protein from barley, conferred tolerance to soil water deficit and salt stress in transgenic rice plants [64]. Constitutive or stress-induced expression of the HVA1 gene resulted in the improvement of growth characteristics and stress tolerance in terms of cell integrity in wheat and rice under salt and water stress conditions [65, 66]. More than 100 group 1 LEA genes, also termed Em genes, have been identified from plants, bacteria, and animals [67]. The wide distribution indicates the functional importance of these genes. Shih et al. [67] characterized a novel Em-like gene, OsLEA1a of rice (Oryza sativa). The encoded OsLEA1a protein has an N-terminal sequence similar to that of other plant Em proteins but lacks a 20-mer motif that is the most significant feature of typical Em proteins. The location of the sole intron indicates that the second exon of OsLEA1a is the mutated product of a typical Em gene. Transcriptome analysis revealed OsLEA1a mainly expressed in embryos, with no or only a few transcripts in osmotic stress-treated vegetative tissues. Structural analysis revealed that the OsLEA1a protein adopts high amounts of disordered conformations in solution and undergoes desiccation-induced conformational changes [67].

Hanin *et al.* [68] reported the accumulation of dehydrins (DHNs) or group 2 LEA proteins typically in maturing seeds or in vegetative tissues following salinity, dehydration, cold, and freezing stresses. In yet another study, a LEA gene, CarLEA4 (GenBank Accession No. GU247511), was isolated from chickpea based on a cDNA library constructed with chickpea seedling leaves treated with polyethylene glycol (PEG) [68]. CarLEA4 contained two exons and one intron within genomic DNA sequence and encoded a putative polypeptide of 152 amino acids. CarLEA4 had a conserved pfam domain and showed high similarity to the group 4 LEA proteins in secondary structure. It was localized in the nucleus. The transcripts of CarLEA4 were detected in many chickpea organs, including seedling leaves, stems, roots, flowers, young pods, and young seeds. CarLEA4 was

208 10 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance – Retrospects and Prospects

inhibited by leaf age and showed expression changes in expression during seed development, pod development, and germination. Furthermore, the expression of CarLEA4 was strongly induced by drought, salt, heat, cold, ABA, IAA, GA(3), and MeJA. The authors suggest that CarLEA4 encodes a protein of LEA group 4 and may be involved in various plant developmental processes and abiotic stress responses [68]. A LEA protein gene OsLEA3-1 was identified and overexpressed in rice to test the drought resistance of transgenic lines under the field conditions. OsLEA3-1 is induced by drought, salt, and abscisic acid, but not by cold stress [69]. The author used three expression constructs consisting of the full-length cDNA driven by the drought-inducible promoter of OsLEA3-1 (OsLEA3-H), the CaMV 35S promoter (OsLEA3-S), and the rice Actin1 promoter (OsLEA3-A) and transformed them into the drought-sensitive japonica rice Zhonghua 11. Drought resistance prescreening of T(1) families at anthesis stage revealed that the overexpressing families with OsLEA3-S and OsLEA3-H constructs had significantly higher relative yield (yield under drought stress treatment/yield under normal growth conditions) than the wild type under drought stress conditions, although a yield penalty existed in T(1) families under normal growth conditions. Nine homozygous families, exhibiting overexpression of a single copy of the transgene and relatively low yield penalty in the T(1) generation, were tested in the field for drought resistance in the T(2) and T(3) generations and in the PVC pipes for drought tolerance in the T(2) generation. Except for two families (transformed with OsLEA3-A), all the other families (transformed with OsLEA3-S and OsLEA3-H constructs) had higher grain yield than the wild type under drought stress in both the field and the PVC pipes conditions. No significant yield penalty was detected for these T(2)and T(3) families. These results indicate that transgenic rice with significantly enhanced drought resistance and without yield penalty can be generated by overexpressing OsLEA3-1 gene with appropriate promoters and following a bipartite (stress and nonstress) in-field screening protocol [69].

10.2.3 Detoxifying Genes

The higher stress tolerance and the accumulation of compatible solutes may also protect plants against damage by scavenging of reactive oxygen species and by their chaperone-like activities in maintaining protein structures and functions [49–52]. In most of the aerobic organisms, there is a need to effectively eliminate reactive oxygen species generated as a result of environmental stresses. Depending on the nature of the ROS, some are highly toxic and need to be rapidly detoxified. In order to control the level of ROS and protect the cells from oxidative injury, plants have developed a complex antioxidant defense system to scavenge the ROS. These antioxidant systems include various enzymes and nonenzymatic metabolites that may also play a significant role in ROS signaling in plants [70]. A number of transgenic improvements for abiotic stress tolerance have been achieved through detoxification strategy. These include transgenic plants overexpressing enzymes involved in

oxidative protection, such as glutathione peroxidase (GPX), superoxide dismutase (SOD), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), and glutathione reductase [71, 72]. Kim et al. [73] demonstrated proteomic analysis of ROS-related proteins in rice roots. The authors applied the PEG fractionation technique combined with two-dimensional gel electrophoresis, which rendered more well-separated protein spots. Out of the 295 chosen proteins, 93 were identified by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. The proteins were classified as relating to metabolism (38.7%), ROS-related proteins (22.5%), protein processing/degradation (8.6%), stress/defense (7.5%), energy (6.5%), and signal transduction (5.4%). The high percentage of ROS-related proteins found in rice root indicated the role of ROS in rice root growth. Treatment with ROS quenching chemicals such as reduced glutathione (GSH), diphenyleneiodonium (DPI), and ascorbate inhibited root growth dose dependently. Fortynine proteins identified were either up- or downregulated by GSH treatment, of which 14 were ROS-related proteins, such noticeably modulated ones as glutathione S-transferase (GST), superoxide dismutase, and 1-ascorbate peroxidase. The protein levels of four GSTs (NS4, NS8, NS56, and NS57), three APXs (NS46, NS49, and NS50), and MnSOD (NS45) were strongly reduced by GSH treatment but slightly reduced by ascorbate and DPI. Ascorbate and DPI strongly inhibited expression levels of a catalase A (NP23) and an APX (NS65) but did not affect APX (NS46, NS49, and NS50) protein levels. Northern analysis demonstrated that changes in transcript levels of five genes - GST (NS4), GST (NS43), MnSOD (NS45), APX (NS50), and APX (NS46/49) - in response to ROS quenching chemicals were coherent with patterns shown in two-dimensional electrophoresis analyses. The authors concluded that these proteins may play an important role in maintaining cellular redox homeostasis during rice root growth [73].

Similarly, transgenic tobacco plants overexpressing SOD in the chloroplast, mitochondria, and cytosol have been generated [74, 75] and these have been shown to enhance tolerance to oxidative stress induced by methyl viologen (MV) in leaf disk assays. Overexpression of chloroplast Cu/ZnSOD showed a dramatic improvement in the photosynthetic performance under chilling stress conditions in transgenic tobacco [76] and potato plants [77]. While transgenic alfalfa (Medicago sativa) plants cv. RA3 overexpressing MnSOD in chloroplasts showed lower membrane injury [78], the tobacco transgenic plants overproducing alfalfa aldose reductase gene (MsALR) showed lower concentrations of reactive aldehydes and increased tolerance against oxidative agents and drought stress [79]. Tobacco transgenic plants overexpressing MnSOD showed enhanced tolerance to oxidative stress only in the presence of other antioxidant enzymes and substrates [80], thereby showing that the genotype and the isozyme composition also have a profound effect on the relative tolerance of the transgenic plants to abiotic stress [81]. Oxidative stress-related genes such as ApGPX2 and AcGPX2 (GPX-like proteins), ALR (aldose/aldehyde reductase), Apx1 (ascorbate peroxidase), APX2 (ascorbate peroxidase), Apx3 (ascorbate peroxidase), Apx3 (ascorbate peroxidase), Apx (ascorbate peroxidase), AO (ascorbate oxidase), AtMDAR1 (monodehydroascorbate reductase; ascorbate regeneration), DHAR (regeneration of ascorbate), Gly1;gly2 (glutathione-based detoxification of methylglyoxal), GmTP55 (antiquitin-like protein), GST (glutathione

210 10 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance – Retrospects and Prospects

S-transferase overexpression), *GST/GPX* (glutathione S-transferase with glutathione peroxidase), *GPX* (glutathione peroxidase), *katE* (*E. coli* catalase), *ndhCKJ* (NADPH dehydrogenase), *NtPox* (glutathione peroxidase), *Nt107* (glutathione S-transferase), *parB* (glutathione S-transferase), *SOD* (Cu-, Mn-, Fe-, ZnSOD), *SOD* (Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase), *SOD* (Fe superoxide dismutase), *SOD* (Mn superoxide dismutase), vtc1, vtc2, npq1, and cad2 (reactive oxygen metabolism mutants), and vtc-1 (ascorbate-deficient mutant) were transferred in many crops.

10.2.4

Multifunctional Genes for Lipid Biosynthesis

Transgenic approaches also aim to improve photosynthesis under abiotic stress conditions through changes in the lipid biochemistry of the membranes [82]. Adaptation of living cells to chilling temperatures is a function of alteration in the membrane lipid composition by increased fatty acid unsaturation. The accumulation of toxic compounds generated by the interaction between reactive oxygen species and polyunsaturated fatty acids of membrane lipids can significantly damage plant cells [83]. Three rice stress-induced aldoketo reductase (AKR) genes have been studied. The transcription level of OsAKR1 was greatly induced by abscisic acid and various stress treatments; the other two AKR genes tested were moderately stress inducible. The OsAKR1 recombinant protein exhibited a high nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate-dependent catalytic activity to reduce toxic aldehydes including glycolysis-derived methylglyoxal (MG) and lipid peroxidationoriginated malondialdehyde (MDA). The function of this enzyme in MG detoxification was demonstrated in vivo in E. coli and in transgenic plants overproducing the OsAKR1 protein. Heterologous synthesis of the OsAKR1 enzyme in transgenic tobacco plants resulted in increased tolerance against oxidative stress generated by methyl viologen and improved resistance to high temperature. In these plants, lower levels of MDA were detected following both MV and heat treatment due to the activity of the OsAKR1 enzyme. The transgenic tobacco plants also exhibited higher AKR activity and accumulated less MG in their leaves than the wild-type plants, both in the presence and in the absence of heat stress. These results support the positive role of OsAKR1 in abiotic stress-related reactive aldehyde detoxification pathways and its use for improvement of stress tolerance in plants [83]. Genetically engineered tobacco plants overexpressing chloroplast glycerol-3phosphate acyltransferase (GPAT) gene (involved in phosphatidylglycerol fatty acid desaturation) from squash (Cucurbita maxima) and A. thaliana [84] showed an increase in the number of unsaturated fatty acids and a corresponding decrease in the chilling sensitivity. Besides, transgenic tobacco plants with silenced expression of chloroplast x3-fatty acid desaturase (Fad7, which synthesizes trienoic fatty acids) were able to acclimate to high temperature as compared to the wild-type plants [85].

10.2.5 Heat Shock Protein Genes

Plants respond to heat stress by enhancing the expression of genes encoding heat shock protein (HSP) genes through activation of heat shock factors (HSFs) that interact with heat shock elements (HSEs) present in the promoter of HSP genes. Plant HSFs have been divided into three conserved classes, namely, A, B, and C [86]. The authors showed the expression profile through microarray analysis and quantitative real-time PCR showed that eight OsHsfs express at a higher level during seed development, while six HSFs are upregulated in all the abiotic stresses studied. The expression of OsHsfA2a gene in particular was greatly stimulated by heat stress in both root and shoot tissues and also during panicle and seed development. OsHsfA3 was found more responsive to cold and drought stress, while OsHsfA7 and OsHsfA9 showed developing seed-specific expression. This study also revealed that spliced variants generally accumulated at a higher level in all the tissues examined. Different hormones/elicitors such as ABA, brassinosteroids, and salicylic acid also alter OsHsf gene expression. Calcium in combination with heat stress further elevated the level of HSF transcripts. Expression analysis by both microarray and real-time RT-PCR revealed a unique stable constitutive expression of OsHsfA1 across all the tissues and stresses. A detailed *in silico* analysis involving identification of unidentified domains has been done by the MEME motif tool in their full-length proteins as well as in DNA binding domains. Analysis of 1 kb putative promoter region revealed presence of tissue-specific, abiotic stress and hormone-related cis-acting elements, correlating with expression under stress conditions [86]. Mittal et al. [87] demonstrated that the binding of Hsfs to HSEs also leads to transcriptional regulation of heat shock genes. Genome-wide, 953 rice genes contain perfect-type, 695 genes contain gap-type, and 1584 genes contain step-type HSE sequences in their 1 kb promoter region [87]. The rice genome contains 13 class A, 8 class B, and 4 class C Hsfs (OsHsfs) and has OsHsf26 (which is of variant type) genes. Chemical cross-linking analysis of in vitro synthesized OsHsf polypeptides showed formation of homotrimers of OsHsfA2c, OsHsfA9, and OsHsfB4b proteins. Binding analysis of polypeptides with oligonucleotide probes containing perfect-, gap-, and step-type HSE sequences showed that OsHsfA2c, OsHsfA9, and OsHsfB4b differentially recognize various model HSEs as a function of varying reaction temperatures. These differential patterns pertaining to binding with HSEs and protein-protein interactions may have a bearing on the cellular functioning of OsHsfs under a range of different physiological and environmental conditions [87].

Genetic engineering for increased thermotolerance by enhancing heat shock protein synthesis in plants has been achieved in a number of plant species [88–90]. There have been a few reports on positive correlations between the levels of heat shock proteins and stress tolerance [91, 92]. Although the precise mechanism by which these heat shock proteins confer stress tolerance is not known, a recent study demonstrated that *in vivo* function of thermoprotection of small heat shock

212 10 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance – Retrospects and Prospects

proteins is achieved via their assembly into functional stress granules (HSGs [93]). Genes encoding for molecular chaperones, for example, *APG6* (chloroplast structure), *atDjA2* and *atDjA3* (J-domain molecular chaperone family), *AtMTP3* (metal tolerance protein), *Atsbp1* (selenium binding protein), *atRZ-1a* (RNA chaperone protein), *BiP* (endoplasmic reticulum binding protein), *CaHSP26* (chloroplast-localized small heat shock protein), *hs* (heat shock transcription factor), *Hsp101* (heat shock protein), *Hsp17.7* (heat shock protein), *Hsp70* (heat-inducible antisense HSP70), *LeHSP100/ClpB* (chloroplast HSP), *mHSP22* (mitochondrial small HSP), *P5CR* (inducible heat shock promoter (IHSP)), *pBE2113/hiC6* (overexpressed HIC6 cryoprotective protein), *S1pt::ECS* (glutamylcysteine synthetase), *TLHS1* (overexpressed class I cytosolic small HSP), and *wx* (control amylose synthesis), were used for transformation in crop plants.

10.2.6

Regulatory Genes

Many genes that respond to multiple stresses such as dehydration and low temperature at the transcriptional level are also induced by ABA [94], which protects the cell from dehydration [95, 96]. In order to restore the cellular function and make plants more tolerant to stress, transferring a single gene encoding a single specific stress protein may not be sufficient to reach the required tolerance levels [97]. To overcome such constraints, enhancing tolerance toward multiple stresses by a gene encoding a stress-inducible transcription factor (TF) that regulates a number of other genes is a promising approach [98, 99]. Therefore, a second category of genes of recent preference for crop genetic engineering includes those that switch on transcription factors regulating the expression of several genes related to abiotic stresses.

10.2.7

Transcription Factors

An attractive target category for manipulation and gene regulation is the small group of transcription factors that have been identified to bind to promoter regulatory elements in genes that are regulated by abiotic stresses [100, 101]. During the past decade, many transcription factors, belonging to different families, have been shown to act as positive or negative regulators of stress-responsive genes, thus playing an extremely important role in stress signaling [102]. The transcription factors also activate cascades of genes that act together in enhancing tolerance toward multiple stresses. Dozens of transcription factors are involved in the plant response to drought stress [8, 103]. Most of these fall into several large transcription factor families, such as AP2/ERF, bZIP, NAC, MYB, MYC, Cys2His2 zinc finger, and WRKY. Individual members of the same family often respond differently to various stress stimuli. On the other hand, some stress-responsive genes may share the same transcription factors, as indicated by the significant overlap of the gene expression profiles that are induced in response to different stresses [54, 104]. Transcriptional

activation of stress-induced genes has been possible in transgenic plants overexpressing one or more transcription factors that recognize promoter regulatory elements of these genes. Two families, bZIP and MYB, are involved in ABA signaling and its gene activation. Many ABA-inducible genes share the (C/T) ACGTGGC consensus, *cis*-acting ABA-responsive element (ABRE) in their promoter regions [105]. Introduction of transcription factors in the ABA signaling pathway can also be a mechanism of genetic improvement of plant stress tolerance. Constitutive expression of ABF3 or ABF4 demonstrated enhanced drought tolerance in Arabidopsis, with altered expression of ABA/stress-responsive genes, for example, rd29B, rab18, ABI1, and ABI2 [106]. Several ABA-associated phenotypes, such as ABA hypersensitivity and sugar hypersensitivity, were observed in such plants. Moreover, salt hypersensitivity was observed in ABF3- and ABF4-overexpressing plants at the germination and young seedling stages, indicating the possible participation of ABF3 and ABF4 in response to salinity at these particular developmental stages. Improved osmotic stress tolerance in 35S:At-MYC2/AtMYB2 transgenic plants as judged by an electrolyte leakage test was reported by Abebe et al. [29]. Transgenic Arabidopsis plants constitutively overexpressing a cold-inducible transcription factor (CBF1; CRT/DRE binding protein) showed tolerance to freezing without any negative effect on the development and growth characteristics [107]. Overexpression of Arabidopsis CBF1 (CRT/DRE binding protein) has been shown to activate cor homologous genes at nonacclimating temperatures [108]. The CBF1 cDNA when introduced into tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum) under the control of a CaMV35S promoter improved tolerance to chilling, drought, and salt stresses but exhibited dwarf phenotype and reduction in fruit set and seed number [109]. Another transcriptional regulator, Alfin1, when overexpressed in transgenic alfalfa (M. sativa L.) plants regulated endogenous MsPRP2 (NaCl-inducible gene) mRNA levels, resulting in salinity tolerance, comparable to a few available salt-tolerant plants [110]. Lee et al. [111] produced thermotolerant Arabidopsis plants by derepressing the activity of ATHSF1, a heat shock transcription factor leading to the constitutive expression of heat shock proteins at normal temperature.

Several stress-induced cor genes such as rd29A, cor15A, kin1, and cor6.6 are triggered in response to cold treatment, ABA, and water-deficit stresses [112]. There have been numerous efforts in enhancing tolerance toward multiple stresses such as cold, drought, and salt stresses in crops other than the model plants such as *Arabidopsis*, tobacco, and alfalfa. DREBs (dehydration-responsive element binding factors) are important plant transcription factors that regulate the expression of many stress-inducible genes mostly in an ABA-independent manner and play a critical role in improving the abiotic stress tolerance of plants by interacting with a DRE/CRT *cis*-element present in the promoter region of various abiotic stressresponsive genes [113]. An increased tolerance to freezing and drought in *Arabidopsis* was also achieved by overexpressing CBF4, a close CBF/DREB1 homologue whose expression is rapidly induced during drought stress and by ABA treatment, but not by cold [114]. Similarly, a *cis*-acting element, dehydration-responsive element (DRE) identified in *A. thaliana*, is also involved in ABA-independent gene expression under drought, low-temperature, and high salt stress conditions in

214 10 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance – Retrospects and Prospects

many dehydration-responsive genes such as rd29A that are responsible for dehydration- and cold-induced gene expression [115-117]. Several cDNAs encoding the DRE binding proteins, DREB1A and DREB2A, have been isolated from A. thaliana and shown to specifically bind and activate the transcription of genes containing DRE sequences [118]. DREB1/CBFs are thought to function in cold-responsive gene expression, whereas DREB2s are involved in drought-responsive gene expression. The transcriptional activation of stress-induced genes has been possible in transgenic plants overexpressing one or more transcription factors that recognize regulatory elements of these genes. In Arabidopsis, the transcription factor DREB1A specifically interacts with the DRE and induces expression of stress tolerance genes [100]. DREB1A cDNA under the control of CaMV 35S promoter in transgenic plants elicits strong constitutive expression of the stress-inducible genes and brings about increased tolerance to freezing, salt, and drought stresses [118]. Strong tolerance to freezing stress was observed in transgenic Arabidopsis plants that overexpress CBF1 (DREB1B) cDNA under the control of the CaMV 35S promoter [107]. Subsequently, the overexpression of DREB1A has been shown to improve the drought and low-temperature stress tolerance in tobacco, wheat, and groundnut [119-123]. The use of stress-inducible rd29A promoter minimized the negative effects on plant growth in these crop species. However, overexpression of DREB2 in transgenic plants did not improve stress tolerance, suggesting involvement of post-translational activation of DREB2 proteins [118]. Recently, an active form of DREB2 was shown to transactivate target stress-inducible genes and improve drought tolerance in transgenic Arabidopsis [124]. The DREB2 protein is expressed under normal growth conditions and activated by osmotic stress through post-translational modification in the early stages of the osmotic stress response.

Water-deficit stress is detrimental for rice growth, development, and yield. Transcriptome analysis of 1-week-old rice (O. sativa L. var. IR64) seedlings under waterdeficit stress conditions using Affymetrix 57K GeneChip[®] has revealed 1563 and 1746 genes to be up- and downregulated, respectively [125]. In an effort to amalgamate data across laboratories, the authors identified 5611 differentially expressing genes under varying extrinsic water-deficit stress conditions in six vegetative and one reproductive stage of development in rice. Transcription factors involved in ABA-dependent and ABA-independent pathways have been found to be upregulated during water-deficit stress. Members of zinc-finger TFs, namely, C₂H₂, C₂C₂, C₃H, LIM, PHD, WRKY, ZF-HD, and ZIM, along with TF families such as GeBP, jumonji, MBF1, and ULT, express differentially under water-deficit conditions. NAC (NAM, ATAF, and CUC) TF family emerges to be a potential key regulator of multiple abiotic stresses. Among the 12 TF genes that are co-upregulated under water-deficit, salt, and cold stress conditions, 5 belong to the NAC TF family. They identified water-deficit stress-responsive genes encoding key enzymes involved in biosynthesis of osmoprotectants such as polyols and sugars; amino acid and quaternary ammonium compounds; cell wall loosening and structural components; cholesterol and very long chain fatty acids; and cytokinin and secondary metabolites. Comparison of genes responsive to water-deficit stress conditions with genes preferentially expressed during panicle and seed development revealed a significant

overlap of transcriptome alteration and pathways [125]. Another ABA-independent, stress-responsive, and senescence-activated gene expression involves ERD gene, the promoter analysis of which further identified two different novel *cis*-acting elements involved in dehydration stress induction and in dark-induced senescence [126]. Similarly, transgenic plants developed by expressing a drought-responsive AP2-type TF, SHN1-3 or WXP1, induced several wax-related genes, resulting in enhanced cuticular wax accumulation and increased drought tolerance [127, 128]. Thus, clearly, the overexpression of some drought-responsive transcription factors can lead to the expression of downstream genes and the enhancement of abiotic stress tolerance in plants [129].

The regulatory genes/factors reported so far play a significant role not only in drought and salinity stresses, but also in submergence tolerance. More recently, an ethylene response factor (ERF)-like gene Sub1A, one of the cluster of three genes at the Sub1 locus, has been identified in rice and the overexpression of Sub1A-1 in a submergence-intolerant variety conferred enhanced submergence tolerance to the plants [130], thus confirming the role of this gene in submergence tolerance in rice.

10.2.8 Other Transcription Factors

Other kinds of transcription factors also play vital roles in transcriptional regulation during stress conditions, although little information is available about their upstream regulators or direct targets. It has been demonstrated that Sub1A-1, an ethylene response factor, is the major genetic determinant for submergence tolerance in rice [130]. Sub1A-1 finely modulates acclimation responses to sudden and total inundation to maintain the capacity of regrowth when water subsides. For example, Sub1A-1 inhibits leaf elongation by suppressing the expression of expansin-encoding genes and restrains carbohydrate consumption by reducing the expression of α -amylose genes and sucrose synthase genes [131].

Although multiple *cis*-elements and *trans*-factors for transcriptional regulation under abiotic stress have been identified and characterized, a clear explanation of the complex transcription network and the huge number of abiotic stress-responsive genes remains elusive. For example, it was found that only 12% of the coldresponsive genes in *Arabidopsis* are regulated by CBF/DREB [132]. In addition, some of the CBF/DREB regulating genes have no DRE/CRT element in their promoters. It is very likely that these genes are controlled by CBF/DREB regulating transcriptional factors (e.g., RAP2.1) [132]. Chen *et al.* [133] used transcription factor microarray analysis to demonstrate that at least 30 transcription factors in *Arabidopsis* were induced by abiotic stress. A similar situation exists in rice. Microarray analysis revealed that transcription factor genes are rich within the group of the earliest salt-responsive genes [134]. Considering the spatial and temporal expression pattern of the abiotic stress-responsive genes, it is highly likely that many transcription factors and regulatory pathways related to abiotic stress remain to be identified [102].

10.2.9

Signal Transduction Genes

Genes involved in stress signal sensing and a cascade of stress signaling in *A. thaliana* have been of recent research interest [101, 135]. Components of the same signal transduction pathway may also be shared by various stress factors such as drought, salt, and cold [135]. Although there are multiple pathways of signal transduction systems operating at the cellular level for gene regulation, ABA is a known component acting in one of the signal transduction pathways, while others act independently of ABA. The early response genes have been known to encode transcription factors that activate downstream delayed response genes [7]. Although specific branches and components exist [136], the signaling pathways for salt, drought, and cold stresses all interact with ABA, and even converge at multiple steps [137]. Abiotic stress signaling in plants involves receptor-coupled phosphorelay, phosphoinositol-induced Ca²⁺ changes, mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade, and transcriptional activation of stress-responsive genes. A number of signaling components are associated with the plant response to high-temperature, freezing, drought, and anaerobic stresses [138].

One of the merits for the manipulation of signaling factors is that they can control a broad range of downstream events that can result in superior tolerance for multiple aspects [139]. Alteration of these signal transduction components is an approach to reduce the sensitivity of cells to stress conditions or induce a low level of constitutive expression of stress genes [140]. Overexpression of functionally conserved At-DBF2 (homologue of yeast DBF2 kinase) showed striking multiple stress tolerance in Arabidopsis plants [141]. Pardo et al. [142] also achieved salt stresstolerant transgenic plants by overexpressing calcineurin (a Ca²⁺/calmodulindependent protein phosphatase), a protein phosphatase known to be involved in salt stress signal transduction in yeast. Transgenic tobacco plants produced by altering stress signaling through functional reconstitution of activated yeast calcineurin opened up new routes not only for study of stress signaling, but also for engineering transgenic crops with enhanced stress tolerance [140]. Overexpression of an osmotic stress-activated protein kinase, SRK2C, resulted in a higher drought tolerance in A. thaliana, which coincided with the upregulation of stress-responsive genes [143]. Rao et al. [144] reported that mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinases (MAPKKKs) are important components of MAPK cascades, which are universal signal transduction modules and play important role in plant growth and development. In the sequenced Arabidopsis genome, 80 MAPKKKs were identified and are currently being analyzed for their role in different stresses. In rice, economically important monocot cereal crop, only five MAPKKKs were identified so far. The authors revealed computational analysis of sequenced rice genome and identified 75 MAPKKKs. EST hits and full-length cDNA sequences (from KOME or GenBank database) of 75 MAPKKKs supported their existence. Phylogenetic analyses of MAPKKKs from rice and Arabidopsis have classified them into three subgroups, which include Raf, ZIK, and MEKK. Conserved motifs in the deduced amino acid sequences of rice MAPKKKs strongly supported their identity as members of Raf, ZIK, and MEKK subfamilies. Further expression analysis of the MAPKKKs in MPSS database revealed that their transcripts were differentially regulated in various stress- and tissue-specific libraries [144, 145]. Similarly, a truncated tobacco MAPKKK, NPK1, activated an oxidative signal cascade resulting in cold, heat, salinity, and drought tolerance in transgenic plants [146, 147]. However, suppression of signaling factors could also effectively enhance tolerance to abiotic stress [92].

10.2.10

Functional Proteins

Plant stress tolerance depends on the correct regulation of physiological mechanisms. This is achieved by multiple functional proteins participating in developmental, biosynthetic, and metabolic pathways. Based on changes at the transcript and/or activity level, functional proteins protect cells from stress by the removal of toxic elements, restoration of cellular homeostasis, and eventual recovery of normal growth patterns. In this chapter, we focus on enzymes associated with ROS scavenging and sodium transporters.

10.2.11 ROS Scavenging System

ROS, including singlet oxygen ($^{1}O_{2}$), superoxide radical (O_{2}^{-}), hydrogen peroxide ($H_{2}O_{2}$), and hydroxyl radical (HO^{-}), are generated during aerobic metabolism and under abiotic stress conditions. They are capable of unrestricted oxidation of various cellular components and can lead to membrane lipid peroxidation, protein oxidation, and enzyme inhibition [148, 149]. Plant cells remove excess ROS produced under stress conditions by enzymatic and nonenzymatic mechanisms.

ROS scavenging enzymes include superoxide dismutase, ascorbate peroxidase, glutathione peroxidase, and catalase [150]. APX and GPX are the most studied scavenging enzymes in rice [151–153]. They belong to the plant peroxidase superfamily and catalyze the conversion of H₂O₂ to H₂O. Because ROS also function as second messengers, their generation and removal are tightly regulated in different cellular components. There are eight APX enzymes in rice: two cytosolic (OsAPX1 and OsAPX2), two peroxisomal (OsAPX3 and OsAPX4), one mitochondrial (OsAPX6), and three chloroplastic isoforms (OsAPX5, OsAPX7, and OsAPX8) [153]. OsGPX1 and other plant GPX enzymes, on the other hand, are cytosolic [150, 151]. Under salt stress, OsAPX2, OsAPX7, and OsAPX8 show altered transcript levels [153], but only OsAPX8 is induced in roots [154]. NaCl, ABA, and H₂O₂ can enhance the expression of OsAPX8 in rice roots, while the NaCl-induced expression of OsAPX8 is mediated through the accumulation of ABA but not H₂O₂ [154]. Even isoforms with the same subcellular location may have distinct functions. Expression analysis reveals that OsAPX2 is upregulated by salt [153]. Arabidopsis plants expressing OsAPX2 exhibit higher ROS scavenging activity and salt tolerance than those expressing OsAPX1 [155]. Kim et al. [73] applied PEG fractionation technique

218 10 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance – Retrospects and Prospects

combined with two-dimensional gel electrophoresis in rice root proteomic studies. Out of the 295 chosen proteins, 93 were identified by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. The proteins were classified as relating to metabolism (38.7%), ROS-related proteins (22.5%), protein processing/degradation (8.6%), stress/defense (7.5%), energy (6.5%), and signal transduction (5.4%). The high percentage of ROS-related proteins found in rice root indicates the role of ROS in rice root growth. Treatment with ROS quenching chemicals such as reduced glutathione, diphenyleneiodonium, and ascorbate inhibited root growth dose dependently. Forty-nine proteins identified were either up- or downregulated by GSH treatment, of which 14 were ROS-related proteins, such noticeably modulated ones as glutathione S-transferase, superoxide dismutase, and L-ascorbate peroxidase. The protein levels of four GSTs (NS4, NS8, NS56, and NS57), three APXs (NS46, NS49, and NS50), and MnSOD (NS45) were strongly reduced by GSH treatment but slightly reduced by ascorbate and DPI. Ascorbate and DPI strongly inhibited expression levels of a catalase A (NP23) and an APX (NS65) but did not affect APX (NS46, NS49, and NS50) protein levels. Northern analysis demonstrated that changes in transcript levels of five genes - GST (NS4), GST (NS43), Mn-SOD (NS45), APX (NS50), and APX (NS46/49) - in response to ROS quenching chemicals were coherent with patterns shown in two-dimensional electrophoresis analyses. The authors suggested that these proteins may play an important role in maintaining cellular redox homeostasis during rice root growth [73].

Nonenzymatic antioxidants include the major cellular redox buffers such as ascorbate and glutathione, as well as carotenoids and tocopherol [149, 150]. Alleviation of oxidative injury by the use of antioxidants can enhance plant resistance to abiotic stress. Guo *et al.* [156] found that feeding rice roots with L-ascorbic acid and its immediate precursor protected plants against oxidative damages, suggesting that manipulation of ascorbic acid biosynthesis could be a strategy for improving stress tolerance. During the antioxidation process, ascorbate itself is oxidized to dehydroascorbate; dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR) re-reduces the oxidized ascorbate. A high ratio of reduced to oxidized ascorbate is important for ROS scavenging efficiency. Ushimaru *et al.* [157] reported that overexpression of rice DHAR1 in *Arabidopsis* increases ascorbate levels, which leads to increased salt tolerance.

10.2.12 Sodium Transporters

Sodium is a micronutrient in plant cells. Under high salinity, excessive accumulation of Na⁺ in cytosol disrupts enzymatic and photosynthetic functions and causes ion toxicity. Both Na⁺ efflux and vacuolar sequestration contribute to a lower cytosolic Na⁺ concentration. Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters catalyze the exchange of Na⁺ for H⁺ across the membranes in order to maintain ion homeostasis, as well as cytoplasmic pH and cell turgor [158]. In *Arabidopsis*, extruding Na⁺ out of cell is mediated by the plasma membrane Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter SOS1 [159], whose activity is regulated by the SOS3–SOS2 complex in roots and by the CBL10–SOS2 complex in shoots [160, 161]. Biochemical and genetic analyses have demonstrated that OsSOS1 is a functional homologue of SOS1. Plasma membrane preparations from yeast expressing OsSOS1 show greater capacity for Na⁺/H⁺ exchange, and OsSOS1 confers salt tolerance to the yeast mutant AXT3K (Δ ena1–4 Δ nha1 Δ nhx1) and the *Arabidopsis* sos1 mutant [162]. Na⁺ in cytosol can also be sequestered into vacuoles by the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter OsNHX1 located in the tonoplast [163, 164]. The overexpression of OsNHX1 improves salt tolerance in transgenic rice plants, without adversely affecting Na⁺ and K⁺ levels or plant growth [163, 165].

A high K^+/Na^+ ratio is essential for normal cellular functions. There is growing evidence that supports the idea that the capacity of plants to maintain a high K^+/Na^+ ratio correlates with salt tolerance [166]. Identification of a major quantitative trait locus (QTL) for shoot K^+ content and salt tolerance revealed that SKC1 encodes a HKT-type Na⁺-selective transporter, OsHKT8 or OsHKT1;5 according to the new nomenclature [167–169]. SKC1 is preferentially expressed in parenchyma cells surrounding xylem vessels and upregulated by salinity in roots. SKC1 functions to recirculate Na⁺ back to the roots by unloading Na⁺ from xylem sap, thereby maintaining shoot K⁺ homeostasis and enhancing salt tolerance [169, 170]. In *Arabidopsis*, SOS1 [171] and AtHKT1;1 (or AtHKT1) [172–174] also reduce shoot Na⁺ concentration through the vascular system, although the mechanisms are different from SKC1 [175].

High-affinity Na⁺ uptake has been reported in K⁺-starved seedlings of wheat [176], rice [177], and barley [178]. However, there is no direct evidence that a channel/transporter functions in Na⁺-selective uptake in plant roots. Studies using oshkt2;1 null mutants demonstrated that OsHKT2;1 (or OsHKT1) takes up Na⁺ under K⁺-starvation conditions [179]. Due to a dramatically reduced influx of Na⁺ in roots, oshkt2;1 mutants accumulate less Na⁺ in roots and shoots. They exhibit growth inhibition only under K⁺-starvation and low-Na⁺ conditions [179]. Unlike Arabidopsis containing one HKT gene, seven HKT genes have been identified in rice cv. Nipponbare [170, 177]. Given this large number of genes, rice may be a better model for understanding the role of HKTs in regulating Na⁺ transport [180]. Jacobs et al. [181] transformed rice with the Physcomitrella patens Na⁺ pumping ATPase (PpENA1). When grown in solutions containing 50 mm NaCl, plants constitutively expressing the PpENA1 gene are more salt tolerant and produce greater biomass than controls. Transgenics and controls accumulate similar amounts of Na⁺ in leaf and root tissues under stress, which indicates that the observed tolerance is not because of Na⁺ exclusion. Moreover, inductively coupled plasma analysis reveals that the concentration of other ions in the transformants and the controls is similar. The transgenic lines are developmentally normal and fertile, and the transgene expression levels remain stable in subsequent generations. The results of this study demonstrate the utility of PpENA1 as a potential tool for engineering salinity tolerance in important crop species [181].

10.3

Choice of Promoters

An important aspect of transgenic technology is the regulated expression of transgenes. Tissue specificity of transgene expression is also an important consideration while deciding on the choice of the promoter so as to increase the level of expression of the gene. Thus, the strength of the promoter and the possibility of using stress-inducible, developmental stage, or tissue-specific promoters have also proved to be critical for tailoring plant response to these stresses [182]. Some gene products are needed in large amounts, such as LEA3, thereby necessitating the need for a very strong promoter. With other gene products, such as enzymes for polyamine biosynthesis, it may be better to use an inducible promoter of moderate strength. The promoters that have been most commonly used in the production of abiotic stress-tolerant plants so far include the CaMV 35S, ubiquitin 1, and actin promoters. These promoters being constitutive in nature, by and large express the downstream transgenes in all organs and at all the stages. However, constitutive overproduction of molecules such as trehalose [183] or polyamines [184] causes abnormalities in plants grown under normal conditions. Also, the production of the above-mentioned molecules can be metabolically expensive. In these cases, the use of a stress-inducible promoter may be more desirable. In plants, various types of abiotic stresses induce a large number of well-characterized and useful promoters. Not only an ideal inducible promoter should be devoid of any basal level of gene expression in the absence of inducing agents, but the expression should also be reversible and dose dependent. The transcriptional regulatory regions of the drought-induced and cold-induced genes have been analyzed to identify several cis-acting and trans-acting elements involved in the gene expression that is induced by abiotic stress [185]. Most of the stress promoters contain an array of stressspecific *cis*-acting elements that are recognized by the requisite transcription factors; for example, the transcriptional regulation of hsp genes is mediated by the core "heat shock element" located in the promoter region of these genes, 5' of the TATA box. All the plant hsp genes sequenced so far have been shown to contain partly overlapping multiple HSEs proximal to TATA motif. Apart from these hsp promoters, rd29 and adh gene promoters induced by osmotic stress and anaerobic stress, respectively, have also been studied. The Arabidopsis rd29A and rd29B are stress-responsive genes, but are differentially induced under abiotic stress conditions. The rd29A promoter includes both DRE and ABRE elements, where dehydration, high salinity, and low temperatures induce the gene, while the rd29B promoter includes only ABREs and the induction is ABA dependent. Overexpression of DREB1A transcription factors under the control of stress-inducible promoter from rd29A showed a better phenotypic growth of the transgenic plants compared to those obtained using the constitutive CaMV 35S promoter [186]. A stress-inducible expression of Arabidopsis CBF1 in transgenic tomato was achieved using the ABRC1 promoter from barley HAV22 [187]. Gene expression is induced by the binding of DREB1A, which in itself is induced by cold and water stresses, to a cis-acting DRE element in the promoters of genes such as rd29A, rd17, cor6.6,

cor15A, erd10, and kin1, thereby initiating synthesis of gene products imparting tolerance to low temperatures and water stress in plants. The regions of respiratory alcohol dehydrogenase adh1 gene promoter in maize and rice that are required for anaerobic induction include a string of bases called anoxia response element (ARE) with the consensus sequence of its core element as TGGTTT. Besides, other stress-responsive *cis*-acting promoter sequences such as low-temperature-responsive elements (LTRDs) with a consensus sequence of A/GCCGAC have been identified in genes such as Cor6.6, Cor15, and Cor78. These basic findings on stress promoters have led to a major shift in the paradigm for genetically engineering stress-tolerant crops [188].

10.4 Physiological Evaluation of Stress Effect

A large number of studies have evaluated different transgenic constructs in different plant species, and under different stresses such as drought, salinity, and cold. The expression of the genes inserted and altered levels of metabolites have been reported in great detail. However, less detail is given with regard to the methods used to evaluate the stress response. Although the transgenic construct is usually reported to have increased the tolerance to drought in most of the instances, it is then referred to as such in other papers. This lack of details applies mostly to drought stress; the protocols used for salt stress are usually better described [18, 26], although the levels of salt stress used in some studies are far beyond what is found in a natural environment. It is understood that most of these studies are intended to assess the gene expression, often in model plants, under a particular stress, and extreme situations of stress are often used to ensure the gene expression. However, these studies may bring about some misleading conclusions from an agronomic or a physiological perspective, where the assessment of stress tolerance of transgenics needs to be done with respect to its crosstalk with other stress-related genes/ mechanisms and where the effects of stress need to be observed over longer periods/conditions. This is particularly important, in order to closely mimic the life span of most crops under cycles of stress, rather than short exposure to very severe stresses, although we agree that short exposures to stress are certainly adequate if the purpose is to assess gene expression only. Therefore, in the following discussion, we focus on the agronomic/physiological perspective and do not mean to challenge the quality of the work done to assess gene expression.

Two major issues that typically need to be addressed in stress response evaluation of transgenics include (1) means of stress imposition, details about the stress, and growth conditions (including the intensity, timing, and quickness of imposition, etc.) and (2) "hard" data on the response of tested materials to support conclusions (comparison within the same species). Besides, precise details about the protocols used to evaluate the performance of plants to any given stress are very essential to assess the performance of materials.

10.5

Means of Stress Impositions, Growth Conditions, and Evaluations

Stress conditions used to evaluate the transgenic material in most of the reports so far are usually too severe [21, 35, 189] as plants are very unlikely to undergo such stresses under field conditions. Also, the means of evaluation are often significantly different from natural conditions. For example, Pellegrineschi *et al.* [120] compared the performance of initial events of DREB1A transgenic wheat to the wild parent by withholding water to 2-week-old seedlings grown in 5 cm \times 5 cm pots, and then rewatering until maturity when they were evaluated. Untransformed plants were nearly dead within 10–15 days of stress imposition, likely because of a different pattern of water use, whereas transgenic plants survived in these small pots and "passed" the evaluation successfully; such conditions would obviously not occur in the field. Besides the type of systems used to assess plant performance, one would expect the evaluation to be made, at least, on the basis of biomass accumulated during the stress.

While the use of PEG in hydroponics can be useful to test certain response of plants under a given osmotic potential as reported by Pilon-Smits et al. [34, 190], it offers conditions relatively different from those present in the soil where the water reservoir is by definition finite. There is improvement in growth by increased water uptake under the water potential applied, due to osmolyte production by the transgenic plant. This is quite possible in such a system because the water reservoir is unlimited in hydroponics, and because the water potential is constant. Under soil conditions, however, the volume of soil surrounding the root where water can be extracted is limited, and the water potential of that soil quickly declines upon water uptake by roots, reaching soil water potential where even the enhanced osmolyte production of the transgenics would be unable to extract any significant additional amount of water. A more realistic test of the ability to take up water using osmotic potential-enhanced transgenics would be to compare their capacity to extract water from a soil system rather than a hydroponic system. A recent study by Sivamani et al. [65] reported an increased water use efficiency (WUE) in the transgenic wheat. Unfortunately, there was no control over the soil evaporation that probably accounts for most of the water loss and explained the very low values of WUE observed. Besides, investigating drought responses by using fresh weight [91] and other indirect estimates of performance such as growth rate, stem elongation [32, 191], or survival [142] is likely to give inconsistent results. While applying a drought stress, it is important to know the stages of drought stress that the plants are exposed to, for which a detailed description of growth conditions, plant size, container size, water availability, and transpiration is needed. It is also crucial to report the dry weight of tested plants, possibly before and after the stress period.

Similarly, often the stress imposed has been modified from 2 days to 2 weeks and even 4 weeks using the same experimental conditions [191], without indicating the water holding capacity of the potting mixture used as well as the plant density. This obviously leads to different types of stresses, where the plants exposed to water stress for 2 days may well have remained in stage I when water is abundant (see below), while plants exposed to stress for 4 weeks may have spent most of the time under stage III where roots may have exhausted all the available water. Also, there are cases where a given quantity of water is applied to the plants on alternate days from 2 to 10 weeks [65], thereby disregarding the fact that the water requirements increase dramatically during the period, and probably exposing their plants to an initial flooding before a severe stress.

10.6 Adequate Protocols to Apply Drought and Salinity Stress

Unlike what seems to be a common practice in transgenic evaluation, applying drought does not consist simply in withholding water. Indeed, we cannot investigate drought responses of plants without understanding the different phases that a plant undergoes under drought in natural conditions. These steps have been described earlier [192, 193]. In phase I, water is abundant and plant can take up all the water required by transpiration and stomata are fully open. During that stage, the water loss is mostly determined by the environmental conditions to which the leaves are exposed. During stage II, the roots are no longer able to supply sufficient water to the shoot and stomata progressively close to adjust the water loss to the water supply, so that leaf turgor is maintained. In stage III, roots have exhausted all the water available for transpiration. Stomata are closed and virtually all the physiological processes contributing to growth, including photosynthesis, are inhibited. This has been used to design dry-down experiments where the response of plants to drought is taken as a function of the fraction of soil moisture available to plant (fraction of transpirable soil water, FTSW), and not as a function of number of days after which the stress has been imposed. The former allows a precise comparison of stress imposed across experiments and environmental conditions, whereas referring to stress intensity on the number of days of exposure to stress, without referring to pot size, evaporative demand, and so on, can lead to erratic and irreproducible data. Based on transpiration values, it is possible to partially compensate the water loss to apply a milder stress condition, which allows plants of different sizes to be exposed to a similar drought stress. For instance, plants exposed to water stress are allowed to lose a maximum of 70 g per day. Any water loss in excess of this value is added back on a plant basis. This allows maintaining the volumetric soil moisture content, a proxy for water stress, similar in all pots. Amount of daily water loss can be adapted to increase/decrease the level of stress. This protocol has the advantage of mimicking the situation a plant would face in the field, that is, a progressive soil drying. This method has been successfully used at ICRISAT to assess the response of 14 transgenic events of groundnut with rd29A promoter-driven DREB1A under contained greenhouse conditions [122, 123].

Regarding salinity, most of the evaluations reported so far have been carried out at the seedling stage [194], although this type of evaluation has been reported to have little correspondence, if any, with how plants will later perform under salt stress [195, 196]. Besides, evaluations are made on a short-term basis by using high

224 10 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance – Retrospects and Prospects

concentrations of salt, way above those found even in highly saline natural environment that obviously magnifies the effect of transgenics engineered to excrete salt. Therefore, protocols that use too severe concentrations of salt should be avoided. A few other subjects of contention include the treatments that are used as salt stress, and also the hypothesis about the major determinants of salt stress tolerance.

It is often assumed that the avoidance of Na⁺ accumulation and toxicity confers salt tolerance in plants. Therefore, most of the transgenic work has dealt with genes involved in Na⁺ extrusion from the root or Na compartmentation in the vacuoles. However, severe stresses (over 200–300 mM) in hydroponics [18, 121, 191] that are unlikely to occur in the natural environment will necessarily highlight those transgenics that are able to excrete Na⁺ and able to maintain homeostasis, even though it may be for a short while. Whether such a strategy is adequate is still an open question.

Procedures for the salinity evaluation of crops are being optimized to be carried out in soil conditions in an outdoor facility under natural conditions at ICRISAT. Here, salt stress is applied to the soil during the early stages of germination and plant development using a staggered salt application (total amount split in three applications) to avoid an osmotic shock. Besides, plants are maintained close to 80% field capacity until maturity to avoid a possible increase in salt concentration if water is not replenished regularly. The plant tolerance to stress is evaluated based on the seed yield since no correlation between the shoot biomass and seed yield under salinity has been observed [196]. It is likely that reproduction is the key physiological process affected by salinity. Therefore, transgenic research intended to improve salt tolerance should probably be focused on those processes that appear to be sensitive. A thorough investigation of these processes can only help in devising a suitable and focused transgenic approach.

10.7 Conclusions

This chapter summarizes the recent efforts to improve abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants by employing some of the stress-related genes and transcription factors that have been cloned and characterized.

- 1) There is a clear and urgent need to introduce stress tolerance genes into crop plants, in addition to establishing gene stacking or gene pyramiding.
- 2) An important issue to address is how the tolerance to specific abiotic stress is assessed, and whether the achieved tolerance compares to existing tolerance. The biological cost of production of different metabolites to cope with stress and their effect on yield should be properly evaluated.
- 3) A well-focused approach combining the molecular, physiological, and metabolic aspects of abiotic stress tolerance is required for bridging the knowledge gaps between short- and long-term effects of the genes and their products, and

between the molecular or cellular expression of the genes and the whole plant phenotype under stress.

4) Thorough understanding of the underlying physiological processes in response to different abiotic stresses can efficiently/successfully drive the choice of a given promoter or transcription factor to be used for transformation.

References

- 1 Lafitte, H.R., Ismail, A., and Bennett, J. (2004) Abiotic stress tolerance in rice for Asia: progress and the future, in *New Directions for a Diverse Planet 2004*, Proceedings for the 4th International Crop Science Congress, September 26– October 1, 2004, Brisbane, Australia, The Regional Institute Ltd. Available at http:// www.cropscience.org.au/icsc2004.
- 2 Maclean, J.L., Dawe, D.C., Hardy, B., and Hettel, G.P. (2002) *Rice Almanac*, 3rd edn, International Rice Research Institute/West Africa Rice Development Association/International Center for Tropical Agriculture/Food and Agriculture Organization, Los Baños, Philippines/Bouaké, Côte d'Ivoire/Cali, Colombia/Rome, Italy.
- 3 Fujita, M., Fujita, Y., Noutoshi, Y., Takahashi, F., Narusaka, Y., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. *et al.* (2006) Crosstalk between abiotic and biotic stress responses: a current view from the points of convergence in the stress signaling networks. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, 9, 436–442.
- 4 Knight, H. and Knight, M.R. (2001) Abiotic stress signalling pathways: specificity and cross-talk. *Trends Plant Sci.*, **6**, 262–267.
- 5 Sunkar, R., Chinnusamy, V., Zhu, J., and Zhu, J.K. (2007) Small RNAs as big players in plant abiotic stress responses and nutrient deprivation. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 12, 301–309.
- 6 Xiong, L. and Zhu, J.K. (2002) Molecular and genetic aspects of plant responses to osmotic stress. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 25, 131–139.
- 7 Zhu, J.K. (2002) Salt and drought stress signal transduction in plants. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, 53, 247–273.

- 8 Vinocur, B. and Altman, A. (2005) Recent advances in engineering plant tolerance to abiotic stress: achievements and limitations. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 16, 123–132.
- 9 Bray, E. (1993) Molecular responses to water deficit. *Plant Physiol.*, 103, 1035– 1040.
- 10 Ishitani, M., Xiong, L., Stevenson, B., and Zhu, J.-K. (1997) Genetic analysis of osmotic and cold stress signal transduction in *Arabidopsis*: interactions and convergence of abscisic aciddependent and abscisic acid-independent pathways. *Plant Cell*, **9**, 1935–1949.
- 11 Lilius, G., Holmberg, N., and Bulow, L. (1996) Enhanced NaCl stress tolerance in transgenic tobacco expressing bacterial choline dehydrogenase. *Biotechnology*, 14, 177–180.
- 12 Hayashi, H., Alia, M.L., Deshnium, P.G., Id, M., and Murata, N. (1997) Transformation of *Arabidopsis thaliana* with the codA gene for choline oxidase: accumulation of glycine betaine and enhanced tolerance to salt and cold stress. *Plant J.*, 12, 133–142.
- 13 Hayashi, H., Alia, M.L., Sakamoto, A., Nonaka, H., Chen, T.H.H., and Murata, N. (1998) Enhanced germination under high-salt conditions of seeds of transgenic *Arabidopsis* with a bacterial gene (codA) for choline oxidase. *J. Plant Res.*, 111, 357–362.
- 14 Alia, K.Y., Sakamoto, A., Nonaka, H., Hayashi, H., Saradhi, P.P., Chen, T.H. H., and Murata, N. (1998) Enhanced tolerance to light stress of transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants that express the codA gene for a bacterial choline oxidase. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 40, 279–288.
- 15 Alia, H., Kondo, Y., Sakamoto, A., Nonaka, H., Hayashi, H., Pardha

Saradhi, P., Chen, T.H.H., and Norio, M. (1999) Enhanced tolerance to light stress of transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants that express the codA gene for a bacterial choline oxidase. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, **40**, 279– 288.

- 16 Sakamoto, A., Murata, A., and Murata, N. (1998) Metabolic engineering of rice leading to biosynthesis of glycinebetaine and tolerance to salt and cold. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 381011–1019.
- 17 Sakamoto, A. and Murata, N. (2000) Genetic engineering of glycinebetaine synthesis in plants: current status and implications for enhancement of stress tolerance. *J. Exp. Bot.*, **51**, 81–88.
- 18 Holmstrom, K.O., Somersalo, S., Mandal, A., Palva, E.T., and Welin, B. (2000) Improved tolerance to salinity and low temperature in transgenic tobacco producing glycine betaine. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 51, 177–185.
- 19 McNeil, S.D., Nuccio, M.L., Rhodes, D., Shachar-Hill, Y., and Hanson, A.D. (2000) Radiotracer and computer modeling evidence that phospho-base methylation is the main route of choline synthesis in tobacco. *Plant Physiol.*, 123, 371–380.
- 20 Delauney, A.J. and Verma, D.P.S. (1993) Proline biosynthesis and osmoregulation in plants. *Plant J.*, 4, 215–223.
- 21 Nanjo, T., Kobayashi, M., Yoshiba, Y., Kakubari, Y., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Shinozaki, K. (1999) Antisense suppression of proline degradation needs. *Proc. Indian Natl. Sci. Acad. B*, 66, 13–32.
- 22 Zhu, B.C., Su, J., Chan, M.C., Verma, D. P.S., Fan, Y.L., and Wu, R. (1998) Overexpression of a Δ(1)-pyrroline-5carboxylate synthetase gene and analysis of tolerance to water- and salt-stress in transgenic rice. *Plant Sci.*, 139, 41–48.
- 23 Yamada, M., Morishita, H., Urano, K., Shiozaki, N., Kazuko, Y.-S., Shinozaki, A., Balasubramani, K., and Yoshiba, Y. (2005) Effects of free proline accumulation in petunias under drought stress. J. Exp. Bot., 56, 1975–1981.
- 24 Iskandar, H.M., Casu, R.E., Fletcher, A. T., Schmidt, S., Xu, J., Maclean, D.J., Manners, J.M., and Bonnett, G.D. (2011)

Identification of drought-response genes and a study of their expression during sucrose accumulation and water deficit in sugarcane culms. *BMC Plant Biol.*, **11**, 12.

- 25 Dobra, J., Motyka, V., Dobrev, P., Malbeck, J., Prasil, I.T., Haisel, D., Gaudinova, A., Havlova, M., Gubis, J., and Vankova, R. (2010) Comparison of hormonal responses to heat, drought and combined stress in tobacco plants with elevated proline content. *J. Plant Physiol.*, 167, 1360–1370.
- 26 Tarczynski, M.C., Jensen, R.G., and Bohnert, H.J. (1993) Stress protection of transgenic tobacco by production of the osmolyte mannitol. *Science*, 259, 508–510.
- 27 Yang, G., Rhodes, D., and Joly, R.J. (1996) Effects of high temperature on membrane stability and chlorophyll fluorescence in glycine betaine-deficient and glycine betaine containing maize lines. *Aust. J. Plant Physiol.*, 23, 437–443.
- 28 Shen, B., Jensen, R.G., and Bohnert, H.J. (1997) Increased resistance to oxidative stress in transgenic plants by targeting mannitol biosynthesis to chloroplasts. *Plant Physiol.*, 113, 1177–1183.
- 29 Abebe, T., Guenzi, A.C., Martin, B., and Cushman, J.C. (2003) Tolerance of mannitol-accumulating transgenic wheat to water stress and salinity. *Plant Physiol.*, 131, 1748–1755.
- 30 Holmstrom, K.O., Manty, E., Welin, B., and Palva, E.T. (1996) Drought tolerance in tobacco. *Nature*, 379, 683–684.
- 31 Zhao, H.W., Chen, Y.J., Hu, Y.L., Gao, Y., and Lin, Z.P. (2000) Construction of a trehalose-6-phosphate synthase gene driven by drought responsive promoter and expression of drought-resistance in transgenic tobacco. *Acta Bot. Sin.*, 42, 616–619.
- 32 Pilon-Smits, E.H.A., Ebskamp, M.J.M., Paul, M.J., Jeuken, M.J.W., Weisbeek, P.J., and Smeekens, S.C.M. (1995) Improved performance of transgenic fructan accumulating tobacco under drought stress. *Plant Physiol.*, 107, 125–130.
- 33 Pilon-Smits, E.A.H., Terry, N., Sears, T., Kim, H., Zayed, A., Hwang, S., Van Dun,

K., Voogd, E., Verwoerd, T.C., Krutwagen, R.W.H.H., and Giddijn, J.M. (1998) Trehalose-producing transgenic tobacco plants show improved growth performance under drought stress. *J. Plant Physiol.*, **152**, 525–532.

- 34 Pilon-Smits, E.A.H., Terry, N., Sears, T., and van Dun, K. (1999) Enhanced drought resistance in fructan-producing sugar beet. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 37, 313–317.
- 35 Garg, A.K., Kim, J.K., Owens, T.G., Ranwala, A.P., Choi, Y.C., Kochian, L.V., and Wu, R.J. (2002) Trehalose accumulation in rice plants confers high tolerance levels to different abiotic stresses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 99, 15898–15903.
- 36 Cortina, C. and Culianez-Macia, F. (2005) Tomato abiotic stress enhanced tolerance by trehalose biosynthesis. *Plant Sci.*, 169, 75–82.
- 37 Gao, M., Sakamoto, A., Miura, K., Murata, N., Sugiura, A., and Tao, R. (2000) Transformation of Japanese persimmon (*Diospyros kaki* Thunb.) with a bacterial gene for choline oxidase. *Mol. Breed.*, 6, 501–510.
- 38 Chan, Z., Grumet, R., and Loescher, W. (2011) Global gene expression analysis of transgenic, mannitol-producing, and salttolerant *Arabidopsis thaliana* indicates widespread changes in abiotic and biotic stress-related genes. J. Exp. Bot., 62, 4787–4803.
- 39 Chan, Z., Bigelow, P.J., Loescher, W., and Grumet, R. (2011) Comparison of salt stress resistance genes in transgenic *Arabidopsis thaliana* indicates that extent of transcriptomic change may not predict secondary phenotypic or fitness effects. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 10, 1467–7652.
- 40 Ahn, C., Park, U., and Park, P.B. (2011) Increased salt and drought tolerance by D-ononitol production in transgenic *Arabidopsis thaliana. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 415, 669–674.
- **41** Wang, X., Li, Y., Ji, W., Bai, X., Cai, H., Zhu, D., Sun, X.L., Chen, L.J., and Zhu, Y.M. (2011) A novel *Glycine soja* tonoplast intrinsic protein gene responds to abiotic stress and depresses salt and dehydration tolerance in transgenic *Arabidopsis*

thaliana. J. Plant Physiol., **168**, 1241–1248.

- 42 Roy, M. and Wu, R. (2001) Arginine decarboxylase transgene expression and analysis of environmental stress tolerance in transgenic rice. *Plant Sci.*, 160, 869–875.
- **43** Roy, M. and Wu, R. (2002) Overexpression of *S*-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase gene in rice increases polyamine level and enhances sodium chloride-stress tolerance. *Plant Sci.*, **163**, 987–992.
- 44 Kumria, R. and Rajam, M.V. (2002) Ornithine decarboxylase transgene in tobacco affects polyamines, *in vitro*morphogenesis and response to salt stress. J. Plant Physiol., **159**, 983–990.
- 45 Waie, B. and Rajam, M.V. (2003) Effect of increased polyamine biosynthesis on stress responses in transgenic tobacco by introduction of human *S*adenosylmethionine gene. *Plant Sci.*, 164, 727–734.
- 46 Anderson, S.E., Bastola, D.R., and Minocha, S.C. (1998) Metabolism of polyamines in transgenic cells of carrot expressing a mouse ornithine decarboxylase cDNA. *Plant Physiol.*, 116, 299–307.
- 47 Capell, T., Bassie, L., and Christou, P. (2004) Modulation of the polyamine biosynthetic pathway in transgenic rice confers tolerance to drought stress. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **101**, 9909–9914.
- 48 Quimlo, C.A., Torrizo, L.B., Setter, T.L., Ellis, M., Grover, A., Abrigo, E.M., Oliva, N.P., Ella, E.S., Carpena, A.L., Ito, O., Peacock, W.J., Dennis, E., and Datta, S.K. (2000) Enhancement of submergence tolerance in transgenic rice plants overproducing pyruvate decarboxylase. *J. Plant Physiol.*, **156**, 516–521.
- 49 Hare, P.D., Cress, W.A., and Van Staden, J. (1998) Dissecting the roles of osmolyte accumulation during stress. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 21, 535–553.
- 50 Bohnert, H.J. and Shen, B. (1999) Transformation and compatible solutes. *Sci. Hortic.*, 78, 237–260.
- 51 McNeil, S.D., Nuccio, M.L., and Hanson, A.D. (1999) Betaines and related osmoprotectants. Targets for metabolic

engineering of stress resistance. *Plant Physiol.*, **120**, 945–949.

- 52 Diamant, S., Eliahu, N., Rosenthal, D., and Goloubinoff, P. (2001) Chemical chaperones regulate molecular chaperones *in vitro* and in cells under combined salt and heat stresses. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 276, 39586–39591.
- 53 Fukai, S. and Cooper, M. (1995) Developing resistant cultivars using physiomorphological traits in rice. *Field Crops Res.*, 40, 67–86.
- 54 Chen, T.H. and Murata, N. (2002) Enhancement of tolerance of abiotic stress by metabolic engineering of betaines and other compatible solutes. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, 5, 250–257.
- 55 Serraj, R. and Sinclair, T.R. (2002) Osmolyte accumulation: can it really help increase crop under drought conditions? *Plant Cell Environ.*, 25, 333–341.
- 56 Voetberg, G.S. and Sharp, R.E. (1991) Growth of the maize primary root tip at low water potentials. III. Role of increased proline deposition in osmotic adjustment. *Plant Physiol.*, 96, 1125–1130.
- 57 Turner, N.C., Shahal, A., Berger, J.D., Chaturvedi, S.K., French, R.J., Ludwig, C., Mannur, D.M., Singh, S.J., and Yadava, H.S. (2007) Osmotic adjustment in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) results in no yield benefit under terminal drought. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 58, 187–194.
- 58 Passioura, J. (1977) Physiology of grain yield in wheat growing on stored water. *Aust. J. Plant Physiol.*, 3, 559–565.
- 59 Passioura, J. (2007) The drought environment: physical, biological and agricultural perspectives. J. Exp. Bot., 58, 113–117.
- 60 Sinclair, B.J., Jaco Klok, C., and Chown, S.L. (2004) Metabolism of the sub-Antarctic caterpillar *Pringleophaga marioni* during cooling, freezing and thawing. J. Exp. Biol., 207, 1287–1294.
- 61 Garg, A.K., Kim, J.K., Owens, T.G., Ranwala, A.P., Do Choi, Y., Kochian, L.V., and Wu, R.J. (2002) Trehalose accumulation in rice plants confers high tolerance levels to different abiotic stresses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 99, 15898–15903.

- 62 Galau, G.A., Bijaisoradat, N., and Hughes, D.W. (1987) Accumulation kinetics of cotton late embryogenesisabundant (LEA) mRNAs and storage protein mRNAs: coordinate regulation during embryogenesis and role of abscisic acid. *Dev. Biol.*, 123, 198–212.
- 63 Dure, L., III (1993) A repeating 11-mer amino acid motif and plant desiccation. *Plant J.*, 3, 363–369.
- 64 Xu, D., Duan, X., Wang, B., Hong, B., Ho, T.-H.D., and Wu, R. (1996) Expression of a late embryogenesis abundant protein gene, HVA1, from barley confers tolerance to water deficit and salt stress in transgenic rice. *Plant Physiol.*, **110**, 249–257.
- **65** Sivamani, E., Bahieldin, A., Wraith, J.M., Al-Niemi, T., Dyer, W.E., Ho, T.H.D., and Qu, R.D. (2000) Improved biomass productivity and water use efficiency under water deficit conditions in transgenic wheat constitutively expressing the barley HVA1 gene. *Plant Sci.*, **155**, 1–9.
- **66** Rohila, J.S., Jain, R.K., and Wu, R. (2002) Genetic improvement of Basmati rice for salt and drought tolerance by regulated expression of a barley Hva1 cDNA. *Plant Sci.*, **163**, 525–532.
- 67 Shih, M.D., Huang, L.T., Wei, F.J., Wu, M.T., Hoekstra, F.A., and Hsing, Y.I. (2010) OsLEA1a, a new Em-like protein of cereal plants. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 51, 2132–2144.
- 68 Hanin, M., Brini, F., Ebel, C., Toda, Y., and Takeda, S. (2011) Plant dehydrins and stress tolerance: versatile proteins for complex mechanisms. *Plant Signal. Behav.*, 6, 10.
- 69 Xiao, B., Huang, Y., Tang, N., and Xiong, L. (2007) Over-expression of a LEA gene in rice improves drought resistance under the field conditions. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 115, 35–46.
- 70 Vranova, E., Inze, D., and Van Breusegem, F. (2002) Signal transduction during oxidative stress. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 53, 1227–1236.
- 71 Zhu, L., Tang, G.S., Hazen, S.P., Kim, H. S., and Ward, R.W. (1999) RFLP-based genetic diversity and its development in

Shaanxi wheat lines. Acta Bot. Boreal-Occident Sin., **19**, 13.

- 72 Roxas, V.P., Smith, R.K., Jr., Allen, E.R., and Allen, R.D. (1997) Overexpression of glutathione S-transferase/glutathione peroxidase enhances the growth of transgenic tobacco seedlings during stress. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 15, 988–991.
- 73 Kim, S.G., Kim, S.T., Kang, S.Y., Wang, Y., Kim, W., and Kang, K.Y. (2008) Proteomic analysis of reactive oxygen species (ROS)-related proteins in rice roots. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 27, 363–375.
- 74 Bowler, C., Slooten, L., Vandenbranden, S., Rycke, R.D., Botterman, J., Sybesma, C., Van Montagu, M., and Inze, D. (1991) Manganese superoxide dismutase can reduce cellular damage mediated by oxygen radicals in transgenic plants. *EMBO J.*, **10**, 1723–1732.
- 75 Van Camp, W., Capiau, K., Van Montagu, M., Inze, D., and Slooten, L. (1996) Enhancement of oxidative stress tolerance in transgenic tobacco plants overproducing Fe-superoxide dismutase in chloroplasts. *Plant Physiol.*, **112**, 1703–1714.
- 76 Sen Gupta, A., Heinen, J.L., Holady, A.S., Burke, J.J., and Allen, R.D. (1993) Increased resistance to oxidative stress in transgenic plants that over-express chloroplastic Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 90, 1629–1633.
- Perl, A., Perl-Treves, R., Galili, S., Aviv, D., Shalgi, E., Malkin, S., and Galun, E. (1993) Enhanced oxidative stress defense in transgenic potato expressing tomato Cu, Zn superoxide dismutases. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 85, 568–576.
- 78 Mckersie, B.D., Bowley, S.R., Harjanto, E., and Leprince, O. (1996) Water deficit tolerance and field performance of transgenic alfalfa overexpressing superoxide dismutase. *Plant Physiol.*, 111, 1177–1181.
- 79 Oberschall, A., Deak, M., Torok, K., Sass, L., Vass, I., Kovacs, I., Feher, A., Dudits, D., and Hovarth, G.V. (2000) A novel aldose/aldehyde reductase protects transgenic plants against lipid

peroxidation under chemical and drought stress. *Plant J.*, **24**, 422, 437–446.

- 80 Slooten, L., Capiau, K., Van Camp, W., Montagu, M.V., Sybesma, C., and Inze, D. (1995) Factors affecting the enhancement of oxidative stress tolerance in transgenic tobacco overexpressing manganese superoxide dismutase in the chloroplasts. *Plant Physiol.*, 107, 737–775.
- 81 Rubio, M.C., Gonzalez, E.M., Minchin, F.R., Webb, K.J., Arrese-Igor, C., Ramos, J., and Becana, M. (2002) Effects of water stress on antioxidant enzymes of leaves and nodules of transgenic alfalfa overexpressing superoxide dismutases. *Physiol. Plant.*, 115, 531–540.
- 82 Grover, A. and Minhas, D. (2000) Towards production of abiotic stress tolerant transgenic rice plants: issues, progress and future research needs. *Proc. Indian Natl. Sci. Acad. B*, 66, 13–32.
- 83 Turóczy, Z., Kis, P., Török, K., Cserháti, M., Lendvai, A., Dudits, D., and Horváth, G.V. (2011) Overproduction of a rice aldo-keto reductase increases oxidative and heat stress tolerance by malondialdehyde and methylglyoxal detoxification. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 75, 399–412.
- 84 Murata, N., Ishizaki-Nishizawa, O., Higashi, S., Hayashi, S., Tasaka, Y., and Nishida, I. (1992) Genetically engineered alteration in the chilling sensitivity of plants. *Nature*, 356, 710–713.
- 85 Murakami, Y., Tsuyama, M., Kobayashi, Y., Kodama, H., and Iba, K. (2000) Trienoic fatty acids and plant tolerance of high temperature. *Science*, 287, 476–479.
- 86 Chauhan, H., Khurana, N., Agarwal, P., and Khurana, P. (2011) Heat shock factors in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.): genomewide expression analysis during reproductive development and abiotic stress. *Mol. Genet. Genomics*, 286, 171–187.
- 87 Mittal, D., Enoki, Y., Lavania, D., Singh, A., Sakurai, H., and Grover, A. (2011) Binding affinities and interactions among different heat shock element types and heat shock factors in

rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *FEBS J.*, **278**, 3076–3085.

- 88 Malik, M.K., Slovin, J.P., Hwang, C.H., and Zimmerman, J.L. (1999) Modified expression of a carrot small heat-shock protein gene, Hsp17.7, results in increased or decreased thermotolerance. *Plant J.*, 20, 89–99.
- 89 Li, H.Y., Chang, C.S., Lu, L.S., Liu, C.A., Chan, M.T., and Chang, Y.Y. (2003) Overexpression of *Arabidopsis thaliana* heat shock factor gene (AtHsfA1b) enhances chilling tolerance in transgenic tomato. *Bot. Bull. Acad. Sin.*, 44, 129–140.
- **90** Katiyar-Agarwal, S., Agarwal, M., and Grover, A. (2003) Heat-tolerant basmati rice engineered by over-expression of hsp101. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, **51**, 677–686.
- 91 Sun, W., Bernard, C., van de Cotte, B., Montagu, M.V., and Verbruggen, N. (2001) At-HSP17.6A, encoding a small heat-shock protein in *Arabidopsis*, can enhance osmotolerance upon overexpression. *Plant J.*, 27, 407–415.
- 92 Wang, Y., Ying, J., Kuzma, M., Chalifoux, M., Sample, A., McArthur, C., Uchacz, T., Sarvas, C., Wan, J., Dennis, D.T. *et al.* (2005) Molecular tailoring of farnesylation for plant drought tolerance and yield protection. *Plant J.*, 43, 413–424.
- **93** Miroshnichenko, S., Tripp, J., Nieden, U.Z., Neumann, D., Conrad, U., and Manteuffel, R. (2005) Immunomodulation of function of small heat shock proteins prevents their assembly into heat stress granules and results in cell death at sublethal temperatures. *Plant J.*, **41**, 269–281.
- 94 Mundy, J. and Chua, N.-H. (1988) Abscisic acid and water-stress induce the expression of a novel rice gene. *EMBO J.*, 7, 2279–2286.
- 95 (a) Dure, L., III, Crouch, M., Harada, J., Ho, T.-H.D., and Mundy, J. (1989) Common amino acid sequence domains among the LEA proteins of higher plants. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 12, 475–486. (b) El Hafid, R., Smith, D.H., Karrou, M., and Samir, K. (1998) Physiological attributes associated with early-season drought resistance in spring durum wheat cultivars. *Can. J. Plant Sci.*, 78, 227–237.

- **96** Skriver, K. and Mundy, J. (1990) Gene expression in response to abscisic acid and osmotic stress. *Plant Cell*, **5**, 503–512.
- 97 Bohnert, H.J., Nelson, D.F., and Jenson, R.G. (1995) Adaptation to environmental stresses. *Plant Cell*, 7, 1099–1111.
- 98 Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., Urao, T., Iwasaki, T., Kiyosue, T., and Shinozaki, K. (1994) Function and regulation of genes that are induced by dehydration stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *JIRCAS J.*, 1, 69–79.
- **99** Chinnusamy, V., Jagendorf, A., and Zhu, J.K. (2005) Understanding and improving salt tolerance in plants. *Crop Sci.*, **45**, 437–448.
- 100 Shinozaki, K. and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (1997) Gene expression and signal transduction in water-stress response. *Plant Physiol.*, 115, 327–334.
- 101 Winicov, I. and Bastola, D.R. (1997) Salt tolerance in crop plants: new approaches through tissue culture and gene regulation. *Acta Physiol. Plant.*, 19, 435–449.
- 102 Santos, A.P., Serra, T., Figueiredo, D.D., Barros, P., Lourenço, T., Chander, S., Oliveira, M.M., and Saibo, N.J. (2011) Transcription regulation of abiotic stress responses in rice: a combined action of transcription factors and epigenetic mechanisms. OMICS, 15 (12), 839–857.
- Bartels, D. and Sunkar, R. (2005)
 Drought and salt tolerance in plants. *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.*, 21, 1–36.
- 104 Seki, M., Narusaka, M., Abe, H., Kasuga, M., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., Carninci, P., Hayashizaki, Y., and Shinozaki, K. (2001) Monitoring the expression pattern of 1300 Arabidopsis genes under drought and cold stresses by using a full-length cDNA microarray. *Plant Cell*, **13**, 61–72.
- 105 Mundy, J., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Chua, N.H. (1990) Nuclear proteins bind conserved elements in the abscisic acidresponsive promoter of a rice rab gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 87, 406–410.
- 106 Kagaya, Y., Hobo, T., Murata, M., Ban, A., and Hattori, T. (2002) Abscisic acidinduced transcription is mediated by phosphorylation of an abscisic acid

response element binding factor, TRAB1. *Plant Cell*, **14**, 3177–3189.

- 107 Jaglo-Ottosen, K.R., Gilmour, S.J., Zarka, D.G., Schabenberger, O., and Thomashow, M.F. (1998) *Arabidopsis* CBF1 overexpression induces COR genes and enhances freezing tolerance. *Science*, 280, 104–106.
- 108 Jaglo-Ottosen, K.R., Kleff, K.L., Amundsen, X., Zhang, V., Haake, J.Z., Zhang, T., and Thomashow, M.F. (2001) Components of the *Arabidopsis* C-repeat/dehydration-responsive element binding factor cold-response pathway are conserved in *Brassica napus* and other plant species. *Plant Physiol.*, 127, 910–917.
- 109 Hsieh, T.H., Lee, J.T., Charng, Y.Y., and Chan, M.T. (2002) Tomato plants ectopically expressing *Arabidopsis* CBF1 show enhanced resistance to water deficit stress. *Plant Physiol.*, 130, 618–626.
- 110 Winicov, I. and Bastola, D.R. (1999) Transgenic overexpression of the transcription factor Alfin1 enhances expression of the endogenous MsPRP2 gene in alfalfa and improves salinity tolerance of the plants. *Plant Physiol.*, 120, 473–480.
- 111 Lee, J.H., Hubel, A., and Schoffl, F. (1995) Depression of the activity of genetically engineered heat shock factor causes constitutive synthesis of heat shock proteins and increased thermotolerance in transgenic *Arabidopsis. Plant J.*, **8**, 603–612.
- 112 Thomashow, M.F. (1998) Role of cold responsive genes in plant freezing tolerance. *Plant Physiol.*, 118, 1–7.
- 113 Lata, C. and Prasad, M. (2011) Role of DREBs in regulation of abiotic stress responses in plants. J. Exp. Bot., 62 (14), 4731–4748.
- 114 Haake, V., Cook, D., Riechmann, J.L., Pineda, O., Thomashow, M.F., and Zhang, J.Z. (2002) Transcription factor CBF4 is a regulator of drought adaptation in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiol.*, 130, 639–648.
- 115 Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. and Shinozaki, K. (1993) Characterisation of the expression of a desiccation-responsive rd29 gene of *Arabidopsis thaliana* and

analysis of its promoter in transgenic plants. *Mol. Gen. Genet.*, **236**, 331–340.

- 116 Iwasaki, T., Kiyosue, T., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (1997) The dehydration inducible rd17 (cor47) gene and its promoter region in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Physiol.*, 115, 128.
- 117 Nordin, K., Heino, P., and Palva, E.T. (1991) Separate signal pathways regulate the expression of a low-temperatureinduced gene in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (L.) Heynh. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 115, 875–879.
- 118 Liu, Q., Kasuga, M., Sakuma, Y., Abe, H., Miura, S., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Shinozaki, K. (1998) Two transcription factors, DREB1 and DREB2, with an EREBP/AP2 DNA binding domain separate two cellular signal transduction pathways in drought- and low temperature-responsive gene expression, respectively, in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell*, 10, 1391–1406.
- 119 Kasuga, M., Miura, S., Shinozaki, K., and Kazuko, Y.-S. (2004) A Combination of the Arabidopsis DREB1A gene and stressinducible rd29A promoter improved drought- and low-temperature stress tolerance in tobacco by gene transfer. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 45, 346–350.
- Pellegrineschi, A., Reynolds, M., Pacheco, M., Brito, R.M., Almeraya, R., Kazuko, Y.-S., and Hoisington, D. (2004) Stress-induced expression in wheat of the *Arabidopsis thaliana* DREB1A gene delays water stress symptoms under greenhouse conditions. *Genome*, 47, 493–500.
- 121 Behnam, B., Kikuchi, A., Celebi-Toprak, F., Yamanaka, S., Kasuga, M., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Watanabe, K.N. (2006) The *Arabidopsis* DREB1A gene driven by the stress-inducible rd29A promoter increases salt-stress tolerance in proportion to its copy number in tetrasomic tetraploid potato (*Solanum tuberosum*). *Plant Biotechnol.*, 23, 169–177.
- 122 Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Devi, M.J., Serraj, R.Y., Amaguchi-Shinozaki, K., Vadez, V., and Sharma, KK. (2004) Evaluation of transgenic groundnut lines under water limited conditions. *Int. Arch. Newslett.*, 24, 33–34.
- 232 10 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance Retrospects and Prospects
 - 123 Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Devi, M.J., Reddy, D.S., Vadez, V., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Sharma, K.K. (2006) Overexpression of Arabidopsis thaliana DREB1A in transgenic peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.) for improving tolerance to drought stress (poster presentation). Arthur M. Sackler Colloquia on "From Functional Genomics of Model Organisms to Crop Plants for Global Health", April 3–5, 2006, National Academy of Sciences, Washington, DC.
 - 124 Sakuma, Y., Maruyama, K., Osakabe, Y., Qin, F., Seki, M., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2006) Functional analysis of an *Arabidopsis* transcription factor, DREB2A, involved in drought-responsive gene expression. *Plant Cell*, 18, 1292–1309.
 - Ray, S., Dansana, P.K., Giri, J., Deveshwar, P., Arora, R., Agarwal, P., Khurana, J.P., Kapoor, S., and Tyagi, A.K. (2011) Modulation of transcription factor and metabolic pathway genes in response to water-deficit stress in rice. *Funct. Integr. Genomics*, 11 (1), 157–178.
 - 126 Simpson, S.D., Nakashima, K., Narusaka, Y., Seki, M., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguhci-Shinozaki, K. (2003) Two different novel *cis*-acting elements of erd1, a clpA homologous *Arabidopsis* gene function in induction by dehydration stress and dark-induced senescence. *Plant J.*, 33, 259–270.
 - 127 Aharoni, A., Dixit, S., Jetter, R., Thoenes, E., van Arkel, G., and Pereira, A. (2004) The SHINE clade of AP2 domain transcription factors activates wax biosynthesis, alters cuticle properties, and confers drought tolerance when overexpressed in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell*, 16, 2463–2480.
 - 128 Zhang, J.Y., Broeckling, C.D., Blancaflor, E.B., Sledge, M.K., Sumner, L.W., and Wang, Z.Y. (2005) Overexpression of WXP1, a putative *Medicago truncatula* AP2 domain-containing transcription factor gene, increases cuticular wax accumulation and enhances drought tolerance in transgenic alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*). *Plant J.*, 42, 689–707.
 - 129 Zhang, J.Z., Creelman, R.A., and Zhu, J. K. (2004) From laboratory to field. Using

information from *Arabidopsis* to engineer salt, cold, and drought tolerance in crops. *Plant Physiol.*, **135**, 615–621.

- 130 Xu, K., Xu, X., Fukao, T., Canlas, P., and Maghirang-Rodriguez, R. (2006) Sub1A is an ethylene-response-factor-like gene that confers submergence tolerance to rice. *Nature*, 442, 705–708.
- 131 Fukao, T., Xu, K., Ronald, P.C., and Bailey-Serres, J. (2006) A variable cluster of ethylene response factor-like genes regulates metabolic and developmental acclimation responses to submergence in rice. *Plant Cell*, 18, 2021–2034.
- Fowler, S. and Thomashow, M.F. (2002) Arabidopsis transcriptome profiling indicates that multiple regulatory pathways are activated during cold acclimation in addition to the CBF cold response pathway. *Plant Cell*, 4, 1675–1690.
- 133 Chen, W., Provart, N.J., Glazebrook, J., Katagiri, F., Chang, H.S., Eulgem, T. *et al.* (2002) Expression profile matrix of *Arabidopsis* transcription factor genes suggests their putative functions in response to environmental stresses. *Plant Cell*, 14, 559–574.
- 134 Chao, D.Y., Luo, Y.H., Shi, M., Luo, D., and Lin, H.X. (2005) Salt-responsive genes in rice revealed by cDNA microarray analysis. *Cell Res.*, 15, 796–810.
- 135 Shinozaki, K. and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (1999) Molecular responses to drought stress, in *Molecular Responses* to Cold, Drought, Heat and Salt Stress in Higher Plants (eds K Shinozaki and K. Yamaguchi-Shinozaki), R.G. Landes Co., Austin, TX, pp. 11–28.
- 136 Lee, H., Xiong, L., Gong, Z., Ishitani, M., Stevenson, B., and Zhu, J.K. (2001) The *Arabidopsis* HOS1 gene negatively regulates cold signal transduction and encodes a RING-finger protein that displays cold regulated nucleocytoplasmic partitioning. *Gene Dev.*, 15, 912–924.
- 137 Xiong, L., Ishitani, M., and Zhu, J.-K. (1999) Interaction of osmotic stress, temperature, and abscisic acid in the

regulation of gene expression in *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol.*, **119**, 205–211.

- 138 Grover, A., Kapoor, A., Satya Lakshmi, O., Agrawal, S., Sahi, C., Katiyar-Agarwal, S., Agarwal, M., and Dubey, H. (2001) Understanding molecular alphabets of the plant abiotic stress responses. *Curr. Sci.*, 80, 206–216.
- 139 Umezawa, T., Fujita, M., Fujita, Y., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Shinozaki, K. (2006) Engineering drought tolerance in plants: discovering and tailoring genes to unlock the future. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 17, 113–122.
- 140 Grover, A., Sahi, C., Sanan, N., and Grover, A. (1999) Taming abiotic stresses in plants through genetic engineering: current strategies and perspective. *Plant Sci.*, 143, 101–111.
- 141 Lee, J.H., van Montagu, M., and Verbruggen, N. (1999) A highly conserved kinase is an essential component for stress tolerance in yeast and plant cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, 96, 5873–5877.
- Pardo, J.M., Reddy, M.P., and Yang, S. (1998) Stress signaling through Ca²⁺/calmodulin dependent protein phosphatase calcineurin mediates salt adaptation in plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **95**, 9681–9683.
- 143 Umezawa, T., Yoshida, R., Maruyama, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Shinozaki, K. (2004) SRK2C, a SNF1-related protein kinase 2, improves drought tolerance by controlling stress-responsive gene expression in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 101, 17306–17311.
- 144 Rao, K.P., Richa, T., Kumar, K., Raghuram, B., and Sinha, A.K. (2010) *In silico* analysis reveals 75 members of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase gene family in rice. *DNA Res.*, 17, 139–153.
- 145 Ning, J., Li, X., Hicks, L.M., and Xiong, L. (2010) A Raf-like MAPKKK gene DSM1 mediates drought resistance through reactive oxygen species scavenging in rice. *Plant Physiol.*, 152, 876–890.
- 146 Kovtun, Y., Chiu, W.L., Tena, G., and Sheen, J. (2000) Functional analysis of oxidative stress-activated mitogenactivated protein kinase cascade in

plants. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 97, 2940–2945.

- 147 Shou, H., Bordallo, P., and Wang, K. (2004) Expression of the *Nicotiana* protein kinase (NPK1) enhanced drought tolerance in transgenic maize. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 55, 1013–1019.
- 148 Muller, F.L., Lustgarten, M.S., Jang, Y., Richardson, A., and Van, R.H. (2007) Trends in oxidative aging theories. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, 43, 477–479.
- 149 Gill, S.S. and Tuteja, N. (2010) Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 48, 909–930.
- 150 Apel, K. and Hirt, H. (2004) Reactive oxygen species: metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal transduction. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, 55, 373–399.
- 151 Kang, S.G., Jeong, H.K., and Suh, H.S. (2004) Characterization of a new member of the glutathione peroxidase gene family in *Oryza sativa*. *Mol. Cells.*, 17, 23–28.
- 152 Li, W.J., Feng, H., Fan, J.H., Zhang, R.Q., Zhao, N.M., and Liu, J.Y. (2000) Molecular cloning and expression of a phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase homolog in *Oryza sativa*. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1493, 225–230.
- 153 Teixeira, F.K., Menezes-Benavente, L., Galvao, V.C., Margis, R., and Margis-Pinheiro, M. (2006) Rice ascorbate peroxidase gene family encodes functionally diverse isoforms localized in different subcellular compartments. *Planta*, 224, 300–314.
- 154 Hong, C.Y., Hsu, Y.T., Tsai, Y.C., and Kao, C.H. (2007) Expression of ASCORBATE PEROXIDASE 8 in roots of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) seedlings in response to NaCl. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 58, 3273–3283.
- 155 Lu, Z., Liu, D., and Liu, S. (2007) Two rice cytosolic ascorbate peroxidases differentially improve salt tolerance in transgenic *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 26, 1909–1917.
- **156** Guo, Z., Tan, H., Zhu, Z., Lu, S., and Zhou, B. (2005) Effect of intermediates on ascorbic acid and oxalate biosynthesis of rice and in relation to its stress

resistance. Plant Physiol. Biochem., 43, 955–962.

- 157 Ushimaru, T., Nakagawa, T., Fujioka, Y., Daicho, K., Naito, M., Yamauchi, Y., Nonaka, H., Amako, K., Yamawaki, K., and Murata, N. (2006) Transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants expressing the rice dehydroascorbate reductase gene are resistant to salt stress. *J. Plant Physiol.*, 163, 1179–1184.
- 158 Horie, T. and Schroeder, J.I. (2004) Sodium transporters in plants. Diverse genes and physiological functions. *Plant Physiol.*, 136, 2457–2462.
- 159 Shi, H., Ishitani, M., Kim, C., and Zhu, J.K. (2000) The Arabidopsis thaliana salt tolerance gene SOS1 encodes a putative Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **97**, 6896–6901.
- 160 Qiu, Q.S., Guo, Y., Dietrich, M.A., Schumaker, K.S., and Zhu, J.K. (2002) Regulation of SOS1, a plasma membrane Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, by SOS2 and SOS3. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 99, 8436–8441.
- 161 Quan, R., Lin, H., Mendoza, I., Zhang, Y., Cao, W., Yang, Y., Shang, M., Chen, S., Pardo, J.M., and Guo, Y. (2007) SCABP8/CBL10, a putative calcium sensor, interacts with the protein kinase SOS2 to protect *Arabidopsis* shoots from salt stress. *Plant Cell*, **19**, 1415–1431.
- 162 Martinez-Atienza, J., Jiang, X., Garciadeblas, B., Mendoza, I., Zhu, J.-K., Pardo, J.M., and Quintero, F.J. (2007) Conservation of the salt overly sensitive pathway in rice. *Plant Physiol.*, 143, 1001–1012.
- 163 Fukuda, A., Nakamura, A., Tagiri, A., Tanaka, H., Miyao, A., Hirochika, H., and Tanaka, Y. (2004) Function, intracellular localization and the importance in salt tolerance of a vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter from rice. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 45, 146–159.
- 164 Fukuda, A., Nakamura, A., and Tanaka, Y. (1999) Molecular cloning and expression of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger gene in *Oryza sativa. Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1446, 149–155.
- 165 Fukuda, A., Nakamura, A., Hara, N., Toki, S., and Tanaka, Y. (2011) Molecular and functional analyses of rice NHX-type

Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter genes. *Planta*, **233** (1), 175–188.

- 166 Maathuis, F.J.M. and Amtmann, A. (1999) K⁺ nutrition and Na⁺ toxicity: the basis of cellular K⁺/Na⁺ ratios. *Ann. Bot.*, 84, 123–133.
- 167 Lin, H.X., Zhu, M.Z., Yano, M., Gao, J.P., Liang, Z.W., Su, W.A. *et al.* (2004) QTLs for Na⁺ and K⁺ uptake of the shoots and roots controlling rice salt tolerance. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 108, 253–260.
- 168 Platten, J.D., Cotsaftis, O., Berthomieu, P., Bohnert, H., Davenport, R.J., Fairbairn, D.J. *et al.* (2006) Nomenclature for HKT transporters, key determinants of plant salinity tolerance. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 11, 372–374.
- 169 Ren, Z.H., Gao, J.P., Li, L.G., Cai, X.L., Huang, W., Chao, D.Y. *et al.* (2005) A rice quantitative trait locus for salt tolerance encodes a sodium transporter. *Nat. Genet.*, 37, 1141–1146.
- Horie, T., Sugawara, M., Okada, T., Taira, K., Kaothien-Nakayama, P., Katsuhara, M., Shinmyo, A., and Nakayama, H. (2011) Rice sodium-insensitive potassium transporter, OsHAK5, confers increased salt tolerance in tobacco BY2 cells. J. Biosci. Bioeng., 111 (3), 346–356.
- 171 Shi, H., Quintero, F.J., Pardo, J.M., and Zhu, J.K. (2002) The putative plasma membrane Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter SOS1 controls long-distance Na⁺ transport in plants. *Plant Cell*, 14, 465–477.
- 172 Berthomieu, P., Conejero, G., Nublat, A., Brackenbury, W.J., Lambert, C., Savio, C. *et al.* (2003) Functional analysis of AtHKT1 in *Arabidopsis* shows that Na⁺ recirculation by the phloem is crucial for salt tolerance. *EMBO J.*, 22, 2004–2014.
- 173 Sunarpi, H.T., Motoda, J., Kubo, M., Yang, H., Yoda, K., Horie, R. *et al.* (2005) Enhanced salt tolerance mediated by AtHKT1 transporter-induced Na⁺ unloading from xylem vessels to xylem parenchyma cells. *Plant J.*, 44, 928–938.
- 174 Plett, D., Safwat, G., Gilliham, M., Skrumsager Mùller, I., Roy, S., Shirley, N., Jacobs, A., Johnson, A., and Tester, M. (2010) Improved salinity tolerance of rice through cell type-specific expression of AtHKT1. *PLoS ONE*, 5 (9), e12571.

- 175 Gao, J.P., Chao, D.Y., and Lin, H.X. (2007) Understanding abiotic stress tolerance mechanisms: recent studies on stress response in rice. *J. Integr. Plant Biol.*, 49, 742–750.
- 176 Laurie, S., Feeney, K.A., Maathuis, F.J. M., Heard, P.J., Brown, S.J., and Leigh, R.A. (2002) A role for HKT1 in sodium uptake by wheat roots. *Plant J.*, 32, 139–149.
- 177 Garciadeblas, B., Senn, M.E., Banuelos, M.A., and Rodriguez-Navarro, A. (2003) Sodium transport and HKT transporters: the rice model. *Plant J.*, 34, 788–801.
- Haro, R., Banuelos, M.A., Senn, M.E., Barrero-Gil, J., and Rodriguez-Navarro, A. (2005) HKT1 mediates sodium uniport in roots. Pitfalls in the expression of HKT1 in yeast. *Plant Physiol.*, 139, 1495–1506.
- 179 Horie, T., Costa, A., Kim, T.H., Han, M. J., Horie, R., Leung, H.Y. *et al.* (2007) Rice OsHKT2;1 transporter mediates large Na⁺ influx component into K⁺-starved roots for growth. *EMBO J.*, 26, 3003–3014.
- 180 Rus, A.M., Bressan, R.A., and Hasegawa, P.M. (2005) Unraveling salt tolerance in crops. *Nat. Genet.*, 37, 1029–1030.
- 181 Jacobs, A., Ford, K., Kretschmer, J., and Tester, M. (2011) Rice plants expressing the moss sodium pumping ATPase PpENA1 maintain greater biomass production under salt stress. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 9 (8), 838–847.
- 182 Bajaj, S., Targolli, J., Liu, L.-F., Ho, T.H., and Wu, R. (1999) Transgenic approaches to increase dehydration stress tolerance in plants. *Mol. Breed.*, 5, 493–503.
- 183 Romero, C., Belles, J.M., Vaya, J.L., Serrano, R., and Culianez-Macia, F.A. (1997) Expression of the yeast trehalose-6-phosphate synthase gene in transgenic tobacco plants: pleiotropic phenotypes include drought tolerance. *Planta*, 201, 293–297.
- 184 Capell, T., Escobar, C., Liu, H., Burtin, D., Lepri, O., and Christou, P. (1998) Over-expression of the oat arginine decarboxylase cDNA in transgenic rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) affects normal development patterns *in vitro* and results

in putrescine accumulation in transgenic plants. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, **97**, 246–254.

- 185 Shinwari, Z.K. (1999) Function and regulation of genes that are induced by dehydration stress. *Biosci. Agric.*, 5, 39–47.
- 186 Kasuga, M., Qiang, L., Miura, S., Shinozaki, K.Y., Shinozaki, K., and Liu, Q. (1999) Improving plant drought, salt, and freezing tolerance by gene transfer of a single stress-inducible transcription factor. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 17, 287–291.
- 187 Lee, S.S., Cho, H.S., Yoon, G.M., Ahn, J. W., Kim, H.H., and Pai, H.S. (2003) Interaction of NtCDPK1 calciumdependent protein kinase with NtRpn3 regulatory subunit of the 26S proteasome in *Nicotiana tabacum. Plant J.*, 33, 825–840.
- 188 Katiyar-Agarwal, S., Agarwal, M., and Grover, A. (1999) Emerging trends in agricultural biotechnology research: use of abiotic stress induced promoter to drive expression of a stress resistance gene in the transgenic system leads to high level stress tolerance associated with minimal negative effects on growth. *Curr. Sci.*, 77, 1577–1579.
- 189 Shinwari, Z.K., Nakashima, K., Miura, S., Kasuga, M., Seki, M., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Shinozaki, K. (1998) An Arabidopsis gene family encoding DRE/CRT binding proteins involved in low-temperature-responsive gene expression. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 50, 161–170.
- 190 Pilon-Smits, E.A.H., Ebskamp, M.J.M., Jeuken, M.J.W., van der Meer, I.M., Visser, R.G.F., Weisbeek, P.J., and Smeekens, J.C.M. (1996) Microbial fructan production in transgenic potato plants and tubers. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 5, 35–46.
- 191 Lee, J., Bae, H., Jeong, J., Lee, J.-Y., Yang, Y.-Y., Hwang, I., Martinoia, E., and Lee, Y. (2003) Functional expression of a bacterial heavy metal transporter in *Arabidopsis* enhances resistance to and decreases uptake of heavy metals. *Plant Physiol.*, 133, 589–596.
- **192** Ritchie, G.A. (1982) Carbohydrate reserves and root growth potential in

Douglas-fir seedlings before and after cold storage. *Can. J. For. Res.*, **12**, 905–912.

- 193 Sinclair, T.R. and Ludlow, M.M. (1986) Influence of soil water supply on the plant water balance of four tropical grain legumes. *Aust. J. Plant Physiol.*, 13, 329–341.
- 194 Maliro, M.F.A., McNeil, D., Kollmorgen, J., Pittock, C., and Redden, B. (2004) Screening chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) and wild relatives germplasm from diverse sources for salt tolerance. New Directions for a Diverse Planet. Proceedings of the 4th International Crop Science Congress, September 26–October 1, 2004, Brisbane, Australia.
- 195 Munns, R., Husain, S., Rivelli, A.R., James, R.A., Condon, A.G., Lindsay, M.P., Lagudah, E.S., Schachtman, D.P., and Hare, R.A. (2002) Avenues for increasing salt tolerance of crops, and the role of physiologically based selection traits. *Plant Soil*, 247, 93–105.
- 196 Vadez, V., Krishnamurthy, L., Gaur, P.M., Upadhyaya, H.D., Hoisington, D.A., Varshney, R.K., Turner, N.C., and Siddique, K.H.M. (2006) Tapping the large genetic variability for salinity tolerance in chickpea. Proceeding of the Australian Society of Agronomy Meeting, September 10–14, 2006. Available at http://www.agronomy.org.au.

11 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches to Enhance Grain Iron Content

Salvinder Singh, D. Sudhakar, and M.K. Modi

Abstract

Major staple crops are often deficient in some of the nutrients required in human diet. Thus, malnutrition is a major problem, especially in developing countries, where a diversified diet is not affordable for the majority. Several strategies have been adopted to improve nutrition. However, micronutrient deficiency is still widely spread. Rice is one of the most important staple foods for a large part of the world's population. Therefore, even a small improvement in nutritional content of rice seeds can have a dramatic impact on human health. Different approaches are being exploited to produce rice enhanced in grain iron and zinc.

11.1 Introduction

Three cereals (wheat, rice, and maize) rank at the top and account for a large share of production among the 29 basic food crops [1]. Even though rice is placed after wheat, nearly one-third of world population (mainly in Asia) depends on rice as the major source of nutritional calories [2]. Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) is the target crop for many improvement programs because it is the staple diet for nearly 2 billion people worldwide and the major food for over half of those living in Asia [3]. Humans require more than 22 mineral elements, which can all be supplied by an appropriate diet. However, the diets of populations subsisting on cereals, or inhabiting regions where soil mineral imbalances occur, often lack Fe, Zn, Ca, Mg, Cu, I, or Se, and those people suffer from micronutrient malnutrition [4].

11.2 Micronutrient Malnutrition

The global significance of micronutrient malnutrition (MNM) – also known as hidden hunger – came to the attention of the nutrition community as early as the

Improving Crop Productivity in Sustainable Agriculture, First Edition.

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

© 2012 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

238 11 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches to Enhance Grain Iron Content

mid-1980s, when protein-energy malnutrition was widely seen as the culprit of the world's nutrition problems [5]. The 1990 World Summit for Children, convened by governments and facilitated by the UN with support from UNICEF, the World Bank, WHO, FAO, UNDP, CIDA, and USAID, was a landmark event in the fight against MNM. Three of the summit's goals directly addressed the elimination or significant reduction of deficiencies in iron, vitamin A, and iodine by the year 2000, thus providing development agencies with the necessary political mandate. Activities toward achieving these goals focused on traditional public health intervention strategies, and resulted in measurable impacts; however, the year 2000 targets are still far from being met [6-9]. In 2001, the General Assembly of the UN adopted the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) resolution that aims to eradicate or alleviate the world's greatest health and poverty issues by 2015 [10]. Fighting MNM is an integral component of three of the eight MDGs: (1) eradication of extreme poverty and hunger; (2) reduction of child mortality; and (3) improvement of maternal health. Micronutrient supply is among the main preventive and curative interventions with proven and substantial capability to contribute toward achieving these goals [11]. Widespread MNM also results in enormous negative socioeconomic impact at the individual, community, and national levels [8]. Even though insufficient intake of any essential micronutrient will result in metabolic impairment of individuals, potentially increasing morbidity and death rates, numerous national and regional surveys have identified iron, vitamin A, and iodine as most vital among almost 30 essential micronutrients for global human health [12]. The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) and the World Health Organization (WHO) have estimated the daily requirements of the various micronutrients in the human diet. Individuals between 25 and 50 years of age require 10-15 mg Fe and 12-15 mg Zn [12]. Nutritional deficiencies (e.g., iron, zinc, vitamin A) account for almost two-thirds of the childhood deaths worldwide. Most of those affected are dependent on staple crops for their sustenance. In low socioeconomic populations in India, the prevalence of iron deficiency anemia (IDA) may be as high as 64-68% in school-aged children and infants [13, 14].

11.2.1

Approaches to Decrease Micronutrient Deficiencies and/or Malnutrition

Traditional public health interventions, such as supplementation and industrial fortification of foods, have notably reduced MNM-induced morbidity and mortality worldwide. Nonetheless, attainment of the MDGs is not on track, mainly because classical interventions require infrastructure, purchasing power, or access to markets and healthcare systems for their success, often not available to people living in remote rural areas. Food fortification programs rely on widely distributed, industrially processed food items, usually unaffordable for half of the world's poor living on less than \$2 per day, and much less another 30% who live on less than \$1 per day [15].

Experience with vitamin A supplementation programs revealed that coverage achieved over the past decade in 103 priority countries has stagnated at 58%, with

high year-to-year fluctuation [7]. In India, the "Nutritional Anaemia Control Programme" has been in place since 1970 with little impact, because of mismanagement, under funding, logistic problems, and poor compliance [16]. In recent years, coverage with iron-folate supplements was around 30% for pregnant women and 10% for adolescent girls [17]. While undoubtedly money spent on these interventions is money well spent, both intervention strategies depend on uninterrupted funding. But the flow of funds can falter, as exemplified by the case of Burmese refugees along the Thailand–Burma border, where an interruption of the program led to an immediate drop in micronutrient status and consequently to health deterioration [18]. The cost per life saved is low in economic terms, when compared to WHO and World Bank benchmarks [19, 20], but these interventions perpetuate precarious dependencies.

11.2.2 Importance of Iron in Human Physiology

Humans require at least 22 mineral elements for their well-being [4, 12, 21]. These can be supplied by an appropriate diet. However, it is estimated that over 60% of the world's 6 billion people are iron (Fe) deficient, over 30% are zinc (Zn) deficient, 30% are iodine (I) deficient, and 15% are selenium (Se) deficient [22]. Iron is found in hemoglobin, which transports oxygen in the blood of vertebrates. When iron levels are low, the amount of available oxygen declines, causing a common symptom of iron deficiency called anemia. Iron deficiency causes a range of health problems in humans, including poor pregnancy-related complications, brain damage in infants, chronic hypoxia, and reduced work performance [23]. This situation is attributed to crop production in areas with low mineral phytoavailability and/or consumption of (staple) crops with inherently low tissue mineral concentrations, compounded by a lack of fish or animal products in the diet [4, 21, 24-27]. The highest risk of iron deficiency occurs during rapid growth and nutritional demand, in children, adolescence, and pregnancy. Severe anemia in pregnant women is estimated to be responsible for up to 40% of the half a million deaths associated with childbirth each year. During infancy, lack of sufficient iron in the brain causes irreversible changes in mental and psychomotor development, seriously limiting the intellectual potential of the adult [28]. Abnormalities in mental performance, including apathy, irritability, impaired attentiveness, and reduced learning capacity, have been observed as the consequences of childhood anemia [29].

11.2.3 Source of Iron for Human Nutrition

Iron in food exists mainly in the form of ferriheme and ferroheme. Ferriheme is the main source of available iron and ferriheme only accounts for 5–10% of the available iron. Hemochrome is mostly absorbed by the adherent epithelial

240 11 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches to Enhance Grain Iron Content

cells of the small intestine, and then combines with iron and forms ferritin, which finally is transported to other parts of the body to be used; the rate of absorption reaches up to 25% [24, 30]. Ferriheme exists in the food in the form of a $Fe(OH)_3$ chelate complex and the chelating molecules include proteins, amino acids, and organic acids. Ferriheme is reduced to ferroheme after release from the organic molecule under the effect of stomach acid and then absorbed, with an absorption rate of only 5%. Its low absorption rate is considered as the main reason causing iron deficiency anemia, especially in the developing countries [31].

The absorption rate of iron in plant source food is lower than 10%, for example, 1% in rice, 3% in corn and black bean, 4% in lettuce, and 5% in wheat [32]. This is due to the fact that many inhibitory factors in plant-sourced food impair the absorption of iron. The known inhibitors of iron absorption are phytic acid, polyphenolic compounds, calcium, and certain peptides from partially digested proteins [33]. Phytic acid and phenolic compounds are the most potent inhibitors of absorption are effectively overcome [34]. Phytic acid is widely present in cereal grains and legume seeds where it is an important storage form of phosphorus required for efficient germination of the seedlings [35]. Phenolic compounds are particularly high in beverages such as tea, coffee, herb teas, cocoa, and red wine. Peptides formed upon digestion can both inhibit or enhance iron absorption. Studies, in which different commercial protein sources were fed in a liquid formula meal, have indicated that soy proteins, egg albumin, and casein are important inhibitors [36, 37].

11.2.4

Approaches to Decrease Micronutrient Deficiencies

The most widely recognized strategies to reduce micronutrient malnutrition are supplementation with pharmaceutical preparations, disease reduction, food fortification, and dietary diversification through consumption of a broad variety of foods, preferably from home gardens and small livestock production [30].

Nutrition improvement with food fortification [38] and medical supplements achieved in the developed world were unfortunately not successfully transferred to many developing countries even today. Success of fortification programs and of micronutrient distribution in form of tablets to the population living in remote areas, to certain cultural groups, and to the poor in growing towns is not obvious. Therefore, those who mostly need micronutrient supplementation are not reached [39]. None of the current intervention strategies have been very successful in reducing the prevalence of micronutrient deficiency in developing countries, where malnutrition is still a major health problem.

On the contrary, genetically improved food, by breeding or gene transfer, may be a powerful intervention strategy targeting the most vulnerable population. Genetically improved plants can reach the rural areas and represent a sustainable system, with very low recurrent costs [40, 41].

11.2.5 Pharmaceutical Preparation

Iron supplementation is only useful for reaching a rapid improvement in iron status in anemic individuals, but it is expensive and usually has poor compliance because of unpleasant gastrointestinal side effects. In contrast, the chemical synthesis of vitamin A around 1930 permitted a widespread medical supplementation and food fortification in the developed countries, eliminating ocular forms of vitamin A deficiencies [42]. Many countries even adopted a periodical distribution of high-dose vitamin A capsules. High-dose vitamin A capsules allow rapid progress in reducing vitamin A deficiency in target populations, but the success obtained is highly dependent on the economic situation of the country. Indonesia, for example, made significant progresses, eradicating *xerophthalmia* with supplement distribution in a national health program [43]. Unfortunately, the recent economic decline and civil unrest interrupted these programs leading to a reappearance of xerophthalmia [42].

11.2.6 Disease Reduction

The high prevalence of bacterial and parasitic diseases in developing countries greatly contributes to malnutrition. Hookworms cause significant gastrointestinal blood losses directly proportional to the number of worms present in the gut. Furthermore, helminth infections may stimulate inflammation, with deleterious effects on protein metabolism and erythropoiesis [44]. In fact, children from schools with high prevalence of worm infection were found to have significantly worse iron deficiency and anemia than children from low-prevalence schools [45]. Similarly, anthelminthic treatment significantly reduced malnutrition and improved iron status in infected children [44]. *Plasmodium vivax* malaria is another strong predictor of moderate to severe anemia. For example, 20% of anemic women in the plains of Nepal had malarial parasitemia [46]. The relation between several infections and iron deficiency clearly indicates the need for reducing the prevalence of hookworm and malarial infections to effectively control anemia.

11.3 Food Fortification

Food fortification has been considered the best long-term strategy for micronutrient prevention, especially in developed areas [38]. In developing countries, fortification can meet several difficulties, mainly because of lack of infrastructures and discontinuity of the programs adopted. For example, vitamin A sugar fortification

242 11 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches to Enhance Grain Iron Content

program has also been effective in raising vitamin A status of the population in Guatemala [47]. Unfortunately, the government mandated program was disrupted for economical and political reasons, and this was soon followed by a decline in vitamin A status throughout the country.

Iron is the most difficult mineral to supplement because of several technical problems related to the choice of a suitable iron compound [48]. Iron compounds of relatively high iron availability, such as ferrous sulfate, often provoke unacceptable color and flavor changes to food, whereas those compounds that are organoleptically inert, such as elemental iron, are usually poorly absorbed [49]. Iron-fortified foods that have demonstrated an improved iron status in the target population include infant cereals [50], sugar [51], and fish sauce [52]. In contrast, there is little evidence that iron fortification of major staple foods, such as wheat flour or corn flour, is a useful strategy to defeat iron deficiency, mainly because of poor bioavailability of iron compounds commonly used and the high level of phytic acid in cereal foods [34]. In conclusion, food fortification can be very effective in increasing micronutrient status; however, several limitations are evident, mainly in the developing countries and when iron is the mineral of interest.

11.4 Biofortification

Biofortification is the development of micronutrient-dense staple crops using the best traditional breeding practices and modern biotechnology. This approach has multiple advantages. First, it capitalizes on the regular daily intake of a consistent and large amount of food staples by all family members. Because staple foods predominate in the diets of the poor, this strategy implicitly targets low-income households. Second, after the one-time investment to develop seeds that fortify themselves, recurrent costs are low, and germplasm can be shared internationally. This multiplier aspect of plant breeding across time and distance makes it cost effective. Third, once in place, the biofortified crop system is highly sustainable. Nutritionally improved varieties will continue to be grown and consumed year after year, even if government attention and international funding for micronutrient issues fade. Finally, biofortification provides a feasible means of reaching undernourished populations in relatively remote rural areas, delivering naturally fortified foods to people with limited access to commercially marketed fortified foods that are more readily available in urban areas. Biofortification and commercial fortification, therefore, are highly complementary. In fact, biofortification may have important spin-off effects for increasing farm productivity in developing countries in an environmentally beneficial way. Mineral-packed seeds sell themselves to farmers because these trace minerals are essential in helping plants resist disease and other environmental stresses. Moreover, a higher proportion of seedlings survive, initial growth is more rapid, and ultimately yields are higher.

11.4.1 Biofortification through Classical Breeding Approach

For staple crops, thousands of different genotypes of rice, wheat, maize, beans, and cassava exist, and genotype influences the nutrient content of the plant and seeds [53]. In a recent screening of germplasm, a high variation in the Fe and Zn content was reported in the edible parts of staple foods (wheat, bean, cassava, maize, rice, and yam) between cultivars of a given species. For example, the Fe content of wheat cultivars varied from 25 to 56 mg/kg and the Zn content ranged from 25 to 64 mg/kg. Moreover, the amounts of Fe and Zn in different rice and bean seeds appear to be highly correlated with each other [54, 55]. However, the speciation and bioavailability of the minerals are not known. Research groups are searching for the genes determining high Fe and Zn levels, and several candidate genes have been identified in wheat on chromosomes 6A and 6B [56].

King *et al.* [57] recently compared Fe and Zn bioavailability in humans for two varieties of the common red bean: a Fe- and Zn-rich genotype and a lower density genotype. The bioavailability of Fe and Zn from both varieties was low, about 1.5 and 13%, respectively. The 40% increase in Fe content in the high-density beans did not improve the amount of Fe absorbed. The 75% increase in Zn content was associated with a 40% increase in total absorbed Zn. The high phytate/mineral ratios of both genotypes probably lowered their mineral bioavailability. Reducing the phytate content of nutrient-dense plants might be necessary in order for these varieties to have a positive impact on human nutrition.

Using genetic screening, Mendoza et al. [58] have identified several genotypes of maize, barley, and rice that are low phytic acid. In these low phytic acid (lpa) mutants, although the total phosphorus content of the seeds is unchanged, the phytic acid phosphorus is reduced by 55–66%. One of these maize mutants, *lpa1-1*, was used to develop inbred lines for producing hybrids. Compared with normal hybrids, few differences in agronomic characteristics were found, except for a 6% yield loss. Growth studies in chickens have resulted in increased weight gain when fed with a low phytic acid corn mutant in comparison to normal hybrids [58]. The impact of low phytic acid maize consumption on Fe and Zn bioavailability has been tested in humans. Fe bioavailability was 49% greater from tortillas made with low phytic acid maize compared with wild-type maize (Fe absorption 8.2% versus 5.5%) [58]. Adams et al. [59] measured Zn bioavailability from low phytic acid maize versus wild-type maize. Mean Zn absorption from polenta prepared with the low phytic acid maize was 78% greater than that for wild-type maize. Other studies, however, have shown that the phytic acid content of soy and wheat flour must be reduced by >90% to achieve a meaningful twofold increase in Fe absorption [34]. These studies demonstrate that substitution of a low-phytate variety may improve the bioavailability of these two trace minerals, but the impact on Fe nutrition in particular is uncertain. Combining crossbreeding techniques for developing low phytic acid plants with selection of highly nutrient-dense seeds could be an effective method for improving mineral nutrition.

11.4.2

Biofortification through Genetic Engineering Approach

Although metabolic engineering is the most suitable approach to fortify plants with organic nutrients, a different approach is required for minerals because they are not synthesized in the plant but obtained from the immediate environment. Transgenic strategies to increase the mineral content of crop plants have concentrated mainly on iron and zinc (which are most frequently deficient in human diets) and have used two distinct approaches: (i) increasing the efficiency of uptake and transport to harvestable tissues, and (ii) increasing the amount of bioavailable mineral accumulating in the plant, that is, accessibility after digestion [4].

One consideration particular to iron is that, although Fe(III) is the most abundant form of iron in the soil, plants cannot absorb iron in this state. Two different pathways are used to convert Fe(III) into Fe(II) for absorption: strategy I (all other plants) involves the expression of Fe(III) reductases and the subsequent absorption of Fe(II), whereas strategy II (graminaceous plants, that is, grasses and cereals) involves the secretion of chelating chemicals, called phytosiderophores, that bind to Fe(III) before absorption. The overexpression of several of these transport and chelating proteins promotes metal accumulation. For example, efforts to increase iron uptake in roots by genetic modification have focused on strategy I plants, for instance, through the expression of iron transport proteins [60]. For strategy II plants, iron accumulation can be enhanced by the production of higher levels of phytosiderophores; for instance, the expression in rice of the barley NAATA and NAATB genes, encoding nicotianamine aminotransferases (involved in phytosiderophore biosynthesis), resulted in increased iron uptake [61]. There seems to be some crosstalk between the iron and zinc transport pathways because transgenic plants and mutants with overexpressed Fe(III) reductases and iron transporters also show increased zinc accumulation. This could reflect the enhanced synthesis of nicotianamine, which increases the mobilization of both metals in the vascular tissue. Thus, the overexpression of nicotianamine synthase (NAS) also leads to iron and zinc accumulation; for example, the expression of barley HvNAS1 in tobacco (Nicotiana tabacum) doubled the iron and zinc concentrations in leaves [62].

The second approach to mineral biofortification is to express recombinant proteins that enable minerals to be stored in a bioavailable form by genetic transformation strategies [26, 63–79]. Transgenic tobacco plants with high iron content have been produced via *Agrobacterium*-mediated gene transfer of the soybean *ferritin* cDNA under control of a CaMV 35S promoter [80]. A positive correlation was observed between ferritin levels and iron accumulation in ferritin-transformed tobacco leaves, raising the possibility that higher iron concentration could be achieved by increasing ferritin expression [80]. In rice, the same ferritin expression, driven by a constitutive promoter, led to an increase in iron content of the vegetative parts but not in the seeds [81]. Goto *et al.* [82] reported that transgenic lettuce, constitutively expressing ferritin, grew larger and faster than the control. Moreover, they reported the endosperm-specific expression of soybean ferritin in rice seeds with maximum threefold increase in one of the transformants [80]. Expression of the French bean ferritin under control of the glutelin promoter in the endosperm of *japonica* rice showed an increase of iron content up to twofold [66]. The overexpression of the soybean ferritin gene driven by the endosperm-specific glutelin promoter in *indica* rice grains led to an increase of both iron and zinc concentration in brown grain as well as in the polished grain [69]. The higher iron accumulation upon ferritin overexpression could imply that low iron concentrations in the seed may not result from low iron availability for transport, but rather from a lack of sequestering capacity in the seed.

An extremely high expression of soybean ferritin driven by the rice glutelin promoter was reported in rice endosperm [72, 73], with levels of the transgenic protein up to 13-fold higher than previously reported [80]. Unfortunately, the maximum iron concentration in the seeds of the new lines was only about 30% higher compared with previous transformants and about threefold higher than that in the nontransformed control seeds. The mean iron concentration in leaves of high ferritin-expressing lines decreased to less than half of the nontransformed plants, and the plants showed chlorosis after flowering, even on iron-rich medium. Accumulation of iron in the seeds of hyperexpression ferritin rice did not only depend on the expression level of exogenous ferritin but may also be limited by Fe uptake and transport [72].

11.4.3

Biofortification by Decreasing Antinutrient Contents

The amount of iron absorbed from a diet can also be increased by improving its bioavailability. This can be achieved by reducing antinutrients such as phytic acid. Phytic acid has been completely degraded in cereals used for baby food by adding commercial exogenous phytases [83] or by activating the native phytases by a combination of soaking, germinating, and fermenting [84]. Phytic acid reduction in soybean and soy foods by fermentation has been reported to result in the prevention of iron deficiency anemia in children [85]. The addition of a commercial phytase to rice porridge allowed an almost complete degradation of the endogenous phytic acid and a threefold increase in iron absorption [86].

In humans, when a microbial phytase from *Aspergillus niger* was added to a high phytate bread roll prior to consumption, iron absorption increased from 14.3 to 26.1%, suggesting that effective and complete phytate degradation occurred in the stomach [87]. This report confirmed previous results from *in vitro* studies of addition of *A. niger* phytase at pH and temperature conditions similar to those of the stomach, which resulted in a complete phytate degradation [88].

A large number of studies have shown that the *A. niger* phytase can be synthesized efficiently in transgenic plants, such as canola, tobacco, and soybean [89]. Phytase-expressing tobacco plants, showing a high transgenic phytase content in their seeds, were visually indistinguishable from nontransformed plants, indicating that the constitutive expression of the enzyme affects neither morphology nor growth rate. Similarly, germination was not affected by the presence of the enzyme. Analysis for phytase activity of seeds stored at 4 °C, as well as at room temperature, showed that no significant decrease in the activity occurred over a

246 11 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches to Enhance Grain Iron Content

period of a year, demonstrating that active phytase can be produced and stored with few losses in plant seeds [90]. However, A. niger phytase is inactivated at temperatures higher than 60 °C. Therefore, this phytase is not useful in transgenic cereals for human consumption, because cooking procedures typically inactivate the enzyme. One solution would be the activation of the transgenic phytase before cooking, during seed development, seed storage, or other processes. An alternative that has been explored is the use of a thermotolerant phytase from Aspergillus fumigatus [91] in transgenic rice seeds [66]. A. fumigatus phytase displays a high resistance to heat inactivation, similar to enzymes from thermophilic organisms, because of its ability to refold properly after denaturation. The isolated fungal enzyme was boiled together with rice flour and a residual 59% phytase activity was observed. However, expression of the heat-tolerant A. fumigatus phytase in rice endosperm resulted in a strong reduction of enzyme activity after cooking [66]. For unknown reasons, the in planta synthesized phytase is not as thermotolerant as the one expressed in fungi. Eventually, the different glycosylation pattern in plants may affect the heat stability. Possibly other microbial phytases that are not denaturated under high temperatures will provide higher heat stability in planta and will allow a phytic acid degradation upon rice digestion.

11.4.4

Biofortification by Increasing Iron Bioavailability Promoting Compounds

Breeding strategies to increase iron bioavailability by strongly reducing antinutrient content remain controversial. Besides the well-known beneficial effect on iron nutrition, antinutrients in the seeds may play an important role in plant growth and human health [92, 93]. An alternative strategy for bioavailability improvement may be to increase the levels of promoter compounds [40]. Studies have shown that cysteine is the only free amino acid with an enhancing effect on iron absorption in humans [94]. Therefore, a better iron availability is expected by increasing the amount of cysteine residues in crop plants. A group of cysteine-rich, low molecular weight polypeptides are the metallothionein proteins (MTs) [95]. MTs are small, metal-binding proteins that are present in animals, fungi, cyanobacteria, and plants. Genes encoding MT-like proteins have been identified in different plant species. Lucca et al. overexpressed the cysteine-rich MT gene in rice, increasing cysteine content of the soluble seed protein about sevenfold [66]. It remains to be demonstrated that the cysteine-containing peptides formed during the digestion of MT enhance iron absorption in humans in a similar way to free cysteine, glutathione, or cysteinecontaining peptides of meat. High cooking temperatures can change the content of sulfhydryl groups (SH) from cysteine residues to cystine and cysteic acid, and therefore, they may hamper the positive effect of cysteine-containing peptides on iron absorption. Low cooking temperatures (30-70 °C) increase the content of reactive SH groups in undigested meat, because the unfolding of meat proteins exposes SH groups, which are otherwise hidden within the protein structure [96]. However, at boiling temperatures (90-120 °C), the SH groups oxidize to disulfide (SS) groups. This could be a major hindrance for the transgenic rice seeds overexpressing the

endogenous MT protein, because rice seeds need to be boiled at 100 °C before consumption. A recent study showed that increasing cooking temperatures of meat at 120 °C did not impair nonheme iron absorption. There is a tendency toward a higher absorption when meat cooked at 120 °C. These findings do not support a specific role for SH groups produced from cysteine residues in the meat promoting nonheme iron absorption because the cysteine content of the meat decreased with increasing cooking temperature. In addition, the observed reduction of heme iron content by higher temperatures must be considered in evaluating total iron absorbed [97].

11.5 Iron Uptake and Transport in Plants

11.5.1 The Reduction Strategy

Nongraminaceous plants use the reduction strategy, or strategy I, to obtain iron. Upon iron deficiency, protons are released to increase the solubility of iron, via H⁺-ATPases of the root plasma membrane [98, 99]. Several *Arabidopsis* H⁺-ATPase (AHA) family members are induced in iron-deficient roots [100, 101], suggesting possible roles for these enzymes in iron deficiency responses.

After acidification, Fe³⁺ is reduced to Fe²⁺ by a membrane-bound ferric reductase oxidase (FRO), FRO2 [102], one of the eight members of the FRO family. FRO genes are expressed differentially at the tissue level; for example, FRO2 is specific to roots, whereas FRO6 and FRO7 are specific to shoots [103, 104]. FRO proteins are also predicted and/or experimentally shown to localize to different subcellular compartments [103, 105, 106]. Therefore, each FRO family member has a specific role in different organs or subcellular compartments, signifying that reductionbased iron transport is not limited to the root plasma membrane.

Once Fe^{3+} is reduced, Fe^{2+} is transported into the root by iron-regulated transporter 1 (IRT1), a member of the zinc-regulated transporter (ZRT)- and IRT-like protein (ZIP) family [107]. Analysis of plants overexpressing IRT1 from the cauliflower mosaic virus 35S promoter shows that IRT1 is present only in iron-deficient roots, suggesting that it is controlled post-transcriptionally [60]. A recent follow-up study showed that iron-induced turnover of IRT1 requires two lysine residues located in the intracellular loop of IRT1 between transmembrane domains III and IV [108]. This is consistent with the turnover of ZRT1, a yeast zinc transporter that also belongs to the ZIP family [109]. In its variable loop region, ZRT1 has a lysine residue that is ubiquitinated to target it for protein degradation under zinc-sufficient conditions. When either IRT1 lysine residue was substituted with arginine and the variant was overexpressed, the plants accumulated higher levels of iron than did wild-type plants; in contrast, plants overexpressing wild-type IRT1 contained iron levels similar to those of wild-type plants [108]. However, the accumulation of iron was not associated with increased ferric chelate reductase activity, implying that this activity is not rate limiting, at least under the conditions tested [108].

11.5.2

The Chelation Strategy

To acquire iron, grasses use a mechanism based on chelation, known as strategy II, in which phytosiderophores (PSs), such as mugineic acids (MAs), are released to chelate Fe^{3+} . The resulting Fe(III)–PS complexes are then transported into the roots via transporters belonging to the Yellow Stripe (YS) family, named for the YS1 PS transporter of maize (*Zea mays*) [110]. Grasses can also take up Fe²⁺ in addition to Fe(III)–PS [111, 112]. Rice (*O. sativa*) plants that cannot synthesize PS, owing to a mutation in the nicotianamine aminotransferase (NAAT) gene, do not show growth defects if Fe^{2+} is supplied [111]. However, unlike strategy I plants, neither H⁺-ATPase nor Fe^{3+} –chelate reductase activity is induced under iron deficiency. This probably reflects an adaptation to flooded rice paddies, where Fe^{2+} is more abundant than Fe^{3+} owing to reduced levels of oxygen [112].

11.5.3

Regulation of the Reduction Strategy

In Arabidopsis, Fe-regulated (Fer)-like iron deficiency-induced transcription factor (FIT), a basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factor orthologous to the tomato (Solanum lycopersicum) FER protein [113], is required to regulate iron deficiency responses [111, 114, 115]. FIT is highly induced in the epidermis of irondeficient roots, and fit mutants are chlorotic and seedling lethal unless watered with supplemental iron [100], showing phenotypes similar to those of *irt1* plants. FRO2 is transcriptionally regulated by FIT, and FRO2 transcripts and root ferric chelate reductase activity are both absent in fit mutants [100, 114]. Meanwhile, IRT1 is post-transcriptionally regulated by FIT and fit mutants do not accumulate IRT1 protein, despite the induction of IRT1 mRNA by iron deficiency. Because overexpressing FIT does not affect FRO2 and IRT1 expression, FIT was postulated to function as a heterodimer [100]. Quantitative reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) results showed that genes encoding four additional bHLH transcription factors (AtbHLH38, AtbHLH39, AtbHLH100, and AtbHLH101) were induced by iron deficiency in roots and leaves [116]. Because FIT is not expressed in leaves, the partially overlapping expression pattern suggests that the four bHLH proteins also have other roles besides interacting with FIT. Biomolecular fluorescence complementation showed that AtbHLH38 and AtbHLH39 interact with FIT. FIT-AtbHLH38 or FIT-AtbHLH39 complexes activated transcription driven by the FRO2 and IRT1 promoters in yeast, suggesting that FRO2 and IRT1 are direct targets of these complexes. AtbHLH38 and AtbHLH39 are seemingly functionally redundant because their single null mutants lack phenotypes. When either AtbHLH38 or AtbHLH39 was overexpressed with FIT, the plants accumulated more iron in their shoots than did wild-type plants, consistent with the idea that FIT functions as a heterodimer. The fact that all these genes are themselves iron-regulated indicates there must be an upstream iron sensor [117].

11.5.4 Iron Signaling and Sensing in Plants

Hormones have roles in iron deficiency signaling. Physiological studies showed that ferric chelate reductase activity decreased upon ethylene inhibitor treatment but increased upon addition of ethylene precursors [118]. Similarly, treatment with ethylene inhibitors repressed expression of IRT1, FRO2, and FIT, whereas expression of these genes was enhanced when ethylene precursors were added [119, 120]. Cytokinins negatively regulated IRT1, FRO2, and FIT expression at the transcript level, independent of the iron status of the plants [121]. This repression required cytokinin receptors but not FIT, and conditions that inhibit root growth, such as osmotic stress induced by mannitol or NaCl and hormonal treatments with auxin or abscisic acid, repressed iron deficiency response genes [121]. Because cytokinins inhibit root growth, the results imply that cytokinin treatment restricted nutrient uptake via a growth-dependent pathway by transiently arresting root elongation to reduce nutrient demand. Another example of the close link between root growth and nutrient uptake is provided by phosphate uptake. Phosphate starvation responses require continuous root growth, whereas inhibiting cell cycle activity represses phosphate uptake in response to decreased phosphate demand [122]. Nitric oxide (NO) is proposed to transmit iron deficiency signals [123–125]. NO reverted the chlorotic phenotypes of maize mutants defective in iron uptake [123] and stimulated accumulation of Arabidopsis ferritin transcripts and protein by acting downstream of iron [125]. In tomato, NO was rapidly produced in roots as an early response to iron deficiency; this helped to facilitate iron uptake, presumably by regulating root hair growth and by enhancing expression of iron uptake-related genes, because treatment with NO enhanced FER, LeFRO1, and LeIRT1 mRNA levels [124]. Nitric oxide, plant hormones, and other molecules could also act in concert or downstream or upstream of each other. With more evidence accumulating for different molecules involved in iron signaling, a necessary task is to determine how they integrate into a bigger pathway [77].

11.5.5

Iron Transport within the Plant

For proper storage and use of iron, it must be safely translocated to different parts of the plant and compartmentalized into specific organelles in the cell. Indeed, it is essential to maintain iron homeostasis both at the intercellular and at the intracellular level.

11.5.5.1 Intercellular Iron Transport

To avoid handling toxic free cellular iron during translocation throughout the plant, chelates such as citrate and nicotianamine (NA) are used [110]. Depending on the iron–chelate complex formed, different transport systems are involved in distributing iron throughout the plant.

250 11 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches to Enhance Grain Iron Content

Fe(III)–citrate is the major form of iron present in xylem exudates, and citrate is thought to be involved in long-distance iron transport from roots to shoots [126]. Ferric reductase defective 3 (FRD3), a multidrug and toxin efflux (MATE) family member, is localized to the plasma membrane of cells in the pericycle and vasculature and functions in iron translocation from roots to shoots by loading citrate into the xylem [127]. *frd3* xylem exudates contained less citrate and iron than did exudate from wild-type plants, and *frd3* mutant phenotypes were rescued by supplementing with citrate, consistent with the role of FRD3 as a citrate transporter. Heterologous studies in *Xenopus* oocytes confirmed that FRD3 does transport citrate. After citrate loaded into the xylem chelates iron, either Fe(III) citrate complexes are taken up at different locations via as yet unidentified transporters or the complexes might be reduced by FROs and Fe²⁺ would then be transported into various cells of the plant [128].

NA is a nonproteogenic amino acid that chelates both Fe²⁺ and Fe³⁺, in addition to other divalent metals such as copper, zinc, manganese, cobalt, and nickel. NA is synthesized and used in all plants, regardless of their iron uptake strategy, and is a precursor of MA, a PS that is only found in graminaceous plants [110]. NA is structurally similar to PSs and chelates iron for intercellular transport in the phloem. A characteristic phenotype of plants lacking NA is interveinal chlorosis in young growing leaves, as seen in the tomato chloronerva (chln) mutant, which is defective in NA synthase [129].

YS-like (YSL) family members are thought to transport metal–NA complexes. There are eight YSLs in *Arabidopsis*. YSL1 and YSL3 are suggested to be involved in mobilizing metals, including iron, from leaves for use in developing seeds [130]. *ysl 1* and *ysl3* are functionally redundant because the single mutants lack visible phenotypes, whereas *ysl1 ysl3* double mutants show severe interveinal chlorosis, lower iron content in roots, leaves, and seeds, decreased fertility, arrested pollen and embryo development, and defects in mobilizing metals from leaves during senescence [130].

YSLs represent a subfamily of the *Arabidopsis* oligopeptide transporter (OPT) family, and *AtOPT3* was also reported to be involved in supplying iron for seed development [131]. OPT3 is expressed in the vasculature, pollen, and developing embryos [131]. In *opt3-2* mutant plants, where OPT3 expression is reduced, both the yield and iron content of *opt3-2* seeds decreased [131]. Although the mutant roots exhibited constitutive iron deficiency responses, their leaves were necrotic and accumulated high levels of iron. These results imply that OPT3 is also involved in regulating iron at the whole plant level.

11.5.5.2 Subcellular Iron Transport

Organelles such as chloroplasts and mitochondria require iron to carry out various metabolic processes and serve as reservoirs to keep iron for later use. This is essential to regulate iron not only at the cellular level but also at the organism level. For example, defects in organellar iron homeostasis can cause a lethal phenotype, as seen in the *Arabidopsis* frataxin mutant, which is defective in mitochondrial iron homeostasis [132]. Although understanding of subcellular iron transport remains limited, studies are gradually providing insights into subcellular trafficking of iron in plants [77].

11.5.5.3 Vacuoles

Vacuoles are crucial compartments for iron storage and sequestration within plant cells. In particular, studies have shown that the vacuole is an essential compartment for iron storage in seeds [132, 133].

Vacuolar iron transporter 1 (VIT1) imports iron into the vacuole [134]. Heterologous expression of VIT1 in yeast complemented the high iron-sensitive phenotype of the Ca²⁺cross-complementer 1 (*ccc1*) mutant by increasing its vacuolar iron content, indicating that VIT1 transports iron into the vacuole. In *Arabidopsis*, VIT1 is highly expressed in developing seeds, and *vit1* mutants are unable to survive when germinated in alkaline soil, where iron availability is greatly limited. Synchrotron X-ray fluorescence microtomography revealed that iron is concentrated in the provasculature of developing embryos. Most strikingly, such distribution of iron was abolished in *vit1-1* mutant seeds, even though the seed iron content was not altered. These results highlight the relevance of proper localization of vacuolar iron stores in the embryo for seedling development [134].

Two metal transporters of the natural resistance-associated macrophage protein (NRAMP) family, NRAMP3 and NRAMP4, both export iron from vacuoles. NRAMP3 and NRAMP4 genes are induced under iron deficiency and, although the single mutants lack phenotypes owing to presumed functional redundancy, germination of *nramp3 nramp4* double mutants was arrested under iron-limiting conditions. Mutant seeds contain wild-type levels of iron; however, electron microscopy showed the disappearance of iron from wild-type vacuoles during germination, whereas vacuoles of the *nramp3 nramp4* mutant remained unaltered, supporting a role for these transporters in iron mobilization from the vacuole. Taken together with the *vit1* phenotypes, these data suggest that vacuoles are an important site of iron storage and that iron remobilization during germination is crucial for seedling development when iron supply is low [133].

11.5.5.4 Chloroplasts

Iron is required for photosynthetic electron transport, chlorophyll biosynthesis, Fe–S cluster assembly, heme biosynthesis, and other essential metabolic processes that occur in chloroplasts [135]. It is also quantitatively significant in plastids, which contain 80% of the iron found in a leaf cell [136]. Because the photosynthetic electron transport chain produces reactive oxygen species (ROS), iron should be tightly regulated in chloroplasts to avoid oxidative damage via the Fenton reaction. In plants, the iron storage protein ferritin, which stores up to 4500 iron atoms, is found in plastids [137]. There are four FER genes in *Arabidopsis*; FER1 is proposed to be involved in senescence [138]. Age-dependent senescence was accelerated in *fer1* loss-of-function mutants owing to iron toxicity under excessive ROS accumulation. A recent study with mutants that lack seed (*fer2*) or leaf ferritins (*fer1, fer3, fer4*) showed that ferritins are essential for protection against oxidative damage but are not the major iron pool for either seedling development or proper functioning of the photosynthetic apparatus [139].

Recently, a chloroplast ferric chelate reductase, FRO7, was characterized that was required for seedling survival under iron-limiting conditions [105]. Chloroplasts

252 11 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches to Enhance Grain Iron Content

isolated from *fro7* mutants had 75% less ferric chelate reductase activity and contained 33% less iron than did wild-type chloroplasts, demonstrating that FRO7 has a role in chloroplast iron acquisition.

There exit no reports to indicate that ZIP transporters are localized to chloroplasts. However, a cyanobacterial permease-like protein, permease in chloroplasts 1 (PIC1), was reported as a chloroplast iron transporter [140]. Although PIC1 was also identified as part of the chloroplast inner envelope protein-conducting channel [141], its expression complemented the yeast *fet3 fet4* mutant defective in iron uptake; furthermore, *pic1* mutant plants show phenotypes consistent with a defect in iron transport, such as severe chlorosis, heterotrophic growth, and accumulation of ferritins. Whether PIC1 transports Fe²⁺ or Fe³⁺ and whether a reductase is associated with the process are still unknown [140].

11.5.5.5 Mitochondria

Mitochondria, similar to chloroplasts, are organelles with a high iron demand [136]. Iron is used as a cofactor in the respiratory electron transport chain and Fe-S clusters are assembled in mitochondria in addition to chloroplasts. In animals, mitochondrial ferritins have been identified [142, 143], and proteomics and electron microscopy suggest that mitochondrial ferritins are also present in Arabidopsis. As in chloroplasts, mitochondria must deal with ROS generated from the electron transport chain and must strictly maintain iron homeostasis. Although plant mitochondrial iron importer(s) have not yet been identified, three orthologues of the yeast (Saccharomyces cerevisiae) ABC transporter of the mitochondrion 1 (ATM1) are found in Arabidopsis [144]. ScATM1 exports Fe-S clusters from the mitochondrial matrix, and the yeast atm1 mutants exhibit slow growth and respiration defects, lack cytochromes, and constitutively accumulate high levels of mitochondrial iron [144]. AtATM1, AtATM2, and AtATM3 are localized to mitochondria. Among the three ATMs in Arabidopsis, AtATM3, also known as STARIK (STA1), is the most similar to ScATM1 and complements the yeast atm1 phenotypes [145]. AtATM3 is thought to export Fe-S clusters in plant, and sta1 mutant plants are dwarf and chlorotic. AtATM1 (STA2) partially suppressed the Arabidopsis sta1 and the yeast atm1 mutant phenotypes [145], whereas the function of AtATM2 remains uncharacterized [144]. FRO8 was detected in a mitochondrial proteomic study [106]. This implies that ferric chelate reductase(s) might also be involved in mitochondrial iron transport, as seen for chloroplast iron transport [105].

11.6 Conclusions

The real challenges to solve malnutrition in the developing world are reduction of poverty and diseases and the increase of infrastructure and education. All these issues are important and should continue to be addressed, as they have been in the past. In developing countries, food biofortification is increasingly recognized as an effective approach to improve the micronutrient status of large parts of the populations. Improving nutritional quality of rice grains through genetic modification and traditional breeding holds promising possibilities for food-based solutions to micronutrient deficiencies.

Increasing iron root absorption by transgenic approaches improved the plants' ability to cope with iron-deficient conditions. However, up to now, no evidence for increased micronutrient content in the edible part was reported. A modest increase of iron content in seeds was obtained after overexpression of a zinc transporter in barley and through expression of the iron storage protein ferritin. However, iron concentrations in leaves of high ferritin overexpressing rice plants were even less than one-tenth of the nontransformants, and the plants showed chlorosis symptoms. This seems to indicate that only the combination of strategies for higher iron acquisition and transport with an increased sequestration and storage capacity will allow an important accumulation of iron in the edible part of the plant. Furthermore, to be important for human nutrition, iron availability has to be improved, possibly by crossing the rice lines with higher iron content with those allowing better iron bioavailability, that is, those with lower phytic acid content or rich in peptides, which enhance iron absorption.

References

- Kung, S.D. (1993) Introduction, in From Green Revolution to Gene Revolution 2 (eds S.D. Kung and R. Wu), Academic Press, New York, pp. 17–31.
- 2 Tang, K., Sun, X., Hu, Q., Wu, A., Lin, C.H., Lin, H.J., Twyman, R.M., Christou, P., and Feng, T. (2001) Transgenic rice plants expressing the ferredoxin-like protein (AP1) from sweet pepper show enhanced resistance to *Xanthomonas oryzae* pv. *oryzae. Plant Sci.*, **160**, 1035–1042.
- 3 Khush, G.S. (1997) Origin, dispersal, cultivation and variation of rice. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, **35**, 25–34.
- 4 White, P.J. and Broadley, M.R. (2005) Biofortifying crops with essential mineral elements. *Trends Plant Sci.*, **10**, 586–593.
- 5 Allen, L.H. (2000) Ending Hidden Hunger: the History of Micronutrient Deficiency Control. Background Analysis for the World Bank–UNICEF Nutrition Assessment Project World Bank.
- 6 Allen, L., de Benoist, B., Dary, O., and Hurrell, R. (eds) (2006) Guidelines on Food Fortification with Micronutrients, World Health Organization and Food

and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations.

- 7 UNICEF (2007) Vitamin A Supplementation: A Decade of Progress. The United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF).
- 8 Darnton-Hill, I., Webb, P., Harvey, P.W., Hunt, J.M., Dalmiya, N., Chopra, M., Ball, M.J., Bloem, M.W., and de Benoist, B. (2005) Micronutrient deficiencies and gender: social and economic costs. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.*, 81, 1198S–1205S.
- 9 McLean, E., Egli, I., Cogswell, M., de Benoist, B., and Wojdyla, D. (2007) Worldwide prevalence of anemia in preschool aged children, pregnant women and non-pregnant women of reproductive age, in *Nutritional Anemia* (eds K. Kraemer and M.B. Zimmermann), Sight and Life Press, pp. 1–12.
- 10 United Nations General Assembly (2000) United Nations Millennium Declaration. A/RES/55/2.
- 11 Wagstaff, A., Claeson, M., Hecht, R.M., Gottret, P., and Fang, Q. (2006) Millennium development goals for

254 11 Rice: Genetic Engineering Approaches to Enhance Grain Iron Content

health: what will it take to accelerate progress?, in *Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries*, 2nd edn, Oxford University Press, pp. 181–194.

- 12 Welch, R.M. and Graham, R.D. (2004) Breeding for micronutrients in staple food crops from a human nutrition perspective. J. Exp. Bot., 55, 353–364.
- 13 Gomber, S., Madan, N., Lal, A., and Kela, K. (2003) Prevalence and etiology of nutritional anaemia assay of school children of urban slums. *Indian J. Med. Res.*, 118, 167–171.
- Kapur, D., Sharma, S., and Agarwal, K.N. (2003) Effectiveness of nutrition education, iron supplementation or both on iron status in children. *Indian Pediatr.*, 40, 1131–1144.
- 15 Mayer, J.E., Pfeiffer, W.H., and Beyer, P. (2008) Biofortified crops to alleviate micronutrient malnutrition. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, 11, 166–170.
- 16 Vijayaraghavan, K. (2002) Control of micronutrient deficiencies in India: obstacles and strategies. *Nutr. Rev.*, 60, S73–S76.
- 17 Stein, A.J. (2006) Micronutrient Malnutrition and the Impact of Modern Plant Breeding on Public Health in India: How Cost-Effective Is Biofortification, Cuvillier Verlag, http://www.cuvillier.de/ flycms/de/html/30/-UickI3zKPS, ydkw=/.
- 18 Vincent, J.E. and Menefee, A.M. (2007) Vitamin A supplementation including older children: a refugee population on the Thailand–Burma border. *Sight Life*, 2, 16–19.
- 19 WHO/UNICEF/UNU (2001) Iron Deficiency Anaemia: Assessment, Prevention and Control. A Guide for Programme Managers. Document WHO/NHD/01.03, WHO/UNICEF/UNU, Geneva.
- 20 World Bank (1993) World Development Report. World Bank, Washington, DC.
- 21 Graham, R.D., Welch, R.M., Saunders, D.A., Ortiz-Monasterio, I., Bouis, H.E., Bonierbale, M., de Haan, S., Burgos, G., Thiele, G., and Liria, R. (2007) Nutritious subsistence food systems. *Adv. Agron.*, 92, 1–74.

- 22 White, P.J. and Broadley, M.R. (2009) Biofortification of crops with seven mineral elements often lacking in human diets – iron, zinc, copper, calcium, magnesium, selenium and iodine. *New Physiol.*, 182, 49–84.
- 23 Goto, F. and Yoshihara, T. (2001) Improvement of micronutrient contents by genetic engineering – development of high iron content crops. *Plant Biotechnol.*, 18, 7–15.
- 24 Welch, R.M. and Graham, R.D. (2002) Breeding crops for enhanced micronutrient content. *Plant Soil*, 245, 205–214.
- 25 Welch, R.M. and Graham, R.D. (2005) Agriculture: the real nexus for enhancing bioavailable micronutrients in food crops. J. Trace Elem. Med. Biol., 18, 299–307.
- 26 Poletti, S., Gruissem, W., and Sautter, C. (2004) The nutritional fortification of cereals. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 15, 162–165.
- 27 Gibson, R.S. (2006) Zinc: the missing link in combating micronutrient malnutrition in developing countries. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.*, 65, 51–60.
- 28 Lozoff, B., Jimenez, E., and Wolf, A.W. (1991) Long-term developmental outcome of infants with iron deficiency. *N. Engl. J. Med.*, **325**, 687–694.
- 29 Vyas, R.K. (1984) Functional implications of iron deficiency, in *Iron Nutrition in Infancy and Childhood* (ed. A. Srekel), Raven Press, New York, pp. 45–60.
- 30 Krause, M.V. and Mahan, K.L. (1992) Food Nutrition and Diet Therapy, W.B. Saunders, Philadelphia, PA.
- 31 Taylor, P.G., Mendez, C.H., Martinez, T.C., Jaffe, W., Lopez de Blanco, M., Landaeta, J.M., Leets, F., Triopper, E., Ramirez, J., and Gracia, C.M.N. (1995) Iron bioavailability from diets consumed by different socioeconomic strata of the Venezuelan population. *J. Nutr.*, 125, 1860–1868.
- 32 Cheng, L.Z. and Shou-Xiang, Y. (1997) Nutrition and Food Sanitation, 2nd edn, Demotic Sanitation Publisher, Beijing, pp. 33–38.
- **33** Fairweather-Tait, S.J. and Hurrell, R.F. (1996) Bioavailability of minerals and

trace elements. Nutr. Res. Rev., 9, 295–324.

- 34 Hurrell, R.F. (2002) Fortification: overcoming technical and practical barriers. J. Nutr., 132, 806S–812S.
- 35 Pilu, R., Panzeri, G., Gavazzi, G., Rasmussen, S., Consonni, G., and Nielsen, E. (2003) Phenotypic, genetic and molecular characterization of a maize low phytic acid mutant (lpa241). *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 107, 980–987.
- 36 Cook, J.D., Morck, T.A., and Lynch, S.R. (1981) The inhibitory effect of soy products on nonheme iron absorption in man. Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 34, 2622–2629.
- 37 Kane, A.P. and Miller, D.D. (1984) *In vitro* estimation of the effects of selected proteins on iron bioavailability. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.*, 39, 393–401.
- 38 Mertz, W. (1997) Food fortification in the United States. Nutr. Rev., 55, 44–49.
- 39 Sommer, A. (1989) Large dose vitamin A to control vitamin A deficiency. *Int. J. Vitam. Nutr. Res.*, 30, 37–41.
- **40** Bouis, H.E. (2003) Micronutrient fortification of plants through plant breeding: can it improve nutrition in man at low cost? *Proc. Nutr. Soc.*, **62**, 403–411.
- 41 Gibson, R.S. (2004) Strategies for preventing micronutrient deficiencies in developing countries. *Asia Pac. J. Clin. Nutr.*, 13, S23.
- 42 Underwood, B.A. (2004) Vitamin A deficiency disorders: international efforts to control a preventable 'pox'. *J. Nutr.*, 134, 231S–236S.
- 43 Underwood, B.A. (1998) Prevention of vitamin A deficiency, in Prevention of Micronutrient Deficiencies. Tools for Policymakers and Public Health Workers, Board on International Health and Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine (eds C.P. Howson, E.T. Kennedy, and A. Horwitz), National Academy Press, Washington, DC, pp 103–165.
- 44 Stoltzfus, R.J., Chway, H.M., Montresor, A., Tielsch, J.M., Jape, J.K., Albonico, M., and Savioli, L. (2004) Low dose daily iron supplementation improves iron status and appetite but not anemia, whereas quarterly anthelminthic treatment improves growth, appetite and anemia in

Zanzibari preschool children. J. Nutr., 134, 348–356.

- 45 Albonico, M., Stoltzfus, R.J., Savioli, L., Tielsch, J.M., Chwaya, H.M., Ercole, E., and Cancrini, G. (1998) Epidemiological evidence for a differential effect of hookworm species, *Ancylostoma* duodenale or Necator americanus, on iron status of children. Int. J. Epidemiol., 27, 530–537.
- 46 Dreyfuss, M.L., Stoltzfus, R.J., Shrestha, J.B., Pradhan, E.K., LeClerq, S.C., Khatry, S.K., Shrestha, S.R., Katz, J.A., Lbonico, M., and West, K.P.J. (2000) Hookworms, malaria and vitamin A deficiency contribute to anemia and iron deficiency among pregnant women in the plains of Nepal. J. Nutr., 130, 2527–2536.
- 47 Arroyave, G.A.J., Flores, M., and Guzman, M.A. (1979) Evaluation of Sugar Fortification with Vitamin A at the National Level. Pan American Health Organization Publication 384, Washington, DC, pp. 1–82.
- 48 Hurrell, R.F. (1999) Iron, in *The Mineral Fortification of Foods*, Leatherhead Publishing, Surrey, UK, pp. 54–93.
- 49 Hurrell, R.F., Juillerat, M.A., Reddy, M.B., Lynch, S.R., Dassenko, S.A., and Cook, J.D. (1992) Soy protein, phytate, and iron absorption in humans. *Am. I. Clin. Nutr.*, 56, 573–578.
- 50 Walter, T., Pino, P., Pizarro, F., and Lozoff, B. (1998) Prevention of iron deficiency anemia: a comparison of high and low iron formulas in term healthy infants after 6 months of age. *J. Pediatr.*, 132, 635–640.
- 51 Viteri, F.E., Alvarez, E., Batres, R., Torun, B., Pineda, O., Mejia, L.A., and Sylui, J. (1995) Fortification of sugar with iron sodium ethylenediaminotetracetate (NaFeEDTA) improves iron status in semirural Guatemalan populations. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.*, 61, 1153–1163.
- 52 Walczyk, T., Tuntipopipat, S., Zeder, C., Sirichakwal, P., Wasantwisut, E., and Hurrell, R.F. (2005) Iron absorption by human subjects from different iron fortification compounds added to Thai fish sauce. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.*, 59, 668–674.
- 53 Graham, R.D. and Welch, R.M. (1996) Breeding for Staple-Food Crops with High

Micronutrient Density. Agricultural Strategies for Micronutrients Working Paper 3, International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC, pp. 1–72.

- 54 Beebe, S., Gonzalez, AV., and Rengifo, J. (2000) Research on trace minerals in the common bean. *Food Nutr. Bull.*, 21, 387–391.
- 55 Gregorio, G.B., Senadhira, D., Htut, H., and Graham, R.D. (2000) Breeding for trace mineral density in rice. *Food Nutr. Bull.*, 21, 382–386.
- 56 Cakmak, I., Kalayci, M., Ekiz, H., Braun, H.J., and Kilinc, Y., and Yilmaz, A. (1999) Zn deficiency as a practical problem in plants and human nutrition in Turkey. A NATO Science for Stability Project. *Field Crops Res.*, 60 (1–2), 175–188.
- 57 King, J.C., Donangelo, C.M., Woodhouse, L.R., Mertz, S.D., Shames, D.M., Viteri, F.E., Cheng, Z., and Welch, R.M. (2000) Measuring iron and zinc bioavailability in humans. *Food Nutr. Bull.*, 21, 434–439.
- 58 Mendoza, C., Viteri, F.E., Lönnerdal, B., Young, K.A., Raboy, V., and Brown, K.H. (1998) Effect of genetically modified, low-phytic acid maize on absorption of iron from tortillas. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.*, 68, 1123–1127.
- 59 Adams, C., Raboy, V., Krebs, N., Westcott, J., Lei, S., and Hambidge, K.M. (2000) The effect of low-phytic acid corn mutants on zinc absorption. *FASEB J.*, 14, A510.
- **60** Connolly, E.L., Fett, J.P., and Guerinot, M.L. (2002) Expression of the IRT1 metal transporter is controlled by metals at the levels of transcript and protein accumulation. *Plant Cell*, **14**, 1347–1357.
- **61** Takahashi, M., Nakanishi, H., Kawasaki, S., Nishizawa, N.K., and Mori, S. (2001) Enhanced tolerance of rice to low iron availability in alkaline soils using barley nicotianamine aminotransferase genes. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **19**, 466–469.
- 62 Takahashi, M., Terada, Y., Nakai, I., Nakanishi, H., Yoshimura, E., Mori, S., and Nishizawa, N.K. (2003) Role of nicotianamine in the intracellular delivery of metals and plant reproductive development. *Plant Cell*, 15, 1263–1280.

- **63** Goto, F., Yoshihara, T., and Saiki, H. (1998) Iron accumulation in tobacco plants expressing soyabean ferritin gene. *Transgenic Res.*, **7**, 173–180.
- **64** Giri, C.C. and Laxmi, G.V. (2000) Production of transgenic rice with agronomically useful genes: an assessment. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, **18**, 653–683.
- 65 Lucca, P., Wunn, J., Hurrel, R.F., and Potrykus, I. (2000) Development of ironrich rice and improvement of its absorption in humans by genetic engineering. *J. Plant Nutr.*, 23 (11–12), 1983–1988.
- 66 Lucca, P., Hurrell, R., and Potrykus, I. (2001) Genetic engineering approaches to improve the bioavailability and the level of iron in rice grains. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 102, 392–397.
- Zimmermann, M.B. and Hurrel, R.F.
 (2002) Improving iron, zinc and vitamin A nutrition through plant biotechnology. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 13, 142–145.
- 68 Krishnan, S., Datta, K., Baisakh, N., de Vasconcelos, M., and Datta, S.K. (2003) Tissue-specific localization of β-carotene and iron in transgenic rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Curr. Sci.*, 84, 1232–1234.
- **69** Vasconcelos, M., Datta, K., Oliva, N., Khalekuzzaman, M., Torrizo, L., and Krishna, S. (2003) Enhanced iron and zinc accumulation in transgenic rice with the *ferritin* gene. *Plant Sci.*, **164**, 371–378.
- 70 Drakakaki, G., Marcel, S., Glahn, R.P., Lund, E.K., Pariagh, S., Fischer, R., Christou, P., and Stoger, E. (2005) Endosperm-specific co-expression of recombinant soybean ferritin and *Aspergillus* phytase in maize results in significant increases in the levels of bioavailable iron. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 59, 869–880.
- 71 Lönnerdal, B. (2003) Genetically modified plants for improved trace element nutrition. *J. Nutr.*, **133**, 1490–1493.
- 72 Qu, L.Q., Yoshihara, T., Ooyama, A., Goto, F., and Takaiwa, F. (2005) Iron accumulation does not parallel the high expression level of ferritin in transgenic rice seeds. *Planta*, 222, 225–233.

- 73 Sivaprakash, K.R., Krishnan, S., Swapan, K., Datta, K., and Parida, A.K. (2006) Tissue-specific histochemical localization of iron and ferritin gene expression in transgenic *indica* rice Pusa Basmati (*Oryza sativa* L.). *J. Genet.*, 85, 157–160.
- 74 Kathuria, H., Giri, J., Tyagi, H., and Tyagi, A.K. (2007) Advances in transgenic rice biotechnology. *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.*, 26, 65–103.
- 75 Zhu, C., Naqvi, S., Gomez-Galera, S., Pelacho, A.M., Capell, T., and Christou, P. (2007) Transgenic strategies for the nutritional enhancement of plants. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 12, 548–555.
- 76 Wirth, J., Polett, S., Aeschlimann, B., Yakandawala, N., Drosse, B., Osorio, S., Tohge, T., Fernie, A.R., Günther, D., Gruissem, W., and Sautter, C. (2009) Rice endosperm iron biofortification by targeted and synergistic action of nicotianamine synthase and ferritin. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 7, 631–644.
- 77 Jeong, J. and Guerinot, M.L. (2009) Homing in on iron homeostasis in plants. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 14 (5), 280–285.
- 78 Klatte, M., Schuler, M., Wirtz, M., Fink-Straube, C., Hell, R., and Bauer, P. (2009) The analysis of *Arabidopsis* nicotianamine synthase mutants reveals functions for nicotianamine in seed iron loading and iron deficiency responses. *Plant Physiol.*, 150, 257–271.
- 79 Zheng, L., Cheng, Z., Ai, C., Jiang, X., Bei, X., Zheng, Y., Glahn, R.P., Welch, R.M., Miller, D.D., Lei, X.G., and Shou, H. (2010) Nicotianamine, a novel enhancer of rice iron bioavailability to humans. *PLoS ONE*, 5 (4), 1–7.
- 80 Goto, F., Yoshihara, T., Shigemoto, N., Toki, S., and Takaiwa, F. (1999) Iron fortification of rice seed by the soybean ferritin gene. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 17, 282–286.
- 81 Drakakaki, G., Christou, P., and Stoger, E. (2000) Constitutive expression of soybean ferritin cDNA in transgenic wheat and rice results in increased iron levels in vegetative tissues but not in seeds. *Transgenic Res.*, 9, 445–452.
- 82 Goto, F., Yoshihara, T., and Saiki, H. (2000) Iron accumulation and enhanced growth in transgenic lettuce plants

expressing the iron-binding protein ferritin. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, **100**, 658–664.

- Bavidsson, L., Galan, P., Cherouvrier, F., Kastenmayer, P., Juillerat, M.A., Hercberg, S., and Hurrell, R.F. (1997) Bioavailability in infants of iron from infant cereals: effect of dephytinization. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.*, 65, 916–920.
- 84 Marero, L.M., Payumo, E.M., Aguinaldo, A.R., Matsumoto, I., and Homma, S. (1991) The antinutritional factors in weaning foods prepared from germinated legumes and cereals. *Lebensmittelwissenschaft Technol.*, 24, 177–181.
- 85 Qin, H.S. (1989) A study on the effect of fermented soybean in preventing iron deficiency anemia in children. *Chung Hua Yu Fang I Hsueh Tsa Chih*, 23, 352–354.
- 86 Hurrell, R.F., Reddy, M.B., Juillerat, M.A., and Cook, J.D. (2003) Degradation of phytic acid in cereal porridges improves iron absorption by human subjects. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.*, 7, 1213–1219.
- 87 Sandberg, A.S., Hulthen, L.R., and Turk, M. (1996) Dietary Aspergillus niger phytase increases iron absorption in humans. J. Nutr., 126, 476–480.
- 88 Tuerk, S. and Sandberg, A.S. (1992)
 Phytate hydrolysis during breadmaking: effect of phytase addition. *J. Cereal Sci.*, 15, 281–294.
- **89** Brinch-Pedersen, H., Olesen, A., Rasmussen, S., and Holm, P. (2000) Generation of transgenic wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) for constitutive accumulation of an *Aspergillus* phytase. *Mol. Breed.*, **6**, 195–206.
- **90** Verwoerd, T.C., Van Paridon, P.A., Van Ooyen, A.J., Van Lent, J.M., Hoekema, A., and Pen, J. (1995) Stable accumulation of *Aspergillus niger* phytase in transgenic tobacco leaves. *Plant Physiol.*, **109**, 1199–1205.
- 91 Wyss, M., Pasamontes, L., Remy, R., Kohler, J., Kusznir, E., Gadient, M., Muller, F., and van Loon, A. (1998) Comparison of the thermostability properties of three acid phosphatases from molds: Aspergillus fumigatus phytase, A. niger phytase, and A. niger,

pH 2.5 acid phosphatase. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **64**, 4446–4451.

- 92 Vucenik, I. and Shamsuddin, A.M. (2003) Cancer inhibition by inositol hexaphosphate (IP6) and inositol: from laboratory to clinic. *J. Nutr.*, **133**, 3778S–3784S.
- **93** Vucenik, I., Passaniti, A., Vitolo, M.I., Tantivejkul, K., Eggleton, P., and Shamsuddin, A.M. (2004) Antiangiogenic activity of inositol hexaphosphate (IP6). *Carcinogenesis*, **25**, 2115–2123.
- 94 Glahn, R.P. and Van Campen, D.R. (1997) Iron uptake is enhanced in Caco-2 cell monolayers by cysteine and reduced cysteinyl glycine. J. Nutr., 127, 642–647.
- 95 Cobbett, C. and Goldsbrough, P. (2002) Phytochelatins and metallothioneins: roles in heavy metal detoxification and homeostasis. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, 53, 159–182.
- **96** Hoffmann, K. and Hamm, R. (1978) Sulfhydryl and disulfide groups in meats. *Adv. Food Res.*, **24**, 1–111.
- 97 Baech, S.B., Hansen, M., Bukhave, K., Kristensen, L., Jensen, M., Sorensen, S. S., Purslow, P.P., Skibsted, L.H., and Sandstrom, B. (2003) Increasing the cooking temperature of meat does not affect nonheme iron absorption from a phytate-rich meal in women. *J. Nutr.*, 133, 94–97.
- 98 Santi, S., Cesco, S., Varanini, Z., and Pinton, R. (2005) Two plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase genes are differentially expressed in iron-deficient cucumber plants. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 43, 287–292.
- 99 Santi, S. and Schmidt, W. (2008) Laser microdissection-assisted analysis of the functional fate of iron deficiency-induced root hairs in cucumber. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 59, 697–704.
- 100 Colangelo, E.P. and Guerinot, M.L. (2004) The essential bHLH protein FIT1 is required for the iron deficiency response. *Plant Cell*, 16, 3400–3412.
- 101 Dinneny, J.R., Long, T.A., Wang, J.Y., Jung, J.W., Mace, D., Pointer, S., Barron, C., Brady, S.M., Schiefelbein, J., and Benfey, P.N. (2008) Cell identity mediates

the response of *Arabidopsis* roots to abiotic stress. *Science*, **320**, 942–945.

- 102 Robinson, N.J., Procter, C.M., Connolly, E.L., and Guerinot, M.L. (1999) A ferricchelate reductase for iron uptake from soils. *Nature*, **397**, 694–697.
- 103 Mukherjee, I., Campbell, N.H., Ash, J.S., and Connolly, E.L. (2006) Expression profiling of the *Arabidopsis* ferric chelate reductase (FRO) gene family reveals differential regulation by iron and copper. *Planta*, 223, 1178–1190.
- 104 Wu, H., Li, L., Du, J., Yuan, Y., Cheng, X., and Ling, H.Q. (2005) Molecular and biochemical characterization of the Fe (III) chelate reductase gene family in *Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell Physiol.*, 46, 1505–1514.
- 105 Jeong, J., Cohu, C., Kerkeb, L., Pilon, M., Connolly, E.L., and Guerinot, M.L. (2008) Chloroplast Fe(III) chelate reductase activity is essential for seedling viability under iron limiting conditions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **105**, 10619–10624.
- 106 Heazlewood, J.L., Tonti-Filippini, J.S., Gout, A.M., Day, D.A., Whelan, J., and Millar, A.H. (2004) Experimental analysis of the *Arabidopsis* mitochondrial proteome highlights signaling and regulatory components, provides assessment of targeting prediction programs, and indicates plant-specific mitochondrial proteins. *Plant Cell*, 16, 241–256.
- 107 Guerinot, M.L. (2000) The ZIP family of metal transporters. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1465, 190–198.
- 108 Kerkeb, L., Mukherjee, I., Chatterjee, I., Lahner, B., Salt, D.E., and Connolly, E.L. (2008) Iron-induced turnover of the *Arabidopsis* IRT1 metal transporter requires lysine residues. *Plant Physiol.*, 146, 1964–1973.
- 109 Gitan, R.S. and Eide, D.J. (2000) Zincregulated ubiquitin conjugation signals endocytosis of the yeast ZRT1 zinc transporter. *Biochem. J.*, 346, 329–336.
- 110 Curie, C., Cassin, G., Couch, D., Divol, F., Higuchi, K., Jean, M.L., Misson, J., Schikora, A., Czernic, P., and Mari, S. (2009) Metal movement within the plant: contribution of nicotianamine and yellow

stripe 1-like transporters. *Ann. Bot.*, **103**, 1–11.

- 111 Cheng, L., Wang, F., Shou, H., Huang, F., Zheng, L., He, H., Li, J., Zhao, F.J., Ueno, D., Ma, J.F., and Wu, P. (2007) Mutation in nicotianamine aminotransferase stimulated the Fe(II) acquisition system and led to iron accumulation in rice. *Plant Physiol.*, 145, 1647–1657.
- 112 Ishimaru, Y., Suzuki, M., Tsukamoto, T., Suzuki, K., Nakazono, M., Kobayashi, T., Wada, Y., Watanabe, S., Matsuhashi, S., Takahashi, M., Nakanishi, H., Mori, S., and Nishizawa, N.K. (2006) Rice plants take up iron as an Fe³⁺-phytosiderophore and as Fe²⁺. *Plant J.*, 45, 335–346.
- 113 Ling, H.Q., Bauer, P., Bereczky, Z., Keller, B., and Ganal, M. (2002) The tomato fer gene encoding a bHLH protein controls iron-uptake responses in roots. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 99, 13938–13943.
- 114 Jakoby, M., Wang, H.Y., Reidt, W., Weisshaar, B., and Bauer, P. (2004) FRU (BHLH029) is required for induction of iron mobilization genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *FEBS Lett.*, **577**, 528–534.
- 115 Yuan, Y.X., Zhang, J., Wang, D.W., and Ling, H.Q. (2005) *AtbHLH29* of *Arabidopsis thaliana* is a functional ortholog of tomato FER involved in controlling iron acquisition in strategy I plants. *Cell Res.*, 15, 613–621.
- 116 Wang, H.Y., Klatte, M., Jakoby, M., Bäumlein, H., Weisshaar, B., and Bauer, P. (2007) Iron deficiency-mediated stress regulation of four subgroup Ib bHLH genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Planta*, 226, 897–908.
- 117 Yuan, Y., Wu, H., Wang, N., Li, J., Zhao, W., Du, J., Wang, D., and Ling, H.Q. (2008) FIT interacts with AtbHLH38 and AtbHLH39 in regulating iron uptake gene expression for iron homeostasis in *Arabidopsis. Cell Res.*, 18, 385–397.
- 118 Romera, F.J. and Alcantara, E. (2004) Ethylene involvement in the regulation of Fe deficiency stress responses by Strategy I plants. *Funct. Plant Biol.*, **31**, 315–328.
- 119 Lucena, C., Waters, B.M., Romera, F.J., García, M.J., Morales, M., Alcántara, E., and Pérez-Vicente, R. (2006) Ethylene

could influence ferric reductase, iron transporter, and H⁺-ATPase gene expression by affecting FER (or FER-like) gene activity. *J. Exp. Bot.*, **57**, 4145–4154.

- 120 Waters, B.M., Didonato, R.J., Roberts, L.A., and Eisley, R.B. (2007) Ethylene involvement in the regulation of the H⁺-ATPase CsHA1 gene and of the new isolated ferric reductase CsFRO1 and iron transporter CsIRT1 genes in cucumber plants. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 45, 293–301.
- 121 Seguela, M., Briat, J.F., Vert, G., and Curie, C. (2008) Cytokinins negatively regulate the root iron uptake machinery in *Arabidopsis* through a growthdependent pathway. *Plant J.*, 55, 289–300.
- 122 Lai, F., Thacker, J., Li, Y., and Doerner, P. (2007) Cell division activity determines the magnitude of phosphate starvation responses in *Arabidopsis. Plant J.*, 50, 545–556.
- 123 Graziano, M. and Lamattina, L. (2005) Nitric oxide and iron in plants: an emerging and converging story. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 10, 4–8.
- 124 Graziano, M. and Lamattina, L. (2007) Nitric oxide accumulation is required for molecular and physiological responses to iron deficiency in tomato roots. *Plant J.*, **52**, 949–960.
- 125 Arnaud, N., Borlotti, A., Touraine, B., Boucherez, J., Fizames, C., and Briat, J.F. (2000) An iron-induced nitric oxide burst precedes ubiquitin-dependent protein degradation for *Arabidopsis AtFer1* ferritin gene expression. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 281, 23579–23588.
- 126 Grotz, N. and Guerinot, M.L. (2006) Molecular aspects of Cu, Fe and Zn homeostasis in plants. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1763, 595–608.
- 127 Durrett, T.P., Gassmann, W., and Rogers, E.E. (2007) The FRD3-nediated efflux of citrate into the root vasculature is necessary for efficient iron translocation. *Plant Physiol.*, 144, 197–205.
- 128 Green, L.S. and Rogers, E.E. (2004) FRD3 controls iron localization in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Physiol., 136, 2523–2531.
- 129 Ling, H.Q., Koch, G., Baumlein, H., and Ganal, M.W. (1999) Map-based cloning of

chloronerva, a gene involved in iron uptake of higher plants encoding nicotianamine synthase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **96**, 7098–7103.

- 130 Waters, B.M., Chu, H.H., Didonato, R.J., Roberts, L.A., Eisley, R.B., Lahner, B., Salt, D.E., and Walker, E.L. (2006) Mutations in *Arabidopsis* yellow stripelike 1 and yellow stripe-like 3 reveal their roles in metal ion homeostasis and loading of metal ions in seeds. *Plant Physiol.*, 141, 1446–1458.
- 131 Stacey, M.G., Patel, A., McClain, W.E., Mathieu, M., Remley, M., Rogers, E.E., Gassmann, W., Blevins, D.G., and Stacey, G. (2008) The *Arabidopsis* AtOPT3 protein functions in metal homeostasis and movement of iron to developing seeds. *Plant Physiol.*, 146, 589–601.
- 132 Vazzola, V., Losa, A., Soave, C., and Murgia, I. (2007) Knockout of frataxin gene causes embryo lethality in *Arabidopsis. FEBS Lett.*, 581, 667–672.
- 133 Lanquar, V., Lelièvre, F., Bolte, S., Hamès, C., Alcon, C., Neumann, D., Vansuyt, G., Curie, C., Schröder, A., Krämer, U., Barbier-Brygoo, H., and Thomine, S. (2005) Mobilization of vacuolar iron by AtNRAMP3 and AtNRAMP4 is essential for seed germination on low iron. *EMBO J.*, 24, 4041–4051.
- 134 Kim, S.A., Punshon, T., Lanzirotti, A., Li, L., Alonso, J.M., Ecker, J.R., Kaplan, J., and Guerinot, M.L. (2006) Localization of iron in *Arabidopsis* seed requires the vacuolar membrane transporter VIT1. *Science*, 314, 1295–1298.
- 135 Briat, J.F., Curie, C., and Gaymard, F. (2007) Iron utilization and metabolism in plants. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, 10, 276–282.
- 136 Shikanai, T., Müller-Moulé, P., Munekage, Y., Niyogi, K.K., and Pilon, M. (2003) PAA1, a P-type ATPase of *Arabidopsis*, functions in copper transport in chloroplasts. *Plant Cell*, 15, 1333–1346.
- 137 Hintze, K.J. and Theil, E.C. (2006) Cellular regulation and molecular

interactions of the ferritins. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.*, **63**, 591–600.

- 138 Murgia, I., Vazzola, V., Tarantino, D., Cellier, F., Ravet, K., Briat, J.F., and Soave, C. (2007) Knock-out of ferritin *AtFer1* causes earlier onset of age dependent leaf senescence in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 45, 898–907.
- 139 Ravet, K., Touraine, B., Boucherez, J., Briat, J.F., Gaymard, F., and Cellier, F. (2008) Ferritins control interaction between iron homeostasis and oxidative stress in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant J.*, 57, 400–412.
- 140 Duy, D., Wanner, G., Meda, A.R., von Wirén, N., Soll, J., and Philippar, K. (2007) PIC1, an ancient permease in *Arabidopsis* chloroplasts, mediates iron transport. *Plant Cell*, 19, 986–1006.
- 141 Teng, Y.S., Su, Y., Chen, L.J., Lee, Y.J., Hwang, I., and Li, H. (2006) Tic21 is an essential translocon component for protein translocation across the chloroplast inner envelope membrane. *Plant Cell*, 18, 2247–2257.
- 142 Levi, S. and Arosio, P. (2004) Mitochondrial ferritin. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol., 36, 1887–2142.
- 143 Missirlis, F., Holmberg, S., Georgieva, T., Dunkov, B.C., Rouault, T.A., and Law, J.H. (2006) Characterization of mitochondrial ferritin in *Drosophila*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 103, 5893–5898.
- 144 Chen, S., Taylor, N., Brizard, J.P., Espinoza, C., D'Cruz, P., Huet, H., and Zhang, S. (2007) Functional characterization of *AtATM1*, *AtATM2* and *AtATM3*, a subfamily of *Arabidopsis* half-molecule ABC transporters implicated in iron homeostasis. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 282, 21561–21571.
- 145 Kushnir, S., Babiychuk, E., Storozhenko, S., Davey, M.W., Papenbrock, J., Rycke, R.D., Engler, G., Stephan, U.W., Lange, H., Kispal, G., Lill, R., and Montagu, M.V. (2001) A mutation of the mitochondrial ABC transporter Sta1 leads to dwarfism and chlorosis in the *Arabidopsis* mutant starik. *Plant Cell*, 13, 89–100.

12 Pearl Millet: Genetic Improvement for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

O.P. Yadav, K.N. Rai, and S.K. Gupta

Abstract

Pearl millet (Pennisetum glaucum) is an important cereal grown in adverse agroclimatic conditions where other crops fail to produce economic yields. Because of the cultivation of pearl millet mainly in rainfed production systems of arid and semiarid regions, drought is a primary constraint in its cultivation. In addition, high temperatures and salinity are emerging as new challenges in pearl millet cultivation in specific production environments. This chapter reviews the research dealing with improvement in drought tolerance of pearl millet and also updates the progress made in improving high temperature and salinity tolerance. Response of pearl millet to moisture stress at various growth stages has clearly established that yield losses are maximum when moisture stress coincides with grain filling stage, which is commonly referred to as terminal water stress. Various physiological and morphological traits have been examined as alternative selection criteria to further enhance tolerance to terminal drought. Conventional approaches to improve drought tolerance in pearl millet have a very short history and attempts have met with some success. Various novel approaches have been attempted in pearl millet for enhancing yield under drought environments. These include use of adapted germplasm, genetic diversification of adapted landraces through introgression of suitable elite genetic material, and exploitation of heterosis to amalgamate drought tolerance and high yield. Molecular breeding is fast emerging as a supplement approach to enhance drought adaptation at a faster rate with greater precision. Molecular marker-based genetic linkage maps of pearl millet are available and genomic regions determining yield under drought environments have been identified preparing a road map for marker-assisted selection. Genetic differences in tolerance to salinity and high temperature at both seedling and grain filling stages have been established and screening techniques standardized. The germplasm and breeding material with a higher degree of tolerance to high temperature and salinity have been identified in order to use them in breeding programs.

12.1 Introduction

Pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* (L). R. Br.), a C_4 plant belonging to the family Poaceae, has a very high photosynthetic efficiency and dry matter production capacity. It is grown under the most adverse agroclimatic conditions where other crops fail to produce economic yields. Pearl millet is usually cultivated in regions with characteristically low and erratic rainfall, high mean temperature, high potential evaporation, and infertile and shallow soils with poor water holding capacity. In spite of this, pearl millet has a remarkable ability to respond to favorable environments because of its short developmental stages and capacity for high growth rate, thus making it an excellent crop for short growing season and under improved crop management.

Pearl millet is cultivated on about 30 m ha in more than 30 countries of 5 continents, namely, Asia, Africa, North America, South America, and Australia (Figure 12.1). The majority of crop area is in Asia (>10 m ha) and Africa (about 18 m ha). At individual country level, India has the highest area (9.3 m ha) and production (9.5 m tons) and the major pearl millet growing Indian states are Rajasthan, Maharashtra, Gujarat, Uttar Pradesh, and Haryana. In Africa, the majority of pearl millet acreage is in western Africa where it is grown in 17 countries, though Niger, Nigeria, Burkina Faso, Mali and Senegal account for nearly 90% of



Figure 12.1 Distribution of pearl millet cultivation across world.

total cultivated area in Africa. Pearl millet cultivation is also recently expanding to some of the non-traditional areas such as Brazil (about 2 m ha), and it is being experimented as a grain and forage crop in the United States, Canada, Mexico, the West Asia and North Africa (WANA), and Central Asia.

Pearl millet is primarily grown for food for human consumption and its dry fodder forms the basis of livestock ration during the dry period of year (November– January) in India [1]. Its grains are mostly used for human consumption in the form of diverse food types such as leavened and unleavened flat breads and porridges. Several bakery products and extruded and weaning food products are also prepared. Besides, pearl millet is a highly nutritious cereal with high level of metabolizable energy and protein and more balanced amino acid profile [2]. Its grains have higher densities of iron and zinc [3], the two most important micronutrients for human. Pearl millet flour can also be substituted up to 20% for wheat flour in making leavened bread. Grains of pearl millet are also used as cattle and poultry feed. Pearl millet is also an excellent forage crop because of its lower hydrocyanic acid content than sorghum. Its green fodder is rich in protein, calcium, phosphorous, and other minerals with oxalic acid within safe limits.

Pearl millet production is confronted with relatively fewer biotic stresses compared to other crops. Among the diseases, downy mildew (*Sclerospora graminicola* (Sacc.) Schroet.) is the most important constraint in both India and Africa, especially on hybrids in India. Other diseases of relatively minor importance include smut (*Moesziomyces penicillariae*), rust (*Puccinia substriata* var. penicillariae), blast (*Pyricularia grisea*), and ergot (*Claviceps fusiformis*). Insect–pests and parasitic weed Striga are significant challenges in Africa but not in India.

Because of the cultivation of pearl millet largely in rainfed production systems of semiarid and arid regions of world, crop growth is constrained by several abiotic stresses. Drought is the primary abiotic constraint and is caused by low and erratic distribution of rainfall. The mean annual rainfall in pearl millet-growing areas in India ranges from 150 to 750 mm and most of it is received during June–September [4]. In western Africa, the crop is cultivated in regions with annual rainfall ranging from 300 to 900 mm [5], the majority of which is received between May and October. The bulk of the crop in the Sahelian zone is grown with an annual rainfall of 300–600 mm and a growing season of 75–100 days. The Sudanian zone receives an annual rainfall of 600–900 mm with a growing season of 100–150 days. The coefficient of variation of annual rainfall ranges from 20% to 30% leading to variable drought conditions within and between crop seasons.

Other abiotic constraints to pearl millet production include high temperatures, both during the germination and seedling stage in the rainy season, and during the flowering period during the summer season (in parts of India). Salinity is also being increasingly recognized as a significant abiotic constraint in many pearl millet growing areas in Africa and India, but more so in the prospective areas in the WANA region and Central Asia. This chapter largely deals with drought tolerance as significant research efforts have gone into the understanding of and breeding for this trait. It also presents preliminary observations on heat and salinity tolerance.

12.2

Drought: Its Nature and Effects

A great deal of work has been done on understanding the response of pearl millet to moisture stress at various growth stages with a view to understanding its adaptation to drought stress conditions. It has been conclusively established that effects of water stress depend on the developmental stage during which the crop is subjected to stress. Consequently, pearl millet research has concentrated on exploring the effects of drought at specific growth stages.

12.2.1 Seedling Phase

Severe moisture stress during emergence and the early seedling phase causes seedling death, which results in poor crop establishment. Poor and uneven crop stands are some of the major causes of yield losses in pearl millet [6–8] in the semi-arid tropics. Stress occurring after crop establishment but within the seedling phase has little effect on grain yield [9] provided it is relieved at the later stages before flowering.

Drought during the seedling phase affects seedling growth in several ways. The rate of leaf appearance in seedling is affected by the timing of available water, that is, an early drought will prolong the seedling phase [10]. It has been further showed that drought affects the close relationship between leaf formation and secondary root development. Secondary roots are formed only when there is soil moisture at the coleoptile node [11]. Genetic variation in the rate of leaf appearance and secondary root formation and their relative rates have been observed under drought [10]. There are no known reports dealing with the genetic manipulation of this trait in a breeding program.

12.2.2

Vegetative Phase

Water stress during vegetative growth may have little adverse effect on grain yield of pearl millet as it has been shown to increase the number of panicles per plant [12–14]. It has been established that only 25% of the tillers produce panicles in pearl millet under normal conditions [15]. The apparent excess production of tillers provides potential compensation for a damaged main shoot or primary tillers [16, 17]. High tillering and asynchrony of tillering contribute to adaptation to drought stress during the vegetative growth phase [18–20]. Water stress during the vegetative phase reduced the dominance of the main shoot and allowed additional tillers to complete their development [12, 21]. Accumulation of abscisic acid under water stress may be responsible for this reduction in apical dominance.

Water stress during the vegetative growth phase delays flowering of the main shoot [12, 13, 20]. This phenological plasticity increases the chances for escape, first from the most sensitive stage of growth until the stress has been relieved,

and second by closing stomata at relatively high water potentials during drought in the vegetative period [22]. The crop thus conserves the limited water resources, increasing the chances to survive the extended periods of stomatal behavior changes. Stomatal opening down to water potentials as low as 2.3 MPa, during stress after flowering, has been observed [23]. Late-flowering genotypes do have a longer GS1 period, that is, the time between seedling emergence to panicle initiation [24, 25] is longer than that for early maturing genotypes. Thus, such genotypes have a higher chance to escape drought stress during the most critical growth phases.

12.2.3

Reproductive Phase

Grain yield losses are highest when stress coincides with the most sensitive stages of crop growth [26]. It has been found that pearl millet is most sensitive to water stress during flowering and grain filling stages [9, 20, 27]. Grain yield and its components are drastically reduced when drought occurs during this stage [12, 13, 28]. Yield reduction is due to both decrease in the number of panicles per plant and decrease in the grain mass. Seed setting that determines the number of grains per panicle is usually less affected if terminal stress occurs after flowering [13, 20].

The reduction in grain mass is mainly due to a shortening of the grain filling period rather than due to a reduction in grain growth rate [29]. This appears to be caused by restriction of the current assimilate supply and not by a reduction in the grain storage capacity [29]. Stomatal closure and a consequent reduction in photosynthetic activity under drought stress have been documented for pearl millet, though only at very low water potentials [23, 30–32]. Pearl millet has the capacity to compensate for such a reduction in the supply of assimilates to the grains by mobilizing stored soluble sugars [28]. This contribution of stored assimilates to the grain growth during drought stress has not been quantified. The link between grain development and the transfer of assimilates from the leaves, with the stems playing a buffering role, appears to be one of the main adaptations of pearl millet to terminal drought stress [33].

12.3

Genetic Improvement in Drought Tolerance

Pearl millet is grown as a rainfed crop in areas where rainfall is too limited for higher yielding cereals such as sorghum or maize. Hence, improving drought tolerance is a priority in pearl millet breeding programs. Breeding for increased adaptation to drought is, however, a challenging task due to various complexities associated with drought adaptation mechanism, uncertainty in timing, intensity and duration of stress, and a large genotype × environment interactions. Conventional approaches to improve drought tolerance in pearl millet have a very short

266 12 Pearl Millet: Genetic Improvement for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

history and attempts have met with some, though limited, success. Recently, molecular breeding is being viewed as an additional tool to improve drought tolerance with greater precision and efficiency.

12.3.1 Conventional Breeding

Empirical breeding for drought tolerance has mainly addressed the issue of criteria and environment of selection for improving drought adaptation. Various novel approaches have been attempted in pearl millet for enhancing yield under drought environments.

12.3.1.1 Selection Environment

Choosing an appropriate selection environment to improve productivity under drought has been a subject of the major debate in plant breeding, and several theoretical and empirical studies have been reported. Some believe that cultivars targeted for drought conditions can be identified under non-drought conditions (indirect approach), while others think that selection of drought environments should be undertaken under drought stress (direct approach).

The indirect approach involves selection for high yield potential under nonstress conditions with the assumption that genotypes selected under optimum conditions [34–36] would also perform well under drought. In this approach, drought resistance is an unidentified component of performance over different environments and more emphasis is laid on yield potential. The main advantage of this approach is that yield potential and its components have higher heritability in optimum conditions than that under stress conditions [37, 38]. Since yield potential has been reported to be a significant factor in pearl millet in determining the yield under moisture stress [13, 14, 28, 39], improvement in yield potential may have some spillover effects under water stress conditions.

The direct approach recommends that varieties for drought-prone areas must be selected, developed, and tested in the target drought environments [40–42]. Theoretical analyses also indicate that selection for stress environments should be done in stress environments [41, 43, 44]. In this approach, improvement in yield under moisture stress requires dissociation from yield potential under optimum conditions as a major selection criterion [45–47] and the emphasis is placed on drought adaptation and yield under drought conditions.

The subject of selection environments for improving pearl millet in drought environments has received little experimental attention. There are no reports available in pearl millet comparing relative gains in performance under drought conditions through selection in drought vis-à-vis non-drought environments. However, there are indirect inferences. For example, low correlations are often reported between yields of pearl millet measured in stress and optimum conditions [48–50], which indicate that yield performance under drought and non-drought conditions are separate genetic entities and direct selection for yield performance in the target

No. of genotypes	Types of lines tested	Yield potential	Escape	Drought tolerance	Reference
105	Landraces	5	22	73	[126]
30	Hybrids	15	_	_	[50]
14	Cultivars	0.4-9.3	23-81	18-68	[42]
40	Breeding material	4-23	23-37	41-47	[28]
216	Breeding lines	2–12	46–56	34–36	[13]

 Table 12.1
 Percent contribution of high yield potential, escape, and drought tolerance in determining performance of pearl millet under drought environments.

drought environments would be required to make greater gains in productivity. This is further substantiated by existence of significant crossover genotype × environment interactions observed across optimum and stress environments [51–56]. Using evaluation data from drought stressed and non-stressed environments, many studies showed that drought tolerance and escape were major determinants of performance in drought environments (Table 12.1). On the other hand, high yield potential accounted for 10–15% variation toward performance in drought environments. This has highlighted the importance of evaluation and selection in drought environments. Alternatively, simple and efficient screening techniques might be employed for evaluating large number of genotypes under managed drought conditions.

The work on screening techniques in pearl millet, for adaptation to drought, has primarily focused on terminal drought stress, because it causes higher and irreversible yield losses. Field screening for response to terminal drought can be carried out by withholding irrigation to impose water stress during the rain-free seasons to study the effects of drought stress and to identify whole plant traits associated with adaptation to a particular stress [12-14, 20, 21, 57]. One such technique has been developed at ICRISAT, which compares genotype performance in artificially created terminal stress (flowering to maturity) treatments with performance under fully irrigated, stress-free conditions [13, 14, 28]. Drought resistance is then determined on the basis of genotype performance in the stressed treatment after accounting for differences due to escape and yield potential among genotypes. However, off-season drought screening may not necessarily give results similar to naturally occurring stress in a rainy season crop like pearl millet, as fluctuations in atmospheric conditions or changes in phenology due to different day lengths may alter the results. The technique [58] that involves growing plants in main crop season on sloping plots that are opposite to each other and connected to subchannel lines with polyethylene sheets avoids this problem by increasing the runoff and reducing the water availability. However, this technique has neither been validated nor used in applied breeding programs.

Line-source sprinkler irrigation technique [59], which delivers a continuously declining amount of water, has been extensively used for screening sorghum [60, 61],
268 12 Pearl Millet: Genetic Improvement for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

rice [62], and pearl millet [63, 64], especially when crop response to moisture stress is non-linear. The major disadvantage, however, with this technique is that even low winds may significantly alter the sprinkler patterns [59] and only a relatively small number of entries can be accurately tested to detect significant differences. It is because of these two factors that line-source sprinklers are no longer used in routine assessments of drought response in pearl millet breeding programs.

Additional limitation of artificially created screening techniques is that they are unable to expose the test material to all the combinations of stress the crop might subsequently experience given that drought stress occurs in a wide range of combinations based on variability in timing, severity, and duration of drought. This necessitates selection in the target environments that are highly prone to terminal drought. There are extensive evidences from other crops that cultivars for stress environments should be selected, developed, and tested under target environments [47, 65–68].

Due to the complexity of drought adaptation, it seems doubtful that any one method or technique will be universally used to measure drought stress [69] because the variability in timing, intensity, and duration of moisture stress is almost infinite and screening methods can expose genotypes to only a few combinations [70]. In empirical breeding programs, evaluation and selection are conducted through multilocation testing of test material in locations that are highly prone to drought stress [47, 68]. The All India Coordinated Pearl Millet Improvement Project (AICPMIP) has carved out a special zone for testing and evaluation of experimental cultivars in locations receiving <400 mm of annual rainfall in order to identify and release cultivars adapted to drought environments and the results are encouraging [71].

Thus, maximum progress can be gained with a good understanding of the predominant patterns of drought occurrence in the target environment, appropriate material that expresses sufficient genetic variability for the most appropriate traits for good adaptation, and reliable conditions for yield testing under drought conditions.

12.3.1.2 Selection Criteria

Several efforts have been made to identify traits that can be used as selection criteria in breeding drought tolerant genotypes. Most research has concentrated on the identification of physiological parameters like dehydration tolerance [72–76], dehydration avoidance [77], growth maintenance through stability of cellular membrane [78–80], osmotic adjustment [69, 81, 82], desiccation and heat tolerance [69], leaf gas exchange rate [83–85], and radiation reflectance [77] in various crops, including pearl millet [86]. However, most of these have hardly found any place in routine breeding programs, particularly in developing countries, owing to the lack of simple and easy techniques for selecting such characters on a large scale. On the other hand, morphological characters that can be measured easily appeal most to plant breeders for use as selection criteria.

Growth in greenhouse pots under different soil moisture regimes, germination of seeds and growth of pearl millet seedlings in dimannitol solutions, and stability of extracted chlorophyll under heat treatments to test drought resistance has been used in pearl millet [87]. Such studies under controlled conditions, however, do not necessarily represent the limiting moisture conditions of the field.

A rapid development of the crop in the initial stages, that is, early vigor, has been correlated with drought tolerance as measured by time taken for wilting initiation and permanent wilting in pearl millet [88]. A crop with more rapid leaf area development could intercept a greater portion of incident radiation and limit water losses by soil evaporation. However, there are apprehensions that greater transpiration from a larger leaf area will exhaust soil water resources and cause severe water deficit in later growth stages [33].

Early flowering, the most important factor determining yield under terminal water stress [14, 28], is recognized as another selection criterion, although its advantage is due to drought escape rather than due to drought tolerance. Genetic variability for earliness is widely available in pearl millet [89, 90] and simple selection has been successful under most circumstances [91]. The most widely used sources of earliness are the *Iniadi*-type landraces from western Africa [92, 93]. New early-flowering cultivars bred by using *Iniadi* landraces have been widely adopted by farmers in India and Africa. However, value of earliness as a selection criterion is significant only if drought predictably occurs toward the end of the growing season.

Panicle threshing percentage is another criterion proposed for improving tolerance to terminal drought that indicates the plants' ability to set and fill grain under water limiting conditions and it integrates the effects of assimilation and translocation under water stress. Research has indicated that it usually explains a large proportion of the variation among genotypes for grain yield under terminal drought stress [28, 77, 94]. Results of a selection study on panicle threshing percentage also indicated that grain yield can be increased under stress conditions [94]. Furthermore, it has been shown that even in a small set of inbred lines, the narrow sense heritability for threshing percentage was sufficiently high to expect significant gain from selection for this trait under drought conditions [95]. Using this selection criterion, an open-pollinated variety (OPV) (ICMV 221) has been developed from a high-yielding and early-maturing composite at ICRISAT.

Low tillering and large panicles are commonly being used as selection criteria in pearl millet breeding. Selecting for these traits results in higher grain yield per panicle [14, 96], which are important yield components in pearl millet [97–99]. These traits are frequently assessed visually, under both drought and non-drought conditions. Variability in panicles size, yield per panicle, and tillering is abundant in pearl millet [90, 96, 100–105]. However, their specific contribution to improved grain yield and stability under terminal drought condition has not been quantified.

Some studies have also used mathematical models to identify crop cultivars that are productive in stressful marginal environments by comparing the change in seed yield between stress and non-stress (optimum) environments [14, 35, 44, 73, 106– 108]. Drought susceptibility index [106] that is based on the ratio of yield of individual lines under stress and non-stress conditions to the line means across stress and non-stress has also been widely used in identifying genotypes adapted to

270 12 Pearl Millet: Genetic Improvement for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

stress [14, 50, 108–111]. Drought response index to provide an indicator of drought tolerance that was independent of escape and yield potential in favorable environments has also been developed [14]. Drought susceptibility index of pearl millet genotypes is a useful criterion to identify genotypes adapted to drought stress conditions, but should be used in combination with yield under stress [50]. It has also been demonstrated that drought response index would be useful to identify genotypes adapted to stress environments, if days to flower don't differ considerably among test entries [50].

12.3.1.3 Yield Improvement

Yield improvement in pearl millet under drought is essential for ensuring high grain yield under stress environments. Though drought tolerance might be perceived differently by physiologists, breeders, agronomists, or biochemists [112], farmers measure the success of new cultivar under drought environments by a known (often >15%) yield advantage. Various genetic approaches have been successfully employed to achieve significant gains in pearl millet productivity under drought conditions. These strategies include use of adapted germplasm, genetic diversification of adapted landraces through introgression of suitable elite genetic material, and exploitation of heterosis.

12.3.1.3.1 **Use of Adapted Germplasm for Stress Environments** The base material required for a successful breeding program may differ for the drought and more favorable environments. Success in drought environments is often much more a consequence of adaptation to environmental stresses than it is of yield potential *per se*, which is not effectively expressed under severe stress. Plant breeders focusing on drought environments are faced with the choice of trying to improve either the adaptation of high yielding, but poorly adapted germplasm, or the yield potential of already adapted germplasm, often in the form of local landraces [113]. Improving adaptation to marginal environments is the more difficult alternative than is improving yield potential, as adaptation is much less well understood, physiologically and genetically, than is yield potential. However, improving yield potential in traditional landraces is constrained by a characteristic plant type that favors adaptation over productivity [16, 17].

The breeding material should provide a good starting point for the program, that is, high productivity under drought conditions, as well as sufficient genetic variation to allow gains from selection. Pearl millet landraces that evolved in dry areas as a result of natural and human selection over centuries exhibit good adaptation to drought and other naturally occurring stresses [55, 56, 114–117] and represent a largely untapped reservoir of useful genes for adaptation to stress environments. A few attempts have been made to exploit them in pearl millet breeding programs in a systematic way. Given that landraces are genetically heterogeneous populations [118, 119], they make very appropriate base genetic material for improving adaptation to drought and other abiotic stresses. A few cycles of mass selection in landraces can increase yield considerably [120, 121]. Landrace-based populations adapted to drought have also been

shown as a useful source material for breeding inbred restorer lines [122]. However, selection needs to be carried out in target environments so that adapted germplasm can express its potential fully in area of its adaptation [41, 123].

A commercial pearl millet variety, CZP 9802, has been developed from selected drought-adapted landraces [124]. In the Indian national testing system for new cultivars, its grain yield performance was 25–58% superior to two national checks (ICTP 8203 and Pusa 266) in drought environments and it also maintained its superiority under near-optimum growth conditions by a margin of 16–47% for stover yield and 4–6% for grain yield. It demonstrated that landrace-derived cultivars can have unique features of adaptation to drought stress in addition to responsiveness to improved conditions. As a result, pearl millet variety CZP 9802 was released by the Government of India for cultivation in drought-affected pearl millet-growing areas in the states of Rajasthan, Gujarat, and Haryana; and it has been adopted very well in drought-prone areas of north-western India [125].

12.3.1.3.2 Genetic Diversification of Drought-Adapted Germplasm The traditional cultivars and landraces of pearl millet from drier regions possess good levels of drought adaptation [126], but fail to capitalize on yield-enhancing nutrient and moisture conditions, in the native soils, or externally applied [55, 127]. On the other hand, elite genetic material has a greater yield potential expressed under better endowed conditions, but lacks adaptation to severe drought stress conditions [16, 55, 120, 127]. Detailed physiological studies suggest that these two contrasting groups of genetic materials have differential pathways to yield formation under drought stress [16, 17]. The use of elite breeding material may ensure the yield potential, but leaves behind the difficult task of improving adaptation. Landraces may ensure adaptation to drought stress, but they would need to be improved considerably for productivity. This situation suggests good prospects of breeding for drought-prone environments by diversifying the base of adapted landraces through use of appropriate genetic material to amalgamate the adaptation of landraces with high productivity of elite genetic materials. Given that the Indian landraces are characteristically high tillering and have small-to-medium sized seeds, African elite materials possessing complimentary traits like lustrous and bold grain, compact and large panicles, and rapid grain filling are potential sources for introgression of variation [128].

Several attempts have been made in this direction through hybridization of selected landraces and elite materials (Table 12.2). There was considerable improvement in both grain and stover yield in crosses with individual crosses providing up to 50% higher grain and stover yields under drought stress [56, 114, 116, 129]. Also, crosses had enhanced adaptation range, beyond that of their parental populations as they were better able than their landrace parents to capitalize on the additional resources of good growing seasons and simultaneously have a better capacity than their elite parents to tolerate drought [56, 116, 129–131]. These results suggested that the hybridization between landraces and exotic populations breaks up gene complexes of two contrasting groups of genetic material [41, 132, 133] and is effective in combining drought tolerance and high productivity.

272 12 Pearl Millet: Genetic Improvement for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

No. of landraces	No. of elite lines	Average improvement in crosses for grain yield	Average improvement in crosses for stover yield	Reference	
4	5	9	17	[117]	
4	3	17	11	[115]	
3	4	20	26	[116]	
3	6	3	7	[130]	
5	5	2	13	[129]	

 Table 12.2
 Mean per cent improvement in performance of crosses between landraces and elite composites over landraces.

12.3.1.3.3 **Exploitation of Heterosis** Pearl millet is a naturally cross-pollinated crop and several sources of highly stable cytoplasmic genetic male sterility (CMS) systems are now available [134–136]. These two attributes render pearl millet an excellent crop to exploit heterosis through production of commercial hybrids. There are numerous reports of high magnitude of heterosis in pearl millet [48, 49, 137], but a vast majority of them are from drought-free high-productivity environments, leading to argument that heterosis is best exploited under highly productive environments.

The exploitation of heterosis in pearl millet for yield enhancement under drought conditions has been explored through developing hybrids between elite male-sterile lines and pollinators developed from drought-adapted landraces to combine the adaptation of landraces with a higher productivity potential achieved through heterosis expressed in hybrids. Many studies, based on a wide range of male-sterile lines and landraces, have quantified the degree of improvement in hybrids over adapted landraces under water-limited conditions (Table 12.3). Average improvement in grain yield of landrace-based topcross hybrids (TCHs) over their landrace pollinators was 15% with potential benefit of up to 75% in best hybrids. Choice of male-sterile lines had considerable effect on the manifestation of heterosis for grain and stover yields [138, 139] and thus has a great bearing on manipulating grain/stover relationship of hybrids.

No. of male-sterile (A) lines	No. of landrace pollinators	Average heterosis (%) for grain yield	Reference	
2	19	31 (75)	[138]	
3	6	15 (28)	[182]	
12	6	18 (61)	[140]	
15	1	3 (26)	[183]	
7	7	5 (17)	[139]	
1	4	32	[121]	
2	15	22	[184]	

Table 12.3 Mean and maximum (in parentheses) heterosis (%) in pearl millet topcross hybrids over landrace pollinators.

Considering that in drought-prone regions, livestock (maintained largely on pearl millet dry stover) is an integral component of rural economy, any improvement in grain yield should not be at the cost of stover yield, and hence total biomass productivity needs to be increased. This objective was achieved through landrace-based hybrids. An average of 15% heterosis in growth rate in TCHs based on landrace pollinators [138] has been reported, which translated to a positive biomass heterosis. The partitioning of this extra biomass to either grain or fodder appeared to be controlled by the harvest index of the seed parent, resulting in differential heterosis for either grain or stover yields, depending upon the seed parent used [139].

Research has also shown that variation in biomass heterosis is the major determinant of both grain-yield heterosis and stover-yield heterosis [140]. However, contribution of harvest index heterosis to grain- and stover-yield heterosis has been observed to be of a compromising nature. Harvest index heterosis leads to a positive higher grain-yield heterosis but negative heterosis for stover yield, suggesting that the strategy for increasing grain yield by improving harvest index will not result in the desired outcome in the marginal drought environments where stover yield is also important. There are reports of exploitable genetic differences among the male-sterile lines and landrace-based restorers in their ability to produce heterotic crosses for biomass [140-143] and selection for biomass can be highly effective [144, 145]. These results have clearly demonstrated that it is possible to improve the grain and stover production to meet farmers' needs, while retaining critical adaptation to drought environments by exploiting heterosis between drought-adapted pollinators and carefully selected male-sterile seed parents that partition the extra dry matter to both grain and stover. Thus, exploiting heterosis in hybrids is an effective and rapid way to improve pearl millet production, while retaining critical adaptation to drought environments.

These results have been extended to pearl millet hybrid breeding for droughtprone environments of northwestern India. Since last one decade, a large number of hybrids and open-pollinated varieties have been tested under drought environments and it has been explicitly shown that hybrids provided 25% higher grain yield than OPVs [71]. This magnitude of advantage in grain productivity of hybrids shows that hybrids have greater yielding capacity than OPVs under drought environments and are likely to play a much greater role in enhancing pearl millet productivity in drought-prone regions.

12.3.2 Molecular Breeding

Because of the intrinsic difficulties in breeding for drought adaptation by conventional phenotypic selection [146, 147], this field has become a prime focus for molecular marker-assisted breeding. Efforts in this direction started in pearl millet in the early 1990s with the development of a molecular marker-based genetic linkage map that largely comprised of RFLP loci [148]. This linkage map was short (about 300 cM), but was longer than subsequent maps [149–151] based on crosses of cultivated pearl millet with accessions of its wild progenitors. The linkage map

274 12 Pearl Millet: Genetic Improvement for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

has been expanded [152] and current genetic linkage map of pearl millet is 1148 cM long [153].

Genetic mapping has targeted terminal drought tolerance. Research at ICRISAT has identified quantitative trait loci (QTL) that had significant effects on pearl millet yield in drought stress environments [105, 154, 155]. Comparison of hybrids with and without these QTL showed that QTL-based hybrids were significantly, but modestly, higher yielding in a series of terminal drought stress environments [154]. However, this gain under stress was achieved at the cost of a lower yield in the non-drought environments. A major QTL mapped on Linkage Group (LG) 2 accounted for up to 32% of the phenotypic variation in grain yield under post-flowering drought stress environments [155, 156]. In addition, a number of other QTL were detected that were associated with maintenance of grain yield-determining component traits [157].

The QTL with little interaction with environment [158] has been transferred to drought-sensitive pearl millet lines through marker-assisted backcross breeding [159]. Several introgressed lines carrying LG 2 genomic region exhibited positive general combining ability (GCA) for grain yield under terminal stress that was associated with a higher panicle harvest index [157]. Physiological dissections indicated that lines having QTLs had lower transpiration rate compared to lines not carrying this QTL. There are reports that LG 2 QTL is also associated with salinity tolerance [160].

12.4 Heat Tolerance

Several growth processes like the rate of germination, rate of coleoptile elongation, or the rate of photosynthesis require rather high optimum temperatures, for example, 35 °C in pearl millet [161], which is indicative of good adaptation of pearl millet to the hot growing conditions in the Sahel and in many parts of India. The high temperature tolerance has relevance at both seedling and reproductive stages of crop.

12.4.1 Tolerance at Seedling Stage

Germination rate and final germination percentage are reduced following short exposure to 50 °C, but not at 45 °C [161, 162]. At constant exposure to 47 °C, no germination has been observed under controlled environment conditions. Field studies in the Sahel [10] indicated that pearl millet seedlings are most vulnerable to high temperatures during the first 10 days of sowing. This was confirmed by field studies in the Indian Thar Desert [163]. During other stages of seedling growth, the effect of high temperatures is small when the available water is sufficient for transpiration that cools the leaves [10, 163]. Controlled environment studies with young seedlings have shown that pearl millet responds to supraoptimal temperature conditions with the production of a series of heat shock proteins [164]. A conditioning or hardening effect of intermediate temperatures has also been observed.

High seedbed temperature (>45 °C) is one of the most important factors causing poor plant stands of pearl millet [165]. Poor seedbed preparation, inappropriate sowing methods, poor seed quality, and low soil fertility are other factors responsible for low and variable plant populations. Plant stand losses due to these factors can be minimized by better agronomic management, but losses due to high soil surface temperature are difficult to control by cultural methods. Therefore, genetic improvement in tolerance of high seedbed temperature assumes importance.

A rapid screening procedure for seedling emergence under high temperatures, using a large steel tank and infrared heat lamps mounted on an adjustable rack suspended over the tank is in place [8]. Temperatures can be adjusted by raising and lowering the lamp rack. This procedure was used for a selection experiment in two populations for two cycles and found that it was effective in increasing emergence under high temperature conditions in the absence of water stress [166].

Peacock *et al.* [163] identified genetic differences in seedling survival under high soil surface temperatures using a field screening procedure during the hot and dry seasons in sandy soils in the Thar Desert in India. The method is rapid and inexpensive and can be used with a large number of genotypes. Its usefulness, however, is limited because tests can be conducted only during 2 months in a year, and experiment's failure due to occasional rains is possible. The present use of this method in a selection study indicates that it is effective in identifying genotypes with superior seedling heat tolerance [167, 168].

To overcome limitations of the field screening procedure, a controlled environment method using a sand bed that can be heated electrically and a laboratory method based on measuring membrane thermostability have been developed [169]. Initial results from a selection study in variable populations show that both procedures appear to be effective in increasing seedling survival under heat stress. Results from these two procedures show good correlations with field results. Their advantage appears to be higher heritabilities and more flexibility in their application [167, 168].

12.4.2

Tolerance at Reproductive Stage

In view of climate change and rising temperatures, tolerance of crops to high temperature during their reproductive stage has recently assumed high significance. A temperature rise of 0.5-1.2 °C by 2020, 0.88-3.16 °C by 2050, and 1.56-5.44 °C by 2080 has been projected for South Asia [170]. It has also been projected that by the end of twenty first century, mean annual temperatures in India will increase by 3-6 °C [171]. Climate change models have indicated drastic reductions in yield of cereal crops in tropical regions with moderate increase (1-2 °C) in temperature. This is likely to result in significant changes in cropping pattern and areas of crop

276 12 Pearl Millet: Genetic Improvement for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

production, and maize and sorghum might be replaced by pearl millet in some of the semi-arid regions of Asia and Africa.

The impact of high temperature stress during reproductive period has been studied in many crops. High temperature stress (>35 °C) for 1 h has been found to induce spikelet sterility in rice [172, 173]. Similarly, temperature higher than 36 °C is reported to reduce pollen viability in maize [174] leading to reduction in yields. Similar effects of short spells of high temperature during flowering on fertility have been reported in sorghum [175] and wheat [176]. Contrary to this, pearl millet has good degree of tolerance to high temperatures of up to 42 °C during flowering. Hence it has occupied considerable areas (>600 000 ha) in the hot and dry postrainy season (locally referred to as summer) in the northern and western parts of India. In summer season, pearl millet hybrids of 80-85 day duration can provide 4-5 tons/ha of grain and 8-10 tons/ha of dry stover under irrigated and well-managed conditions. Owing to higher air temperatures (often above 42 °C) coinciding with flowering in this region, the summer crop suffers from spikelet sterility leading to drastic reductions in grain yield. Only a few hybrids have shown good seed set under such high temperature conditions, leaving a limited choice of cultivars that always runs the risk of such cultivars breaking down to downy mildew. Thus, there is a need to identify sources of flowering-period heat tolerance to strengthen the hybrid breeding program for summer season.

ICRISAT made initial efforts in this direction by conducting some pilot studies under both controlled environmental and field conditions in target environments of northwestern India. In the controlled environments, screening for heat tolerance is conducted under growth chambers (simulated for a normal day where maximum temperature reaches 43 °C) by exposing pearl millet to high-temperature stress at boot leaf stage [177]). Screening for heat tolerance is also conducted under field conditions in target environment of northwestern India. Since the occurrence of high temperatures is unpredictable and breeding lines generally have a wide range of maturity, material is planted at three different dates during February–March at about 10 days interval at three–four locations with high temperatures so that the temperatures of \geq 42 °C coincide with flowering of all the entries at least in one of the planting dates at each location. Weather loggers are installed in the experimental field to record air temperatures on hourly basis. The nursery is irrigated at regular intervals to avoid moisture stress in the field.

Dates of emergence of boot leaf and flowering are recorded in each planting date, and panicles are bagged after pollination to protect them from bird damage. At dough stage, seed set is recorded and data on seed set of plants that got exposed during flowering to air temperatures of \geq 42 °C across the three dates are used to identify those with higher seed set (>60%) and presumably with high levels of heat tolerance.

Large genetic variation in tolerance to heat at reproductive stage among pearl millet breeding lines and populations has been observed, and heat-tolerant sources have been identified. Based on multilocational screening during the 2009–2010 summer season, two maintainer lines ICMB 92777 and ICMB 05666 were found to have >60% seed set when the air temperature during flowering exceeded 42 °C.

In addition, four B-lines (ICMB 00333, ICMB 01888, ICMB 02333, and ICMB 03555) were found as heat tolerant on the basis of 2010 screening that needs further validation in multiyear and multilocation testing. Populations like ICMV 82132, MC 94, ICTP 8202 and MC- Bulk have also been identified as sources of heat tolerance for further selection. Three germplasm accessions (IP 19799, IP 19877, and IP 19743) were also identified as heat tolerant (seed set of >50%), and can also be further utilized for diversifying the genetic base of heat-tolerant materials in pearl millet. However, the mechanism of heat tolerance is yet to be investigated in these materials.

The lines identified for heat tolerance need to be validated for this trait and those found stable can be used for developing mapping populations to identify QTL for use in marker-assisted breeding. Among the three major abiotic production constraints presented in this chapter, marker-assisted breeding is likely to be more successful for flowering period heat tolerance because the upper limit of temperature is known well predictably unlike salinity and drought stress. The main challenge would be to identify reliable QTL because the temperatures during flowering time below the predicted maximum might vary (sometime below 40 °C) due to occasional rains and cloud cover, and thus pose a challenge to reliable phenotyping for this trait. Development of a controlled environment facility for high temperatures maintenance during flowering would accelerate the process of QTL identification.

12.5 Salinity Tolerance

Salinity is a major constraint to crop production, especially in the arid and semiarid regions of the world, where low precipitation, high surface evaporation, irrigation with saline water, rising water tables, and poor irrigation practices generally increase the levels of soluble salts. Increased frequency of drought events over most land areas [178, 179], coupled with higher temperature, will intensify salinization due to increasing upward capillary transport of water and water-soluble salts from the groundwater to the root zone with no or negligible leaching under waterlimiting environments [180, 181]. Thus, salinization is expected to be increasing in the future climate change scenario. At present, about 77 m ha (5–7% of the cultivable lands) are affected by salinity across the globe. Management of saline soils by flushing out of salts using fresh water is costly, and is limited by availability of fresh water. Thus, crop production by using salinity-tolerant crops is one of the best options. Pearl millet having high in-built tolerance to saline soils will be in advantageous position and can be deployed in saline lands for grain and forage production.

Some preliminary research work has been done at ICRISAT on salinity tolerance in pearl millet in collaboration with the International Center for Biosaline Agriculture (ICBA), and its NARS partners in both India and WANA region. Advanced breeding materials have been screened for salinity tolerance at ICRISAT, Patancheru, India, and ICBA, Dubai, initially through pot culture method, which is followed by screening of these identified materials in salinity-affected fields. In pot

278 12 Pearl Millet: Genetic Improvement for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

Type of breeding material	Range		
	Grain yield (kg/ha)	Dry fodder yield (kg/ha)	
B-Lines: ICMB 01222, ICMB 96333, ICMB 95222	940–1265	3980–6940	
Sensitive B-line (control)	797	2486	
R-lines: HTP 94/54, CZI 9621, ICMP 451	1081-1311	4113-6721	
Sensitive R-line (control)	974	3794	
Germplasm accessions: IP 6105, IP 6098, IP 22269	1155–1411	4196-6117	
Improved populations: Dauro genepool, Sudan Pop III, HHVBC Tall	1452–1996	4009–6117	

 Table 12.4
 Performance of salinity-tolerant pearl millet breeding material under saline fields at Gangavathi, Karnataka, India during 2004–2005 [185].

culture method, breeding material is grown in pots with salinity treatment in an outdoor environment equipped with a rainout shelter along with controls. At ICRISAT, a 200 mM NaCl treatment is provided for screening tolerant genotypes, whereas screening is done at 5, 10, and 15 dS/m salinity levels at ICBA. This salinity-tolerant material identified under controlled environments then undergoes testing in salinity-affected fields at Gangavathi (Karnataka, India), Rumais (Sultanate of Oman), Dubai (UAE), and some other locations in WANA region. The trials are drip irrigated with saline water (7.5–8.25 dS/m) at Dubai and Rumais, while they are conducted under saline rainfed conditions at Gangavathi.

Screening resulted in identification of advanced breeding lines, parental lines of potential hybrids, improved population (including open-pollinated varieties), gene pools and composites, and germplasm accessions with high biomass (forage) presumably with high degree of salinity tolerance under salinity levels up to 15 dS/m (Table 12.4). In the short-to-medium terms, some of these materials can be released for cultivation after extensive validation of their yield performances in on-farm trials. Working on these lines, a pearl millet variety "HASHAKI 1" has been identified for release in Uzbekistan in 2012 as a high-forage variety for salt-affected areas. The identified salinity-tolerant pearl millet lines should be utilized in breed-ing programs to develop salinity-tolerant locally adapted cultivars (both OPVs and hybrids). This will enable farmers in salt-affected areas to adopt and grow a new crop such as pearl millet in lands that otherwise are fallow most of the years.

Since populations have shown large intra-population variability for forage yield in saline soils, and forage yield under saline conditions has been shown to have significant and high positive correlation ($r^2 = 0.92$) with salinity tolerance index (STI), direct selection for forage yield in saline soils can effectively enhance not only forage yield but also salinity tolerance. Direct selection for grain yield under saline conditions can also enhance salinity tolerance for this trait, although it would be less effective than selection for tolerance with respect to forage yield because the correlation between grain yield under salinity conditions and salinity tolerance index, though significant and positive, is smaller in magnitude.

Several parental lines and populations with both high grain yield ratio (ratio of yield under salinity versus control) and stover yield ratio were identified in pearl millet and there was highly significant and positive correlation between grain yield ratio and stover yield ratio ($r^2 = 0.80$), implying that selection for high stover yield ratio is likely to also lead to concomitant genetic improvement in grain yield ratio, and that simultaneous selection for both productivity and STI will be highly effective. Parental lines with large contrasts for grain yield ratio have been identified to develop mapping populations to identify QTL for salinity tolerance.

References

- Kelley, T.G., Parthasarathy Rao, P., Weltzien, E., and Purohit, M.L. (1996) Adoption of improved cultivars of pearl millet in an arid environment: straw yield and quality considerations in western Rajasthan. *Exp. Agric.*, 32, 161–171.
- 2 Andrews, D.J. and Anand Kumar, K. (1992) Pearl millet for food, feed and forage. *Adv. Agron.*, 48, 89–139.
- 3 Rai, K.N., Gowda, C.L.L., and Reddy, B.V. S., and Sehgal, S. (2008) The potential of sorghum and pearl millet in alternative and health food uses. *Compreh. Rev. Food. Sci. Food Saf.*, 7, 340–352.
- 4 Harinarayana, G., Anand Kumar, K., and Andrews, D.J. (1999) Pearl millet in global agriculture, in *Pearl Millet Breeding* (eds I.S. Khairwal, K.N. Rai, D.J. Andrews, and G. Harinarayana), Oxford and IBH Publishing Co. Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi, India, pp. 479–506.
- 5 Anand Kumar, K. (1993) Pearl millet in western Africa, in Sorghum and Millets Commodity and Research Environment (ed. D.E. Byth), International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics, pp. 1–15.
- 6 Carberrry, P.S., Cambell, L.C., and Bidinger, F.R. (1985) The growth and development of pearl millet as affected by plant population. *Field Crops Res.*, 11, 193–220
- 7 Soman, P., Jayachandran, R., and Bidinger, F.R. (1987) Uneven variation in plant to plant spacing in pearl millet. *Agron. J.*, 79, 891–895.

- Soman, P. and Peacock, J.M. (1985) A laboratory technique to screen seedling emergence of sorghum and pearl millet at high soil temperature. *Exp. Agric.*, 21, 335–341.
- 9 Lahiri, A.N. and Kumar, V. (1966) Studies on plant–water relationship III: further studies on the drought mediated alterations in the performance of bulrush millet. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. India B*, **32**, 116–129.
- 10 Stomph, T.J. (1990) Seedling establishment in pearl millet [*Pennisetum* glaucum (L.) R. Br.]: the influence of genotype, physiological seed quality soil temperature and soil water. PhD thesis. University of Reading, Reading, UK.
- 11 Gregory, P.J. (1983) Response to temperature in a stand of pearl millet (*Pennisetum typhoides* S. & H.): III. Root development. J. Exp. Bot., 34, 744–756.
- 12 Mahalakshmi, V. and Bidinger, F.R. (1985) Flowering response of pearl millet to water stress during panicle development. Ann. Appl. Biol., 106, 571–578.
- Bidinger, F.R., Mahalakshmi, V., and Rao, G.D.P. (1987) Assessment of drought resistance in pearl millet [*Pennisetum americanum* (L.) Leeke]: I. Factors affecting yield under stress. *Aust.* J. Agric. Res., 38, 37–48.
- 14 Bidinger, F.R., Mahalakshmi, V., and Rao, G.D.P. (1987) Assessment of drought resistance in pearl millet [*Pennisetum americanum* (L.) Leeke]: II. Estimation of genotype response to stress. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.*, 38, 49–59.

- 280 12 Pearl Millet: Genetic Improvement for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses
 - 15 Egharevba, P.N. (1977) Tiller number and millet grain productivity. *Cereal Res. Commun.*, 5, 235–247.
 - 16 van Oosterom, E.J., Bidinger, F.R., and Weltzien, R.E. (2003) A yield architecture framework to explain adaptation of pearl millet to environmental stress. *Field Crops Res.*, 80, 33–56.
 - 17 van Oosterom, E.J., Weltzien, E., Yadav, O.P., and Bidinger, F.R. (2006) Grain yield components of pearl millet under optimum conditions can be used to identify germplasm with adaptation to arid zones. *Field Crops Res.*, 96, 407–421.
 - 18 Nanda, K.K. and Chenoy, J.J. (1958) Lateral bud development in pearl millet (*Pennisetum typhoides* Stapf and Hubb) in relation to its flowering. *Curr. Sci.*, 27, 141–143.
 - 19 Siband, P. (1983) Essai d'analyse du fonctionnement du mil (*Pennisetum typhoides*) en zone Sahelienne. L'Agron. Trop., 38, 27–36.
 - 20 Mahalakshmi, V., Bidinger, F.R., and Raju, D.S. (1987) Effect of timing of water deficit on pearl millet (*Pennisetum americanum*). *Field Crops Res.*, 15, 327–339.
 - Mahalakshmi, V. and Bidinger, F.R. (1986) Water deficit during panicle development in pearl millet: yield compensation by tillers. *J. Agric. Sci.*, 106, 113–119.
 - 22 Henson, I.E. and Mahalakshmi, V. (1985) Evidence for panicle control of stomatal behaviour in water stressed plants of pearl millet. *Field Crops Res.*, 11, 281–290.
 - 23 Henson, I.E., Mahalakshmi, V., Alagarswamy, G., and Bidinger, F.R. (1984) The effect of flowering on stomatal response to water stress in pearl millet (*Pennisetum americanum* (L.) Leeke). J. Exp. Bot., 35, 219–226.
 - 24 Maiti, R.K. and Bidinger, F.R. (1981) Growth and development of pearl millet plant. Research Bulletin No. 6. ICRISAT, Patancheru, A.P., India.
 - 25 Lambert, C. (1983) Influence de la precocite sur le development du mil (*Pennisetum typhoides* Stapf et Hubbard) en conditions naturelles: I. Elaboration de la touffe. *L'Agron. Trop.*, 38, 7–15.

- 26 Hanson, A.D. and Nelson, C.E. (1981) Adaptation of crops to drought-prone environments, in *The Biology of Crop Productivity* (ed. P.S. Carlson), Academic Press, New York, pp. 78–152.
- 27 Mahalakshmi, V. and Bidinger, F.R. (1985) Water stress and timing of floral initiation in pearl millet. *J. Agric. Sci.*, 105, 436–445.
- 28 Fussell, L.K., Bidinger, F.R., and Bieler, P. (1991) Crop physiology and breeding for drought tolerance: research and development. *Field Crops Res.*, 27, 183–199.
- 29 Bieler, P., Fussell, L.K., and Bidinger, F. R. (1993) Grain growth of *Pennisetum* glaucum (L.) R. Br. under well watered and drought stressed conditions. *Field Crops Res.*, 21, 41–54.
- 30 Black, C.R. and Squire, G.R. (1979) Effects of atmospheric saturation deficit on the stomatal conductance of pearl millet (*Pennisetum typhoides* S. & H.) and groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). J. Exp. Bot., 30, 935–945.
- 31 Squire, G.R. (1979) The response of stomata of pearl millet (*Pennisetum typhoides* S. & H.) to atmospheric humidity. J. Exp. Bot., 30, 925–933.
- 32 Henson, I.E., Mahalakshmi, V., Bidinger, F.R., and Alagarswamy, G. (1981) Genotypic variation in pearl millet (*Pennisetum americanum* (L.) Leeke) in the ability to accumulate abscisic acid in response to water stress. J. Exp. Bot., 32, 899–910.
- 33 Winkel, T. and Do, F. (1992) Caracteres morphologiques et physiologiques de resistance du mil [*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R. Br.] a la secheresse. *L'Agron. Trop.*, 46, 339–350.
- 34 Arnon, I. (1972) Crop Production in Dry Regions, vol. 1, Leonard-Hill, London, UK.
- 35 Mederski, H.J. and Jeffers, D.L. (1973) Yield response of soybean varieties grown at two soil moisture stress levels. *Agron. J.*, 65, 410–412.
- 36 Laing, D.R. and Fischer, R.A. (1977) Adaptation of semi-dwarf wheat cultivars to rainfed conditions. *Euphytica*, 26, 129–139.

- 37 Ceccarelli, S., Acevedo, E., and Grando, S. (1991) Breeding for yield stability in unpredictable environments: single traits, interaction between traits and architecture of genotypes. *Euphytica*, 56, 169–185.
- 38 Ceccarelli, S. (1994) Specific adaptation and breeding for marginal conditions. *Euphytica*, 77, 205–219.
- 39 Bidinger, F.R., Mahalakshmi, V., Talukdar, B.S., and Alagarswamy, G. (1982) Improvement of drought resistance in pearl millet, in *Drought Resistance in Crops with Emphasis on Rice*, International Rice Research Institute, Los Banos, Philippines, pp. 357–375.
- 40 Johnson, D.A. (1980) Improvement of perennial herbaceous plant for droughtstressed western rangelands, in *Adaptation of Plant to Water and High Temperature Stress* (eds N.C. Turner and P.J. Parker), Wiley–Interscience, New York, pp. 419–433.
- 41 Simmonds, N.W. (1991) Selection for local adaptation in plant breeding program. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 82, 363–367.
- 42 van Oosterom, E.J., Mahalakshmi, V., Arya, G.K., Dave, H.R., Gothwal, B.D., Joshi, A.K., Joshi, P., Kapoor, R.L., Sagar, P., Saxena, M.B.L., Singhania, D. L., and Vyas, K.L. (1995) Effect of yield potential, drought escape and drought tolerance on yield of pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*) in different stress environments. *Indian J. Agric. Sci.*, 65, 629–635.
- 43 Jinks, J.L. and Conolly, V. (1973) Selection for specific and general response to environmental differences. *Heredity*, 30, 33–40.
- 44 Rosielle, A.A. and Hamblin, J. (1981) Theoretical aspect of selection for yield in stress and non-stress environments. *Crop Sci.*, **21**, 943–948.
- 45 Blum, A. (1980) Genetic improvement of drought adaptation, in *Adaptation of Plants to Water and High Temperature Stress* (eds N.C. Turner and P.J. Kramer), Wiley–Interscience, New York, pp. 450–452.
- **46** Ceccarelli, S. and Grando, S. (1991) Environment of selection and type of

germplasm in barley breeding for low-yielding conditions. *Euphytica*, **57**, 207–219.

- 47 Ceccarelli, S., Grando, S., and Hamblin, J. (1992) Relationship between barley grain yield measured in low and high yielding environments. *Euphytica*, 64, 49–58.
- 48 Virk, D.S. (1988) Biometrical analysis in pearl millet: a review. *Crop. Improv.*, 15, 1–29.
- 49 Khairwal, I.S. and Singh, S. (1999) Quantitative and qualitative traits, in *Pearl Millet Breeding* (eds I.S. Khairwal, K.N. Rai, D.J. Andrews, and G. Harinarayana), Oxford and IBH Publishing Co. Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi, India, pp. 119–155.
- 50 Yadav, O.P. and Bhatnagar, S.K. (2001) Evaluation of indices for identification of pearl millet cultivars adapted to stress and non-stress conditions. *Field Crops Res.*, 70, 201–208.
- 51 Virk, D.S., Virk, P.S., Mangat, B.K., and Harinarayana, G. (1987) Linear and non-linear regression analysis of genotype × environment interactions in pearl millet. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 75, 736–740.
- 52 Virk, D.S. and Mangat, B.K. (1991) Detection of cross over genotype × environment interactions in pearl millet. *Euphytica*, 52, 193–199.
- 53 van Oosterom, E.J., Mahalakshmi, V., Bidinger, F.R., and Rao, K.P. (1995) Effect of water availability and temperature on the genotype by environment interaction of pearl millet in semi-arid tropical environments. *Euphytica*, 89, 175–183.
- 54 van Oosterom, E.J., Whitaker, M.L., and Weltzien-Rattunde, E. (1996) Integrating genotype by environment analysis, characterization of drought patterns, and farmer preferences to identify adaptive plant traits for pearl millet, in *Plant Adaptation and Crop Improvement* (eds M. Cooper and G.L. Hammer), CAB International/IRRI/ICRISAT, Wallingford, pp. 382–402.
- 55 Yadav, O.P. and Weltzien, R.E. (2000) Differential response of pearl millet landrace-based populations and high

yielding varieties in contrasting environments. *Ann. Arid Zone*, **39**, **39–45**.

- 56 Yadav, O.P. (2010) Drought response of pearl millet landrace-based populations and their crosses with elite composites. *Field Crops Res.*, 118, 51–57.
- 57 Mahalakshmi, V., Subramanian, V., Bidinger, F.R., and Jambunathan, R. (1985) Effect of water deficit on yield and protein content in pearl millet grains. *J. Sci. Food Agric.*, 36, 1237–1242.
- 58 Sagar, P. and Kapoor, R.L. (1986) A field screening technique for drought tolerance. *Exp. Agric.*, 22, 117–122.
- 59 Hanks, R.J., Keller, J., Rasmussen, V.P., and Wilson, G.D. (1976) Line source sprinkler for continuous variable crop production studies. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 40, 426–429.
- **60** Garrity, D.P., Watts, D.G., Sullivan, C.Y., and Gilley, J.R. (1982) Moisture deficits and grain sorghum performance: effect of genotype and limited irrigation strategy. *Agron. J.*, **74**, 800–814.
- 61 O'Neil, M.K., Hofmann, W., Dobrenz, A.K., and Marcarian, V. (1983) Drought response of sorghum hybrid under sprinkler irrigation gradient system. *Agron. J.*, 75, 102–107.
- 62 Cruz, R.T. and O'Toole, J.C. (1984) Dryland rice response to an irrigation gradient at flowering stage. *Agron. J.*, 76, 178–183.
- 63 Mahalakshmi, V., Bidinger, F.R., and Rao, G.D.P. (1988) Timing and intensity of water deficits during flowering and grain-filling in pearl millet. *Agron. J.*, 80, 130–135.
- **64** Mahalakshmi, V., Bidinger, F.R., and Rao, G.D.P. (1990) Line-source vs. irrigated/non-irrigated treatments for evaluation of genotype drought response. *Agron. J.*, **82**, 841–844.
- 65 Atlin, G.N. and Frey, K.J. (1990) Selection oat lines for field in low-productivity environments. *Crop Sci.*, 30, 556–561.
- 66 Zavala-Garcia, F., Bramel-Cox, P.J., Eastin, J.D., Witt, M.D., and Andrews, D.J. (1992) Increasing the efficiency of crop selection for unpredictable environments. *Crop Sci.*, 32, 51–57.

- 67 Ud-Din, N., Carver, B.F., and Clutter, A. C. (1992) Genetic analysis and selection for wheat yield in drought-stressed and irrigated environments. *Euphytica*, 62, 89–96.
- 68 Bänziger, M., Setimela, P.S., Hodson, D., and Vivek, B. (2004) Breeding for improved drought tolerance in maize adapted to southern Africa. Proceedings of the 4th International Crop Science Congress, Sept 26–Oct 1, 2004, Brisbane, Australia. www.cropscience.org.au.
- 69 Sullivan, C.Y. (1971) Technique for measuring plant drought stress, in *Drought Injury and Resistance in Crops* (eds K.L. Larson and J.D. Eastin), Crop Science Society of America, Madison, pp. 1–18.
- 70 Swindale, L.D. and Bidinger, F.R. (1981) Introduction: the human consequence of drought and crop research priorities for their alleviation, in *The Physiology and Biochemistry of Drought Resistance in Plants* (eds L.G. Paleg and D. Aspinall), Academic Press, Sydney, Australia, pp. 1–13.
- 71 Yadav, O.P., Rai, K.N., Khairwal, I.S., Rajpurohit, B.S., and Mahala, R.S. (2011) Breeding Pearl Millet for Arid Zone of North-Western India: Constraints, Opportunities and Approaches, All India Coordinated Pearl Millet Improvement Project, Jodhpur, India, p. 28.
- 72 O'Toole, J.C. and Chang, T.T. (1979) Drought resistance in cereals – rice: a case study, in *Stress Physiology in Crop Plants* (eds H. Mussel and R.C. Staples), Wiley Interscience, New York, pp. 373–405.
- 73 Keim, D.L. and Kronstad, W.E. (1981) Drought response of winter wheat cultivars grown under field stress conditions. *Crop Sci.*, 21, 11–15.
- 74 Sojka, R.E., Stolzy, L.H., and Fischer, R.A. (1981) Seasonal drought response of selected wheat cultivars. *Agron. J.*, 73, 838–844.
- 75 Henson, I.E., Mahalakshmi, V., Bidinger, F.R., and Alagarswamy, G. (1982) Osmotic adjustment to water stress in pearl millet (*Pennisetum americanum* (L.) Leeke) under field conditions. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 5, 147–154.

- 76 Castleberry, R.M. (1983) Breeding programmes for stress tolerance in corn, in Crop Responses to Water and Temperature Stresses in Humid, Temperate Climates (eds C.D. Raper, Jr., and P.J. Kramer), Westview Press, Boulder, pp. 277–287.
- 77 Bidinger, F.R. and Witcombe, J.R. (1989) Evaluation of specific drought avoidance traits as selection criteria for improvement of drought resistance, in *Drought Resistance in Cereals* (ed. F.G.W. Baker), CAB International, Wallingford, UK, pp. 151–164.
- 78 Sullivan, C.Y. and Eastin, J.D. (1974) Plant physiological responses to water stress. Agric. Meteorol., 14, 113–127.
- 79 Sullivan, C.Y. and Ross, W.M. (1979) Selecting for drought and heat resistance in grain sorghum, in *Stress Physiology in Crop Plants* (eds H. Mussell and R.C. Staples), Wiley Interscience, New York, pp. 263–281.
- **80** Blum, A. and Ebercon, A. (1981) Cell membrane stability as a measure of drought and heat tolerance in wheat. *Crop Sci.*, **21**, 43–47.
- Morgan, J.M. (1980) Osmotic adjustment in the spikelets and leaves of wheat. *J. Exp. Bot.*, **31**, 655–655.
- 82 Turner, N.C. and Jones, M.M. (1980) Turgor maintenance by osmotic adjustment: a review and evaluation, in Adaptation of Plant to Water and High Temperature Stress (eds N.C. Turner and P.J. Kramer), Wiley Interscience, New York, pp. 87–103.
- 83 Vadez, V. and Sinclair, T.R. (2001) Leaf ureide degradation and N₂ fixation tolerance to water deficit in soybean. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 52, 153–159.
- 84 Hufsteler, E.V., Boerma, H.R., Carter, T.E., and Earl, H.J. (2007) Genotypic variation for three physiological traits among drought tolerance in soybean. *Crop Sci.*, 47, 25–35.
- 85 Kholová, J., Hash, C.T., Lava Kumar, P., Yadav, R.S., Kočová, M., and Vadez, V. (2010) Terminal drought-tolerant pearl millet [*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R. Br.] have high leaf ABA and limit transpiration at high vapor pressure deficit. J. Exp. Bot., 61, 1431–1440.

- 86 Yadav, O.P. and Rattunde, E.W. (1999) Breeding for adaptation to abiotic stresses, in *Pearl Millet Breeding* (eds I.S. Khairwal, K.N. Rai, D.J. Andrews, and G. Harinarayana), Oxford and IBH Publishing Co. Pvt. Itd., New Delhi, India, pp. 317–336.
- 87 Fanous, M.A. (1967) Test for drought resistance in pearl millet (*Pennisetum typhoideum*). Agron. J., 59, 337–340.
- 88 Manga, V.K. and Yadav, O.P. (1995) Effect of seed size on development traits and ability to tolerate drought in pearl millet. *J. Arid. Environ.*, 29, 169–172.
- 89 Rai, K.N., Anand Kumar, K., Andrews, D.J., Gupta, S.C., and Ouendeba, B. (1996) Breeding pearl millet for grain yield and stability. Proceedings of the International Conference on Genetic Improvement of Sorghum and Pearl Millet, Lubbock, Texas, September 23–27, 1997, INTSORMIL, Lincoln, NE, pp. 71–83.
- 90 Rattunde, H.F., Witcombe, J.R., and Frey, K.J. (1989) Structure of variation among morphological and physiological traits in three pearl millet composites. *Euphytica*, 43, 233–244.
- **91** Rattunde, H.F., Singh, P., and Witcombe, J.R. (1989) Feasibility of mass selection in pearl millet. *Crop Sci.*, **29**, 1423–1427.
- 92 Andrews, D.J. and Bramel-Cox, P.J. (1993) Breeding cultivars for sustainable crop production in low-input dryland agriculture in the tropics, in *Proceedings of the International Crop Science* (eds D.A. Buxton*et al.*), Crop Science Society of America Inc., Madison, pp. 211–223.
- 93 Andrews, D.J. and Anand Kumar, K. (1996) Use of the West African pearl millet landrace *Iniadi* in cultivar development. *Plant Genet. Resour. Newsl.*, 105, 15–22.
- 94 Bidinger, F.R. and Mahalakshmi, V. (1992) Selection for drought tolerance. Cereals Program, ICRISAT 1993. Annual Report. ICRISAT Patancheru, India, pp. 57–59.
- **95** Yadav, O.P. (1994) Inheritance of threshing percentage in pearl millet. *Euphytica*, **78**, 77–80.

- 284 12 Pearl Millet: Genetic Improvement for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses
 - 96 Yadav, O.P. (1994) Genetic divergence in pearl millet accessions of Indian and exotic origin. *Indian J. Genet. Plant Breed.*, 54, 89–93.
 - 97 Yadav, O.P., Manga, V.K., and Saxena, M.B.L. (1994) Ontogenetic approach to grain production in pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*) based on pathcoefficient analysis. *Indian J. Agric. Sci.*, 64, 233–236.
 - 98 Bidinger, F.R., Alagarswamy, G., and Rai, K.N. (1993) Use of grain number components as selection criteria in pearl millet. *Crop Improv.*, 20, 21–26.
 - **99** Solanki, Y.P.S., Khairwal, I.S., and Bidinger, F.R. (2001) Panicle surface area as a selection criterion for grain yield in pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*). *Indian J. Agric. Sci.*, **71**, 450–454.
 - 100 Appa Rao, S., Mengesha, M.H., Vyas, K. L., and Rajagopal Reddy, C. (1986) Evaluation of pearl millet germplasm from Rajasthan. *Indian J. Agric. Sci.*, 56, 4–9.
 - 101 Yadav, O.P., Weltzien-Rattunde, E., and Bidinger, F.R. (2004) Genetic diversity among pearl millet landraces from north-western India. *Ann. Arid Zone*, 43, 45–53.
 - 102 Anand Kumar, K. and Appa Rao, S. (1987) Diversity and utilization of pearl millet germplasm, in *Proceedings of the International Pearl Millet Workshop* (eds J. R. Witcombe and S.R. Beckerman), ICRISAT, Patancheru, India, pp. 69–82.
 - 103 Yadav, O.P., Mathur, B.K., and Manga, V.K. (1993) Path analysis of pearl millet yield and yield components under moisture stress. *Ann. Arid Zone*, **32**, 21–23.
 - 104 Yadav, O.P., Weltzien, R.E., and Bhandari, D.C. (2001) Genetic variation and trait relationship in pearl millet landraces from Rajasthan. *Indian J. Genet. Plant Breed.*, 61, 322–326.
 - 105 Yadav, R.S., Hash, C.T., Bidinger, F.R., Devos, K.M., and Howarth, C.J. (2004) Genomic regions associated with grain yield and aspects of post-flowering drought tolerance in pearl millet across stress environments and testers background. *Euphytica*, 136, 265–277.

- 106 Fischer, R.A. and Maurer, R. (1978) Drought response in spring wheat cultivars: I. Grain yield responses. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.*, 29, 897–912.
- 107 White, J. and Singh, S.P. (1991) Breeding for adaptation to drought, in *Common Beans, Research for Crop Improvement* (eds A. van Schoonhoven and O. Voyest), CAB International, Wallingford, Oxon, UK, pp. 501–551.
- 108 Abebe, A., Brick, M.A., and Kirkby, R.A. (1998) Comparison of selection indices to identify productive dry bean lines under diverse environmental conditions. *Field Crops Res.*, 58, 15–23.
- 109 Bruckner, P.L. and Frohberg, R.C. (1987) Stress tolerance and adaptation in spring wheat. *Crop Sci.*, 27, 31–36.
- 110 Ceccarelli, S. (1987) Yield potential and drought tolerance of segregating populations of barley in contrasting environments. *Euphytica*, 36, 265–273.
- 111 Clarke, J.M., Depauw, R.M., and Townley-Smith, T.F. (1992) Evaluation of methods for quantification of drought tolerance in wheat. *Crop Sci.*, **32**, 723–728.
- 112 Passioura, J. (2007) The drought environment: physical, environmental and biological perspectives. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 58, 113–117.
- 113 Bidinger, F.R., Weltzien, E., Mahalakshmi, V., Singh, S.D., and Rao, K.P. (1994) Evaluation of landrace topcross hybrids of pearl millet for arid zone environments. *Euphytica*, 76, 215–226.
- 114 Yadav, O.P. (2006) Heterosis in crosses between landraces and elite exotic populations of pearl millet (*Pennisetum* glaucum (L.) R. Br.) in arid zone environments. Indian J. Genet. Plant Breed., 66, 308–311.
- 115 Yadav, O.P. (2007) Genetic diversification of landrace-based populations of pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* L. R. Br.) to enhance productivity and adaptation to arid zone environments. *Indian J. Genet. Plant Breed.*, 67, 358–364.
- **116** Yadav, O.P. (2008) Performance of landraces exotic elite populations and their crosses in pearl millet (*Pennisetum*

glaucum) in drought and non-drought conditions. *Plant Breed.*, **127**, 208–210.

- 117 Yadav, O.P. (2009) Genetic enhancement of pearl millet for drought-prone and hot arid environments of India. Proceedings of the Joint 14th Australasian Plant Breeding Conference and 11th SABRAO Congress, August 10–14, 2009, Cairns, Australia.
- 118 Weltzien, E. and Fischbeck, G. (1990) Performance and variability of local barley landraces in near-eastern environments. *Plant Breed.*, 104, 58–67.
- 119 Yadav, O.P. and Manga, V.K. (1999) Diversity in pearl millet landraces of arid regions of Rajasthan, in *Management of Arid Ecosystem* (eds A.S. Faroda, N.L. Joshi, S. Kathju, and A. Kar), Arid Zone Research Association of India & Scientific Publishers, Jodhpur, India, pp. 57–60.
- 120 Yadav, O.P. and Bidinger, F.R. (2007) Utilization, diversification and improvement of landraces for enhancing pearl millet productivity in arid environments. Ann. Arid Zone, 46, 49–57.
- 121 Bidinger, F.R., Mahalakshmi, V., Talukdar, B.S., and Sharma, R.K. (1995) Improvement of landrace cultivars of pearl millet for arid and semi-arid environments. *Ann. Arid Zone*, 34, 105–110.
- 122 Yadav, O.P., Bidinger, F.R., and Singh, D.V. (2009) Utility of pearl millet landraces in breeding dual-purpose hybrids for arid zone environments of India. *Euphytica*, 166, 239–247.
- 123 Bidinger, F.R., Yadav, O.P., and Weltzien, R.E. (2009) Genetic improvement of pearl millet for arid zone of northwestern India: lessons from two decades of collaborative ICRISAT-ICAR research. *Exp. Agric.*, 45, 107–115.
- 124 Yadav, O.P. (2004) CZP 9802: a new drought-tolerant cultivar of pearl millet. *Indian Farm.*, 54, 15–17.
- 125 Yadav, O.P., Singh, M., and Bhati, T.K. (2008) Initial adoption of drought tolerant pearl millet variety CZP 9802, in *Diversification of Arid Farming System* (eds P. Narain, M.P. Singh, A. Kar, S. Kathju, and P. Kumar), Arid Zone Research

Association of India & Scientific Publishers, Jodhpur, India, pp. 335–340.

- 126 Yadav, O.P., Weltzien-Rattunde, E., and Bidinger, F.R. (2003) Genetic variation for drought response among landraces of pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*). Indian J. Genet. Plant Breed., 63, 37–40.
- 127 Bidinger, F.R., Sharma, M.M., and Yadav, O.P. (2008) Performance of landraces and hybrids of pearl millet [*Pennisetum* glaucum (L.) R. Br.] under good management in the arid zone. Indian J. Genet. Plant Breed., 68, 145–148.
- 128 Yadav, O.P., Sahai, B., Bidinger, F.R., and Bhasker Raj, A.G. (2005) Exotic elite populations as sources for diversification of landraces of pearl millet (*Pennisetum* glaucum). Indian J. Genet. Plant Breed., 65, 15–19.
- 129 Yadav, O.P. and Rai, K.N. (2011) Hybridization of Indian landraces and African elite composites of pearl millet results in biomass and stover yield improvement under arid zone conditions. *Crop Sci.*, 51, 1980–1987.
- 130 Presterl, T. and Weltzien, E. (2003) Exploiting heterosis in pearl millet population breeding in arid environments. *Crop Sci.*, 43, 767–776.
- 131 Yadav, O.P., Bidinger, F.R., Hash, C.T., and Serraj, R. (2004) Amalgamation of drought adaptation and high productivity in arid zone pearl millet: New directions for a diverse planet, Proceedings of the 4th International Crop Science Congress, September 26–October 1, 2004, Brisbane, Australia. www.cropscience. org.au.
- 132 Godshalk, E.B. and Kauffmann, K.D. (1995) Performance of exotic × temperate single cross maize hybrids. *Crop. Sci.*, 35, 1042–1045.
- 133 Vetelainen, M., Souminen, M., and Nissila, E. (1997) Agronomic performance of crosses between Nordic and exotic barleys. *Euphytica*, 93, 239–248.
- 134 Burton, G.W. (1965) Pearl millet Tift 23 A released. Crops Soils, 17, 19.
- 135 Hanna, W.W. (1989) Characteristics and stability of a new cytoplasmic-nuclear male-sterile source in pearl millet. *Crop. Sci.*, 29, 1457–1459.

- 286 12 Pearl Millet: Genetic Improvement for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses
 - 136 Rai, K.N. (1995) A new cytoplasmicnuclear male sterility system in pearl millet. *Plant Breed.*, 114, 445–447.
 - 137 Pethani, K.V. and Dave, H.R. (1992) Heterosis for grain yield in pearl millet (*Pennisetum typhoides* (B.) S. & H.). Indian J. Genet. Plant Breed., 52, 45–49.
 - 138 Yadav, O.P., Weltzien-Rattunde, E., Bidinger, F.R., and Mahalakshmi, V. (2000) Heterosis in landrace-based topcross hybrids of pearl millet across arid environments. *Euphytica*, 112, 285–295.
 - Bidinger, F.R., Yadav, O.P., Sharma, M.M., van Oosterom, E.J., and Yadav, Y.P. (2003) Exploitation of heterosis for simultaneous improvement in both grain and stover yields of arid zone pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R. Br.). *Field Crops Res.*, 83, 13–26.
 - Bidinger, F.R. and Yadav, O.P. (2009) Biomass heterosis as the basis for grain and stover yield heterosis in arid zone pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R. Br.) hybrids. *Crop. Sci.*, 49, 107–112.
 - 141 Bidinger, F.R., Thakur, R.P., and Yadav, O.P., and Sharma, M.M. (2003) Male-sterile seed parents for breeding landrace-based topcross hybrids of pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*) for arid conditions: II. Downy mildew resistance, plant type, fertility restoration and terminal drought tolerance. *Indian J. Genet. Plant Breed.*, 63, 99–105.
 - 142 Yadav, O.P., Bidinger, F.R., and Sharma, M.M. (2003) Male-sterile seed parents for breeding landrace-based topcross hybrids of pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*) for arid conditions: III. Matching A-lines and specific target environments. *Indian J. Genet. Plant Breed.*, 63, 106–114.
 - 143 Yadav, O.P. (2010) Evaluation of landraces and elite populations of pearl millet for their potential in genetic improvement for adaptation to droughtprone environments. *Indian J. Genet. Plant Breed.*, 70, 120–124.
 - 144 Yadav, O.P. and Singh, M. (2012) Prospects of enhancing biomass yield to improve both grain and stover yields of arid zone pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* L. R. Br.). *Euphytica*, 183, 11–18.

- 145 Yadav, O.P. (2011) Breeding dual-purpose pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*) for northwestern India: understanding association of biomass and phenotypic traits. *Indian J. Agric. Sci.*, 81, 816–820.
- 146 Barker, T., Campos, H., Cooper, M., Dolan, D., Edmeades, G., Habben, J., Schussler, J., Wright, D., and Zinselmeir, C. (2005) Improving drought tolerance in maize. *Plant Breed. Rev.*, 25, 173–226.
- 147 Blum, A. (1988) Plant Breeding for Stress Environments, CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- 148 Liu, C.J., Witcombe, J.R., Pittaway, T.S., Nash, M., Hash, C.T., Busso, C.S., and Gale, M.D. (1994) An RFLP-based genetic map of pearl millet (*Pennisetum* glaucum). Theor. Appl. Genet., 89, 481–487.
- 149 Liu, C.J., Devos, K.M., Witcombe, J.R., Pittaway, T.S., and Gale, M.D. (1996) The effect of genome and sex on recombination rates in *Pennisetum* species. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 93, 902–908.
- 150 Poncet, V., Lamy, F., Devos, K.M., Gale, M.D., Sarr, A., and Robert, T. (2000) Genetic control of domestication traits in pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* L., Poaceae). *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 100, 147–159.
- 151 Poncet, V., Martel, E., Allouis, S., Devos, K.M., Lamy, F., Sarr, A., and Robert, T. (2002) Comparative analysis of QTLs affecting domestication traits between two domesticated × wild pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* L., Poaceae) crosses. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, **104**, 965–975.
- 152 Qi, X., Pittaway, T.S., Lindup, S., Liu, H., Waterman, E., Padi, F.K., Hash, C.T., Zhu, J., and Gale, M.D., and Devos, K.M. (2004) An integrated genetic map and a new set of simple sequence repeat markers for pearl millet, *Pennisetum* glaucum. Theor. Appl. Genet., 109, 1485–1493.
- 153 Supriya, A., Senthilvel, S., Nepolean, T., Eshwar, K., Rajaram, V., Shaw, R., Hash, C.T., Kilian, A., Yadav, R.C., and Narasu, M.L. (2011) Development of a molecular linkage map of pearl millet integrating DArT and SSR markers. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 123, 239–250.

- 154 Bidinger, F.R., Serraj, R., Rizvi, S.M.H., Howarth, C., Yadav, R.S., and Hash, C.T. (2005) Field evaluation of drought tolerance QTL effects on phenotype and adaptation in pearl millet [*Pennisetum* glaucum (L.) R. Br.] topcross hybrids. *Field Crops Res.*, 94, 14–32.
- 155 Yadav, R.S., Hash, C.T., Bidinger, F.R., Cavan, G.P., and Howarth, C.J. (2002) Quantitative trait loci associated with traits determining grain and stover yield in pearl millet under terminal drought stress conditions. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 104, 67–83.
- 156 Bidinger, F.R., Nepolean, T., Hash, C.T., Yadav, R.S., and Howarth, C.J. (2007) Quantitative trait loci for grain yield in pearl millet under variable postflowering moisture conditions. *Crop Sci.*, 47, 969–980.
- 157 Yadav, R.S., Sehgal, D., and Vadez, V. (2011) Using genetic mapping and genomics approaches in understanding and improving drought tolerance in pearl millet. J. Exp. Bot., 62, 397–408.
- 158 Yadav, R.S., Bidinger, F.R., Hash, C.T., Yadav, Y.P., Yadav, O.P., Bhatnagar, S.K., and Howarth, C.J. (2003) Mapping and characterisation of QTL × E interaction for traits determining grain and stover yield in pearl millet. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 106, 512–520.
- 159 Serraj, R., Hash, C.T., Rizvi, S.M.H., Sharma, A., Yadav, R.S., and Bidinger, F.R. (2005) Recent advances in markerassisted selection for drought tolerance in pearl millet. *Plant Prod. Sci.*, 8, 334–337.
- 160 Sharma, P.C., Sehgal, D., Singh, D., Singh, G., and Yadav, R.S. (2011) A major terminal drought tolerance QTL of pearl millet is also associated with reduced salt uptake and enhanced growth under salt stress. *Mol. Breed.*, 27, 207–222.
- 161 Garcia-Huidobro, J., Monteith, J.L., and Squire, G.R. (1982) Time temperature and germination of pearl millet (*Pennisetum typhoides* S. & H.): I. Constant temperature. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 33, 288–296.
- **162** Garcia-Huidobro, J., Monteith, J.L., and Squire, G.R. (1985) Time, temperature and germination of pearl millet

(*Pennisetum typhoides* S. & H.): III. Inhibition of germination by short exposure to high temperature. *J. Exp. Bot.*, **36**, 338–343.

- Peacock, J.M., Soman, P., Jayachandran, R., Rani, A.U., Howarth, C.J., and Thomas, A. (1993) Effect of high surface soil temperature on survival in pearl millet. *Exp. Agric.*, 29, 215–225.
- 164 Howarth, C.J. and Ougham, H.J. (1993) Gene expression under temperature stress. *New Phytol.*, **125**, 1–26.
- 165 Ong, C.K. (1983) Response to temperature in a stand of pearl millet (*Pennisetum typhoides* S. & H.): II. Reproductive development. J. Exp. Bot., 34, 337–348.
- 166 Lynch, P.J. (1994) Recurrent selection in pearl millet for improving stand establishment at high temperature. *Plant Breed.*, 113, 237–341.
- 167 Weltzien, R.E., Howarth, C.J., Jayachandran, R., and Bidinger, F.R. (1994) Comparison of screening techniques for assessing seedling heat tolerance. Cereals Program, Annual Report 1993, ICRISAT, Patancheru, India, pp. 87–91.
- 168 Weltzien, R.E., Howarth, C.J., Jayachandran, R., and Bidinger, F.R. (1994) Seedling thermotolerance: a comparison of screening methods. *Agron. Abs.*, 113.
- Howarth, C.J., Weltzien, E.R., Bidinger, F.R., and Harris, D. (1997) Seedling survival of abiotic stresses: sorghum and pearl millet. Proceedings of the International Conference on Genetic Improvement of Sorghum and Pearl Millet, Lubbock, Texas, September 23–27, 1996, INTSORMIL, Lincoln, NE, pp. 379–399.
- 170 IPCC (2007) Climate Change Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability: Summary for Policymakers. Inter-Governmental Panel on Climate Change.
- 171 NATCOM (2004) India's Initial National Communication to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Ministry of Environment and Forests, p. 268.
- 172 Yoshida, S. (1981) Fundamentals of Rice Crop Science, The International Rice

Research Institute, Los Banos, Philippines.

- 173 Jagadish, S.V.K., Crauford, P.Q., and Wheeler, T.R. (2007) High temperature stress and spikelet fertility in rice. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 58, 1627–1635.
- 174 Decker, W.L., Jones, V.K., and Achutuni, R. (1986) The impact of climate change from increased atmospheric carbon dioxide on American agriculture. US Department of Energy, Carbon Dioxide Research Division, DOE/NBB-0077, Washington DC, p. 44.
- 175 Prasad, P.V.V., Boote, K.J., and Hartwell, L.A. (2006) Adverse high temperature effects on pollen viability, seed-set, seed yield and harvest index of grain sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor (L)*. Moench) are more severe at elevated carbon dioxide due to higher tissue temperatures. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.*, 139, 237–251.
- Wheeler, T.R., Batts, G.R., Ellis, R.H., Hadley, P., and Morison, J.I.L. (1996) Growth and yield of winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum.*) crops in response to CO₂ and temperature. *J. Agric. Sci.*, 127, 37–48.
- 177 ICRISAT (2008) Archival Report: MTP Project 5: Producing more and better food at lower costs of staple cereal and legume hybrids in the Asian SAT (sorghum, pearl millet and pigeonpea) through genetic improvement. p. 157.
- 178 Minitzer, I.M. (1993) Confronting Climate Change: Risk, Implications and Responses, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- 179 Goyal, R.K. (2004) Sensitivity of evapotranspiration to global warming: a case study of arid zone of Rajasthan. *India. Agric. Water Manage.*, 69, 1–11.

- 180 Szabolcs, I. (1990) Impact of climate change on soil attributes: influence on salinization and alkalinization, in *Soils on a Warmer Earth* (eds H.W. Scharpenseel, M. Schomaker, and A. Ayoub), Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 61–69.
- 181 Varallyay, G. (1994) Climate Change, Soil Salinity and Alkalinity, vol. 23, NATO ASI Series, Springer, London, pp. 3–11.
- 182 Yadav, O.P. and Bidinger, F.R. (2008) Dual-purpose landraces of pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*) as sources of high stover and grain yield for arid zone environments. *Plant Genet. Resour.*, 6, 73–78.
- 183 Bidinger, F.R., Bhasker Raj, A.G., Negusse, A., Ali, A.M., Obilana, A.B., and Jones, R.B. (2005) Topcross hybrids as an entry into commercial seed production of pearl millet in eastern Africa. *Exp. Agric.*, 41, 335–356.
- 184 Mahalakshmi, V., Bidinger, F.R., Rao, K.P., and Raju, D.S. (1992) Performance and stability of pearl millet topcross hybrids and their variety pollinators. *Crop Sci.*, 32, 928–932.
- 185 Rai, K.N., Dakheel, A.J., Vadez, V., and Krishnamurthy, L. (2010) Grain and forage yield potential of pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R. Br.) in saline lands, in Book of Abstracts of Scientific Symposium (Eds, AJ Dakheel and MB Fraj) on "Saving Freshwater Resources with Salt Tolerant Forage Production in Marginal Areas of the West Asia and North Africa Region held at Damascus, Syria, International Centre for Biosaline Agriculture during 30–31 May 2010." p. 43.

13 Bamboo: Application of Plant Tissue Culture Techniques for Genetic Improvement of *Dendrocalamus strictus* Nees

C.K. John and V.A. Parasharami

Abstract

Bamboos are valuable natural resources important for both economy and environment. Large-scale propagation of bamboos is difficult because of their peculiar flowering behavior only at very long intervals, and sterility in some species. Bamboos are generally propagated by vegetative methods. Most of these methods pose difficulties such as large propagules, difficulty in extraction and transport, lack of sufficient numbers for raising large-scale plantations, and extraction of propagules lowering the productivity of parent clumps. In India, *Dendrocalamus strictus* has wide distribution, abundance, and economic importance. *D. strictus* occupies 53% of total bamboo area in India. In *D. strictus*, methods are available for (i) *in vitro* propagation from nodal bud explants from mature clumps, (ii) *in vitro* induction of microrhizomes, and (iii) selecting NaCl stress-tolerant variants. *D. strictus* is a suitable candidate for further work on developing abiotic stress-tolerant variants.

13.1 Introduc

Introduction

Bamboos are perennial, woody grasses, and are valuable natural resources important for both economy and environment [1]. They have more than 1500 documented uses. Important traditional uses include housing, food, fuel, and raw material for household utensils, agricultural implements, and handicrafts [2, 3]. Bamboos have great potential for employment and income generation for rural communities [4]. Bamboos are among the fastest growing plants on Earth [5]. Bamboo is substitute for wood in pulp and paper manufacturing. Worldwide, more than 2.5 billion people trade in or use bamboo [6]. Annual trade in bamboos (both raw and finished products) is estimated at more than US\$ 5.0 billion. This represents only a small proportion of total bamboo usage. Domestic use is estimated to account for at least 80% [4]. Modern manufacturing techniques allow the use of bamboo in timber-based industries, to provide bamboo flooring, board products, laminates, and furniture [4]. Bamboo shoots are an important processed food product on the

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

© 2012 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

290 | 13 Bamboo: Application of Plant Tissue Culture Techniques

international market. China is the leading exporter with an annual export value of nearly US\$ 140 million [7]. Bamboo furniture is an expanding business in many countries [4, 8]. Worldwide, domestic trade and subsistence use of bamboo are estimated to be worth US\$ 4.5 billion per year. Global export of bamboo generates another US\$ 2.7 billion [4, 6]. The vulnerability of some animal species is increased by the simultaneous flowering and subsequent death of entire populations in supraannual cycles ranging from 7 to 120 years or more. The best known among these animal species is the giant panda (*Ailuropoda melanoleuca*). The red panda (*Ailurus fulgens*) and the Himalayan black bear (*Selenarctos thibetanus*) are also heavily dependent on bamboo [4]. In recent years, with the looming threat of global warming, there is much interest in bamboo as a carbon sink [9, 10].

Worldwide, there are about 1400 species of bamboos under 101–118 genera. They are classified into three tribes: Bambuseae, Arundinarieae, and Olyreae. According to Ohrnberger [11], the subfamily Bambusoideae comprises both woody and herbaceous bamboos with 1575 species altogether.

Bamboos can be categorized into two broad categories: sympodial (pachymorphic) and monopodial (leptomorphic) based on the rhizome system [1]. The former is clump forming and the latter spreading type. Most clump forming bamboos are tropical, and spreading type temperate. Clump formation in sympodial bamboos is believed to be an adaptation to growth in drought-prone tropical conditions, as compact clumps and leaf shedding during summer help the plant in controlling water loss and survive adverse climatic conditions.

Ever increasing rate of deforestation makes search for alternative natural resources an urgent need. Bamboos are suitable for large-scale cultivation in marginal and degraded lands under agroforestry [12]. The extensive rhizome and root systems help in effectively controlling soil erosion and in reinforcing embarkments, and accumulation of leaf mulch helps in conserving soil moisture. Faster growth and biomass production help in generating large amounts of oxygen and effectively sequestering atmospheric carbon dioxide.

13.2

Vegetative Propagation

Large-scale propagation of bamboos is difficult because of their peculiar flowering behavior only at very long intervals, and sterility in some species. Bamboo seed is infrequently produced and rapidly loses viability. Most woody bamboos are semelparous: gregariously flower/seed only at the end of very long periods of vegetative growth and die *en masse* [1, 13]. Brandis [14] classified bamboos into three categories on the basis of their flowering behavior: (i) species that flower annually or nearly so, (ii) species that flower gregariously and periodically, and (iii) species that flower irregularly. Blatter [15] considered these three categories as fairly complete. A vast majority of the woody bamboos belong to the second category in which the intermast periods range between 10 and 120 years (or more). This peculiar flowering behavior has intrigued mankind for long and still remains as a botanical enigma. In general, the intermast periods of woody bamboos are thought of as species specific and rigid. However, it is not the case in many bamboos [13, 16, 17].

Bamboos are generally propagated by vegetative methods. A vegetative propagule of a bamboo plant must have shoot, root, and rhizome. Failure to develop any of these leads to failure of the propagule [18]. The most widely used vegetative propagation methods are clump division (offsets/rhizome), whole culm cuttings, layering, culm segment cutting, and branch cutting [19]. Most of these methods pose difficulties such as large propagules, difficulty in extraction and transport, lack of sufficient numbers for raising large-scale plantations, and extraction of propagules lowering the productivity of parent clumps. In species such as *Bambusa arundinacea* and *Dendrocalamus strictus* in which seeds are available once in a while, macroproliferation of seedlings can be another method [20, 21].

Bamboos in general are openly wind pollinated. They have physical/physiological barriers that prevent self-pollination/favor cross-pollination [22–25]. Many bamboos are known to be highly heterozygous [26–28]. This makes them suitable candidates for selection [29]. Most of the characters contributing to increased biomass production are expressed in the adult stage. Hence, propagation from adult clumps has some advantages.

13.3 Micropropagation

Micropropagation methods are available in many species of bamboo [30–40]. Plant tissue culture work in bamboos started as early as 1969 [41]. During the past 40 years, a vast number of reports on *in vitro* propagation methods for a large number of species have appeared. Three tissue culture approaches of practical use for mass multiplication of bamboos are (i) enhanced shoot multiplication by axillary/adventitious branching from juvenile and mature explants, followed by *in vitro/ex vitro* rooting of these shoots [42–44]; (ii) somatic embryogenesis from mature embryo (seed) and nodal bud explants from both seedling and mature culms [45–47]; and (iii) *in vitro* induction of microrhizomes [48, 49].

13.4 Genetic Improvement for Abiotic Stress Tolerance

Abiotic stresses, extremes of temperature (heat and cold), extremes of water availability (drought and flood), and soil salinity pose serious threats to the growth and yield of crop plants. Vast areas of land in India and other countries are abiotic stress prone. To use these lands for cultivating crop plants, resistant varieties are required. There have been attempts to develop abiotic stress-resistant varieties. Earlier, this has been through selection and breeding [50–52] or through tissue culture [53, 54], and in recent years through gene transfer [55–58]. Two main approaches being used to improve stress tolerance are (i) the exploitation of natural

292 13 Bamboo: Application of Plant Tissue Culture Techniques

genetic variations, either through direct selection in stressful environments or through mapping quantitative trait loci and subsequent marker-assisted selection; and (ii) the generation of transgenic plants to introduce novel genes or to alter expression levels of the existing genes to affect the degree of stress tolerance [59]. The limiting factor in extension of biotechnology to abiotic stresses is the lack of information on what are the "useful genes" - genes that would lead to better stress tolerance [56]. Transgenic approaches to developing stress-tolerant crop varieties are based on the introgression of genes that are known to be involved in stress response. The task of generating transgenic cultivars is not limited to the success in the transformation process. Proper incorporation of the stress tolerance is essential. Evaluation of the transgenic plants under stress conditions and understanding the physiological effect of the inserted genes at the whole plant level are challenges remaining to be overcome [58]. Among plant biotechnologies, plant tissue culture techniques offer easier and reliable methods of developing abiotic stress-tolerant varieties [53, 54, 60, 61]. Bamboos are suitable candidates for development of abiotic stress-tolerant varieties given their usefulness in large-scale cultivation in marginal and degraded lands under agroforestry.

13.5

Dendrocalamus strictus

In India, *D. strictus* is one of the bamboo species having wide distribution, abundance, and economic importance. *D. strictus* is a compact clump forming bamboo. Clumps are deciduous and densely tufted (Figure 13.1). *D. strictus* occupies 53% of total bamboo area in India. It is widely distributed in semi-dry and dry zones along plains and hilly tracts up to an altitude of 1000 m and commonly cultivated throughout the plains and foothills. *D. strictus* grows under a wide temperature range from -5 to 45 °C. Most important use of *D. strictus* is as raw material in paper manufacture. It is also used for construction, agricultural implements, musical instruments, furniture, and so on.

Among the economically important bamboos of India, *D. strictus* shows much diversity for intermast periods [13]. Intermast periods reported from different parts ranged between 8 and 47 years. Since this species also shows sporadic flowering, some of these reports may be that of sporadic flowering and may not represent the intermast periods. These reports point toward the existence of many land races of *D. strictus*.

In *D. strictus*, methods are available for *in vitro* propagation through enhanced shoot multiplication from juvenile and mature explants [42, 62], somatic embryogenesis [45, 46], and *in vitro* induction of microrhizomes [48, 49] (Table 13.1). Standard procedure for micropropagation involves *in vitro* multiple shoot production, followed by *in vitro/ex vitro* rooting and acclimatization (Figures 13.2 and 13.3).

Nadgir *et al.* [42] obtained multiple shoots from seedling explants of *D. strictus* in liquid MS medium supplemented with $2.22 \,\mu$ M BA and 5% coconut water. These



Figure 13.1 Clump of D. strictus Nees.

multiple shoots were rooted by treating them for 48 h in the dark in half-strength MS medium supplemented with 0.49 μ M IBA. Nadgir *et al.* [42] could obtain multiple shoots from nodal segment explants from mature clumps on semi-solid MS medium supplemented with 2.22 μ M BA, 0.92 μ M Kn, and 10% coconut water. These multiple shoots were rooted in half-strength semi-solid MS medium containing 0.25% activated charcoal after treatment for 96 h in the dark on half-strength semi-solid MS medium supplemented with 0.49 μ M IBA. After this step, the plantlets turned pale green and appeared in poor health. This could be avoided by transferring the plantlets to liquid MS medium containing 0.44 μ M BA and 0.46 μ M Kn + 5% coconut water. Rooted plantlets from seedling explants as well as mature

No.	Explant	Medium	Response(s)	Reference
i-	Seedlings	MS + 0.88 μM BAP + 5%CM + 2% sucrose fliquid medium)	Multiple shoots	[42]
	<i>In vitr</i> o rooting of multiple shoots Mature shoots	J/2 MS + 0.49 μM IBA (in 48 h dark followed by transfer to light) MS + 2.22 μM BAP + 0.92 μM Kn + 10% CM + 2% sucrose (semi-solid medium) + 0.25% activated	Rooting 80%	
2.	Seed	$G_{Liat COM}$ B5 + 30 μ M 2,4-D + 2% sucrose + 0.8% agar	Callus formation in 10–12 days at embryonal end; somatic embryogenesis in 67%	[45]
	Callus (i) Plantlets	B5 + 0.5 μM IBA + 1 μM NAA + 2% sucrose (liquid medium) 1/2 B5 + 0.5 μM IBA + 1 μM NAA + 1% sucrose	Conversion of somatic embryos; plantlet formation in 40% Growth of converted plantlets	
ŗ.	Shoot apices Subcultures from (i) Subcultures from (i)	urdund menutum wun mer paper rany 2.4-D medium Varied auxin/cytokinin levels Varied NAA/BA combinations	Creamy white callus No differentiation Green, partially organized, granular or nodular callus; it was later converted to adventitious shoots that were rooted	[63]
4.	Production of somatic	$MS + 13.58 \mu M 2,4-D + 2.32 \mu M Kn$	reaury Somatic embryos	[64]
	Encapsulation of somatic embryos	Encapsulated inside Ca alginate beads Additional mineral of Ca alginate heads	Germination frequencies of 96 and 45% were achieved <i>in vitro</i> and in soil, respectively 05.96% about the remainstice and ar in vito conditions	
5.	Single-node stem segments	MS + 2.85 µM IAA + 0.5 mg/l adenine sulfate (Ads) (modified medium)	Two to four axillary shoots/explant	[65]
	Inversely oriented axillary shoots	4.9 μM IBA + 5.37 μM NAA + 2.26 μM 2,4-D + 1 mg/l phloroglucinol	Rooting 30%	

 Table 13.1
 Reports on micropropagation protocols on D. strictus Nees.

					13.5 Der	ıdrocalamus stri	ctus 295
[47]	[48]	[66]		[43]		[67]	
Somatic embryos germinated (95–98%) into normal plants and 95% successful rooting Somatic embryos germinated (95–98%) into normal plants and 95% successful rooting <i>In vitro</i> flowering induction	Plantlets initiated In vitro rhizome formation 80%	Multiple shoots Multiple shoots	Root induction	Embryogenic callus Secondary embryogenesis (two- to fivefold/5 weeks)	Secondary embryogenesis (two- to fivefold/5 weeks) Conversion to plantlets	100 mM NaCl-tolerant callus initiated Differentiated into somatic embryos	39% of mature somatic embryos tolerant to 100 mM NaCl germinated and converted into plantlets
MS + 2.32 μM Kn + 9.0 μM 2,4-D + 10 mg/l Ads + 3% sucrose MS + 2.32 μM Kn + 9.04 μM 2,4-D + 10 mg/l Ads + 3% sucrose 1/2 MS +1.22 μM IBA + 0.5 mg/l Ads + 1.44 μM GA3 + 3% sucrose	1/2 MS + 2.22 μM BA + 2% sucrose Simple minimal media – growth regulators	MS (liquid medium) + 0.88–8.88 µM BA + 2.32–4.65 µM Kn + CW MS (liquid medium) + 0.88–8.88 µM BA + 2.32–4.65 µM Kn + CW	MS (liquid medium) + 1.22–9.80 μM IBA + 2% sucrose	MS + 30 μM 2,4-D MS + 30 μM 2,4-D + 5 μM Kn + 2 μM IBA + 250 mg/l PVP + 3% table sugar	MS + 30 μM 2,4-D + 10 μM BAP + 250 mg/l PVP + 3% table sugar MS + 30 μM 2,4-D + 5 μM NAA + 5 μM kinetin + 250 mg/l PVP + 3% sucrose + 0.2% Gehrite	0–200 mM NaCl + MS + 3% sucrose + 13.6 μM 2,4-D + 2.32 μM Kn + 0.8% agar MS (maintenance medium) + 3% sucrose + 0.8% agar + 9.04 μM 2,4-D + 2.32 μM Kn + 0–200 mM NaCl	1/2 MS + 2% sucrose + 0.1 μM NAA + 0.49 μM IBA + 100 mM NaCl
Nodal explants from seedling culture Mature zygotic embryo (MZE) Nodal explants of somatic embryo regenerated plants	Seedlings Proliferation and production of plantlets	Seedlings Axillary buds	Propagules of (i) and (ii)	Seed Embryogenic callus	Embryogenic callus Somatic embryos	Embryogenic callus Stable 100 mM NaCl- tolerant embryogenic callus	Somatic embryos tolerant to 100 mM NaCl
ف	7.	×.		9.		10.	



Figure 13.2 In vitro propagation of D. strictus Nees. (a) Sprouting of mature clump-derived nodal bud explant on initiation medium. (b) Further elongation of the sprouted bud on

the same medium. (c) Further multiplication and elongation of shoots on shoot multiplication medium. (d) Micropropagated plantlets.

clump-derived explants were first transferred to 1: 1 sterile sand/soil mixture in pots. These plantlets were covered with glass beakers to maintain humidity and incubated at 25 °C and 16 h light and 8 h dark regimes. After new leaves emerged, these plantlets were transferred to greenhouse and then to field. The work by Nadgir *et al.* [42] is one of the first reports of successful *in vitro* regeneration of plantlets from a mature bamboo clump.

Rao *et al.* [45] obtained plant regeneration through somatic embryogenesis of *D. strictus*, by culturing seeds on B5 medium supplemented with 2,4-D. Callus cultures obtained from the embryonal end of the seeds differentiated into green embryoids. On transfer to a liquid B5 medium + sucrose + IBA + NAA, 40% of the embryoids developed into plantlets. Further development of the plantlets occurred in half-strength liquid B5 medium + 1% sucrose + 0.5 μ M IBA + 1 μ M NAA.

Huang et al. [63] cultured shoot apices of *D. strictus* in 2,4-D-containing medium, and developed a creamy white callus. Subculturing into media containing different



Figure 13.3 Field trial of micropropagated and hardened plants of D. strictus Nees.

concentrations of auxins/cytokinins did not result in differentiation of shoots. Subculturing on media containing combinations of NAA and BA resulted in a green, partially organized, granular or nodular callus. This callus, on further culture, maintained its partially organized nature and produced adventitious shoots. These shoots were rooted and transplanted in soil.

Mukunthakumar and Mathur [64] produced artificial seeds of *D. strictus* by encapsulating somatic embryos obtained on MS medium containing $13.58 \,\mu$ M 2,4-D and $2.32 \,\mu$ M Kn, in calcium alginate beads. Germination frequencies of 96 and 45% were obtained *in vitro* and in soil, respectively, for these artificial seeds. The germination frequency *in vivo* was increased to 56% when an additional coating of mineral oil on the alginate beads was tried. Germinated artificial seeds could be raised into plantlets.

Chaturvedi *et al.* [65] cultured single-node stem segments excised from newly regenerated branches of approximately 10-year-old field-grown culms of *D. strictus* in a modified MS medium supplemented with 2.85 μ M IAA and 81.43 μ M Ads. This resulted in the production of two to four axillary shoots per explant. These shoots did not survive because no roots were produced. Rooting was induced when the explants were cultured in an inverted position, in the rooting medium containing 4.9 μ M IBA + 5.37 μ M NAA + 2.26 μ M 2,4-D + 1 mg/l phloroglucinol at pH 5.2. A seasonal effect of response was noticed by the authors, with nodal explants collected during July–August responding most favorably. The *in vitro* raised plantlets were transplanted with about 80% success. Transplanted plantlets grew normally in soil under glasshouse as well as field conditions.

Rout and Das [47] obtained plant regeneration via somatic embryogenesis in callus cultures derived from nodal explants of *in vitro* grown seedlings and excised mature zygotic embryos of three bamboo species (*Bambusa vulgaris, Dendrocalamus*

298 13 Bamboo: Application of Plant Tissue Culture Techniques

giganteus, and D. strictus) on MS medium supplemented with $2.32 \,\mu$ M Kn, $9.5 \,\mu$ M 2,4-D, 54.29 μ M Ads, and 3% sucrose incubated either in the light or in the dark. Almost all (95–98%) somatic embryos germinated into normal plants and when transferred to soil 95% of the plants survived.

Shirgurkar *et al.* [48] developed a micropropagation technique for the large-scale production of *D. strictus* plantlets. Seedling cultures were initiated on half-strength MS medium supplemented with 2.22 μ M BA and 2% sucrose. Further proliferation and production of plantlets occurred on MS medium + 2% sucrose. In about 80% of cultures, rhizome formation also occurred. Nearly 90% of these plantlets survived when transferred to 1: 1 sand/soil mixture in pots.

Ravikumar *et al.* [66] could induce multiple shoots from seedlings and axillary buds of mature plants of *D. strictus* on MS medium supplemented with BA and Kn. In the primary culture, in a span of 20–25 days about 35–45 shoots were obtained from a nodal explant of seedling and 3–8 shoots from a nodal explant of mature plants. These multiple shoots were rooted under *in vitro* and *ex vitro* conditions. By *ex vitro* method using 1080 µM IBA 85–90% rooting was achieved, when the shoots were kept at 85–90% humidity and 27–30 °C. The shoots required 20–25 days for root initiation. Rooted plantlets performed well during acclimatization.

Saxena and Dhawan [43] developed a complete protocol for large-scale propagation of *D. strictus* by somatic embryogenesis. Seeds cultured on semi-solid MS medium + 30 μ M 2,4-D produced embryogenic callus from the embryo. Somatic embryos formed *in vitro* multiplied rapidly (two- to fivefold every 5 weeks) on semisolid MS medium + 10 μ M 2,4-D + 2 μ M IBA + 5 μ M Kn + 250 mg/l soluble PVP, or MS medium + 10 μ M 2,4-D + 10 μ M Kn + 250 mg/l soluble PVP. Upon transfer to MS medium + 5 μ M NAA + 5 μ M Kn + 250 mg/l soluble PVP, the dark green embryos developed into healthy plantlets. Unrooted shoots were rooted on halfstrength MS medium + 3 μ M NAA + 2.5 μ M IBA. When these rooted plantlets were transferred to soil in polythene bags, more than 80% of them survived. Using this method, Saxena and Dhawan [43] produced more than 100 000 plants. Saxena and Dhawan [43] noticed a strong genotypic effect at all stages of regeneration, that is, initiation, multiplication, and germination of somatic embryos.

Saxena and Dhawan [43] also studied various factors such as potting mixture, humidity regime, and seasons, which are known to influence the transplantation process. The seasonal effect was found to be very pronounced. Saxena and Dhawan [43] encountered higher rates of mortality during winter (October–February). They attributed this to *D. strictus* being more susceptible to low temperatures because the species is well adapted to growth in warm areas. The tissue-cultured plants usually take 6–8 weeks after transplantation to form rhizomes. According to Saxena and Dhawan [43], plants transplanted in July survived winter as the plants produced rhizomes, and plantlets transferred to soil in October or later died because they were exposed to low temperatures before they formed rhizomes.

Singh *et al.* [67] successfully regenerated NaCl-tolerant plantlets of *D. strictus* via somatic embryogenesis from NaCl-tolerant embryogenic callus. Selection of embryogenic callus tolerant to 100 mM NaCl was made by exposing the callus

cultures to 0–200 mM concentrations of NaCl in callus initiation medium (MS medium supplemented with 13.6 μ M 2,4-D + 2.3 μ M Kn + 3% sucrose + 0.8% agar). The NaCl-tolerant embryogenic callus differentiated somatic embryos on maintenance medium (MS medium + 9.0 μ M 2,4-D + 2.3 μ M Kn + 3% sucrose + 0.8% agar) and containing 0–200 mM NaCl. About 39% of mature somatic embryos were tolerant to 100 mM NaCl. These somatic embryos germinated and converted into plantlets in half-strength MS medium + 0.1 μ M NAA + 0.49 μ M IBA + 2% sucrose + 100 mM NaCl. About 31% of these plantlets established well on transplantation into a garden soil and sand (1: 1) mixture containing 0.2% (w/w) NaCl. These results suggested that plantlets regenerated from 100 mM NaCl-tolerant embryos can survive on soils rich in salt.

13.6 Future Prospects

D. strictus is a clump forming tropical bamboo adapted for growth in a wide range of climatic conditions. In *D. strictus*, methods are available for *in vitro* propagation through enhanced shoot multiplication from juvenile and mature explants, somatic embryogenesis, and *in vitro* induction of microrhizomes. *In vitro* selection procedure for developing salt-tolerant variant is also available. Developing a frost-tolerant variant of this bamboo as well as developing drought-tolerant monopodial (leptomorph) temperate bamboos, frost-tolerant sympodial (pachymorph) bamboos, and salt tolerance in both the groups will be very useful in extending the range of growth habitats of bamboos.

References

- McClure, F.A. (1966) The Bamboos: A Fresh Perspective, Harvard University Press, Cambridge.
- 2 Kurz, S. (1896) Bamboo and its uses. *Indian Forester*, 1, 219–269.
- **3** Kurz, S. (1896) Bamboo and its uses. *Indian Forester*, **1**, 335–362.
- 4 Bystriakova, N., Kapos, V., Stapleton, C., and Lysenko, I. (2003) Bamboo Biodiversity: Information for Planning Conservation and Management in the Asia-Pacific Region. UNEP- World Conservation Monitoring Center and International Network for Bamboo and Rattan, Cambridge/Beijing.
- 5 Hunter, I.R. and Wu, J. (2002) Bamboo Biomass. INBAR Working Paper No. 36, International Network for Bamboo and Rattan, Beijing.

- 6 INBAR (1999) Socio-Economic Issues and Constraints in the Bamboo and Rattan Sectors: INBAR's Assessment. INBAR Working Paper No. 23, International Network for Bamboo and Rattan, Beijing.
- 7 Lu, F. (2001) China's Bamboo Product Trade: Performance and Prospects. INBAR Working Paper No. 33, International Network for Bamboo and Rattan, Beijing.
- 8 Vantomme, P., Markkula, A., and Leslie,
 R.N. (2002) Non-Wood Forest Products in 15 Countries of Tropical Asia: An Overview,
 Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- 9 Nath, A.J., Das, G., and Das, A.K. (2009) Above ground standing biomass and carbon storage in village bamboos in North East India. *Biomass Bioenergy*, 33, 1188–1196.

- 300 13 Bamboo: Application of Plant Tissue Culture Techniques
 - 10 Nath, A.J. and Das, A.K. (2011) Carbon storage and sequestration in bamboo-based smallholder home-gardens of Barak Valley, Assam. Curr. Sci., 100, 229–233.
 - 11 Ohrnberger, D. (1999) The Bamboos of the World: Annotated Nomenclature and Literature of the Species and the Higher and Lower Taxa, Elsevier, Amsterdam.
 - 12 Diver, S. (2012) Bamboo: A Multipurpose Agroforestry Crop. Available at htpp://attar. ncaf.org/attar-pub/PDF/bamboo.pdf (accessed January 2, 2012).
 - 13 Janzen, D.H. (1976) Why bamboos wait so long to flower? *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst.*, 7, 347–391.
 - 14 Brandis, D. (1899) Biological notes on Indian bamboos. *Indian Forester*, 25, 1–25.
 - 15 Blatter, E. (1931) Some notes on the flowering of bamboos. J. Bombay Nat. Hist. Soc., 34, 135–141.
 - 16 John, C.K., Nadgauda, R.S., and Mascarenhas, A.F. (1995) Bamboos – some newer perspectives. *Curr. Sci.*, 68, 885–896.
 - 17 Chapman, G.P. (1997) The Bamboos, Academic Press, London, pp. 163–177.
 - 18 Banik, R.L. (1980) Propagation of bamboo by clonal methods and by seed, in *Bamboo Research in Asia* (eds G. Lessard and A. Chouinard), International Development Research Centre, Canada, pp. 139–150.
 - 19 Bennet, S.S.R. and Gaur, R.C. (1990) Thirty-Seven Bamboos Growing in India, Indian Council of Forestry Research & Education, Dehradun.
 - 20 Kumar, A., Gupta, B.B., and Negi, D.S. (1988) Vegetative propagation of *Dendrocalamus strictus* through macroproliferation. *Indian Forester*, 114, 564–568.
 - Kumar, A., Gupta, B.B., and Negi, D.S. (1991) Vegetative propagation of *Dendrocalamus strictus* through macroproliferation. II. *Indian Forester*, 117, 621–623.
 - 22 Venkatesh, C.S. (1984) Dichogamy and breeding system in a tropical bamboo *Ochlandra travancorica. Biotropica*, 16, 309–321.
 - 23 Nadgauda, R.S., John, C.K., and Mascarenhas, A.F. (1993) Floral biology and breeding behaviour in a bamboo –

Dendrocalamus strictus Nees. Tree Physiol., **13**, 401–408.

- 24 John, C.K., Nadgauda, R.S., and Mascarenhas, A.F. (1994) Some interesting observations on the flowering and seeding in *Melocanna bambusoides*. *J. Cytol. Genet.*, 29, 161–165.
- 25 John, C.K., Nadgauda, R.S., and Mascarenhas, A.F. (1995) Floral biology and breeding behaviour in *Bambusa* arundinacea. J. Cytol. Genet., 30, 101–107.
- 26 Indira, E.P. and Koshi, M.P. (1986) A report on monohybrid ratio for albino expression in *Bambusa arundinacea. Curr. Sci.*, 55, 993–994.
- 27 Indira, E.P. (1988) Albino gene carriers and mating system in Bambusa arundinacea. Silvae Genet., 37, 249–250.
- 28 Kumar, A., Sharma, V.K., and Beniwal, B.S. (1993) Albino seedlings in Dendrocalamus strictus Nees. Indian Forester, 119, 507–509.
- 29 John, C.K., Joshi, M.S., Nadgauda, R.S., and Mascarenhas, A.F. (1994) Selection – a valuable method for bamboo improvement. *Curr. Sci.*, 66, 822–824.
- 30 Zamora, A.B. (1994) Review of micropropagation research on bamboos, in Constrains to Production of Bamboo and Rattan, INBAR Technical Report 5, New Delhi, pp. 45–100.
- 31 Chang, W.C. (1991) Bamboos, in *Trees III*, Biotechnology in Agriculture and Forestry, vol. 16 (ed. Y.P.S. Bajaj), Springer, Berlin, pp. 231–237.
- 32 Chang, W.C. and Ho, C.W. (1991) Micropropagation in bamboos, in High-Tech and Micropropagation V, Biotechnology in Agriculture and Forestry (ed. Y.P.S. Bajaj), Springer, Berlin, pp. 205–219.
- 33 Prutpongse, P. and Gavinlertvatana, P. (1994) *In vitro* micropropagation of 54 species from 15 genera of bamboo. *HortScience*, 27, 453–454.
- 34 Woods, S.H., Woods, J.E., and Collins, G.B. (1995) Somatic embryogenesis in bamboo, in *Somatic Embryogenesis in Woody Plants*, vol. 2 (eds S. Jain, P. Gupta, and R. Newton), Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp. 41–51.
- 35 John, C.K., Nadgauda, R.S., and Mascarenhas, A.F. (1997) Bamboos, in

Tissue Culture of Economic Plants, Centre for Science & Technology of the Non-Aligned and Other Developing Countries, New Delhi, and Commonwealth Science Council, London, pp. 41–79.

- 36 Nadgauda, R.S., John, C.K., Joshi, M.S., Parasharami, V.A., and Mascarenhas, A.F. (1997) Application of *in vitro* techniques for bamboo improvement, in *The Bamboos* (ed. G.P. Chapman), Academic Press, London, pp. 163–177.
- 37 Nadgauda, R.S. and John, C.K. (2000) Biotechnology in bamboo improvement, in *Biotechnology in Horticultural and Plantation Crops* (eds K.L. Chadha, P.N. Ravindran, and L. Sahijram), Malhotra Publishing House, New Delhi, pp. 794–817.
- 38 Gielis, J., Peeters, H., Gillis, K., and Debergh, P.C. (2001) Tissue culture strategies for genetic improvement of bamboo. *Acta Hortic.*, 552, 195–203.
- 39 Gielis, J. and Oprins, J. (2002) Micropropagation of tropical and temperate woody bamboos – from biotechnological dream to a commercial reality. Bamboo for Sustainable Development, Proceedings of the 5th International Bamboo Congress and the 6th International Bamboo Workshop, San Jose, CA, pp. 333–344.
- 40 Jimenez, V.M. and Guevara, E. (2007) Micropropagation of bamboo species through axillary shoot proliferation, in Protocols for Micropropagation of Woody Trees and Fruits, Part 3 (eds S.M. Jain and H. Häggman), Springer, Berlin, pp. 465–476.
- 41 Alexander, M.P. and Rao, T.C. (1968) *In vitro* culture of bamboo embryos. *Curr. Sci.*, **37**, 415.
- 42 Nadgir, A.L., Phadke, C.H., Gupta, P.K., Parasharami, V.A., Nair, S., and Mascarenhas, A.F. (1984) Rapid multiplication of bamboo by tissue culture. *Silvae Genet.*, 33, 219–223.
- 43 Saxena, S. and Dhawan, V. (1999) Regeneration and large-scale propagation of bamboo (*Dendrocalamus strictus* Nees) through somatic embryogenesis. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 18, 438–443.
- 44 Das, M. and Pal, A. (2005) Clonal propagation and production of genetically

uniform regenerants from axillary meristems of adult bamboo. *J. Plant Biochem. Biotechnol.*, **14**, 185–188.

- 45 Rao, I.U., Rao, I.V.R., and Narang, V. (1985) Somatic embryogenesis and regeneration of plants in the bamboo *Dendrocalamus strictus. Plant Cell Rep.*, 4, 191–194.
- 46 Rao, I.V.R. and Rao, I.U. (1990) Tissue culture approaches to the mass propagation and genetic improvement of bamboos, in *Bamboos: Current Research* (eds I.V.R. Rao, R. Gnanaharan, and C.B. Sastry), Kerala Forest Research Institute/International Development Research Centre, Peechi/Ottawa, pp. 151–158.
- 47 Rout, G.R. and Das, P. (1994) Somatic embryogenesis and *in vitro* flowering of 3 species of bamboo. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 13, 683–686.
- 48 Shirgurkar, M.V., Thengane, S.R., Poonawala, I.S., Jana, M.M., Nadgauda, R.S., and Mascarenhas, A.F. (1996) A simple *in vitro* method of propagation and rhizome formation in *Dendrocalamus strictus* Nees. *Curr. Sci.*, 70, 940–943.
- 49 Kapoor, P. and Rao, I.U. (2006) In vitro rhizome induction and plantlet formation from multiple shoots in Bambusa bambos var. gigantea Bennet & Gaur using growth regulators and sucrose. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult., 85, 211–217.
- 50 Rush, D.W. and Epstein, E. (1981) Breeding and selection for salt tolerance by the incorporation of wild germplasm into a domestic tomato. J. Am. Soc. Hortsci., 106, 699–704.
- 51 Yeo, A.R. and Flowers, T.J. (1989) Selection for physiological characters – examples from breeding for salt tolerance, in *Plants Under Stress, Society for Experimental Biology Seminar Series,* vol. **39** (eds H.G. Jones, T.J. Flowers, and M.B. Jones), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 217–234.
- Flowers, T.J. and Yeo, A.R. (1997) Breeding for salinity resistance in crop plants: where next? *Aust. J. Plant Physiol.*, 22, 875–884.
- 53 Purohit, M., Srivastava, S., and Srivastava, P.S. (1998) Stress tolerant plants through tissue culture, in *Plant Tissue Culture and*

302 13 Bamboo: Application of Plant Tissue Culture Techniques

Molecular Biology: Application and Prospects (ed. P.S. Srivastava), Narosa Publishing House, New Delhi, pp. 554–578.

- 54 Rai, M.K., Kalia, R.K., Singh, R., Gangola, M.P., and Dhawan, A.K. (2011) Developing stress tolerant plants through *in vitro* selection – an overview of the recent progress. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 71, 89–98.
- 55 Traczynski, M.C., Jensen, R.G., and Bohnert, H.J. (1993) Stress protection of transgenic tobacco by production of the osmolyte mannitol. *Science*, 259, 508–510.
- 56 Grover, X., Pareek, A., Singla, S.L., Minhas, D., Katiyar, S., Ghawana, S., Dubey, H., Agarwal, M., Rao, G.U., Rathee, J., and Grover, A. (1998) Engineering crops for tolerance against abiotic stresses through gene manipulation. *Curr. Sci.*, 75, 689–696.
- 57 Valliyodan, B. and Nguyen, H.T. (2006) Understanding regulatory networks and engineering for enhanced draught tolerance in plants. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, 9, 189–195.
- 58 Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Vadez, V., and Sharma, K.K. (2008) Transgenic approaches for abiotic stress tolerance in plants: retrospect and prospects. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 27, 411–424.
- 59 Yamaguchi, T. and Blumwald, E. (2005) Developing salt-tolerant crop plants: challenges and opportunities. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 10, 615–620.
- 60 Patnaik, J. and Debata, B.K. (1997) *In vitro* selection of NaCl tolerant callus lines of *Cymbopogon martinii* (Roxb.) Wats. *Plant Sci.*, 124, 203–210.
- 61 Patnaik, J. and Debata, B.K. (1997) Regeneration of plantlets from NaCl tolerant callus lines of *Cymbopogon*

martinii (Roxb.) Wats. Plant Sci., 128, 67–74.

- 62 Mascarenhas, A.F., Nadgir, A.L., Thengane, S.R., Phadke, C.H., Khuspe, S.S., Shirgurkar, M.V., Parasharami, V.A., and Nadgauda, R.S. (1990) Potential application of tissue culture for propagation of *Dendrocalamus strictus*, in *Bamboos: Current Research* (eds I.V.R. Rao, R. Gnanaharan, and C.B. Sastry), Proceedings of International Bamboo Workshop, Cochin, Kerala Forest Research Institute/International Development Research Centre, Peechi/Ottawa, pp. 159–166.
- 63 Huang, L.C., Huang, B.L., and Chen, W.L. (1989) Tissue culture investigations of bamboo. IV. Organogenesis leading to adventitious shoots and plants in excised shoot apices. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 29, 307–315.
- 64 Mukunthakumar, S. and Mathur, J. (1992) Artificial seed production in the male bamboo *Dendrocalamus strictus* L. *Plant Sci.*, 87, 109–113.
- **65** Chaturvedi, H.C., Sharma, M., and Sharma, A.K. (1993) *In vitro* regeneration of *Dendrocalamus strictus* Nees through nodal segments taken from field-grown culms. *Plant Sci.*, **91**, 97–101.
- 66 Ravikumar, R., Ananthakrishnan, G., Kathiravan, K., and Ganapati, A. (1998) *In vitro* shoot propagation of *Dendrocalamus strictus* Nees. *Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult.*, 52, 189–192.
- 67 Singh, M., Jaiswal, U., and Jaiswal, V.S. (2003) *In vitro* selection of NaCl-tolerant callus lines and regeneration of plantlets in a bamboo (*Dendrocalamus strictus* Nees.). *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Plant*, 39, 229–233.

Section IIIB Leguminosae
14 Groundnut: Genetic Approaches to Enhance Adaptation of Groundnut (*Arachis Hypogaea*, L.) to Drought

R.C. Nageswara Rao, M.S. Sheshshayee, N. Nataraja Karaba, Rohini Sreevathsa, N. Rama, S. Kumaraswamy, T.G. Prasad, and M. Udayakumar

Abstract

Groundnut or peanut is grown as an oilseed or food crop in more than 100 countries under diverse agroclimatic conditions. About 80% of the world's groundnut is grown in drylands of semiarid tropics that experience erratic droughts and high temperature variability. The impending climate change characterized by an increase in frequency and severity of droughts and elevated temperatures has accentuated negative impacts on the groundnut productivity. Therefore, it is essential to put in place genetic and management interventions in an environmentally sustainable manner to combat negative impacts of climate change. The chapter focuses on the abiotic constraints to groundnut production and describes the current understanding of the crop improvement, under each chapter, with reference to enhancing the adaptive capacity of groundnut to the targeted abiotic stresses.

A significant progress has been made in characterizing the genetic variability for various adaptive traits in cultivated "tetraploid" groundnut. Conceptual approaches tested have demonstrated the potential for trait-based breeding by introgressing discrete components of Passioura's yield model. The existing literature suggest that success of crop improvement for drought by introgression of several traits can be achieved through exploiting the existing genetic variability, identification, and characterization of most relevant traits and genes from the germplasm collections and promising trait donor wild races. However, the introgression of multiple traits of interest through conventional breeding has been slow, costly, and laborious due to a lack of rapid and cost-effective selection tools. Recent advances in DNA technologies have opened up novel opportunities to enable marker-assisted selection and breeding in a number of crops. Besides, transgenics technology has emerged as an alternative option for trait pyramiding. However, the challenge in groundnut has been to generate genomic resources to utilize them in molecular breeding program. This chapter provides insights into current research knowledge on the

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

© 2012 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

groundnut crop improvement for drought adaptations and a few potential options, which are promising for challenges to be addressed.

14.1 Introduction

14.1.1 Importance of Groundnut

Groundnut or peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*) is an annual legume grown in over 100 countries between 40°N and 40°S, under diverse agroclimatic conditions. Groundnut kernel is the most economically important commodity with an oil content of 50% and protein content of 25%. Other parts of groundnut plant (stems and foliage) are economically important as hay for livestock, while the by-products of oil extraction, that is, shells, peanut meal, and residues, are used either as livestock feed or as fertilizer in crop husbandry. Groundnut being a leguminous plant, it can fix atmospheric N (up to 300 kg N/ha) and crop residues incorporated into soil can potentially contribute up to 120 kg N/ha.

Groundnut kernel is a prime source of cooking oil in many Asian and African countries. However, groundnut is also an important source of vegetable protein in addition to 30 essential nutrients (niacin, folate, fiber, magnesium, vitamin E, manganese, and phosphorus). The use of groundnut kernels and its value-added products such as peanut butter and snack food is on the rise due to growing vegetarianism and demand for healthy foods. More recently, groundnut has been identified as a source of reservatrol, an antioxidant linked with antiaging effects, reduced cardiovascular disease, and reduced cancer risk. It is reported that about 73 µg of reservatrol is available in 1 ounce of eaten groundnut [1].

Despite multiple benefits of groundnut and its products, some human health concerns of groundnut are viewed seriously [2]. Consumption and exposure to groundnut/by-products can cause mild to severe allergic reactions or fatal anaphylactic shock [3]. Aflatoxin (AF) contamination of groundnut that occurs under drought and elevated temperature conditions is yet another serious health risk for humans. Aflatoxin is a carcinogenic, immune-suppressing, and antinutritional natural contaminant produced in a number of crops including groundnut. It is produced in the kernels infected by Aspergillus flavus or Aspergillus parasiticus soil fungi under prolonged water deficit and elevated temperature regimes. The worldwide increase in the incidence of hepatitis B and hepatitis C virus is increasing the importance of aflatoxin as a potential health risk since the toxin is implicated in predisposing people who ingest large quantities of aflatoxin to liver diseases. These health concerns are driving a desire to significantly decrease the levels of aflatoxin allowed in foods worldwide. Research efforts are currently directed to develop varieties resistant to aflatoxin production and also adaptation to drought conditions.

14.1.2 Origin and Diversity

The groundnut originated in the region of Southern Bolivia and Northern Argentina [4–6]. The first domestication of the groundnut is believed to have been in the valleys of the Parana and the Paraguay River Basins of the Gran Chao area in South America. Early European explorers found native Indians cultivating the crop in many islands in the Antilles on the northeastern and eastern coasts of Brazil, in all warm regions of the Rio de la Plata basin, extensively in Peru, and sparely in Mexico.

The genus *Arachis* is a member of family Fabaceae (Leguminosae) [7] and it was the only member of the genus when Linnaeus names the cultivated groundnut *A*. *hypogaea*. The taxonomic classification and validation have been described in earlier works [8].

Currently, large numbers of groundnut cultivars are grown across the world with four major cultivar groups, namely, Spanish, runner, Virginia, and Valencia types. These are characterized by their morphological and phenological characteristics [9]. Several of varieties in each type have potential to exploit for their genetic variability and relevant traits amenable for crop improvement for drought tolerance.

14.1.3 Area, Production, and Productivity

Groundnut is grown in most tropical, subtropical, and temperate regions, especially in Africa, Asia, and North and South Americas, between 40°N and 40°S (Table 14.1). In Asia, groundnut is a major crop in China, India, Indonesia, Myanmar, Thailand, and Vietnam. China is currently leading the production of groundnut with a share of about 41.5% of overall world production, followed by India (18.2%) and the United States (6.8%). Interestingly, developing countries account for 96% of the global area under groundnut cultivation contributing 92% to the global production. About 58% of the global groundnut area is in Asia, which contributes 67% to the groundnut production with an annual growth rate of 1.28%, 2.00%, and 0.71% for area, production, and productivity, respectively. But 40% of global groundnut-growing area is in African countries, which contribute 26% of global production.

14.1.4 Major Abiotic Stresses

About 80% of the world's groundnut production comes from dryland regions of the semiarid tropics, where soil fertility is poor and climatic variables such as current rainfall, seasonal temperatures, determine crop productivity [10–13]. In addition to drought and high temperatures, foliar diseases such as leaf spots (*Cercospora arachidicola*) and rust (*Phaeoisariopsis personata*) are also major constraints of groundnut

Country/region	Ar	rea (m/ha)	Yi	eld (m/ha)	Proc	duction (mt)
	2009/ 2010	Projection 2010/2011	2009/ 2010	Projection 2010/2011	2009/ 2010	Projection 2010/2011
China	4.38	4.45	3.36	3.39	14.71	15.1
United States	0.44	0.51	3.83	3.71	1.68	1.89
South Asia						
India	5.3	6	0.92	1	4.9	6
Pakistan	0.11	0.11	0.9	0.9	0.1	0.1
Sub-Saharan Africa	7.8	7.84	0.95		7.39	
Nigeria	1.25	1.25	1.24	1.24	1.55	1.55
Senegal	1.06	1	0.97	1.1	1.03	1.1
Chad	0.35	0.35	1.32	1.32	0.47	0.47
Ghana	0.47	0.47	0.94	0.94	0.44	0.44
Sudan	1	1	0.85	0.85	0.85	0.85
Congo	0.48	0.48	0.78	0.78	0.37	0.37
Burkina	0.35	0.35	1.01	1.01	0.35	0.35
Cameroon	0.31	0.31	0.77	0.77	0.24	0.24
Mozambique	0.29	0.29	0.38	0.38	0.11	0.11
Niger	0.26	0.26	0.42	0.42	0.11	0.11
Mali	0.25	0.25	1.1	1.1	0.28	0.28
Malawi	0.22	0.22	1.2	1.2	0.27	0.27
Uganda	0.21	0.21	0.7	0.7	0.15	0.15
Guinea	0.21	0.21	1.24	1.24	0.26	0.26
Benin	0.16	0.16	0.81	0.81	0.13	0.13
Cote d'Ivoire	0.15	0.15	1	1	0.15	0.15
Central African	0.13	0.13	1.12	1.12	0.14	0.14
Republic						
South Africa	0.06	0.06	2.05	2.09	0.12	0.12
Southeast Asia						
Indonesia	0.75	0.75	1.67	1.67	1.25	1.25
Burma	0.67	0.67	1.49	1.49	1	1
Vietnam	0.25	0.24	2.11	1.99	0.53	0.49
Thailand	0.07	0.07	1.77	1.77	0.12	0.12
South America						
Argentina	0.22	0.27	3.8	3.15	0.84	0.85
Brazil	0.1	0.1	2.47	2.5	0.24	0.25
Egypt	0.06	0.06	3.17	3.17	0.19	0.19
Mexico	0.05	0.05	1.56	1.56	0.07	0.07
Others	0.19	0.19	2.37	2.34	0.44	0.44
World	20.4	21.26	1.64	1.65	33.36	35.12

 Table 14.1
 Area, production, and productivity of groundnut-cultivating countries.

Source: USDA (2010).

productivity. Although subsoil constraints such as pH, salinity, and nutrient disorders occur in some parts of the groundnut-growing regions, drought and temperatures are the most widespread abiotic constraints. The ongoing climate change characterized by an increase in frequency and severity of droughts and elevated temperatures is likely to have major negative impacts on the peanut productivity and food safety. Therefore, it is absolutely essential to put in place genetic and management interventions in an environmentally sustainable manner to combat negative impacts of climate change.

Historical analysis of climate and yield performance suggested that total seasonal rainfall [14] and its distribution [15] are major determinants of groundnut yield in rainfed region. Evidently, among the environmental stresses, water deficit is the most important factor that limits the production of groundnut. Water deficits alone or in combination with elevated temperatures can result in significant crop loss or even crop failures, depending on timing, severity, and duration of the stress.

14.2 Response to Water Deficits at the Crop Level

14.2.1 Effects of Water Deficits on Yield

Considerable information has been reported on the effects of water deficit at different stages of groundnut [16–25]. The yield response can vary considerably depending on the timing of water deficit, genotypes, and growing conditions. While water deficits during preflowering phase can result in yield advantages, water deficits during the reproductive phase can result in significant yield losses (Table 14.2).

14.2.2

Effects of Multiple Water Deficits

Rainfed groundnut can experience water deficits at any or many times during the growth cycle. There is limited information on the effects of multiple droughts on groundnut. Williams *et al.* analyzed effects of 12 different drought patterns that varied both in the duration and the timing of single and multiple drought phases on 22 genotypes [21]. The results showed that occurrence of water deficit during the early phase in crops' life (until shortly after the first flowers had been produced) had improved crops endurance to any subsequent droughts during the reproductive phase. The responses of genotypes to drought were influenced by the timing of drought relative to phenological development and by the yield potential of the genotype under nonstressed conditions. Undoubtedly, early maturing character play an important role in escaping end-of season drought with reasonable yield compared to long season genotypes.

While short episodes of water deficits had little effect on the crop, >90% of the yield variation was attributed to the intensity of drought and cumulative duration of droughts in the crop's life [19]. The negative relationship between the yield

Drought phase	Yield under nonstress condition (kg/ha)	Duration or stage of drought in the crops growing cycle	% Change in yield due to drought	Comments	References
Emergence to flowering	4615– 4720	22–52 DAS	+12.3 to +18.7	30 d of drought with mean temperatures of 22 °C Var. Robut 33-1	[26]
	3258– 4720	7–40 DAS	+12.3 to +34.9	Data from 3 year trial Var. Robut 33-1	[22]
	2420– 3450		-11% to $+56.5%$	Range in 11 genotypes	[25]
Emergence to start of pegging	4615– 4720	43–103 DAS with a recovery irrigation at 73 DAS	-18 to -29%	Two episodes of drought with one single recovery irrigation	[19]
Flowering to pod settling	3130– 5200	Beginning of flowering to harvest	73% to 96%	Var. Robut 33-1 Water supply withheld. Data from two cultivars, Floriman and ASEM	[24]
	4460– 5040	Beginning of flowering to harvest	-48 to -55%	5 mm of water applied thrice weekly during the stress period	[24]
	5165– 7589	36-70 DAS	-15.8% to -26.8%	I	[18]
Pos set to early seed filling	5165– 7589	71-105 DAS	-25.0% to -37.4%	Range from 4 year trials with florunner	[18]
Active seed filling	4615– 4720	93–155 DAS	-23.0% to -68.5%	53 days of end-of- season drought coupled with mean air temperatures above 28 °C	[19]
	5165– 7589		-5.4% to -49.0%	Range from 4 yr trials with florunner	[18]

 Table 14.2
 Effects of droughts at different growth stages on pod yield of groundnut.

potential (yield under nonlimiting conditions) and drought resistance (defined as difference between yield potential and yield achieved under a given drought situation) became stronger as the severity of the end-of season drought increased. These studies have also shown that the yield potential under nonlimiting conditions is highly correlated with yields achieved under some drought patterns (particularly end-of- season droughts), there was no correlation between yield potential under nonstress condition and the yield under mid-season drought that involved renewal of water supply following the drought [19].

The major sources of genotypic variation reported in the literature have been associated with the reproductive physiology, the ability to initiate pods despite water deficit or to recover rapidly when drought was released by irrigation or rain. While these studies enable irrigation management to optimize yield per unit water input, significant genotypic variation in recovery from early and mid-season droughts presents scope for selection of genotypes better adapted to different drought-prone environments and to breed for genotypes with rapid recovering ability and high yield potential under nonlimiting conditions [25, 27].

14.2.3

Effects of Water Deficit at Different Stages of Crop Growth

The water deficits may occur anytime or many times during life cycle of a rainfed groundnut crop as and when soil moisture depleted below a threshold limit and the supply is not renewed. The sensitivity of groundnut plant to water deficit depends on plant's developmental stage at which water deficit occurs. Progressing water deficit typically results in reduction in plant's transpiration by partial or complete stomatal closure. Severe water deficit can drastically reduce photosynthetic rate and therefore carbon assimilation, leading to inhibition of plant growth and developmental processes and biomass accumulation. The following section describes the effects of water deficits at various stages of the plant growth and its implication to the aboveground biomass and economic yield.

14.2.3.1 Germination and Emergence

Seed germination in groundnut is regulated by a combination of dormancy and environmental factors such as light, water, oxygen, and temperature. While the seed dormancy of groundnut is closely associated with taxonomical characteristics [9] and can be released using a plant growth hormone ethylene [28], environmental factors such as soil water and temperature remain the main limiting factors for seed germination. When temperatures are nonlimiting, imbibition of water by the seed under dark conditions will initiate a chain of metabolic processes that trigger germination of the seed. Studies revealed that an average seed moisture of about 35% was necessary for groundnut seed to germinate (seed is defined as germinated when length of radical reaches 2 mm). However, 100% germination in a sample was obtained at about 55–60% average seed moisture [29].

There is not much information on the effect of temperature of imbibed water on germination in groundnut. However, close analogies can be drawn from Refs [30–32], which defined the temperature thresholds for germination of a number of groundnut genotypes (Table 14.3). Results of these studies showed that the base temperature (T_base) ranged from 8 °C to 11.5 °C, optimum (T_opt) from 29.0 °C to 36.5 °C and maximum (T_max) from 41 °C to 47 °C for germination. These limits meant that the temperatures of imbibed seeds above

Process	T_base (°C)	T_opt (°C)	T_max (°C)	References
Germination	8–11.6	29–36.5	41–47	[33]
Leaf appearance	10	30		[34]
Leaf photosynthesis		36		
Onset of anthesis	11	29-33	38	[34, 35]
Pollen viability and seed setting		27-32	37–43	[36]
Pod size and pod growth rate		24		
Harvest index		27–32	37–44	[36]

T I I I A	T .	1	r.		1 1 1				
1 able 14.3	Temperature	limits of	r various	growth an	a aeveio	pmental	processes i	n groi	unanut

or below the T_opt can affect the germination and the ambient temperatures near or above T_max may inhibit germination of the seed under well-watered conditions. The significant genotypic difference in the ability to tolerate supra and suboptimal temperatures in groundnut presents scope for improving genotypic adaptation to temperatures.

However, groundnut seed germination and emergence in the field are two separate processes. The emergence in field is the combined effect of seed germination and emergence of the seedling out of soil, which is an important factor contributing to plant stand and subsequently plant density in the field. While seed germination is governed by microenvironment factors immediately around the seed, the seedling emergence in the field can be influenced by other soil-related constraints such as soil texture, structure, and bulk density, and pH, which sometimes may override the environmental factors and vigor of germinating seed.

14.2.3.2 Vegetative Phase

Severe water deficits during vegetative phase reduce leaf and stem growth through effects on stomatal conductance and photosynthesis. A number of independent studies have shown positive effects of mild water deficits during the preflowering phase on pod yield [19, 20, 25] and hence warrant some discussion.

Detailed crop growth analysis conducted on a Spanish genotype "Robut 33-1" suggested that water deficit after seedling emergence until the first-flower appearance followed by adequate water supply through the crops life triggered a number of changes in developmental processes such as increase in leaf area, reduced main stem elongation, increased peg numbers penetrated into soil, and more mature pods per unit land area. These changes in turn led to yield benefits compared to a crop that received regular irrigation [26].

Puangbut *et al.* investigated effects of preflowering drought on 11 genotypes and found that improved yield under preflowering drought was associated with increased root growth nodulation, and N fixation [25, 37]. Interestingly, the increase in root length density of groundnut at soil depths below 30 cm in response to the imposed water deficits was not observed in other legume crops such as soybean or pigeonpea [38]. The maintenance of leaf water status, partial stomatal conductance, and nitrogenase activity by groundnut during soil water deficits compared to the

other legumes was attributed to greater density of roots in the lower depths of the soil profile (see Section 14.2.4.3 for more details).

14.2.3.3 Reproductive Phase

Water deficits during the reproductive phase, depending on the severity, can drastically reduce the economic yield. Water deficits during flowering phase can result in reduction in flower number [31] or delay in time to flower [39]. However, since only up to 20% of flowers result in pods that contribute to final yield, a reduction in flower number due to water deficits rarely influence yield [20]. Groundnut, with an indeterminate growth habit, can compensate for reduced flower numbers under water deficits by producing flush of fresh flowers once the water deficit has been alleviated through irrigation or rain [26, 40]. Likewise, water deficits during pegging affect yield primarily by reducing pod number [17, 41, 42] unless sufficient water supply is resumed (upon release of drought) to allow carbon assimilation and supply to fill kernels [40].

The subterranean fruiting habit of groundnut makes it sensitive to soil water deficits occurring during pod filling in two ways: (a) by affecting plant water status (and thus carbon assimilation) through depletion of soil water in the root zone, and (b) by directly affecting the pod growth independent of root zone moisture when podding zone (to a depth of 5–7 cm from soil surface) is dry. The podding and rooting zones effects may not be always readily separable as root hair would also be present on the root in the podding zone. However, dry podding zone soil despite the presence of plentiful subsoil moisture in deeper zone is of common occurrence under rainfed conditions as well as under poor irrigation management conditions, where water requirements of plants during pod filling phase are met solely by subsoil moisture.

The water deficits in pod zone can also affect calcium uptake by pods [43]. It is well established that calcium is passively absorbed by developing pods directly from the pod zone soil solution as calcium uptake by roots is not usually available for pod growth and development [44, 45]. However, cultivar variation in reproductive development under water deficit [32] and calcium uptake [46] suggest scope for varietal improvement to minimize effects of pod zone water deficits during pod filling.

There are also some indirect effects of water deficits on the peg and pod development in groundnut. Groundnut pegs are positively geotropic and can penetrate up to 7 cm deep in the soil to allow normal pod development. In soils with high clay content, even mild water deficits can present a physical barrier for the peg penetration and growth of penetrated pegs [47]. Thus, the subterranean fruiting habit of groundnut adds another layer of complexity in understanding and managing the effects of water deficits.

14.2.4

Effects of Water Deficits on Some Physiological Processes

The yield reduction under water deficits is directly related to inability of roots to supply water needed for a series of physiological processes like photosynthesis,

stomatal conductance, and plant–water relations resulting in a negative impact on plant growth and development [48]. The ongoing climate variability is likely to accentuate the negative impacts of droughts and high temperatures. In order to improve adaptation of groundnut to water-limited environments, it is essential to understand the interactions of water deficits with temperature, and their effects on the physiological processes leading to yield formation.

14.2.4.1 Water Deficit and Temperature Interaction

The importance of water to plant growth was recognized by prehistoric farmers because irrigation systems already existed in Egypt, Babylonia (modern Iraq), India, and China at the beginning of recorded history. The historic evolution of classical concepts, which dates back to seventeenth or eighteenth century, of plant–water relations can be appreciated from a number of review articles [49, 50].

As the understanding of the influence of environmental factors on crop production improved with time, it became possible to quantify the water deficits and distinguish between effects of other environmental stresses such as high or low temperatures and soil and atmospheric stresses on plant–soil–water relations, plant growth, and yield.

Even under the best crop husbandry, crops can fail to achieve their genetic potential because of environmental constraints. Improvements in crop adaptation to environmental stresses with eventual higher crop yield can be attained if the specific environmental constraints for yield reduction are identified and resolved through either or combination of genetic enhancement and management approaches.

The main environmental variables, saturation vapor pressure deficit, ambient temperatures, and irradiance, have profound interactions and influence sensitivity of plants to water deficit significantly. In many climatic conditions, these variables are closely coupled to the plant water status, which is a function of soil water availability. It is usually impossible to control these parameters effectively in the field, so most of the physiological studies on these variables have been restricted to controlled environments.

While water deficit is the main theme of the chapter, the interactions of water deficits with temperature cannot be ignored as it can accentuate negative impacts of water deficit [51]. Several aspects of plant growth regulation are affected when the ambient air and soil surface temperature exceeds 40 °C in the crop environment. In fact, the subterranean fruiting habit of groundnut renders it more sensitive to high soil temperatures even under well-watered conditions [36, 52]. It is necessary to interpret water deficit effects in conjunction with temperature limits as the ambient temperatures below or above the optimum range would confound the effects on water deficits. As described earlier, sub-or supraoptimal temperatures can limit plant growth and development even under nonlimiting water conditions (Table 14.3).

Varaprasad *et al.* [36] concluded that while increasing CO_2 levels increased leaf photosynthesis and seed yield, there are no beneficial interactions between elevated CO_2 and temperature, and that seed yield of peanut will decrease under future

warmer climates, particularly in regions where present temperatures are near or above optimum [36].

14.2.4.2 Water Uptake and Plant-Water Relations

The ability of plants to mine stored water from deeper soil layer is an important mechanism to sustain plant growth and development. Short episodes of water deficit during the early vegetative stage are known to promote root growth in ground-nut [19, 23], however, prolonged and severe water deficit can reduce root growth rate [53]. Rucker *et al.* reported that groundnut genotypes with large root system were able to tolerate drought conditions better than those with small root systems [54]. A strong correlation between root and shoot dry weight has also been reported in groundnut [27]. Puangbuti *et al.* [25] found that genotypes with large root systems were able to recover faster when water supply is renewed by irrigation or rain [25].

Under drought stress, deep root system can be an adaptive strategy to sustain prolonged period of water deficits. In groundnut, root length density (RLD) (root length per unit volume of soil) was found to increase in lower soil profiles [55] highlighting adaptive nature of the crop to drying soils. However, genotypes with increased greater RLD in deeper soil profiles showed smaller reduction in pod yield and HI under water deficit conditions [56]. Maintaining root growth and manipulating root distribution to access water from deep soil layers seem to be two important drought avoidance mechanisms in groundnut that could be further explored for identifying genotypes with resilience against droughts.

The water status of plants represents an integration of a number of variables such as atmospheric demand, soil water potential, rooting density, and distribution and therefore is a true measure of water deficit in plants [57]. The water status of plant has been defined in terms of leaf relative water content and leaf water potential or its components, that is, osmotic and turgor potential [50]. A detailed review by Wright and Nageswara Rao describes the use of these parameters to define the water deficit in groundnut [58].

A number of studies have reported significant genotypic variability in maintenance of leaf water potential and stomatal conductance under diverse water availability situations [59–61]. Clavel *et al.* [62] identified two different plant–water relation strategies to cope with water deficit in groundnut. The first strategy was characterized by delayed stomatal closure and low cell membrane damage during drought. Genotypes with these characters had ability to maintain high water uptake even under water deficit conditions. In the second strategy, genotypes maintained higher RWC by early stomatal closure. However, genotypes with these two divergent strategies produced similar yield.

14.2.4.3 N Fixation

Nitrogen is vitally important for leaf area development and photosynthesis in all legumes including groundnut. The symbiotic nitrogen fixation by the *Bradyrhizobium* bacteria present in root nodules is the most significant natural pathway for the introduction of atmospheric nitrogen into the plant. The ability of groundnut to

fix atmospheric nitrogen reduces the need for chemical fertilizer inputs and provides important economic and environmental benefits [63, 64]. Nitrogen fixation activity in groundnut has been assessed using various indirect measurements such as nodule weight and number, biomass production, shoot dry weight, and nitrogenase activity using acetylene reduction assay [65, 66].

A number of studies revealed that N fixation is extremely sensitive to soil water deficits [66–68]. Several mechanisms have been proposed to describe effects of drought on N fixation by legumes: (a) reduced carbon supply, (b) shortage of oxygen, (c) feedback regulation of nitrogen accumulation, and (d) oxidative stress damage at cellular level. These processes individually or collectively affect the nitrogenase activity in the nodule [68–72]. Nitrogenase activity has been shown to be severely reduced as leaf and nodule water potentials decreased below –1.4 Mpa [38]. Changes in leaf turgor pressure could cause rapid changes in nodule activity and thus N fixation, which could explain the sensitivity of N fixation in drying soils [73]. In comparison to photosynthesis, N fixation process is more sensitive to water deficits [74, 75].

Significant genotypic variation in N fixation was found under irrigated as well as water deficit conditions. Although biomass production under the imposed drought was not significantly different, significant genotypic variation was observed for N fixation [66]. Sinclair *et al.* reviewed relative merits of various methods used to measure N fixation and suggested that nitrogenase activity can be expressed as a function of plants transpiration [65].

There is limited information on the link between transpiration and N fixation under progressive soil drying cycles. Devi *et al.* reported significant genotypic variation in N fixation in progressively drying soil [76]. While N fixation decreased rapidly after a threshold level of fractional available soil water (FASW), there was a significant variation among genotypes in the threshold FASW at which N fixation started to decrease. Substantial variation in the FTSW threshold for transpiration was previously reported for these genotypes [77].

14.2.4.4 Photosynthesis and Transpiration

Photosynthesis and transpiration are critical for plant's growth and development. Both the physiological processes are mediated simultaneously by stomatal pores present in the epidermal layers of leaf. Groundnut has stomata on both sides of the leaf. While there exists a significant genotypic variation in the density and size of stomata in groundnut [78], there is little information about the significance of this "amphistomatal" characteristic in adaptation of groundnut. Studies have shown that two-thirds of the groundnut leaf's total net photosynthesis accounts for diffusion of CO_2 through the adaxial leaf surface, which explains the high photosynthetic efficiency of groundnut compared to certain other C_3 species [79].

The saturation vapor pressure deficit (the difference between saturated vapor pressure at an air temperature and actual vapor pressure) is a principal mediator of CO_2 and water vapor exchange through the stomata and thus a major determinant of potential rates of evaporation and photosynthesis. Controlled environment studies have shown that stomatal conductance of well-watered groundnut plants can be

affected strongly by changes in saturation deficit. The response was stronger at higher irradiances when variations in saturation deficit between 1.5 and 3.0 kPa caused three–fourfold changes in leaf conductance [80]. However, the stomatal conductance was greatly reduced or absent under severe water deficits and accompanied with high saturation deficits. A number of studies have found that both time of the day and plant water status influence both gas exchange and the stomatal conductance resulting in a tight inverse relationship between the rate of photosynthesis (p_n) and stomata conductance (C_s) in groundnut [22, 81, 82].

Groundnut crops under semiarid environments can experience stomatal closure very frequently (usually during midday) when saturation vapor pressure deficit can often exceed 3 kPa and thus potentially limiting period of active photosynthesis during the growing cycle [22]. Prolonged water deficits coupled with high temperatures can progressively reduce the duration of active gas exchange through stomata affecting growth and developmental processes. However, the rapid and complete recovery to normal stomatal conductance following renewal of water supply following severe stress has been widely reported in groundnut [37, 38, 83]. This capacity to recover rapidly to normal transpiration and CO₂ assimilation represents an important mechanism underpinning the adaptive response of groundnut.

A number of studies have investigated diurnal trends, effects of ambient temperature, irradiance, and plant and leaf water status on net photosynthesis and stomatal conductance and reported a significant genotypic variation [38, 79, 81–84]. However, there is limited published information on the water deficits affecting the net photosynthesis in groundnut at canopy level.

Although CO_2 assimilation integrated over the whole season accounts for more than 90% of dry matter production is, studies in many crops have failed to establish a convincing evidence for a relationship between the instantaneous measurement of photosynthesis and crop's performance. However, in case of groundnut, Bhagsari and Brown [81] using instantaneous assays of photosynthesis for extended periods of sampling throughout the day demonstrated that the cultivated groundnut had a higher net photosynthesis (range 18–30 mg $CO_2/dm^{2-}/h$) and high translocation rates compared to the *Arachis* wild species (range 11–26 mg CO_2). Variations of up to 100% in photosynthetic rates per unit leaf area and heterosis for this trait have been reported in groundnut genotypes [81, 82, 85–87].

Although these studies present a good example to demonstrate scope for crop improvement using Pn, there is a lack of published information on how Pn at plant level influence the crop productivity. Zelitch reviewed complexities in extending instantaneous measurements of photosynthesis to crop performance and suggested scope for increasing the rates of net photosynthesis per unit leaf area, translocation, and enlarging the storage capacity by selection to bring yield improvements, especially in C_3 species [88].

14.2.4.5 Partitioning of Dry Matter to Pods and Harvest Index

The water deficits during reproductive growth phase also impact partitioning of assimilates to pods depending on the genotypes and duration of stress [19, 26, 40, 89, 90]. Earlier studies in groundnut concluded that translocation of

assimilates to pods occurs only from leaves and there is no remobilization of assimilates from other storage organs such as stem and roots. These conclusions were based on the observations that the partitioning ratio (PR – ratio of pod growth rate to crop growth rate adjusted for high-energy content) was always less than 100% [33, 91]. However, Bell [32], Chapman [35], and Wright *et al.* [89] reported evidence for remobilization in groundnut with PR in excess of 100% in some cultivars growing under water deficits during pod filling phase.

Although not related directly, water deficits can affect soil nutrient availability, especially calcium and boron, which in turn influence kernel growth and quality [92]. Calcium especially is distinct from other major nutrients in that it is largely phloem-immobile and enters the kernel through outer shell wall of pod mainly by direct diffusion from the soil and there is little downward redistribution of Ca after transpiration-driven uptake through the xylem [93]. Water deficits in the pod zone can thus directly influence pod and seed development in groundnut plants that otherwise have adequate water status as a result of water uptake from lower depths in the root zone [43].

14.2.5

Effects of Water Deficit on Seed Quality

End-of season water deficits can also negatively impact nutritive value and food safety of groundnut. The effect of water deficits on some of the kernel quality and food safety factors is described in the following sections.

14.2.5.1 Protein

Protein constitutes up to 18–23% [94] in groundnut kernel and values of up to 36% have been reported [95] with protein content increasing as the seed matures. Water deficits occurring during seed filling phase would affect the seed filling and thus interfere with protein accumulation [96, 97].

14.2.5.2 Oil Content and Quality

Total oil content of mature groundnut kernel may range from 42% to 54% depending on the genotype and environmental conditions [94, 98]. An important factor associated with groundnut oil quality is the "peroxidase value," which is used as a measure of unsaturation of the oil. Groundnut oil is made of 12 free fatty acids with oleic and linoleic acids accounting for more than 80% of the total oil [95]. The degree of unsaturation of groundnut oil is almost entirely due to the ratio of oleic and linoleic acid content, which is generally expressed as oleic/linoleic acid ratio. Conventional groundnut varieties grown for oil purposes typically contain 50% of oleic and 35% of linoleic acids. However, recent breeding efforts have been successful in developing genotypes with high oleic acid (>85% compared to 50% in normal types) and low linoleic acid <5% compared to >35% in normal types) [99]. The dramatic change in the oleic/linoleic acid ratio meant significantly better shelflife for high oleic groundnut and groundnut products (3–15 times longer) compared to regular groundnut cultivars.

The information on the effects of water deficits on fatty acid composition in groundnut has been inconsistent. Holaday and Pearson demonstrated highly significant effects of seasonal temperatures, location, and varieties on oil production from commercial production areas with interactions between location and year of production [100]. Dwivedi et al. reported little effect of drought on total oil or oleic acid content, while drought reduced the content of linoleic acid [101]. A recent study reported that there were significant $G \times E$ interactions for O/L ratio for genotypes with low and intermediate O/L ratio (1-3), but not for those with high O/L ratio (22–25) [102]. An analysis of a multilocation study in Australia involving 133 breeding lines over 20 diverse environments revealed significant variation in oil content (ranging from 44 to 55%) and kernel yield (2-8 t/ha) with low G × E for oil content. A lack of relationship between oil content and kernel yield in these studies suggested that selection for high oil content can be achieved without compromising kernel yield [103]. While the genetic potential for oil content is largely untapped, the lack of any correlation between oil content and levels of fatty acid composition [102, 104] suggests that selection for improved (Hi-oleic) fatty acid composition as well as total oil content could be progressed simultaneously. However, it should be noted that water deficits during seed filling can significantly reduce total oil yield of the crop by affecting seed filling and reducing kernel vield.

14.2.5.3 Aflatoxin

Aflatoxins are a group of naturally occurring toxins produced in groundnut (many other nuts including maize) kernels by the common fungi, *A. flavus* and *A. parasiticus*, under specific moisture and temperature regimes. The major aflatoxins of concern are aflatoxin B1 (AFB1), aflatoxin B2 (AFB2), aflatoxin G1 (AFG1), and aflatoxin G2 (AFG2) with AFB1 being predominant and the most toxic. The worldwide increase in the incidence of the hepatitis B and C viruses is increasing the importance of AF as a potential health risk since the toxin is implicated in predisposing people who ingest large quantities of AF to liver diseases and hence their presence in groundnut is heavily monitored and regulated to ensure a safe food supply [105, 106]. Groundnut with aflatoxin level above the minimum regulated limits cannot be used for human consumption where groundnut are consumed as food and therefore represent great economic losses for the groundnut industry [107, 108].

Aflatoxin contamination of groundnut can occur in the field (preharvest) under a severe end-of-season drought stress condition and/or under poor postharvest storage conditions where kernel moisture and temperature are not controlled [109], as shown in Figure 14.1.

In principle, the aflatoxin production in groundnut kernel infected by *A. flavus* or *A. parasiticus* is mainly controlled by kernel water activity, temperature, and maturity of kernel [110]. Groundnut crops experiencing prolonged end-of-season drought coupled with elevated temperatures (22–35 °C) (broken line in Figure 14.1) have greater probability of infection by *A. flavus* and subsequent aflatoxin production. While irrigated groundnut crops are less prone to aflatoxin production (due to



Figure 14.1 Possible risk zones of aflatoxin contamination in crop growth stages in groundnut.

high kernel moistures), the poor postharvest practices (through suboptimal drying) can result in postharvest aflatoxin production. It is beyond the scope of this chapter to go into details of aflatoxin contamination in groundnut.

14.3

Some Physiological Mechanisms Contributing to Drought Tolerance in Groundnut

Relevance of several drought tolerance traits have been described in a number of crops [111–115]. To enhance the effectiveness of trait-based selection, various traits were grouped on the basis of their primary influence on growth as well as secondary influence through modulating some process(es) that contribute to plants' tolerance or resilience. As such traits associated with imparting tolerance, a stress can be categorized as (a) primary traits (constitutive and induced/ acquired); (b) secondary traits; and (c) integrated traits. Primary traits, mostly, are heritable, hence amenable for introgression to elite genotype background. However, characterization of physiological and biochemical mechanisms controlling these traits is complex [116–120]. Moreover, these traits have significant relevance to crop improvement for drought adaptation as they are intrinsic to plant species. In general, traits can be visualized and further classified to indicate their major functions while conferring the drought tolerance:

- Traits associated with cell turgor: Superior water relations: (a) water mining,
 (b) water conservation, and (c) water use efficiency.
- Traits associated with positive carbon balance: (a) Optimum leaf area/light extinction coefficient, (b) stay green, (c) leaf nitrogen, and (d) mesophyll efficiency associated with chloroplast.
- Traits associated with cellular level tolerance (survival and recovery):

 (a) Osmotic adjustment, (b) membrane stability, (c) scavenging of plant cytotoxic 160 compounds including ROS, (d) protein turnover/protein folding, (e) transporters, and (f) pollen viability and sterility.
- 4) **Traits associated with plant type:** (a) Phenology and (b) remobilization of resources.

There are general consensuses among the groups working in this area that drought tolerance of crops can be improved only by bringing together the diverse adaptive mechanisms.

This section summarizes the information available in groundnut on genotypic variations in physiological traits of both constitutive and adaptive nature and their significance in imparting drought tolerance in groundnut.

14.3.1

Water Extraction Efficiency

Water extraction by the plants in general depends on the root mass, length and its distribution in soil. Groundnut genotypes with larger root system were able to maintain higher transpiration efficiency (described in Section 3.2) under water deficit conditions [37, 121]. Groundnut genotypes that showed yield benefits under preflowering drought stress had more root dry weight and root length density in the deeper soil layers compared to nonstress treatments [115]. The root traits have been identified as being constitutive as well as adaptive that can be used as selection criteria for identifying genotypes for limited water availability [50, 122, 123].

Developing varieties with deeper rooting ability is one of the important avenues for improving productivity under wide range of environments where water is available in deep soil layers.

14.3.2 Transpiration Efficiency

While variation in photosynthetic rate (Pn) per unit leaf area represents a measure of carboxylation efficiency, Pn per unit of transpiration (T) at cellular level, dry matter production per unit transpiration at plant level represents a measure of transpiration efficiency (TE). TE at plant level is one such trait that can contribute to productivity under water-limited environments. Erratic droughts and rapidly

contracting aquifers across the world necessitated researchers to look for ways to improve TE of crops.

Two major potential sources of variation in TE are the capacity of leaf mesophyll tissue for photosynthetic carbon fixation and the conductance of water vapor by stomata. A relationship between the ratio of internal to ambient CO₂ pressures (p_i/p_a) and TE in C₃ plants means that any factor affecting stomatal conductance and CO₂ assimilation rate in a disproportionate manner thereby affecting p_i/p_a , will also affect TE [124]. In groundnut, many studies have found that genotypic differences in TE were associated with photosynthetic capacity per unit leaf area rather than stomata1 factors [125, 126]. Studies have shown significant relationships of TE with carbon fixing enzyme "Rubisco" per unit leaf area [127] and chlorophyll density in leaf [128].

Some reviews concluded that the intraspecific variation in groundnut for TE is small and likely to be improved by agronomic management [129, 130]. While some reports reported limited variation for TE under well-watered environments [131]. A number of studies in groundnut reported significant genotypic variation in TE under well-watered as well as water-limited environments (Table 14.4) [19, 37, 125, 126, 131, 132].

In addition to the genotypic variability, environmental conditions and the experimental errors in making accurate measurements of crop transpiration and root dry matter have no doubt contributed to the observed inconsistencies in TE values recorded in independent studies (Table 14.4). For example, pot studies enable accurate measurements of transpiration and root dry matter; however, various parameters such as size of pots and method of imposition of drought may result in rapid changes in root zone and affect plant water status eventual differences in TE values [134, 135].

14.3.3

Surrogate Measures of TE

The discovery of the theoretical basis for the relationship between the discrimination against ¹³C during photosynthesis (Δ) and TE in C₃ plants [124, 136] enabled possibility of using Δ as an indirect measure of TE to overcome problems involved in determination of TE. This theory has been experimentally validated in many independent studies by demonstrating genetic variability for TE as well as by identifying strong correlations between TE and Δ in a number of crop species including groundnut [19, 27, 125, 126, 131]. A review by Wright *et al.* describes various aspects of Δ vis-à-vis TE relationships, including prospects for applying Δ as a surrogate tool for TE in groundnut breeding programs [137].

While carbon isotope discrimination analysis provides an indication of the mean TE, it provides no information about the underlying physiological differences at leaf level that may have caused any differences in TE. For example, reduced leaf internal CO₂ concentrations (p_i) may arise from a reduced stomatal conductance or from an increased intrinsic leaf photosynthetic capacity at any given p_i .

Mean TE (g/kg) (±Std. Dev.) under well- watered condition (TE_NS)	TE (g/kg) (±Std Dev) under water deficit conditions (TE_WD)	Crop growth phase	Comments	Reference
4.99 (±0.48)	1.5 (±0.58)	Vegetative phase	17 genotypes grown in pots under rapidly declining soil water	[76]
2.03 (±0.29)	2.49 (±0.25)	Vegetative phase	11 genotypes grown posts at field capacity or 1/3 available soil water	[37]
1.70 (±0.25)	_	No WD	Two wild and seven cultivated varieties grown in pots	[125]
_	3.08 (±0.28)	33–47 Days approx	318 F3 plants derived from 12 F2 plants grown in pots (2004)	[133]
_	2.14 (±0.12)	34–66 Days approx	318 F3 plants derived from 12 F2 plants grown in pots (2005)	[133]
1.74 (+0.25)	2.12 (±0.22)	Flowering to harvest	Field trial with 13 genotypes maintained at field capacity and 1/3 available water using subsoil drip system	[128]
_	2.59 (±0.54)	Drought imposed from flowering to pod fill with one intermittent irrigation	Four genotypes grown in mini-lysimeters installed in field	[27]
_	2.70 (±0.49)	Continuous drought imposed from flowering to pod fill	Four genotypes grown in mini-lysimeters installed in field	[27]

 Table 14.4
 Transpiration efficiency in groundnut genotypes under variable moisture status.

When the goal is to identify sources of genetic variability for WUE to be utilized in crop breeding programs, it may be desirable to have better understanding of the exact traits underlying the genotypic differences in TE. This understanding may help in making a logical step forward to identify candidate genes to be used to improve drought tolerance.

Studies by Nageswara Rao *et al.* and Arunyanark *et al.* pointed out that the variation in TE is mostly driven by the photosynthetic capacity [127, 128]. However, there is limited published information where known groundnut genotype differences in TE have been fully characterized by quantifying the relative importance of

stomatal versus nonstomatal factors at the leaf and plant level. Cultivar differences in the basis of variation in TE have been identified in soybean [138].

While measurement of Δ is rapid, it may not be feasible to apply this tool in large-scale breeding programs due to economic and technical considerations. A number of surrogate measures for Δ have been reported in groundnut. Wright *et al.* and Nageswara Rao and Wright reported highly significant correlations between specific leaf area (SLA, ratio of leaf area to leaf dry weight) and Δ suggesting that SLA can be used as a surrogate measure of Δ (and hence TE) in groundnut [27, 139]. Since then significant correlations between SLA and specific leaf nitrogen (SLN) [139], SPAD cholorophyll meter reading [127], and chlorophyll density [128] have been reported in groundnut. Although these surrogate traits can be measured easily and cost-effectively, it should be noted that these are significantly influenced by crop and environmental and technical factors such as ambient temperatures [135], plant water status [131], time of sampling, leaf age [127, 140], and the accuracy of the measurement. There is a need for more research to understand the basis of G × E for TE as well as surrogate traits before embarking on using them in a large-scale breeding programs.

14.3.4

Epicuticular Wax

The epicuticular wax layer on the leaf surface acts as the first protective barrier for nonstomatal water loss. It is well established that epicuticular wax content improves water retention in leaves by reducing water loss from leaves in a number of crops such as mulberry [141], oats [142], and wheat [143]. Limited research done in groundnut suggested genotypic variations in epicuticular wax content under moisture deficit conditions, and its implication in water relation and carbon assimilation were reported [144–146]. However, more research is necessary to establish the role of epicuticular wax in drought resistance in groundnut.

14.3.5

Survival under and Recovery from Drought

The ability to survive and rapidly recover from water deficit(s) upon renewal of water supply is an integrated adaptive strategy that depends on a number of primary and secondary drought-tolerant traits. Primary drought-tolerant traits like maintenance of membrane integrity, cell viability, extent of scavenging free radicals and so on influence stress endurance at cellular level and thus survival of plants.

Decrease in chlorophyll content under water deficits has been considered as a typical symptom of oxidative stress and may be the result of pigment photooxidation leading to chlorophyll degradation and damage to chloroplast. Arunyanark *et al.* found a strong relationship between chlorophyll parameters and drought tolerance in groundnut [128]. High constitutive photochemical efficiency and maintenance of functional photosynthetic apparatus are important components of cell level adaptation in groundnut to water deficits [62].

In a screening study among the genetically proximal short-duration groundnut lines, Clavel *et al.* [62] showed a positive relationship between *in vivo* chlorophyll fluorescence and pod yield across varying soil water conditions, indicating that the photochemical response is probably constitutive and could be a potential selection criterion to select genotypes for drought tolerance [62].

It is known that stress-induced imbalance between generation and use of electrons in chloroplast results in overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the system leading to breaking down of membrane structure, DNA prompting the oxidation of amino acid, and proteins eventually resulting in accelerated lipid peroxidation. As part of adaptation, plants have developed ROS detoxification mechanisms that are either enzyme or nonenzyme mediated [147]. Although it is beyond the scope of the chapter to go into details of detoxification mechanisms, it is important to mention that there is growing evidence of higher ROS quenching ability and generation of antioxidants in groundnut [148, 149].

14.3.6

Acquired Thermotolerance

Plants that experience mild stress prior to a lethal stress were found to survive better than those that encountered lethal stress at the first instance. This phenomenon is often referred as "acquired tolerance." The acquired tolerance for abiotic stresses was shown to operate for a range of stresses like salinity, chilling, high temperature, and drought stress [150]. Using the principle of acquired tolerance, a selection procedure called "temperature induction response" (TIR) has been developed and successfully tested for a number of crops such as in finger millets [151], groundnut [152], peas [153], maize [154], and cotton [155]. Several studies found that new proteins are synthesized during the primary stress that might impart tolerance to subsequent and more severe stress [151, 152, 156].

As demonstrated in Table 14.5, a significant genotypic variation for "acquired thermotolerance" exists in groundnut [157]. In addition to significant genotypic variation, the lines with better acquired thermotolerance also showed higher tolerance to moisture deficits in field [156, 158].

S.No	Genotypic response	Susceptible	Moderately tolerant	Tolerant
1.	Range in recovery growth (%)	3-20%	21–40%	41–70%
2.	Mean recovery growth (%)	14.2%	30.5%	52.8%
3.	Number of genotypes	32	50	33

Table 14.5 Genotypic variation	on in 115 ground	nut genotypes in acc	juired thermotolerance.
--------------------------------	------------------	----------------------	-------------------------

Groundnut seedlings were subjected to higher temperatures with a gradual 5 °C increase in the first 4 h (35 °C–1 h + 40 °C–1 h + 45 °C–2 h) followed by lethal temperature (53 °C for 3 h). Later the seedlings were allowed for recovery in growth at 25 °C for 72 h. Tolerance was measured using recovery of root and shoot growth following the release of high temperature stress [159].

Presence of significant variation in acquired thermotolerance in groundnut is promising, although the molecular and physiological mechanisms underlying the genotypic variation warrant further research.

Among the primary traits, the relevant constitutive traits are phenology (early duration), roots, epicuticular wax, stomatal index, and leaf traits like specific leaf area or specific leaf nitrogen are important. Similarly, osmotic adjustment, cytotoxic scavenging mechanisms, and changes in growth hormones especially ABA and protein turnover are also few traits that are relevant to drought tolerance of groundnut.

The secondary traits like leaf water status, canopy temperature, leaf folding, leaf senescence/stay green, and those associated with reproductive efficiency (described in Sections 2.3 and 2.4) are of significance.

14.4

Integration of Physiological Traits to Improve Drought Adaptation of Groundnut

Conventional breeding methods combined with extensive evaluation in multienvironment demonstrated widespread $G \times E$ interactions for most of the agronomic traits. Although breeding for yield improvement has been generally successful [160], the rate of progress has been slow and increasingly becoming costprohibitive [161].

There is a general consensus that further genetic enhancement of crops for improved adaptation is best achieved by trait-based breeding strategies. The relevance of trait-based breeding was first demonstrated in literature [157, 162, 163]. For instance, trait-based breeding in wheat for improving osmotic adjustment [162], ABA [163], and Δ^{13} C [157] substantially improved crop adaptation to water-limited environments.

As part of drought resistance breeding in groundnut, significant progress has been made in developing cultivars with drought "escape" mechanism. This success was possible because the phenotypic trait could be easily and accurately measured in "thermal time" units [164] in target environments (regions with short growing seasons), the trait is governed by a few genes [165], and donor lines are available from cultivated groundnut germplasm pool. In contrast, the progress in combining yield attributes with drought/temperature tolerance traits has been slow. Although physiologists and breeders recognize the importance of introgressing relevant drought adaptive traits, there has been limited research to address this issue.

The simple crop analytical model proposed by Passioura [122], $Y = T \times TE$ and HI, where *Y* is the pod yield, *T* is the transpiration, TE is the ratio of dry matter produced per unit of *T*, and HI is the ratio of pod weight to total dry matter, presents an attractive framework for physiologists and breeders as it allows to dissect and identify germplasm with each of the model traits to stimulate ideas for trait-based breeding.

A large-scale study was undertaken in India and Australia with an aim to compare the empirical versus physiological trait-based breeding approaches in an objective manner [58, 166]. Since this study is one of its kind in the groundnut breeding programs, the results are discussed in some detail in this chapter. Significant genotypic variability has been reported for traits related to transpiration [58, 121, 167], transpiration efficiency [27, 37, 121, 168], and HI [58, 169, 170]. Earlier studies also reported positive correlations between TE and total dry matter [58, 171] as well as negative association between TE and HI traits in groundnut [172].

Identification of surrogates for TE such as carbon isotope discrimination [58, 125], specific leaf area [139], and SPAD chlorophyll meter reading [127, 173] enabled studies on the heritability parameters of model traits as well as on the feasibility of using TE surrogates as the indirect selection criteria in large-scale groundnut breeding programs [121, 174, 175]. Further development of a "Selection Index" enabled simultaneous selection for high levels of *T*, TE, and HI traits without compromising on yield [169, 176].

A large-scale comparative assessment of the trait-based and empirical selection approaches was made for the first time in groundnut. A set of 192 $F_{2:6}$ progenies derived from using common parents but progressed through empirical versus trait-based selection approaches were evaluated in 12 diverse environments [161, 166] to compare the efficiency of selection approaches. The study provided critical insight into utility of both direct and indirect (trait-based) selection methods to identify genotypes with up to 30% yield advantage over local checks. It further suggested that parental selection was the most critical step compared to the selection methods that followed in advancing the progenies. While the physiological trait-based selection index approach did not demonstrate an overall superiority over empirical approach [161], the study demonstrated that selection for TE was possible in the large-scale breeding programs [166].

The efficiency of trait-based approach (Tr) *vis-à-vis* empirical approach (Em) in breeding for kernel yield was estimated using the genetic concept of response to selection, computed as

 $\operatorname{RE}\operatorname{Tr} = R\operatorname{Tr}/R\operatorname{Em},$

where $R\text{Tr} = i\text{Tr} h\text{Tr} \sigma G\text{Tr}$ is the response to selection under Tr, and $R\text{Em} = i\text{Em} \cdot h\text{Em} \cdot \sigma G\text{Em}$ is the response to selection under Em.

Then the efficiency of Tr relative to Em is given as

RE Tr = {
$$i$$
 Tr/ i Em}{ h Tr/ h Em}{ σ G Tr/ σ G Em} = { h Tr/ h Em}{ σ G Tr/ σ G Em}
for i Tr = i Em

where *i* is the selection intensity, h^2 is the heritability, and σG^2 is the genetic variance. For selection method Tr to be superior to Em, RETr value should exceed 1. The relative efficiency values for different selection environments are given in Table 14.6.

An average RETr of 1.045 (close to 1) meant that both selection methods were equally efficient in identifying genotypes with high kernel yield across 12 diverse environments (Table 14.6). However, when 12 environments were grouped into 2 major clusters based on the growing season, that is, rainy season (Rf) and postrainy season (PR or PRM), and RE Tr was reanalyzed, it was clear that trait-based

Environment	RE Tr
ATP_Rf	0.742
ICR_Rf_IR	0.834
ICR_Rf	1.495
JAL_Rf	1.155
JUN-Rf	1.286
TIR_Rf	0.937
UDA_Rf	0.961
ICR_PR	1.254
ICR_PRM	0.612
JAL_PR	0.961
JUNPR	1.154
TIR_PR	1.103
Average	1.045

 Table 14.6
 Relative efficiency (RE of trait-based (Tr) vis-á-vis empirical selection (Em) for kernel yield in F2–F6 progenies in 12 environments in India.

After Ref. [161].

selection method (Tr) was more efficient (RETr = 1.227) in rainy season environments but not in post-rainy season (RETr of 0.655) [161]. Rainy season selection environments are typically characterized by unpredictable dry spells with high evaporative demands, while post-rainy environments are more predictable with managed irrigation and progressively increasing temperatures and high vapor pressure deficits as the crop progressed to maturity.

The environments were also characterized by assessing dynamic changes in the plant-extractable water during the season using the computer-simulated modeling approach [177]. In this approach, a crop simulation model (APSIM-groundnut) is used in conjunction with crop management records (planting and harvest dates, and variety), daily climate records (rainfall, solar radiation, and air temperatures), and site-specific soil properties to simulate status of plant extractable soil water on daily basis. This information obviously is site, season, and crop specific and thus enabled defining the water availability pattern experienced by the crop in a given environment. This approach has been used widely to characterize growing environments using historical climate records [178]. Using the above approach, 12 growing environments could be grouped into 4 clusters (Figure 14.2) [108].

An analysis of RETr for each of the four clusters clearly showed that the trait-based selection was consistently superior to empirical selection in those environments that experienced depleting water availability as the season progressed (RETr values ranged from 1.15 to 1.49) (Figure 14.2a–c). In contrast, the trait-based selection approach was ineffective (RETr = 0.61) (Figure 14.2d) in the environments that experienced a typical mid-season drought followed by renewed water supply to the crop.

The major outcome of the study described above is summarized below:



Figure 14.2 Effects of drought patterns (expressed as seasonal changes in plant extractable soil water P_Esw) on efficiency of trait-based selection approach in breeding for drought resistance in groundnut.

- There is a strong evidence for genotypic variation for the Passioura model traits in groundnut germplasm and selection tools can be used to identify parents for use in drought resistance breeding programs.
- The physiological traits, particularly TE, can be assessed rapidly using cost-effective tools, while the rapid measurement of other traits *T* and HI still remain a challenge.
- The plant's ability to maintain *T* is necessary to capitalize on high TE trait in order to produce total dry matter, and hence developing easily measurable traits for root efficiency is necessary
- It is possible to select for TE and HI simultaneously.
- Characterizing the target environment is necessary to achieve higher genetic gains in groundnut breeding programs. The environments with characteristic bimodel rainfall (resulting in mid-season drought followed by renewed water supply), require a different selection strategy (such as selecting for rapid recovery responses).

Based on the foregoing discussions, a comprehensive analysis of the other relevant drought adaptive traits besides those associated with transpiration and water use efficiency is necessary. For instance, the traits associated with water conservation and cellular level tolerance on dehydration is relevant.

Such a comprehensive conceptual framework forms the basis for a long-term strategic approach to improve groundnut productivity under drought. This necessitates generating required crop-specific genetic and genomic resources, besides developing strategies to integrate the traits.

14.5 Status of Genomic Resources in Groundnut

14.5.1

Marker Resources in Groundnut

Initial investigations on molecular diversity were based on markers like RAPD AFLP [179]. Most of the reported works using these PCR-based markers generally concluded that cultivated groundnut has little molecular diversity [177, 180-182]. Being dominant in nature, such markers were realized to have little utility in a polyploid species like groundnut. Singh et al. proposed that the cultivated groundnut indeed has considerable molecular diversity and emphasized the need for the development of genomic resources to capture molecular diversity [183]. Accordingly, several research groups have attempted to develop codominant marker systems such as SSRs in groundnut [184]. While generation and analysis of expressed sequence tags (EST) formed one approach, development of SSRenriched libraries is being adopted to identify genomic SSR markers as the second approach [185, 186]. He et al. identified genomic SSR markers in groundnut and demonstrated the existence of polymorphism among cultivated groundnut [187]. Subsequently, several successful attempts have been made to develop genomic SSR markers [179, 181, 188-192]. These markers have been used to assess molecular diversity among cultivated groundnuts [193, 194]. The genic and genomic SSR resources developed for groundnut that is available in public data base are summarized in Table 14.7.

SSR type	Identification strategy	No. validated	Reference
Genic	ESTs (1350)	44	[195]
	ESTs (8785)	188	[196]
	ESTs (14432)	290	[197]
	ESTs (24 238)	881	[198]
	ESTs (1200)	94	[197]
Genomic	Enrichment	56	[199]
	Enrichment	226	[189]
	Enrichment	123	[200]
	In silico comparison of other related species	51	[201]

 Table 14.7
 Genic and genomic SSR marker resources for groundnut (A. hypogaea).

Recently genomic resources from other related leguminous species such as lotus, medicago, soybean, and cowpea have also been used with significant success [194, 201].

14.5.2

Drought-Specific ESTs Libraries in Groundnut

In the absence of genome sequence information, generation of EST database representing drought-specific genes will be more rewarding. Expressed sequence tags is an effective genomic approach for rapid identification of expressed genes and has been widely used for gene discovery in various tissues, developmental stages, or under different environmental conditions. A cDNA library was constructed for groundnut experiencing water deficit by suppression subtractive hybridization approach. The transcript levels of flavonol 3-O-glucosyl-transferase (F30GT) gene identified in this library showed significant increase under stress [202].

A large number of ESTs have been created in peanut by different researchers for various tissues subjected to both abiotic and biotic stress (Table 14.8). One library catalogs the genes expressed in a wild species of *Arachis (A. stenosperma;* 6264 ESTs) under control conditions [196]. A number of ESTs have been created to understand the molecular basis of host resistance to aflatoxin contamination for developing seeds [203–207], to establish biotechnological platform for peanut germplasm [208], and to identify simple sequence repeats (SSR) for marker development [198, 209, 210].

Govind *et al.* [214] created an EST library to identify, isolate, and characterize the genes expressed during gradual drought stress acclimation in peanut [214]. Subtractive cDNA library was created and nearly 700 genes were identified. The overrepresented stress-induced clones were broadly classified into several functional categories involved in (a) metabolism: photosynthesis (4.3%), amino acid metabolism (2.3%), carbohydrate metabolism (3.4%), nucleic acid metabolism (1.4%), fatty acid metabolism (1.4%), metal handling related (2.9%), energy related (1.4%), and secondary metabolism (1.4%); (b) cellular processes: cell cycle (1.7%), protein synthesis (4.9%), posttranslational process related (4.9%), protein degradation (6.9%); (c) protecting cellular structures:biotic stress (3.1%), abiotic stress (11.7%), oxidative stress (2.0%); and (d)regulators: regulation of transcription (8.3%), hormone regulated (3.4%) (Figure 14.3).

Expression studies indicated the upregulation of auxin-induced genes (ARP), signaling cascade genes like kinases (CDPK and MAPKK), transcription factors, chaperons (LEAs and HSPs), aquaporin-related genes, ADH, praline-rich proteins, PR proteins, metallothioneins, and so on.

Some of the novel genes identified have been functionally validated by overexpression and downregulation studies. Virus-induced gene silencing (VIGS) was adopted to characterize some of the ESTs in *Nicotiana benthamiana* due to lack of efficient transformation system in groundnut [215]. Overexpression of early

	רטו בטוס פרווכומורת ווו ארמוומו	a) american approactica.		
Cultivar	Purpose and tissue used	Protocol adopted	Number of ESTs submitted and year	References
A. hypogaea (063 103)	ESTs for developing seeds		(8 seq) 2010	http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nucest? term=peanut H.Y. Yan et al., (Unpublished) College of life Sciences, South-Central University for Scienceline
A. hypogaea (Luhua 14)	Full length for developing seeds	Total RNA was extracted from peanut seeds 20-60 days after pegging	678 + 3059 + 4406 (2010)	http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nucest? http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nucest? term=peanut S.B. Wan <i>et al.</i> (2006) unpublished data; Xing Jun Wang, 2010 High-Tech Research Center, Shandong Academy of Acrivithmal Research China
Arachis ipaensis	ESTs for developing seeds	Total RNAs were isolated from 6 to 8 weeks developing seeds of Arachis ipaensis and cDNA library was constructed with Smart cDNA I ihrary Construction Kit (Clontech)	17 694	http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nucest? term=peanut
Arachis	ESTs for root	2 weeks root	15 093	E.D. Nagy (2010), unpublished data
Arachis duranensis (DUR25)	ESTs for developing seeds	Total RNAs were isolated from 6–8 weeks developing seeds of Arachis ipaensis and cDNA library was constructed with Smart cDNA Tibrary Construction Kit (Clontech)	20 667	John Bowers (2010) University of Georgia, USA, unpublished data)
Arachis duranensis (DUR25)	ESTs for root	2 weeks root	14 624	

 Table 14.8
 List of ESTs generated in peanut by different approaches.

tea Root nodul library deve whole root nodulation nodulation EST library AM nematode i EST library tea EST library tea Normalized developing	ation cDNA eloped for tissue at stage for root knot nfection nfection af cDNA for embryos	<i>Arachis</i> seeds were surface sterilized with mercuric chloride and coated with <i>Arachis</i> strain- specific bradyrhizobium cell suspension. Infected seeds were grown in sterile soil under green house conditions. Total RNA was isolated from the root tissue at nodulation stage and cDNA was synthesized by SMART cDNA library construction SSH library for root infected with root knot nematode (<i>Meloidogyne arenaria</i>) Root infected with <i>Meloidogyne arenaria</i> Root infected with <i>Meloidogyne arenaria</i> Total RNAs were isolated from developing embryos with Trizol (Invitrogen). The normalized cDNA libraries were constructed	439 49 52 20 628	 M. Gallo <i>et al.</i> (2010), unpublished data Maria Gallo (2010), Department of Agronomy, University of Florida, USA http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nucest? term=peanut C. Kiran <i>et al.</i>, unpublished data Khanderao, 2010 Department of Botany, Osmania University, Hyderabad http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nucest? term=peanut Macia Galto (2009), unpublished data Agronomy Department, University of Florida [211] http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nucest? term=peanut
--	---	---	---------------------------	--

Number of ESTs References submitted and year	Construction Kit V. Beilinson (2009), unpublished Ervin D. Nagy (2009) University o	from leaves and 12 327 Georgia, GA, USA vitrogen). The se were constructed Construction Kit	cted from peanut 38 856 + 1343 GT-C20 (C20). SMV and susceptible s susceptible to TSMV contamination. allenged by drought collected at 6, or R7	ary was constructed 652 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nuc hua 6. The peanut pod term=peanut ected, and placed into d stored in -80°C
Protocol adopted	with Smart cDNA Library ((Clontech)	Total RNAs were isolated fi cotyledons with Trizol (Invi normalized cDNA libraries with Smart cDNA Library ((Clontlech) cDNA library was construc cultivar Tifrunner (TF) or C Tifrunner is resistant to TS to A. <i>parasiticus</i> . GT-C20 is and has reduced aflatoxin c Developing seeds were cha stress and Aspergillus, and c reproduction stages R5, R6	The full length cDNA libra from peanut cultivar Minh from DAP 9–50 were collec liquid N ₂ immediately and
Purpose and tissue used		Normalized cDNA for cotyledons and leaves	cDNA library for drought and A. parasiticus infection	Full length cDNA library for pods
Cultivar			A. hypogaea (USDA-tifton peanut and GTC20)	A. hypogaea (Minhua 6)

 Table 14.8
 (Continued)

N.B. Cai, unpublished data; Zhuang, 2007 Fujian Agricultural and forestry University, Fujian, China, unpublished data http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nucest? term=peanut	Nobile <i>et al.</i> [213] http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nucest? term=peanut	G. Fu <i>et al.</i> (2006), unpublished data, Department of Biotechnology, Science and Biotechnology, Guangzhou, China http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nucest? term=peanut Y.S. Yan <i>et al.</i> , unpublished data	http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nucest? term=peanut	(continued)
744	2184	348	116+6	
The cDNA forward and reverse subtractive library (SI) from peanut's leaves inoculated with <i>Cercosporidium personatum</i> was generated using suppression subtractive hybridization (SSH) methods [212], as tester cDNA from peanut leaves pooled samples colleted at 12, 24, and 72 h after inoculation with <i>C. personatum</i> , and as driver cDNA from control samples noninoculated	Cotyledon, mid maturation stage	Cotyledon, midmaturation stage	Peanut seedlings were grown on soil:sand mixture (3: 1) and maintained at 100% field capacity by watering daily. Nineteen-day-old plants were subjected to moisture stress by withholding water. Leaf samples collected from unstressed (100% FC) and stressed (once field	
cDNA library from peanut leaves inoculated with <i>Cercosporidium</i> <i>personatum</i>	Peanut cotyledon cDNA library	Lambda expression library	Subtracted cDNA library	
A. hypogaea (cultivar 850)	A. hypogaea (Shanyou 523)		Groundnut (K-134)	

Cultivar	Purpose and tissue used	Protocol adopted	Number of ESTs submitted and year	References
		capacity reached 25%) plants. The cDNA was constructed by subtractive hybridization		Sri G. Ranganayakulu <i>et.al.</i> , SK University, Ananthapur
A. hypogaea (TMV2)	Subtracted cDNA library for drought	Groundnut 15-day-old seedlings were subjected to different water stress (20%, 40%, 60%, and 100%) by withholding water till the crop plants withstands to the respective stress level. RNA isolated from leaf tissues. Subtracted cDNA library was constructed using adapter ligation technique and cloned into T/A cloning vector	845	[214]
A. hypogaea (Florunner)	ESTs for peanut root and stem	Root and stem	196	http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nucest? term=peanut B. Yuksel, unpublished data A.H. Paterson, 2006 Plant genome mapping laboratory Cervria IISA
A. hypogaea (Jamspan90)	ESTs for peanut leaf	cDNA library was constructed from peanut cultivar Jamspan90	19	boolear, Don http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nucest? term=peanut K. Matand and N. Wu, 2003 Peanut Leaf cDNA library

Table 14.8 (Continued)



Figure 14.3 Functional classification of peanut ESTs identified from subtractive cDNA library enriched for drought response. (Reproduced with permission from Ref. [214], Springer, © 2009.)

light-induced protein (ELIP) and drought-induced protein (DIP) cloned from groundnut revealed their importance in imparting drought tolerance [196, 216]. Also, a RING box protein (AhRbx1), an important subunit of E3 ligase, showed phenomenol expression under diverse abiotic stresses, significantly its relevance in tobacco [217].

Besides this comprehensive study, there are very few reports characterizing the stress specific genes in groundnut. In another study, Luo *et al.* used a microarray of 400 unigenes to investigate the up/downregulated gene profiles in peanut cultivar A13, which is drought tolerant and resistant to preharvest aflatoxin contamination [205]. Twenty-five genes were potentially associated with drought tolerance. By adopting differential display of mRNA transcripts, nine partial cDNA clones that were upregulated and downregulated upon exposure to drought were identified [218]. Full length of two genes designated as *A. hypogaea* serine-rich protein (AhSrp) and *A. hypogaea* leucine-rich protein (AhLrp) were cloned by RLM-RACE.

14.6 Molecular Breeding and Genetic Linkage Maps in Groundnut

The cultivated groundnut (*A. hypogaea*) is an allotetratraploid (2n = 4X = 40) that originated from a relatively recent single hybridization event [6] between two wild diploid progenitors. While there is unequivocal agreement on the "A" genome progenitor as *A. duranensis* [219–221], there has been some controversy about the "B" genome progenitor. However, most studies indicate that *A. ipeansis* is the most probable donor of the "B" genome to the cultivated groundnut. These diploid progenitors of the cultivated groundnut are genetically quite diverse [222–224]. Although the resultant tetraploid from their hybridization may have *somehow*

developed reproductive isolation from its wild progenitors [6, 225, 226] and coupled with a single hybridization event that occurred, the cultivated groundnut represents very little molecular diversity [227].

14.6.1

Genetic Linkage Maps for Groundnut

The first genetic linkage map using microsatellite markers was constructed using an F2 population obtained from a cross between two diploid wild species with AA genome (*A. duranensis* and *A. stenosperma*) [227].

The B-genome linkage map was also constructed based on F2 population obtained from the cross between the diploid *A. ipaensis* and closely related *A. magna*, the former species being the most probable B-genome donor to the cultivated groundnut. The microsatellite markers utilized, developed for either *Arachis* species, showed high transferability (81.7%). The B-genome map compared with A-genome map using 51 common markers revealed high degree of synteny between both genomes [228].

The utilization of wild germplasm in breeding programs has received little attention due to the barriers associated with crossing wild and cultivated species. The development of synthetic amphidiploids using the diploid species (between *A. duranensis* V14167 diploid AA and *A. ipaensis* KG30076 diploid BB) of groundnut has led to the development of a SSR-based genetic map [229]. Development of genetic map will allow the synteny analysis of A and B genomes, comparison of diploid and tetraploid maps, and analysis of the introgression segments from the wild synthetic into the background of a cultivated variety. The material developed will be useful in the creation of advanced backcross and CSSL breeding populations for improvement of cultivated groundnut. Furthermore, it will be useful in the development of potential introgressed breeding lines, which can be of direct use in developing new varieties/cultivars.

Development of linkage maps in cultivated groundnut was constrained by the nonavailability of specific mapping populations besides the low level of genetic polymorphism. Hong *et al.* used a recombinant inbred population consisting of 142 progenies derived from the cross between Yueyou 13 and Zhenzhuhei as a mapping population [230]. A total of 141 SSR markers, including 127 genomic SSR and 14 EST-SSR, that distinguished the parental polymorphism were placed on the linkage map that detected 20 linkage groups covering a total map distance of 679 cM. The first mapping population for cultivated peanut was developed using over 215 recombinant inbred lines generated by crossing TAG 24 and ICGV 86031, identified for drought tolerance, Varsheny *et al.* screened the parents with 1145 SSR markers available in public domain and found 144 polymorphic markers [231]. These markers amplified 150 loci and a total of 135 markers could be mapped onto 22 linkage groups. More recently, Hong *et al.* developed three mapping populations with one genotype, Yueyou 13, a high yielding type as a common parent [209]. They screened the parents with 1044 genomic SSR markers and developed individual

linkage maps for the three populations with varied numbers of markers on the map. A composite linkage map was developed with a total of 175 markers on 22 linkage groups, of which 93 were common markers between the three populations. This study demonstrated for the first time a potential synteny, collinear order of some markers, and the conservation of collinear linkage groups. Syntennies and close match of the genome of cultivated groundnut were earlier demonstrated with the genome of Medicago and Lotus [232].

With the progress in development of marker systems and their use in constructing genetic linkage map in groundnut, efforts are now being made to discover QTL governing various traits. Khedikar *et al.* mapped the QTL governing late leaf spot and rust resistance traits using a mapping population developed by crossing TAG 24 and GPBD 4, although QTLs account for up to 50% of phenotypic variation [233]. Similarly, Ravi *et al.* mapped the QTL for several drought tolerance traits such as carbon isotope discrimination, a surrogate for water use efficiency, transpiration rate, specific leaf area, canopy conductance, total dry matter, and so on [234].

Though QTL mapping can be effectively accomplished by this strategy of characterizing a trait-specific mapping population, the identified markers often do not transfer the linked traits to other populations and often require stringent validation. Furthermore, a biparental mapping population can hardly represent one or a very few traits. These lacunae are significantly overcome by the adoption of a novel strategy based on the population genetic approach that relies on the level of allele diversity and frequency, referred to as association mapping or linkage disequilibrium mapping. This strategy involves the characterization of a diverse panel of germplasm accessions for the molecular and phenotypic diversity. Germplasm represents almost infinite meiotic recombination events and hence significantly increases the resolution of QTL discovery [235]. The other major advantage of this strategy is the possibility of screening the germplasm for a very large number of traits that confer biotic and abiotic stress tolerance besides yield and yield-attributing characters.

However, for the successful exploitation of the power of association mapping, availability of adequate molecular and trait diversity in a set of diverse germplasm is most crucial. A diverse set of reference collections of groundnut representing the global variability was accessed from ICRISAT center, Hyderabad, and extensively phenotyped for several drought tolerance traits. Significant phenotypic diversity in several traits such as root traits, water use efficiency, and so on was noticed. Desired molecular diversity was also observed using 8000 DArT markers (Table 14.9).

14.7 Transgenic Approach to Enhance Drought Tolerance

Since the functional characterization of the stress transcriptome, phenomenol progress has been made in identifying functions and regulatory genes to improve

Parameter	Mean	Minimum	Maximum	SD
Days to first flowering	39.1	34	46	2.3
SCMR	35.03	27	48	3.6
SLA	143	109	209	3.6
Root length (cm)	48.1	28.7	76.5	8.3
Shoot length (cm)	48.3	25.8	90.3	8.6
Leaf area (cm ²)	1749	518	4097	641
TDM (g/pl)	37.8	9.4	97.1	12.3
Root/shoot ratio	54.4	23.9	123	14.1
Root to leaf area ratio	1.16	0.47	3.29	14.06
TDM to leaf area ratio	224	105	42.2	4.9
Δ^{13} C (‰)	18.15	16.38	20.27	0.65

Table 14.9Genetic variability in several biometric parameters among the reference collection ofgroundnut germplasm.

cellular level tolerance. These acquired stress responses are being extensively exploited to improve stress tolerance of groundnut by transgenic approach. Successful progress in this direction has been made by ICRISAT.

Groundnut transgenics have been developed by the group in collaboration with ICGEB in the cv. JL-24 with the transcription factor DREB1A under the stress-inducible promoter rd29A [236]. Increased TE was observed in many events, which is an important component of plant performance under limited moisture conditions. The DREB1A transgenics showed apparent effect on root growth under water deficit stress [237] with 20–30% increase in water uptake under water deficit conditions. When exposed to progressive water stress conditions, the transgenics appeared to show increased transpiration efficiency, which was negatively corelating with the antioxidative machinery of the plants under stress [238]. The study indicated that the changes in the antioxidative machinery in these transgenic groundnut plants under water-limited conditions played no causative role in the improved TE. Further, selected transgenic plants showed variable relation between TE and its surrogate traits, SLA, SCMR, and Δ^{13} C [239].

14.7.1

Transgenics: An Option to Pyramid Drought Adaptive Traits

Recent advances in trait-based breeding clearly demonstrated that improving productivity by enhancing drought tolerance of crops can be achieved only by bringing together diverse adaptive mechanisms while reshuffling superior alleles by conventional or molecular breeding options. Transgenic technology is emerging as potential option to introduce superior alleles from tolerant sources to pyramid traits and combat the drought in the climate change scenarios.
With the major emphasis of pyramiding drought adaptive traits by transgenic approach, a conceptual framework was elucidated. The approach has been to initially identify genotypes with superior water relations and use them as recipient genotypes to express validated upstream regulatory genes. The important steps in achieving this objective is initial identification of recipient genotypes with superior water relations, identify candidate genes to improve cellular level tolerance, develop transformation protocol to generate a large number of transgenic events, and rigorous evaluation to identify superior events that are moisture stress tolerant besides being productive under stress. The relevance of such a conceptual approach has been elucidated in recent studies (Figure 14.4) [159, 240–245].

Transgenics were developed in a groundnut variety K-134 with good root and moderate WUE by expressing validated stress genes like Helicases. Significant improvement of cellular level tolerance has been demonstrated by overexpressing these genes [235, 237–239, 246–250].

Following the *in planta* transformation protocol for groundnut [251], transgenics were developed overexpressing Helicase, PDH45, DREB1A, DREB1B, and DREB2A. Promising lines have been identified based on growth response under



Figure 14.4 Strategy for pyramiding drought traits by transgenic approach.

342 14 Groundnut: Genetic Approaches to Enhance Adaptation of Groundnut

drought stress, physiological stress, response screens for different biochemical processes, and productivity. Evidently, various physiological response assays suggest improved intrinsic cellular level tolerance in transgenics over wild-type plants. Transgenics overexpressing DREBs performed better than wild-type plants in PEGinduced osmotic stress. Stress-induced chlorophyll stability was observed in many transgenic plants overexpressing PDH45, which was evidenced by their stay green nature. The Δ^{13} C analysis of the transgenics (PDH45) showed increased water use efficiency.

Retardation of the stress-induced senescence at later stages of plant growth is a desirable trait at canopy level for improved pod growth. Several transgenic lines with significant reduction in leaf senescence compared to wild type at later stages of crop growth were identified. Transgenic lines showed 15–30% increase in yield under well-watered conditions and 30–40% increase in yield under stress conditions (Figure 14.5).

Transgenic approach to develop groundnut varieties with improved drought tolerance has potential (Figure 14.6). Moreover, the approach is amenable for introgression of several desirable traits into an elite genetic background.





(b) Response of the transformants to 15%PEG for 3 days followed by recovery for 3 days.(c) Improvement in the productivity of the transgenic groundnut plants under stress.



Figure 14.6 Water use efficiency in groundnut plants transformed with PDH45 Helicase gene. (a) Relation between the water use efficiency and Δ^{13} C. (b) Variability in the WUE of groundnut plants with helicase gene. Leaf

samples were collected from the transgenics and wild-type 90 DAS. The powdered leaf samples were then used to determine the carbon isotope composition that is used as a surrogate to WUE.

14.8 Summary and Future Perspectives

Earlier studies on the stress responses of cultivated groundnut genotypes to highly variable environmental factors, especially moisture stress and temperatures have provided required framework (a) to mathematically integrate the crop responses into crop simulation models that assisted in simulating likely crop yields under variable climatic conditions, and (b) to identify diverse and relevant stress adaptive mechanisms or traits and their subsequent validation, which in fact provided a platform to initiate trait-based breeding program.

Recently, efforts focused on characterizing the groundnut germplasm accessions for variability in drought tolerance traits, especially for traits related to phenology, transpiration efficiency and harvest index, and to limited extent root efficiency. While the diversity demonstrated in other traits relevant to drought tolerance such as cellular-level tolerance, epicuticular wax and root traits, chlorophyll content, and so on is quite encouraging; there has been limited exploitation of these traits in the breeding programs due to lack of rapid and economical selection tools.

It is clear that drought tolerance and improved productivity cannot be achieved by a single or a few simple traits. Thus, a breakthrough in improving crop productivity under water-limited conditions is possible only when diverse plant traits governing physiological mechanisms are pyramided on to a single genetic background.

A trait-based breeding program to introgress traits related to Passioura's yield model demonstrated the possibilities of improving productivity in water-limited environments in groundnut. This signifies that any approaches to bring together relevant traits for the target stress environment might improve productivity. The major focus, therefore, is to device strategies for achieving daunting task of trait

344 14 Groundnut: Genetic Approaches to Enhance Adaptation of Groundnut

pyramiding, which is the only approach to address a complex phenomenon like drought tolerance.

14.8.1 Options and Approaches

Conventional breeding where selection for yield under drought though provided the initial genetic enhancement, for a comprehensive improvement in productivity under water-limited condition several diverse traits need to be combined into a single genetic background.

Despite the phenomenal success of breeding programs in improving crop productivity through reshuffling superior alleles, a more robust and focused breeding strategy needs to be adopted if one needs to achieve crop improvement under water-limited conditions. The first step toward this would be to identify genes and QTL that govern the variability in specific traits and/or identify crop genotypes that possess specific traits. Once these genomic and genetic resources are developed, focused molecular breeding and transgenic programs need to be evolved to improve crop productivity under water-limited conditions.

14.8.2

Molecular Breeding a Potential Option for Genetic Improvement in Groundnut

Recent advances in DNA technologies have opened up novel opportunities to enable marker-assisted selection and breeding in a number of crops. However, the implementation of molecular marker approaches in cultivated peanut has lagged behind other important crops such as soybean, rice, and maize for a number of reasons, including the complexity of the peanut genome and lack of polymorphism.

The slow progress in molecular breeding in groundnut is attributed to lack of robust QTL associated with targeted traits, which in turn was due to unavailability of a large number of codominant marker systems like SNP. Therefore, efforts should be made to initially generate large genomic resources of marker systems like SSR and SNP and subsequently to devise and standardize robust and highthroughput genotyping techniques.

Discovery of QTLs is conventionally achieved by molecular and phenotypic characterization of a trait-specific mapping population developed by crossing contrasting lines differing in a specific trait. Since diverse traits are essential for a comprehensive improvement in drought tolerance, this approach would be too expensive, cumbersome, and time-consuming. Alternatively, the characterization of a diverse panel of unrelated germplasm accessions is increasingly being adopted to identify QTL based on linkage disequilibrium mapping, also called as association mapping. Thus, the major emphasis must be on identifying a panel of diverse accessions of germplasm that is amenable to association analysis. The panel should have sufficient molecular diversity as well as variation in traits of interest.

Another key step is to develop accurate and high-throughput technologies and phenotypic information for the targeted traits.

14.8.3

Transgenics: A Potential Future Alternative Strategy

Transgenic approach provides another potential option for improving drought tolerance and food safety of groundnut by introduction of novel alleles through a strategic transgenic program. Efficient trait pyramiding can be achieved by introducing upstream regulatory genes, and employing multigene expression cassettes with pathway engineered genes appears to be the most effective strategy. It has been demonstrated in a recent study in groundnut that trait pyramiding has advantages. The conceptual strategies to pyramid traits by transgenic approach require initial identification of genotypes with superior water relations and using them as recipient genotypes to express validated upstream regulatory genes that improve cellularlevel tolerance. However, the limitations could be the issues related to biosafety.

To sum up, there are now options to initiate a successful breeding program to improve drought tolerance and water productivity. Basic understanding of the stress responses, identification of traits of relevance, progress in cloning genes, discovery of QTL, approaches for pyramiding genes and QTL, and modest progress in phenotyping have opened up new avenues to achieving the daunting task of improving drought tolerance. A new paradigm involving application of genomic tools underpinned by physiological understanding will be required to enhance the overall adaptation of groundnut to drought and high temperature stress situations.

Acknowledgments

The funding for the work was provided by Niche Area of Excellence supported by Indian Council of Agricultural Research, New Delhi, to Center of Excellence (program support), Department of Biotechnology, New Delhi and NFBSR on Groundnut, Indian Council of Agricultural Research, New Delhi. We thank the research scholars for their assistance in bringing out this book.

References

- Sanders, T.H., McMichael, R.W., Jr., and Hendrix, K.W. (2000) Occurrence of resveratrol in edible groundnut. J. Agric. Food Chem., 48, 1243–1246.
- 2 Hùst, A.H., Susanne, M., Antonella, D.S., Niggemann, B.A., Rob, A., Syed,

H., von Berg, AndreaC., Kai-Håkon, D., Karel, E., Philippe, A., Hill, D., Jones, C., Mellon, M., Oldeus, G., Oranje, A., Pascual, C., Prescott, S., Sampson, H., Svartengren, M., Wahn, U., Warner, J.A., Warner, J.O., Vandenplas, Y., Wickman, M., and Zeiger, R.S. (2008) Dietary prevention of allergic diseases in infants and small children. *Pediatr. Allergy Immunol.*, **19**, 1–4.

- 3 Rachel, L.T., Lisa, M., Joanne, M., Graham, L., Rebecca, D., Jessica, J.D., and Judith, L.B. (2010) Groundnut sensitization and allergy: influence of early life exposure to groundnut. *Br. J. Nutr.*, 103, 1278–1286.
- 4 Krapovickas, A. (1968) The origin, variability and spread of the groundnut *Arachis hypogaea* L, in *The Domestication and Exploration of Plants and Animals* (eds P.J. Ucko and I.S. Falk), Gerald DuckWorth Company Limited, London, pp. 427–441.
- 5 Gregory, W.C., Krapovickas, A., and Gregory, M.P. (1980) Structure, variation, and evolution and classification, in *Arachis* (eds R.J. Summerfield and A.H. Bunting), Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, Surrey, UK, pp. 469–481.
- 6 Kochert, G., Stalker, T., Marcos, H., Gimenes, F., Galgaro, L., Lopes, C.R., and Moore, K. (1996) RFLP and cytogenetic evidence on the origin and evolution of allotetraploid domesticated peanut, *Arachis hypogaea* (Leguminosae). *Am. J. Bot.*, 83 (10), 1282–1291.
- 7 Polhill, R.M. and Raven, P.H. (1981) Advances in Legumes Systematic, Royal Botanic Garden, Kew, UK, pp. 42–53.
- 8 Smartt, J., Gregory, W.C., and Gregory, M.P. (1978) The genomes of *Arachis hypogaea* L.: I. Cytogenetics studies of putative genome donors. *Euphytica*, 27, 665–675.
- 9 Ramanatha Rao, V. and Murthy, U.R. (1994) Botany-morphology and anatomy, in *The Groundnut Crop: A Scientific Basis* for Improvement (ed. J. Smart), Chapman and Hall, London.
- 10 Sindagi, S.S. and Reddy, B.S.G. (1978) Effect of sowing date and rainfall distribution on the yield of groundnut crop. Proceedings of Drought Seminar, University of Agricultural Sciences, Bangalore, India.
- 11 Naing, U.W. (1980) Groundnut production, utilization, research problems and further research needs in

Burma. Proceedings of the International Workshop on Groundnuts, October 13–17, 1980, Patancheru, A.P., India.

- 12 Camberlin, P. and Diop, M. (1999) Interrelationships between groundnut yield in Senegal, interannual rainfall variability and sea surface temperatures. *Theor. Appl. Climatol.*, 63 (3–4), 163–181.
- 13 Reddy, T.Y., Reddy, V.R., and Anbumozhi, V. (2003) Physiological responses of groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) to drought stress and its amelioration: a critical review. Plant Growth Regul., 41, 75–88.
- 14 Gadgil, S. (2000) Farming strategies for a variable climate: an Indian case study. Proceedings of the International Forum on Climate Prediction, Agriculture and Development, April 26–28, 2000, International Research Institute for Climate Prediction, New York, pp. 27–37.
- 15 Challinor, A.J., Slingo, J.M., Grimes, D.I. F., Wheeler, T.R., and Craufurd, P.Q. (2003) Design and optimization of a large-area process-based model for annual crops. *Agr. Forest Meteorol.*, **124** (1–2), 99–120.
- 16 Billaz, R. and Ochs, R. (1961) Stades de sensibilités de l arachide a la sécheresse. Oléagineux, 16, 605–611.
- 17 Pallas, J.F., Jr., Sansell, J.R., and Koske, T. G. (1979) Effects of drought on florunner peanuts. Agron. J., 71, 853–858.
- 18 Stansell, J.F. and Pallas, J.E., Jr. (1985) Yield and quality response of florunner peanut to applied drought at several growth stages. *Peanut Sci.*, 12, 64–70.
- 19 Nageswara Rao, R.C., Singh, S., Sivakumar, M.V.K., Srivastava, K.L., and Williams, J.H. (1985) Effect of water deficit at different growth phase of groundnut: yield response. *Agron. J.*, 77, 782–785.
- 20 Nageswara Rao, R.C., Williams, J.H., and Singh, M. (1989) Genotypic sensitivity to drought and yield potential of groundnut. *Agron. J.*, 81, 887–893.
- 21 Williams, J.H., Nageswara Rao, R.C., Matthews, R., and Harris, D. (1986) Responses of groundnut genotypes to drought. Proceedings of an International Symposium, August 21–26, 1985,

ICRISAT Sahelian Center, Patancheru, A. P., India, pp. 99–107.

- Sivakumar, M.V.K. and Sarma, P.S.R. (1985) Studies on water relations in groundnut. Proceedings of an International Symposium, August 21–26, 1985, ICRISAT Sahelian Center, Patancheru, A.P., India, pp. 83–98.
- 23 Nautiyal, P.C., Ravindra, V., Zala, P.V., and Josh, Y.C. (1999) Enhancement of yield in groundnut following the imposition of transient soil moisture stress during the vegetative phase. *Exp. Agr.*, 35, 371–385.
- 24 Ricardo, J., Haro, A.D., Julio, L., Dardanelli, A., Daniel, J., Collino, B., María, E., and Otegui, C. (2010) Water deficit and impaired pegging effects on groundnut seed yield: links with water and photosynthetically active radiation use efficiencies. *Crop. Pasture Sci.*, **61**, 343–335.
- 25 Puangbuti, D., Joaloy, S., Toomsan, B., Vorasoot, N., Akkasaeng, C., Kesmala, T., Rachaputi, R.C.N., Wright, G.C., and Patanothai, A. (2010) Physiological basis for genotypic variation in tolerance and recovery from pre-flowering drought in groundnut. J. Agron. Crop Sci., 2, 358–367.
- 26 Nageswar Rao, R.C., Williams, J.H., Sivakumar, M.V.K., and Wadia, K.D.R. (1988) Effect of water deficit at different growth phases of peanut II: response to drought during preflowering phase. *Agron. J.*, 80, 431–438.
- 27 Wright, G.C., Nageswara Rao, R.C., and Farquhar, G.D. (1984) Water-use efficiency and carbon isotope discrimination in groundnut under water deficit conditions. *Crop Sci.*, 34, 92–97.
- 28 Ketring, D.L. and Morgan, P.W. (1971) Physiology of oil seeds: dormancy release in Virginia type peanut seeds by plant growth regulators. *Plant Physiol.*, 47, 488–492.
- **29** Mixon Agronomy Journal (1971) V63, March–April.
- 30 Mohamed, H.A. (1984) Varietal differences in the temperature responses of germination and crop establishment. Ph.D. thesis. University of Nottingham, Nottingham, UK.

- 31 Boote, K.J., Stansell, J.R., Schuber, A.M., and Stone, J.F. (1982) Irrigation, water use and water relations, in *Groundnut Science and Technology* (eds H.E. Pattee and C.T. Yound), American Groundnut Research and Education Association, Yoakum, TX, pp. 164–205.
- 32 Bell, M.J., Michaels, T.E., McCullough, D.E., and Tollenaar, M. (1994) Photosynthetic response to chilling in peanut. *Crop Sci.*, 34, 1014–1022.
- 33 Ong, C.K. (1986) Agroclimatological factors affecting phenology of peanut. Proceedings of International Symposium, ICRISAT, Patancheru, A.P., India, pp. 115–125.
- 34 Bolhuis, G.G. and De Groot, W. (1986) Observations on the effect of varying temperature on the flowering and fruit set in three varieties of groundnut. *Neth. J. Agric. Sci.*, 7, 317–326.
- 35 Prasad, P.V.V., Craufurd, P.Q., and Summerfield, R.J. (1999) Sensitivity of peanut to timing of heat stress during reproductive development. *Crop Sci.*, 39, 1352–1357.
- 36 Varaprasad, P.V., Boote, K.J., Hartwell, A. W., Jr., and Thomas, M.G. (2003) Superoptimal temperatures are detrimental to groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) reproductive processes and yield at both ambient and elevated carbon dioxide. *Glob. Change Biol.*, 9, 1775–1787.
- 37 Puangbuti, D., Joaloy, S., Vorasoot, N., Akkasaeng, C., Kesmala, T., Rao, R.C.N., Wright, G.C., and Patanothai, A. (2009) Association of root dry weight and transpiration efficiency of groundnut genotypes under early season drought. *Agric. Water Manage.*, 96, 1460–1466.
- 38 Devries, J.D., Bennett, J.M., Albrecht, S. L., and Boote, K.J. (1989) Water relations, nitrogenase activity and root development of three grain legumes in response to soil water deficits. *Field Crops Res.*, 21, 215–226.
- 39 Chapman, S.C. (1989) The effect of drought during reproductive development on the yield of cultivars of groundnut (Arachis hypogaea L.). Ph.D. thesis, University of Queensland, Brisbane.
- 40 Harris, D., Mathews, R.B., Nageswara Rao, R.C., and Williams, J.H. (1988) The

348 14 Groundnut: Genetic Approaches to Enhance Adaptation of Groundnut

physiological basis of yield between genotypes of groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.): III. Developmental processes. *Exp. Agric.*, **24**, 215–226.

- 41 Boote, K.J., Varnell, R.J., and Duncan, W. G. (1976) Relationships of size, osmotic concentration, and sugar concentration of groundnut pods to soil water. *Proc. Crop Soil Sci. Soc. Fla.*, 35, 47–50.
- 42 Roy, R.C., Stonchouse, D.P., Francois, B., and Brown, D.M. (1988) Peanut responses to imposed drought conditions in southern Ontario. *Peanut Sci.*, 152, 85–89.
- 43 Rajendrudu, G. and Williams, J.H. (1987) Effect of gypsum and drought on pod initiation and crop yield in early maturing groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) genotypes. *Exp. Agric.*, 23, 259–271.
- 44 Beringer, H. and Taha, M.A. (1976) ⁴⁵Calcium absorption by two cultivars of groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *Exp. Agric.*, **12**, 1–7.
- 45 Wiersum, L.K. (1957) The relationship of the size and structural rigidity of pores to their penetration by roots. *Plant Soil*, 9, 75–85.
- 46 Tillman, B.L., Gorbet, D.W., Culbreath, A.K., and Todd, J.W. Response of peanut cultivars to seeding density and row patterns. *Crop Manage*. doi: 10.1094/CM-2006-0711-01-RS
- 47 Wright, G.C. (1989) Effect of pod zone moisture content on reproductive growth in three cultivars of groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *Plant Soil*, **116**, 111–114.
- 48 Subramanian, V.B. and Maheswari, M. (1990) Physiological responses of groundnut to water stress. *Indian J. Plant Physiol.*, 33, 130–135.
- 49 Kramer, P.J. and Boyer, J.S. (1995) Water Relation of Plants and Soil, Academic Press, New York.
- 50 Turner, N.C. (1986) Adaptation to water deficit: a changing perspective. Aust. J. Plant Physiol., 13, 175–190.
- 51 Ong, C.K. (1985) Agro-climatological factors affecting phenology of groundnut. Proceedings of an International Symposium, ICRISAT, Patancheru, A.P., India, pp. 124–134.
- 52 Cox, F.R. (1979) Effects of temperature treatments on vegetative and fruit growth. *Peanut Sci.*, 79, 784–791.

- 53 Meisner, C.A. and Karnok, K.J. (1999) Groundnut root response to drought stress. Agron. J., 84, 159–165.
- 54 Rucker, K.S., Kvien, C.K., Holbrook, C. C., and Hook, J.E. (1995) Identification of groundnut genotypes with improved drought avoidance traits. *Peanut Sci.*, 22, 14–18.
- 55 Pandey, R.K., Herrera, W.A.T., Villepas, A.N., and Pendelton, J.W. (1984) Drought response grain legumes under irrigation gradient III: plant growth. *Agron. J.*, 76, 557–560.
- 56 Songsri, P., Joaloy, S., Vorasoot, N., Akkasaeng, C., Patanothai, A., and Holbrook, C.C. (1985) Root distribution of drought resistant groundnut genotypes in response to drought. *J. Agron. Crop Sci.*, **194**, 92–103.
- 57 Kramer, P.J. (1969) Plant and Soil Water Relationships: A Modern Synthesis, 1st edn, Tata McGraw Hill Publishing Co., New Delhi, pp. 296–345.
- 58 Wright, G.C. and Nageswara Rao, R.C. (1994) Peanut water relations, in *The Groundnut Crop* (ed. J. Smartt), Chapman & Hall Publishing.
- 59 Gautreau, J. (1977) Levels of intervariety leaf potentials and adaptation of groundnut to drought in Senegal. *Oliagineux*, 32, 323–332.
- 60 Clavel, D., Drame, N.R., Macauley, H.R., Braconnier, S., and Laffray, D. (2004) Analysis of early responses to drought associated with field drought adaptation in four Sahelian groundnut (*Arachis hypogea* L) cultivars. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 54, 219–230.
- 61 Nautiyal, P.C., Rajagopal, K., Zala, P.V., Dipti, S.P., Basu, M., Bhuvaneshwariba, A.D., and Bharat, M.N. (2008) Evaluation of wild *Arachis* species for abiotic stress tolerance: thermal stress and leaf water relations. *Euphytica*, 159, 43–57.
- 62 Clavel, D., Diouf, O., Khalfaoui, J.L., and Braconnier, S. (2006) Genotypes variations in fluorescence parameters among closely related groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) lines and their potential for drought screening programs. J. Field Crops Res., 96, 296–306.
- 63 Sprent, J. (1994) Nitrogen fixation, in *The Groundnut Crop* (ed. J. Smart), Chapman & Hall, London, pp. 255–280.

- **64** Peoples, M.B., Herridge, D.F., and Ladha, J.K. (1995) Biological nitrogenfixation: an efficient source of nitrogen for sustainable agricultural production. *Plant Soil*, **174**, 3–28.
- 65 Sinclair, T.R., Leilah, A.A., and Schreffler, A.K. (1995) Peanut nitrogen fixation (C₂H₂ reduction) response to soil dehydration. *Peanut Sci.*, 16, 162–166.
- 66 Pimratch, S., Jogloy, S., Vorasoot, N., Toomsan, B., Kesmala, T., Patanothai, A., and Holbrook, C.C. (2008) Effect of drought stress on traits related to N₂ fixation in eleven groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea L.*) genotypes differing in degrees of resistance to drought. *Asian J. Plant Sci.*, 7, 334–342.
- 67 Venkateswarulu, B., Maheswari, M., and Saharan, N. (1989) Effects of water deficit in N₂ (C₂H₂) fixation in cowpea and groundnut. *Plant Soil*, 114, 69–74.
- 68 Serraj, R., Sinclair, T.R., and Purcell, L.C. (1999) Symbiotic N₂ fixation response to drought. J. Exp. Bot., 50, 143–155.
- 69 Galvez, L., Gonzalez, E.M., and Arrese-Igor, C. (2005) Evidence for carbon flux shortage and strong carbon/nitrogen interactions in pea nodules at early stages of water stress. J. Exp. Bot., 56, 2551–2561.
- 70 Ladrera, R., Marino, D., Larrainzar, E., Gonzalez, E.M., and Arrese-Igor, C. (2007) Reduced carbon availability to bacteroids and elevated ureides in nodules, but not in shoots, are involved in the nitrogen fixation response to early drought in soybean. *Plant Physiol.*, 145, 539–546.
- 71 Marino, D., Frendo, P., Ladrera, R., Zabalza, A., Puppo, A., Arrese-Igor, C., and Gonzalez, E.M. (2007) Nitrogen fixation control under drought stress: localized or systemic? *Plant Physiol.*, 143, 1968–1974.
- 72 Naya, L., Ladrera, R., Ramos, J., Gonzalez, E.M., Arrese-Igor, C., Minchin, F.R., and Becana, M. (2007) The response of carbon metabolism and antioxidant defenses of alfalfa nodules to drought stress and to the subsequent recovery of plants. *Plant Physiol.*, 144, 1104–1114.
- 73 Rashid, A., Musa, M., Aadal, N.K., Yaqub, M., and Chaudhry, G.A. (1999)

Response of groundnut to bradyrhizobium and a diazotroph bacterial inoculum under different levels of nitrogen. *Pakistan J. Soil*, **16**, 89–98.

- 74 Sinclair, T.R., Muchow, R.C., Bennett, J.M., and Hammond, L.C. (1987) Relative sensitivity of nitrogen and biomass accumulation to drought in field-grown soybean. *Agron. J.*, 79, 986–991.
- 75 Serraj, R. and Sinclair, T.R. (1997) Variation among soybean cultivars in dinitrogen fixation response to drought. *Agron. J.*, 89, 963–969.
- 76 Devi, M.J., Sinclair, T.R., Vadez, V., and Krishnamurthy, L. (2010) Groundnut genotypic variation in transpiration efficiency and stomatal closure during progressive soil drying. *Crop Sci.*, 50, 191–196.
- 77 Devi, M.J., Sinclair, T.R., and Vadez, V. (2010) Genotypic variability among groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) in sensitivity of nitrogen fixation to soil drying. *Plant Soil*, **330**, 139–148.
- 78 Bhagsari, A.S., Brown, R.H., and Schepers, J.S. (1976) Effect of moisture stress on photosynthesis and some related physiological characteristics in peanuts. *Crop Sci.*, 16, 712–715.
- **79** Pallas, J.E., Jr. (1980) An apparent anomaly in groundnut leaf conductance. *Plant Physiol.*, **65**, 848–851.
- 80 Black, C.R. and Squire, G.R. (1979) Effects of atmospheric saturation deficit on the stomatal conductance of pearl millet (*Pennisetum typhoides* S. and H.) and groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). J. *Exp. Bot.*, **30** (5), 935–945.
- 81 Bhagsari, S. and Brown, R.H. (1976) Photosynthesis in groundnut (*Arachis*) genotypes 1. *Peanut Sci.*, 3, 1–5.
- 82 Pallas, J.E. and Samish, Y.B. (1974) Photosynthetic response of peanut. *Crop Sci.*, 14, 478–482.
- 83 Black, S.J., Sendashonoa, C.N., O'brien, C.O., Borowy, N.K., Naessens, M., and Webster, P., and Murray, M. (1985) Regulation of parasitaemia in mice infected with *Trypanosoma brucei*. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.*, 117, 93–118.
- 84 Joshi, Y.C., Nautiyal, P.C., Ravindra, V., and Dwivedi, R.S. (1988) Water relations in two cultivars of groundnut (*Arachis*

hypogeal) under soil water deficit. *Trop. Agric.*, **65**, 182–184.

- 85 Greenberg, D.C., Williams, J.H., and Ndunguru, B.J. (1992) Differences in yield determining processes of groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) genotypes in varied drought environments. *Ann. Appl. Biol.*, 120, 557–566.
- 86 Bravado, B. and Pallas, J.E. (1982) Photosynthesis, photorespiration and RuBP carboxylase/oxygenase activity in selected peanut genotypes. *Photosynthetica*, 16, 36–42.
- 87 Stansell, J.R. and Pallas, J.E., Jr. (1985) Yield and quality response of florunner peanut to applied drought at several growth stages. *Peanut Sci.*, 2, 64–70.
- 88 Zelitch, I. (1982) The close relationship between net photosynthesis and crop yield. *Bio. Sci.*, 32, 796–802.
- 89 Mathews, R.B., Harris, D., Rao, R.C.N., Williams, J.H., and Kadia, K.D.R. (1988) The physiological basis for yield differences between four genotypes of groundnut (*Arachis hypogeal*) in response to drought: I. Dry matter production and water use. *Exp. Agric.*, 24, 191–202.
- **90** Wright, G.C., Hubick, K.T., and Farquhar, G.D. (1991) Physiological analysis of groundnut cultivar response to timing and duration of drought stress. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.*, **42**, 453–470.
- 91 Duncan, W.G., McGraw, R.L., and Boote, K.J. (1978) Physiological aspects of peanut yield improvement. *Crop Sci.*, 18, 1015–1020.
- 92 Phan-Thien, K.-Y., Wright, G.C., and Alice Lee, N. (2010) Genotype-byenvironment interaction affects the essential mineral composition of groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) kernels. *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 58, 9204–9213.
- 93 Stalker, H.T. (1997) Groundnut (Arachis hypogaea L.). Field Crops Res., 53, 205–217.
- 94 Hari Upadhyaya, D. (2005) Variability for drought resistance related traits in the mini core collection of groundnut. *Crop Sci.*, 45, 1432–1440.
- 95 Woodroof, J.G. (1983) Peanuts Production, Processing, Products, 3rd edn,

Avi Publishing Company Inc., Westport, CT.

- 96 Basha, S.M. (1997) Separation of peanut proteins by capillary electrophoresis. J. Agric. Food Chem., 2, 400–402.
- 97 Mazhar, H. and Basha, S.M. (2002) Effects of desiccation on peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) seed protein composition. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 47, 67–75.
- 98 Savage, G.P. and Keenan, J.I. (1994) The composition and nutritive value of groundnut kernels, in *The Groundnut Crop: A Scientific Basis for Improvement* (ed. J. Smartt), Chapman & Hall, London, pp. 173–213.
- 99 Anderson, P.C., Hill, K., Gorbet, D.W., and Brodbeck, B.V. (1998) Fatty acid and amino acid profiles of selected groundnut cultivars and breeding lines. *J. Food Compos. Anal.*, 11, 100–111.
- 100 Holaday, C.E. and Pearson, J.L. (1974) Effects of genotype and production area on the fatty acid composition, total oil and total protein in groundnut. *J. Food Sci.*, **39**, 1206–1209.
- 101 Dwivedi, S.L., Singh, A.K., and Nigam, S.N. (1996) Unstable white flower color in groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *J. Hered.*, 87, 247–248.
- 102 Singkham, N., Jogloy, S., Kesmala, T. Swatsitang, P., Jaisil, P., and Puppala, N. (2010) Genotypic variability and genotype by environment interactions in oil and fatty acids in high, intermediate, and low oleic acid groundnut genotypes. J. Agric. Food Chem., 58, 6257–6263.
- 103 Wright, I.A., Tarawali, S., Blümmel, M., Gerard, B., Teufel, N., and Herrero, M. (2011) Integrating crops and livestock in subtropical agricultural systems. *J. Sci. Food Agric.*, **92**, 1010-5.
- 104 Mercer, W.E., Shields, M.T., Amin, M., Sauve, G.J., Appella, E., Romano, J.W., and Ullrich, S.J. (1990) Negative growth regulation in a glioblastoma tumor cell line that conditionally expresses human wild-type p53. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.*, 87, 6166–6170.
- 105 Van Egmond, H.P. (1995) Mycotoxins: regulations, quality assurance and reference materials. *Food Addit. Contam.*, 12, 321–330.

- 106 Wood, G.E. and Trucksess, M.W. (1998) Regulatory control programs for mycotoxin-contaminated food, in *Mycotoxins in Agriculture and Food Safety* (eds K.K. Sinha and D. Bhatnagar), Marcel Dekker, New York, pp. 459–481.
- 107 Lamb, M. and Sternitzke, D. (2001) Cost of aflatoxin to the farmer, buying point, and sheller segments of the southeast United States peanut industry. *Peanut Sci.*, 28, 59–63.
- 108 Rachaputi, N., Wright, G.C., and Krosch, S. (2002) Management practices to minimize pre-harvest aflatoxin contamination in Australian peanuts. *Aust. J. Exp. Agric.*, 42 (5), 595–605.
- 109 Cole, R.J., Dorner, J.W., and Holbrook, C. C. (1995) Advances in mycotoxin elimination and resistance, in *Advances in Peanut Science* (eds H.E. Pattee and H.T. Stalker), American Peanut Research Education Society, Stillwater OK, pp. 456–474.
- 110 Doener, J.W., Cole, R.J., Sanders, T.H., and Blankenship, P.D. (1989) Interrelationship of kernel water activity, soil temperature, maturity, and phytoalexin production in preharvest aflatoxin contamination of drought stressed groundnut. *Mycopathalogia*, 105, 117–128.
- 111 Paterson, A.H. (1995) Molecular dissection of quantitative traits: progress and prospects. *Genome Res.*, 5, 321–333.
- 112 Hemamalini, G.S., Shashidhar, H.E., and Hittalmani, S. (2000) Molecular marker assisted tagging of morphological and physiological traits under two contrasting moisture regimes at peak vegetative stage in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Euphytica*, **112**, 69–76.
- 113 Tuberosa, R. and Salvi, S. (2006) Genomics-based approaches to improve drought tolerance of crops. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 11, 405–411.
- 114 Akihiko Kamoshita, A., Chandra Babu, R., Manikanda Boopathi, N., and Fukai, S. (2008) Phenotypic and genotypic analysis of drought-resistance traits for development of rice cultivars adapted to rainfed environments. *Field Crops Res.*, 109, 1–23.

- 115 Joungrunklang, N., Toomsan, B., Vorasoot, N., Joaloy, J., and Boote, K.J. (2011) Rooting traits of groundnut genotypes with different yield responses to pre-flowering drought stress. *Field Crop Res.*, 120, 262–270.
- 116 Pantuwan, G., Fukai, S., Cooper, M., Rajatasereekul, S., and O'Toole, J.C. (2002) Yield response of rice (*Oryza* sativa L.) genotypes to different types of drought under rainfed lowlands: Part 1. Grain yield and yield components. Field Crops Res., 73, 153–168.
- 117 Babu, R.C., Nguyen, B.D., Chamarerk, V., Shanmugasundaram, P., Chezhian, P., Jeyaprakash Ganesh, P., Palchamy, S.K., Sadasivam, A., Sarkarung, S., Wade, L.J., and Nguyen, H.T. (2003) Genetic analysis of drought resistance in rice by molecular markers: association between secondary traits and field performance. *Crop Sci.*, 43, 1457–1469.
- 118 Lafitte, R., Blum, A., and Atlin, G. (2004) Using secondary traits to help identify drought tolerant genotypes, in *Breeding Rice for Drought-Prone Environments* (eds K.S. Fischer, R. Lafitte, S. Fukai, G. Atlin, and B. Hardy), International Rice Research Institute, Los Banos, Philippines, pp. 37–48.
- 119 da Pinheiro, B.S., de Castro, E. da M., and Guimaraes, C.M. (2006) Sustainability and profitability of aerobic rice production in Brazil. *Field Crops Res.*, 97, 34–42.
- 120 Ouk, M., Basnayake, J., Tsubo, M., Fukai, S., Fischer, K.S., Kang, S., Men, S., Thun, V., and Cooper, M. (2007) Genotype-byenvironment interactions for grain yield associated with water availability at flowering in rainfed lowland rice. *Field Crops Res.*, 101, 145–154.
- 121 Songsri, P., Joaloy, S., Holbrook, C.C., Kesmala, T., Vorasoot, N., Akkasaeng, C., and Patanothai, A. (2009) Association of root, specific leaf area and SPAD chlorophyll meter reading to water use efficiency of groundnut under different available soil water. *Agric. Water Manage.*, 96, 790–798.
- 122 Passioura, J.B. (1983) Roots and drought resistance. Agric. Water Manage., 7, 265–280.

- 352 14 Groundnut: Genetic Approaches to Enhance Adaptation of Groundnut
 - 123 Taiz, L. and Zeiger, E. (2006) Stress Physiology. Plant Physiology Annual Education, pp. 671–681.
 - 124 Farquhar, G.D., O'Leary, M.H., and Berry, J.A. (1982) On the relationship between carbon isotope discrimination and the intercellular carbon dioxide concentration in leaves. *Aust. J. Plant Physiol.*, 9, 121–137.
 - 125 Hubick, K.T., Farquhar, G.D., and Shorter, R. (1986) Correlation between water use efficiency and carbon isotope discrimination in diverse peanut (*Arachis*) germplasm. *Aust. J. Plant Physiol.*, 13, 803–816.
 - 126 Wright, G.C., Hubick, K.T., and Farquha, G.D. (1988) Discrimination in carbon isotope of leaves correlates with wateruse efficiency of field grown peanut cultivars. Aust. J. Plant Physiol., 15, 815–825.
 - 127 Nageswara Rao, R.C., Udayakumar, M., Farquar, G.D., Talwar, H.S., and Prasad, T.G. (1995) Variation in carbon isotope discrimination and its relationship with specific leaf area and ribulose 1–5 biphosphate carboxylase content in groundnut genotypes. *Aust. J. Plant Physiol.*, 22, 545–551.
 - 128 Arunyanark, A., Jogloy, S., Akkasaeng, C., Vorasoot, N., Kesmala, T., Nageswara Rao, R.C., Wright, G.C., and Patanothai, A. (2008) Chlorophyll stability is an indicator of drought tolerance in groundnut. *J. Agron. Crop Sci.*, 194, 113–125.
 - 129 Fischer, K.S., Fukai, S., Lafitte, R., and McLaren, G. (2004) Know your target environment, in *Breeding Rice for Drought-Prone Environments* (eds K.S. Fischer, R. Lafitte, S. Fukai, G. Atlin, and B. Hardy), International Rice Research Institute, Los Banos, Philippines, pp. 5–11.
 - 130 Tanner, C.B. and Sinclair, T.R. (1983) Efficient water use in crop production: research or re-search, in *Limitations to Efficient Water Use in Crop Production* (eds H.M. Tayloret al.), ASA, Madison, WI, pp. 1–27.
 - 131 Devi, M.J., Sinclair, T.R., and Vadez, V. (2010) Genotypic variability among groundnut (*Arachis hypogea L.*) in

sensitivity of nitrogen fixation to soil drying. *Plant Soil*, **330**, 139–148.

- 132 Krishnamurthy, Y.L., Shashikala, J., and Naik, B.S. (2008) Antifungal potential of some natural products against *Aspergillus flavus* in soybean seeds during storage. *J. Stored Prod. Res.*, 44, 305–309.
- 133 Krishnamurthy, L., Vadez, V., Jyotsna Devi, M., Serraj, R., Nigam, S.N., Sheshshayee, M.S., and Chandra, S.A. (2007) Variation in transpiration efficiency and its related traits in a groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) mapping population. *Field Crops Res.*, 103, 189–197.
- 134 Ismail, A.M., Hall, A.E., and Bray, E.A. (1994) Drought and pot size effects on transpiration efficiency and carbon isotope discrimination of cowpea *accessions hybrids. Aust. J. Plant Physiol.*, 21, 23–35.
- 135 Craufurd, P.Q., Wheeler, T.R., Ellis, R.H., Summerfield, R.J., and Williams, J.H. (1999) Effect of temperature and water deficit on water-use efficiency, carbon isotope discrimination, and specific leaf area in groundnut. *Crop Sci.*, 39, 136–142.
- 136 Farquhar, G.D. and Richards, R.A. (1984) Isotopic composition of plant carbon correlates with water-use efficiency in wheat genotypes. *Aust. J. Plant Physiol.*, 11, 539–552.
- 137 Wright, G.C., Hubick, K.T., Farquhar, G. D., and Nageswara Rao, R.C. (1993) Genetic and environmental variation in transpiration efficiency and its correlation with carbon isotope discrimination and specific leaf area in groundnut, in *Stable Isotopes and Plant Carbon Water Relations* (eds J. Ehleringer, A.E. Hall, and G.D. Farquhar), Academic Press, pp 247–267.
- 138 Earl, H.J. (2002) Stomatal and nonstomatal restrictions to carbon assimilation in soybean (Glycine max) lines differing in water use efficiency. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 48, 237–246.
- 139 Nageswara Rao, R.C. and Wright, G.C. (1994) Stability of the relationship between specific leaf area and carbon isotope discrimination across

environments in groundnut. *Crop Sci.*, **34**, 98–103.

- 140 Wright, G.C. and Hammer, G.L. (1994) Distribution of nitrogen and radiation use efficiency in peanut canopies. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.*, 45, 565–574.
- 141 Mamrutha, H.M., Mogili, T., Lakshmi, J. K., Rama, N., Kosma, D., Udaya Kumar, M., Jenks, M.A., and Nataraja, K.N. (2010) Leaf cuticular wax amount and crystal morphology regulate post-harvest water loss in mulberry (*Morus* species). *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 48, 690–696.
- 142 Bengston, C., Larsson, S., and Liljenberg, C. (1978) Effect of water stress on cuticular transpiration rate and amount and composition of epicuticular wax in seedlings of six oat varieties. *Physiol. Plant*, 44, 319–324.
- 143 Johnson, D.A., Richards, R.A., and Turner, N.C. (1983) Yield water relations, gas exchange and surface reflectances of near isogenic wheat differing in glaucousnes. *Crop Sci.*, 23, 318–325.
- 144 Vakharia, D.N., Davaria, R.L., and Parameswaran, M. (1993) Change in epicuticular wax content in leaves of two groundnut cultivars during and after relief of drought. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 20, 96–98.
- 145 Samdur, M.Y., Manivel, P., Jain, V.K., Chikani, B.M., Gor, H.K., Desai, S., and Misra, J.B. (2003) Genotypic difference and water deficit induced enhancement in epicuticular wax load in groundnut. *Crop Sci.*, 43, 1294–1299.
- 146 Chunilal Hariprasanna, A.K., Rathnakumar, A.L., Misra, J.B., Samdur, M.Y., Gor, H.K., Chikani, B.M., and Jain, V.K. (2009) Response of groundnut genotypes to mid-season moisture stress: phenological, morpho-physiological and yield traits. *Crop Pasture Sci.*, 60, 339–347.
- 147 Rodrigues, B.M., Souza, B.D., Nogueira, R.M., and Santos, M.G. (2010) Tolerance to water deficit in young trees of jackfruit and sugar apple. *Rev. Cien. Agron.*, 41, 245–252.
- 148 Bhojaraj, R. (2002) Oxidative stress responsiveness in groundnut and sunflower: an assessment based on photorespiration, xanthophylls; cycle and

relative scavenging of cytotoxic compounds. PhD thesis. University of Agricultural Sciences, Bangalore, India.

- 149 Akcay, U.C., Ercan, O., Kavas, M., Yildiz, L., Yilmaz, C., Oktem, H.A., and Yucel, M. (2010) Drought-induced oxidative damage and antioxidant responses in peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) seedlings. *Plant Growth Regul.*, 61, 21–28.
- 150 Aeouda, A.S. (1999) Genetic variability in temperature and moisture stress tolerance in sunflower (*Helianthus annus*.L) hybrids: an assessment based on physiological and biochemical parameters. PhD thesis. University of Agricultural Sciences, Bangalore, India.
- 151 Uma, S., Prasad, T.G., and Udaykumar, M. (1995) Genetic variability in recovery growth and synthesis of stress proteins in response to polyethylene glycol and salt stress in finger millet. *Ann. Bot.*, 44, 763–771.
- 152 Kumar, G., Krishnaprasad, B.T., Savitha, M., Gopalakrishna, R., Mukhopadhyay, K., Ramamohan, G., and Udaykumar, M. (1999) Enhanced expression of heat shock proteins in thermotolerant lines of sunflower and their progenies detected on the basis of temperature induction response (TIR). *Theory Appl. Genet.*, 99, 359–367.
- 153 Srikanthbabu, V., Kumar, G., Krishnaprasad, B.T., Gopalakrishna, R., Savitha, M., and Udayakumar, M. (2002) Identification of pea genotypes with enhanced thermotolerance using temperature induction response technique (TIR). J. Plant Physiol., 159 (5), 535–545.
- 154 Gong, M., Li, Y.J., and Chen, S.Z. (1998) Abscisic acid-induced thermotolerance in maize seedlings is mediated by calcium and associated with antioxidant systems. *J. Plant Physiol.*, 153, 488–496.
- 155 Kuznetsov, V.V., Rakitin, V.Y.U., and Zholkevich, V.N. (1999) Effects of preliminary heat-shock treatment on accumulation of osmolytes and drought resistance in cotton plants during water deficiency. *Physiol. Plant*, 107, 399–406.
- 156 Krishnan, M., Nauyen, H.T., and Burke,
 J.J. (1989) Heat shock protein synthesis and thermo tolerance in wheat. *Plant Physiol.*, 90, 140–145.

354 14 Groundnut: Genetic Approaches to Enhance Adaptation of Groundnut

- 157 Richards, R.A., Rebetzke, G.J., Condon, A.G., and van Herwaarden, A.F. (2002) Breeding opportunities for increasing the efficiency of water use and crop yield in temperate cereals. *Crop Sci.*, 42, 111–121.
- 158 Sreekanth, A. (1998) Thermo tolerant groundnut (Arachis hypogea L.) genotypes identified based on temperature induction response (TIR) technique also exhibited enhanced expression of a few stress responsive proteins. M.Sc. (Agriculture) thesis. University of Agricultural Sciences, Bangalore.
- 159 Kumar, L.S. (2006) Developing transgenics in groundnut (Arachis hypogaea L.) over expressing DREB1a/DREB1B to impart stress tolerance. Thesis. University of Agriculture Sciences, GKVK, Bangalore, India.
- 160 Knauft, D.A. and Wynne, J.C. (1995) Groundnut breeding and genetics. Adv. Agron., 55, 393–445.
- 161 Nigam, S.N., Chandra, S., Rupa Sridevi, K., Manohar Bhukta Reddy, A.G.S., Nageswara Rao, R., Wright, G.C., Reddy, P.V., Deshmukh, M.P., Mathur, R.K., Basu, M.S., Vasundhara, S., Vindhiya Varman, P., and Nagda, A.K. (2005) Efficiency of physiological trait-based and empirical selection approaches for drought tolerance in groundnut. *Ann. Appl. Biol.*, 146, 433–439.
- 162 Morgan, J.M. (1983) Osmotic components and properties associated with genotypic differences in osmoregulation in wheat. *Aust. J. Plant Physiol.*, 19, 67–76.
- 163 Quarrie, S.A. (1990) Modifying drought responses of wheat by selecting for genetic variation in abscisic acid production. *Savremena Poljoprivreda*, 38, 101–109.
- 164 Rao, M.J.V., Nigam, S.N., and Huda, A.K. S. (1992) The thermal time concept as a selection criterion for earliness in groundnut. *Peanut Sci.*, 19, 7–10.
- 165 Upadhyaya, H.D., Reddy, L.J., Gowda, C. L.L.G., and Singh, S. (2006) Identification of diverse groundnut germplasm: sources of early maturity in a core collection. *Field Crops Res.*, 97, 261–271.

- 166 Cruickshank, A.W., Rachaputi, N.C., Wright, G.C., and Nigam, S.N. (2003) Breeding of drought-resistant groundnut. Proceedings of ICRISAT, Hyderabad, A.P., India.
- 167 Rucker, K.S., Kevin, C.K., Holbrook, C. C., and Hook, J.E. (1995) Identification of groundnut genotypes with improved drought avoidance traits. *Peanut Sci.*, 21, 14–18.
- 168 Nageswara Rao, R., Williams, J.H., Wadia, K.D.R., Hubick, K.T., and Farquhar, G.D. (1993) Crop growth, water use efficiency and carbon isotope discrimination in groundnut (*Arachis hypogeae* L.) genotypes under end of season drought conditions. *Ann. Appl. Biol.*, 122, 357–367.
- 169 Wright, G.C., Nageswara Rao, R.C., and Basu, M.S. (1996) A physiological approach to the understanding of genotype by environmental interactions: a case study on improvement of drought adaptation in groundnut, in *Plant Adaptation and Crop Improvement* (eds M. Cooper and G.L. Hammer), CAB International, Wallingford, Oxon, UK, pp. 365–381.
- 170 Upadhyaya, H.D. (2005) Variability for drought resistance related traits in the mini core collection of peanut. *Crop Sci.*, 45, 1432–1440.
- 171 Wright, G.C. and Nageswara Rao, R.C. (1993) Selection for water use efficiency in grain legumes. ACIAR Technical Report No. 27, p. 70.
- 172 Kubick, K.T., Shorter, R., and Farquhar, G.D. (1988) Heritability and genotype × environmental interaction of carbon isotope discrimination and transpiration efficiency in peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *Aust. J. Plant Physiol.*, 15, 799–813.
- 173 Nageswara Rao, R.C., Talwar, H.S., and Wright, G.C. (2001) Rapid assessment of specific leaf area and leaf N in peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) using chlorophyll meter. J. Agron. Crop Sci., 189, 175–182.
- 174 Nigam, S.N. and Aruna, R. (2008) Stability of soil plant analytical development (SPAD) chlorophyll meter reading (SCMR) and specific leaf area (SLA) and their association across varying soil moisture stress conditions in

groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *Euphytica*, **160**, 111–117.

- 175 Upadhyaya, H.D., Sharma, S., Singh, S., and Singh, M. (2011) Inheritance of drought resistance related traits in two crosses of groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *Euphytica*, 177, 55–66.
- 176 Chandra, S., Nigam, S.N., Cruickshank, A.W., Bandyopadhyaya, A., and Harikrishna, S. (2003) Selection index for identifying high-yielding groundnut genotypes in irrigated and rainfed environments. *Ann. Appl. Biol.*, 143, 303–310.
- 177 Halward, T., Stalker, T., LaRue, E., and Kochert, G. (1992) Use of single primer DNA amplifications in genetic studies of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 18, 315–325.
- 178 Keating, B.A., Carberry, P.S., Hammer, G.L., Probert, M.E., Robertson, M.J., Holzworth, D., Huth, N.I., Hargreaves, J. N.G., Meinke, H., Hochman, Z., McLean, G., Verburg, K., Snow, V., Dimes, J.P., Silburn, M., Wang, E., Brown, S., Bristow, K.L., Asseng, S., Chapman, S., McCown, R.L., Freebairn, D.M., and Smith, C.J. (2003) An overview of APSIM, a model designed for farming systems simulation. *Eur. J. Agron.*, 18, 267–288.
- 179 Dwivedi, S.L., Gurtu, S., Chandra, S., Yuejin, W., and Nigam, S.N. (2001) Assessment of genetic diversity among selected groundnut germplasm. I: RAPD analysis. *Plant Breed.*, **120**, 345–349.
- 180 Kochert, G., Halward, T., Branch, W.D., and Simpson, C.E. (1991) RFLP variability in peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) cultivars and wild species. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 81, 565–570.
- 181 Halward, T., Stalker, T., LaRue, E., and Kochert, G. (1991) Genetic variation detectable with molecular markers among unadapted germ-plasm resources of cultivated peanut and related wild species. *Genome*, 34, 1013–1020.
- 182 Paik-Ro, O.G., Smith, R.L., and Knauft, D.W. (1992) Restriction fragment polymorphism evaluation of six peanut varieties within the *Arachis* section. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 84, 201–205.

- 183 Singh, A.K., Smartt, J., Simpson, C.E., and Raina, S.N. (1998) Genetic variation vis-à-vis molecular polymorphism in groundnut, *Arachis hypogaea* L. *Genet. Resour. Crop Evol.*, 45, 119–126.
- 184 Varshney, R.K., Hoisington, D.A., and Tyagi, A.K. (2006) Advances in cereal genomics and applications in crop breeding. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 24, 490–499.
- 185 Rassman, K., Schlotterer, C., and Tautz, D. (1991) Isolating of simple sequence loci for use in polymerase chain reactionbased DNA fingerprinting. *Electrophoresis.*, 12, 113–118.
- 186 Kandpal, R.P., Kandpal, G., and Weissman, S.M. (1994) Construction of libraries enriched for sequence repeats and jumping clones, and hybridization selection for regionspecific markers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **91**, 88–92.
- 187 He, G.H., Meng, R.H., Gao, H., Guo, B. Z., Gao, G.Q., Newman, M., Pittman, R.N., and Prakash, C.S. (2005) Simple sequence repeat markers for botanical varieties of cultivated peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *Euphytica*, 142, 131–136.
- 188 Mace, E.S., Phong, D.T., Upadhyaya, H. D., Chandra, S., and Crouch, J.H. (2006) SSR analysis of cultivated groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) germplasm resistant to rust and late leaf spot diseases. *Euphytica*, 152, 317–330.
- 189 Ferguson, M.E., Burow, M.D., Schulze, S.R., Bramel, P.J., Paterson, A.H., Kresovich, S., and Mitchell, S. (2004) Microsatellite identification and characterization in peanut (A. hypogaea L.). Theor. Appl. Genet., 108, 1064–1070.
- 190 He, G. and Prakash, C.S. (1997) Identification of polymorphic DNA markers in cultivated peanut (*Arachis* hypogaea L.). Euphytica, 97, 143–149.
- 191 He, G.H. and Prakash, C.S. (2001) Evaluation of genetic relationships among botanical varieties of cultivated peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) using AFLP markers. *Genet. Resour. Crop Evol.*, 48, 347–352.
- 192 Gimens, M.A., Lopes, C.R., and Valls, J.F.M. (2002) Genetic relationships among Arachis species based on AFLP. *Genet. Mol. Biol.*, 25, 349–353.

- **356** 14 Groundnut: Genetic Approaches to Enhance Adaptation of Groundnut
 - 193 Gimenes, M.A., Hoshino, A.A., Barbosa, A.V.G., Palmieri, D.A., and Lopes, C.R. (2007) Characterization and transferability of microsatellite markers of the cultivated peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*). *BMC Plant Biol.*, 7 (9), 1–13.
 - 194 Varshney, R.K., Hoisington, D.A., Upadhaya, H.D., Gaur, P.M., Nigam, S.N., Saxena, K., Vadez, V., Sethy, N.K., Aaruna, R., Gowda, M.V.C., and Singh, N.K. (2007) Molecular genetics and breeding of grain legume crops for the semi-arid tropics, in *Genomic Assisted Crop Improvement Vol. II: Genomics Applications in Crops* (eds R.K. Varshney and R. Tuberosa), Springer, The Netherlands, pp. 207–242.
 - 195 Luo, M., Dang, P., Guo, B.Z., He, G., Holbrook, C.C., Bausher, M.G., and Lee, R.D. (2005) Generation of expressed sequence tags (ESTs) for gene discovery and marker development in cultivated peanut. *Crop Sci.*, 45, 346–353.
 - 196 Proite, K., Leal-Bertioli, S.C.M., Bertioli, D.J., Moretzsohn, M.C., Silva, F.R.D., Martins, N.F., and Guimarães, P.M. (2007) ESTs from a wild *Arachis* species for gene discovery and marker development. *BMC Plant Biol.*, 7, 7.
 - 197 Guo, B., Chen, X., Hong, Y., Liang, X., Dang, P., Brenneman, T., Holbrook, C., and Culbreath, A. (2009) Analysis of gene expression profiles of leaf tissues of cultivated peanuts and development of EST-SSR markers and gene discovery. *Int. J. Plant Genomics.* doi: 10.1155/2009/ 715605.
 - 198 Liang, X., Chen, X., Hong, Y., Liu, H., Zhou, G., Li, S., and Guo, B. (2009) Utility of EST-derived SSR in cultivated peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.) and Arachis wild species. BMC Plant Biol., 9, 35.
 - 199 He, G., Meng, R., Newman, M., Gao, G., Pittman, R.N., and Prakash, C.S. (2003) Microsatellites as DNA markers in cultivated peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *BMC Plant Biol.*, **3**, 3–9.
 - 200 Wang, S., Basten, C.J., and Zeng, Z.B. (2007) Windows QTL cartographer 2.5. http://statgen.ncsu.edu/qtlcart/ WQTLCart.htm.
 - 201 Mace, E.S., Varshney, R.K., Mahalakshmi, V., Seetha, K., Gafoor, A.,

Leeladevi, Y., and Crouch, J.H. (2007) *In silico* development of simple sequence repeat markers within the aeshynomenoid/dalbergoid and genistoid clades of the Leguminosae family and their transferability to *Arachis hypogaea*, groundnut. *Plant Sci.*, **174**, 51–60.

- 202 Gopalakrishna, R., Kumar, G., KrishnaPrasad, B.T., Mathew, M.K., and Udaya Kumar, M. (2001) A stressresponsive gene from groundnut, Gdi-15, is homologous to flavonol 3-Oglucosyltransferase involved in anthocyanin biosynthesis. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 284 (3), 574–579.
- 203 Yu, J., Whitelaw, C.A., Nierman Nierman, W.C., Bhatnagar, D., and Cleveland, T.E. (2004) Aspergillus flavus expressed sequence tags for identification of genes with putative roles in aflatoxin contamination of crops. FEMS Microbiol. Lett., 237 (2), 333–340.
- 204 Yan, Y.S., Lin, X.D., Zhang, Y.S., Wang, L., Wu, K.Q., and Huang, S.Z. (2005) Isolation of peanut genes encoding arachins and conglutins by expressed sequence tags. *Plant Sci.*, 169, 439–445.
- 205 Luo, M., Liang, X.Q., Dang, P., Holbrook, C.C., Bausher, M.G., Lee, R.D., and Guo, B. (2005) Microarray-based screening of differentially expressed genes in peanut in response to *Aspergillus parasiticus* infection and drought stress. *Plant Sci.*, 169 (4), 695–703.
- 206 Wang, X.J., Su, L., Quan, X.Q., Shan, L., Zhang, H.T., and Bi, Y.P. (2006) Peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) EST sequencing, gene cloning and *Agrobacteria*-mediated transformation. International Groundnut Conference on Groundnut Aflatoxin and Genomics, Guangzhou, China, pp. 59–60.
- 207 Guo, B., Chen, X., Dhang, P., Scully, B.T., Liang, X., Holbrook, C.C., Yu, J. and Culbreath, A.K. (2008) Peanut gene expression profiling in developing seeds at different reproduction stages during *Aspergillus parasiticus* infection. *BMC Dev. Biol.*, 8, 12–28.
- 208 Yu-Ping, B., Wei, L., Han, X., Lei, S., Chuan-Zhi, Z., Shu-Bo, W., and Xing-Jun,

W. (2010) EST sequencing and gene expression profiling of cultivated peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *Genome*, **53**, 832–883.

- 209 Hong, Y., Chen, X., Liang, X., Liu, H., Zhou, G., Li, S., Wen, S., Holbrook, C.C., and Guo, B. (2010) A SSR-based composite genetic linkage map for the cultivated peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) genome. *BMC Plant Biol.*, 10, 17.
- 210 Song, G.Q., Li, M.J., Xiao, H., Wang, X.J., Tang, R.H., Xia, H., Zhao, C.Z., and Bi, Y.P. (2010) EST sequencing and SSR marker development from cultivated peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *Electron. J. Biotechnol.*, 13, 7.
- 211 Thirumalaraju, S.V., Jain, M., and Gallo, M. (2011) Differential gene expression in roots of nematode-resistant and susceptible peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*) cultivars in response to early stages of peanut root-knot nematode (*Meloidogyne arenaria*) parasitization. *J. Plant Physiol.*, **168** (5), 481–492.
- 212 Diatchenko, L. Lau, Y.F., Campbell, A.P., Chenchik, A., Moqadam, F., Huang, B., Lukyanov, S., Lukyanov, K., Gurskaya, N., Sverdlov, E.D., and Siebert P.D. (1996) Suppression subtractive hybridization: a method for generating differentially regulated or tissue-specific cDNA probes and libraries. *PNAS*, **93**, 6025–6030.
- 213 Nobile, P.M., Lopes, C.R., Barsalobres-Cavallari, C., Quecini, V., Coutinho, L.L., Hoshino, A.A., and Gimenes, M.A. (2008) Peanut genes identified during initial phase of *Cercosporidium personatum* infection. *Plant Sci.*, 174 (1), 78–87.
- 214 Govind, G., Vokkaliga Thammegowda, H., Jayaker Kalaiarasi, P., Iyer, D.R., Muthappa, S.K., Nese, S., and Makarla, U.K. (2009) Identification and functional validation of a unique set of drought induced genes preferentially expressed in response to gradual water stress in peanut. *Mol. Genet. Genomics*, 281 (6), 591–605.
- 215 Senthil-Kumar, M., Govind, G., Kang, L., Mysore, K.S., and Udayakumar, M. (2008) Functional characterization of *Nicotiana benthamiana* homologs of peanut water deficit-induced genes by virus-induced gene silencing. *Planta*, 225 (3), 523–539.

- 216 Patricia, K. (2008) Characterization of subtracted cDNA clones and assessing the functional relevance of a few stress responsive clones. PhD thesis. University of Agricultural Sciences, Bangalore, India.
- 217 Geetha, G. (2008) Profiling transcriptome of Arachis hypogeae L. under drought and monitoring the expression pattern. PhD thesis. University of Agricultural Sciences, Bangalore, India.
- 218 Devaiah, K.M., Bali, G., Athmaram, T.N., and Basha, M.S. (2007) Identification of two new genes from drought tolerant peanut up-regulated in response to drought. *Plant Growth Regul.*, 52, 249–258.
- 219 Milla, S.R., Isleib, T.G., and Stalker, H.T. (2005) Taxonomic relationships among *Arachissect Arachis* species as revealed by AFLP markers. *Genome*, 48 (1), 1–11.
- 220 Favero, A.P., Simpson, C.E., Valls, J.F.M., and Vello, N.A. (2006) Study of the evolution of cultivated peanut through crossability studies among *Arachis ipaensis*, *A. duranensis*, and *A. hypogaea*. *Crop Sci.*, 46 (4), 1546–1552.
- 221 Seijo, J.G., Lavia, G.I., Fernández, A., Krapovickas, A., Ducasse, D.A., Bertioli, D.J., and Moscone, E.A. (2007) Genomic relationships between the cultivated peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*, Leguminosae) and its close relatives revealed by double GISH. Am. J. Bot., 94, 1963–1971.
- Hilu, K. and Stalker, H.T. (1995) Genetic relationships between peanut and wild species of *Arachis* section *Arachis* (Fabaceae): evidence from RAPDs. *Plant Syst. Evol.*, 188, 167–178.
- 223 Moretzsohn, M., Hopkins, M., Mitchell, S., Kresovich, S., Valls, J., and Ferreira, M. (2004) Genetic diversity of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) and its wild relatives based on the analysis of hypervariable regions of the genome. *BMC Plant Biol.*, 4, 11.
- 224 Bravo, J.P., Hoshino, A.A., Angelici, C. M.L.C.D., Lopes, C.R., and Gimenes, M.A. (2006) Transferability and use of microsatellite markers for the genetic analysis of the germplasm of some *Arachis* section species of the genus *Arachis. Genet. Mol. Biol.*, 29, 516–524.

- 225 Subramanian, V., Gurtu, S., Rao, R.C.N., and Nigam, S.N. (2000) Identification of DNA polymorphism in cultivated groundnut using random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) assay. *Genome*, 43, 656–660.
- 226 Herselman, L. (2003) Genetic variation among Southern African cultivated peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) genotypes as revealed by AFLP analysis. *Euphytica*, 133, 319–327.
- 227 Moretzsohn, M.C., Leoi, L., Proite, K., Guimaraes, P.M., Leal-Bertioli, S.C.M., Gimenes, M.A., Martins, W.S., Valls, J.F.M., Grattapaglia, D., and Bertioli, D.J. (2005) A microsatellite-based, gene-rich linkage map for the AA genome of *Arachis* (Fabaceae). *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 111, 1060–1071.
- 228 Moretzsohn, M.C., Barbosa, A.V.G., Alves-Freitas, D.M.T., Teixeira, C., Leal-Bertioli, S.C.M., Guimarães, P.M., Pereira, R.W., Lopes, C.R., Cavallari, M.M., Valls, J.F.M., Bertioli, D.J., and Gimenes, M.A. (2009) A linkage map for the B-genome of *Arachis* (Fabaceae) and its synteny to the A-genome. *BMC Plant Biol.*, 9, 40.
- 229 Foncéka, D., Hodo-Abalo, T., Rivallan, R., Faye, I., Sall, M.N., Ndoye, O., Fávero, A.P., Bertioli, D.J., Glaszmann, J.C., Courtois, B., and Rami, J.F. (2009) Genetic mapping of wild introgressions into cultivated peanut: a way toward enlarging the genetic basis of a recent allotetraploid. *BMC Plant Biol.*, 9, 103.
- 230 Hong, Y., Liang, X., Chen, X., Liu, H., Zhou, G., Li, S., and Wen, S. (2008) Construction of genetic linkage map based on SSR markers in peanut (*Arachis hypogaea L.*). *Agric. Sci. China*, 7, 915–921.
- 231 Varsheny, R.K., Bertioli, D.J., Moretzsohn, M.C., Vadez, V., Krishnamurthy, L., Aruna, R., Nigam, S.N., Moss, B.J., Seetha, K., Ravi, K., He, G., Knapp, S.J., and Hoisington, D.A. (2009) The first SSR based genetic linkage map for cultivated groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea L*). *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 118, 729–739.
- 232 Bertioli, D.J., Moretzsohn, M.C., Madsen, L.H., Sandal, N., Bertioli, S.,

Guimaraes, P.M., Hougarrd, B.K., Fredsuland, J., Schauser, L., Nielsen, A.N., Sato, S., Tabata, S., Cannon, S.B., and Stougaard, J. (2009) An analysis of synteny of *Arachis* with *Lotus* and *Medicago* sheds new light on the structure, stability and evolution of legume genomes. *BMC Genomics*, **10**, 45.

- 233 Khedikar, Y.P., Gowda, M.V.C., Sarvamangala, C., Patgar, K.V., Upadhyaya, H.D., and Varshney, R.K. A QTL study on late leaf spot and rust revealed one major QTL for molecular breeding for rust resistance in groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea L.*). Theor. Appl. Genet. doi: 10.1007/s00122-010-1366-x
- 234 Ravi, K., Vadez, V., Isobe, S., Mir, R.R., Guo, R., Nigam, S.N., Gowda, M.V.C., Radhakrisnan, T., Bertioli, D.J., Knapp, S. J., and Varsheny, R.K. Identification of several small main effect QTLs and a large number of episatic QTLs for drought tolerance related traits in groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea L.*). *Theor. Appl. Genet.* doi: 10.1007/s00122-010-1517-0.
- 235 Flint-Garcia, S.A., Jampatong, C., Darrah, L.L., and McMullen, M.D. (2003) Quantitative trait locus analysis of stalk strength in four maize populations. *Crop Sci.*, 43, 13–22.
- 236 Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Jyotsna Devi, M., Srinivas Reddy, D., lavanya, M., Vadez, V., Serraj, R., Yamaguchi Shinozaki, K., and Sharma, K.K. (2007) Stress-inducible expression of *At* DREB1A in transgenic peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) increases transpiration efficiency under water-limiting conditions. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 26, 2071– 2082.
- 237 Vadez, V., Rao, S., Sharma, K.K., Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., and Jyotsna Devi, M. (2007) DREB1A allows for more water uptake in groundnut by a large modification in the root/shoot ratio under water deficit. *SATeJournal*, 5 (1), 1–5.
- Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Jyotsna Devi, M., Vadez, V., and Sharma, K.K. (2009)
 Differential antioxidative responses in transgenic peanut bear no relationship to their superior transpiration efficiency

under drought stress. J. Plant Physiol., **166**, 1207–1217.

- 239 Devi, M.J., Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Sharma, K.K., Serraj, R., Anwar, S.Y., and Vadez, V. (2011) Relationships between transpiration efficiency and its surrogate traits in the *rd29A:DREB1A* transgenic lines of groundnut. *J. Agron. Crop Sci.*, 197, 272–283.
- 240 Jathish, P. (2006) Groundnut (Arachis hypogaea L.) transgenics over expressing NAC transcription factors for functional validation in stress tolerance. Thesis. University of Agriculture Sciences, GKVK, Bangalore, India.
- 241 Santhosh Kumar, H.J. (2005) Development of transgenic groundnut (Arachis hypogaea L.) over expressing BREB2A gene for drought tolerance. Thesis. University of Agriculture Sciences, GKVK, Bangalore, India.
- 242 Suneel, P. (2007) Characterization of transgenic plants over expressing DREB2A for abiotic stress tolerance. Thesis.
 University of Agriculture Sciences, GKVK, Bangalore, India.
- 243 Geetha, S. (2008) Molecular and physiological characterization of advanced generations (T2, T3 and T4) transgenic groundnut (Arachis hypogaea L.) overexpressing DREB1A and DREB1B. Thesis. University of Agriculture Sciences, GKVK, Bangalore, India.
- 244 Manjulatha, M. (2011) Cloning and characterization of helicases and validation of their relevance in stress response. Thesis. Sri Krishnadevaraya University, Anantapur, A.P., India.
- 245 Manjulatha, M., Suma, T.C., Rahul, S.L., Madhura, J.N., Sreevathsa, R., Prasad, T. G., Reddy, M.K., Tuteja, N., and Udaya Kumar, M. (2010) Development of drought tolerant groundnut through pyramiding the desirable adaptive traits by transgenic approach. Proceedings of the National Symposium on Genomics

and Crop Improvement: Relevance and Reservations.

- 246 Liu, Q., Kasuga, M., Sakuma, Y., Abe, H., Miura, S., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Shinozaki, K. (1998) Two transcription factors, *DREB1* and *DREB2*, with an EREBP/AP2 DNA binding domain separate two cellular signal transduction pathways in drought- and lowtemperature-responsive gene expression, respectively, in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell*, 10, 1391–1406.
- 247 Sakuma, Y., Liu, Q., Dubouzet, J.G., Abe, H., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2002) DNA-binding specificity of the ERE/AP2 domain of *Arabidopsis* DREBs, transcription factors involved in dehydration and cold inducible gene expression. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 290, 998–1009.
- 248 Mishra, N.S., Pham, X.H., Sopory, S.K., and Tuteja, N. (2005) Pea DNA Helicase 45 overexpression in tobacco confers high salinity tolerance without affecting yield. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **102**, 509–514.
- 249 Liu, H.H., Liu, J., Fan, S.L., Song, M.Z., Han, X.L., Liu, F., and Shen, F.F. (2008) Molecular cloning and characterization of a salinity stress-induced gene encoding DEAD-box helicase from the halophyte *Apocynum venetum. J. Exp. Bot.*, 59 (3), 633–644.
- 250 Luo, Y., Liu, Y.B., Dong, Y.X., Gao, X.Q., and Zhang, X.H. (2009) Expression of a putative alfalfa helicase increases tolerance to abiotic stress in *Arabidopsis* by enhancing the capacities for ROS scavenging and osmotic adjustment. *J. Plant Physiol.*, 166, 385–394.
- 251 Rohini, V.K. and Rao, K.S. (2000) Transformation of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.): a non-tissue culture based approach for generating transgenic plants. *Plant Sci.*, 15, 41–49.

15 Chickpea: Crop Improvement under Changing Environment Conditions

B.K. Sarmah, S. Acharjee, and H.C. Sharma

Abstract

Chickpea, Cicer arietinum, is the second most important food legume in Asia after dry beans. Chickpea is an important source of protein, minerals, fiber, and vitamins in the diets of millions of people in Asia and Africa. Chickpea is also rich in essential amino acid lysine and deficient in sulfur-containing amino acids, methionine, and cysteine. Chickpea is mainly used for human consumption and only a small proportion is used as feed. It meets 80% of its N requirement from symbiotic nitrogen fixation and leaves substantial amount of residual nitrogen for the subsequent crops. It is a hardy crop well adapted to stress environments and a boon to the resource-poor marginal farmers in the tropics and subtropics. Average yields of chickpea are nearly 780 kg/ha, although farmers can harvest more than 2.5 tons/ha. The crop potential is nearly 5 tons/ha. Abiotic (drought, heat, and cold stress) and biotic (pod borers - Helicoverpa armigera and Spodoptera exigua, aphids - Aphis craccivora, leaf miner - Liriomyza cicerina, and bruchid - Callosobruchus chinensis) and diseases (Fusarium wilt, Ascochyta blight, Botrytis gray mold, and root rots) are the major stresses that constrain chickpea production in farmers fields. The major challenge is to reduce the losses due to biotic and abiotic constraints, and close the yield gap through crop improvement and crop management in future. A combination of productivity enhancement through varietal improvement, including biotechnological interventions, and integrated crop management is needed to realize the yield potential of this crop for improving food and nutritional security. Considerable progress has been made in developing high-yielding chickpea varieties to increase the productivity of this crop, while conventional breeding has been successfully used to breed disease-resistant varieties, little progress has been made in developing pod borer and drought-tolerant varieties, as the levels of resistance available in the cultivated germplasm are quite low. Wild relatives of chickpea have high levels of resistance to pod borer. Marker-assisted selection and genetic engineering of chickpea are being exploited to increase the levels of resistance/tolerance to these constraints and in future.

15.1 Introduction

Global warming and climate change present a major challenge to the human beings as we heavily depend on natural resources, particularly agriculture, for food, feed, fodder, timber, fuel wood, and so on. Changes in climate will affect crop productivity and may degrade cultivable land [1, 2]. The natural calamities such as droughts, storms, floods, and heat waves might occur more frequently. A steady increase in temperature, decrease/increase in relative humidity, moisture stress, and increase in atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO_2) will also change the relative activity and abundance of insect pests, natural enemies, and their interaction with the host plants. Moreover, increased demand for biofuels will reduce the land available for cultivating food crops [3]. Therefore, there is need to enhance crop production by adopting modern tools of biotechnology and crop management to mitigate adverse effects of climate change.

Cereals, grain legumes, oilseeds, vegetables, and fruits are the major components of food for human beings. Among these, grain legumes play an important role in the dietary and nutritional needs of people, particularly in Asia, Africa, and Latin America. Among the many grain legumes consumed by people, chickpea is the most widely cultivated food legume in the world.

Chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.) is the second most important food legume in Asia after dry beans in terms of area, production, and consumption. Average annual chickpea area in the world is 10.7 million ha with a production of 8.2 million tons - Asia accounts for 90% of the area and 88% of the production of chickpea in the world. Chickpea is an important source of protein, minerals, fiber, and vitamins in the diets of millions of people in Asia and Africa. Chickpea has 23% protein, 64% total carbohydrates, 47% starch, 5% fat, 6% crude fiber, 6% soluble sugar, and 3% ash [4]. Chickpea is rich in essential amino acid lysine and deficient in sulfurcontaining amino acids, methionine, and cysteine. Chickpea also contains high amounts of carotenoids such as β -carotene, cryptoxanthin, lutein, and zeaxanthin [5]. Chickpea is mainly used for human consumption and only a small proportion is used as feed. The kabuli type (white or cream seed coat) is generally used as whole grains, while desi type (colored seed coat) is used as whole seeds, dehulled splits, or flour. Chickpea is used in preparation of a wide variety of dishes, popular snacks, soups sauces, enriched breads, and baby foods. Green chickpea leaves and twigs are eaten as a cooked vegetable and contain 4–8% protein [6]. Chickpea is also used as protein-rich animal feed and the vegetable biomass is highly valued as fodder in dry areas where grazing vegetation is scarce. Chickpea also plays an important role in improving soil fertility. It meets 80% of its N requirement from symbiotic nitrogen fixation and can fix up to 140 kg N/ha from air [7]. It leaves substantial amount of residual nitrogen behind for subsequent crops and adds much needed organic matter to maintain and improve soil health, long-term fertility, and sustainability of the ecosystems. Chickpea is a hardy crop well adapted to stress environments and a boon to the resource-poor marginal farmers in the tropics and subtropics.

Chickpea is an annual, self-pollinating, diploid (2n = 2x = 16) pulse crop with a genome size of 931 Mb [8]. It is the third most important grain legume, which is largely cultivated in Asia, Africa (East and North), and the Mediterranean Europe [9]. In recent years, it is also being cultivated in Australia, Canada, and the United States, largely for export to India. Annual chickpea production is 9.7 million tons (mt), followed by cowpea (5.7 mt), lentil (3.6 mt), and pigeonpea (3.5 mt). The major constraints in chickpea production are biotic stresses such as pod borers, *Helicoverpa armigera, Spodoptera exigua*, and *Helicoverpa punctigera* (in Australia), cutworm, *Agrotis* spp., aphid, *Aphis craccivora*, leaf miner, *Liriomyza cicerina, Fusarium* wilt, *Ascochyta* blight, Botrytis gray mold, and the abiotic stresses such as drought, heat, cold, and high salinity [10]. The estimated yield losses due to abiotic stresses (4.8 mt) [11]. Among the abiotic stresses of chickpea, drought causes a 40–50% reduction in yield globally [8]. The advanced biotechnological approaches suitable to mitigate the major biotic and abiotic stresses are in the following sections.

15.2 Abiotic Constraints to Chickpea Production

Abiotic stresses such as drought, salinity, and high temperature affect crop growth and productivity. The crop under adverse climatic condition shows morphological, physiological, biochemical, and molecular alterations. Drought is one of the major constraints to chickpea production throughout Asia, as the crop is largely grown under rainfed conditions during the post-rainy season or residual soil moisture, and experiences end-of-season drought (terminal drought). Areas prone to drought stress are expanding quite fast [12]. With the prediction of increasing water scarcity, terminal drought will continue to be the major constraint to chickpea production in several parts of the world. Often high-temperature stress during the reproductive phase occurs along with terminal drought stress, particularly in tropical short season-growing environments and during late sown conditions in most environments. Thus, it is important to combine tolerance to both drought and heat stress.

Legumes, in general, are sensitive to salt [13], and increasing use of irrigation has often converted the arable land into saline [14]. Approximately 22% of the agricultural land is saline [15]. Salinity is also a major limiting constraint to chickpea production in many parts of Asia. Saline soils contain sufficient neutral soluble salts (mainly sodium chloride and sodium sulfate) that adversely affect plant growth and grain yield.

Chilling temperatures during early reproductive growth have been reported to cause yield losses in chickpea in many parts of Asia. The plants continue to produce flowers, but fail to set pods when the mean daily temperature falls below 15 °C. Low temperatures also adversely affect size and viability of pollen and ovules, anther dehiscence, pollen germination and pollen tube growth, and fertilization [16]. In the Mediterranean region, the change from spring to winter sowing of chickpea has enhanced yields, but tolerance to low temperature during flowering requires further improvements [17].

364 15 Chickpea: Crop Improvement under Changing Environment Conditions

A steady rise in the atmospheric concentrations of carbon dioxide has been observed, from 315 ppm in 1959 to 385 ppm at present [18]. The CO₂ concentration will continue to rise to as much as 500–1000 ppm by the year 2100 [19]. This will have a profound effect on crop growth and development [20] and alter the CO₂ metabolism in the plant. Under elevated atmospheric CO₂ concentrations, the nutritional quality of crops will be reduced due to less accumulation of proteins and nitrogen content in the grain and the leaves [21, 22]. Much of the protein in leaves is involved in assimilating carbon dioxide into sugars [23]. There is some yield advantage in chickpea under elevated CO₂, but a simultaneous reduction in nitrogen concentration may decrease the protein content and negate the reduction in protein [24].

15.3

Modern Crop Breeding Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance

15.3.1

Drought, Salinity, and Low Temperature

Efforts are being made to exploit traits that are expected to play an important role in drought avoidance under receding soil moisture conditions by improving water availability to the plant through more efficient extraction of available soil moisture. Drought tolerance is a complex phenomenon involving many known and unknown pathways.

To improve drought tolerance, quantitative trait loci (QTLs) have been identified for stomatal conductance [25–27], transpiration efficiency [28, 29], osmotic adjustment [30–32], relative water content [30, 25], canopy temperature [31, 30], drought sensitivity index [25], leaf ABA [29], chlorophyll content [33], water use efficiency [34], root traits [35, 36] and some yield-related traits [28, 30, 31, 34, 37–40].

The most promising drought-tolerant line, ICC 4958, has 30% higher root biomass than the popular variety Annigeri [41]. Chandra *et al.* [42] identified molecular markers for a major QTL that accounts for 33% of the variation in root weight as well as in root length. New mapping populations have been developed and are being used to identify molecular markers for additional QTLs. Moreover, understanding physiological mechanisms that regulate drought tolerance, together with the associated regulatory genes, will facilitate crop improvement for water use efficiency and tolerance to drought. The possibility of investigating the response of genes to drought and other stresses by profiling of transcriptome, proteome, and metabolome will offer more information about this complex trait. Besides, studies on functional genomics of chickpea will also help in chickpea improvement.

Earlier studies have indicated limited variability in salinity tolerance in chickpea. However, a recent screening of over 250 germplasm accessions (including 211 accessions of minicore collection) and breeding lines/cultivars revealed wide variation in salinity tolerance [7]. Some accessions gave 10–20% higher yield under salinity stress than the most tolerant variety CSG 8962 released in India. These results have renewed interest in breeding for enhanced salinity tolerance in chickpea.

Several breeding lines (e.g., ICCV 88502, ICCV 88503, ICCV 88506, ICCV 88510, and ICCV 88516) have been developed, which are able to set pods at lower temperatures (mean daily temperature between 12 °C and 15 °C). A pollen selection method has been developed and successfully applied for transferring cold tolerance from ICCV 88516 to the popular variety amethyst in Australia [43].

15.4 Genetic Engineering of Chickpea for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

15.4.1 Drought and Salinity

Abiotic stress is a complex trait that may involve many genes and, therefore, expression of more than one gene is essential to have reasonable tolerance to abiotic stresses. Development of genetically modified (GM) plants by the introduction and/or overexpression of selected gene(s) appear to be quite promising for chickpea improvement. For the development of abiotic stress-resistant transgenic plants, several stress-induced genes with known or unknown enzymatic or structural functions and regulatory proteins have been used. For genetic transformation, stressinduced genes with known functions such as water channel proteins, key enzymes for osmolyte biosynthesis (proline, betaine, sugars such as trehalose, and polyamines), detoxification enzymes, and transport proteins have also been used. Enzymes involved in the metabolic pathways appear more amenable to manipulations than the structural and developmental traits. Stress-induced regulatory proteins that are involved in stress response can be used to enhance tolerance to multiple stresses, including drought, salinity, and freezing [44].

A dehydration responsive element construct, where *DREBIA* gene from *Arabidopsis thaliana* is attached to a drought-responsive promoter (rd 29A) is being used to enhance drought tolerance in chickpea [45]. This construct is known to regulate a number of genes involved in the response to drought and other stresses, such as salinity and cold temperature. In the case of tobacco, wheat, and groundnut, overexpression of *DREB1A* has been shown to improve the drought as well as low-temperature stress tolerance [46–50].

The transgenic tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) developed using *CAP2* gene from chickpea (*C. arietinum*) encoding a novel AP2 family transcription factor showed increase in leaf surface area and number of lateral roots. Transgenic plants were more tolerant to dehydration and salt stress than the wild-type plants, and expressed high steady-state transcript levels of abiotic stress–response genes *NtERD10B* and *NtERD10C* and auxin-response genes *IAA4.2* and *IAA2.5* [51].

Furthermore, introduction of an osmoregulatory gene *P5CSF129A* encoding the mutagenized Δ^1 -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (*P5CS*) in chickpea showed accumulation of high proline (two–sixfolds). The transgenic events showed a

366 15 Chickpea: Crop Improvement under Changing Environment Conditions

decline in transpiration at lower values of the fraction of transpirable soil water (dryer soil), and extracted more water than their untransformed parents. However, the overexpression of *P5CSF129A* gene caused less increase in transpiration efficiency, thereby indicating that the enhanced proline had little bearing on the components of yield architecture that are significant in overcoming the negative effects of drought stress in chickpea [52].

15.4.2 Elevated CO₂ Concentrations

Improving C3 carbon fixation under temperature and drought conditions can be achieved by manipulation of Rubisco enzyme. The enzyme Rubisco dominates the limitation of C_3 fixation in conditions that restrict the supply of CO_2 such as high temperature or drought. The Rubisco enzyme is higher in plants comprised of chloroplasts encoding eight large subunits (LSU), while the nuclear DNA encoded eight small subunit (SSU) proteins. The large subunit (LSU) of Rubisco contains all the structural information necessary for catalysis, while the function of the small subunit (SSU) remains elusive. Genetic screening and site-directed mutagenesis have focused on the LSU of Rubisco as the catalytic site of the enzyme is on this subunit. Amino acid substitutions in several distinct areas of the Rubisco LSU that influenced the catalytic properties of Rubisco and genetic engineering have resulted in the production of an even less-efficient Rubisco [53-55]. Another alternative approach could be conversion of C3 pathways to C4 since C4 pathway evolved in hot and arid regions in response to increasing O2 levels as a mechanism to increase the CO2 concentration at the site of Rubisco [56]. The C4 system uses the enzyme phosphoenol pyruvate carboxylase (PEPC) to fix CO2 from the atmosphere into C₄ in the mesophyll cells, which results in regeneration of phosphoenol pyruvate (PEP). Plants with C₄ pathway have a number of advantages, including high photosynthetic performance and high nitrogen and water-use efficiencies (WUE), allowing this group of plants to be highly productive in subtropical regions. Conventional plant breeding approaches have been used to try and transfer C4 traits into C3 plants, but these were unsuccessful. In the past decade, genes encoding enzymes in the C4 pathway have been transferred to C3 plants resulting in the production of the introduced enzyme [57-59]. However, to achieve this objective, it is necessary to use all the genes isolated from a C₄ species such as maize [60].

15.5 Biotic Constraints in Chickpea Production

15.5.1 Insect Pests

Nearly 60 insect species are known to feed on chickpea. The important insect pests damaging chickpea in different regions are cutworms (black cutworm – *Agrotis*

ipsilon (Hfn.) and turnip moth – Agrotis segetum Schiff, termites (Microtermes obesi (Holmgr.)), leaf feeding caterpillars (beet armyworm, S. exigua (Hub.) and hairy caterpillars Spilarctia obliqua Walker), leaf miners (L. cicerina (Rondani)), aphids (A. craccivora Koch), pod borers (cotton bollworm – H. armigera (Hub.), native budworm – H. punctigera (Wallengren)), and bruchids (Chinese bruchid – Callosobruchus chinensis L., bean bruchid – Acanthoscelides obtectus (Say.), pulse weevil – Callosobruchus analis F., and pulse bruchid – Callosobruchus phaseoli (Gylh.)) [61, 62]. The pod borer H. armigera and the aphid A. craccivora are the major pests of chickpea in the Indian Subcontinent. In the Mediterranean region, the most important pest is the leaf miner L. cicerina. A. craccivora is important as a vector of the chickpea stunt disease, while C. chinensis is the most dominant species in storage.

A continuous search is being made to identify resistant genotypes. More than 14000 chickpea germplasm accessions have been screened for resistance to *H. armigera* at ICRISAT, India, under field conditions. Several germplasm accessions (ICC 506EB, ICC 10667, ICC 10619, ICC 4935, ICC 10243, ICCV 95992, and ICC 10817) with resistance to *H. armigera* have been identified, and varieties such as ICCV 7, ICCV 10, and ICCL 86103 with moderate levels of resistance have been released for cultivation [63]. Progress has also been made in understanding the nature of gene action, and resistance to pod borer is largely controlled by additive gene action. Good combiners for pod borer resistance have also been identified [64]. However, most of these lines are highly susceptible to *Fusarium* wilt. Therefore, concerted efforts have been made to break the linkage by raising a large population of crosses between the lines with resistance to *H. armigera* and the lines resistant to wilt.

The extent of losses to chickpea in South Asia by this pest is estimated at over US\$ 400 million [11]. In the storage condition, bruchids (*C. chinensis*) cause nearly 20–30% damage.

Global warming and climate change resulting in increased temperatures and reduced humidity will impact insect-host plant interactions in several complex ways. The effects of climate change on *H. armigera* have been investigated since the larvae of *H. armigera* have a wide host range [65]. Studies conducted on *H. armigera* under various ambient CO_2 concentrations (550–750 ppm) showed that larvae developed normally under elevated CO_2 , and the adult moths lived longer, but laid fewer eggs [66]. However, when the larvae were reared on milky grains of spring wheat for three generations at ambient CO_2 concentration at 750 ppm, they exhibited slow growth in the second and third instars. It has been suggested that under elevated CO_2 concentrations, net damage by the cotton bollworm will be slow due to slow development [67]. Severity of the damage caused by *H. armigera* and the population relationship between *H. armigera* and its parasitoid wasp, *Microplitis mediator*, has also been also studied [68]. The results have suggested that there are no significant changes in wheat consumptions by the larvae or in the parasitism by the wasp under elevated CO_2 at 750 ppm.

Bt cotton being resistant to *H. armigera* was also evaluated under elevated CO_2 along with conventional cotton [69]. The results suggest that damage under elevated CO_2 might be higher, but there will be less pest population. Coll and

368 15 Chickpea: Crop Improvement under Changing Environment Conditions

Hughes [70] reported that the *H. armigera* reared on pea plants (*Pisum sativum*) grown under elevated CO_2 at 700 ppm were significantly smaller than those reared on plants grown under ambient conditions. Furthermore, they also reported that the omnivorous bug, which feeds on plants but also preys on the bollworm, required prey to complete its development. The bugs performed best when the larvae reared under elevated CO_2 , as the larvae were smaller and thus easily overcome by the predator. Elevated CO_2 may benefit generalist predators through increased prey vulnerability, which would put pest species under higher risk of predation. However, none of the above experiments were conducted under increased temperatures, which might level off the adverse effects of elevated CO_2 on *H. armigera* [71].

15.5.2 Diseases

The occurrence of pathogens is related to temperature, rainfall, humidity, radiation, and dew [72]. The movement of pathogens to their host plants depends on several factors, including its mode of dispersal and ability to survive on sources other than its primary host [73]. As dispersal of some pathogens is influenced by rain and winds [23], changes to these factors could also affect the spread of pathogens.

Fusarium wilt, Ascochyta blight, Botrytis gray mold, and root rot are the most important chickpea diseases [74, 75]. Fusarium wilt caused by *Fusarium oxysporum Schl. f. sp. ciceri* is the most important root disease of chickpea. The susceptible varieties can have up to 100% plant mortality. Ascochyta blight caused by *Ascochyta rabiei* is a highly devastating foliar disease of chickpea in northern India, Pakistan, and Central Asia. Botrytis gray mold caused by *Botrytis cinerea* is another important foliar disease of chickpea. It is a serious constraint to chickpea production in northern India, Nepal, Bangladesh, and Pakistan. Collar rot caused by *Sclerotium rolfsii* is becoming a serious problem in several parts of India, particularly central and southern India. Dry root rot caused by *Rhizoctonia bataticola* is a serious disease whenever the crop is exposed to moisture stress and temperature above 30 °C. Resistance to Fusarium wilt is necessary for all chickpea-growing areas, and all improved varieties have Fusarium wilt resistance. The foliar diseases, Ascochyta blight and Botrytis gray mold, continue to be a big threat to chickpea production in cooler and humid areas.

Muehlbauer and Kaiser [75] reported that the resistance to Ascochyta blight is multigenic. The pathogen evolves continuously, which makes it difficult to develop lines with stable resistance to this pathogen. The wild relatives of chickpea such as *Cicer ehinospermum, Cicer pinnatifidum, Cicer bijugum,* and *Cicer judacium* possess high levels of resistance to Ascochyta blight [76, 77].

The wilt caused by the soil borne fungi *F. oxysporum f. sp. ciceri* is an economically important disease of chickpea. Haware and Nene [77] identified seven distinct races of *Fusarium* in India. Of these races, race 1 is common in central India, and race 2 in northern India. However, race 3 and race 4 appear in various pockets of Punjab and Haryana. Race, 0, 5, and 6 were identified in Spain by Jimenez-Daiz *et al.* [78].

15.5.3 Biological Nitrogen Fixation

Biological nitrogen fixation offers an alternative means to increase plant-available nitrogen [7]. Nearly 20% of all N available to the crops is due to rhizobial N fixation [79]. Herridge *et al.* [80] estimated that 50% nitrogen fixed by a chickpea crop remains underground and is available to the following crop. However, symbiotic fixation of nitrogen is sensitive to even modest soil water deficits [81]. In the case of chickpea, the high nodulating selection ICC 4948 fixed more N and yielded 31% more than its low nodulating version [82]. Sufficient numbers of compatible rhizobia are often not naturally occurring in most of the soils where grain legumes are cultivated [83], and there is need for rhizobia application to seeds [84].

15.6 Modern Molecular Breeding Approaches for Biotic Stress Tolerance

15.6.1 Pod Borers

In the field, the pod borer *H. armigera* is a major threat to chickpea cultivation. Yoshida *et al.* [85] investigated the mechanisms of resistance to pod borers and found that oxalic acid and malic acid are the major components that govern resistance to *H. armigera*. Genotypes resistant to pod borer accumulated more oxalic acid on the leaves than the susceptible genotypes. Oxalic acid showed significant growth inhibition of the pod borer larvae when included in a semiartificial diet, while malic acid had no effect on larval growth.

Development of crop cultivars with resistance to pod borer is the most costeffective and eco-friendly option for the control of *H. armigera*, particularly under subsistence farming conditions in the developing countries [86]. Availability of stable sources of resistance is a prerequisite to develop cultivars for resistance to insect pests. Screening of more than 14 000 germplasm accessions and breeding line has resulted in the identification of several genotypes with low to moderate levels of resistance to *H. armigera* for use in breeding programs. Some of these have also been found to be resistant in different agroclimatic zones under natural infestation. Germplasm accessions of wild relatives of chickpea (*C. bijugum*, *C. judaicum*, and *C. pinnatifidum*) have shown high levels of resistance to pod borer [87].

The chickpea cultivars and wild *Cicer* species have been found to differ significantly in their ability to inhibit *H. armigera* gut proteinases [88]. But none of the species offered complete protection against the pod borer by inhibiting the gut proteinases. The wild relatives of chickpea *C. bijugum* exhibited highest larval inhibition (36%), followed by *C. echinospermum* and *C. arietinum* (cv Vijay) (33%).

Stored chickpeas are highly susceptible to attack by the bruchids *Callosobruchus* maculatus and *C. chinensis*. Germplasm with some degree of resistance to bruchids

370 15 Chickpea: Crop Improvement under Changing Environment Conditions

has been identified, but it appears to be correlated with undesirable physical characteristics of the seed coat. Bruchids-resistant chickpeas are usually consist of thick, dark color seed coat with altered chemical composition, but are less desirable for human consumption.

The preliminary linkage map based on interspecific crosses of *C. arietinum* × *Cicer reticulatum* and *C. arietinum* × *Cicer echinospermum* was made available by Gaur and Slinkard [89]. The mapping population derived from a cross between a wilt-resistant kabuli variety (ICCV 2) and a wilt-susceptible desi variety (JG 62) has been used to develop the first molecular map of chickpea based on an intraspecific cross [90]. A beginning has been made to identify molecular markers for resistance to *Helicoverpa* in chickpea. Mapping genes associated with resistance to *H. armigera* has been reported by Lawlor *et al.* [91]. High levels of resistance to *H. armigera* have been identified in wild relatives of chickpea (*C. bijugum, C. judaicum, and C. reticulatum*) [63], of which *C. reticulatum* can be easily crossed with the cultivated species to develop mapping populations to identify QTL associated with resistance to *H. armigera*.

A mapping population of 126 F_{13} RILs of ICCV 2 × JG 62 has been evaluated for resistance to *H. armigera*. The overall resistance score (1 = <10 leaf area and/or pods damaged, and 9 = >80% leaf area and/or pods damaged) varied from 1.7 to 6.0 in the RIL population compared to 1.7 in the resistant check, ICC 506EB, and 5.0 in the susceptible check, ICCV 96029. The results indicated that there is considerable variation in this mapping population for susceptibility to *H. armigera*. Another RIL mapping population from the cross between Vijay (susceptible) × ICC 506EB (resistant) has also been evaluated for resistance to *H. armigera*. Interspecific mapping populations based on the crosses between ICC 3137 (*C. arietinum*) × IG 72933 (*C. reticulatum*) and ICC 3137 × IG 72953 (*C. reticulatum*) have also been developed, and putative QTLs linked to various components of resistance to *H. armigera* have been identified [92].

Based on interspecific genetic linkage map of chickpea (ICC 4958 × PI 489777) and phenotyping for resistance to *H. armigera* and *S. exigua* under field and greenhouse conditions, QTLs associated with resistance to pod borers have been identified [93] and can be used in conjunction with biochemical markers to develop cultivars with resistance to this pest. In addition, oxalic and malic acids and protease inhibitors have been identified as biochemical markers for resistance to *H. armigera* in cultivated chickpea and are being used to identify lines with resistance to this insect [94].

15.6.2

Ascochyta and Fusarium

Ascochyta blight appears to be controlled by several genes [95]. It has also been reported that there are two major complementary recessive genes for resistance to Ascochyta blight [96, 97]. Tekeoglu *et al.* [97] identified two major QTLs and one minor QTL from the interspecific crosses between *C. arietinum* and *C. reticulum*. Morjane *et al.* [98] performed genetic characterization of various isolates of *Ascochyta* of single field using DNA fingerprinting method and 12 haplotypes were

observed with varying frequencies. Santra *et al.* [99] developed a RAPD marker specific to Indian isolate. Coram and Pang [100] studied the molecular basis of the Ascochyta blight resistance in a highly resistant chickpea accession (ICC3996) and a susceptible cultivar (Lasseter) using microarrays. After inoculation with *A. rabiei*, a time-series expression patterns of 20 defense-related ESTs were studied and found upregulation or downregulation of 10 defense-related ESTs in ICC 3996 and/or Lasseter compared to the uninoculated control. Hierarchical clustering grouped the ESTs into different clusters. Three defense-related ESTs showed differential upregulation in ICC 3996 compared to Lasseter – a leucine zipper protein, SNAKIN2 antimicrobial peptide precursor, and elicitor-induced receptor protein.

Warkentin *et al.* [101] constructed a linkage map for resistance to Ascochyta blight and identified one QTL on each of LG3, LG4, and LG6, which accounted for 13%, 29%, and 12% of the total variation, respectively. Of these, three QTLs on LG4 and LG6 were in common with the previously reported QTL for Ascochyta blight resistance, whereas the QTL on LG3 was unique to this population.

The chickpea wilt caused by F. oxysporum f. sp. ciceris is one of the major factors limiting production of this pulse crop. The affected plants exhibit drooping crown, xylem, and stem discoloration and root rotting. Development of resistant varieties is thought to be the most viable strategy to overcome this problem. Muchlbauer and Kaiser [75] reported that resistance to different races of Fusarium is controlled by a single gene. Evaluation of both *desi-* and *kabuli-*type chickpea accessions revealed that almost 160 accessions were resistant to the fungus [102]. The wild accessions of C. bijugum, C. judaicum, C. reticulatum, and C. ehinosperum were resistant, while accessions belonging to C. yamashitae were susceptible. Breeding varieties resistant to Fusarium wilt were quite successful. However, some of the cultivars do not show resistance to all the races of the Fusarium wilt [103]. Mayer et al. [104] identified RAPD markers, UBC-170 and CS-27, located on same side of the locus, which were linked to resistance and susceptibility, respectively. Locus specificity of the primer UBC-170 was confirmed by allele-specific associated primer s (ASAPs). ISSR marker (UBC-855) linked to the gene conferring resistance to race 4 of Fusarium has been identified and appears to cosegregate with CS-27 [105]. Later, ISSR makers UBC 825 comprising dinucleotide repeats ([AC]₈T) was identified, which was 5.0 cM to the wilt resistant Foc-4 gene [106].

15.6.3 Wide Hybridization

Wild relatives of chickpea are an important source of resistance to leaf miner *L. cicerina* and the bruchid *C. chinensis* [107]. Accessions belonging to *C. bijugum* (ICC 17206, IG 70002, IG 70003, IG 70006, 70012, IG 70016, and IG 70016), *C. judaicum* (IG 69980, IG 70032, and IG 70033), *C. pinnatifidum* (IG 69948), and *C. reticulatum* (IG 70020, IG 72940, IG 72948, IG 72949, and IG 72964) [108] have shown high levels of resistance to *H. armigera*. Some of the wild relatives of chickpea have different mechanisms than those in the cultivated types, which can be used in crop improvement to diversify the bases of resistance to this pest. High

372 15 Chickpea: Crop Improvement under Changing Environment Conditions

levels of antibiosis were evident when *H. armigera* larvae were fed on leaves and pods, and the mechanisms are different from those in *C. arietinum* [109].

15.7 Application of Gene Technology

15.7.1 Pod Borers

Bacteria *Bacillus thuringiensis* consists of genes that encode several insecticidal proteins during sporulation (Cry or Cyt) and vegetative growth (Vips) proteins. Crickmore *et al.* [110] described more than 140 genes that produce Cry proteins, with specificities for Lepidoptera, Coleoptera, and Diptera. The Vips also possess toxic effects toward insects [111]. Vip3 is highly toxic to *Agrotis* and *Spodoptera* [105] and *H. armigera* [113].

Globally, insect-resistant crops have been one of the successful applications of plant genetic engineering technology. The first successful genetic transformation of chickpeas was reported in 1997 using the *cry1Ac* gene [114]. Later, transgenic chickpea expressing *Cry1Ac* [115–117] and *Cry2Aa* [118] genes were also generated. Recently, chickpea lines expressing pyramided *Bt* genes, *cry1Ac* and *cry1Ab* [117], have also been developed; however, the previous reports have suggested that *Cry1Ac* is more effective against *H. armigera*, and pyramiding two or more genes with different mode of action is preferred for effective pest management.

Another strategy, known as plant-delivered RNAi or in-plant RNAi, appears to be useful for the control of various insect pests, including the lepidopterans. A cytochrome P450 gene (*CYP6AE14*), which expresses in the midgut of *H armigera*, is proven to be a suitable candidate gene to control this pest. The *H. armigera* larvae fed on transgenic tobacco (*N. tabacum*) and *A. thaliana* plants expressing *dsRNA* of this gene have shown downregulation of cytochrome P450 gene and a significant larval growth retardation [119]. However, silencing of lepidopteran genes by RNAi has been found to be difficult. There may be several factors responsible for lower efficacy of RNAi in lepidopterans such as absence of RdRP orthologues in most insects [120], barriers to uptake of dsRNA, improper sorting of dsRNA during endosome trafficking to dsRNA-processing machinery, and so on [121]. Till date, the fate of the injected or ingested dsRNA in lepidopteran has not been understood. Recently, a tobacco rattle virus vector was found to be efficient in silencing a lepidopteran (*Manduca sexta*) gene *CYP6AE14* [121].

15.8 Conclusion

Chickpea cultivars with resistance to abiotic and biotic factors will form the backbone of chickpea production in future. The development and deployment of chickpea plants with resistance to insects would offer the advantage of allowing some degree of selection for specificity effects, so that pests, but not the beneficial organisms, are targeted. Deployment of insect-resistant chickpeas will result in decreased use of chemical pesticides and increased activity of natural enemies and thus, higher yields. For pest management programs to be effective in future, there is a need for the following:

- Utilization of wild relatives of chickpea to diversify the genetic basis and thus, increase the levels of resistance to the target insect pests.
- Identification of quantitative trait loci associated with resistance to abiotic and biotic stress factors.
- Development of insect-resistant varieties through genetic transformation using genes with diverse modes of action.
- Combining resistance to insects with resistance to important diseases, drought, and cold tolerance.
- Focusing attention on crop management and insecticide resistance management.

References

- Chrstensen, J.H. et al. (2007) Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (eds S. Solomon et al.), Cambridge University Press, New York, pp. 848–940.
- 2 Meehl, G.A. et al. (2007) in Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (eds S. Solomon et al.), Cambridge University Press, New York, pp. 748–845.
- Brown, M.E. and Funk, C.C. (2008) Food security under climate change. *Science*, 319, 580–581.
- 4 William, P.C. and Singh, U. (1987) The chickpea: nutritional quality and the evaluation of quality in breeding programmes, in *The Chickpea* (eds M.C. Saxena and K.B. Singh), ICARDA, Aleppo, Syria, pp. 329–356.
- 5 Abbo, S., Molina, C., Jungmann, R., Grusak, M.A., Berkovitch, Z., Reifen, R., Kahl, G., Winter, P., and Reifen, R.

(2005) Quantitative trait loci governing carotenoid concentration and weight in seeds of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, **111**, 185–195.

- 6 Duke, J.A. (1981) Handbook of Legumes of World Economic Importance, Plenum Press, New York, p. 345.
- 7 Serraj, R. (2004) Symbiotic Nitrogen Fixation: Prospectus for Enhanced Application in Tropical Agriculture, Oxford, New Delhi.
- 8 Graham, P.H. and Vance, C.P. (2003) Legumes: importance and constraints to greater use. *Plant Physiol.*, 131, 872–877.
- **9** Singh, K.B. *et al.* (1994) Current status and future strategy in breeding chickpea for resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses. *Euphytica*, **73**, 137–149.
- Sharma, H.C. (2001) Crop protection compendium: *Helicoverpa armigera* (Hub.) in different agro-economical conditions. Chickpea in Nineties: Proceedings of the Second International Workshop on Chickpea, ICRISAT, pp. 181–189.
- 11 Ryan, J. (1997) A global perspective on pigeon pea and chickpea sustainable production systems: present status and future potential, in *Recent Advances in*

Pulses Research (eds A. Asthana and M. Ali), Indian Society for Pulses Research and Development, Kanpur, India, pp. 1–31.

- 12 Burke, E.J., Brown, S.J., Christidis, N. (2006) Modeling the recent evolution of global drought and projections for the twenty-first century with the Hadley centre climate model. *J Hydrometeor*, 7, 1113–1125.
- 13 Munns, R., Husain, S., Rivelli, A., James, R., Condon, A., Lindsay, M., Lagudah, E., Schachtman, D., and Hare, R. (2002) Avenues for increasing salt tolerance of crops, and the role of physiologically based selection traits. *Plant Soil*, 47, 93–105.
- 14 Wang, W., Vinocur, B., and Altman, A. (2003) Plant responses to drought, salinity and extreme temperatures: towards genetic engineering for stress tolerance. *Planta*, 218, 1–14.
- 15 FAO (2004) World Agricultural Centre, FAOSTAT Agricultural Statistics DATA-Base Gateway.
- 16 Srinivasan, A., Saxena, N.P., and Johansen, C. (1999) Cold tolerance during early reproductive growth of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.): genetic variation in gamete development and function. *Field Crop Res.*, 60, 209–222.
- Millan, T., Clarke, H., Siddique, K., Buhariwalla, H., Gaur, P., Kumar, J., Gil, J., Kahl, G., and Winter, P. (2006) Chickpea molecular breeding: new tools and concepts. *Euphytica*, 147, 81–103.
- 18 Keeling, R.F. Piper, S.C. et al. (2009) Atmospheric CO₂ records from sites in the SIO air sampling network, in *Trends:* A Compendium of Data on Global Change, Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center, Oak Ridge National, Laboratory, U.S. Department of Energy, Oak Ridge, TN.
- 19 IPCC (2007) Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- 20 Ziska, L.H. (2008) Rising atmospheric carbon dioxide and plant biology: the overlooked paradigm, in *Controversies in*

Science and Technology, from Climate to Chromosomes (eds D.L. KleinmanK.A. Cloud-Hansen *et al.*), Liebert, Inc., New Rochele, pp. 379–400.

- 21 Amthor, J.S. (2001) Effects of atmospheric CO₂ concentration on wheat yield: review of results from experiments using various approaches to control CO₂ concentration. *Field Crops Res.*, 73, 1–34.
- 22 Pittock, B. (2003) Climate Change: An Australian Guide to the Science and Potential Impacts. The Australian Greenhouse Office.
- 23 Pal, M., Talwar, S., Deshmukh, P., Viswanathan, C., Khetarpal, S., and Kumar, P. (2008) Effect of elevated CO₂ on growth and photosynthetic characteristics of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Indian J. Plant Physiol.*, 13, 4–8.
- 24 Kimball, B.A., Kobayashi, K., and Bindi, M. (2002) Responses of agricultural crops to free air CO₂ enrichment. *Adv. Agron.*, 77, 293–368.
- 25 Sanguineti, M.C., Tuberosa, R., Landi, P., Salvi, S., Macaferri, M., Casarini, E., and Conti, S. (1999) QTL analysis of droughtrelated traits and grain yield in relation to genetic variation for leaf abscisic acid concentration in field-grown maize. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 50, 1289–1297.
- 26 Price, A.H., Young, E.M., and Tomos, A.D. (1997) Quantitative trait loci associated with stomatal conductance, leaf rolling and heading date mapped in upland rice (*Oryza sativa*). *New Phytol.*, 137, 83–91.
- 27 Juenger, T.E., McKay, J., Hausmann, N., Keurenties, J., Sen, S., Stowe, K., Dawson, T., Simms, E., and Richards, J. (2005) Identification and characterization of QTL underlying whole-plant physiology in *Arabidopsis thaliana* II. QTL analysis of new mapping population, Kas-1 × Tsu-1. *Evolution*, 62, 3014–3026.
- 28 Specht, J.E., Chase, K., Macrander, M., Graef, G.L., Chung, J., Markwell, J.P., Germann, M., Orf, J.H., and Lark, K.G. (2001) Soybean response to water: a QTL analysis of drought tolerance. *Crop Sci.*, 41, 493–509.

- 29 Kholova, J., Hash, C.T., Lava Kumar, P., Yadav, R.S., Kocova, M. and Vadez, V. (2010). Terminal drought-tolerant pearl millet [*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R. Br.] have high leaf ABA and limit transpiration at high vapour pressure deficit. J. Exp. Bot., 611431–1440.
- 30 Diab, A.A., Teulat-Merah, B., This, D., Ozturk, N.Z., Benscher, D., and Sorrells, M.E. (2004) Identification of droughtinducible genes and differentially expressed sequence tags in barley. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 109, 1417–1425.
- Saranga, Y., Jiang, C-X, Wright, R.J., Yakir, D., and Paterson, A.H. (2004) Genetic dissection of cotton physiological responses to arid conditions and their inter-relationships with productivity. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 27, 263–277.
- 32 Robin, S., Pathan, M.S., Courtois, B., Lafitte, R., Carandang, S., Lnceraas, S., Amante, M., Nguyen, H.T., and Li, Z. (2003) Mapping osmotic adjustment in an advanced back-cross inbred population of rice. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 107, 1288–1296.
- 33 Shen, B., Zhang, J.Y., Zhang, K.Q., Dai, W.M., Lu, Y., Fu, L.Q., Ding, J.M., and Zheng, K.L. (2007) QTL mapping of chlorophyll contents in rice. *Agric. Sci. China*, 6, 17–24.
- 34 Quarrie, S.A., Steed, A., Calestani, C., Semikhodskii, A., Lebreton, C., Chinoy, C., Steele, N., Pljevljakusic, D., Waterman, E., Weyen, J., Schondelmaier, J., Habash, D.Z., Farmer, P., Saker, L., Clarkson, D.T., Abugalieva, A., Yessimbekova, M., Turuspekov, Y., Abugalieva, S., Tubersosa, R., Sanguineti, M.C., Hollington, P.A., Aragues, R., Royo, A., and Doding, D. (2005) A highdensity genetic map of hexaploid wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) from the cross Chinese Spring \times SQ1 and its use to compare QTLs for grain yield across a range of environments. Theor. Appl. Genet., 110865-880.
- 35 Chandra Babu, R., Nguyen, B.D., Chamarerk, V., Shanmugasundaram, P., Chezhian, P., Jeyaprakash, P., Ganesh, S.K., Palchamy, A., Sadasivam, S., Sarkarung, S., Wade, L.J., and Nguyen,

H.T. (2003) Genetic analysis of drought resistance in rice by molecular markers: association between secondary traits and field performance. *Crop Sci.*, **43**, 1457–1469.

- **36** Li, Z., Mu, P., Li, C., Zhang, H., Li, Z., Gao, Y., and Wang, X. (2005) QTL mapping of root traits in a doubled haploid population from a cross between upland and lowland japonica rice in three environments. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, **110**, 1244–1252.
- 37 Moreau, L., Charcosset, A., and Gallais,
 A. (2004) Use of trial clustering to study QTL × environment effects for grain yield and related traits in maize. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 110, 92–105.
- 38 Xu, J.L., Lafitte, H.R., Gao, Y.M., Fu, B.Y., Torres, R., and Li, Z.K. (2005) QTLs for drought escape and tolerance identified in a set of random introgression lines of rice. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 111, 1642–1650.
- 39 Xiao, Y.N., Li, X.H., George, M.L., Li, M.S., Zhang, S.H., and Zheng, Y.L. (2005) Quantitative trait locus analysis of drought tolerance and yield in maize in China. *Plant Mol. Biol. Rep.*, 23, 155–165.
- 40 Dashti, H., Yazdi-Samadi, B., Ghannadha, M., Naghavi, M.R., and Quarri, S. (2007) QTL analysis for drought resistance in wheat using doubled haploid lines. *Int. J. Agric. Biol.*, 9, 98–101.
- 41 Saxena, N.P., Krishnamurthy, L., and Johansen, C. (1993) Registration of a drought-resistant chickpea germplasm. *Crop Sci.*, 33, 1424.
- 42 Chandra, S., Buhariwalla, H.K., Kashiwagi, J., Harikrishna, S., Rupa Sridevi, K., Krishnamurthy, L., Serraj, R., and Crouch, J.H. (2004) Identifying QTLlinked markers in marker-deficient crops. 4th International Crop Science Congress, September 26–October 1, 2004, Brisbane, Australia.
- 43 Clarke, H., Khan, T.N., and Siddique, K.H.M. (2004) Pollen selection for chilling tolerance at hybridisation leads to improved chickpea cultivars. *Euphytica*, 139, 65–74.
- 44 Kasuga, M., Liu, Q., Miura, S., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Shinozaki,

K. (1999) Improving plant drought, salt and freezing tolerance by gene transfer of a single stress-inducible transcription factor. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **17**, 287–291.

- 45 Liu, Q., Kasuga, M., Sakuma, Y., Abe, H., Miura, S., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Shinozaki, K. (1998) Two transcription factors, DREB1 and DREB2, with an EREBP/AP2 DNA binding domain separate two cellular signal transduction pathways in drought- and low temperature-responsive gene expression, respectively, in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell*, 10, 1391–1406.
- **46** Kasuga, M., Miura, S., Shinozaki, K., and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2004) A combination of the *Arabidopsis* DREB1A gene and stress inducible rd29A promoter improved drought- and lowtemperature stress tolerance in tobacco by gene transfer. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, **45**, 346–350.
- 47 Pellegrineschi, A., Reynolds, M., Pacheco, M., Brito, R.M., Almeraya, R., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Hoisington, D. (2004) Stress-induced expression in wheat of the *Arabidopsis thaliana* DREB1A gene delays water stress symptoms under greenhouse conditions. *Genome*, 47, 493–500.
- 48 Behnam, B., Kikuchi, A., Celebi-Toprak, F., Yamanaka, S., Kasuga, M., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Watanabe, K.N. (2006) The *Arabidopsis* DREB1A gene driven by the stress-inducible rd29A promoter increases salt-stress tolerance in proportion to its copy number in tetrasomic tetraploid potato (*Solanum tuberosum*). *Plant Biotechnol.*, 23, 169–177.
- 49 Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Devi, M.J., Serraj, R., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., Vadez, V., and Sharma, K.K. (2004) Evaluation of transgenic groundnut lines under water limited conditions. *Int. Arch. Newsl.*, 24, 33–34.
- 50 Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Devi, M.J., Reddy, D.S., Vadez, V., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Sharma, K.K. (2006) Overexpression of *Arabidopsis thaliana* DREB1A in transgenic peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) for improving tolerance to drought stress (poster presentation).

Arthur M. Sackler Colloquia on "From Functional Genomics of Model Organisms to Crop Plants for Global Health," April 3–5, 2006, National Academy of Sciences, Washington.

- 51 Shukla, D.C., Raha, R.K., Tripathi, V., and Chattopadhyay, D. (2006) Expression of Cap2 and APETALA2 family transcription factor from chickpea, enhances growth and tolerance to dehydration and salt stress in transgenic tobacco. *Plant Physiol.*, 142, 113–123.
- 52 Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Vadez, V., Jyostna Devi, M., Lavanya, M., Vani, G., and Sharma, K.K. (2009) Genetic engineering of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) with the *P5CSF129A* gene for osmoregulation with implications on drought tolerance. *Mol. Breed.*, 23, 591–606.
- 53 Spreitzer, R.J. and Salvucci, M.E. (2002) Rubisco: structure, regulatory interactions, and possibilities for a better enzyme. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, 53, 449–475.
- 54 Andersson, I. and Taylor, T.C. (2003) Structural framework for catalysis and regulation in ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase. Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 414, 130–140.
- 55 Parry, M.A.J., Andralojc, P.J., Mitchell, R. A.C., Madgwick, P.J., and Keys, A.J. (2003) Manipulation of Rubisco: the amount, activity, function and regulation. J. Exp. Bot., 54, 1321–1333.
- 56 Sage, R.F. (2004) The evolution of C-4 photosynthesis. *New Phytol.*, 161, 341–370.
- 57 Hausler, R.E., Hirsch, H.J., Kreuzaler, F., and Peterhansel, C. (2002) Overexpression of C-4-cycle enzymes in transgenic C-3 plants: a biotechnological approach to improve C-3-photosynthesis. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 53, 591–607.
- 58 Leegood, R.C. (2002) C-4 photosynthesis: principles of CO₂ concentration and prospects for its introduction into C-3 plants. J. Exp. Bot., 53, 581–590.
- 59 Miyao, M. (2003) Molecular evolution and genetic engineering of C-4 photosynthetic enzymes. J. Exp. Bot., 54, 179–189.

- 60 Matsuoka, M., Furbank, R.T., Fukayama, H., and Miyao, M. (2001) Molecular engineering of C-4 photosynthesis. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.*, 52, 297–314.
- 61 Sharma, H.C., Srivastava, C.P., Durairaj, C., and Gowda, C.L.L. (2010) Pest management in grain legumes and climate change, in *Climate Change* and Management of Cool Season Grain Legume Crops (eds S.S. Yadav, D.L. McNeil, R. Redden, and S.A. Patil), Springer Science + Business Media, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 115–140.
- 62 Chen, W., Sharma, H.C., and Muehlbauser, F.J. (2011) *Crop Protection Compendium for Chickpea and Lentil Diseases and Pests*, The American Phytopathological Society, St Paul, MN, pp. 166.
- 63 Sharma, H.C. (ed.) (2005) Heliothis/Helicoverpa Management: Emerging Trends and Strategies for Future Research, Oxford, New Delhi, India, p. 469.
- 64 Sreelatha, E., Gowda, C.L.L., Gour, T.B., Sharma, H.C., Ramesh, S., and Upadhyaya, H.D. (2007) Genetic analysis of pod borer (*Helicoverpa armigera*) resistance and grain yield in *desi* and *kabuli* chickpeas (*Cicer arietinum*) under unprotected conditions. *Indian J. Genet. Plant Breed.*, 68, 406–413.
- **65** CPC (2007) Crop protection compendium CAB.
- 66 Chen, F.J., Wu, G., Lu, J., and Ge, F. (2005) Effects of elevated CO₂ on the foraging behaviour of cotton bollworm, *Helicoverpa armigera. Insect Sci.*, 12, 359–365.
- Wu, G., Chen, F.J., and Ge, F. (2006) Responses of multiple generation of cotton bollworm *Helicoverpa armigera* Hubner, feeding on spring wheat to elevated CO₂. *J. Appl. Entomol.*, 130, 2–9.
- 68 Yin, J., Sun, Y., Wu, G., Parajulee, M.N., and Ge, F. (2009) No effects on elated CO₂ on population relationship between cotton bollworm, *Helicoverpa armigera* Hubner (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), and its parasitoid, *Microplitis mediator* Haliday

(Hymenoptera: Braconidae) Agric. *Ecosyst. Environ.*, **132**, 267–275.

- **69** Chen, F.J., Wu, G., Parajulee, M.N., and Ge, F. (2007) Long-term impacts of elevated carbon dioxide and transgenic Bt cotton on performance and feeding of three generations of cotton bolloworm. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.*, **124**, 27–35.
- 70 Coll, M. and Hughes, L. (2008) Effects of elevated CO₂ on an insect omnivore: a test for nutritional effects mediated by host plants and prey. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.*, 123, 271–279.
- **71** Zvereva, E.L. and Kozlov, M.V. (2006) Consequences of simultaneous elevation of carbon dioxide and temperature for plant–herbivore interactions: a metaanalysis. *Glob. Change Biol.*, **12**, 27–41.
- 72 Patterson, D.T., Westbrook, J.K., Joyce, R.J.V., and Rogasik, J. (1999) Weeds, insects and diseases. *Clim. Change*, 43, 711–727.
- 73 Chakraborty, S., Murray, G., and White, N. (2002) Impact of Climate Change on Important Plant Diseases in Australia, Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation.
- 74 Nene, Y.L. and Reddy, M.V. (1987) Chickpea diseases and their control, in *The Chickpea* (eds M.C. Saxena and K.B. Singh), CAB International, Wallingford, pp. 99–125 (b)Nene, Y.L. and Reddy, M.V. (1987) Chickpea breeding, in *The Chickpea* (eds M. Saxena and K. Singh), CAB International, Wallingford, pp. 127–162.
- 75 Muehlbauer, F.J. and Kaiser, W.J. (1994) Using host resistance to manage biotic stresses in cool season food legumes. *Euphytica*, 73, 1–10.
- 76 Singh, K.B. *et al.* (1998) Resistance to six races of *Ascochyta rabiei* in the world germplasm collection of chickpea. *Crop Sci.*, 33, 186–189.
- 77 Haware, M.P. and Nene, Y.L. (1982) Races of Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. ciceri. Plant Dis., 66, 809–810.
- 78 Jimenez-Daiz, R.M., Trapero Crass, A., Carbera De, L.A., and Coina, J. (1989) Races of *Fusarium oxysporum f.sp. ciceri* infecting chickpeas in southern Spain, in *Vascular Wilt Diseases of Plants* (eds E.C.
Tjamos and C.H. Beckman), NATO ASI Series H, Springer, pp. 515–520.

- 79 Smil, V. (1999) Nitrogen in crop production. Global Biogeochem. Cycles, 13, 647–662.
- 80 Herridge, D.F., Peoples, M.B., and Boddey, R.M. (2008) Global inputs of biological nitrogen fixation in agricultural systems. *Plant Soil*, 311, 1–18.
- 81 Sinclair, T.R., Purcell, L.C., King, C.A., Sneller, C.H., Chen, P., and Vadez, V. (2007) Drought tolerance and yield increase of soybean resulting from improved symbiotic N₂ fixation. *Field Crops Res.*, 101, 68–71.
- Fried, M., Danso, S.K.A., and Zapata, F. (1983) The methodology of measurement of N₂ fixation by nonlegumes as inferred from field experiments with legumes. *Can. J. Microbiol.*, 29, 1053–1062.
- 83 Marufu, L., Karanja, N., and Ryder, M. (1995) Legume inoculants production and use in east and southern Africa. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 27, 735–738.
- 84 Catroux, G. (1991) Inoculant quality standards and controls in France, in *Expert Consultation on Legume Inoculant Production and Quality Control* (ed. V.A. Thompson), FAO, Roma, Italy, pp. 113–120.
- 85 Yoshida, M., Cogill, S.E., and Wrightman, J.A. (1995) Mechanism of resistance to *Helicoverpa armigera* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) in chick pea antibiotic factor. *J. Ecol. Entomol.*, 88, 1783–1786.
- 86 Sharma, H.C., Gowda, C.L.L., Sharma, K.K., Gaur, P.M., Mallikarjuna, N., Bouhariwalla, H.K., and Crouch, J.H. (2003) Host plant resistance to pod borer, *Helicoverpa armigera* in chickpea, in Chickpea Research for the Millennium: Proceedings of the International Chickpea Conference, 20–22 January 2003 (eds R.N. Sharma, G.K. Shrivastava, A.L. Rathore, M.L. Sharma, and M.A. Khan), Indira Gandhi Agricultural University, Raipur, Chhattisgarh, India, pp. 118–137.
- 87 Sharma, H.C., Singh, B.U., Hariprasad, K.V., and Bramel-Cox, P.J. (1999) Host-

plant resistance to insects in integrated pest management for a safer environment. *Proc. Acad. Environ. Biol.*, **8**, 113–136.

- 88 Patankar, A.G., Harsulkar, A.M., Giri, A.P., Gupta, V.S., Sainani, M.N., Ranjekar, P.K., and Deshpande, V.V. (1999) Diversity in inhibitors of trypsin and *Helicoverpa armigera* gut proteinases in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum*) and its wild relatives. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 99, 719–726.
- 89 Gaur, P.M. and Slinkard, A.E. (1990) Genetic control and linkage relations of additional isozyme markers in chickpea. *Theor Appl. Genet.*, 80, 648–656.
- 90 Cho, S., Kumar, J., Shultz, J., Anupama, K., Tefera, F., and Muehlbauer, F.J. (2002) Mapping genes for double podding and other morphological traits in chickpea. *Euphytica*, **128**, 285–292.
- 91 Lawlor, H.J., Siddique, K.H.M., Sedgley, R.H., and Thurling, N. (1998) Improving cold tolerance and insect resistance in chickpea and the use of AFLPs for the identification of molecular markers for these traits. *Acta Hortic.*, 461, 185–192.
- 92 Sharma, H.C., Clement, S.L., Muehlbauer, F., Kumar, S., Mahender, T., Varshney, R., Gaur, P.M., and Gowda, C. L.L. (2010) Potential for using morphological, biochemical, and molecular markers for resistance to insect pests in grain legumes. Vth International Congress on Legume Genetics and Genomics, July 2–8, Asilomar Conference Grounds, California, p. 150.
- 93 Clement, S.L., Sharma, H.C., Muehlbauer, F.J., Elberson, L.R., Mattinson, D.S., and Fellman, J.K. (2010) Resistance to beet armyworm in a chickpea recombinant inbred line population. *J. Appl. Entomol.*, 134, 1–8.
- 94 Sharma, H.C., Rajeev, V., Gaur, P.M., and Gowda, C.L.L. (2008) Potential for using morphological, biochemical, and molecular markers for resistance to insect pests in grain legumes. *J. Food Legumes*, 21, 211–217.

- 95 Vir, S. and Grewal, J.S. (1974) Physiologic specialization in Ascochyta rabiei, the causal organism of gram blight. Indian Phytopathol., 27, 355–360.
- 96 Santra, D.K., Tekeoglu, M., Ratnaparkhe, M., Kaiser, W.J., and Muehlbauer, F.J. (2000) Identification and mapping of QTLs conferring resistance to Ascochyta blight in chickpea. *Crop Sci.*, 40, 1606–1612.
- 97 Tekeoglu, M., Santra, D.K., Kaiser, W.J., and Muehlbauer, F.J. (2000) Ascochyta blight resistance inheritance in three chickpea recombinant inbred line populations. *Crop Sci.*, 40, 1251–1256.
- 98 Morjane, H., Geistlinger, J., Harrabi, M., Weising, K., and Kahl, G. (1994) Oligonucleotide fingerprinting detects genetic diversity among Ascochyta rabiei isolates from a single chickpea field in Tunisia. Curr. Genet., 26, 191–197.
- 99 Santra, D.K., Singh, G., Kaiser, W.J., Gupta, V.S., Ranjekar, P.K., and Muehlbauer, F.J. (2001) Molecular analysis of Ascochyta rabiei (Pass.) Labr., the pathogen of Ascochyta blight in chickpea. Theor. Appl. Genet., 102, 676–682.
- 100 Coram, T.E. and Pang, E.C.K. (2005) Isolation and analysis of candidate Ascochyta blight defence genes in chickpea. *Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol.*, 66, 201–210.
- 101 Warkentin, T.B., Tullu, T.D., and Vandenberg, A. (2007) Genetic mapping of Ascochyta blight resistance in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) using a simple sequence repeat linkage map. *Genome*, **50**, 26–34.
- 102 Nene, Y.L. and Haware, M.P. (1980) Screening chickpea for resistance to wilt. *Plant Dis.*, 64, 379–380.
- 103 Infantino, A., Porta-Puglia, A., and Singh, K.B. (1996) Screening wild *Cicer* species for resistance to Fusarium wilt. *Plant Dis.*, 80, 69–101.
- 104 Mayer, M.S., Tullu, A., Simon, C.J., Kumar, J., Kaiser, W.J., Kraft, J.M., and Muelhlbauer, F.J. (1997) Development of a DNA maker for Fusarium wilt in chickpea. *Crop Sci.*, 37, 1625–1629.
- 105 Ratnaparkhe, M.B., Tekeoglu, M., and Muehlbauer, F.J. (1998) Intersimple-

sequence-repeat (ISSR) polymorphisms are useful for finding markers associated with disease resistance gene clusters. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, **97**, 515–519.

- 106 Ratnaparkhe, M.B., Santra, D.K., Tullu, A., and Muehlbauer, F.J. (1998) Inheritance of inter-simple sequence-repeat polymorphisms and linkage with a Fusarium wilt resistance gene in chickpea. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 96, 348–353.
- 107 Singh, K.B., Ocampo, B., and Robetson, L.D. (1998) Diversity for abiotic and biotic stress resistance in the wild annual *Cicer* species. *Genet. Resour. Crop Evol.*, 45, 9–17.
- 108 Sharma, H.C., Pampapathy, G., Lanka, S.K., and Ridsdill-Smith, T.J. (2005) Potential for exploitation of wild relative of chickpea, *Cicer reticulatum* for imparting resistance to *Helicoverpa armigera*. J. Econ. Entomol., 98, 2246–2253.
- 109 Sharma, H.C., Pampapathy, G., Lanka, S. K., and Ridsdill-Smith, T.J. (2005) Antibiosis mechanism of resistance to legume pod borer, *Helicoverpa armigera* in wild relatives of chickpea. *Euphytica*, 142, 107–117.
- Crickmore, N., Zeigler, D.R., Feitelson, J., Schnepf, E., Van Rie, J., Lereclus, D., Baum, J., and Dean, D.H. (1998) Revision of the nomenclature for the *Bacillus thuringiensis* pesticidal crystal proteins. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.*, 62, 807–813.
- 111 Estruch, J.J., Carozzi, N.B., Desai, N., Duck, N.B., Warren, G.W., and Koziel, M. (1997) Transgenic plants: an emerging approach to pest control. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **15**, 137–141.
- 112 Estruch, J.J., Warren, G.W., Mullins, M. A., Nye, G.J., Craig, J.A., and Koziel, M. G. (1996) Vip3A, a novel *Bacillus thuringiensis* vegetative insecticidal protein with a wide spectrum of activities against lepidopteran insects. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 93, 5389–5394.
- 113 Zhu, C., Ruan, L., Peng, D., Yu, Z., and Sun, M. (2006) Vegetative insecticidal protein enhancing the toxicity of *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp kurstaki against *Spodoptera exigua* Lett. *Appl. Microbiol.*, 42, 109–114.
- 114 Kar, S., Basu, D., Das, S., Ramkrishnan, N.A., Mukherjee, P.,

Nayak, P., and Sen, S.K. (1997) Expression of cry1Ac gene of *Bacillus thuringiensis* in transgenic chickpea plants inhibits development of borer (*Heliothis armigera*) larvae. *Transgenic Res.*, **15**, 473–497.

- 115 Sanyal, I., Singh, A.K., Kaushik, M., and Amla, D.V. (2005) Agrobacteriummediated transformation of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) with Bacillus thuringiensiscry1Ac gene for resistance against pod borer insect Helicoverpa armigera. Plant Sci., 168, 1135–1146.
- 116 Indurker, S., Misra, H.S., and Eapen, S. (2007) Genetic transformation of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) with insecticidal crystal protein using particle gun bombardment. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 26, 755–763.
- 117 Mehrotra, M., Singh, A.K., Sanyal, I., Altosaar, I., and Amla, D.V. (2011) Pyramiding of modified Cry1Ab and Cry1Ac genes of *Bacillus thuringiensis* in transgenic chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) for improved resistance to pod borer

insect *Helicoverpa armigera*. *Euphytica*, **182**, 87–102.

- 118 Acharjee, S., Sarmah, B.K., Kumar, P.A., Olsen, K., Mahon, R., Moar, W.J., Moore, A., and Higgins, T.J.V. (2010) Expression of a sequence-modified *cry2Aa* gene for resistance to *Helicoverpa armigera* in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Plant Sci.*, 178, 333–339.
- 119 Mao, Y.B., Cai, W.J., Wang, J.W., Hong, G.J., Tao, X.Y., Wang, L.J., Huang, Y.P., and Chen, X.Y. (2007) Silencing a cotton bollworm P450 monooxygenase gene by plant-mediated RNAi impairs larval tolerance of gossypol. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 25, 1307–1313.
- 120 Gordon, K.H.J. and Waterhouse, P.M. (2007) RNAi for insect-proof plants. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 25, 1231–1232.
- 121 Kumar, P., Pandit, S.S., and Baldwin, I.T. (2012) Tobacco rattle virus vector: a rapid and transient means of silencing *Manduca sexta* genes by plant mediated RNA interference. *Plos One*, 7, e 31347.

Pooja Bhatnagar-Mathur, Paramita Palit, Ch Sridhar Kumar, D. Srinivas Reddy, and Kiran K. Sharma

Abstract

Grain legumes are the major food crops grown and consumed mostly by the poor farmers as an important source of protein in the drylands of the world. The ensuing climate change has posed serious potential threats to the cultivation of these crops that are important for the sustainable livelihoods of the poorest of the poor in these regions. There is evidence to suggest that the ecological dynamics and equilibriums are likely to be affected as a result of changing climate, either by making these crops susceptible to new diseases or by increasing the intensities of diseases, pests, and parasites. Despite many uncertainties, there is a growing consensus that these adversities could lead to an overall increase in the disease and pest pressure besides harsher abiotic stresses. Since most of the grain legumes have a narrow genetic base and levels of resistance to some biotic and abiotic constraints are low, making crop improvement an overarching research-for-development challenge for maximizing the benefits that grain legumes offer to smallholder farmers. Running against the headwinds, grain legume research has been immensely benefited by applications of modern biotechnological tools and approaches that have the potential to develop solutions for destructive diseases, besides making headway against the complex problems of drought. Similarly, identifying novel genes/traits and assessing their suitability as candidate genes for genetic engineering options will be important for future breeding programs in order to achieve remarkable impacts in these grain legume crops globally. This chapter mainly provides a comprehensive picture of the different biotechnological interventions adopted for addressing various constraints in gain legume productivity and improvement, highlighting the pitfalls and possible solutions that can be taken through an integrated approach to combat the altered environmental conditions.

16.1 Introduction

With the advent of twenty-first century, agriculture will not only be forced to compete for land and water with sprawling urban settlements but will also be required to serve on other major fronts: adapting and contributing to the mitigation of climate change, the most pronounced adverse condition on the doorstep. Climate change will affect the four dimensions of food security: availability, accessibility, utilization, and stability [1]. According to the estimation of a FAOs discussion paper, by 2050, developing countries may experience a decline of between 9% and 21% in overall potential agricultural productivity as a result of global warming [1]. Alarmingly, the poorest regions will be exposed to the highest degree of instability of food production due to substantial decline in agricultural productivity, including labor productivity, leading to increases in poverty and mortality rates.

Food and agriculture sectors will be significantly impacted by adverse climatic features that are likely to include increased occurrence of extreme heat (temperature and duration), short-term fluctuations, seasonal oscillations, sudden discontinuities, and long-term variations [2]. Despite many uncertainties and unknowns, there is a growing consensus that ecological dynamics and equilibriums are likely to be affected and there will be an overall increase in the abundance and diversity of invertebrate pests—and pest pressure—as habitats become more favorable for their establishment and development and new niches appear [1]. Furthermore, studies suggest that hosts and pathogens may be brought together in new locations and contexts, bringing new threats to crops, livestock, and aquaculture systems and new challenges, with the accompanying need for significant human and financial investments to address the challenges.

The strongest negative impact of these adversities on agriculture is expected in sub-Saharan Africa [1]. It has been estimated that climate change may reduce African potential agricultural output up to the 2080–2100 period by between 15 and 30% [1]. This denotes that SAT areas are likely to be in most vulnerable condition, the poorest and most food insecure region is also expected to suffer the largest contraction of agricultural incomes resulting in an increased dependence on food imports.

16.2

Grain Legumes: A Brief Introduction

Grain legumes or pulses are a widely adapted group of crop plants and occupy an important place in the world food and nutrition economy. The present world production of grain legumes is estimated to be 50 million metric tons and, at an average price of \$400 per metric ton, its total value would amount to \$2 billion [1]. They are important constituents in the diets of a very large number of people, especially in the developing countries, and are good sources of protein that help to supplement cereal diets, improving their protein nutritive value [3]. Legumes can interact symbiotically with specific soil-borne bacteria, the rhizobia, which allow the plant to fix atmospheric nitrogen and may help to protect them against some fungal pathogens [4]. Although most legumes are consumed as dry grains, immature green pods or green seeds are also used as vegetables providing substantial quantities of minerals and vitamins to the diet. Although many species and subspecies of legumes are known, only about a dozen of them are important as commercial food crops. Beans and peas each account for about 25% of the total production of legume crops. Chickpea and broad beans rank next in importance. Some of the legumes, however, are of only regional or local importance.

Field pea (*Pisum sativum* L.), lentil (*Lens culinaris* Medik.), faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.), chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.), and grasspea (*Lathyrus sativus* L.) are collectively known as the cool season food legumes. These groups of legume crop plants grow vegetatively during the cool season and flower and produce seeds as day lengths become progressively longer. Carbonized remains indicate that peas, lentils, and chickpeas were domesticated in the Near East arc and were cultivated with the cereals as early as the seventh millennium BC [5]. From the presumed center of origin, peas spread to the cool-temperate areas of Central and Northern Europe and from there were introduced into the Western Hemisphere soon after Columbus [6, 7].

The major grain legumes such as soybean, peanut, pigeonpea, common bean, and cowpea are warm season legumes better adapted to the humid regions. The warm season legumes are characterized by epigeal germination, a period of rapid vegetative growth, followed by flowering when day lengths become progressively shorter during the growing season. In contrast, the cool season pulses have hypogeal germination, a period of rapid vegetative growth, followed by flowering when day length becomes progressively longer.

16.3 Major Constraints for Grain Legume Production

The adversities in growing conditions of the grain legumes pose threat and affect the adaptability and productivity that reportedly has shown an increased severity depending on the type and the specific crop location. Furthermore, crops under abiotic stress are usually more susceptible to weeds, insects, and diseases, which considerably increase the losses [8].

16.3.1 Biotic Stresses

The major biotic stresses affecting legumes include viruses, fungal, and bacterial diseases, insect pests, nematodes, and parasitic weeds that drastically decrease the grain legume production. Considerable progress has been made toward the successful management of important diseases of most legume crops through the search for host resistance. Though sources of resistance to many important diseases have been found and are being used to breed agronomically acceptable

cultivars with good levels of resistance, pathogens are highly variable, making breeding for resistance to be a long-term objective. Hence, combined disease resistance is required in most legume production systems. This has proved relatively easy to attain in some cases, but rather difficult in other cases.

16.3.1.1 Fungal Diseases

The relative importance of aerial fungal diseases and their effect on yield varies among years and cropping regions. However, some of them affect large areas in all the countries where legumes are cultivated and cause considerable losses in quality and quantity. Foliar diseases caused by biotrophic pathogens, such as rusts, downy mildews, and powdery mildews, are major limiting factors in legume production and the most important of these are present in all areas where legumes are cultivated [9]. Several rust species can infect grain and forage legumes, most of them belonging to the genus Uromyces, such as Uromyces appendiculatus on common bean, Uromyces ciceris-arietini on chickpea, Uromyces pisi on pea, Uromyces striatus on alfalfa, Uromyces viciae-fabae on faba bean, lentil, and common vetch, and Uromyces vignae on cowpea. Also, rust species belonging to other genera can be major problems on legumes such as Phakopsora pachyrhizi and Phakopsora meibomiae on soybean or Puccinia arachidis on groundnut [10]. Asian rust (P. pachyrhizi) is a severe disease that causes important yield losses in soybean and is spreading rapidly around the world [11-13]. Lack of natural sources of resistance makes this disease a good candidate to be solved using biotechnological tools. Normally, legume rust epidemics begin late in the season, when pod filling starts, so yield components are only slightly affected by the infection and losses are usually low. However, when the infection starts early in the season, severe epidemics can occur [14]. Similarly, powdery mildew caused by Erysiphe pisi is an important fungal disease in several legumes and has a worldwide distribution being particularly important in climates with warm, dry days and cool nights, adversely affecting yield and quality [9]. Severe infection may cause 25-50% yield losses. In contrast, downy mildew, caused by Peronospora viciae occurs in most places where the crops are grown, but is most frequent and severe in cool, maritime climates [9].

The major necrotrophic fungal disease of various grain legumes is Ascochyta blight, caused by *Ascochyta rabiei*, reportedly the most important fungi affecting pea and chickpea [15, 16]. Similarly, Botrytis gray mold caused by *Botrytis cinerea* is of lesser importance, but is also a widespread foliar disease problem in grain legumes. Besides these, there are several soil-borne diseases that are common among legume crops [17]. Most of these attack the seedling stage of the crop and are referred to as damping-off diseases, several examples include damping-off, generally caused by either *Rhizoctonia solani* or *Pythium* spp., which can result in up to 80% of plant death [18, 19] and Fusarium root-rot (caused by *Fusarium* spp.) causing severe seedling losses especially in common bean and lentils [20, 21]. In most growing areas of the world, Fusarium wilt (FW) (caused by *Fusarium oxysporum*) is a major constraint, affecting seedlings and adult plants where it causes leaf chlorosis, wilting, and death in chickpea [16, 22] and lentil in particular. Other important

soil-borne diseases such as southern stem rot (*Sclerotium rolfsii*) and the white mold (*Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*) cause both seedling and pod rots in warmer and cool weather, respectively [23].

16.3.1.2 Viral Diseases

During the last two decades, viruses have emerged as devastating pathogens, particularly in the tropics and subtropics, causing huge economic losses and threatening crop production to grain legumes. Viruses cause yield losses for most legume crops, for example, bean common mosaic virus (BCMV) and its close relative bean common mosaic necrotic virus (BCMNV) are the most widespread and frequent viruses of common bean leading to significant losses. Over the past two decades, bean golden mosaic virus (BGMV) has been considered the most important yield limiting disease for bean production in parts of Central America and the lowlands of the Caribbean, with yield losses between 10% and 100%. Similarly, the peanut stem necrosis disease epidemic that resulted in the death of young groundnut (Arachis hypogaea L.) plants occurred in the rainy season of the year 2000 in Anantapur district, Andhra Pradesh, India, where the crops were usually grown on 0.7 million ha. The disease affected nearly 225 000 ha and the crop losses were estimated to exceed Rs. 3 billion (US\$65 million). Similarly, sterility mosaic disease (SMD) is the most damaging disease of pigeonpea in the Indian subcontinent. Bangladesh, Nepal, Thailand, Myanmar, Sri Lanka, and China with annual losses of over US\$ 300 million. These epidemics caused by re-emerging and newly emerging viruses are becoming frequent even in regions that were earlier free from these viruses. The major contributory factors for the emergence and spread of new virus diseases are the evolution of variants of the viruses and the increase in the vector population. For example, genomic recombination in gemini viruses, not only between the variants of the same virus but also between species and even between genera, has resulted in rapid diversification.

16.3.1.3 Insect Pests

Insects are another important biotic stress faced by many legume crops. They cause important damages through both by direct feeding as vectors and by providing infection sites for pathogens. Examples of important insect pests in grain legumes include aphids like *Aphis glycine*, pod borers such as *Helicoverpa armigera* and *H. punctigera* in cool season legumes [24], and weevils such as *Apion godmani* and *Zabrodes subfasciatus* in warm season legumes [25, 26].

16.3.1.4 Parasitic Weeds

A number of parasitic plants have become weeds, posing severe constraints to major crops including grain legumes [27]. One such example is of *Orobanche foe-tida*, which is widely distributed in natural habitats in the Western Mediterranean area parasitizing wild herbaceous leguminous plants, also considered an important agricultural parasite in the faba bean in Beja region of Tunisia. *Orobanche minor* is of economic importance on clover that is grown for seed and has recently become a problem on red clover in Oregon [10, 28]. Similarly, *Striga gesnerioides* and *Alectra*

vogelii cause considerable yield reduction of grain legume crops, particularly cowpea, throughout semiarid areas of sub-Saharan Africa [29].

16.3.2

Abiotic Stresses: A Threat to Grain Legumes

Abiotic stress broadly include multiple stresses such as heat, chilling, excessive light, drought, water logging, wounding, ozone exposure, UV-B irradiation, osmotic shock, and salinity. Some of these stresses like drought, extreme temperature, and high salinity dramatically limit crop productivity. Drought stress is particularly important in context of the grain legumes, such as peanut (*A. hypogaea*), Brazil nuts (*Bertholletia excelsa*), and faba bean (*V. faba*). Moreover, drought–*Aspergillus* interaction results in occurrence of preharvest aflatoxin contamination in these crops [30–32]. Likewise, waterlogging due to a combination of unfavorable weather conditions and suboptimal soil and irrigation techniques can result in severe yield losses in grain legumes [33, 34]. Several of the abiotic stresses associated with legume crops can also directly affect symbiotic interactions and therefore limit legume growth [35].

Drought problems for legumes are likely to worsen with the projected rapid expansion of water-stressed areas of the world from 28 to 30 countries today to 50 countries encompassing 3 billion people by 2030 [36]. Thus, there is a crucial need to increase drought tolerance in legumes; however, increasing salinity tolerance is a parallel requirement in many areas. The more drought-tolerant legumes, such as cowpea, are deeply rooted and the reduced leaf size with thickened cuticles might be responsible for the reduced water loss under stress.

16.3.2.1 Heat Stress

Heat stress due to increased temperature is an agricultural problem in many areas in the world. Transitory or constantly high temperatures cause an array of morphoanatomical, physiological, and biochemical changes in plants, which affect plant growth and development and may lead to a drastic reduction in economic yield. The adverse effects of heat stress can be mitigated by developing crop plants with improved thermotolerance using various genetic approaches.

16.3.2.2 Salinity

Soil salinity is one of the main abiotic stresses that plants encounter more frequently. It is expected that by 2050 more than 50% of all arable lands will be saline [37]. Soil salinity affects total nitrogen uptake and soil nitrogen contribution [38], leading to reduced yield besides limiting a constraint to their symbiotic functioning [39]. In addition, inhibition of rhizobial growth has been recognized at NaCl levels that were toxic, but not lethal to the host plants, strains visibly possessing variations in their sensitivity to salinity [39]. Nevertheless, the progress in the direct screening for grain yield under saline conditions has been hampered by the low heritability, polygenic control, epistasis, significant genotype × environment ($G \times E$) interaction, and quantitative trait loci (QTIs) × environment (QTL × E) interaction [40].

16.4 Biotechnological Interventions in Grain Legume Improvement

Breeding for resistance or traditional breeding program has served for a long time as the only solution to the problem regarding the adverse environmental condition. However, lack of knowledge regarding genetic variation and in-depth study on molecular mechanism behind stress tolerance largely affected the progress of the crop improvement programs. Recent advancements on different biotechnological approaches opened a new era of stress biology and widened the scenario of traditional breeding programs using molecular breeding approaches. Pure line breeding, population breeding, mutation breeding, and wide hybridization have been used for development of new varieties of legume crops and have led to incremental improvements in the yield potential of these crops.

Most of the grain legumes have a narrow genetic base [41], and levels of resistance to some biotic and abiotic constraints are low. Since the overarching researchfor-development challenge in grain legumes is to apply crop improvement to maximize the benefits that grain legumes offer to smallholder farmers, running against the headwinds grain legume researchers have nonetheless achieved remarkable impacts globally by increasing yields and developing solutions for destructive diseases besides making headway against the complex problems of drought. Applications of the developed genomic tools and modern breeding approaches potentially will shorten the breeding cycles and eventually lead to development of superior cultivars. Similarly, identifying novel genes/traits and assessing their suitability as candidate genes for genetic engineering options will be important for future grain legume breeding programs.

Keeping in view the adversities faced by the grain legumes, this chapter deals with the novel and efficient modern breeding methods/biotechnological tools for accelerating the grain legume improvement programs. Various biotechnological approaches for crop improvement of the major grain legumes such as groundnut, chickpea, pigeonpea, soybean, common bean, cowpea, and lentil are being discussed in detail in the following sections.

16.4.1 Groundnut

Groundnut (*A. hypogaea*) (also known as peanut, earthnut, and monkey nut or goobers) is an important oilseed cash crop containing 36–54% oil, 16–36% protein, and 10–20% carbohydrates, cultivated in over 100 tropical and subtropical countries of the world [1]. About 70% of the world's peanut is produced in the SAT and India has the largest peanut growing area with 6.7 million ha (27.3%) and stands second in the production at 6.5 million tons (18.2%). Since 80% of the crop is grown under rainfed conditions by resource-poor farmers, the rainfall pattern during the presowing months and the availability of substitute high-value oilseed crops like soybean and sunflower of short durations requiring less water have had a significant negative impact on acreage allocation decisions of the farmers. Moreover, a

big gap exists between the realized yield and potential yield of peanut at both subsistence and commercial systems of production in Asia and Africa due to both abiotic and biotic factors. The major abiotic factors affecting peanut production include drought, high temperature, low soil fertility, low soil pH, and iron chlorosis. Among the biotic factors, fungal diseases, virus diseases, bacterial wilt disease, aflatoxin contamination, nematodes, foliar insect pests, and soil insect pests are important [42].

Groundnut crop improvement by conventional breeding has been struggling to meet the demands of increasing population, especially in seed quality improvement and developing virus- and insect-resistant varieties. Several advanced research institutes or groups are working to apply modern biotechnology for groundnut improvement in developing countries. These include marker-assisted selection (MAS), tissue culture, embryo rescue, and genetic modification techniques.

16.4.1.1 Biotechnology for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

Drought is the major cause for low and erratic pod yield in peanut that contributes to over 6.7 million tons loss in annual world peanut production [43], resulting in estimated monetary losses of over US\$ 520 million annually [44]. Yield losses in peanut due to water deficits vary depending on timing, intensity, and duration of the deficit, coupled with other location-specific environmental stress factors such as high irradiance and temperature [45]. Due to the scarcity of available water in SAT regions, drought management strategies, whether agronomic or genetic, therefore, need to focus on maximizing extraction of available soil moisture and the efficiency of its use in crop establishment: growth, biomass, and grain yield [46].

The first genetic map for cultivated groundnut (*A. hypogaea*), an amphidiploid (4X) species was developed at ICRISAT that demonstrated its utility in molecular mapping of QTLs controlling drought tolerance-related traits as well as in establishing relationships with diploid AA genome of groundnut and model legume genome species [47, 124].

In order to develop a genetic linkage map for tetraploid cultivated groundnut, a total of 1145 microsatellite or simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers available in public domain as well as unpublished markers from several sources were screened on two genotypes, TAG 24 and ICGV 86031 that are parents of a recombinant inbred line mapping population. As a result, 144 (12.6%) polymorphic markers were identified that amplified 150 loci. A total of 135 SSR loci could be mapped into 22 linkage groups [47, 124]. More recently, nearly 700 genes were identified in subtractive cDNA library from gradual process of drought stress adaptation in groundnut [48]. A high-density oligonucleotide microarray for groundnut has also been developed using 49 205 publicly available ESTs and tested the utility of this array for expression profiling in a variety of groundnut tissues [49].

Recently, a straightforward laboratory protocol used acquired thermotolerance (ATT) in groundnut seedlings as a measure of one mechanism of heat stress tolerance. Sixteen genotypes were evaluated for acquired themotolerance in two independent experiments. A change in the temperature sensitivity of chlorophyll accumulation was used as an indicator of acquired thermotolerance [50]. Interestingly, another study indicated that lipoxygenase and 1L-myo-inositol-1-phosphate synthase, which aid in inter- and intracellular stress signaling, were more abundant in tolerant genotypes of groundnut under water deficit stress. Here, the acetyl-CoA carboxylase, a key enzyme of lipid biosynthesis, increased in relative abundance along with a corresponding increase in epicuticular wax content in the tolerant genotypes suggesting an additional mechanism for water conservation and stress tolerance. In addition, there was a marked decrease in the abundance of several photosynthetic proteins in the tolerant genotypes along with a concomitant decrease in net photosynthesis in response to water deficit stress [51].

Drought is a very complex trait, involving the concerted action of many genes and gene families, a feature that renders engineering drought tolerance very challenging. There have been very few efforts on developing groundnut transgenics for abiotic stresses. Transgenic groundnut plants transformed with AtNHX1 gene were reported to be more resistant to high concentration of salt and water deprivation than their wild-type counterparts. Salt and proline level in the leaves of the transgenic plants were also much higher than that in the wildtype plants [52]. At ICRISAT, groundnut was transformed using a single regulatory gene (DREB1A transcription factor), which in turn regulates the expression of downstream genes leading to the activation of many functional genes [53, 54]. Preliminary results of these transgenics showed that several events acquired the capacity to extract more water from the soil profile or had altered leaf conductance. O the 50 independent transgenic events thus produced, 6 transgenic events have single transgene insert and variable transpiration efficiencies (TE) and desirable root traits were selected for further evaluation of pod yield under both drought and fully irrigated conditions, in a series of greenhouse and field environments. These trials were also the basis of a comprehensive study of the component traits leading to drought adaptation. The transgenic peanuts were evaluated based on their effectiveness in (i) capturing the water; (ii) effective usage of captured water for producing biomass via photosynthesis; and (iii) converting assimilate into a harvestable form based on the equation $Y = T^*TE^*HI$. Nevertheless, outputs of these study have the potential to draw us closer to a transgenic solution to this global problem by reconciling both molecular and agronomic approaches toward a common focus of groundnut breeding for drought tolerance.

16.4.1.2 Biotechnology for Resistance to Biotic Stresses

The major biotic stresses for groundnut include the foliar fungal diseases, leaf spot (early and late), and rusts. Besides, seed and soil-borne diseases like collar rot, stem rot, and dry root rot have also been identified as important in groundnut. Among viral diseases, bud necrosis (BND), stem necrosis (PSND), peanut mottle (PMV), and peanut clump (PCV) are considered to be of economic importance in groundnut. With regard to the insect pests, a wide range of pests like leaf miner, tobacco caterpillar, white grub, jassids, thrips, aphids, red hairy caterpillar, and termite are known to cause serious damage to groundnut crop [55].

A considerable number of SSR sequences for resistance to various diseases have been identified from peanut genome by several research groups [56–65] The SSR markers have been identified and characterized for association with resistance traits such as rust and late leaf spot resistance [66, 67] and resistance to *Ralstonia solanacearum* [68] and *Sclerotinia minor* [69]. Genetic linkage maps with SSR markers have been constructed for diploid AA genome [59], BB genome [70], tetraploid AABB genome derived from a cross of cultivated with amphidiploids [71], and tetraploid AABB genome in the cultivated peanut [72].

For virus resistance, the most common gene, which has been targeted at early stages of virus multiplication, is the coat protein gene of the target virus. The first ever-transgenic groundnuts, resistant to the peanut clump virus (IPCV) wide spread in West Africa and pockets of Asia, have been developed [73]. Besides, exploitation of pathogen-derived resistance (PDR) to groundnut rosette disease (GRD) by using GRAV-*cp* gene to induce host plant resistance to GRD has been carried out at ICRISAT and is undergoing testing in Africa. Transgenic plants of groundnut varieties, Gajah and NC 7, have been developed using one of the two forms of PStV coat protein (*cp*) gene that exhibited high levels of resistance to peanut stripe potyvirus (PStV), wide spread in East and Southeast Asia [74].

Similarly, transgenic options to combat peanut bud necrosis disease (PBND) and PSND include development of transgenic groundnut plants expressing either the nuleocapsid gene or the coat protein gene in groundnut. Biotechnological interventions to address the problem of spotted wilt of groundnut caused by tomato spotted wilt virus (TSWV) have been underway by various groups. Milla *et al.* [75] used AFLP markers to establish marker trait association for TSWV resistance in groundnut. These technologies are in different stages of development and have a potential to be incorporated in peanut breeding programs for improvement following their regulatory approvals. Since protection of transgenic plants against many of these viruses is under both RNA- and protein-mediated control [76], efforts on harnessing antisense and RNAi technology for resistance to these viruses are being pursued by various groups [77, 78].

Besides viruses, fungal diseases in groundnut are the most significant limiting factor causing more than 50% yield losses throughout the world. Early leaf spot caused by *Cercospora arachidicola* S. Hori (*Mycosphaerella arachidis* Deighton), late leaf spot caused by *Phaeoisariopsis personata* Berk. & M.A. Curtis (*Mycosphaerella berkeleyi*), rust (*P. arachidis*), crown rot (*Aspergillus niger* Teigh.), collar rot caused by *Aspergillus* spp., root rot caused by *Macrophomina phaseolina*, stem rot caused by *S. rolfsii*, and yellow mold (*Aspergillus flavus* and *Aspergillus parasiticus*) causing aflatoxin contamination are the major fungal diseases affecting groundnut crop. Aflatoxin contamination in top groundnut-producing states of the United States caused average annual losses of US\$ 26 million to its southeastern groundnut industry [79]. Chemical control and conventional breeding have yielded only limited success. Although wild relatives of groundnut possess resistance to foliar diseases to the level of even immunity [80–82], the interspecific hybridization has not been highly successful in introgression of the desirable traits where desired due to complexity of inheritance and several inherent breeding barriers [83, 84]. This

narrow genetic basis of the cultivated groundnut *A. hypogaea* L. hampers the development of improved varieties through conventional breeding.

To overcome these bottlenecks, transgenic options for groundnut crop improvement for various diseases have been carried out by various groups. Transgenic groundnut expressing a tobacco chitinase gene II [85] and rice chitinase and an alfalfa glucanase gene [86] have been shown to possess enhanced resistance to the late leaf spot and *Sclerotinia* blight, respectively. Glucanase gene from tobacco introduced into groundnut (PR protein from heterologous source) showed enhanced disease resistance to *C. arachidicola* and *A. flavus* [87]. Transgenic plants of groundnut carrying mustard defensin gene showed increased disease resistance to *C. arachidicola* Hori. and *P. personata* [88]. Similarly, overexpression of barley oxalate oxidase gene in transgenic groundnut showed enhanced resistance to oxalic acid producing fungi, *S. minor* [89].

Since aflatoxin contamination of groundnut not only causes significant economic hardship for producers but also poses a serious health threat to humans. Transgenic interventions for enhancing host plant resistance to *A. flavus* infection have been carried out in groundnut. There have been various studies carried out for developing transgenic groundnut plants either overexpressing and/or downregulating different genes for resistance to *A. flavus* and aflatoxin [90–92].

So far, groundnut is virtually unexplored at the genomic level because of the large genome size (2800 Mb/1C) and complication and hence expressed sequenced tags (EST) have been considered to be a quick and economical approach to identify important groundnut genes involved in defense response against fungal infections, also providing data on gene expression and regulation [93, 94]. Efforts have been made to identify and characterize the peanut EST regulated during interaction with the fungus *Cercosporidium personatum* (causing late leaf spot) using suppressive subtractive hybridization (SSH) to prepare the subtracted cDNA libraries [95]. Utilizing the genomic and proteomic tools, genes and proteins associated with *A. parasiticus* and drought stress were identified in groundnut [96–98]. Such genes have a potential to be used for enhanced fungal disease resistance in groundnut through marker-assisted selection in breeding or by direct upregulation or down-regulation of the target gene using genetic engineering.

16.4.2 Chickpea

Chickpea is the most important food legume of semiarid tropics (SAT) and taxonomically one of the closest crops to the model legume *Medicago*. Chickpea, from their region of domestication in the Near East, quickly spread to the Indian subcontinent where it became a principal pulse crop and a dietary mainstay [99]. Chickpea was successfully introduced to Central and South America and to the western United States [99]. Chickpea is the major pulse crop in the Indian subcontinent where it is produced on nearly 7 million ha [99]. Chickpea's yield potential is limited by a series of biotic and abiotic stresses, including Ascochyta blight, Fusarium wilt, drought, cold, and salinity. It is mostly grown under

rainfed conditions in arid and semiarid areas around the world. Despite growing demand and high-yield potential, chickpea yield is unstable and productivity is stagnant at unacceptably low levels. Together with low temperatures and water stress, high salinity is responsible for crop losses of millions of tons of various legume (and other) crops and continuously deteriorating environmental conditions combined with salinity stress to further compromise chickpea yields. Hence, major yield increases in chickpea could be achieved by development and use of cultivars that resist/tolerate abiotic and biotic stresses. To accelerate molecular breeding efforts for the discovery and introgression of stress tolerance genes into cultivated chickpea, functional genomics approaches and/or transgenics are rapidly growing. Recently, a series of genetic tools for chickpea have become available that have allowed high-powered functional genomics studies to proceed, including a dense genetic map, large insert genome libraries, expressed sequence tag libraries, microarrays, serial analysis of gene expression, and transgenics and reverse genetics.

16.4.2.1 Biotechnology for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

Chickpea (C. arietinum L.), a deep-rooted legume grown in semiarid regions of the world, is liable to terminal drought, which impacts plant growth and descends global annual vield stability. Chickpea varieties susceptible/tolerant to abiotic stress have been characterized under abiotic stress conditions (especially drought stress), although very little is known about the genes involved in abiotic stress responses. Nevertheless, the characterization of genes involved in the differential behavior of these cultivars may constitute a good basis to extrapolate these results to other grain legumes. In order to identify and understand the molecular mechanisms of tolerance to abiotic stress such as drought, a total of 10996 ESTs were generated from 10 cDNA libraries derived from root tissues of drought-tolerant (ICC 4958) and drought-sensitive (ICC 1882) chickpea genotypes grown under control and drought stress conditions. The drought-responsive ESTs along with 7439 salinity-responsive ESTs generated from salt stress challenged tissues of JG 11 and ICCV 2 genotypes of chickpea, and 7097 public domain chickpea ESTs were comprehended to derive 9569 unigenes (2431 contigs and 7138 singletons) and were used to identify and design EST-based SSR and SNP markers. The availability of such large number of ESTs derived from different resources provided an added advantage for computational SNP discovery, first by assembling ESTs derived from different individuals and then scanning the multiple sequence alignments (MSA) of the contig to find sequence differences that correlate with the source of the EST, providing opportunities to understand the genetic mechanisms underlying stress responses in this legume. (http://www.icrisat.org/bt-gene-discovery.htm).

Similarly, a transcriptional profiling study in chickpea was carried out using cDNA microarray approach under drought, cold, and high salinity to look at the gene expression in the leaf, root, and/or flower tissues in tolerant and susceptible genotypes [100]. Besides, superSAGE analysis for gene expression in chickpea roots in response to drought resulted in sequencing of a total of 80 238 of 26 bp tags [101] (Among these tags, a total of 7532 (43%) UniTags were more than 2.7-fold

differentially expressed, and 880 (5.0%) were regulated more than 8-fold upon stress resulting in unambiguous annotation of 22% (3858) of these tags. This is the first study to prove the potential of SuperSAGE technology for molecular breeding in the nonmodel crops. Interestingly, in this year the same group has done an excellent modification of this technique as deepSuperSAGE, and raised a huge amount of data against abiotic stress [101].

In sharp contrast to the importance of chickpeas as staple food and industrial raw material, the salt responses at the transcriptome and proteome levels had been dealt with at only very low throughput until some years ago, that is, tens or at the most hundreds of genes had been considered [100]. Molina et al. [102] applied deepSuperSAGE to detect early global transcriptome changes under salt-stressed chickpea. The salt stress responses of 86919 transcripts representing 17918 unique 26 bp deepSuperSAGE tags (UniTags) from roots of the salt-tolerant variety INRAT-93 2h after treatment with 25 mM NaCl were characterized. Of the total 144 200 analyzed 26 bp tags in roots and nodules together, 21 401 unique transcripts were identified. Of these, only 363 and 106 specific transcripts were commonly upregulated or downregulated (>3.0-fold), respectively, under salt stress in both organs, witnessing a differential organ-specific response to stress. These results demonstrated that ROS-scavenging and ROS-generating pathways undergo strong global transcriptome changes in chickpea roots and nodules 2 h after the onset of moderate salt stress (25 mM NaCl). These newly identified transcript isoforms are potential targets for breeding novel cultivars with high salinity tolerance [102].

Most of the earlier understanding of dehydration-responsive cellular adaptation in chickpea has evolved from transcriptome analyses and the comparative analysis of dehydration-responsive proteins, particularly proteins in the subcellular fraction, is limiting. Bhushan et al. [103] have initiated a proteomics approach to identify dehydration-responsive extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins in JG-62, a drought-tolerant variety of chickpea where the dehydration-responsive temporal changes of ECM proteins revealed 186 proteins with variance at a 95% significance level. This study, for the first time, demonstrated that over a hundred ECM proteins are presumably involved in a variety of cellular functions, namely, cell wall modification, signal transduction, metabolism, and cell defense and rescue, and impinge on the molecular mechanism of dehydration tolerance in plants. Another study provided insights into the complex metabolic network operating in the nucleus during dehydration in chickpea [104]. Approximately 205 protein spots were found to be differentially regulated under dehydration. Mass spectrometry analysis allowed the identification of 147 differentially expressed proteins, presumably involved in a variety of functions including gene transcription and replication, molecular chaperones, cell signaling, and chromatin remodeling. The dehydration-responsive nuclear proteome of chickpea revealed a coordinated response, which involves both the regulatory and the functional proteins [104].

Efforts on enhancing the drought tolerance using transgenic interventions have also been carried out in chickpea, where transgenics carrying *P5CSF129A* gene encoding 1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase were constitutively expressed

for overproduction of an osmolyte proline, which is known to have a role in osmotic adjustment and cell protection under water deficits [105]. In an another effort, *DREB1A* cDNA from *Arabidopsis thaliana*, capable of transactivating DRE-dependent transcription in plant cells under the control of stress-inducible *rd29* promoter, was introduced to a popular chickpea cultivar for improving drought and salinity tolerance in this important pulse crop (K.K. Sharma, unpublished results).

16.4.2.2 Biotechnology for Resistance to Biotic Stresses

In chickpea, genetics of resistance to Ascochyta blight [106–109] and Fusarium wilt [110–114] have been extensively analyzed. A comprehensive overview of previous genetic mapping efforts in chickpea is available [115]. The advent of sequence-tagged microsatellite sites (STMS) markers [116, 117], however, provided the opportunity to integrate the different available maps.

Cool and wet weather conditions are typical for Mediterranean winters, favoring the development of Ascochyta blight that is caused by the necrotrophic fungus *A. rabiei* (Pass.) that affects all aerial parts of chickpea. Although sources of resistance have been identified [106], the development of stable blight-resistant lines would allow a shift to sowing into the rainy season. The genetics of resistance to Ascochyta blight has been extensively analyzed because the disease is of great agronomic and economic importance. Nevertheless, more durable resistance could probably be achieved by pyramiding of resistance genes via MAS and is currently a major challenge for chickpea breeders [118].

Among the many insect pests, the legume pod borer, H. armigera, is the most devastating pest damaging chickpea in Asia, Africa, and Australia. Despite the efforts made over the past four decades to breed crops for resistance to insects, the progress has been less than satisfactory in many cases. The resistance to Helico*verpa* in chickpea has so far been found to be low to moderate. Therefore, it is imperative to evaluate the use of biotechnology to provide alternative and sustainable levels of resistance to this insect pest. Genetic transformation has been an important strategy to introduce the insecticidal protein genes from the bacterium Bacillus thuringiensis (Bt) and other heterologous sources for improving the resistance of chickpea. Although extensive work has been carried out in developing transgenic plants with Bt and other insecticidal genes to combat the insect pest H. armigera, there has not been a major breakthrough in controlling this devastating pest in this important pulse [119]. Since there has not been a major breakthrough in identifying events showing a much higher expression of the insecticidal protein sufficient to cause a 90-95% insect mortality under natural conditions, efforts are also focused on using several promoter-gene combinations for efficient expression of the Bt genes. Efforts are being made to use SARs (scaffold attachment regions) and MARs (matrix attachment regions) for high gene expression and exploring possibilities of using suppressor genes such as AC2 to enhance the Bt gene expression in this crop. There is a need to produce larger numbers of transgenic events of chickpea using various Cry1 and Cry2 gene constructs to obtain one or more agronomically acceptable insect-resistant chickpea lines.

Aphis craccivora, the homopteran group of sucking pest, causes major damage to chickpea by extracting nutrients from the phloem [120]. Apart from the direct damage, they transmit different viruses that cause damaging diseases to the crop. Expression of ASAL driven by a phloem-specific *rolC* promoter was carried out in chickpea transgenics followed by their evaluation by binding analyses of its respective *cis*-elements with host nuclear transcription factors. The novel in planta bioassay conducted on *A. craccivora* revealed that insect survival and fecundity decreased significantly in T1 plants in comparison to the untransformed control chickpea [120]. Apart from pod borer and aphids, bruchids cause substantial loss during storage in chickpea [121]. The cowpea weevil (*Callosobruchus maculatus*) and azuki bean weevil (*Callosobruchus chinensis*) infest chickpea seeds heavily. To address this, *a*-amylase inhibitor gene isolated from *Phaseolus vulgaris* was introduced into chickpea cultivar K850 through *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation. Results of bioassays revealed a significant reduction in the survival rate of bruchid weevil *C. maculatus* reared on these transgenic chickpea seeds [122].

While transcriptomics studies including microarrays have been used extensively for transcriptional profiling of plant responses to biotic and abiotic stresses, most of these are focused on either biotic or abiotic stresses, making it difficult to construe the genes that may be common to both biotic and abiotic stress responses. Such information may help molecular breeders to develop cultivars with broad-spectrum resistances to these stresses. A 768-featured boutique microarray was employed to compare the genes expressed by chickpea in response to drought, cold, and high salinity and the fungal pathogen *A. rabiei* and 46, 54, 266, and 51 differentially expressed transcripts were identified, respectively [123]. The expression of common genes indicated crosstalk in the genetic pathways involved in responses to these stress conditions. The response of ICC 3996 to *A. rabiei* was more similar to that of high-salinity stress than to drought or cold stress conditions [123].

16.4.3

Pigeonpea

Pigeonpea (*Cajanus cajan*), an important food legume crop in the semiarid regions of the world and the second most important pulse crop in India, has an average crop productivity of 780 kg/ha that is relatively lower than many other legumes. The low yields may be attributed to nonavailability of improved cultivars, poor crop husbandry, and exposure to a number of biotic and abiotic stresses in pigeonpea growing regions. Narrow genetic diversity in cultivated germplasm has further hampered the effective utilization of conventional breeding as well as development and utilization of genomic tools, resulting in pigeonpea being often referred to as an "orphan crop legume."

Conventional breeding efforts in pigeonpea crop improvement have been successful in producing improved seed quality and reduction of crop maturity duration. Nevertheless, genetic improvement of pigeonpea has been restricted due to the nonavailability of better genetic resources and strong sexual barriers between

the cultivated and wild species. The recent developments in plant biotechnology have provided immense potential in overcoming some of these constraints, thereby offering opportunities for its successful integration with conventional crop improvement strategies. The breakthrough in pigeonpea genome sequencing [124, 125] has resulted in identification of newer genes related to biotic and abiotic stresses in this legume crop, which can effectively be utilized to find stressresponsive genes in other legume crops through comparative studies. Pigeonpea genome analysis predicted 48 680 genes and also showed the potential role that certain gene families, for example, drought tolerance-related genes, have played throughout the domestication of pigeonpea and the evolution of its ancestors [124].

16.4.3.1 Biotechnology for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

Drought, cold, heat, and salinity are the abiotic stresses that affect the pigeonpea yield. Besides, waterlogging, heavy rains, and frost are very harmful for the crop. Hence, improvement of pigeonpea for tolerance to these abiotic stresses is very important for obtaining increases in the harvest index and ultimately the yield. Pigeonpea has remarkable drought tolerance traits, which have been used for the isolation of stress-responsive genes. A recent study identified 75 ESTs obtained from the cDNA libraries of drought-stressed plants, 20 ESTs proved to be unique to the pigeonpea [126]. Expression profiles of selected genes revealed increased levels of m-RNA transcripts in pigeonpea plants subjected to different abiotic stresses. Transgenic Arabidopsis lines, expressing C. cajan hybrid proline-rich protein (CcHyPRP), C. cajan cyclophilin (CcCYP) and C. cajan cold and drought regulatory (CcCDR) genes, exhibited marked tolerance, increased plant biomass, and enhanced photosynthetic rates under PEG/NaCl/cold/heat stress conditions [126]. These genes, as such, hold promise for engineering crop plants bestowed with tolerance to major abiotic stresses [126]. A recent study identified 5692 unique candidate single feature polymorphisms (SFPs) that are microarray-based molecular markers detected by hybridization of DNA or cDNA to oligonucleotide probes, extending the marker repertoire with functional marker systems in pigeonpea [127] With the pigeonpea genome sequence now available, genes need to be confirmed experimentally, but are, nonetheless, candidates that can be used to gain insight into the genetic architecture of pigeonpea's drought tolerance and for screens to identify superior haplotypes for improvement. This will facilitate the assembly and alignment of the sequence of other legume crops as well as the unique genes found in pigeonpea may be exploited to improve other legumes for various traits. These candidate genes are useful resource for undertaking the gene expression analysis as well as development of functional markers for both basic and applied research, especially for drought tolerance in pigeonpea improvement [127].

Although relatively tolerant to drought, pigeonpea is sensitive to photoperiod and temperature. While low temperatures affect the short-duration varieties of pigeonpea, high temperature and photoperiod affect the yield of medium and long-duration varieties rendering them to terminal drought. Likewise, in cool areas, maturity in long-duration pigeonpea is accelerated and severe competition occurs between intercropped maize whose maturity is delayed and pigeonpeas resulting in yield reduction of both crops. It is proven that membrane lipids hold the key for improvement of photosynthesis under low-temperature and high-temperature stress conditions [128]. Not much progress has been made using transgenic solutions for various abiotic stresses in pigeonpea, which need to be improved for getting high yield varieties for this important grain legume. Moreover, pigeonpea is classified as moderately sensitive to salinity [129], development of salt-tolerant variety could be thus useful for Indian farmers as it is grown predominantly in the states where more than 51% of the saline soils in India are located [130].

16.4.3.2 Biotechnology for Resistance to Biotic Stresses

Modern genomic tools such as molecular markers and candidate genes associated with resistance to biotic stresses such as Fusarium wilt, sterility mosaic disease, and pod borer (H. armigera) offer the possibility of facilitating pigeonpea breeding for improving biotic stress resistance. Availability of limited genomic resources, however, is a serious bottleneck to undertake molecular breeding in pigeonpea to develop superior genotypes with enhanced resistance to above-mentioned biotic stresses. FW- and SMD-responsive ESTs in pigeonpea have been analyzed and this information can be used for the development of novel SSR and SNP markers in pigeonpea [131]. For enhancing the genomic resources of pigeonpea against biotic constraints. ICRISAT has developed large-scale SSR markers from BAC (bacterial artificial chromosome)-end sequences (BESs) and their subsequent use for genetic mapping and hybridity testing in pigeonpea [132]. Besides, genomic studies on pigeon pea have been conducted with emphasis on genetic mapping and evaluation of polymorphism using RFLP (restriction fragment length polymorphism), RAPD (random amplified polymorphic DNA), microsatellites, and simple sequence repeats (SSR) for H. armigera resistance genes [133].

Bulk segregant analysis (BSA) has been employed to identify simple sequence repeats (SSR) and amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) markers associated with sterility mosaic disease that is considered to be an important disease of pigeonpea causing substantial loss in yield [134]. From 13 polymorphic AFLP primer combinations between the parents, 2 AFLP primer pairs generated 4 markers. O these, two were reported to be linked in coupling phase to the susceptible dominant allele amplifying only in susceptible individuals that can be effectively used for marker-assisted selection [134]. With a long-term plan to develop transgenic pigeonpea with resistance to fungal disease, there have been efforts on using a rice chitinase gene for transformation in pigeonpea [135].

Since conventional breeding methods have not been very successful in producing pest-resistant genotypes of pigeonpea due to the limited genetic variation in cultivated germplasm, ICRISAT has developed an efficient method to produce transgenic plants of pigeonpea through *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*-mediated genetic transformation [136]. Lawrence and Koundal [137] transformed pigeonpea with a cowpea protease inhibitor gene for developing transgenic pigeon pea resistant to chewing insects, mainly pod borers. Similarly, Surekha *et al.* [138] successfully transformed pigeon pea with synthetic *cry* I E-C gene. Transgenic pigeon pea events carrying the *Bacillus thuringiensis cry1Ab* and soybean trypsin inhibitor

(SBTI) genes are being developed and evaluated for resistance to *H. armigera* under greenhouse and field conditions in Patancheru, Andhra Pradesh, India.

16.4.4 **Soybean**

Soybean is the most valuable legume crop, with numerous nutritional and industrial uses due to its unique chemical composition. With its high protein (40%) and moderately high oil (20%) contents, soybean is the world's main source of vegetable protein and oil, accounting for 55% of all oilseeds produced. The enormous agronomic importance of soybean, coupled with the development of modern molecular biology, has led to an increasing level of activity to develop soybean genomics. The efforts in the soybean research community have led to substantial progress in the areas of molecular marker development, expressed sequenced tag databases, BAC end sequences, microarrays, and efficient genetic engineering capabilities. A physical map for cv. Forrest was completed with NSF support (and a physical map of cv. Williams 82, developed with USB funding, is nearing completion (unpublished)). Thus, soybean is also positioned as a key model for translational genomics in grain legumes.

16.4.4.1 Biotechnology for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

Depending on hybrid characteristics, soybeans use about 450–700 mm of water during the growing season [139] with drought reducing its yield by about 40% [140]. The most critical period for water stress in soybean has been reported to be during the flowering stage and the period following flowering. However, despite the large resources committed to soybean breeding, progress in improving drought resistance has been slow for a number of reasons [141]. A large number of QTLs have been identified in soybean for traits related to agronomic, physiological, seed composition, and both biotic and abiotic stress parameters (www.soybase.ncgr.org). However, to date only a few QTLs associated with drought resistance traits have been identified.

In the last decade, considerable progress has been made in developing genomic resources for soybean, including the sequencing of the entire soybean genome of approximately 975 Mb (http://www.phytozome.net/soybean#C). Various types of physical maps have also been using RFLP, RAPD, SSR, and AFLP markers [142]. A high-density genetic linkage map of soybean using EST-derived microsatellite markers was generated using a hybrid between the Japanese cultivar "Misuzu-daizu" and the Chinese line "Moshidou Gong 503" by Japanese researchers [143, 144]. Also, the possibility of segmental duplications in the previously suggested regions of the soybean genome was confirmed by inspecting the colinearity between the genomes of soybean and *Lotus japonicus* [144]. Detailed genetic and physical maps of the soybean genome, which together cover the soybean genome by more than 35-fold, have also been created using microsatellite markers from BAC libraries [145]. The Williams 82 *Bsty*I library containing 92 160 clones with an average insert size of 150 kb covering approximately 12 genome

equivalents has been constructed. A genetic map was then integrated to this physical map by anchoring approximately 1000 SSR and STS markers, developed from expressed sequence tags, which are associated with drought responses, disease resistance, seed development, and composition traits [146]. In addition, a sixdimensional pool array has been recently developed from 49152 Bstyl soybean clones ($\sim 6 \times$ genome equivalents), comprising 208 BAC pools [146]. The integrated genetic and physical map will be useful for comparative genetic analysis, mapbased cloning of QTLs of desired traits, and genomic sequencing. Recently, the entire soybean genomic sequence has been released with 66153 protein-coding loci (http://www.phytozome.net/soybean#C). Besides, a spotted cDNA microarray is available containing 36 000 elements constructed from soybean cDNAs, which were derived from a variety of EST libraries representing a wide source of tissues and organs, developmental stages and stress, and pathogen-infected plants (Vodkin et al., 2004). The ESTs isolated from the subtracted library of drought-stressed soybean root tips and submitted to GenBank will greatly contribute to the stress-specific unigenes for further functional genomics work aimed at better understanding of the drought stress response of the soybean root system [147]. So far QTLs in soybean under water deficit conditions have been reported only for WUE and leaf ash [148]. More studies are needed to identify QTLs that influence root architecture and shoot turgor maintenance. Mapping for new QTL(s)/gene(s) and determination of gene action under drought will likely provide key resources to improve tolerance to drought stress in soybean. There exists a substantial genetic variation in soybean for salt response and QTLs associated with salt tolerance in soybean have been identified [149]. With the availability of mutant populations and major achievements in marker-assisted selection and soybean transformation, it is now possible to study and characterize the genes related to drought resistance, leading ultimately to better soybean productivity.

Besides these efforts on functional genomics, there have been enormous efforts on transgenic interventions for abiotic stress tolerance in soybean. Transgenic soybean plants overexpressing the Arabidopsis Δ 1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthase gene, P5CS, showed greater tolerance to drought stress due to an increased free proline level and relative water content and a reduced level of reactive oxygen species, particularly hydrogen peroxide [150-152]. Since this report, much effort has been directed toward isolating drought stress-related genes in all physiological and biochemical aspects of drought stress, TFs, and their respective promoters, which will in turn provide novel tools and resources for the development of engineered soybean with improved drought resistance. The identified soybean candidate genes are usually tested for their ability to enhance drought tolerance in Arabidopsis before pursuing their engineering into soybean. Chen et al. [153] isolated an AtDREB homologous gene GmDREB2 from soybean, constitutive expression of which increased the survival rate of transgenic plants without growth retardation under water deficit and salinity stress conditions. In addition, a few basic leucine zipper genes encoding bZIP TFs were cloned from soybean and found to be induced by drought and high salt treatments. By overexpressing some of these genes in Arabidopsis, the researchers found that transgenic plants have increased

freezing and salt tolerance, but no significant difference in drought tolerance [154, 155]. In two other recent studies, it was found that overexpression of a GmERF TF family member, the *GmERF089* gene, and a chilling inducible *GMCH1* gene promoted enhanced tolerance to drought stress in tobacco and *Arabidopsis*, respectively [156, 157]. Recently, 31 *GmNAC* genes, including the six genes previously identified by Meng *et al.* [158], were identified and cloned from soybean. Systematic expression analysis of these 31 *GmNAC* genes demonstrated that nine genes are dehydration inducible [159]. These nine *GmNAC* genes and their respective promoters are promising tools for genetic engineering to improve drought resistance of soybean, as the NAC family was reported to be a major group of TFs that play a role in root development and stress tolerance in plants [160–163].

Recent reports on transgenic soybean for abiotic stress tolerance include transformation with coding sequence for cyanamide hydratase (Cah), an enzyme that converts toxic cyanamide to urea, from the soil fungus *Myrothecium* [164]. Another report on the constitutive expression of *nectarin1* (*NTR1*) gene from *Brassica campestris* in transgenic soybean resulted in enhanced accumulation of methyl jasmonate (MeJA). *NTR1* gene encodes jasmonic acid carboxyl methyl transferase, which is involved in plant development as it regulates the expression of plant defense genes in response to various stresses such as wounding, drought, and pathogens. The higher levels of MeJA in the transgenic soybean plants conferred tolerance to dehydration during seed germination and seedling growth as reflected by the percentage of the fresh weight of seedlings.

These recent advances in soybean research, ranging from breeding programs to genome sequencing and genomics technologies, provide unprecedented opportunities to understand global patterns of gene expression and their association with the development of specific phenotypes, as well as promising tools for the genetic improvement of closely related species grown in adverse environments by molecular breeding or transgenic approaches. Profiling soybean transcriptome, proteome and metabolites will lay the foundation for a systems biology approach to understand key processes such as growth characteristics, stress responses, and yield. Identification of several root-related and stress-specific candidates could help understand the biochemical networks involved in stress responses. Characterization of these candidates, engineering of selected genes through translational genomics pipeline, and field testing of the transgenics are in the pipelines in different research laboratories.

16.4.4.2 Biotechnology for Resistance to Biotic Stresses

As soybean crop acreage increased over the years, the crop "matured" and is now host to numerous pathogens and pests. Soybean cyst nematode and *Phytophthora sojae* are the primary causes of yield loss in most of the soybean production regions followed by charcoal rot, virus diseases, sudden death syndrome, seedling diseases and a mix of leaf blights, stem rots, and other nematodes. In addition to these soybean diseases, eight major insect pests also contribute to yield losses due to feeding and damage to seed quality. This damage is more consistent in the southern United States and sporadic in the Midwest. A new insect threat has emerged with the newly introduced soybean aphid in the Midwest, where insecticide applications are now becoming a routine practice. Asian soybean rust, a disease that causes serious losses in many parts of the world, was first detected in the continental United States in November 2004 and is caused by the fungus *P. pachyrhizi*. Long known to occur in Asia, the fungus spread to Zimbabwe, South Africa, Paraguay, Brazil, Columbia, and now the United States during the past 10 years. Yield losses in other parts of the world due to soybean rust are reported to range from 10% to 90%.

Soybean has several R-gene and QTL clusters to biotic pathogens already identified and mapped in the soybean genome. It is highly likely, based on other host pathogen systems, which QTLs for the slow rusting (partial resistance) phenotype for soybean rust may map to these regions as well. There have been numerous efforts in the past 10 years to identify new genes and sources of resistance to many of soybean's biotic pests. Biotechnological approaches for the development of genetically engineered soybean lines, which express insecticidal molecules, are being widely studied. Genetic transformation of soybean to induce resistance to lepidopterans using the insertion of Bt toxins dates back to early 1990s [165, 166], where these transgenic soybeans showed resistance toward Helicoverpa zea, soybean looper Pseudoplusia, tobacco burworm (Heliothis virescens), and velvet bean caterpillar (Anticarsia gemmatalis). Moreover, the occurrence of proteinase inhibitors (PIs) as defense-related proteins in sovbean have also been reported to inhibit the growth of insect pests larvae, including the coleopteran Tribolium confusum (Haq) [167, 168] and other insect species, such as Anagasta kuehniella, Hypera postica, and Anthonomus grandi [169, 170]. Recently, soybean biotechnology has been extended to expressing double-strand RNAs (dsRNA) in order to drive gene silencing in nematodes. The posttranscriptional gene silencing using dsRNA RNAi constructs decreased cyst nematodes in transformed soybean roots [171-173].

The glyphosate-tolerant GM soybean alone corresponds to 52% of all biotech crops planted in world area. Indeed, considering soybean, herbicide tolerance has still been the major aimed trait, with around 10 novel varieties showing tolerance to different chemical compounds in their final steps of R & D pipeline to commercial events. However, there is an obvious need and seed market demand for insect pests and plant pathogens resistance traits in soybean. In a very near future, the first GM soybean resistant to insect pests and nematode will be available as single traits or together with herbicide tolerance (stacked traits). Hence, it is expected that in near future, the production of soybean will be possible with less or none agrotoxic residues or mycotoxins enhancing the soybean quality and crop production.

16.4.5

Cowpea

Cowpea, *Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp., is one of the most important food and forage legumes in the semiarid tropics as well as a valuable and dependable commodity for farmers and grain traders. Of the \sim 21 million acres grown worldwide, 80% of cowpea production takes place in the dry savannah of tropical West and Central Africa, mostly by poor subsistence farmers in developing countries. Apart from

improvement of agronomical traits, the biotechnological interventions in cowpea breeding and improvement programs aim toward combating abiotic stress (drought, salinity, and heat) tolerance, photoperiod sensitivity, plant growth type, and seed quality with resistances to the numerous bacterial, fungal, and viral diseases and insect, invertebrate (nematode), and herbivorous pests. However, cowpea being adapted to different environmental conditions could potentially be used as an alternative crop for salt-affected soils [174].

16.4.5.1 Biotechnology for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

Cowpea is one of the important food legumes cultivated by poor farmers in Sub-Saharan Africa and Asia known to have a better tolerance to drought and high temperature compared to other legumes [175]. Preserving membrane integrity by avoiding membrane proteins degradation is essential for plants to survive in drought stress and hence gives cowpea an edge over other legumes [176]. Transcriptomic studies suggest that several coping mechanisms exist in cowpea for preventing lipid and proteins degradation and for generating reaction oxygen species (ROS) (superoxide radicals, O2-; hydrogen peroxide, H2O2; and hydroxyl radicals, OH). Several reports indicate that drought-tolerant cowpea cultivars adopt these strategies by maintaining the level of expression of certain genes such as cystatin and aspartic protease and by promoting membrane integrity [176]. The transcripts coding these proteins were isolated in drought-tolerant cowpea cultivars subjected to water deficit and their expression localized in different organs [177, 178]. Interestingly, while phospholipase D is a major lipid-degrading enzyme in cowpea cultivars sensitive to drought, the expression of the gene encoding phospholipase D1 (VuPLD1) moderately increased in the drought-tolerant cowpea cultivars [179]. Moreover, the cowpea-tolerant cultivars have been reported to overexpress the gene that encodes ascorbate peroxidase in the chloroplast, while this enzyme is activated in the cytoplasm, peroxisome, and chloroplast [180]. The isolation and characterization of nine drought-inducible genes (CPRD) from 4-week-old cowpea plants by differential screening have been carried out to elucidate the molecular response of cowpea plants to drought stress [181]. In another study, two novel cDNAs (one of them VuNCED1 gene encodes the 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase, a key enzyme involved in ABA biosynthesis) have been isolated by a series of differential screening under drought stress. Moreover, several transcripts known as CPRD (cowpea clones responsive to dehydration), CPRD8, CPRD14, CPRD22, and VuNCED1 encode a 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase responsible for ABA (abscisic acid) biosynthesis which is highly expressed in cowpea during drought, high salinity, and heat stresses [181, 182]. To understand the molecular bases of thermotolerance, differentially expressed transcripts from cowpea nodules have been identified following subjection to heat shock treatment [183]. These transcripts showed homologies with low molecular weight heat shock proteins, wound-induced proteins, disease-resistant protein, xylan endohydrolase isoenzyme, and different housekeeping genes.

Although much has been studied about the drought tolerance mechanisms in cowpea, a very little perusal of literature is available regarding the biotechnological

approaches exclusively meant for salinity tolerance in cowpea. Often the genes identified as thermotolerant or drought resistant are found to be involved with salinity stress. Salt stress affects cowpea (*V. unguiculata* L. Walp) varieties at different growing stages and according to a recent study in Cuba, *Vigna* genotypes show significant differences in their tolerance to salinity [184].

The recent influx of molecular markers has enhanced our understanding of cowpea's genome structure and organization. Studies based on RAPD, DAF, and SSR markers revealed a low genetic diversity among cowpea varieties and molecular polymorphism between drought tolerance and sensitive varieties, and also between the higher and lower nitrogen fixing cowpea accessions [185–188]. The first attempt to build a genetic map of cowpea was performed by Fatokun et al. [189] by using a population resulting from a cross between an improved genotype and its wild progenitor V. unguiculata ssp. dekindtiana. Despite the disadvantage of this type of cross, which may be related to the identification of the loci that may be polymorphic only between more divergent genotypes, but not between more closely related genotypes, especially the ones of interest, the authors located a quantitative trait loci for seed weight that was conserved between cowpea and V. radiata ssp. sublobota. Subsequently, the second linkage genetic map developed on cowpea consisted of 181 loci, including 3 morphological markers and a biochemical marker (dehydrin) that allowed mapping of genes involved in earliness and seed weight, respectively, in linkage groups 2 and 5 [190].

16.4.5.2 Biotechnology for Resistance to Biotic Stresses

Several fungal, bacterial, and viral diseases affect cowpea at different stages of growth. The major and common diseases are anthracnose, Sclerotium stem, root, and crown rots, damping-off, Cercospora leaf spot, Septoria leaf spot, Fusarium wilt, and scab. Storage pests, *Callosobruchus maculatus* and *Calloso chinensis* cause severe damage to the cowpea seeds during storage. Transgenic cowpea has been developed for insect resistance using the bean (*P. vulgaris*) α -amylase inhibitor-1 (α AI-1) gene. Expression of α AI-1 gene under bean phytohemagglutinin promoter resulted in accumulation of α AI-1 in transgenic seeds and the recombinant protein was active as an inhibitor of porcine α -amylase *in vitro*. Transgenic cowpeas expressing α AI-1 strongly inhibited the development of *C. maculatus* and *C. chinensis* in insect bioassays [191].

16.4.6 Common Beans

16.4.6.1 Biotechnology for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

Abiotic stresses (climatic and edaphic) probably represent total loss in yield in common beans [192]. Estimates of area subject to phosphorus (P) deficiency suggest that 50% of bean production suffers from P deficiency, 40% may suffer from aluminum toxicity, and 73% suffers from drought. Moreover, higher temperatures and greater evapotranspiration, combined with lower rainfall, are expected to exacerbate drought in important bean-producing areas of northern Central America, Mexico,

Brazil, and southern Africa. Predictions have been made that higher temperatures in these regions will affect the altitudinal range of adaptation of bean genotypes, reducing the root growth and accelerating the decomposition of soil organic matter (mineralization) making problems of stress even more acute. However, since other bean-growing areas such as East–Central Africa and the Northern Andes will receive greater precipitation, excess rainfall, waterlogging, and associated root rots will be a problem [193].

Breeding for drought resistance in beans has a long history, in the program of EMBRAPA in Brazil [194]. Improved drought resistance has resulted from combining germplasm adapted to the dry highlands of Mexico with small seeded types from lowland Central America, through recurrent selection within each genepool. In the case of drought, roots have long been recognized as playing an important role in beans. A drought-resistant line, BAT 477, presented deep rooting under drought stress, permitting access to soil moisture at greater depths [195, 196]. However, deep rooting alone does not ensure drought resistance, and data on root density at various levels of the soil profile suggest that deep rooting genotypes are not always the best yielding materials (CIAT, 2007; CIAT, 2008). The response to drought at the physiological and molecular levels has been studied in two common bean varieties with contrasting susceptibility to drought stress (Zhu et al., 2002). A number of genes were found to be upregulated (both ABA dependent and independent) in the tolerant variety Pinto Villa relative to the susceptible cultivar. Carioca. with the former displaying a more developed root vasculature in drought conditions than the latter. The International Centre for Tropical Agriculture has taken initiative for improving drought tolerance in common bean (Broughton et al., 2003). The physiological studies done so far linked the intermediate drought tolerance trait in breeding line BAT 477 to greater root growth under water deficit conditions [195] and further showed that genetic control of this trait was expressed in roots and not shoots [196]. Additional genetic sources for drought tolerance were also identified in the 1980s, especially from Mexican varieties. During the 1990s, a combination of genetic sources was used to develop varieties with higher tolerance and additional mechanisms (e.g., photosynthate mobilization from leaves and stems to developing seeds) for drought-stress tolerance were identified [197]. By 2002, these drought-tolerant varieties were being tested in the field and attempts to integrate genomic techniques with traditional breeding were initiated in parallel.

16.4.6.2 Biotechnology for Resistance to Biotic Stresses

One of the most significant biotic stresses to bean crops is caused by nematodes, especially the genus *Meloidogyne*. Its occurrence is widespread and the damage is particularly striking in the case of continuous cultivation, as it occurs in center pivot-irrigated areas [198]. It is mainly controlled by the use of resistant cultivars associated with management and crop practices. The identification of resistant lines has been frequently reported in the literature [199, 200]. Common bean is exposed to *Fusarium oxysporium f sp. phaseoli* (Fop) causing wilting and early death of the plants that has been tried controlling through use of resistant cultivars [201].

The main biotechnological intervention for disease management in common bean is based on MAS. A set of microsatellites is being put together to efficiently map other populations. Linked markers were identified for the bean golden mosaic virus, anthracnose, bacterial blight, and angular leaf spot and are being used as part of a marker-assisted selection program. Other mapping populations have been developed and are being used to tag quantitative trait loci for disease and pest resistance (http://webapp.ciat.cgiar.org/biotechnology/genomics.htm).

Although a very limited work has been done using transgenic approach in common beans, a system to obtain so-called transgenic composite plants from *P. vulgaris* is available. These plants have a transgenic root system, obtained through *Agrobacterium rhizogenes* transformation of derooted seedlings [202].

16.4.7 Lentils

Lentil is a relatively small crop compared to wheat, rice, maize and soybean, ranking third among the cool season food legumes, in an harvested area of 4.08 million hectares annually, behind pea and chickpea (http://apps.fao.org/faostat). Lentils were successfully introduced to the Western Hemisphere and are now grown extensively in the United States, Canada, Chile, and Argentina, becoming an important crop and a dietary mainstay in the drier areas of the Near East and North Africa. Although mostly discontinued, lentil was a widely grown crop in southern and central Europe.

The major abiotic stresses that affect lentil are cold, drought, heat, salinity, nutrient deficiency, and nutrient toxicity. Of these stresses, drought and heat are considered the most important world wide. While the cold stress is considered important in the West Asia-North Africa (WANA) region, salinity is an important stress factor in the Indian subcontinent and to some extent in WANA. To date, progress has been made in mapping the lentil genome and several genetic maps are available that eventually will lead to the development of a consensus map for lentil. Nevertheless, marker density has been limited in the published genetic maps and there is a distinct lack of codominant markers that would facilitate comparisons of the available genetic maps and efficient identification of markers closely linked to genes of interest [203]. Comparative genomics and synteny analyses with closely related legumes promise to further advance the knowledge of the lentil genome and provide lentil breeders with additional genes and selectable markers for use in marker-assisted selection. Genomic tools such as macro- and microarrays, reverse genetics, and genetic transformation are emerging technologies that may eventually be available for use in lentil crop improvement.

16.4.7.1 Biotechnology for Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses

Lentil is able to produce something of value in many of the semiarid regions primarily through drought avoidance [204]. Early senescence and crop maturity forced by drought conditions are often more severe due to the usually associated high

temperatures. Molecular approaches such as marker-assisted selection may have merit; however, considerable work is needed to identify the important regions of the genome, most likely through a QTL analysis and validation of associated molecular markers.

Heat stress often accompanies drought causing difficulties in separating the two stresses and their effects on lentil growth and yield. There is general agreement that heat affects the distribution of dry matter to reproductive growth and that high temperatures have an adverse effect on lentil yields. Evaluation of the world collection of lentil germplasm has indicated that useful genetic variation is available for improving adaptation to environmental extremes [205].

Susceptibility to cold temperatures has limited production of lentil in cold highland areas of the world. However, germplasm is available that has useful degree of tolerance to cold temperatures, which makes it possible to breed winter hardy cultivars that can be planted in the fall with a reasonable expectation of surviving the winter [206]. Winter hardiness in lentil is conferred by several genes, with the combined effects of several quantitative trait loci accounting for 42% of the variation in winter survival [207]. Molecular markers associated with these QTLs, and postvalidation have potential use in a marker-assisted selection program for winter hardiness in lentil.

Although salinity problems with lentil are not widespread, it can be acute in certain regions of South Asia, the Nile Delta of Egypt, and in some areas of Turkey. Canada also has some difficulty in high salinity areas of Saskatchewan. Of the legumes, lentil is more salt sensitive compared to faba bean and soybean. Salt stress can adversely affect nodulation and N₂ fixation presumably by restricting growth of the root hairs and the potential sites of infection by Rhizobium. Some germplasm with tolerance to salt stress has been identified [208]. Future direction of lentil genomics can be summarized: (i) new marker development and fine mapping, (ii) development of new genetic materials applicable to advanced genomics, and (iii) application of advanced genomic tools for lentil genomics [209].

16.4.7.2 Biotechnology for Resistance to Biotic Stresses

As the case with many other legumes, rust and Ascochyta blight are the two most important foliar diseases of lentils in major lentil-producing countries. However, breeding for resistance to Ascochyta blight in lentil has been initiated only recently and is still at a very preliminary stage of large-scale screening of collections of germplasm to identify resistant resources. Multilocation testing of promising cultivars from germplasm screening coordinated by ICARDA has led to the registration of several resistant cultivars in many countries [210]. However, the recent identification of resistance genes and their relationships in several cultivated lines [211] and the confirmation of the presence of different pathotypes [212] have provided the basis to design a breeding program aimed at transferring and combining these genes. A combined bulk population and pedigree selection has been used successfully in lentil breeding at ICARDA. Nevertheless, with the development of novel techniques and the increasing understanding of the host–pathogen system, more efficient breeding methods will be applicable in breeding for resistance to Ascochyta blight in lentil [213].

Combining genes conferring resistance to different pathotypes into a single cultivar (gene pyramiding) makes it useful for diversified environments where different pathotypes are likely to be dominant. Since multiple resistance genes may have additive effect, and even if it is not, the presence of more genes implies that pathotypes have to be virulent to all the genes before a resistant cultivar loses resistance [214]. This procedure of combined resistance has been adopted at ICARDA for improving resistance to Ascochyta blight of chickpea [215]. This method can also be used in breeding for lentil Ascochyta blight resistance as different pathotypes and pathotype-specific resistance have been identified [216]. Genes for Ascochyta blight resistance have been identified in wild lentil species, and hence transferring these from wild species into elite cultivars will be an important approach in breeding for resistance. Ford et al. [217] identified seven RAPD markers linked to the resistance locus conferring Ascochyta blight resistance in "ILL 5588" using bulk segregation analysis. Five of the seven RAPD markers were within 30 cM of the resistance locus and the closest flanking markers were approximately 6 cM and 14 cM away from the resistance locus.

Although not a routine, genetic transformation in lentil has been feasible in last few years [218]. Therefore, production of transgenic lentil plants and consequently the application of transgenic techniques in lentil breeding may soon become important for the genetic improvement of this legume.

16.5 Future Prospects

The exploitation of the genetic and genomics resources and biotechnological interventions already employed in model legumes can be a well adopted biotechnological approach for grain legume improvement. Since *Medicago truncatula* is already being studied to unravel resistance to a large number of pathogens, from parasitic plants, bacterial pathogens, and nematodes to fungal and oomycete pathogens. Hence, the transcriptomic and proteomic approaches developed for this model legume can be used to understand the molecular components and identify candidate genes involved in defense against these pathogens for the cool season legumes [219]. Besides, soybean can serve as model for the many crop species in the Phaseoleae due to its vigorous studies being undertaken for nodulation, mycorrhization, and plant-symbiont signaling [220].

16.6 Integration of Technologies

Although significant efforts were made in the past to adapt the plant to the environment, the emerging concept is to genetically tailor the crops for maximizing resource-capture efficiency, yield, and yield stability. The genomics-assisted crop breeding offers unprecedented opportunities to identify major loci influencing

the target traits and to select for plants with the desirable combination of alleles via marker-assisted selection, marker-assisted backcrossing (MABC), or markerassisted recurrent selection (MARS). Similarly, the current and fast emerging technologies such as RNAi technology, targeted gene replacement using zinc finger nucleases, chromosome engineering, MARS and GWS, NGS, and nanobiotechnology should be utilized in an integrated way to combat the adverse conditions in legume crops. Although the advances in biotechnology greatly facilitate grain legume improvement, a more comprehensive knowledge of resistance or tolerance mechanisms is required to direct breeding in these crops. Indeed, only a better understanding of the underlying mechanisms activated in response to stresses will allow an efficient application of biotechnology in sustainable agriculture. The advent of the "omic" technologies together with the functional genomic tools is a promising approach to achieve this. Similarly, genetic engineering options for targeting of transgene expression to particular conditions (e.g., using stressresponsive or tissue-specific promoters) can be potentially integrated with proteomic and metabolomic approaches for monitoring the effect of the transgene in order to be able to take advantage of the knowledge being gathered from "omic" technologies. Overall, for biotechnology to fulfill its potential for grain legume breeding, there need to be a synergy between classical breeders and biotechnologists to first ensure that the tools of biotechnology are applied to the most pressing and appropriate problems and, second, to ensure that pathways for delivery/uptake into breeding programs are in place. However, the ultimate objective of effective utilization of the genomic resources, identification of suitable genes for candidate gene-based association mapping and/or to be used as transgenes could only be possible through an integrative approach taking the classical breeding and biotechnological approaches together.

16.7

Conclusion

Genetic diversity is critical for any successful breeding program and genetic resources are important sources of such diversity as well as of traits that permit continued yield increases under climate change scenarios as materials may have evolved under some of the harshest conditions [221]. Despite the known fact that the wild germplasms for different crops have found to be a rich source of resistance to these constraints, introgression of genes for resistance or tolerance into cultivars are a cumbersome jobs due to bottlenecks in crossability. Hence, the present-day agricultural research programs require focus on an integrated genetics and genomics approach to dissect molecular processes from transcriptome to phenome. Where diversity is lacking for critical traits in cultivated species, tapping wild relatives can be employed through wide hybridization to create novel diversity in polyploidy species [222]. Moreover, with the improvisation through conventional breeding approaches, different molecular breeding approaches are also being used to accelerate utilization of the substantial variability among the grain legume landraces and germplasm lines for various morphological, physiological, and agronomic traits.

However, challenges such as nonavailability of linkage data, low levels of DNA polymorphism within the primary (cultivated) gene pool, and availability of lesser number of molecular markers pose considerable restrictions and hence genome sequencing initiatives would raise newer genetic and genomic resources in grain legumes.

Moreover, transgenic technology is ought to be a possible solution negating constraints to grain legume productivity and improvement, widening the chance of introducing the transgenes for resistance or tolerance to cultivated varieties without compromising their yield potential. Identification of novel promoter and enhancer elements will also be critical to achieving efficacious expression of antifungal/ antimycotoxin genes in grain legumes. In addition to nuclear transformation, development of plastid transformation protocols will enable high-level expression of multiple resistance genes in the transgenic crop development reducing the chances of out crossing.

Grain legume crops are genetically related and therefore exhibit synteny at the genetic and genomic levels and consequently functional similarities at physiological and phenotypic levels. Hence, cross-crop learning has tremendous potential for understanding of genetic and physiological mechanisms and control points for disease and pest resistance, drought and other stress adaptation, nutritional quality, biological nitrogen fixation, and other key traits. Clearly, modern biotechnological interventions have the potential to contribute to more productive and stable grain legume farming systems with increased productivity and income and improved health and resilience to climate change.

References

- 1 FAO (2010) FAO Stat Database, Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome, Italy. http://faostat.fao.org.
- 2 FAO (2011) FAO Stat Database, Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome, Italy, http://faostat.fao.org.
- 3 Graham, P.H. and Vance, C.P. (2003) Legumes importance and constraints to greater use. *Plant Physiol.*, 131, 872–877.
- 4 Chakraborty, U., Sarkar, B., and Chakraborty, B.N. (2003) Protection of soybean rot by *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* and *Trichoderma harzianum* associated with changes in enzyme activities and phytoalexin production. *J. Mycol. Plant Pathol.*, 33, 21–25.
- 5 Smartt, J. (1990) Pulses of the classical world, in *Grain Legumes: Evaluation and Genetic Resources* (eds R.J. Summerfield

and E.H. Ellis), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 190–198.

- 6 Hedrick, U.P. (1928) Vegetables of New York. Vol. 1: Peas of New York, J.B. Lyon Company, Albany, NY.
- 7 Muehlbauer, F.J., Short, R.W., and Kraft, J.M. (1987) *Description and Culture of Dry Peas*. Agriculture Research Service, USDA.
- 8 Reddy, A.R., Chaitanya, K.V., and Vivekanandan, M. (2004) Droughtinduced responses of photosynthesis and antioxidant metabolism in higher plants. *J. Plant Physiol.*, **161**, 1189– 1202.
- 9 Sillero, J.C. and Rubiales, D. (2002) Histological characterization of the resistance of faba bean to faba bean rust. *Phytopathology*, 92, 294–299.

- 410 16 Grain Legumes: Biotechnological Interventions in Crop Improvement for Adverse Environments
 - 10 Rubiales, D., Emeran, A.A., and Sillero, J.C. (2002) Rusts on legumes in Europe and North Africa. *Grain Legumes*, 37, 8–9.
 - 11 Carmona, M.A., Gally, M.E., and Lopez, S.E. (2005) Asian soybean rust: incidence, severity, and morphological characterization of *Phakopsora pachyrhizi* (uredinia and telia) in Argentina. *Plant Dis.*, **89**, 109.
 - 12 du Preez, E.D., van Rij, N.C., and Lawrance, K.F. (2005) First report of soybean rust caused by *Phakopsora pachyrhizi* on dry beans in South Africa. *Plant Dis.*, 89, 206.
 - 13 Pivonia, S. and Yang, X.B. (2004) Assessment of the potential year-round establishment of soybean rust throughout the world. *Plant Dis.*, 88, 523–529.
 - 14 Rashid, K.Y. and Bernier, C.C. (1991) The effect of rust on yield of faba bean cultivars and slow rusting populations. *Can. J. Plant Sci.*, 71, 967–972.
 - 15 Bretag, T.W. and Ramsey, M. (2001) Foliar diseases caused by fungi: Ascochyta spp., in Compendium of Pea Disease and Pests, 2nd edn (eds J.M. Kraft, and F.L. Pfleger), The American Phytopathological Society (APS) Press, St. Paul, MN, pp. 24–28.
 - 16 Nene Y.L. and Reddy, M.V. (1987) Chickpea diseases and their control, in *The Chickpea* (eds M.C. Saxena and K.B. Singh), CAB International, Oxon, UK, pp. 233–270.
 - 17 Infantino, A., Kharrat, M., Riccioni1, L., Coyne, C.J., McPhee, K.E., and Grunwald, N.J. (2006) Screening techniques and sources of resistance to root diseases in cool season food legumes. *Euphytica*, 147, 201–221.
 - 18 Denman, S., Knoxdavies, P.S., Calitz, F.J., and Lamprecht, S.C. (1995) Pathogenicity of Pythium irregulare, Pythium sylvaticum and Pythium ultimum var. ultimum to lucerne (Medicago sativa). Aust. Plant Pathol., 24, 137–143.
 - 19 Wang, H., Hwang, S.F., Chang, K.F., Turnbull, G.D., and Howard, R.J. (2003) Suppression of important pea diseases by bacterial antagonists. *BioControl*, 48, 447–460.
 - 20 Hamwieh, A., Udupa, S.M., Choumane, W., Sarker, A., Dreyer, F., Jung, C., and

Baum, M. (2005) A genetic linkage map of *Lens sp.* based on microsatellite and AFLP markers and the localization of Fusarium vascular wilt resistance. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, **110**, 669–677.

- 21 Schneider, K.A., Grafton, K.F., and Kelly, J.D. (2001) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium root rot in bean. *Crop Sci.*, 41, 535–542.
- 22 Navas-Cortes, J.A., Hau, B., and Jimenez-Diaz, R.M. (2000) Yield loss in chickpeas in relation to development of Fusarium wilt epidemics. *Phytopathology*, **90**, 1269– 1278.
- 23 Kolkman, J.M. and Kelly, J.D. (2003) QTL conferring resistance and avoidance to white mold in common bean. *Crop Sci.*, 43, 539–548.
- 24 Yoshida, M., Cowgill, S.E., and Wightman, J.A. (1997) Roles of oxalic and malic acids in chickpea trichome exudate in host-plant resistant to *Helicoverpa armigera. J. Chem. Ecol.*, 23, 1195–1210.
- 25 Garza, R., Cardona, C., and Singh, P. (1996) Inheritance of resistance to the bean-pod weevil (*Apion godmani* Wagner) in common beans from Mexico. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, **92**, 357–362.
- 26 Romero-Andreas, J., Yandell, B.S., and Bliss, F.A.L. (1986) Inheritance of a novel seed protein of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. and its effect on seed composition. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 72, 123–128.
- 27 Rubiales, D., Perez-de-Luque, A., Sillero, J.C., Roman, B., Kharrat, M., Khalil, S., Joel, D.M., and Riches, C. (2006) Screening techniques and sources of resistance against parasitic weeds in grain legumes. *Euphytica*, 147, 187–199.
- 28 Rubiales, D. (2001) Parasitic plants: an increasing threat. *Grain Legumes*, 33, 10–11.
- 29 (a) Parker, C. and Riches, C.R. (1993) Parasitic Weeds of the World: Biology and Control, CAB International, Wallingford, UK; (b) Garza, R., Cardona, C., and Singh, S.P. (1996) Inheritance of resistance to the bean-pod weevil (Apion godmani Wagner) in common beans from Mexico. Theor. Appl. Genet., 92, 357–362.

- 30 Arrus, K., Blank, G., Abramson, D., Clear, R., and Holley, R.A. (2005) Aflatoxin production by *Aspergillus flavus* in Brazil nuts. *J. Stored Prod. Res.*, 41, 513–527.
- 31 Mahmoud, A.L.E. and Abdalla, M.H. (1994) Natural occurrence of mycotoxins in broad bean (*Vicia faba* L.) seeds and their effect on *Rhizobium*-legume symbiosis. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 26, 1081–1085.
- 32 Holbrook, C.C., Wilson, D.M., Rucker, K.S., Kvien, C.K., and Hook, J.E. (1994) Possible role of drought tolerance in reducing aflatoxin contamination of peanut. Agronom. Abstr., 223.
- 33 Dennis, E.S., Dolferus, R., Ellis, M., Rahman, M., Wu, Y., Hoeren, F.U., Grover, A., Ismond, K.P., Good, A.G., and Peacock, W.J. (2000) Molecular strategies for improving waterlogging tolerance in plants. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 51, 89–97.
- 34 McDonald, G.K. and Dean, G. (1996) Effect of waterlogging on the severity of disease caused by Mycosphaerella pinodes in peas (Pisum sativum L). Aust. J. Exp. Agric., 36, 219–222.
- 35 Correa, O.S., Aranda, A., and Barneix, A.J. (2001) Effects of pH on growth and nodulation of two forage legumes. *J. Plant Nutr.*, 24, 1367–1375.
- 36 Postel, S.L. (2000) Entering an era of water scarcity. *Ecol. Appl.*, 10, 941–948.
- 37 Vinocur, B. and Altman, A. (2005) Recent advances in engineering plant tolerance to abiotic stress: achievements and limitations. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 16, 123–132.
- 38 Van Hoorn, J.W., Katerji, N., Hamdy, A., and Mastrorilli, M. (2001) Effect of salinity on yield and nitrogen uptake of four grain legumes and on biological nitrogen contribution from the soil. *Agric. Water Manage.*, 51, 87–98.
- 39 Rao, I.M. (2002) Role of physiology in improving crop adaptation to abiotic stresses in the tropics: the case of common bean and tropical forages, in *Handbook of Plant and Crop Physiology* (ed. M. Pessarakli), Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, pp. 583–613.
- 40 Cattivelli, L., Rizza, F., Badeck, F.W., Mazzucotelli, E., Mastrangelo, A.N.,

Francia, E., Mare, C., Tondelli, A., and Stanca, A.M. (2008) Drought tolerance improvement in crop plants: an integrated view from breeding to genomics. *Field Crops Res.*, **105**, 1–14.

- 41 Sonnante, G., Stockton, T., Nodari, R.O., Velasquez, V.L.B., and Gepts, P. (1994) Evolution of genetic diversity during the domestication of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L). *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 89, 629–635.
- 42 Sharma, K.K. and Ortiz, R. (2000) Program for the application of the genetic engineering for crop improvement in the semi-arid tropics. In Vitro Cell Dev. Biol. Plant, 36, 83–92.
- 43 Subbarao, G.V., Johansen, C., Slinkard, A.E., Rao, R.C.N., Saxena, N.P., and Chauhan, Y.S. (1995) Strategies for improving drought resistance in grain legumes. *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.*, 14, 469–523.
- 44 Sharma, K.K. and Lavanya, M. (2002) Recent developments in transgenics for abiotic stress in legumes of the semi-arid tropics. JIRCAS Working Report No. 23, pp. 61–73.
- 45 Nigam, S.N., Nageswara Rao, R.C., and Wright, G.C. (2001) Breeding for increased water-use efficiency in groundnut. New Millennium International Groundnut Workshop, September 4–7, 2001, Shandong Peanut Research Institute, Shandong, China, Qingdao, China, pp. 1–2.
- 46 Serraj, R., Hash, C.T., Rizvi, S.M.H., Sharma, A., Yadav, R.S., and Bidinger, F.R. (2005) Recent advances in markerassisted selection for drought tolerance in pearl millet. *Plant Prod. Sci.*, 8, 334–337.
- 47 Varshney, R.K., Bertioli, D.J., Moretzsohn, M.C., Vadez, V., Krishnamurthy, L., Aruna, R., Nigam, S.N., Moss, B.J., Seetha, K., Ravi, K., He, G., Knapp, S.J., and Hoisington, D.A. (2009) The first SSR-based genetic linkage map for cultivated groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 118, 729–739.
- 48 Govind, G., Harshavardhan, V., Thamme Gowda, P., Jayaker, K., Dhanalakshmi Ramchandra, I., Senthil Kumar, M.,

Sreenivasulu, N., and Udaya Kumar, M. (2009) Identification and functional validation of a unique set of drought induced genes preferentially expressed in response to gradual water stress in peanut. *Mol. Genet. Genomics*, **281**, 591–605.

- 49 Payton, P., Kottapalli, K.R., Rowland, D., Faircloth, W., Guo, B., Burow, M., Puppala, N., and Gallo, M. (2009) Gene expression profiling in peanut using high density oligonucleotide microarrays. *BMC Genomics*, **10**, 265.
- 50 Selvaraj, M.G., Burow, G., Burke, J.J., Belamkar, V., Puppala, N., and Burpw, D.M. (2011) Heat stress screening of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) seedlings for acquired thermotolerance. *Plant Growth Regul.*, 65, 83–91.
- 51 Kottapalli, K.R., Rakwal, R., Shibato, J., Burow, G., Tissue, D., Burke, J., Puppala, N., Burow, M., and Payton, P. (2009) Physiology and proteomics of the waterdeficit stress response in three contrasting peanut genotypes. *Plant Cell Environ.*, 32, 380–407.
- 52 Asif, M.A., Zafar, Y., Iqbal, J., Iqbal, M.M., Rashid, U., Ali, G.M., Arif, A., and Nazir, F. (2011) Enhanced expression of AtNHX1, in transgenic groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) improves salt and drought tolerance. *Mol. Biotechnol.*, 49, 250–256.
- 53 Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Devi, M.J., Srinivas Reddy, D., Lavanya, M., Vadez, V., Serraj, R., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Sharma, K.K. (2007) Stress-inducible expression of AtDREB1A in transgenic peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) increases transpiration efficiency under waterlimiting conditions. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 26, 2071–2082.
- 54 Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Jyostna Devi, M., Vadez, V., and Sharma, K.K. (2009) Differential antioxidative responses in transgenic peanut bear no relationship to their superior transpiration efficiency under drought stress. *J. Plant Physiol.*, 166, 1207–1217.
- 55 Ghewande, M.P., Nandagopal, V., and Reddy, P.S. (1987) *Plant protection in* groundnut. Technical Bulletin No. 1, National Research Center for

Groundnut, Junagarh, Gujarat, India, p. 35.

- 56 Hopkins, M.S., Casa, A.M., Wang, T., Mitchell, S.E., Dean, R.E., Kochert, G.D., and Kresovich, S. (1999) Discovery and characterization of polymorphic simple sequence repeats (SSRs) in peanut. *Crop Sci.*, 39, 1243–1247.
- 57 He, G., Meng, R., Newman, M., Gao, G., Pittman, R.N., and Prakash, C.S. (2003) Microsatellites as DNA markers in cultivated peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *BMC Plant Biol.*, 3, 3–9.
- 58 Ferguson, M.E., Burow, M.D., Schulze, S.R., Bramel, P.J., Paterson, A.H., Kresovich, S., and Mitchell, S. (2004) Microsatellite identification and characterization in peanut (A. hypogaea L.). Theor. Appl. Genet., 108, 1064–1070.
- 59 Moretzsohn, M.C., Leoi, L., Proite, K., Guimara, P.M., Leal-Bertioli, S.C.M., Gimenes, M.A., Martins, W.S., Valls, J.F.M., Grattapaglia, D., and Bertioli, D.A.J. (2005) Microsatellite-based, generich linkage map for the AA genome of *Arachis* (Fabaceae). *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 111, 1060–1071.
- 60 Proite, K., Leal, B., Soraya, C.M., Bertioli, D.J., Moretzsohn, M.C., Da Silva, F.R., Martins, N.F., and Guimaraes, P.M. (2007) ESTs from a wild *Arachis* species for gene discovery and marker development. *BMC Plant Biol.*, 7 (7), 7.
- **61** Cuc, L.M., Mace, E.S., Crouch, J.H., Quang, V.D., Long, T.D., and Varshney, R.K. (2008) Isolation and characterization of novel microsatellite markers and their application for diversity assessment in cultivated groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *BMC Plant Biol.*, **8**, 55.
- 62 Krishna, G.K., Zhang, J., Burrow, M., Pittman, R.N., Delikostadinov, S.G., Lu, Y., and Puppala, N. (2004) Genetic diversity analysis in valencia peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) using microsatellite markers. *Cell. Mol. Biol. Lett.*, 9, 685–697.
- 63 Barkley, N.A., Dean, R., Pittman, R.N., Wang, M., Holbrook, C.C., and Pederson, G.A. (2007) Genetic diversity of cultivated and wild-type peanuts evaluated with M13-tailed SSR markers and sequencing. *Genet. Res.*, 89, 93–106.

- 64 Tang, R., Gao, G., He, L., Han, Z., Shan, S., Zhong, R., Zhou, C., Jiang, J., Li, Y., and Zhuang, W. (2007) Genetic diversity in cultivated groundnut based on SSR markers. J. Genet. Genomics, 34, 449–459.
- 65 Naito, Y., SuzukiI, S., Iwata, Y., and Kuboyama, T. (2008) Genetic diversity and relationship analysis of peanut germplasm using SSR markers. *Breed. Sci.*, 58, 293–300.
- 66 Mace, E.S., Phong, D.T., Upadhyaya, H.D., Chandra, S., and Crouch, J.H. (2006) SSR analysis of cultivated groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) germplasm resistant to rust and late leaf spot diseases. *Euphytica*, 152, 317–330.
- 67 Khedikar, Y.P., Gowda, M.V.C., Sarvamangala, C., Patgar, K.V., Upadhyaya, H.D., and Varshney, R.K. (2010) A QTL study on late leaf spot and rust revealed one major QTL for molecular breeding for rust resistance in groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 121, 971–984.
- 68 Jiang, H., Liao, B., Ren, X., Lei, Y., Mace, E., Fu, T., and Crouch, J.H. (2007) Comparative assessment of genetic diversity of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) genotypes with various levels of resistance to bacterial wilt through SSR and AFLP analyses. *J. Genet. Genomics*, 34, 544–555.
- **69** Chenault, K.D., Maas, A.L., Damicone, J.P., Payton, M.E., and Melouk, H.A. (2008) Discovery and characterization of a molecular marker for Sclerotinia minor (Jagger) resistance in peanut. *Euphytica*, **166**, 357–365.
- 70 Moretzsohn, M.C., Barbosa, A.V.G., Alves-Freitas, D.M.T., Teixeira, C., Leal-BertioliI, S.C.M., Guimaraes, P.M., Pereira, R.W., Lopes, C.R., Cavallari, M.M., Valls, J.F.M., Bertioli, D.J., and Gimenes, M.A. (2009) A linkage map for the B-genome of *Arachis* (Fabaceae) and its syntemy to the A-genome. *BMC Plant Biol.*, 9, 40.
- 71 Fonceka, D., Hodo-Abalo, T., Rivallan, R., Faye, I., Sall, M.N., Ndoye, O., Favero, A.P., Bertioli, D.J., Glaszmann, J.C., Courtoils, B., and Rami, J.F. (2009) Genetic mapping of wild introgressions into cultivated peanut: a way toward

enlarging the genetic basis of a recent allotetraploid. *BMC Plant Biol.*, **9**, 103.

- 72 Hong, Y.B., Liang, X.Q., Chen, X.P., Liu, H.Y., Zhou, G.Y., Li, S.X., and Wen, S.J. (2008) Construction of genetic linkage map based on SSR markers in peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *Agric. Sci. China*, 7 (8), 915–921.
- 73 Sharma, K.K. and Anjaiah, V. (2000) An efficient method for the production of transgenic plants of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) through *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*-mediated genetic transformation. *Plant Sci.*, **159**, 7–19.
- 74 Hapsoro, D.H., Aswidinnoor, R., Suseno, J., and Sudarsono, D. (2005) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of peanuts (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) with PStV cp gene. J. Agrotropika, 10, 85–93.
- 75 Milla, S.R., Isleib, T.G., and Stalker, H.T. (2005) Taxonomic relationships among *Arachis* sect. *Arachis* species as revealed by AFLP markers. *Genome*, 48, 1.
- 76 Pang, S.Z., Slightom, J.L., and Gonsalves, D. (1993) Different mechanisms protect transgenic tobacco against tomato spotted wilt and impatients necrotic spot tospoviruses. *Biotechnology*, 11, 819–824.
- 77 Brar, G.S., Cohen, B.A., Vick, C.L., and Johnson, G.W. (1994) Recovery of transgenic peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) plants from elite cultivars utilizing ACCELL technology. *Plant J.*, 5, 745–753.
- 78 Chenault, K.D. and Payton, M.E. (2003) Genetic transformation of a runner-type peanut with the nucleocapsid gene of tomato spotted wilt virus. *Peanut Sci.*, 30, 112–115.
- 79 Lamb, M.C. and Sternitzke, D.A. (2001) Cost of aflatoxins to the farmer, buying point, and sheller segments of the southeast United States peanut industry. *Peanut Sci.*, 28, 59–63.
- 80 Subrahmanyam, P., McDonald, D., Gibbons, R.W., Nigam, S.N., and Nevill, D.J. (1982) Resistance to rust and late leaf spot diseases in some genotypes of *Arachis hypogaea. Peanut Sci.*, 9, 6–10.
- 81 Subrahmanyam, P., Ghanekar, A.M., Knolt, B.L., Reddy, D.V.R., and McDonald, D. (1985) Resistance to groundnut diseases in wild Arachis
species, in *Proceedings of an International Workshop on Cytogenetics of Arachis* (ed. J.P. Moss), International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics, Patancheru, Andhra Pradesh, India, pp. 49–55.

- 82 Pande, S. and Narayana Rao, J. (2001) Resistance of wild *Arachis* species to late leaf spot and rust in greenhouse trials. *Plant Dis.*, 85, 851–855.
- 83 Miller, I.L., Norden, A.J., Knauft, D.A., and Gorbet, D.W. (1990) Influence of maturity and fruit yield on susceptibility of peanut to *Cercosporidium personatum* (late leaf spot pathogen). *Peanut Sci.*, 17, 52–58.
- 84 Bandyopadhyay, A., Murthy, T.G.K., and Reddy, P.S. (1992) Breaking the yield barriers in groundnut: some possible approaches. Invited Lecture: Special Session on Rabi/Summer Groundnut, XLI Rabi/Summer Oilseed Workers' Group Meeting, 17.8.92, PKV, Akola.
- 85 Rohini, V.K. and Sankara Rao, K. (2001) Transformation of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) with tobacco chitinase gene: variable response of transformants to leaf spot disease. *Plant Sci.*, 160, 889–898.
- 86 Chenault, K.D., Melouk, H.A., and Payton, M.E. (2005) Field reaction to *Sclerotinia* blight among transgenic peanut lines containing antifungal genes. *Crop Sci.*, 45, 511–515.
- 87 Sundaresha, S., Manoj Kumar, A., Rohini, S., Math, S.A., Keshamma, E., Chandrashekar, S.C., and Udayakumar, M. (2009) Enhanced protection against two major fungal pathogens of groundnut, *Cercospora arachidicola* and *Aspergillus flavus* in transgenic groundnut over-expressing a tobacco β-1-3 glucanase. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.*, 126, 497–508.
- 88 Anuradha, T.S., Divya, K., Jami, S.K., and Kirti, P.B. (2008) Transgenic tobacco and peanut plants expressing a mustard defensin show resistance to fungal pathogens. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 27, 1777–1786.
- 89 Livingstone, D.M., Hampton, J.L., Phipps, P.M., and Elizabeth, A.G. (2005) Enhancing resistance to Sclerotinia minor

in peanut by expressing a barley oxalate oxidase gene. *Plant Physiol.*, **137**, 1354–1362.

- 90 Weissinger, A., Liu, Y.S., Scanlon, S., Murray, J., Cleveland, T.E., Jaynes, J., Mirkoy, E., and Moonan, F. (1999) Transformation of peanut with the defensive peptidyl MIM D5CProceedingsof the USDA-ARS Aflatoxin Elimination Workshop, Atlanta, GA, pp. 66–68.
- **91** Weissinger, A., Wu, M., and Cleveland, T.E. (2003) Expression in transgenic peanut of maize RIP 1, a protein with activity against *Aspergillus* spp. Proceedings of the USDA-ARS Aflatoxin Elimination Workshop, p. 100.
- 92 Ozias-Akins, P., Gill, R., Yang, H., and Lynch, R. (1999) Genetic engineering of peanut: progress with Bt, peroxidase, peptidyl MIM D4E1, and lipoxygenase. Proceedings of the USDA-ARS Aflatoxin Elimination Workshop, pp. 69–70.
- 93 Nelson, R.T. and Shoemaker, R. (2006) Identification and analysis of gene families from the duplicated genome of soybean using EST sequences. BMC Genomics, 7, 204.
- 94 Houde, M., Belcaid, M., Ouellet, F., Danyluk, J., Monroy, A.F., Dryanova, A., Gulick, P., Bergeron, A., Laroche, A., Links, M.G., MacCarthy, L., Crosby, W.L., and Sarhan, F. (2006) Wheat EST resources for functional genomics of abiotic stress. *BMC Genomics*, 7, 149.
- 95 Nobile, P.M., Lopes, C.R., Barsalobres-Cavallari, C., Quecini, V., Coutinho, L.L., Hoshino, A.A., and Gimenes, M.A. (2008) Peanut genes identified during initial phase of *Cercosporidium personatum* infection. *Plant Sci.*, 174, 78–87.
- 96 Guo, B.Z., Xu, G., Cao, Y.G., Holbrook, C.C., and Lynch, R.E. (2006) Identification and characterization of phospholipase D and its association with drought susceptibilities in peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*). *Planta*, 223, 512–520.
- **97** Guo, B.Z., Chen, X., Dang, P., Scully, B.T., Liang, X., Holbrook, C.C., Yu, J., and Culbreath, A.K. (2008) Peanut gene expression profiling in developing seeds at different reproduction stages during

Aspergillus parasiticus infection. BMC Dev. Biol., **8**, 12.

- 98 Luo, M., Liang, X., Dang, P., Holbrook, C.C., Bausher, M.G., Lee, R.D., and Guo, B.Z. (2005) Microarray-based screening of differentially expressed genes in peanut in response to *Aspergillus parasiticus* infection and drought stress. *Plant Sci.*, 169, 695–703.
- 99 Smithson, J.B., Thompson, J.A., and Summerfield, R.J. (1985) Chickpea (*Cicer* arietinum L.), in *Grain Legume Crops* (eds R.J. Summerfield and E.H. Roberts), Collins, London.
- 100 Mantri, N.L., Ford, R., Coram, T.E., and Pang, E.C.K. (2007) Transcriptional profiling of chickpea genes differentially regulated in response to high-salinity, cold and drought. *BMC Genomics*, 8, 303.
- 101 Molina, C., Rotter, B., Horres, R., Udupa, S.M., Besser, B., Bellarmino, L., Baum, M., Matsumura, H., Terauchi, R., Kahl, G., and Winter, P. (2008) Super SAGE: the drought stress-responsive transcriptome of chickpea roots. *BMC Genomics*, 9, 553.
- 102 Molina, C. *et al.* (2011) The saltresponsive transcriptome of chickpea roots and nodules via deepSuperSAGE. *BMC Plant Biol.*, 11, 31.
- 103 Bhushan, D., Pandey, A., Choudhary, M., Datta, A., Chakraborty, S., and Chakraborty, N. (2007) Comparative proteomics analysis of differentially expressed proteins in chickpea extracellular matrix during dehydration stress. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics*, 6, 1868–1884.
- 104 Pandey, A., Chakraborty, S., Datta, A., and Chakraborty, N. (2008) Proteomics approach to identify dehydration responsive nuclear proteins from chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L). Mol. Cell Proteomics, 7, 88–107.
- 105 Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Vadez, V., Jyostna Devi, M., Lavanya, M., Vani, G., and Sharma, K.K. (2009) Genetic engineering of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) with the *P5CSF129A* gene for osmoregulation with implications on drought tolerance. *Mol. Breed.*, 23, 591–606.
- 106 Singh, K.B. and Reddy, M.V. (1983) Inheritance of resistance to Ascochyta blight in chickpea. *Crop Sci.*, 23, 9–10.

- 107 Tewari, S.K. and Pandey, M.P. (1986) Genetics of resistance to Ascochyta blight in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Euphytica*, 35, 211–215.
- 108 Dey, S.K. and Singh, G. (1993) Resistance to Ascochyta blight in chickpea: genetic basis. *Euphytica*, 68, 147–153.
- 109 Tekeoglu, M., Santra, D.K., Kaiser, W.J., and Muehlbauer, F.J. (2000) Ascochyta blight resistance inheritance in three chickpea recombinant inbred line populations. *Crop Sci.*, 40, 1251–1256.
- 110 Gumber, R.K., Kumar, J., and Haware, M.P. (1995) Inheritance of resistance to Fusarium wilt in chickpea. *Plant Breed.*, 114, 277–279.
- 111 Tullu, A., Muehlbauer, F.J., Simon, C. J., Mayer, M.S., Kumar, J., Kaiser, W. J., and Kraft, J.M. (1998) Inheritance and linkage of a gene for resistance to race 4 of Fusarium wilt and RAPD markers in chickpea. *Euphytica*, 102, 227–232.
- 112 Kumar, S. (1998) Inheritance to Fusarium wilt (race 2) in chickpea. *Plant Breed.*, 117, 139–142.
- 113 Tekeoglu, M., Tullu, A., Kaiser, W.J., and Muehlbauer, F.J. (2000) Inheritance and linkage of two genes that confer resistance to Fusarium wilt in chickpea. *Crop Sci.*, 40, 1247–1251.
- 114 Rubio, J., Haji-Moussa, E., Kharrat, M., Moreno, M.T., and Gil, J. (2003) Two genes and linked RAPD markers involved in resistance to *Fusarium* oxysporum f. sp. ciceris race 0 in chickpea. *Plant Breed.*, 122, 189–191.
- 115 Winter, P., Benko-iseppon, A.M., Huttel, B., Ratnaparke, M., Tullu, A., Sonnante, G., Pfaff, T., Tekeoglu, M., Santra, D., Sant, V.J., Rajesh, P.N., Kahl, G., and Muehlbauer, F.J. (2000) A linkage map of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) genome based on recombinant inbred lines from a *C. arietinum* × *C. reticulatum* cross: localization of resistance genes for Fusarium wilt race 4 and 5. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 101, 1155–1163.
- Huttel, B., Winter, P., Weising, K., Choumane, W., Weigand, F., and Kahl, G. (1999) Sequence-tagged microsatellite markers for chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Genome*, 42, 210–217.

- 416 16 Grain Legumes: Biotechnological Interventions in Crop Improvement for Adverse Environments
 - 117 Winter, P., Pfaff, T., Udupa, S.M., Huttel, B., Sharma, P.C., Sahi, S., Arreguin-Espinoza, R., Weigand, F., Muehlbauer, F.J., and Kahl, G. (1999) Characterization and mapping of sequence tagged microsatellite sites in the chickpea genome. *Mol. Gen. Genet.*, 262, 90–91.
 - 118 Millan, T., Clarke, H.J., Siddique, K.H. M., Buhariwalla, H.K., Gaur, P.M., Kumar, J., Gil, J., Kahl, G., and Winter, P. (2006) Chickpea molecular breeding new tools and concepts. *Euphytica*, 147, 81–83.
 - 119 Sarmah, B.K. (2007) Development of transgenic chickpeas (*Cicer arietinum* L) resistant to pod borer (*Helicoverpa armigera*). ISCB Programme Report, 2004–2007.
 - 120 Chakraborti, D., Sarkar, A., Mondal, H. A., and Das, S. (2009) Tissue specific expression of potent insecticidal, *Allium* sativum leaf agglutinin (ASAL) in important pulse crop, chickpea (*Cicer* arietinum L.) to resist the phloem feeding *Aphis craccivora. Transgenic Res.*, 18, 529–544.
 - 121 Singh, K.B., Malhotra, R.S., Halila, H.M., Knights, E.J., and Verma, M.M. (1994) Current status and future strategy in breeding chickpea for resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses. *Euphytica*, 73, 137–149.
 - 122 Ignacimuthu, S. and Prakash, S. (2006) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of chickpea with α-amylase inhibitor gene for insect resistance. J. Biosci., 31, 339–345.
 - 123 Mantri, N.L., Ford, R., Coram, T.E., and Pang, E.C.K. (2010) Evidence of unique and shared responses to major biotic and abiotic stresses in chickpea. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 69, 286–292.
 - 124 Varshney, R.K., Chen, W., Li, Y., Bharti, A.K., Saxena, R.K., Schlueter, J.A., Donoghue, M.T.A., Azam, S., Fan, G., Whaley, A.M., Farmer, A.D. *et al.* (2011) Draft genome sequence of pigeonpea (*Cajanus cajan*), an orphan legume crop of resource-poor farmers. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **30**, 83–89.
 - 125 Singh, N.K. et al. (2011) The first draft of the pigeonpea genome sequence. J. Plant

Biochem. Biotechnol. doi: 10.1007/s13562-011-0088-8.

- 126 Priyanka, B. *et al.* (2010) A recent study identified 75 ESTs obtained from the cDNA libraries of drought-stressed plants, 20 ESTs proved to be unique to the pigeonpea. *Mol. Genet. Genomics*, 283, 273–287.
- 127 Saxena, R.K., Cui, X., Thakur, V., Walter, B., Close, T.J., and Varshney, R.K. (2011) Single feature polymorphisms (SFPs) for drought tolerance in pigeonpea (*Cajanus* spp.). *Funct. Integr. Genomics*, **11**, 651–657.
- 128 Grover, A., Agarwal, M., Katiyar-Agarwal, S., Sahi, C., and Agarwal, S. (2000) Production of high temperature tolerant transgenic plants through manipulation of membrane lipids. *Curr. Sci.*, 79, 557–559.
- 129 Keating, B.A. and Fisher, M.J. (1985) Comparative tolerance of tropical grain legumes to salinity. *Aust. J. Agric. Sci.*, 36, 373–383.
- 130 Agarwal, R.R., Yadav, J.S.P., and Gupta, R.N. (1976) Saline and Alkali Soils of India, Indian Council for Agricultural Research, New Delhi.
- 131 Raju, N.L., Gnanesh, B.N., Lekha, P., Jayashree, B., Pande, S., Hiremath, P.J., Munishamappa, B., Nagendra, K.S., and Varshney, R.K. (2010) The first set of EST resource for gene discovery and marker development in pigeonpea (*Cajanus cajan* L.). *BMC Plant Biol.*, **10**, 45.
- 132 Bohra, A., Dubey, A., Saxena, R.K., Penmetsa, R.V., Poornima, K.N., Kumar, N., Farmer, A.D., Srivani, G., Upadhyaya, H.D., Gothalwal, R., Ramesh, S., Singh, D., Saxena, K., Kishor, P.B., Singh, N.K., Town, C.D., May, G.D., Cook, D.R., and Varshney, R.K. (2011) Analysis of BACend sequences (BESs) and development of BES-SSR markers for genetic mapping and hybrid purity assessment in pigeonpea (*Cajanus* spp.). *BMC Plant Biol.*, 29, 56.
- 133 Crouch, J.H., Gaur, P.M., Buhariwalla, H.K., Barman, P., and Sharma, H.C.
 (2005) Towards molecular breeding of *Heliothis/Helicoverpa* resistance in grain legumes, in *Heliothis/Helicoverpa Management: Emerging Trends and*

Strategies for Future Research, Oxford & IBH Publishing Co. Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi, pp. 307–328.

- 134 Ganapathy, K.N., Byre Gowda, M., Venkatesha, S.C., Ramachandra, R., Gnanesh, B.N., and Girish, G. (2009) Identification of AFLP markers linked to sterility mosaic disease in Pigeonpea (*Cajanus cagan L.*) Millsp. *Int. J. Integr. Biol.*, 7, 145–149.
- 135 Kumar, S.M., Kumar, B.K., Sharma, K.K., and Devi, P. (2004) Genetic transformation of pigeonpea with rice chitinase gene. *Plant Breed.*, 123, 485–489.
- 136 Sharma, K.K., Lavanay, M., and Anjaiah, V. (2006) Agrobacterium-mediated production of transgenic pigeonpea (Cajanus cajan L. Millsp.) expressing the synthetic bt cry1ab gene. In Vitro Cell Dev. Biol., 42, 165–173.
- 137 Lawrence, P.K. and Koundal, K.R. (2001) Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation of pigeon pea (Cajanus cajan L. Millsp.) and molecular analysis of regenerated plants. Curr. Sci., 80, 1428–1432.
- 138 Surekha, Ch., Beena, M.R., Arundhati, A., Singh, P.K., Tuli, R., Dutta-Gupta, A., and Kirti, P.B. (2005) Agrobacteriummediated genetic transformation of pigeon pea Cajanus cajan (L.) Millsp. using embryonal segments and development of transgenic plants for resistance against Spodoptera. Plant Sci., 169, 1074–1080.
- 139 Dogan, E., Kirnak, H., and Copur, O. (2007) Deficit irrigations during soybean reproductive stages and CROPGROsoybean simulations under semi-arid climatic conditions. *Field Crops Res.*, 103, 154–159.
- 140 Specht, J.E., Hume, D.J., and Kumudini, S.V. (1999) Soybean yield potential: a genetic and physiological perspective. *Crop Sci.*, 39, 1560–1570.
- 141 Carter, T.E., Jr., D-Souza, P.I., and Purcell, L.C. (1999) Recent advances in breeding for drought and aluminum resistance in soybean, in *Proceedings of the World Soybean Research Conference VI, Chicago, IL*, Superior Printing, Champagne, IL, pp. 106–125.

- 142 Shinozaki, K. (2007) Acceleration of soybean genomics using large collections of DNA markers for gene discovery. DNA Res., 14, 235.
- 143 Xia, Z., Tsubokura, Y., Hoshi, M., Hanawa, M., Yano, C., Okamura, K. *et al.* (2007) An integrated high-density linkage map of soybean with RFLP, SSR, STS, and AFLP markers using A single F2 population. *DNA Res.*, 14, 257–269.
- 144 Hisano, H., Sato, S., Isobe, S., Sasamoto, S., Wada, T., Matsuno, A. *et al.* (2007) Characterization of the soybean genome using EST-derived microsatellite markers. *DNA Res.*, 14, 271–281.
- 145 Shoemaker, R.C., Grant, D., Olson, T., Warren, W.C., Wing, R., Yu, Y. *et al.* (2008) Microsatellite discovery from BAC end sequences and genetic mapping to anchor the soybean physical and genetic maps. *Genome*, **51**, 294–302.
- 146 Wu, X., Zhong, G., Findley, S.D., Cregan, P., Stacey, G., and Nguyen, H.T. (2008) Genetic marker anchoring by sixdimensional pools for development of a soybean physical map. *BMC Genomics*, 9, 28.
- 147 Valliyodan, B. and Nguyen, H.T. (2008) Genomics of abiotic stress in soybean, in *Genetics and Genomics of Soybean* (ed. G. Stacey), Springer, New York, pp. 343–372.
- 148 Specht, J.E., Chase, K., Macrander, M., Graef, G.L., Chung, J., Markwell, J.P. *et al.* (2001) Soybean response to water: a QTL analysis of drought tolerance. *Crop Sci.*, 41, 493–509.
- 149 Lee, G.J., Boerma, H.R., Villagarcia, M.R., Zhou, X., Carter, T.E., Jr., Li, Z., and Gibbs, M.O. (2004) A major QTL conditioning salt tolerance in S-100 soybean and descendent cultivars. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 109, 1610–1619.
- 150 de Ronde, J.A., Cress, W.A., Kruger, G.H. J., Strasser, R.J., and Van Staden, J. (2004) Photosynthetic response of transgenic soybean plants, containing an *Arabidopsis* P5CR gene during heat and drought stress. *J. Plant Physiol.*, 161, 1211–1224.
- 151 de Ronde, J.A., Laurie, R.N., Caetano, T., Greyling, M.M., and Kerepesi, I. (2004) Comparative study between transgenic

and non-transgenic soybean lines proved transgenic lines to be more drought tolerant. *Euphytica*, **158**, 123–132.

- 152 Kocsy, G., Laurie, R., Szalai, G., Szilagyi, V., Simon-Sarkadi, L., Galiba, G. *et al.* (2005) Genetic manipulation of proline levels affects antioxidants in soybean subjected to simultaneous drought and heat stresses. *Physiol. Plant.*, 124, 227– 235.
- 153 Chen, M., Wang, Q.Y., Cheng, X.G., Xu, Z.S., Li, L.C., Ye, X.G. *et al.* (2007) GmDREB2, a soybean DRE-binding transcription factor, conferred drought and high-salt tolerance in transgenic plants. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 353, 299–305.
- 154 Liao, Y., Zhang, J.S., Chen, S.Y., and Zhang, W.K. (2008) Role of GmbZIP132 under abscisic acid and salt stresses. J. Integr. Plant Biol., 50, 221–230.
- 155 Liao, Y., Zou, H.F., Wei, W., Hao, Y.J., Tian, A.G., Huang, J. et al. (2008) Soybean GmbZIP144, GmbZIP162 and GmbZIP178 genes function as negative regulator of ABA signaling and confer salt and freezing tolerance in transgenic Arabidopsis. Planta, 28, 225–240.
- 156 Zhang, G., Chen, M., Chen, X., Xu, Z., Guan, S., and Li, L.C. (2008) Phylogeny, gene structures, and expression patterns of the ERF gene family in soybean (*Glycine* max L.). J. Exp. Bot., 59, 4905–4917.
- 157 Cheng, L., Huan, S., Sheng, Y., Hua, X., Shu, Q., Song, S. et al. (2009) GMCHI, cloned from soybean (*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.) enhances survival in transgenic *Arabidopsis* under abiotic stress. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 28, 145–153.
- 158 Meng, Q., Zhang, C., Cai, J., and Yu, D. (2007) Molecular cloning, sequence characterization and tissue specific expression of six NAC-like genes in soybean (*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.). *J. Plant Physiol.*, 164, 1002–1012.
- 159 Tran, L.-S.P., Quach, T., Guttikonda, S.K., Aldrich, D.L., Rajesh, K., Neelakandan, A. et al. (2009) Molecular characterization of stress-inducible GmNAC genes in soybean. Mol. Gen. Genomics, 281, 647–664.
- 160 Tran, L.-S.P., Nakashima, K., Sakuma, Y., Simpson, S.D., Fujita, Y., Maruyama, K.

et al. (2004) Isolation and functional analysis of *Arabidopsis* stress-inducible NAC transcription factors that bind to a drought-responsive *cis*-element in the early responsive to dehydration stress 1 promoter. *Plant Cell*, **16**, 2481–2498.

- 161 Nakashima, K., Tran, L.-S.P., Nguyen, V.D., Fujita, M., Maruyama, K., Todaka, D. *et al.* (2007) Functional analysis of a NAC-type transcription factor OsNAC6 involved in abiotic and biotic stressresponsive gene expression in rice. *Plant J.*, 51, 617–630.
- 162 Hu, H., Dai, M., Yao, J., Xiao, B., Li, X., Zhang, Q. et al. (2006) Overexpressing a NAM, ATAF, and CUC (NAC) transcription factor enhances drought resistance and salt tolerance in rice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 103, 12987– 12992.
- 163 Hu, H., You, J., Fang, Y., Zhu, X., Qi, Z., and Xiong, L. (2008) Characterization of transcription factor gene SNAC2 conferring cold and salt tolerance in rice. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 67, 169–181.
- 164 Zhang, X.H., Zhong, W.Q., and Widholm, J.M. (2005) Expression of a fungal cyanamide hydratase in transgenic soybean detoxifies cyanamide in tissue culture and in planta to provide cyanamide resistance. *J. Plant Physiol.*, 162, 1064–1073.
- 165 Christou, P. (1990) Soybean transformation by electric discharge particle acceleration. *Physiol. Plant.*, 79, 210–212.
- Mccabe, D. and Christou, P. (1993)
 Direct DNA transfer using electric discharge particle acceleration (ACCELL technology). *Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult.*, 33, 227–236.
- 167 Haq, S.K., Atif, S.M., and Khan, R.H. (2004) Protein proteinase inhibitor genes in combat against insects, pests, and pathogens: natural and engineered phytoprotection. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.*, 431, 145–159.
- 168 Lyson, T.A. (2002) Advanced agricultural biotechnologies and sustainable agriculture. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 20, 193–196.
- 169 Franco, O.L., Pereira, J.L., Costa, P.H., Rocha, T.L., Albuquerque, E.V., Grossi-

de-sa, M.F., Carneiro, R.M., Carneiro, R.G., and Mehta, A. (2010) Methodological evaluation of 2-DE to study root proteomics during nematode infection in cotton and coffee plants. *Prep. Biochem. Biotechnol.*, **40**, 152–163.

- 170 Macedo, M.L.R., Freire, M.G.M., Cabrini, E.C., Toyama, M.H., Novello, J.C., and Marangoni, S. (2003) Atrypsin inhibitor from *Peltophorum dubium* seeds active against pest proteases and its effect on the survival of *Anagasta kuehniella* (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae). *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 162, 170–182.
- 171 Klink, V.P., Alkharouf, N., Macdonald, M., and Matthews, B. (2005) Laser capture microdissection (LCM) and expression analyses of *Glycine max* (soybean) syncytium containing root regions formed by the plant pathogen *Heterodera glycines* (soybean cyst nematode). *Plant Mol. Biol.*, **59**, 965–979.
- 172 Klink, V.P., Kim, K.H., Martins, V., Macdonald, M.H., Beard, H.S., Alkharouf, N.W., Lee, S.K., Park, S.C., and Matthews, B.F. (2009) A correlation between host-mediated expression of parasite genes as tandem inverted repeats and abrogation of development of female *Heterodera glycines* cyst formation during infection of *Glycine max. Planta*, 230, 53–71.
- Ibrahim, H.M.M., Alkharouf, N.W., Meyer, S.L.F., Aly, M.A.M., Gamal Eldin, A.E.K.Y., Hussein, E.H.A., and Mattherws, B.F. (2011) Posttranscriptional gene-silencing of rootknot nematode in transformed soybean roots. *Exp. Parasitol.*, 127, 90–99.
- 174 Murillo-Amador, B., Lopez-Aguilar, R., Kaya, C., Larrinaga-Mayoral, J., and Flores-Hernandez, A. (2002)
 Comparative effects of NaCl and polyethylene glycol on germination, emergence and seedling growth of cowpea. J. Agron. Crop Sci., 188, 235–247.
- 175 Hall, A.E. (2004) Breeding for adaptation to drought and heat in cowpea. *Eur. J. Agron.*, 21, 447–454.
- 176 Diouf, D. (2011) Recent advances in cowpea [Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp.] "omics" research for genetic

improvement. Afr. J. Biotechnol., 10, 2803–2810.

- 177 de Carvalho, M.H.C., d'Arcy-Lameta, A., Macauley, H.R., Gareil, M., Maarouf, H. E., Pham-Thi, A.T., and Zuily-Fodil, Y. (2001) Aspartic protease in leaves of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) and cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp): enzymatic activity, gene expression and relation to drought susceptibility. *FEBS Lett.*, 492, 242–246.
- 178 Diop, N.N., Kidri, M., Repellin, A., Gareil, M., d'Arcy-Lameta, A., Pham-Thi, A.T., and Zuily-Fodil, Y. (2004) A multicystatin is induced by droughtstress in cowpea [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp.] leaves. *FEBS Lett.*, 577, 545–550.
- 179 Maarouf, H.E., Zuily-Fodil, Y., Gareil, M., d'Arcy-Lameta, A., and Pham-Thi, A.T. (1999) Enzymatic activity and gene expression under water stress of phospholipase D in two cultivars of *Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp. differing in drought tolerance. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, **39**, 1257– 1265.
- 180 d'Arcy-Lameta, A., Ferrari-Iliou, R., Contour-Ansel, D., Pham-Thi, A.T., and Zuily-Foldil, Y. (2006) Isolation and characterization of four ascorbate peroxidase cDNAs responsive to water deficit in cowpea leaves. *Ann. Bot.*, 97, 133–140.
- 181 Iuchi, S., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., Urao, T., Terao, T., and Shinozaki, K. (1996) Novel drought-inducible genes in the highly drought-tolerant cowpea: cloning of cDNAs and analysis of the expression of the corresponding genes. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 37, 1073–1082.
- 182 Iuchi, S., Kobayashi, M., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Shinozaki, K. (2000) A stress-inducible gene for 9-*cis*epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase involved in abscisic acid biosynthesis under water stress in drought-tolerant cowpea. *Plant Physiol.*, 123, 553–562.
- 183 Simoes-Araùjo, J.L., Rodrigues, R.L., Gerhardt, L.B. de A., Mondego, J.M.C., Alves-Ferreira, M., Rumjanek, N.G., and Margis-Pinheiro, M. (2002) Identification of differentially expressed genes by cDNA-AFLP technique during heat stress in cowpea nodules. *FEBS Lett.*, 515, 44–50.

- 184 Padilla, E.G., López Sánchez, R.C., Eichler-Loebermann, B., Fernández-Pascual, M., Alarcón Barrero, K., and Martínez, K.L. (2009) Salt stress effects on cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp) varieties at different growing. Conference on International Research on Food Security, Natural Resource Management and Rural Development University of Hamburg, October 6–8.
- 185 Spencer, M.M., Ndiaye, M.A., Gueye, M., Diouf, D., Ndiaye, M., and Gresshoff, P.M. (2000) DNA-based relatedness of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp.) genotypes using DNA amplification fingerprinting. *Physiol. Mol. Biol. Plants*, 6, 81–88.
- 186 Fall, L., Diouf., D., Fall-Ndiaye, M.A., Badiane, F.A., and Gueye, M. (2003) Genetic diversity in cowpea [Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp.] varieties determined by ARA and RAPD techniques. Afr. J. Biotechnol., 2, 48–50.
- 187 Badiane, F.A., Diouf, D., Sané, D., Diouf, O., Goudiaby, V., and Diallo, N. (2004) Screening cowpea [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp.] varieties by inducing water deficit and RAPD analyses. *Afr. J. Biotechnol.*, 3, 174–178.
- 188 Diouf, D. and Hilu, K.W. (2005) Microsatellites and RAPD markers to study genetic relationship among cowpea breeding lines and local varieties in Senegal. *Genet. Res. Crop Evol.*, 52, 1057–1067.
- 189 Fatokun, C.A., Menancio-Hautea, D.I., Danesh, D., and Young, N.D. (1992) Evidence for orthologous seed weight genes in cowpea and mung bean based on RFLP mapping. *Genetics*, 132, 841–846.
- 190 Menéndez, C.M., Hall, A.E., and Gepts, P. (1997) A genetic linkage map of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*) developed from a cross between two inbred, domesticated lines. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 95, 1210–1217.
- 191 Solleti, S.K., Bakshi, S., Purkayastha, J., Panda, S.K., and Sahoo, L. (2008) Transgenic cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*) seeds expressing a bean alpha-amylase inhibitor 1 confer resistance to storage

pests, bruchid beetles. Plant Cell Rep., 27, 1841–1850.

- 192 Wortmann, C.S., Kirkby, R.A., Eledu, C.A., and Allen, D.J. (1998) Atlas of Common Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) Production in Africa, CIAT, Cali, Colombia, p. 133.
- 193 IPCC (2007) http://www.ipcc-data.org.
- 194 Guimaraes, C.M., Brunini, O., and Stone, L.F. (1996) Adaptacao do feijoeiro (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) a seca. I. Densidade e efficiencia radicular. *Pesq. Agropec. Bras. Brasilia*, 31, 393–399.
- 195 Sponchiado, B.N., White, J.W., Castillo, J.A., and Jones, P.G. (1989) Root growth of four common bean cultivars in relation to drought tolerance in environments with contrasting soil types. *Exp. Agric.*, 25, 249–257.
- 196 White, J.W. and Castillo, J.A. (1992) Evaluation of diverse shoot genotypes on selected root genotypes of common bean under soil water deficits. *Crop Sci.*, 32, 762–765.
- 197 Rao, I.M. (2001) Role of Physiology in Improving Crop Adaptation to Abiotic Stresses in the Tropics: The Case of Common Bean and Tropical Forages, Marcel Dekker, New York.
- 198 Silva, J.F.V., Dias, A.G.W.P., Asmus, G. L., and Carneiro, G.E.S. (2003) Manejo Integredo de nemato'de na cultura da soja. *Fitopatol. Bras.*, 28, 31–33.
- 199 Pedrosa, A., Vallejos, C.E., Bachmair, A., and Schweizer, D. (2003) Integration of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) linkage and chromosomal maps. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 106, 205–221.
- 200 Silva, F.B., Ramalho, M.A.P., and Abreu, A.F.B. (2005) Genetic control of *Meloidogyne incognita* resistance in common bean. *Annu. Rep. Bean Improv. Coop.*, 48, 64–65.
- 201 Sala, G.M., Ito, M.F., and Carbonell, S.A. M. (2006) Reacao de genotipos de feijoeiro comum a quarto racas de *Fusarium oxysporum f.sp. phaseoli. Summa Phytopathol.*, 32, 286–287.
- 202 Colpaert, N., Sofie Tilleman, S., Montagu, M.V., Gheysen, G., and Terryn, N. (2008) Composite *Phaseolus vulgaris* plants with transgenic roots as research tool. *Afr. J. Biotechnol.*, 7, 404–408.

- 203 Muehlbauer, F.J., Cho, S., Sarker, A., McPhee, K.E., Coyne, C.J.P.N., and Ford, R. (2006) Rajesh application of biotechnology in breeding lentil for resistance to biotic and abiotic stress. *Euphytica*, 147, 149–165.
- 204 Turner, N.C., Wright, G.C., and Siddique, K.H.M. (2001) Adaptation of grain legumes (pulses) to water-limited environments. *Adv. Agron.*, 71, 193–231.
- 205 Erskine, W., Tufail, M., Russell, A., Tyagi, M.C., Rahman, M.M., and Saxena, M.C. (1994) Current and future strategies in breeding lentil for resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses. *Euphytica*, 73, 127–135.
- 206 Spaeth, S.C. and Muehlbauer, F.J. (1991) Registration of three germplasms of winter hardy lentil. *Crop Sci.*, 31, 1395.
- 207 Kahraman, A., Kusmenoglu, I., Aydin, N., Aydogan, A., Erskine, W., and Muehlbauer, F.J. (2004) QTL mapping of winter hardiness genes in lentil. *Crop Sci.*, 44, 13–22.
- 208 Ashraf, M. and Waheed, A. (1993) Responses of some local/exotic accessions of lentil (*Lens culinaris* Medic.) to salt stress. *Crop Sci.*, 170, 103–112.
- **209** Varshney, R.K., Close, T.J., Singh, N.K., Hoisington, D.A., and Cook, D.R. (2009) Orphan legume crops enter the genomics era. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, **12**, 202–210.
- 210 Erskine, W., Bayaa, B., and Saxena, M.C. (1996) Registration of ILL 5588 lentil germplasm resistant to vascular wilt and Ascochyta blight. *Crop Sci.*, 36, 1080.
- 211 Ye, G., McNeil, D.L., and Hill, G.D. (2001) Genetic variation for minor gene conditioning Ascochyta blight resistance in lentils. Proceedings of the 4th European Conference on Grain Legumes, Cracow, pp. 240–241.
- 212 Nasir, M. and Bretag, T.W. (1997) Pathogenic variability in Australian isolates of Ascochyta faba f. sp. lentis. Aust. J. Plant Pathol., 26, 217–220.
- **213** Ye, G., McNeil, D.L., and Hill, G.D. (2002) Breeding for resistance to lentil

Ascochyta blight. *Plant Breed.*, **121**, 180–195.

- 214 Crute, I.R. (1988) The elucidation and exploitation of gene-for-gene recognition. *Plant Pathol.*, 47, 107–113.
- 215 Singh, K.B. (1993) Experiences, difficulties and prospects of disease resistance breeding in chickpea, in *Durability of Disease Resistance* (eds T.H. Jacobs and J.E. Parlevliet), Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp. 241–248.
- 216 Nasir, M. and Bretag, T.W. (1997)
 Prevalence of Ascochyta fabae f. sp. lentis on lentil seed from Victoria, Australia.
 Aust. J. Plant Pathol., 26, 117–120.
- 217 Ford, R., Pang, E.C.K., and Taylor, P. (1999) Genetics of resistance to Ascochyta blight of lentil and the identification of closely linked RAPD markers. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 98, 93–98.
- 218 Warkentin, T.D. and McHughen, A. (1993) Regeneration from lentil cotyledonary nodes and potential of this explant for transformation by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Lens Newsl.*, 20, 26–28.
- **219** Young, N.D. and Udvardi, M. (2009) Translating *Medicago truncatula* genomics to crop legumes. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, **12**, 193–201.
- 220 Oldroyd, G.E. and Downie, J.A. (2008) Coordinating nodule morphogenesis with rhizobial infection in legumes. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, 59, 519–546.
- 221 Gepts, P. (2006) Plant genetic resources conservation and utilization: the accomplishments and future of a societal insurance policy. *Crop Sci.*, 46, 2278–2292.
- 222 Mallikarjuna, N., Senthilvel, S., and Hoisington, D. (2010) Development of new sources of tetraploid *Arachis* to broaden the genetic base of cultivated groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea L.*). *Genet. Resour. Crop Evol.*, 58 (6), 889–907.

S. Ganeshan, P.M. Gaur, and R.N. Chibbar

Abstract

Pulse crops are leguminous plants whose grains are used exclusively for food. In Asia, Africa, and many developing countries, pulses constitute a major source of dietary protein and extensive efforts are being undertaken to improve pulse production. However, due to global climate change, abiotic stresses are increasingly impeding crop production. Conventional plant breeding has contributed tremendously to the development of improved crop varieties, but other biotechnological tools are needed to complement breeding efforts to accelerate development of pulse crop varieties tolerant to abiotic stresses such as drought, salinity, and high and low temperatures. Genomics resources such as molecular markers have started to expedite marker-assisted breeding and quantitative trait loci (QTL) introgression in chickpea for drought tolerance. Similarly, transcriptomic resources such as expressed sequence tags and expression profiling such as microarrays also contribute to further understand abiotic stress tolerance in pulses and for the development of genic markers. In pulse crops, development of in vitro regeneration techniques and transgenics has been slow and more resources need to be allocated to expedite their development. In vitro regeneration techniques are also useful for embryo rescue of wide hybrids. Transgenics, although controversial, offer a faster means to develop abiotic stress-tolerant pulse crops. While enhancement of abiotic stress tolerance in pulse crops implies higher returns in the developed countries, in developing countries it will contribute to food and nutritional security and sustainable production. It is therefore encouraging that ICARDA, ICRISAT, and CGIAR (Generation Challenge Programme) invest extensively into using new technologies for improvement of pulse crops in these regions of low-input farming.

17.1 Pulse Crops: Definition and Major and Minor Pulse Crops

A pulse is a leguminous crop harvested solely for the dry seed, excluding the crops that are mainly grown for oil extraction (e.g., soybean and peanut). Being

Improving Crop Productivity in Sustainable Agriculture, First Edition.

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

^{© 2012} Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

leguminous crops, pulses play an important role in crop rotation due to their ability to fix nitrogen. The major pulses include common bean or kidney bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*), pea (*Pisum sativum*), chickpea, bengal gram or garbanzo (*Cicer arietinum*), cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*), lentil (*Lens culinaris*), pigeonpea or red gram (*Cajanus cajan*), mung bean or green gram (*Vigna radiata*), urad bean or black gram (*Vigna mungo*), lupins (*Lupinus* spp.), faba bean or broad bean (*Vicia faba*), bambara bean or bambara groundnut (*Vigna subterranea*), vetch (*Vicia sativa*), rice bean (*Vigna umbellata*), moth bean (*Vigna acontifolia*), tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius*), adzuki bean (*Vigna angularis*), lima bean (*Phaseolus lunatus*), and runner bean (*Phaseolus coccineus*). The minor pulses include lablab or hyacinth bean (*Lablab purpureus*), jack bean (*Canavalia ensiformis*), sword bean (*Canavalia gladiata*), winged bean (*Psophocarpus teragonolobus*), guar bean (*Cyamopsis tetragonoloba*), velvet bean (*Mucuna pruriens* var. *utilis*), and yam bean (*Pachyrrizus erosus*).

17.2

Pulse Production: Global and Different Countries from FAOStat

During 2008, the pulses were grown in 71.8 million ha, producing 61.5 million tons of dry seeds with an average yield of 856 kg/ha [1]. The FAOStat provides individual crop statistics only for few pulses and clubs remaining pulses in groups. The dry bean group of pulses (includes common bean, lima bean, adzuki bean, mung bean, urad bean, scarlet runner bean, rice bean, moth bean, and tepary bean) accounts for one-third of the total pulse production. In the remaining production, 16.3% is contributed by pea, 13.8% by chickpea, 9.3% by cowpea, 7.0% by faba bean, 6.7% by pigeonpea, 4.6% by lentil, 1.6% by lupins, 1.6% by vetches, and 5.7% by minor pulses. During 2008, 170 countries grew pulses, but about 79% of the pulse area was in Asia (48.4%) and Africa (30.5%). Americas, Europe, and Oceania accounted for 15.2%, 3.7%, and 2.1% of the area, respectively. The major pulses-producing countries include India (23.2%), Canada (8.1%), China (8.0%), Myanmar (5.8%), Brazil (5.7%), Nigeria (4.8%), the United States (3.1%), Russian Federation (3.0%), Ethiopia (2.9%), and Australia (2.8%). Most of the pulses are consumed within the producing countries and the international trade is about 16% of the total production. The major pulse-importing countries are India (26.3%), Egypt (4.4%), China (4.0%), Pakistan (3.4%), UAE (3.2%), the United States (2.8%), the United Kingdom (2.8%), Italy (2.8%), Turkey (2.8%), and Brazil (2.7%), while the major pulse-exporting countries are Canada (32.3%), the United States (11.5%), China (10.7%), Myanmar (7.8%), Australia (6.3%), and France (5.1%).

17.3

Abiotic Stresses Affecting Pulse Crops

The improvement of crop production in the face of acute global climate changes has become a challenging endeavor. Besides the environmental impact, in many regions of the world, crop production has been limited due to socioeconomic and political instability. However, advances in genomics research are expected to contribute greatly to alleviate crop production limitations in many of these regions, where, unfortunately, hunger, malnutrition, and poverty are widespread. In the Western Hemisphere, environment and climate change are likely to have the most negative consequences on crop production. Abiotic stress challenges faced by plants include drought, salinity, flooding, metal toxicity (heavy metals), mineral nutrient deficiency, high temperature, low temperature, freezing temperature, UV stress, photoinhibition, and anaerobiosis. Often several of these may affect plants simultaneously, leading breeders to rethink selection strategies for abiotic stress tolerance by considering selection under multiple stresses. While this recognized strategy is likely to be valuable, the complexity of selection for a number of stress tolerance traits can be resource-demanding and time-consuming for a breeding program. Therefore, numerous studies have been undertaken to understand the abiotic stress challenges and how they affect plant performance.

Among the abiotic stresses affecting pulse crops, drought is probably one of the major concerns, especially in the semiarid tropic (SAT) regions such as Asia and Africa, where it is considered one of the most detrimental stresses for pulse crop production [2]. Drought tolerance and water use efficiency are intricately related. Drought refers to the insufficient availability of soil moisture, leading to limitation in the supply of water to a growing plant. In arid and semiarid areas, rainfall patterns tend to be inconsistent, and when combined with high temperatures, moisture for crop growth becomes limiting [3]. Therefore, water use efficiency by crops is a viable strategy to surmount such conditions and breeding and genomics strategies are being developed to maximize this potential [4]. As a result of water deficit and drought, plants are also adversely affected by increase in soil salinity, which leads to disruption of plant water status [5]. Salinity and drought combined pose a major problem to normal plant growth in arid and semiarid regions [6]. While growing salinity-tolerant varieties is useful, it is however important to note that tolerance leads to further retention of salinity levels in the soils, affecting subsequently planted crops [7]. Salinity tolerance is conferred by plant's ability to exclude, as opposed to partitioning of, ions within the plant, without affecting its performance significantly [8, 9]. Proper management practices are therefore necessary to sustain agricultural production under such adverse soil conditions. Cereals are generally more tolerant to saline conditions than legumes [10] and could therefore be used in crop rotations to minimize buildup of salt in soils. In addition, it has also been suggested that evaluation for salinity tolerance be performed at vegetative as well as reproductive stages of growth, since in crops like chickpea salinity affects both these stages and sensitivity is more pronounced at podding stage [11].

Soil fertility can also be limiting for crop production and is due to depletion and degradation of soil nutrients [12]. Therefore, alternative methods for supplementing soils need to be undertaken. Use of fertilizers can be prohibitive for resource-deprived farmers in developing countries and organic supplements are likely to be the best solutions in this situation [13, 14]. When availability of nutrients is low, varieties capable of maximum nutrient use efficiency would be valuable. However,

in recent years, nutrient uptake with relevance to the symbiotic arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM) and its association with abiotic stresses have become important [15]. There have been extensive studies on the beneficial effects of AM:plant associations for sustainable cropping of temperate crops (for details, see Refs [16, 17]) and research applications for tropical agriculture are being undertaken. For example, mycorrhization has been shown to help in the uptake of phosphorus and other nutrients (for details, see Refs [13, 15]) and also allows plants to tolerate abiotic stresses such as heavy metals [18] and salinity [19]. In *C. cajan*, it has been shown that the AM: root association led to accelerated acquisition of phosphorus by a plant [20]. Similarly, in *Glycine max* [21] and *C. cajan* [22], it has been shown that nutrient uptake and growth are improved under salinity stress due to associations with AM. Radiant frost is another common abiotic stress experienced under more temperate climatic regimen for cool season pulse crops such as chickpea, lentil, faba bean, and field pea [23].

17.4

Mechanisms Underlying Stress Tolerance: A Generalized Picture

Plants, being sessile in nature, need to perceive and adjust as needed to abjotic stress challenges. However, plants can withstand only a certain level of stress and once the optimum threshold is surpassed, cellular and metabolic functions become perturbed leading to suboptimal performance. For crops, this suboptimal performance essentially leads to reduced yield. Plants have nonetheless adapted to or have been selected for adaptation to abiotic stresses over time, but further tolerance is required to meet the ever-increasing abiotic stress challenges. Abiotic stresses include those adversities perceived by plants when exposed to drought, salinity, cold, heat, anaerobiosis, heavy metals, light intensity/UV, and nutrient limitations and essentially limit crop productivity. These abiotic stresses in essence disturb the homeostatic equilibrium within the plant (for details, see Ref. [24]). Prior to the availability of genomics tools, a one-gene approach was used to attempt to explain abiotic stress response in a "cause and effect" strategy. However, tolerance to abiotic stresses is complex and in spite of the identification of numerous genes with potential roles in abiotic stress responses, further understanding and dissection of the cascades of events that lead to the ability to withstand such stresses are required. Genome-wide expression profiling approaches have enabled the elucidation of the roles of many of the genes induced in response to abiotic stresses (for details, see Ref. [25]). Interestingly, in leguminous crops, genome-wide studies for abiotic stress tolerance are very few and done on model legumes such as alfalfa and soybean [26-28]. Such studies are important to identify and establish network(s) involved in stress response pathways, which could eventually be manipulated to minimize crop losses due to abiotic stresses [29], especially for pulse crops such as lentil, chickpea, pigeon pea, and common bean. Nonetheless, there have been some recent genomics studies on some of the major pulse crops for abiotic stress tolerance.

Generalized stress responses in plants begin with sensing of a stress by the primary sensor, followed by a signaling cascade of events, with calcium being the second messenger. The occurrence of a multiplicity of physiological, biochemical, and molecular events in response to abiotic stresses is well known, including accumulation of intracellular compounds such as nucleic acids, proteins, carbohydrates, and amino acids. The series of events from the perception of stress to the signal transduction to phosphoprotein cascades and transcription factor activation/suppression leading to induction of stress-responsive genes and allowing the plant to respond to perceived stress either as a defensive or a protective reaction are also well elucidated [30]. However, the initial perception and perturbation of cellular function may vary, depending on the abiotic stresses, although some of the stress response pathways are common to various types of abiotic stress challenges such as drought, salinity, osmotic stress, and cold [31-33]. For example, drought, salinity, and low, high, and freezing temperatures lead to membrane integrity disruption, generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), accumulation of toxic by-products, photosynthetic process dampening, and nutrient uptake reduction [34]. At molecular levels, crosstalks and specificities of signaling pathways also exist in response to abiotic stresses (for details, see Ref. [35]). In Arabidopsis, for example, a histidine kinase was induced in response to salt and considered to be a osmosensor [36]. As a generalized response, elevated levels of calcium in response to a number of abiotic stresses as an early signal or second messenger have also been well established (for details. see Refs [37, 38]). A number of sensors related to calcium-regulated proteins such as calmodulin [39-41], calcium-dependent protein kinases (CDPKs) [42], and calcium-regulated phosphatases [43, 44] have also been associated with signal transduction pathways in response to different abiotic stresses. The CDPKs, however, have been shown to be stress-specific due to the occurrence of many isoforms [45]. Similarly, among the Ca^{2+} /phosphatase interactions, the occurrence of phosphatase isoforms points to stress-specific roles [43]. Thus, due to the multiple roles of calcium sensors by way of different isoforms conferring specificity, they are also central to cross-talks among various abiotic stresses [35].

Another important component of the signal transduction pathways in response to biotic and abiotic stresses and plant hormone signaling and cell division involves the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascades [46–49]. The MAPK cascades have been extensively studied and characterized in higher plants for their roles as signaling molecules [50]. In sequence genome survey of 20 MAPKs in *Arabidopsis*, 10 MAPK kinases and 60 MAPK kinase kinases were identified [51]. The regulation of activity of proteins by MAPKs can occur in two possible scenarios; in the first scenario, an activated MAPK phosphorylates nuclear transcription factors, cytoskeletal components, and/or other kinases; in the second scenario, other regulatory proteins and MAPK components interact physically, irrespective of phosphorylation state [49]. Once the signal transduction pathway has served its purpose and the downstream response has been elicited, inactivation of MAPKs needs to occur and phosphatases reset the signaling pathways by dephosphorylating the MAPKs [52]. Furthermore, phosphatases are able to hold the MAPKs in the cytoplasm or nucleus [53], effectively terminating the signal [54].

Downstream to the signal transduction pathways, induction of transcription factors is invoked, some of which integrate with another level of complexity in the cross-talks among different abiotic stresses. A well-elucidated example of this cross-talk is provided by low temperature, drought, and abscisic acid induction of genes by these transcription factors [55, 56]. The promoters of some of these coldor drought-induced genes contain CRT (C-repeat element) or DRE (droughtresponsive element), respectively, and as characterized in Arabidopsis [56–58], are targeted by the DREB1 or CBF transcription factors under low-temperature exposure and by DREB2 under salt or drought exposure. The cross-talk among the low temperature, drought, and salinity signaling pathways has been the subject of many studies using the RD29A gene of Arabidopsis, whose promoter contains the C-repeat element [59]. RD29A promoter:: GUS fusion constructs in Arabidopsis leaf protoplasts were shown to be induced by low temperature and drought as a result of overexpression of DREB1 and DREB2, respectively, indicating integration of two different signal transduction pathways, leading to the expression of one gene [57]. With the use of global transcriptomic profiling approaches mostly in Arabidopsis, it has been clearly demonstrated that under any type of stress, up to 25% of the genome is differentially regulated and that irrespective of the stress applied, a group of 59 genes, 21 of which were transcription factors, were induced [60].

17.5 Strategies to Enhance Abiotic Stress Tolerance: Conventional

There has been tremendous improvement in the productivity of pulse crops over the years due to the availability of genetic resources and breeding knowledge [61]. Although the combination of breeding and diverse germplasms has contributed to yield increments, enhancement of abiotic stresses has proven to be more challenging using conventional approaches. This is mainly due to the quantitative nature of inheritance to tolerance against abiotic stresses. Nonetheless, plant breeders have been able to develop varieties tolerant to some extent to abiotic stress challenges by using various strategies from conventional breeding methodologies to germplasm collections to mutagenic approaches.

17.5.1 Breeding

Plant breeding as an expedited form of evolution has contributed tremendously to the development of new improved crop varieties. It has been viewed as an art at many instances due to the breeder's ability to sometime recognize intuitively certain attributes in breeding lines that would make a variety more suitable. Over time, as emphasis was placed on nutrition, adaptation to environments, quality, and economic return, selection became primordial in initiating plant breeding programs [62]. It can therefore be stated that early gatherers were in effect the first breeders since they intentionally selected for desirable traits such as palatability of plant products and ease of harvest during the domestication process of plants, without having much of an impact on the general structure of crop plants [63]. Prior to the rediscovery of Mendel's laws of genetics, breeders were deemed to be successful based on their ability to carefully observe and identify variations showing improved qualities for further advancing as varieties [62]. However, despite advances in areas of genomics, plant breeding will continue to be the essence of all crop improvement strategies. Plant breeding essentially involves identification of genetic variability and combining this variability to generate plant types with desirable attributes. However, due to the erosion of genetic diversity, there has been a need to mine for variability from other sources. Thus, from traditional breeding from the use of germplasm resources from wild species, land races, and distant relatives, plant breeders have created new variability by chemical and physical mutagenesis. The phenomenon of somaclonal variation recognized in plant cell cultures [64] also became potential sources of variation.

Application of scientific principles to classical breeding approaches occurred with the rediscovery of the laws of inheritance [65]. Increasing adaptation of cultivars to specific environments was sought by assessing increase in productivity through identification of sources of variability in local germplasm resources or through introduced land races, or through breeding lines from other breeding programs, wild species, or genera. If further variability was needed, plant breeders screened for spontaneous mutations or induced mutations physically or chemically. Such variant genotypes subsequently became parental lines in hybridization experiments and used for qualitative or quantitative trait selections. Depending on the traits under selection, the breeder sets realistic objectives to maximize identification of desired traits in progeny of the crosses. The qualitative and quantitative nature of the traits as well as their heritability needs to be taken into consideration. Thus, plant breeders set objectives in order to determine selection criteria, aid in the choice of breeding method and choice of parents, and indicate when selection must begin. The objectives of the plant breeder should also reflect the end user preferences such as the consumer and the producer so that quality-enhanced and marketable varieties are produced. The general scheme of breeding outlined above is no different in pulse crops [61]. Furthermore, breeding programs have drawn from knowledge gained from model legumes such as Medicago truncatula, Lotus japonicus, G. max, and P. sativum to breed for quality and well as for other agronomic traits and biotic and abiotic stresses in more complex and less well-understood pulse crops such as faba bean [66].

It is estimated that 60% of the worldwide common bean (*P. vulgaris* L.) production is drought-prone [67]. At the International Center of Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), a breeding program was initiated for the development of drought-resistant breeding lines. Drought-resistant breeding lines had significantly higher yields than commercial varieties under drought [67]. Similarly, in chickpea (*C. arietinum* L.), which is usually grown under rainfed conditions, drought accompanied by heat stress is limiting to growth and a study was initiated to select genotypes resistant to drought/heat with particular reference to selection criteria [68]. The study found that seed weight was least affected by the drought/heat stress

conditions and had the highest heritability and could possibly be used in early breeding selections [68]. The study also indicated that days to the first flowering and maturity to escape terminal drought and heat stresses should be evaluated before many other phenological traits [68]. Similar to these studies, deeper rooting systems in chickpea have been associated with better coping against drought [69, 70]. Root traits such as rooting depth and root biomass have also been shown as ideal traits to breed for terminal drought stress tolerance in chickpea [71]. In faba bean (*V. faba*), deprivation of water led to increased root growth and root density and both were suggested to be adaptive mechanisms to cope with the limited water supply [72].

17.5.2

Mining Germplasm Resources

Although breeding efforts have generated numerous improved varieties, erosion of genetic diversity as well as limited availability of germplasm resources has led to a need for the identification of new sources of variability in wild species and land races or for *de novo* generation. Therefore, plant breeders started to screen for mutations for incorporation into breeding programs. This practice led to coining of the term "mutation breeding" and has been practiced for almost a century. Naturally occurring mutants have indeed heralded the Green Revolution due to the use of dwarfing genes found in a Japanese wheat cv. Norin-10. High-yielding dwarf rice varieties possessing strong straw were derived from spontaneous semidwarf mutation phenotype in a rice cv. Dee-geo-woo-gen from Taiwan.

In leguminous crops, breeders have sought for variation in land races, wild species, and wild progenitors. However, this has led to a narrow genetic base for improvement of legumes as these belong to the primary gene pool (GP-1) [73]. The secondary gene pool (GP-2), which consists of species that can potentially be crossed with GP-1, has been used for common bean improvement, but has been challenging for lentil improvement [74]. The availability of large collections of pulse crops germplasm resources around the world such as ICRISAT (India), ICARDA (Syria), CIAT (Colombia), and IITA (Nigeria) now offers the possibility of screening for many traits of interest [74] from collections within these resources. While mostly agronomic and quality aspects have been the focus of breeding employing germplasm resources from these centers, mining for abiotic stress tolerance genes has now become an important component. In an attempt to contribute functional markers for allele mining in chickpea germplasm resources, a root expressed sequence tagged (EST) resource was developed and was suggested to be potentially useful for candidate gene identification for abiotic stress tolerance [75].

17.5.3

Variation Creation: Traditional Mutagenesis and TILLING

A significant addition to the tool belt of the plant breeder in the early part of the last century was inducible mutagenesis. Although naturally occurring mutations were identified as early as the 1900s by de Vries, with their potential for use in breeding (cited in Ref. [76]), it was only when physical mutagenesis by X-rays in Drosophila [77, 78] and in barley [79] were generated that the new field of induced mutagenesis research started and quickly became part of the field of plant breeding. To date, 3124 mutant varieties are listed with the FAO/IAEA Mutant Varieties Database [80]. Almost 70% of these mutants were advanced over generations and released as new varieties, while the remaining were used in crosses with other varieties [81]. The first variety to be derived from mutagenic X-ray irradiation was the tobacco cultivar, Chlorina, which was commercially released in 1934 (Tollenaar, 1934, cited in Ref. [76]). About two decades later, a commercial variety of mustard, cv. Primex, was released from the X-ray-induced mutation treatments. Of the direct mutant varieties released, radiation was used in about 89% of these and 75% of the overall mutants in the database were in crops [81]. Mutation breeding for grain legumes has also been widely applied, especially in conjunction with the Joint FAO/IAEA Division [82, 83]. The FAO/IAEA Mutant Varieties Database lists 202 mutant varieties of pulse crops [80] and were generated for mostly agronomic improvement, with a few for abiotic stress tolerance such as drought tolerance in C. cajan, cold resistance in C. arietinum, and salinity tolerance in L. culinaris.

Induced mutations gained new impetus in the genomics era, with the specific targeting of known genes. The TILLING (Targeting-Induced Local Lesions IN Genomes) [84] strategy has become widely applicable for variation mining in crop plants. The TILLING method enables identification of single base pair changes in genes of interest [85]. Seeds are generally mutagenized with ethlylmethane sulfonate (EMS). M1 plants grown from these seeds are selfed, planting individual M2 seeds for DNA extraction and cataloging M3 seeds. PCR amplification for the gene of interest is done on pooled DNA from the M2 plants. PCR products are denatured and upon reannealing heteroduplexes are formed. Denaturing HPLC was originally used to analyze heteroduplexes for mutations [84, 86]. Subsequently, treatment of the heteroduplexes with an endonuclease, CELI, which specifically cleaves mismatches between mutated and nonmutated variant heteroduplexes, was used [87]. CELI, which was extracted from celery, recognizes single base mismatches and cleaves on the 3'-side of the mismatch [88]. Electrophoretic separation of cleaved heteroduplexes allows identification of mutations. Mutant plant is then identified by screening DNA from individual samples constituting the pool. EMS generally causes G/C to A/T transitions and the randomly distributed G/C to A/T transitions in Arabidopsis thaliana account for up to 99.5% of mutations [89]. TILLING populations are available for A. thaliana [85], Lotus japonica [90], maize [91], barley [92], wheat [93, 93-96], and oat [97]. In legume crops, TILLING populations have been slow to be created and have been restricted to the model legume L. japonica [90] and to soybean [98]. However, in recent years, TILLING populations have been produced for pulse crops including common bean [99, 100] and pea [101]. In order to extend our capabilities to mine for abiotic stress-tolerant genes in other major pulse crops such as lentil, chickpeas, cowpea, and pigeonpea, TILLING populations need to be developed. For example, in the Medicago TILLING population, a leucine-rich repeat, Srlk mutant gene, was found not to limit root

growth in response to salt stress [102]. Therefore, TILLING populations for pulse crops will be very valuable to mine for abiotic stress genes.

17.6

Strategies to Enhance Abiotic Stress Tolerance: Biotechnology and Genomics

Plant breeding approaches have resulted in the successful development of a number of different commercial varieties of crops. Even today, plant breeding is pivotal in the development of improved varieties. However, erosion of naturally occurring genetic variability has limited the development of newer cultivars with improved qualities by plant breeders [103]. The toolbox of plant breeders has therefore expanded with the use of novel germplasm resources, made available from both de novo as well as from induced sources. More recently, the availability of TILLING populations in many crops has further generated sources of variability for traits of interest, although still rudimentary for pulse crops. The TILLING approach is likely to expedite breeding programs due to the variability of a number of defined mutants for traits of interest. Breeding for abiotic stresstolerant crops is a major initiative around the world. However, the quantitative nature of inheritance of abiotic stress tolerance renders this task challenging. Genetic mapping strategies are valuable tools for locating genomic regions associated with abiotic stress tolerance and quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping has become an integral part of breeding efforts for such complex traits. Other technology-driven tools for pulse crop improvement include in vitro culture systems and the phenomenon of somaclonal variation and transgene technology. Besides these, the functional analysis of genes involved in abiotic stress tolerance, including EST resources, is important for developing breeding strategies to enhance abiotic stress tolerance.

17.6.1

Genetic Mapping and QTL Analysis

The complex genetic nature of inheritance to abiotic stress tolerance traits such as drought, salinity, and low temperature and the difficulty of phenotyping for such traits under field conditions along with high genotype × environment interactions were initially daunting [2]. However, with the advent of molecular markers and marker-assisted selection (MAS) tools, there has been an enhanced ability to more effectively select for traits for incorporation into new varieties. More recently, the ability to identify quantitative trait loci markers for polygenic traits has expanded marker-assisted breeding. The repertoire of molecular markers has grown considerably over the years from the tedious RFLP types to the more versatile RAPD- and AFLP-type markers. However, nowadays SSR, SNP, and DArT markers have become widely accepted for use. In leguminous crop breeding, these varieties of markers have been employed with varying combinations for biotic as well as abiotic stress tolerance selection, more success being achieved for biotic stress MAS as in

soybean for resistance against cyst nematode [104] or for resistance against common bacterial blight in pinto bean [105]. Nonetheless, there have been successful reports of MAS for abiotic stress tolerance or toward achieving that goal by way of identification of QTL. For example, selection for drought-tolerant common bean genotypes has been shown using five RAPD markers with improved performance under stressed conditions [106, 107]. In cowpea, OTL associated with drought response phenotypes were identified [108, 109]. Similarly, root trait OTL for drought avoidance were identified in chickpea and will likely contribute to expedite development of varieties for enhanced drought avoidance [71]. Frost tolerance QTL have been identified for faba bean and suggested to be valuable in future for efficient screening of large populations [110]. Several winter hardiness OTL have also been identified in lentil, with one QTL being found to be common to all environments tested [111]. In pea, the flowering locus Hr was found to colocalize with a major winter-frost tolerance QTL, thereby making it ideal for MAS [112]. Similar to drought MAS, limited information is also available for MAS for salinity tolerance in pulse crops compared to other legumes such as soybean. Salt tolerance QTL identified in wild and cultivated soybean were found to be conserved and accounted for a large dominant effect [113]. SSR marker alleles flanking a major salt tolerance QTL were also identified in soybean that could be used for MAS for salinity tolerance [114], including seedling growth [115].

One powerful use of MAS has been suggested for gene pyramiding in the development of crop plants with tolerance to multiple stresses [116] or for introgression of multiple QTLs for a specific abiotic stress [117]. While gene pyramiding and QTL introgression have been shown for cereals for both biotic and abiotic stresses, efforts are currently underway for achieving the same in pulse crops, particularly for abiotic stress tolerance. This was mainly due to lack of abiotic stress-related OTL in pulse crops. In common bean, resistance to rust and anthracnose was developed by using marker-assisted backcrossing (MABC) [118]. Introgression of multiple OTL for root morphological characteristics associated with drought tolerance was shown in rice [119] and it is likely that similar approaches will be successful in pulse crops in the near future as suggested from chickpea root trait QTL studies for drought tolerance [71]. It is foreseen that in the next 5 years with major QTL being identified for abiotic stresses in pulse crops, the relevance of pyramiding and QTL introgression will increase dramatically. In chickpea, a hot spot region that affects several traits (root length density, root biomass, and shoot biomass) contributing to drought tolerance has been identified from two mapping populations (ICC 4958 \times ICC 1882; ICC 283 \times ICC 8261) segregating for root traits (Gaur *et al.* unpublished). This region contributes up to 36% of phenotypic variation in both root and shoot biomass and root length density. Terminal drought is the major constraint to chickpea productivity, particularly in the semiarid tropics where it is generally grown rainfed on residual soil moisture after the rainy season. Root traits, particularly rooting depth and root biomass, are known to play an important role in drought avoidance through more efficient extraction of available soil moisture. This genomic region flanked by SSR markers TAA 170 and ICCM 0249 has been introgressed into three cultivars (JG 11, KAK 2, and Chefe) using marker-assisted

backcrossing. While TAA 170 and ICCM 0249 markers were used for foreground selection, eight AFLP primer combinations were used for background selection. BC3F4 progenies are available and will be evaluated along with donor and recipient parents in both irrigated and rainfed conditions. Marker-assisted breeding for root traits is expected to improve precision and efficiency of breeding for drought tolerance in chickpea.

17.6.2

Transcriptomic Resources

Gene expression profiling approaches have had tremendous impact on obtaining global snapshots of genes under any particular condition of plant growth, be it spatial, temporal, developmental, or environmental. While such expression profiling approaches have been routinely conducted for all major crops for abiotic stress challenges, in pulse crops examples are now only emerging. In chickpea, 2800 root trait and drought-responsive ESTs were developed and annotated [120]. More recently, a set of 20 162 drought- and salinity-responsive chickpea ESTs and genebased markers have been developed [121]. Similarly, in pigeonpea 9888, Fusarium wilt and sterility mosaic disease-responsive ESTs were developed [122] and the pigeonpea genomics initiative is already starting to provide more resources for pigeonpea improvement [123].

Other transcriptomic approaches have included differential display PCR (DDRT-PCR), cDNA-AFLP, and microarrays, although the latter has been mostly restricted to model legumes for abiotic stress transcriptome profiling. Using DDRT-PCR, drought-modulated gene(s) in common bean were examined and 8.7% of the 1200 DDRT bands were found to be regulated by drought [124]. Similarly, cDNA-AFLP profiling in cowpea during biological nitrogen fixation under heat stress revealed 55 transcripts that were upregulated and nine transcripts that were downregulated by heat stress [125]. Subsequently, using the transcript-derived fragments as probes against a cowpea heat-stressed root nodule cDNA library, it was shown that two of the full length clones isolated coded for a small heat shock protein gene and a nodulin gene [126]. Studies such as the cDNA-AFLP transcriptome analyses are valuable since they allow gene discovery under abiotic stress challenges, as recently reported in wheat, wherein temporal and spatial specificity of induced transcripts under low-temperature exposure occurred [127]. The cDNA-AFLP profiling is a low-cost alternative for gene discovery, especially in laboratories with limited resources [103] and will be valuable for pulse crop transcript profiling under abiotic stress challenges.

Compared to other crops, microarray-based studies in pulse crops have also been lagging behind. Most microarray studies relating to abiotic stresses have been done in model legumes such as *M. truncatula* or soybean. For example, in *M. truncatula*, a time-course experiment was conducted for salt stress in roots using the Affyme-trix Medicago GeneChip and MtED (*Medicago truncatula* Expression Database) was suggested to be a useful resource for studying abiotic stress in other legumes [128]. A similar experiment for root apex responses to salt compared to whole roots

response to salt using a 16 K+ microarray chip showed that there was a 30-fold expression difference in transcription factor genes, suggesting different spatial adaptive response within the roots to soil environments [26]. Microarray analysis of aluminum-stressed root tips of *M. truncatula* revealed novel genes involved in resistance or tolerance to Al [129]. Such studies need to be extended to pulse crops, especially since EST resources are becoming increasingly available.

Next-generation sequencing (NGS) is the most recent technological addition to expediting genome sequencing. Genomic sequencing information is valuable for different purposes such as gene identification and molecular marker development in varieties of interest. With the availability of a reference genome as in *Medicago* [130], single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) markers can be developed for other varieties. Even if a reference genome is not available, NGS can be performed. For example, in chickpea, using Solexa tags of root tissues of drought-tolerant and drought-sensitive genotypes, 5.2 and 3.6 million reads, respectively, were generated, with the identification of about 500 SNPs [131]. Chickpea transcriptome has also been sequenced with short reads on Illumina Genome Analyzer platform and will be valuable for marker development and gene identification [132].

The role of small RNAs in posttranscriptional regulation of gene expression is now well established, including their roles in abiotic stress tolerance (for details, see Refs [133–135]). A few encouraging reports have recently shown the roles of miRNAs in abiotic stress tolerance in pulse crops. For example, cowpea miRNAs have been identified and their potential roles in salinity stress tolerance due to differential expression in roots have been shown [136]. Stressresponsive miRNAs were also identified in common beans subjected to nutrient deficiency stress and manganese toxicity [137]. Another study has identified and validated miRNAs in different organs of common bean and under growth conditions such as drought, abscisic acid treatment, and *Rhizobium* infection [138]. Recently, eight potential miRNAs from horsegram (*Macrotyloma uniflorum*) were identified by computational mining of EST database at the NCBI and shown to be novel plant miRNAs involved in a variety of responses including environmental stress [139].

17.6.3 Transgenic Approaches

Transgenic approaches, as controversial as they may be, offer perhaps one of our fastest means for the development of abiotic stress-tolerant pulse crops. However, the transgenic technology can also complement functional genomics studies to validate expression of cloned genes related to abiotic stress tolerance. In pulse crops, both *in vitro* culture and genetic transformation were slow to be developed. This was mostly because of heightened interest in cereals such as rice and wheat, because of their important contributions to the energy supply of human beings. Although cereals were generally considered recalcitrant to *in vitro* culture and genetic transformation, successes were achieved due to tremendous resources that were allocated for the production of transgenic cereals. Similar resources and

efforts need to be directed toward pulse crop transformation to increase the efficiency and reproducibility of transformation systems for pulse crops.

Since the first report of Agrobacterium-mediated delivery of genes to produce transgenic plants and Mendelian transmission of the transgene in 1983 [140], a number of other gene delivery methods have been reported. Although Agrobacteriumand particle gun-mediated delivery are the most popular methods, other methods have also been successfully used to produce transgenic plants for commercial applications and/or basic studies to understand plant growth and development. The availability and versatility of different DNA delivery methods are becoming important for pulse crop improvement, since transcriptomic resources are becoming increasingly available. Furthermore, although sequences of known functions in the databases can be used for homology-based prediction of gene function of unknown sequences, more precise functions of the genes of interest are often difficult to ascertain, except by a transgenic approach [141]. Therefore, the availability of high-throughput gene transfer systems for economically important pulse crops has become highly necessary for rapidly assessing gene function. Such transformation systems are routine in model systems such as Arabidopsis, but are still lacking for many economically important crop plants. This is particularly critical for pulse crops that have been relatively recalcitrant to transformation. Of particular potential for pulse crop transformation is the in planta transformation system. Such nontissue culture transformation approaches by Agrobacterium have been reported in some leguminous crops and are promising for pulse crops transformation. For example, pricked peanut embryo axes were transformed by inoculating them in Agrobacterium suspension [142]. Seedlings or flowering plants of M. truncatula were also transformed by vacuum infiltration of Agrobacterium [143]. The electroporation-mediated transformation of nodal axillary buds of pea, cowpea, and lentil and production of transformed plants are encouraging for further refinement of this strategy for transforming pulse crops [144].

17.6.4

In Vitro Regeneration and Transformation

Notwithstanding the recalcitrance of pulse crops to tissue culture and transformation, there are many successful reports (for details, see Ref. [145]). *In vitro* culture as such, prior to being a target for use in transformation, was used for embryo rescue in wide hybridizations and for *in vitro* selection. For example, interspecific hybrids of lentil were rescued by embryo culture [146, 147]. Similarly, hybrid plants from a cross between *P. vulgaris* L. and *P. lunatus* L. were obtained by embryo rescue and confirmed by rDNA analysis [148]. In chickpea, although limited success for interspecific hybridization and embryo rescue was initially encountered [149], some success has been obtained [150]. Embryo rescue was also used to produce hybrids between *Cajanus platycarpus* \times *C. cajan* [151, 152]. Considering that tolerance to abiotic stresses exists in many wild species of pulse crops, hybridization between cultivated species and their wild counterparts, followed by embryo rescue, is likely to be a strategy worth exploring. Several wild species of *Cicer* have been shown to be tolerant to cold or drought [149, 153, 154]. One such species, *C. pinnatifidum*, tolerant to cold and belonging to the tertiary gene pool, was crossed with *C. arietinum* and the hybrid was rescued by embryo culture [150]. Successful hybrids have also been produced by embryo rescue in cultivated lentil × wild lentil sp. [155, 156]. Hybridization among several *Vigna* sp. and mung bean cultivars, followed by embryo rescue, gave successful hybrids with potential for use in improving these *Vigna* sp. for abiotic stress tolerance [157].

In vitro selection for tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses was also an area of extensive research in the 1970s and 1980s. Combined with the phenomenon of somaclonal variation [64], in vitro selection was deemed to contribute new variation to breeding programs. The idea that plant cells can be treated as microorganisms and subjected to selection pressure existed for a long time and essentially breeders could perform selection on cultured cells and tissues under appropriate selective agent to identify and regenerate plants from tolerant or resistant cell lines. While this approach was widely explored for disease-resistance selection by employing fungal toxins or crude culture filtrates from fungal cultures shown to contain fungal toxins in tissue culture medium, advances for abiotic stress tolerance selection have also been attempted [158]. Abiotic stress was generally applied as NaCl or mixture of salts for salt tolerance selection and as polyethylene glycol (PEG) or mannitol for drought tolerance selection. For example, salt-tolerant V. radiata plants were regenerated by selective NaCl pressure [159, 160]. As with transgenic studies, in vitro selection studies in pulse crops have equally lagged behind and need to be revisited. Studies on in vitro selection for salt tolerance in other leguminous crops such as soybean [161] and alfalfa [162] have been done. Some studies in Vigna have used callus for selection to drought by employing PEG in the culture medium [163], but no drought tolerant regenerated plants have been reported to date.

As with other biotechnological approaches for pulse crop improvement, genetic transformation strategies have likewise been slow to be implemented. ICRISAT has taken a leading role in recent years in improving mandated pulse crops for abiotic stress tolerance, especially drought tolerance, and include use of genetic transformation technology [164]. Transgenic chickpea lines overexpressing a mutagenized pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS) gene led to elevated proline levels under water deficit in the greenhouse, but no significant effect on yield was observed, although transpiration efficiency was modestly improved [165]. A similar strategy in soybean, but using the L- Δ^1 -pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase (P5CR) gene, showed elevated accumulation of proline under stress and the better ability to metabolize proline after rewatering [166]. Interestingly, a P5CS gene from Vigna aconitifolia, altered by site-directed mutagenesis to prevent feedback inhibition of proline [167], was used to produce transgenic tobacco plants with increased drought tolerance [168]. Such studies are encouraging and especially since the P5CS gene was cloned from a pulse crop. Other studies have targeted transcription factors regulating expression of many genes upon abiotic stress challenges. The most extensively studied transcription factors are the dehydration-responsive elementbinding/C-repeat-binding (DREB/CBF) from Arabidopsis and their involvement in

multiple abiotic stresses [57, 169]. Transgenic peanut plants expressing *DREB1A* from *Arabidopsis* showed increased transpiration efficiency under limiting water availability [170]. Production of transgenic pulse crops tolerant to abiotic stresses is thus possible, but resources need to be allocated to realize this possibility.

17.7

Concluding Remarks

Pulse crop improvement for tolerance to abiotic stresses still needs tremendous resources to be invested to cater to world food security and nutrition. While in the developed countries pulse crop improvement for abiotic stresses will lead to profitable returns on production, in developing countries it will improve food security, nutrition, and sustainable production. Furthermore, due to low-input farming in many developing countries and the occurrence of drought and low soil fertility, the need to develop improved pulse crop varieties is urgent. The Generation Challenge Programme (GCP) (http://www.generationcp.org) under the umbrella of the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR) is precisely aiming to provide molecular biology-based resources for crop improvement in developing countries. Some of the pulse crops targeted for development of molecular markers for stress tolerance include cowpeas, beans, and chickpeas for the sub-Saharan African and South Asian regions. Such programs and those undertaken by ICARDA and ICRISAT are likely to provide much required impetus to pulse crop improvement for abiotic stress tolerance. However, there is a need for more international partnership, especially from developed countries already extensively researching pulse crop improvement. The accessibility of next-generation sequencing is opening up genomics resources hitherto not completely utilized and such resources will be valuable to expedite pulse crop improvement. In the short term, transgene technology needs to be explored and adopted to deliver transgenic pulse crops with abiotic stress tolerance.

References

- 1 FAOStat (2008) http://faostat.fao.org/.
- 2 Varshney, R.K., Hoisington, D.A., Upadhyaya, H.D., Gaur, P.M., Nigam, S.N., Saxena, K., Vadez, V., Sethy, N.K., Bhatia, S., Aruna, R., Gowda, M.V.C., and Singh, N.K. (2007) Molecular genetics and breeding of grain legume crops for the semi-arid tropics, in *Genomics-Assisted Crop Improvement, Vol.* 2: Genomics Applications in Crops, Springer, The Netherlands, pp. 207–241.
- **3** Parry, M.A.J., Flexas, J., and Medrano, H. (2005) Prospects for crop production

under drought: research priorities and future directions. *Ann. Appl. Biol.*, **147**, 211–226.

- 4 Parry, M.A.J. and Reynolds, M.P. (2007) Improving resource use efficiency. *Ann. Appl. Biol.*, **151**, 133–135.
- 5 Verslues, P.E., Agarwal, M., Katiyar-Agarwal, S., Zhu, J., and Zhu, J.K. (2006) Methods and concepts in quantifying resistance to drought, salt and freezing, abiotic stresses that affect plant water status. *Plant J.*, 46, 1092.

- **6** Wang, W.X., Vinocur, B., and Altman, A. (2003) Plant responses to drought, salinity and extreme temperatures: towards genetic engineering for stress tolerance. *Planta*, **218**, 1–14.
- 7 Goyal, S.S., Sharma, S.K., and Rains, D.W. (2003) Crop Production in Saline Environments: Global and Integrative Perspectives, Food Products Press, New York.
- 8 Qadir, M., Tubeileh, A., Akhtar, J., Larbi, A., Minhas, P.S., and Khan, M.A. (2008) Productivity enhancement of saltaffected environments through crop diversification. *Land Degrad. Dev.*, 19, 429–453.
- 9 Witcombe, J.R., Hollington, P.A., Howarth, C.J., Reader, S., and Steele, K.A. (2008) Breeding for abiotic stresses for sustainable agriculture. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.*, 363, 703–716.
- 10 Reynolds, M.P., Mujeeb-Kazi, A., and Sawkins, M. (2005) Prospects for utilising plant-adaptive mechanisms to improve wheat and other crops in drought- and salinity-prone environments. *Ann. Appl. Biol.*, 146, 239– 259.
- 11 Samineni, S., Siddique, K.H.M., Gaur, P.M., and Colmer, T.D. (2011) Salt sensitivity of the vegetative and reproductive stages in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.): podding is a particularly sensitive stage. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 71, 260–268.
- 12 Sanchez, P.A. (2002) Ecology: soil fertility and hunger in Africa. *Science*, 295, 2019– 2020.
- 13 Cardoso, I.M. and Kuyper, T.W. (2006) Mycorrhizas and tropical soil fertility. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.*, 116, 72–84.
- 14 Omotayo, O.E. and Chukwuka, K.S. (2009) Soil fertility restoration techniques in sub-Saharan Africa using organic resources. *Afr. J. Agric. Res.*, 4, 144–150.
- 15 Makoi, J.H.J.R. and Ndakidemi, P.A. (2009) The agronomic potential of vesicular–arbuscular mycorrhiza (VAM) in cereals–legume mixtures in Africa. *Afr. J. Agric. Res.*, **3**, 664–675.
- 16 Harrier, L.A. and Watson, C.A. (2003) The role of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi

in sustainable cropping systems. *Adv. Agron.*, **79**, 185–225.

- 17 Tibbett, M. and Cairney, J.W.G. (2007) The cooler side of mycorrhizas: their occurrence and functioning at low temperatures. *Can. J. Bot.*, 85, 51–62.
- 18 Schutzendubel, A. and Polle, A. (2002) Plant responses to abiotic stresses: heavy metal-induced oxidative stress and protection by mycorrhization. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 53, 1351–1365.
- 19 Evelin, H., Kapoor, R., and Giri, B. (2009) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in alleviation of salt stress: a review. *Ann. Bot.*, 104, 1263–1280.
- 20 Shibata, R. and Yano, K. (2003) Phosphorus acquisition from non-labile sources in peanut and pigeonpea with mycorrhizal interaction. *Appl. Soil Ecol.*, 24, 133–141.
- 21 Sharifi, M., Ghorbanli, M., and Ebrahimzadeh, H. (2007) Improved growth of salinity-stressed soybean after inoculation with salt pre-treated mycorrhizal fungi. *J. Plant Physiol.*, 164, 1144–1151.
- 22 Garg, N. and Manchanda, G. (2008) Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal inoculation on salt-induced nodule senescence in *Cajanus cajan* (pigeonpea). J. Plant Growth Regul., 27, 115–124.
- 23 Maqbool, A., Shafiq, S., and Lake, L. (2010) Radiant frost tolerance in pulse crops: a review. *Euphytica*, 172, 1–12.
- 24 Bohnert, H.J., Gong, Q.Q., Li, P.H., and Ma, S.S. (2006) Unraveling abiotic stress tolerance mechanisms: getting genomics going. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, 9, 180–188.
- 25 Sreenivasulu, N., Sopory, S.K., and Kishor, P.B.K. (2007) Deciphering the regulatory mechanisms of abiotic stress tolerance in plants by genomic approaches. *Gene*, 388, 1–13.
- 26 Gruber, V., Blanchet, S., Diet, A., Zahaf, O., Boualem, A., Kakar, K., Alunni, B., Udvardi, M., Frugier, F., and Crespi, M. (2009) Identification of transcription factors involved in root apex responses to salt stress in *Medicago truncatula*. *Mol. Genet. Genomics*, 281, 55–66.
- 27 Clement, M., Lambert, A., Heroulart, D., and Boncompagni, E. (2008) Identification of new up-regulated genes

under drought stress in soybean nodules. *Gene*, **426**, 15–22.

- 28 Li, D.F., Su, Z., Dong, J.L., and Wang, T. (2009) An expression database for roots of the model legume *Medicago truncatula* under salt stress. *BMC Genomics*, 10, 517.
- 29 Vij, S. and Tyagi, A.K. (2007) Emerging trends in the functional genomics of the abiotic stress response in crop plants. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 5, 361–380.
- 30 Xiong, L.M. and Zhu, J.K. (2001) Abiotic stress signal transduction in plants: molecular and genetic perspectives. *Physiol. Plant*, 112, 152–166.
- 31 Chen, W.Q., Provart, N.J., Glazebrook, J., Katagiri, F., Chang, H.S., Eulgem, T., Mauch, F., Luan, S., Zou, G.Z., Whitham, S.A., Budworth, P.R., Tao, Y., Xie, Z.Y., Chen, X., Lam, S., Kreps, J.A., Harper, J.F., Si-Ammour, A., Mauch-Mani, B., Heinlein, M., Kobayashi, K., Hohn, T., Dangl, J.L., Wang, X., and Zhu, T. (2002) Expression profile matrix of *Arabidopsis* transcription factor genes suggests their putative functions in response to environmental stresses. *Plant Cell*, 14, 559–574.
- 32 Kreps, J.A., Wu, Y.J., Chang, H.S., Zhu, T., Wang, X., and Harper, J.F. (2002) Transcriptome changes for *Arabidopsis* in response to salt, osmotic, and cold stress. *Plant Physiol.*, 130, 2129–2141.
- 33 Buchanan, C.D., Lim, S.Y., Salzman, R.A., Kagiampakis, L., Morishige, D.T., Weers, B.D., Klein, R.R., Pratt, L.H., Cordonnier-Pratt, M.M., Klein, P.E., and Mullet, J.E. (2005) Sorghum bicolor's transcriptome response to dehydration, high salinity and ABA. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 58, 699–720.
- 34 Hasegawa, P.M., Bressan, R.A., Zhu, J.K., and Bohnert, H.J. (2000) Plant cellular and molecular responses to high salinity. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.*, 51, 463–499.
- 35 Knight, H. and Knight, M.R. (2001) Abiotic stress signalling pathways: specificity and cross-talk. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 6, 262–267.
- 36 Urao, T., Yakubov, B., Satoh, R., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., Seki, M., Hirayama, T., and Shinozaki, K. (1999) A

transmembrane hybrid-type histidine kinase in *Arabidopsis* functions as an osmosensor. *Plant Cell*, **11**, 1743–1754.

- 37 Sanders, D., Brownlee, C., and Harper, J.F. (1999) Communicating with calcium. *Plant Cell*, 11, 691–706.
- 38 Knight, H. (2000) Calcium signaling during abiotic stress in plants. *Int. Rev. Cytol.*, **195**, 269–324.
- 39 Braam, J. and Davis, R.W. (1990) Raininduced, wind-induced, and touchinduced expression of calmodulin and calmodulin-related genes in *Arabidopsis*. *Cell*, 60, 357–364.
- 40 Botella, J.R. and Arteca, R.N. (1994) Differential expression of 2 calmodulin genes in response to physical and chemical stimuli. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 24, 757–766.
- 41 Harding, S.A., Oh, S.H., and Roberts, D.M. (1997) Transgenic tobacco expressing a foreign calmodulin gene shows an enhanced production of active oxygen species. *Embo J.*, 16, 1137–1144.
- 42 Sheen, J. (1996) Ca²⁺-dependent protein kinases and stress signal transduction in plants. *Science*, 274, 1900–1902.
- 43 Luan, S. (1998) Protein phosphatases and signaling cascades in higher plants. *Acta Bot. Sin.*, 40, 883–889.
- 44 Xu, Q., Fu, H.H., Gupta, R., and Luan, S. (1998) Molecular characterization of a tyrosine-specific protein phosphatase encoded by a stress-responsive gene in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell*, **10**, 849–857.
- 45 Harmon, A.C., Gribskov, M., and Harper, J.F. (2000) CDPKs: a kinase for every Ca²⁺ signal? *Trends Plant Sci.*, 5, 154– 159.
- 46 Zhang, T., Liu, Y., Yang, T., Zhang, L., Xu, S., Xue, L., and An, L. (2006) Diverse signals converge at MAPK cascades in plant. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 44, 274– 283.
- 47 Wrzaczek, M. and Hirt, H. (2001) Plant MAP kinase pathways: how many and what for? *Biol. Cell*, **93**, 81–87.
- 48 Zwerger, K. and Hirt, H. (2001) Recent advances in plant MAP kinase signalling. *Biol. Chem.*, 382, 1123–1131.
- **49** Samaj, J., Baluska, F., and Hirt, H. (2004) From signal to cell polarity: mitogenactivated protein kinases as sensors and

effectors of cytoskeleton dynamicity. *J. Exp. Bot.*, **55**, 189–198.

- 50 Jonak, C., Okresz, L., Bogre, L., and Hirt, H. (2002) Complexity, cross talk and integration of plant MAP kinase signalling. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, 5, 415–424.
- 51 Ichimura, K., Shinozaki, K., Tena, G., Sheen, J., Henry, Y., Champion, A., Kreis, M., Zhang, S.Q., Hirt, H., Wilson, C., Heberle-Bors, E., Ellis, B.E., Morris, P.C., Innes, R.W., Ecker, J.R., Scheel, D., Klessig, D.F., Machida, Y., Mundy, J., Ohashi, Y., and Walker, J.C. (2002) Mitogen-activated protein kinase cascades in plants: a new nomenclature. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 7, 301–308.
- 52 Meskiene, I., Bogre, L., Glaser, W., Balog, J., Brandstotter, M., Zwerger, K., Ammerer, G., and Hirt, H. (1998) MP2C, a plant protein phosphatase 2C, functions as a negative regulator of mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways in yeast and plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 95, 1938–1943.
- 53 Mattison, C.P., Spencer, S.S., Kresge, K.A., Lee, J., and Ota, I.M. (1999) Differential regulation of the cell wall integrity mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in budding yeast by the protein tyrosine phosphatases Ptp2 and Ptp3. *Mol. Cell Biol.*, 19, 7651–7660.
- 54 Volmat, V., Camps, M., Arkinstall, S., Pouyssegur, J., and Lenormand, P. (2001) The nucleus, a site for signal termination by sequestration and inactivation of p42/p44 MAP kinases. *J. Cell Sci.*, 114, 3433–3443.
- 55 Mantyla, E., Lang, V., and Palva, E.T. (1995) Role of abscisic-acid in droughtinduced freezing tolerance, coldacclimation, and accumulation of Lt178 and Rab18 proteins in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Physiol.*, **107**, 141–148.
- 56 Shinozaki, K. and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2000) Molecular responses to dehydration and low temperature: differences and cross-talk between two stress signaling pathways. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, **3**, 217–223.
- 57 Liu, Q., Kasuga, M., Sakuma, Y., Abe, H., Miura, S., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Shinozaki, K. (1998) Two transcription

factors, DREB1 and DREB2, with an EREBP/AP2 DNA binding domain separate two cellular signal transduction pathways in drought- and lowtemperature-responsive gene expression, respectively, in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell*, **10**, 1391–1406.

- 58 Stockinger, E.J., Gilmour, S.J., and Thomashow, M.F. (1997) Arabidopsis thaliana CBF1 encodes an AP2 domaincontaining transcriptional activator that binds to the C-repeat/DRE, a cis-acting DNA regulatory element that stimulates transcription in response to low temperature and water deficit. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 94, 1035–1040.
- 59 Yamaguchishinozaki, K. and Shinozaki, K. (1994) A novel *cis*-acting element in an *Arabidopsis* gene is involved in responsiveness to drought, lowtemperature, or high-salt stress. *Plant Cell*, 6, 251–264.
- **60** Kilian, J., Whitehead, D., Horak, J., Wanke, D., Weinl, S., Batistic, O., D'Angelo, C., Bornberg-Bauer, E., Kudla, J., and Harter, K. (2007) The AtGenExpress global stress expression data set: protocols, evaluation and model data analysis of UV-B light, drought and cold stress responses. *Plant J.*, **50**, 347–363.
- **61** Ranalli, P. and Cubero, J.I. (1997) Bases for genetic improvement of grain legumes. *Field Crops Res.*, **53**, 69–82.
- 62 Sleper, D.A. and Poehlman, J.M. (2006) Plant breeders and their work, in *Breeding Field Crops*, Blackwell Publishing, Ames, IA, pp. 3–16.
- 63 Hancock, J.F. (2004) Plant Evolution and the Origin of Crop Species, CABI, Wallingford.
- 64 Larkin, P.J. and Scowcroft, W.R. (1981) Somaclonal variation: a novel source of variability from cell cultures for plant improvement. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 60, 197–214.
- 65 Kang, M.S., Subudhi, P.K., Baisakh, N., and Priyadarshan, P.M. (2007) Crop breeding methodologies: classic and modern, in *Breeding Major Food Staples* (eds M.S. Kang and P.M. Priyadarshan), Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, UK, pp. 5–40.

- 66 Rispail, N., Kalo, P., Kiss, G.B., Ellis, T.H. N., Gallardo, K., Thompson, R.D., Prats, E., Larrainzar, E., Ladrera, R., Gonzalez, E.M., Arrese-Igor, C., Ferguson, B.J., Gresshoff, P.M., and Rubiales, D. (2010) Model legumes contribute to faba bean breeding. *Field Crops Res.*, 115, 253–269.
- 67 Beebe, S.E., Rao, I.M., Cajiao, C., and Grajales, M. (2008) Selection for drought resistance in common bean also improves yield in phosphorus limited and favorable environments. *Crop Sci.*, 48, 582–592.
- 68 Canci, H. and Toker, C. (2009) Evaluation of yield criteria for drought and heat resistance in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). J. Agron. Crop Sci., 195, 47–54.
- 69 Kashiwagi, J., Krishnamurthy, L., Crouch, J.H., and Serraj, R. (2006) Variability of root length density and its contributions to seed yield in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) under terminal drought stress. *Field Crop Res.*, 95, 171–181.
- 70 Kashiwagi, J., Krishnamurthy, L., Upadhyaya, H.D., Krishna, H., Chandra, S., Vadez, V., and Serraj, R. (2005) Genetic variability of drought-avoidance root traits in the mini-core germplasm collection of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Euphytica*, 146, 213–222.
- 71 Gaur, P.M., Krishnamurthy, L., and Kashiwagi, J. (2008) Improving drought-avoidance root traits in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.): current status of research at ICRISAT. *Plant Prod. Sci.*, 11, 3–11.
- 72 Husain, M.M., Reid, J.B., Othman, H., and Gallagher, J.N. (1990) Growth and water-use of faba beans (*Vicia faba*) in a subhumid climate:1. Root and shoot adaptations to drought stress. *Field Crop Res.*, 23, 1–17.
- 73 Singh, R.J. and Hymowitz, T. (1999) Soybean genetic resources and crop improvement. *Genome*, 42, 605–616.
- 74 Singh, R.J. and Jauhar, P.P. (2005) Genetic Resources, Chromosome Engineering, and Crop Improvement, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- **75** Buhariwalla, H.K., Jayashree, B., Eshwar, K., and Crouch, J.H. (2005) Development

of ESTs from chickpea roots and their use in diversity analysis of the *Cicer* genus. *BMC Plant Biol.*, **5**, 16.

- 76 van Harten, A.M. (1998) Mutation Breeding: Theory and Practical Applications, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- 77 Muller, H.J. (1928) The production of mutations by X-rays. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, 14, 714–726.
- 78 Muller, H.J. (1927) Artificial transmutation of the gene. *Science*, 66, 84–87.
- 79 Stadler, L.J. (1928) Mutations in barley induced by X-rays and radium. *Science*, 68, 186–187.
- 80 FAO/IAEA (2011) Mutant varieties database. Joint FAO/IAEA Home. http:// www-mvd.iaea.org.
- 81 Ahloowalia, B.S., Maluszynski, M., and Nichterlein, K. (2004) Global impact of mutation-derived varieties. *Euphytica*, 135, 187–204.
- 82 Micke, A. (1993) Mutation breeding of grain legumes. *Plant Soil*, 152, 81–85.
- 83 Micke, A. (1984) Mutation breeding of grain legumes. *Plant Soil*, 82, 337–357.
- 84 McCallum, C.M., Comai, L., Greene, E.A., and Henikoff, S. (2000) Targeting induced local lesions in genomes (TILLING) for plant functional genomics. *Plant Physiol.*, **123**, 439–442.
- 85 Till, B.J., Reynolds, S.H., Greene, E.A., Codomo, C.A., Enns, L.C., Johnson, J.E., Burtner, C., Odden, A.R., Young, K., Taylor, N.E., Henikoff, J.G., Comai, L., and Henikoff, S. (2003) Large-scale discovery of induced point mutations with high-throughput TILLING. *Genome Res.*, 13, 524–530.
- 86 McCallum, C.M., Comai, L., Greene, E.A., and Henikoff, S. (2000) Targeted screening for induced mutations. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 18, 455–457.
- 87 Colbert, T., Till, B.J., Tompa, R., Reynolds, S., Steine, M.N., Yeung, A.T., McCallum, C.M., Comai, L., and Henikoff, S. (2001) High-throughput screening for induced point mutations. *Plant Physiol.*, 126, 480–484.
- 88 Oleykowski, C.A., Mullins, C.R.B., Godwin, A.K., and Yeung, A.T. (1998) Mutation detection using a novel plant

endonuclease. Nucleic Acids Res., 26, 4597–4602.

- 89 Greene, E.A., Codomo, C.A., Taylor, N.E., Henikoff, J.G., Till, B.J., Reynolds, S.H., Enns, L.C., Burtner, C., Johnson, J.E., Odden, A.R., Comai, L., and Henikoff, S. (2003) Spectrum of chemically induced mutations from a large-scale reversegenetic screen in *Arabidopsis. Genetics*, 164, 731–740.
- 90 Perry, J.A., Wang, T.L., Welham, T.J., Gardner, S., Pike, J.M., Yoshida, S., and Parniske, M. (2003) A TILLING reverse genetics tool and a web-accessible collection of mutants of the legume *Lotus japonicus*. *Plant Physiol.*, 131, 866–871.
- **91** Weil, C.F. and Monde, R.A. (2007) Induced mutations in maize. *Isr. J. Plant Sci.*, **55**, 183–190.
- 92 Caldwell, D.G., McCallum, N., Shaw, P., Muehlbauer, G.J., Marshall, D.F., and Waugh, R. (2004) A structured mutant population for forward and reverse genetics in barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). *Plant J.*, 40, 143–150.
- 93 Slade, A.J., Fuerstenberg, S.I., Loeffler, D., Steine, M.N., and Facciotti, D. (2005) A reverse genetic, nontransgenic approach to wheat crop improvement by TILLING. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 23, 75–81.
- **94** Rakszegi, M., Kisgyorgy, B.N., Tearall, K., Shewry, P.R., Lang, L., Phillips, A., and Bedo, Z. (2010) Diversity of agronomic and morphological traits in a mutant population of bread wheat studied in the Healthgrain program. *Euphytica*, **174**, 409–421.
- 95 Sestili, F., Botticella, E., Bedo, Z., Phillips, A., and Lafiandra, D. (2010) Production of novel allelic variation for genes involved in starch biosynthesis through mutagenesis. *Mol. Breed.*, 25, 145–154.
- 96 Uauy, C., Paraiso, F., Colasuonno, P., Tran, R.K., Tsai, H., Berardi, S., Comai, L., and Dubcovsky, J. (2009) A modified TILLING approach to detect induced mutations in tetraploid and hexaploid wheat. BMC Plant Biol., 9, 115.
- 97 Chawade, A., Sikora, P., Brautigam, M., Larsson, M., Vivekanand, V., Nakash, M.A., Chen, T.S., and Olsson, O. (2010)

Development and characterization of an oat TILLING-population and identification of mutations in lignin and beta-glucan biosynthesis genes. *BMC Plant Biol*, **10**, **86**.

- 98 Cooper, J.L., Till, B.J., Laport, R.G., Darlow, M.C., Kleffner, J.M., Jamai, A., El-Mellouki, T., Liu, S., Ritchie, R., Nielsen, N., Bilyeu, K.D., Meksem, K., Comai, L., and Henikoff, S. (2008) TILLING to detect induced mutations in soybean. BMC Plant Biol., 8, 9.
- 99 Porch, T.G., Blair, M.W., Lariguet, P., Galeano, C., Pankhurst, C.E., and Broughton, W.J. (2009) Generation of a mutant population for TILLING common bean genotype BAT 93. J. Am. Soc. Hortic. Sci., 134, 348–355.
- 100 Blair, M.W., Porch, T., Cichy, K., Galeano, C.H., Lariguet, P., Pankhurst, C., and Broughton, W. (2007) Induced mutants in common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*), and their potential use in nutrition quality breeding and gene discovery. *Isr. J. Plant Sci.*, 55, 191–200.
- 101 Hofer, J., Turner, L., Moreau, C., Ambrose, M., Isaac, P., Butcher, S., Weller, J., Dupin, A., Dalmais, M., Le Signor, C., Bendahmane, A., and Ellis, N. (2009) Tendril-less regulates tendril formation in pea leaves. *Plant Cell*, 21, 420–428.
- 102 de Lorenzo, L., Merchan, F., Laporte, P., Thompson, R., Clarke, J., Sousa, C., and Crespi, M. (2009) A novel plant leucine-rich repeat receptor kinase regulates the response of *Medicago truncatula* roots to salt stress. *Plant Cell*, 21, 668–680.
- 103 Ganeshan, S., Sharma, P., and Chibbar, R.N. (2009) Functional Genomics for Crop Improvement: Molecular Techniques in Crop Improvement (eds S.M. Jain and D.S. Brar), Springer, The Netherlands, pp. 63–95.
- 104 Diers, B. (2005) Marker-assisted selection for soybean cyst nematode resistance in soybean. *Phytopathology*, 95, S139.
- 105 Mutlu, N., Miklas, P., Reiser, J., and Coyne, D. (2005) Backcross breeding for improved resistance to common bacterial blight in pinto bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). *Plant Breed.*, 124, 282–287.

- 106 Schneider, K.A., RosalesSerna, R., IbarraPerez, F., CazaresEnriquez, B., AcostaGallegos, J.A., RamirezVallejo, P., Wassimi, N., and Kelly, J.D. (1997) Improving common bean performance under drought stress. *Crop Sci.*, 37, 43–50.
- 107 Schneider, K.A., Brothers, M.E., and Kelly, J.D. (1997) Marker-assisted selection to improve drought resistance in common bean. *Crop Sci.*, 37, 51–60.
- 108 Muchero, W., Ehlers, J.D., Close, T.J., and Roberts, P.A. (2009) Mapping QTL for drought stress-induced premature senescence and maturity in cowpea [Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp.]. Theor. Appl. Genet., 118, 849–863.
- 109 Muchero, W., Ehlers, J.D., and Roberts, P.A. (2010) Restriction site polymorphism-based candidate gene mapping for seedling drought tolerance in cowpea [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp.]. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 120, 509–518.
- 110 Arbaoui, M., Link, W., Satovic, Z., and Torres, A.M. (2008) Quantitative trait loci of frost tolerance and physiologically related trait in faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.). *Euphytica*, 164, 93–104.
- 111 Kahraman, A., Kusmenoglu, I., Aydin, N., Aydogan, A., Erskine, W., and Muehlbauer, F.J. (2004) QTL mapping of winter hardiness genes in lentil. *Crop Sci.*, 44, 13–22.
- Lejeune-Henaut, I., Hanocq, E., Bethencourt, L., Fontaine, V., Delbreil, B., Morin, J., Petit, A., Devaux, R., Boilleau, M., Stempniak, J.J., Thomas, M., Laine, A.L., Foucher, F., Baranger, A., Burstin, J., Rameau, C., and Giauffret, C. (2008) The flowering locus Hr colocalizes with a major QTL affecting winter frost tolerance in *Pisum sativum* L. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, **116**, 1105–1116.
- 113 Hamwieh, A. and Xu, D.H. (2008) Conserved salt tolerance quantitative trait locus (QTL) in wild and cultivated soybeans. *Breed. Sci.*, 58, 355–359.
- 114 Lee, G.J., Boerma, H.R., Villagarcia, M. R., Zhou, X., Carter, T.E., Li, Z., and Gibbs, M.O. (2004) A major QTL conditioning salt tolerance in S-100 soybean and descendent cultivars. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, **109**, 1610–1619.

- 115 Chen, H.T., Cui, S.Y., Fu, S.X., Gai, J.Y., and Yu, D.Y. (2008) Identification of quantitative trait loci associated with salt tolerance during seedling growth in soybean (*Glycine max* L.). *Aust. J. Agric. Res.*, 59, 1086–1091.
- 116 Dita, M.A., Rispail, N., Prats, E., Rubiales, D., and Singh, K.B. (2006) Biotechnology approaches to overcome biotic and abiotic stress constraints in legumes. *Euphytica*, 147, 1–24.
- 117 Ashraf, M. (2010) Inducing drought tolerance in plants: recent advances. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 28, 169–183.
- 118 Faleiro, F.G., Ragagnin, V.A., Moreira, M.A., and de Barros, E.G. (2004) Use of molecular markers to accelerate the breeding of common bean lines resistant to rust and anthracnose: breeding of common bean lines resistant to rust and anthracnose aided by molecular markers. *Euphytica*, 138, 213–218.
- 119 Steele, K.A., Price, A.H., Shashidhar, H.E., and Witcombe, J.R. (2006) Markerassisted selection to introgress rice QTLs controlling root traits into an Indian upland rice variety. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 112, 208–221.
- 120 Jayashree, B., Buhariwalla, H.K., Shinde, S., and Crouch, J.H. (2005) A legume genomics resource: the chickpea root expressed sequence tag database. *Electron. J. Biotechnol.*, 8, 128–133.
- 121 Varshney, R.K., Hiremath, P.J., Lekha, P., Kashiwagi, J., Balaji, J., Deokar, A.A., Vadez, V., Xiao, Y.L., Srinivasan, R., Gaur, P.M., Siddique, K.H.M., Town, C.D., and Hoisington, D.A. (2009) A comprehensive resource of drought- and salinity-responsive ESTs for gene discovery and marker development in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). BMC Genomics, 10, 523.
- 122 Raju, N.L., Gnanesh, B.N., Lekha, P., Jayashree, B., Pande, S., Hiremath, P.J., Byregowda, M., Singh, N.K., and Varshney, R.K. (2010) The first set of EST resource for gene discovery and marker development in pigeonpea (*Cajanus cajan* L.). *BMC Plant Biol.*, **10**, 45.
- 123 Varshney, R.K., Penmetsa, R.V., Dutta, S., Kulwal, P.L., Saxena, R.K., Datta, S., Sharma, T.R., Rosen, B., Carrasquilla-

Garcia, N., Farmer, A.D., Dubey, A., Saxena, K.B., Gao, J., Fakrudin, B., Singh, M.N., Singh, B.P., Wanjari, K.B., Yuan, M., Srivastava, R.K., Kilian, A., Upadhyaya, H.D., Mallikarjuna, N., Town, C.D., Bruening, G.E., He, G., May, G.D., McCombie, R., Jackson, S.A., Singh, N.K., and Cook, D.R. (2010) Pigeonpea genomics initiative (PGI): an international effort to improve crop productivity of pigeonpea (*Cajanus cajan* L.). *Mol. Breed.*, **26**393–408.

- 124 Torres, G.A.M., Pflieger, S., Corre-Menguy, F., Mazubert, C., Hartmann, C., and Lelandais-Briere, C. (2006) Identification of novel drought-related mRNAs in common bean roots by differential display RT-PCR. *Plant Sci.*, 171, 300–307.
- 125 Simoes-Araujo, J.L., Rodrigues, R.L., Gerhardt, L.B.D., Mondego, J.M.C., Alves-Ferreira, M., Rumjanek, N.G., and Margis-Pinheiro, M. (2002) Identification of differentially expressed genes by cDNA-AFLP technique during heat stress in cowpea nodules. *FEBS Lett.*, 515, 44–50.
- 126 Simoes-Araujo, J.L., Alves-Ferreira, M., Rumjanek, N.G., and Margis-Pinheiro, M. (2008) VuNIP1 (NOD26-like) and VuHSP17.7 gene expression are regulated in response to heat stress in cowpea nodule. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 63, 256–265.
- 127 Ganeshan, S., Sharma, P., Young, L., Kumar, A., Fowler, D., and Chibbar, R. (2011) Contrasting cDNA-AFLP profiles between crown and leaf tissues of coldacclimated wheat plants indicate differing regulatory circuitries for low temperature tolerance. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 75, 379–398.
- 128 Li, D.F., Su, Z., Dong, J.L., and Wang, T. (2009) An expression database for roots of the model legume *Medicago truncatula* under salt stress. *BMC Genomics*, 10, 517.
- 129 Chandran, D., Sharopova, N., Ivashuta, S., Gantt, J.S., VandenBosch, K.A., and Samac, D.A. (2008) Transcriptome profiling identified novel genes associated with aluminum toxicity, resistance and tolerance in *Medicago truncatula*. *Planta*, **228**, 151–166.

- 130 Cheung, F., Haas, B.J., Goldberg, S.M. D., May, G.D., Xiao, Y.L., and Town, C.D. (2006) Sequencing *Medicago truncatula* expressed sequenced tags using 454 life sciences technology. *BMC Genomics*, 7, 272.
- 131 Varshney, R.K., Nayak, S.N., May, G.D., and Jackson, S.A. (2009) Next-generation sequencing technologies and their implications for crop genetics and breeding. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 27, 522–530.
- 132 Garg, R., Patel, R.K., Tyagi, A.K., and Jain, M. (2011) *De novo* assembly of chickpea transcriptome using short reads for gene discovery and marker identification. *DNA Res.*, 18, 53–63.
- 133 Sunkar, R. (2010) MicroRNAs with macro-effects on plant stress responses. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.*, 21, 805–811.
- 134 Shukla, L.I., Chinnusamy, V., and Sunkar, R. (2008) The role of microRNAs and other endogenous small RNAs in plant stress responses. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1779, 743–748.
- 135 Lu, X.Y. and Huang, X.L. (2008) Plant miRNAs and abiotic stress responses. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 368, 458–462.
- 136 Paul, S., Kundu, A., and Pal, A. (2011) Identification and validation of conserved microRNAs along with their differential expression in roots of *Vigna unguiculata* grown under salt stress. *Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult.*, 105, 233–242.
- 137 Valdes-Lopez, O., Yang, S.S., Aparicio-Fabre, R., Graham, P.H., Reyes, J.L., Vance, C.P., and Hernandez, G. (2010) MicroRNA expression profile in common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) under nutrient deficiency stresses and manganese toxicity. *New Phytol.*, 187, 805–818.
- 138 Arenas-Huertero, C., Perez, B., Rabanal,
 F., Blanco-Melo, D., de la Rosa, C.,
 Estrada-Navarrete, G., Sanchez, F.,
 Covarrubias, A.A., and Reyes, J.L. (2009)
 Conserved and novel miRNAs in the
 legume *Phaseolus vulgaris* in response to
 stress. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 70, 385–401.
- Bhardwaj, J., Mohammad, H., and Yadav,S. (2010) Computational identification of microRNAs and their targets from the expressed sequence tags of horsegram

(Macrotyloma uniflorum (Lam.) Verdc.). J. Struct. Funct. Genomics, 11, 233–240.

- Otten, L., Degreve, H., Hernalsteens, J. P., Vanmontagu, M., Schieder, O., Straub, J., and Schell, J. (1981) Mendelian transmission of genes introduced into plants by the Ti plasmids of Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Mol. Gen. Genet., 183, 209–213.
- 141 Sessions, A., Burke, E., Presting, G., Aux, G., McElver, J., Patton, D., Dietrich, B., Ho, P., Bacwaden, J., Ko, C., Clarke, J.D., Cotton, D., Bullis, D., Snell, J., Miguel, T., Hutchison, D., Kimmerly, B., Mitzel, T., Katagiri, F., Glazebrook, J., Law, M., and Goff, S.A. (2002) A high-throughput *Arabidopsis* reverse genetics system. *Plant Cell*, 14, 2985–2994.
- 142 Rohini, V.K. and Rao, K.S. (2000) Transformation of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.): a non-tissue culture based approach for generating transgenic plants. *Plant Sci.*, **150**, 41–49.
- 143 Trieu, A.T., Burleigh, S.H., Kardailsky, I. V., Maldonado-Mendoza, I.E., Versaw, W. K., Blaylock, L.A., Shin, H.S., Chiou, T.J., Katagi, H., Dewbre, G.R., Weigel, D., and Harrison, M.J. (2000) Transformation of *Medicago truncatula* via infiltration of seedlings or flowering plants with *Agrobacterium. Plant J.*, 22, 531–541.
- 144 Chowrira, G.M., Akella, V., Fuerst, P.E., and Lurquin, P.F. (1996) Transgenic grain legumes obtained by in planta electroporation-mediated gene transfer. *Mol. Biotechnol.*, 5, 85–96.
- 145 Eapen, S. (2008) Advances in development of transgenic pulse crops. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 26, 162–168.
- 146 Ladizinsky, G., Cohen, D., and Muehlbauer, F.J. (1985) Hybridization in the genus *Lens* by means of embryo culture. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 70, 97–101.
- 147 Cohen, D., Ladizinsky, G., Ziv, M., and Muehlbauer, F.J. (1984) Rescue of interspecific *Lens* hybrids by means of embryo culture. *Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult.*, 3, 343–347.
- 148 Kuboyama, T., Shintaku, Y., and Takeda, G. (1991) Hybrid plant of *Phaseolus* vulgaris L. and *P. lunatus* L. obtained by means of embryo rescue and confirmed

by restriction endonuclease analysis of rDNA. *Euphytica*, **54**, 177–182.

- 149 Croser, J.S., Ahmad, F., Clarke, H.J., and Siddique, K.H.M. (2003) Utilisation of wild *Cicer* in chickpea improvement: progress, constraints, and prospects. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.*, 54, 429–444.
- 150 Mallikarjuna, N. (1999) Ovule and embryo culture to obtain hybrids from interspecific incompatible pollinations in chickpea. *Euphytica*, **110**, 1–6.
- 151 Mallikarjuna, N., Jadhav, D., and Reddy, P. (2006) Introgression of *Cajanus platycarpus* genome into cultivated pigeonpea, *C. cajan. Euphytica*, 149, 161– 167.
- 152 Mallikarjuna, N. and Moss, J.P. (1995) Production of hybrids between *Cajanus platycarpus* and *Cajanus cajan*. *Euphytica*, 83, 43–46.
- 153 Singh, K.B., Ocampo, B., and Robertson, L.D. (1998) Diversity for abiotic and biotic stress resistance in the wild annual *Cicer* species. *Genet. Resour. Crop Evol.*, 45, 9–17.
- 154 Croser, J.S., Clarke, H.J., Siddique, K.H. M., and Khan, T.N. (2003) Lowtemperature stress: implications for chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) improvement. *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.*, 22, 185–219.
- 155 Fratini, R. and Ruiz, M.L. (2008) Micropropagation of intra and interspecific *Lens* hybrids. *Euphytica*, 159, 199–206.
- 156 Fratini, R. and Ruiz, M.L. (2006) Interspecific hybridization in the genus *Lens* applying *in vitro* embryo rescue. *Euphytica*, 150, 271–280.
- Palmer, J.L., Lawn, R.J., and Adkins, S.W. (2002) An embryo-rescue protocol for *Vigna* interspecific hybrids. *Aust. J. Bot.*, 50, 331–338.
- 158 Rai, M.K., Kalia, R.K., Singh, R., Gangola, M.P., and Dhawan, A.K. (2011) Developing stress tolerant plants through *in vitro* selection: an overview of the recent progress. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 71, 89–98.
- 159 Gulati, A. and Jaiwal, P.K. (1993) *In-Vitro* selection of salt-resistant *Vigna-radiata* (L.) Wilczek plants by adventitious shoot

formation from cultured cotyledon explants. J. Plant Physiol., 142, 99–102.

- 160 Hassan, N.M., Serag, M.S., El-Feky, F.M., and Alla, M.M.N. (2008) *In vitro* selection of mung bean and tomato for improving tolerance to NaCl. *Ann. Appl. Biol.*, 152, 319–330.
- 161 Liu, T. and Van Staden, J. (2000) Selection and characterization of sodium chloride-tolerant callus of *Glycine max* (L.) *Merr cv. Acme. Plant Growth Regul.*, 31, 195–207.
- 162 Safarnejad, A., Collin, H.A., Bruce, K.D., and McNeilly, T. (1996) Characterization of alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) following *in vitro* selection for salt tolerance. *Euphytica*, 92, 55–61.
- 163 Gulati, A. and Jaiwal, P.K. (1994) *In-Vitro* selection and characterization of *Vignaradiata* cell-line resistant to peg-induced drought stress. *Acta Physiol. Plant*, 16, 53–60.
- 164 Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Rao, J.S., Vadez, V., and Sharma, K.K. (2010) Transgenic strategies for improved drought tolerance in legumes of semi-arid tropics. *J. Crop. Improv.*, 24, 92–111.
- 165 Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Vadez, V., Devi, M., Lavanya, M., Vani, G., and Sharma, K.K. (2009) Genetic engineering of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) with the P5CSF129A gene for osmoregulation with implications on drought tolerance. *Mol. Breed.*, 23, 591–606.

- 166 de Ronde, J.A., Cress, W.A., Kruger, G.H. J., Strasser, R.J., and Van Staden, J. (2004) Photosynthetic response of transgenic soybean plants, containing an *Arabidopsis* P5CR gene, during heat and drought stress. *J. Plant Physiol.*, 161, 1211–1224.
- 167 Zhang, C.S., Lu, Q., and Verma, D.P.S. (1995) Removal of feedback inhibition of Δ¹-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase, a bifunctional enzyme catalyzing the first two steps of proline biosynthesis in plants. *I. Biol. Chem*, **270**, 20491–20496.
- 168 Gubis, J., Vanková, R., Cervená, V., Dragúnová, M., Hudcovicová, M., Lichtnerová, H., Dokupil, T., and Jureková, Z. (2007) Transformed tobacco plants with increased tolerance to drought. S. Afr. J. Bot., 73, 505–511.
- 169 Jaglo-Ottosen, K.R., Gilmour, S.J., Zarka, D.G., Schabenberger, O., and Thomashow, M.F. (1998) Arabidopsis CBF1 overexpression induces COR genes and enhances freezing tolerance. *Science*, 280, 104–106.
- Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Devi, M.J., Reddy, D.S., Lavanya, M., Vadez, V., Serraj, R., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., and Sharma, K.K. (2007) Stress-inducible expression of At DREB1A in transgenic peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) increases transpiration efficiency under water-limiting conditions. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 26, 2071–2082.

Section IIIC Rosaceae

Improving Crop Productivity and Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Cultivated *Fragaria* Using Omics and Systems Biology Approach

Jens Rohloff, Pankaj Barah, and Atle M. Bones

Abstract

18

Strawberries, especially the hybrid *Fragaria* × *ananassa*, are a popular high- value crop due to the pleasant taste and aroma as well as the content of health-promoting/ beneficial phytochemicals. World production of strawberry in 2008 was approximately 4130 metric tons cultivated on more than 250 000 hectares and the production is increasing. Strawberries are cultivated in a broad range of climatic zones from subtropical to temperate and boreal regions, although most commercial production is limited to areas with seasonal temperate temperatures. *Fragaria* is relatively tolerant to drought, but production is prone to losses during storage and transport and environmental conditions like wet weather, low temperatures, and pathogen attacks.

The draft genome of wild strawberry (*Fragaria vesca*) was published in 2011. Together with other sequence data, this opens up for studies at functional and comparative genomics level using global techniques like transcript, protein, and metabolite profiling. Using case examples, we present possibilities for genome-wide approaches to obtain a deeper mechanistic understanding of abiotic tolerance in *Fragaria*. Furthermore, we discuss how genome-wide studies have opened up possibilities for studies of stress responses and identification of potential targets for breeding.

These rapidly evolving genome-wide techniques generate large data sets, and data processing and modeling depend on corresponding computational methods to integrate, analyze, extract, and visualize data and results. We discuss the potential of *Fragaria* crop systems biology and how these techniques and methods can be used for improvement of *Fragaria* crop productivity and abiotic stress tolerance.

18.1 Introduction

The cultivated strawberry *Fragaria* × *ananassa* Duch. belongs to the agriculturally and economically important plant family of Rosaceae and is regarded as a significant berry crop worldwide because of its popular taste, flavor, and abundance of nutrients. World

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

© 2012 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

452 18 Improving Crop Productivity and Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Cultivated Fragaria

production increased by 30% between 1999 and 2009 [1]. Total production in the USA, the largest strawberry producer, accounted for more than \$2 billion in 2008. However, recent data presented at the 7th International Strawberry Symposium in Beijing February 2012 showed that China now is the biggest producer of strawberries. In comparison to other Rosaceae crops, strawberry yields quite high producer prices (USA 2008: \$1858/t), only approached by the more valuable sweet cherries, almonds, and raspberries. Moreover, under optimized conditions, area yield surpasses even the high-productive apples, pears, and peaches, which realize only one-third of the price of strawberries; hence, the economic significance and sales potential of strawberries in many countries.

Marketed freshly, strawberries show a high degree of perishability in the postharyest period due to the berries' soft fruit character and thus economic losses are often recorded during field production as a result of suboptimal growth parameters and plant stress related to abiotic and biotic factors. While the latter might be addressed by agricultural practice, the influence of unfavorable environmental conditions with regard to light, temperature (UV, heat, and cold), water, and soil (drought and salinity) is less predictable and controllable. Plants respond toward abiotic stress through initialization of signaling processes, which trigger transcriptional regulation and gene activation, followed by the induction of tolerance and/or resistance mechanisms. Growth performance and berry yield therefore strongly rely on the plant's plasticity and evolved homeostatic control systems to maintain essential biological functions in order to circumvent stress and so eventually survive. Cold response and freezing tolerance in perennial Fragaria species might serve here as an example of an abiotic factor being especially addressed by breeders in temperate and cold-temperate zones due to short growing seasons and harsh climatic conditions [2]. Though Fragaria varieties have even been developed for production under colder climates, the freezing tolerance of strawberry plants is still rather limited. For the facilitation of knowledge transfer and improvement of the Fragaria breeding progress, the diploid woodland strawberry (Fragaria vesca L.) has been adopted as a plant model species [2, 3], since vast genomic information based on cDNA libraries from cold-, heat-, drought, and salt-stressed F. vesca has been made available in recent years [4]. Moreover, its comparatively small genome [5], plant size, vegetative and seed propagation, and fruit production further establishes F. vesca as an attractive model. Woodland strawberry is widely spread across the Northern Hemisphere from subtropical to subarctic zones, and can be found at altitudinal levels up to 3000 m. Thus, a huge variety of environmentally adapted phenotypes is available for utilization in functional, structural, and comparative genomic studies on $F. \times$ ananassa. Diploid and octoploid Fragaria are characterized by a high degree of genome colinearity [6]. Processes and mechanisms induced upon plant stress, such as cold, are highly evolutionarily conserved throughout the plant kingdom [7], and biological information gathered from either $F. \times$ ananassa or F. vesca is likely to be resembled by both species.

Modern high-throughput and high-resolution systems provide advanced analytical instrumentation for the dissection of the complexity of plant responses to abiotic stress through generation of vast genomic, proteomic, and metabolic information. Such information from sequencing and profiling platforms needs to
be subsequently processed regarding statistical treatment, mapping, integration and modeling, and finally, data storage and inquiry. The interdisciplinary field of systems biology has established the necessary tools and methods in order to build the bridges between various data resources and to make comprehensive biological information accessible – also in terms of crop biology [8].

Here, we present a recent update on strawberry production and breeding with special emphasis on the impact of abiotic factors on plant performance and yield. Omics approaches and the use of systems biology for potential crop improvement in strawberry are particularly emphasized, and recent developments and innovations in *Fragaria* breeding have also been presented.

18.2 Abiotic Factors and Agronomic Aspects

18.2.1

Botany and Agricultural History

18.2.1.1 Botany and Distribution

The Rosaceae family contains almost 100 genera [9]. It includes quite significant fruit and nut crops worldwide, namely, raspberry and blackberry (genus *Rubus* L.), cherry, peach, apricot, almond (*Prunus* L.), pear (*Pyrus* L.), apple (*Malus* Mill.), and others. The most recent taxonomy of the strawberry genus (*Fragaria* L.) comprises 20 species, in addition to 3 wild hybrids and 2 cultivated hybrids [10]. As an evolutionary quite young genus that evolved about 3 Mio years ago [11], *Fragaria* shows a modest diversity compared to the much older and closely related genus *Rubus* that has more than 300 species. Though strawberries have been popular throughout the agricultural history due to their nutritionally notable and highly flavorful soft fruits, their utilization and cultivation for food purposes are restricted to a few species of economic importance (Table 18.1). The most prominent member is the cultivated octoploid strawberry (*Fragaria* × *ananassa* Duch.), which evolved through interspecific hybridization of the Chilean strawberry (*Fragaria chiloensis* (L.) Mill.) and Virginia strawberry (*Fragaria virginiana* Mill.) in Brest, France, in the late eighteenth century.

Due to improved berry size, plant vigor, and taste, the new hybrid $F. \times$ ananassa quickly spread to other parts of Europe (England and Germany) and also to the United States. Selection and breeding led to the first varieties in the beginning of the nineteenth century, and breeding programs were established in agriculturally leading countries of the Northern Hemisphere after 1900. Though other species such as *F. chiloensis, F. virginiana, F. moschata,* and also *F. vesca* had been domesticated and grown for centuries before the arrival of the new hybrid, and are still cultivated, they were eventually displaced. The cultivated strawberry carries an advantageous combination of traits due to heterotic effects, which were inherited from their parental species. Besides superior plant growth and berry yield, cold tolerance and disease resistance have been inherited from the genetic background of

Plant name	Botanical name	Ploidy	Distribution	Characteristics
Woodland strawberry	F. vesca L.	2	Europe, North Africa, temperate Asia, and North America	Small berries with characteristic, intense aroma; varieties used in small scale for jam production and culinary purposes
Musk strawberry	Fragaria moschata Duch.	6	Temperate regions of Asia and Central, South, and Northern Europe	Varieties used for culinary purposes; medium-sized berries are very flavorful with intense strawberry and fruit aromas
Chilean strawberry	F. chiloensis (L.) Mill.	8	Pacific coastal regions of North and South America, Argentina, and Hawaii	Wild parental of cultivated strawberry, glossy leafs, medium- sized less tasteful berries, whitish flesh, still grown in South America
Virginia strawberry	F. virginiana Mill.	8	North America	Wild parental of cultivated strawberry, medium-sized sweet and tasteful berries
Cultivated strawberry	Fragaria × ananassa Duch.	8	Main cultivation areas in the Northern Hemisphere, in warm and cold-temperate climates (see Table 18.2)	Hybrid between the octoploids <i>F. chiloensis</i> and <i>F. virginiana</i> , vigorously growing plants, large and tasty berries
Vescana hybrid	Fragaria × vescana Rud.Bauer and A. Bauer	10	Small-scale cultivation and culinary purposes in Central and Northern Europe	Hybrid cross between diploid <i>F. vesca</i> and octoploid <i>F. × ananassa</i> , small but very flavorful berries

 Table 18.1
 Economically important strawberry species worldwide.

F. chiloensis and *F. virginiana*. These diverse species have today advanced as prime genetic resources for the reassembling of *F.* × *ananassa* and the potential development of new, tolerant varieties, as is later discussed.

18.2.1.2 Nutritionals and Phytochemicals

For both consumers and industry, not only the sugar and acid content but also the characteristic aroma and flavor composition of strawberries are regarded as valuable fruit traits. In addition, strawberries are a significant source of so-called antioxidants exhibiting functional roles in plant growth, metabolism, defense, and stress response and showing biological and health-related activity in human nutrition [12]. The beneficial quality of strawberries is mainly based on the abundance of phenolics [13, 14], comprising anthocyanins, hydroxycinnamic, hydroxybenzoic, and ellagic acid structures, and ascorbic acid. The biosynthesis of core metabolites within the phenylpropanoid pathway of $F. \times ananassa$ has been intensively researched in recent years [15]. Generally, the significance and abundance of bioactive molecules are expressed by their summarized antioxidant activity, since these compounds are supposed to play an important role in the chemopreventive activity against several human diseases [16]. Abiotic factors such as light intensity and quality [17] and temperature [18] directly affect flavonoids and other phenols in strawberry fruit. Several studies point out the overall determining effect of the genotype on phenol content and composition compared to the environmental and agricultural influences [19, 20]. This is also true for the composition of strawberry aroma compounds that are highly variety dependent, although environmental factors such as weather conditions and agricultural practice strongly influence aroma patterns in berry fruit [21].

18.2.1.3 Economic Aspects of Production and Environment

Major regions of strawberry production worldwide are restricted to the subtropical, humid temperate, and humid cold climates of the Northern Hemisphere (Table 18.2). *Fragaria* breeding has advanced throughout the past century allowing effective development of varieties being optimalized for climatic conditions as shown, for example, by the US breeding efforts leading to regional selections for the coastal plains, Mid Atlantic and Midwest, and California [22]. This also implies that high variation in yield, when comparing country data, cannot be necessarily deduced from climatic factors alone, and it should be seen in the background of regional strawberry production systems –since farmers generally have access to highly productive genotypes, and superior varieties are often grown in several countries or even different continents. However, distinct parameters such as annual sunshine hours and mean temperature have to be considered main impact factors, even though correlations with yield data appear rather weak (corr. = 0.4; data not shown).

Unpredictable hard winters and rainy seasons in boreal regions might severely impair strawberry performance in one or even several seasons, while negative effects of, for example, drought in warmer climates can still be compensated by appropriate irrigation management. In other words, the yield potential of the same variety grown in different geographic and climatic locations can be fully exploited only if the variability of critical abiotic factors is minimized – that is, under conditions that are rather fairly fulfilled in the Nordic regions of Europe and North America. This aspect was also highlighted by recent studies under the EU-COST network "EUROBERRY No. 863," showing a latitudinal gradient from Northern to Southern Europe with increasing berry yield [23]. Thus, economically significant regions of efficient large-scale production are mainly located in the United States and Mexico, Central and Southern Europe, North Africa, and East Asia.

Table 18.2 Productior	і, есопоту, апс	l climatic pa	rameters	in strawberry	r production.				
Country	Production (Mt)	Area (ha)	Yield t/ha	US\$/t (2008)	Latitude (range)	∑ Light ^a (kWh/m²)	Day length <i>ª</i> (h) ^b	Mean Temperature ^a (annual °C)	Climate (Köppen–Geiger)
Europe	1 338.1	161 987	8.3	2 819					
Spain	263.7	7100	37.1	2 288	26-45N	1500-1900	14-15	5-20	BSk, Csa, Csb
Poland	198.9	53 551	3.7	1080	49–55N	1000 - 1100	16 - 17	5-10	Cfb
Russia	158.0	23 000	6.9	2 011	41–65N	1000 - 1300	15-19	0-15	Dfb
Germany	150.1	12800	11.7	3 625	47–55N	1000 - 1300	15-17	5-10	Cfb
United Kingdom ^{ε}	87.2	4 656	18.7	3 851	49–61N	900-1100	16–18	5-15	Cfb, Cfc
Ukraine	57.9	8 200	7.1	1496	44-53N	1100 - 1400	15-17	5-10	Dfb
Italy	56.4	3100	18.2	2547^d	35–48N	1300 - 1800	14–16	5-20	Cfb, Cfc, Csa
Belarus	50.4	7800	6.5	2 348	51–57N	1000 - 1200	16 - 18	0-10	Dfb
France	45.0	3 000	15.0	3 198	41–51N	1100 - 1600	15-16	5-15	Cfb, Csc
The Netherlands c	41.0	1700	24.1	5 098	50–54N	1000 - 1100	16 - 17	5-10	Cfb
$\operatorname{Belgium}^{\varepsilon}$	40.0	1067	37.5	3 271	49–53N	1000 - 1100	16 - 17	5-10	Cfb
Serbia	35.8	7 916	4.5	1050	41-47N	1400 - 1600	15-16	5-15	Cfb
Romania	22.0	2 507	8.8	1413	4349N	1300-1500	15–16	5-15	Cfb
Austria	17.1	1 253	13.7	2 950	46–50N	1100 - 1300	15–16	5-10	Cfb
$Czech Republic^{c}$	12.5	2 467	5.1	2 751	48–51N	1100-1200	15-16	5-10	Cfb
Sweden	11.8	2 000	5.9	2 918	55-70N	800 - 1000	17 - 19	0-10	Cfb, Dfb
Finland	11.6	3 270	3.5	5 707	59-71N	800 - 1000	18–19	0-5	Dfb, Dfc
Norway	9.8	1624	6.0	4 904	57-81N	800 - 1000	17–19	0-10	Cfb, Dfc
North America	1289.9	26 673	48.4	2 338					
USA (contiguous)	1 270.7	23 504	54.1	1 858	27–48N	1500-2000	14 - 16	5-25	Cfa, Csa, Csb
Canada	19.2	3169	6.1	2 817	41–84N	1400 - 1600	15-19	0-10	Dfb

Asia	771.0	32 456	23.8	2 073					
Turkey	292.0	12 150	24.0	1360	35-43N	1500-2000	14–15	5-20	Cfa, Csa, Csb
South Korea c	203.2	6 665	30.5	1911	33–39N	1300-1500	14–15	5-15	Cfa, Cwa
Japan	185.0	6 000	30.8	8137	24-46N	1300 - 1600	13-15	0-15	Cfa, Dfb
Γan^c	28.5	2 233	12.7	688	24-40N	1600-2200	13-15	10-25	BSh, BWh
Israel	23.6	800	29.5	2 787	29–34N	2000-2100	14	15-25	BWh, Csa
China	13.1	1091	12.0	1 295	23-55N	1000-2000	13 - 17	5-20	Cfa, Cwa
Central and	355.7	15 345	23.2	1578					
South America									
$Mexico^c$	207.5	6 176	33.6	744	14–33N	1700-2000	13-14	15-25	Aw, BSh, BWk,
									Cfa
Colombia	43.1	1249	34.5	1857	5S-14N	1400 - 1900	12–13	15-25	Af, Am, Aw
$Chile^{c}$	40.0	1546	25.9	n.a.	17-56S	1100-2000	13 - 17	5-20	BWk, Cfb, Csb
Peru	20.0	1180	16.9	321	4–18S	1700-2200	12–13	5-20	BWh
$Venezuela^c$	16.4	2 622	6.3	2311	0-13N	1600-2100	12–13	20-25	Am, Aw, BSh
Africa	344.5	15 999	21.5	1011					
Egypt	200.0	12000	16.7	278	22–32N	2100-2400	13 - 14	15-25	BWh
Morocco	130.0	3 000	43.3	1041	27–36N	1800 - 2000	14–15	10-25	BSh, Csa
Australia/NZ c	33.2	1440	23.1	4250	9-53S	1300-2200	13 - 17	5-25	BSh, Cfa, Cfb
Total	4 132.4	253 900	148.3	14069					
Climate – A: humid eq	uatorial, B: arid,	C: humid te	mperate, D): humid cold	, W: desert, S: s	steppe; Precipitati	on – f: fully hu	mid, s: summer dry, w.	winter dry, m: monsoonal;

Climate – A: humid equatorial, B: arid, C: humid temperate, D: humid cold, W: desert, S: steppe; Precipitation – f: fully humid, s: summer dry, w. winter dry, m: mc Temperature – h: hot arid, k: cold arid, a: hot summer, b: warm summer, c: cool summer, n.a. recent data not available.	a) Cultivation areas	b) Day length June or December.	c) Production 2008.	d) Producer price 2007.
---	----------------------	---------------------------------	---------------------	-------------------------

18.2.2

Abiotic Factors in Strawberry Production

While natural factors such as light, temperature, rain, and O_3 and CO_2 levels in open-field cultivation are controllable only to a limited extent, if at all, cultivation factors such as fertilization, organic matter, and soil pH can be easily modified due to current agricultural practice. The development of new strawberry varieties with enhanced tolerance to abiotic stress mainly strives to improve the plant's adaptability to unfavorable conditions and extend the geographical range of cultivation and thus the profitability of strawberry production. For this reason, the next sections will mainly focus on abiotic stress, tolerance mechanisms, and deduced breeding goals in *Fragaria* with regard to natural environmental factors and their impact on strawberry plant growth, production, and survival. The abiotic aspects related to postharvest and shelf life have not been dealt with, and the reader is referred to relevant reviews [21, 24]. However, the basic effects of the abiotic environment will be presented later, and the next section will address biological processes and mechanisms in more detail in the context of *Fragaria* breeding.

18.2.2.1 Light

Due to the photosynthetic activity of higher plants, light has to be considered the most important abiotic factor in strawberry production. Light directly affects plant growth with regard to the production of large amounts of biomass and berry fruit, containing both nutritional compounds (sugars and acids) and phytochemicals (flavonoids and other phenolic structures and ascorbic acid). In crop biology, the photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) in the spectral range of 400-700 nm and the photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) (expressed as µmol/(m² s)) constitute essential production measures. In combination with temperature, the elevated solar radiation and the sunshine hours positively affect not only the strawberry production but also the biosynthesis and levels of fruit phytochemicals [25]. Increasing PPFD per se does not necessarily constrain plant growth and cultivation; however, short-day conditions (12 h daylight) as well as high temperatures and transpiration rates under tropical climates practically limit sustainable strawberry production to subtropical, temperate, and boreal regions. On the other hand, extreme long-day conditions during the summer season with up to 24 h of light in regions above the Arctic Circle in the Northern Hemisphere do not restrict berry production [26]. Due to Fragaria's environmental plasticity and the development of suitable $F. \times ana$ nassa varieties, strawberries generally show a high degree of adaptability to different light and temperature conditions. Based on the genetic variation of the parental species, F. chiloensis and F. virginiana, the so-called June-bearing, ever-bearing, and day-neutral strawberries have been developed. The short-day response in June-bearers has recently been shown to be strongly inherited from F. chiloensis [27], whereas the contribution of the parental species to the long-day response in ever-bearing varieties is yet to be determined [28]. Although natural light quality with respect to spectral composition is considered a minor factor, field experiments have shown that spectral color shifts when using red-colored mulch can improve berry quality

(size, sugar, and aroma), presumably due to altered phytochrome-mediated gene expression [29]. In contrast, enhanced levels of UV-B and UV-A light might negatively impact the photosynthesis and thus plant growth [30] and hence have to be addressed in the background of climate change.

18.2.2.2 Temperature

Though Fragaria can be considered a tolerant genus toward climate extremes, the range of successful strawberry production is restricted to geographical zones with seasonal temperate temperatures. On the other hand, both diploid F. vesca and the octoploid parentals F. chiloensis and F. virginiana show a high degree of adaptability to cold, temperate, and warm climates. Unfavorably high temperatures favor photorespiration in $F. \times$ ananassa, a C₃ plant, and increase plant water loss. Chilling stress, as known from many subtropical and tropical plant species, plays a minor role in strawberry cultivation. However, one has to consider the growth-enhancing effect of chill temperatures especially on day-neutral and June-bearers, which hardens plants toward temperature fluctuations in the growing season and thus improves fitness. This is particularly true for cultivation in moderate to warm regions, where night temperatures might still drop below zero degrees in spring time and potentially lead to flower damage during blooming. In contrast, in strawberry production in Central and Northern Europe, plants remain dormant throughout the winter season and partly experience longer periods with mild to severe frost temperatures. In order to survive, these plants are naturally hardened by a gradual temperature decrease (cold acclimation) during autumn, in combination with altered light conditions switching from long- to short-day conditions. Although frost-tolerant varieties have been developed, both the meristematic tissue of overwintering crowns and the roots might be irreversibly damaged. Thus, winter-frost, snow cover periods in combination with short vegetation periods are the limiting factors for strawberry cultivation in the Northern Hemisphere.

18.2.2.3 Water

In natural environments, *Fragaria* species show a remarkable tolerance toward drought and can be found not only in the open sunny locations with water deficit but also in locations with excess of soil water and, simultaneously, conditions of O_2 deprivation. When the available soil moisture drops below a critical point, plants respond by closing their stomata upon stress-induced signaling of the phytohormone abscisic acid (ABA) and thus decrease transpiration and water loss. Though strawberry tends to lose cell turgor pressure quite rapidly compared to other plant species, showing obvious signs of wilting, it is capable of recovering from extended periods of dehydration without irreversible cell death. In addition, water utilization by strawberry plants might be improved under elevated CO_2 levels, as shown in Ref. [31]. Water might be considered a less important stress factor in many regions, since large-scale strawberry cultivation relies on automated drip irrigation systems, often in combination with tunnel production and sprinklers, to prevent plants from severe drought. As a consequence of climate change with temperature increase and variation of atmospheric gases, however, today's crop

production is challenged. Water deficiency is particularly critical during flowering and fruit set when plants rely on sufficient nutrient supply from the soil or growth substrate, and large amounts of assimilates are translocated in the plant from the leaves to the fruits. Thus, dehydration might lead to a decrease in berry yield [32], but the effect highly depends on the genotype as shown for *F*. × *ananassa* [33].

18.2.2.4 Soil

Fragaria species are generally adapted to grow even in soils with natural high acidity far below pH 5 or in calciferous habitats with high pH. However, availability and root uptake of nutrients either as cation or anion depend highly on soil pH (and other edaphic factors). In terms of strawberry cultivation, the soil optimum ranges between pH 5-6.5 [34], depending on the chosen variety, in order to maintain optimal plant growth and to fully utilize the plant's yield potential. Increased soil salinity, another soil-related stress factor, plays a significant role in warm temperate and subtropical regions, especially in coastal belts and under the use of irrigation water, and might negatively affect strawberry plant growth, yield, and taste. Though $F. \times$ ananassa can be considered a Na⁺ excluder, that is, not accumulating sodium under elevated salt levels, plant performance is clearly reduced [35]. Heavy metal concentrations in soils might also be regarded as an abiotic factor influencing plant growth of Fragaria species. Highly contaminated locations favor the uptake of heavy metal ions and potentially lead to unacceptable concentrations of, for example, Cd in berry fruit [36], though in planta distribution and levels in edible plant parts do not necessarily correlate with levels in the soil due to potential atmospheric pollution [37]. However, other health-related aspects rather than plant stress constrain the cultivation of strawberry or other food crops in such locations, and leave the issue to the potential breeding of low heavy metal accumulating $F. \times$ ananassa varieties and the selection of suitable field locations and organic fertilizer application methods.

18.2.2.5 Atmospheric Gases and Airborne Contamination

Enhanced CO_2 levels due to environmental change or agricultural practice (tunnel and greenhouse production and use of organic mulching) do not negatively impact the *Fragaria* growth and yield or even improve the plants' water utilization, as already mentioned. The interested reader is referred to the excellent life cycle study of strawberry production systems in the United Kingdom [38], showing, among other aspects, the enhancing effect of organic production on plant canopy CO_2 levels. Octoploid hybrids show a relatively high photosynthetic capacity, compared to wild species of lower ploidy level [39], whose species are naturally adapted to lower light levels when growing in mixed plant communities. Elevated ozone levels, on the other hand, might impair plant growth severely through a reduction of leaf area, potentially decreased berry yield, and indirectly, by affecting the following seasons' berry production [40]. The same group had earlier shown that *F*. × *ananassa* varieties differentially compensate for ozone stress due to enhanced Ca concentrations in leaves [41]. Ozone levels in industrialized regions of the Northern Hemisphere in particular have been increasing since the past decades, reaching levels of up to 60 ppb during summer seasons [42], and thus pose a real threat to crop production in the future. Furthermore, anthropogenic entries of SO_2 and NO_x into the atmosphere have been drastically diminished in the past 30 years, and thus, fortunately, almost abolished the problem of acid rain in crop production and forestry.

18.2.2.6 Abiotic Stress Alleviation through Agricultural Practice

Though agricultural practice will not be discussed in detail here, it is worthwhile mentioning several topics in the context of plant abiotic stress, since practically applied treatments are rooted in the study of basic plant molecular and physiological processes. One important aspect is the prehardening of waiting bed and plug plants through periods of chill temperature, not only for flower induction but also for improved cold tolerance. More recently, so-called *priming* methods have been investigated in order to increase the plants' tolerance toward biotic and abiotic stress, including the treatment with synthetic or natural chemicals – ABA against cold stress [43], BTH against *Phytophthora* [44], betaines for plant vigor [21], and the potential of root inoculation with mycorrhizal fungi against drought stress [45]. Moreover, positive effects of externally applied plant hormones have also been reported for the alleviation of water stress by methyl jasmonate [46], and salicylic acid [47] and calcium and potassium nitrate treatment against salt stress [48].

18.2.3

Fragaria Breeding toward Abiotic Factors

In the background of the above-mentioned abiotic stress-related issues in the genus *Fragaria*, the interest in relevant breeding goals related to abiotic stress tolerance might differ from that in other significant crop plants. Though strawberries have to be considered an economically and health-related interesting agricultural product, a vast extension of existing cultivation regions seems not to be realistic, not least due to the agronomical competition with necessary staple crops for human nutrition. However, market-oriented reasoning might drive the development of new varieties, including innovative hybrids and genetically modified (GM) plants, and the potential expansion into marginal areas with suboptimal environmental conditions. The following gives a brief historical overview and a recent update of breeding achievements in strawberry, focusing mainly on abiotic parameters in the economically most important species *F.* × *ananassa*, *F. chiloensis*, and *F. virginiana*.

In terms of berry production, quality traits play a more pronounced role in *Fragaria* breeding above overall yield, in contrast to many other crop plants. Due to their soft fruit character, strawberries are highly perishable and shelf life quality is a significant breeding trait. But in practice, several traits are ideally combined when it comes to the final selection of new elite cultivars in order to address the demand of suitable plant characters with regard to both plant performance and fruit attributes.

18.2.3.1 Cultivation and Berry Production

Today, major breeding efforts in Europe, the United States, and also in Australia and Asia, have been made to develop varieties that are adapted to regional climatic

and other environmental conditions in order to facilitate or establish profitable strawberry production. Besides yield, fruit shape, color, and harvest-related fruit traits, the innate tolerance and resistance mechanisms toward multiple abiotic and biotic stress factors have particularly been of major concern in strawberry breeding. Typically resistant selections have been made in order to come up with varieties showing strong resistance to one or several types of threatening pathogens such as red stele (Phytophthora fragariae) and crown rot (Phytophthora cactorum), anthracnose (Colletotrichum acutatum), wilt (Verticillium dahliae), gray mold (Botrytis cinerea), and powdery mildew (Sphaerotheca macularis). Another major aspect, the daylight response in $F. \times$ ananassa and the development of suitable short-day and long-day plants and everbearers, has already been discussed. The Californian shortday "Camarosa" might serve as an example due to its international success since this variety was specifically produced for the warmer East coast climates, but simultaneously also grew vigorously in Mediterranean regions and was readily adopted by Spanish and Italian strawberry producers. Furthermore, the aspect of winter hardiness, especially demanded by farmers in temperate and cold-summer regions, eventually led to the development of the "Korona" variety, which has been profitably grown in many Central European and Scandinavian countries for the last two decades.

18.2.3.2 Fresh Market Quality and Consumer Demand

The content of nutritional compounds, phytochemicals with antioxidant activity, and the fruit's pleasant aroma have always been significant traits in *Fragaria* breeding. The balance between sweetness and acidity and the berries' organoleptic properties are important test parameters when it comes to the selection of breeding material. However, one-sided breeding focus toward fruit firmness and shelf life, as discussed in the next section, causes simultaneously a decrease in strawberry aroma and flavor. Demand by consumers and the food industry, however, has reversed this trend with intensified focus on aroma traits [49] and molecular aspects of biosynthesis [50] of strawberry phytochemicals [12].

18.2.3.3 Postharvest and Food Chain

High product prices and thus economic interest in supplying markets outside the production areas led 80 years ago to the development of varieties with increased firmness and skin toughness as well as with acceptable flavor, color, shape, and size. Today, Spain, the United States, Mexico, Belgium, the Netherlands, France, Italy, Turkey, and Morocco [1] are the most important exporters, strongly relying on the use of shipping varieties. Important European types are "Elsanta" (1975), "Sonata" (1998), and "Figaro" (2001), while "Camarosa" (1993), "Aromas" (1996), "Chandler" (1983), and "Selva" (1984) are famous varieties derived from the US breeding programs.

18.2.3.4 Processing and Industry

The launch of the winter-hardy German variety "Senga Sengana" in 1954 started the success story of *Fragaria* breeding efforts. Berries were sold on the fresh

market, and more importantly, the fruit's deep color, strong flavor, and suitable texture made it an ideal raw material for the upcoming freezing and canning industry, and the variety has been grown all over Central and Northern Europe for decades. Nowadays, strawberries are used in many kinds of processed foods from juice, coulis, to dairy products and breakfast cereals. Requirements by specialized branches, for example, by ice cream producers in the United States, might even lead to the development of customized varieties to meet the industry's demand for particular berry qualities.

18.2.3.5 Classical Breeding of Varieties and Hybrids

As already intensively discussed, one major drawback of traditional breeding in *Fragaria* has been the one-sided focus on fruit-related traits (yield and shelf life). Other issues complicating breeding efficiency include the complexity and interconnection of traits in view of environmental variables, and finally, the compulsory introduction of plant characteristics from the same species (crossbreeding) or close relatives of the same plant family (hybridization). An important aspect is the efficient and suitable selection of plant material in order to advance breeding processes and variety development for abiotic stress tolerance as in the case of salt stress [51], drought [32], heat [52], and freezing tolerance [2, 53].

Recent genomic approaches for the improvement of agricultural crops are based on technologies and methods in order to understand the genetics behind traits and to generate and utilize functional, structural, and comparative genomic information for breeding purposes, namely, marker-assisted breeding (MAB) and genetic modification (GM).

18.2.3.6 Marker-Assisted Breeding (MAB)

While marker-assisted selection (MAS) refers only to the utilization of markers for the purposeful selection of parentals or seedling, MAB implies the use of markers in several steps of the breeding process. DNA fingerprinting and detection of molecular markers, for example, microsatellites and SNPs, allow plant breeders to screen plant populations toward the presence or absence of gene(s) and thus desirable trait(s), based on molecular biological methods rather than on visual observation of trait expression in the plant, as reviewed in Ref. [54]. Important genomic accomplishments in recent years include the publication of the F. vesca draft genome [5] and the necessary characterization of germplasm (phenotyping, isozymes, and DNA PCR markers), linkage mapping and quantitative trait locus (QTL) studies, DNA barcoding, and next-generation sequencing technologies as described in Refs [10, 11]. Despite the acceleration of plant breeding using MAB methods, the possible interaction of and overlap between biotic and abiotic responses at the molecular level might pose obstacles, as in the case of the protein osmotin, which is suggested as being involved in salt stress [55], and commonly known from biotic responses upon microbial infection [56]. On the other hand, vast sequence data from model plants within the Rosaceae family, for example, apple and peach, are already available (Table 18.3).

species and 1 pla	int model within the Rosaceae family (give	en in bold).				
Plant name	Organism	Genome (Mb)	Chromosome No.	Status	Release date	Center/consortium
Thale cress	A. thaliana Columbia-O	93.7	5	•	2000	Arabidopsis Genome Initiative
Rice (Japanese	Oryza sativa Japonica Group	334.8	12	•	2002	International Rice Genome Sequencing Project
rice)	Nipponbare					
Maize	Zea mays B73	2970.0	10	•	2009	MaizeSequence.org
Amaranth	Amaranthus tuberculatus ACR	4.3		×	2009	University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign
	biotype					
Rockcress	Arabidopsis lyrata ssp. lyrata MN47	180.0		×	2009	DOE Joint Genome Institute
Purple false	Brachypodium distachyon	541.0	5	×	2010	The International Brachypodium Initiative
brome						
Papaya	Carica papaya SunUp	271.7		×	2008	The Papaya Genome Sequencing Consortium
Cucumber	Cucumis sativus 9930	225.9	7	×	2009	The Cucumber Genome Initiative
Eutrema	Eutrema parvulum (Schrenk) Al-	140.0	7	×	2011	University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign
	Shehbaz and Warwick					
Woodland	Fragaria vesca ssp. vesca Hawaii 4	197.0	7	×	2010	Virginia Bioinformatics Institute
strawberry						
Soybean	Glycine max	1906.1	20	×	2010	DOE Joint Genome Institute
Jatropha	Jatropha curcas Palawan	400.0		×	2011	Kazusa
Lotus	Lotus japonicus MG-20	147.8	6	×	2008	Kazusa
Apple	Malus × domestica Golden	526.0	17	×	2010	IASMA Research Center
	Delicious					
Barth's rice	Oryza barthii IRRI Acc:105608	~ 450	12	×	2009	Oryza Chr3 Short Arm Comparat. Sequencing
African rice	Oryza glaberrima IRGC: 96717	290.0	12	×	2010	Project Oryza Map Alignment Project (OMAP)
)					

Table 18.3 Some genome projects of higher plants with a total of 18 crops or otherwise important species for feed, fuel, and fiber production, including 2 fruit crop

UC Davis Genome Center Bioinformatics Core		р		220.0	Prunus persica	Peach
International Grape Genome Program	2007	×	19	467.5	V. vinifera PN40024	Grape Vine
Biotechnology						
National Center Genetic Engineering and	2009	×		580.0	<i>Vigna radiata</i> Kamphaeng Saen	Mung bean
ICGS	2010	×	10	290.0	Theobroma cacao B97-61/B2	Cacao tree
Sorghum Consortium	2009	×	10	658.0	Sorghum bicolor $\operatorname{BT} imes 623$	Sorghum
Kazusa	2009	×		540.6	Solanum lycopersicum Heinz 1706	Tomato
Solanaceae Genome Project	2010	×	12	759.0	Solanum lycopersicum	Tomato
Selaginella Consortium	2010	×		210.0	Selaginella moellendorffii	Spikemoss
J. Craig Venter Institute	2006	×	10	352.3	R. communis	Castor oil plant
						cottonwood
DOE Joint Genome Institute	2006	×	19	736.6	P. trichocarpa	Black
						moss
Moss Genome Consortium	2007	×	27	453.9	Physcomitrella patens ssp. patens	Physcomitrella
Cornell University	2009	×		284.7	Phoenix dactylifera cv. Khalas	Date plam
					Nipponbare	
Beijing Genomics Institute	2004	×	12	727.1	O. sativa Japonica Group	Japanese rice
of Agrobiological Sciences					Koshihikari	
QTL Genome Research Center, National Institute	2010	×		306.2	O. sativa Japonica Group	Japanese rice
Chinese Academy of Sciences	2002	×	12	784.6	O. sativa Indica Group	Indian rice

Data was compiled from NCBI (2011). • genome project completed; × genome assembly; **p** genome project in progress.

Moreover, genomic and functional information from other models, such as *Arabidopsis thaliana*, is accessible and in many cases transferable. As an example, one highly conserved mechanism in plants, which typically counteract abiotic stress, includes freezing tolerance, as discussed in Chapter 3. The raffinose pathway is generally induced via the CBF-dependent signaling pathway upon oxidative stress [57] and in particular under cold acclimation/cold stress conditions [58], as reported for many crop plants [7], including woodland and cultivated strawberry [2]. Thus, freezing tolerance mechanisms in *Fragaria* can be targeted by MAB methods addressing the identification of the metabolites involved, cryoprotective proteins, and molecular functions [53].

18.3

Genetically Modified (GM) Plants

The exploitation of genetically modified (GM) crop plants either through introduction of new genes and/or through alteration of existing genetic functions and traits started almost 20 years ago with the introduction and commercialization of the so-called *Flavr Savr* tomato with delayed softening and prolonged shelf life. Today, major GM traits are related to herbicide tolerance and resistance toward insect pests and viral diseases in important crops. The potential to modify plant nutritional traits has attracted more and more interest over the past decade with regard to amino acids (e.g., in maize), fatty acid profiles (e.g., in rapeseed), starch composition (e.g., in potato), and vitamin A-fortified "Golden rice" [59].

The strawberry industries in Europe and the United States have also shown interest in the purposeful modification of strawberry plants regarding nutritional and aroma-related properties of berry fruit, and several patents have been granted [60-62]. Safety issues and perception of GM food plants were emphasized as part of a European study on GM strawberry (genetical background: "Calypso") with enhanced resistance to gray mold (Project: TSP-EEES/ QLK5-CT-1999-01479) [63]. Consumer concerns toward GM food were further addressed through the development of cisgenic or intragenic plants [64], that is, the introduction of genes from the same species, and marker-free GM strawberry plants [65]. Only a few attempts have been made toward abiotic parameters and stress amelioration so far. Heterologous expression of coldinducible transcription factor CBF1 [66, 67], cryoprotective dehydrin WCOR410 [68], and osmotic stress-induced protein LEA3 [69] has resulted in improved freezing tolerance of $F. \times$ ananassa plants. Moreover, efforts have also been made to improve salt tolerance in osmotin-overexpressing GM strawberry [70]. In the long run, commercial use of GM strawberries might be expected, depending on the purpose of GM modification regarding consumer benefits.

18.4 Omics Approaches toward Abiotic Stress in *Fragaria*

Omics technologies have been frequently applied in the study of crop species throughout the past decade. Technological innovations and methodologies were based on the *Arabidopsis* model in the first place, but plant science has moved onward to new plant models, including significant food plants. Though rather few genome sequencing projects of crop species have been completed so far, the assembly of further plant genomes is in progress, and vast genomic information is already available (Table 18.3). Ongoing projects also include three whole-genome sequencing approaches in the Rosaceae family, namely, in apple (*Malus* × *domestica* Borkh.), peach (*Prunus persica* (L.) Batsch), and the Woodland strawberry *F. vesca*, whose draft genome was recently published [5]. *F. vesca* serves primarily as a model species within the *Fragaria* and for other Rosaceae species due to its diploid character, comparatively small genome, and ease of cultivation and propagation.

The major advantage of accessible genome information and gene annotation is the purposeful investigation of crop plants with regard to genetic regulation toward morphological development, phenotype expression, physiological functioning, and stress response, and the study of underlying molecular and cellular processes. In the following sections, the achievements and application of omics technologies in *Fragaria* will be presented with regard to genomic, proteomic, and metabolomic approaches.

18.4.1 Genomic Approaches toward *Fragaria*

The first transcriptional profiling studies were carried out using microarrays of combined Fragaria and Petunia cDNA in order to address attributes such as aroma biosynthesis [71], development of berries [72], and maturation [73]. In addition to studies of cultivated $F. \times$ ananassa, similar studies were done using the wild-type "model" F. vesca [74]. Although the first genomic investigations emphasized berry quality and yield-related properties, more recent studies strongly focused on functional aspects regarding single gene expression, polygenic effects, and QTLs and the evolution of phenotypes. Research in diploid Fragaria was intensified toward Fragaria genomic structure and the generation of genetic linkage maps [75–77] for mapping purposes with the cultivated strawberry and other Rosaceae species. Moreover, more recent investigations have tried to reconstruct a Rosaceae ancestral genome [78] and studied targeted gene neighborhoods in F. vesca [79], and thus established valuable information on the assembly of the F. vesca draft genome [5] and molecular breeding. Regarding abiotic stress responses and functional genomics in Fragaria, necessary tools and knowledge based on T-DNA insertions [80], microRNA profiling [81], and RNAi silencing [82] have been developed. Utilizing new-generation sequencing technology in combination with multiple abiotic factor treatments (light, day length, water, and temperature) in $F. \times$ ananassa, the

functional annotation of genes (contigs) could be accomplished, and, furthermore, new strawberry-specific transcripts were able to be identified [83].

18.4.1.1 Case I: Genomic Approaches toward Cold Acclimation/Freezing Tolerance in *Fragaria*

In order to support molecular breeding in *Fragaria* through functional genomics research, the authors used genotypes of the diploid model F. vesca and octoploid varieties of the cultivated strawberry in order to approach cold acclimation and freezing tolerance traits in strawberry through the application of omics technologies [2]. Biological processes in higher plants, which are triggered by abiotic stimuli, are highly conserved throughout the evolution, indicated by a moderate to strong homology between species regarding stress-responding genes. Moreover, recent results from the publication of the F. vesca draft genome [5] underscored the similarity of the Arabidopsis and the Fragaria genomes (number of protein-coding genes, shared gene families) and, thus, the potential of a heterologous genomics approach. Microarray analyses started with a full-genome Arabidopsis oligo array consisting of 26 604 genes. Profiling of cold-acclimated (4 °C) leaves from three Norwegian F. vesca clones and one F. \times ananassa variety ("Korona") clearly showed the strong modulation of biological processes such as metabolism, transport, photosynthesis, signaling, and development after 24 and 72 h of cold exposure [2]. A total of 1957 and 1843 differentially regulated Arabidopsis gene homologues, respectively, could be detected.

In order to improve data from global transcriptional profiling, a customized Fragaria microarray chip was therefore developed as a joint collaboration between the Norwegian breeding company Graminor Breeding Ltd. and the authors' research group at NTNU in Trondheim. About 59 000 publicly available Fragaria EST sequences from NCBI were included, together with F. vesca cDNA sequences provided by the Center for Genomics and Bioinformatics, Indiana University (>3 million reads from GS-FLX Titanium - Roche/454 Life Sciences sequencing). In addition, about 190 Mb of preliminary draft genome sequences from F. vesca [5] were provided by the Strawberry Genome Sequencing Consortium. cDNAs, which served as templates for probe design, were validated by BlastN against the F. vesca draft genome, whereas cDNAs of microbial origin were excluded. Screening the draft genome against proteins of A. thaliana, Vitis vinifera, Ricinus communis, and Populus trichocarpa carried out the identification of genes not represented in the cDNA collection, and exon sequences from genes not found in the cDNAs were included. In total, 43723 unique 60-mer probes were printed on microarray in $4 \times 44k$ format Agilent chip design. Cold acclimation experiments using the Fragaria chip were focused on short- and long-term effects (48 h and 6 weeks after cold acclimation) in meristematic crown tissue in two varieties with contrasting freezing tolerance. The upregulation of ~100 cold-responsive genes (transcription factors, dehydrins, and enzymes) and transcripts involved in starch breakdown and raffinose biosynthesis was revealed. Besides central metabolism, secondary metabolism was also strongly modulated as seen by changes in the expression of flavonoid biosynthesis-related genes. In total, more than 1400 upregulated and 1100

downregulated genes (at least a 1.5-fold change (log-transformed) in either direction) were detected, establishing the basis for further studies of functional responses and molecular networks based on combined omics approaches (see also Sections 18.4.2.1 and 18.4.3.1).

18.4.2

Proteomic Approaches toward Fragaria

Studies toward the proteome in *Fragaria* are based on only a few publications focusing on cold acclimation [2, 53], vegetative propagation and development [84], fruit maturation and quality [85, 86], and allergens [87]. The latter research group reported a total of 97 proteins found in 7 varieties (red fruit) and three numbered genotypes (white) showing a similar protein variation within and between varieties.

18.4.2.1 Case II: Proteomic Approaches toward Cold Acclimation/Freezing Tolerance in *Fragaria*

As already pointed out in *Case I*, integrated approaches in the model *F. vesca* and the crop *F.* × *ananassa* [2] were initiated by our research group, standing out as the only proteomic attempts toward abiotic factors in *Fragaria* to date. Leaf samples of the octoploid variety "Korona," covering the time points 0 h (control), 24 h, and 240 h after the onset of cold acclimation (4 °C), were subjected to 2DGE and liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry/mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) analysis. More than 800 proteins were matched in all gels, comprising 7% differentially regulated proteins and indicating a ratio of 3 : 1 between down- and upregulated protein spots (Figure 18.1). Generally, not only chloroplast-associated but also metabolic proteins were affected upon cold acclimation. The upregulation of cryo-protective dehydrin proteins [88] was validated by Western blotting using antibodies for the detection of *Arabidopsis* dehydrin COR47. Detected *Fragaria* dehydrin, designated as *Fa*COR47, was strongly upregulated after long-term cold acclimation (10 days).

These preliminary studies were followed up by ongoing investigations of different octoploid *Fragaria* varieties [53] based on integrated approaches with different omics technologies. Proteins possibly involved in freezing tolerance in strawberry were examined in octoploid strawberry plants (crown meristem) differing in cold tolerance, using either 2-DGE and LC-MS/MS or shotgun MS/MS. A total of 30 potential biomarkers were detected that showed significant changes in response to cold. On comparing the two MS/MS techniques, the shotgun approach was found better suited to reflect protein abundance since posttranslational modifications are less likely to affect the identification of proteins. Moreover, observed differences in protein levels between the varieties after 48 h of cold acclimation (2 °C) were related to decreases in transcripts indicating translational and/or posttranslational regulation. Many metabolic-related proteins were identified, including several enzymes linked to secondary metabolism (flavonoid pathway).



Figure 18.1 Example of 2D gel of leaf tissue extracts from *F. ananassa* "Korona" after 24 h of cold acclimation treatment, showing a high number of spots of which 20 distinct single spots are indicated. Protein sampling for further

LC-MS/MS analysis was not performed in the region containing RuBisCO LS (circled region) (*Courtesy*: Stephen K. Randall, Department of Biology, IUPUI, IN).

18.4.3

Metabolomic Approaches toward Fragaria

Gene expression profiling based on microarrays has over 15 years of tradition and has had the strongest impact on performance and outcome of molecularbiological studies in modern times. However, the history of extensive metabolite profiling approaches dates back to the 1970s, mainly based on the introduction of gas chromatography (GC) equipment for the high-resolution separation of complex metabolite mixtures using capillary columns. GC in combination with mass spectrometry (MS) further allowed the identification of metabolites based on MS fragmentation patterns and database searches. The earliest applications focused on profiling of the complex strawberry aroma leading to the identification of \sim 360 volatile compounds. More than 50 volatile structures can easily be detected in a single sample of *F*. × *ananassa* [21, 89] and *F. vesca* [90, 91]. The range of GC-detectable compounds was extended through so-called derivatization techniques, enabling the detection of highly polar compounds in strawberries such as sugars and acids, using either conventional GC techniques [92] or more advanced, multiparallel GC-MS coupled with time-of-flight technology (GC/TOF-MS) [2, 93]. The first extensive nontargeted metabolic analysis of strawberry reported 5844 unique mass peaks in fruits at four developmental stages based on Fourier transform-mass spectrometry (FT-MS) technology [94]. Developments in liquid chromatography in the past two decades have further facilitated high-resolution separation of plant metabolites with regard to the group of polar (nonvolatile) structures. Combination with MS technology (LC-MS) allows the identification of single compounds from complex mixtures and was recently applied to study different plant tissues in Fragaria sp., for example, leaves and roots [2], flower metabolites [95], and strawberry fruit [14, 96]. Furthermore, NMR techniques have been applied in order to approach the chemical composition of $F. \times$ ananassa leaves [97]. In situ analysis of metabolites (sugars and acids) using infrared AP MALDI mass spectrometric imaging represents a relatively new method for in vivo investigation of small biomolecules and biological processes for functional studies [98].

Despite the applicability and versatility of modern metabolite profiling techniques, few reports describe their use with regard to the effect of the abiotic environment on strawberry plants. The influence of light quality on berry volatiles when cultivating strawberries under plastic rain covers showed that taste and aroma quality slightly changed without negative effects on marketable fruit quality [99]. However, earlier studies with colored plastic mulch (red versus black) clearly pointed out the strong impact of spectral composition of light in the plant's near environment on metabolite profiles of sugars, acids, and aroma volatiles [29]. On the other hand, the distinct effect of abiotic stress factors in strawberry production might be masked by natural year-to-year variation [21] and latitudinal effects (Rohloff *et al.*, unpublished).

18.4.3.1 Case III: Metabolomic Approaches toward Cold Acclimation/Freezing Tolerance in *Fragaria*

As already presented under *Case I* and *Case II*, a recent cold acclimation study of both the cultivated strawberry and the diploid model was carried out using GC/TOF-MS-based profiling. Analyses of short- and long-term effects (time points 0, 3, 24, 72, and 240 h) revealed increased levels of not only carbohydrates (glucose and fructose), amino acids (glutamine, glutamic acid, asparagines, and aspartic acid), and TCA intermediates (malic acid and fumaric acid) but also distinct secondary metabolites and redox functioning (ascorbic acid) [2]. In general, more metabolites were found to be differentially regulated at later time points of the cold acclimation period (72/240 h) compared to short-term regulation after 3/24 h (Figure 18.2). As a common feature in both *Fragaria* species, the raffinose pathway (galactinol and raffinose) was similarly affected in leaves and roots after 72 and 240 h of cold acclimation. The application of networks is discussed in Sec-tion 18.4.4.





Figure 18.2 Unweighted metabolic networks of *early* (3 and 24 h) and *late* (72 and 240 h) cold response in leaf and root samples of *F. vesca* clone "Ås" and *F.* × *ananassa* variety "Korona." Diagrams were drawn using the Pajek software v. 1.24 (http://pajek.imfm.si/doku.php).

Metabolites comprise 61 compounds of the central metabolism. The threshold for considering differentially regulated metabolites was \geq 1.25-fold increase or \leq 0.75-fold decrease (log-transformed data) compared to control samples (0 h).



Figure 18.3 Example of GC-MS chromatograms of *F*. \times *ananassa* "Jonsok" plants (crown tissue) after 0, 24, and 48 h as well as after 2 and 6 weeks of cold acclimation at 2 °C.

In more recent studies, $F. \times ananassa$ varieties were solely assessed, here also showing the same patterns of metabolic regulation upon plant exposure to cold through upregulation of carbohydrates, polyols, amino acids, TCA intermediates, and distinct secondary metabolites. Variation in metabolic patterns in cultivated strawberry indicated varietal differences and potentially acclimation strategies due to contrasting frost tolerance. The raffinose pathway was particularly affected showing highly raised levels of the central metabolites galactinol (a precursor of raffinose) and raffinose after 2 and 6 weeks of onset of cold, respectively (Figure 18.3).

18.5 Systems Biology as Suitable Tool for Crop Improvement

A system is a group of independent but interconnected components that function together as a unified whole [100]. For the stability and functional robustness of any system, the components have to work together in a coherent manner. In a biological context, systems can be identified at different hierarchical levels such as ecosystems, organisms, organs, tissues, cells, molecules (genes, proteins, and metabolites), and interatomic levels. The interactions within a single hierarchy itself can be tremendously complex. When we consider a system comprising multiple hierarchical levels, functional complexity becomes even more complicated. Over the last decade, systems biology has emerged as a promising field that integrates vast amounts of data from genome-scale technologies and builds computational models to help understand the overall organization and dynamical function of the molecular systems that build and sustain an organism [101, 102]. Systems biology is an approach that breaks down boundaries between biological studies and

merges it with mathematics, physics, chemistry, and computer science. It is difficult to give a universally accepted definition of systems biology; some emphasize the role of dynamic modeling, whereas others emphasize multidimensional data integration, visualization, and analysis. Such a diverse range of opinions is to be expected due to the infant stage of the field and the necessity of interdisciplinary expertise [103–106].

18.5.1

Omics Data Integration for Improving Plant Productivity/Translational Research

As a result of vast technological developments in recent years, different omics approaches are producing huge amounts of biological data. A combinatorial approach using multiple omics platforms and integration of their outcomes is now an effective strategy for understanding molecular systems integral to improving plant productivity. Starting with genomics (sequencing the whole genome of few model organisms) in the early 1990s, the area of omics has now evolved to many more established disciplines such as proteomics ("all" proteins), transcriptomics ("all" transcripts), interactomics ("all" interactions between biomolecules), and metabolomics ("all" metabolites). The first sequence of the model plant A. thaliana was completed and published in 2000 by the Arabidopsis Genome Initiatives (AGI) [107]. If we compare the situation over a decade later, there are 405 instances of genome projects in species of Viridiplantae that include both green algae and land plants, including many agronomically important crops, as of March 2011 (Table 18.3) (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sites/entrez). Whole-genome sequence data have become the primary set of resources for designing microarrays, tilling arrays, or molecular markers and are also an important reference for integrating other omics-derived information with genome sequences. Several comparative genomics projects among green plants such as Phytozome (http://www.phytozome. net/) and Gramene [108] (http://www.gramene.org/) have proven to be successful to help grasp the biological properties of each species and to accelerate gene discovery and the functional analyses of genes. Current version (v6.0) of Phytozome has 25 plant species and Gramene (release #32) has genomic information on 20 grass species. As a part of International Structural Genomics Organization Initiatives (ISGO) (http://www.isgo.org), the phylogenetic relationships between the different Fragaria species have been studied [109]. Several large-scale plant proteomics (http://www.masc-proteomics.org/) and plant metabolomics (www.plantmetabolomics.org) projects are currently being carried out. Large-scale determination of protein 3D structures is crucial for understanding mechanisms of protein functions in structural complexes or reaction cascades. Apart from X-ray crystallography and NMR spectroscopy-based structural proteomics methods, several dedicated research groups are involved in determining large-scale structures of plant proteins. Thus, the number of solved protein structures from plants appearing in the Protein Data Bank (PDB) (http://www.pdb.org/), which is the most popular resource for biomolecule structure data sets, has dramatically increased over the past decade [110].

Nowadays few more new branches are evolving in omics such as phenomics ("all" the phenotypes related to gene mutants) [111] or bibliomics (the study of complete literature on a biological topic) [112]. The ultimate aim of all these omics approaches is to generate a holistic view of the interplay between biomolecules. Rapid development of technologies such as in vivo NMR, next-generation sequencing, and high-throughput molecular imaging will generate copious amounts of data in the future years. The enormous complexity of the data sets generated through these techniques requires an extension of our current bioinformatics/computational analytical abilities for data integration [113]. Hence, the most challenging research at this moment is the design of man-made intelligent systems (such as computers, software, and robots). These systems will require advanced features necessary for adaptable, robust performance and to be capable of independent operation over long periods of time. As highthroughput profiling delivers data from genome to transcriptome, proteome, and metabolome, bioinformatics will provide us with the integrated information upon which models for the inner workings of the cell can be developed. Robust bioinformatics tools, genome databases, and integration of information from different fields enable the identification of genes and gene products and elucidate the functional relationships between genotype and observed phenotype [114]. In a recent review by Gehlenborg et al. [115], some of the best available integrated visualization tools for omics-scale data are discussed. Conventional MAB or MAS will gradually evolve into "omics-assisted breeding" for crop improvement. The most important necessity at this time is to develop user-friendly visualization tools that will help the biologist to interpret more clearly and easily the complex multidimensional biological networks of genes and their relationships with phenotypes. The construction of "graphical genotypes" of each plant or progeny row would allow the breeder to determine which chromosome sections are inherited from each parent to facilitate the selection process and to design superior genotypes in silico. This will perhaps dramatically reduce the time needed for extensive field tests [116].

The *F. vesca* genome is recently sequenced [2]. The genome information is available at http://www.strawberrygenome.org. The Genome Database for Rosaceae (GDR) [4, 117], which is a curated and integrated web-based relational database containing comprehensive data of the genetically anchored peach physical map, annotated EST databases of apple, peach, almond, cherry, rose, raspberry and strawberry, Rosaceae maps and markers, and all publicly available Rosaceae sequences. In a recent comparative study, considerable microsynteny has been discovered between *Fragaria* and other plant model genomes such as *P. trichocarpa, Medicago truncatula, V. vinifera,* and *A. thaliana* reflecting a close evolutionary distance [118]. This information might be extremely important for translational research, allowing the information on marker, gene, or QTL position from one of these species to be used in the other [119, 120]. In an another study, a high-resolution depiction of targeted gene neighborhoods in strawberry genome was performed, which will aid whole-genome sequence assembly,

provide valuable tools for plant breeders, and advance the understanding of strawberry genome evolution [79]. Here, a specific set of genomic sequences and gene neighborhoods were targeted for study because they contain genes of likely relevance to horticultural and fruit quality traits with emphasis on metabolic pathways, flowering-related genes, and disease resistance-related genes. From the previous success stories in other crop species, it can be predicted that high-throughput omics data integration will be extremely useful for improving crop productivity in *Fragaria*.

18.5.2

Plant/Crops Systems Biology

Plants are unable to escape from adverse environmental conditions. As a consequence, they have developed an incredible level of flexibility in their responses to environmental challenges caused by abiotic and biotic factors such as sunlight/UV, drought, temperature, nutritional stress, and pathogen and pest attacks. This flexibility of plants is known as a genotype by environment response. Genotype reflects a genetic organization optimized for survival in a range of environmental conditions. Studying the systems level responses of whole plants to environmental conditions is crucial for agricultural productivity. Crop scientists have been using a systems approach to investigate wholecrop physiology and crop ecology, morphology, and so on for decades [100]. Thus, plant systems biology is not to be considered an entirely new field. Systems biology has made this practice genome-scale, offering solutions to a more complete analysis by allowing virtual experimentation and hypothesis testing [121].

Recently, Yin and Struik [8] proposed a practicable concept, crop systems biology, which aims at modeling complex crop-level traits relevant to global food production and energy supply, by integrating omics-level information, underlying biochemical understanding, and physiological component processes. This crop systems biology follows the combined approach of modern functional genomics and traditional sciences (such as crop physiology and biochemistry) in understanding and manipulating crop phenotypes relevant to agriculture. The integrated systems approach to crop improvement incorporates advanced technologies in molecular markers, statistics, bioinformatics, crop physiology, and modeling. Hammer and coworkers have proposed such an integrated crop improvement program that can enhance the efficiency of crop improvement relative to conventional phenotypic selection by changing the focus from the paradigm of identifying superior varieties to a focus on identifying superior combinations of genetic regions and management systems [122]. This proposed integration program is considered to work across different levels of biological organization from genetic to plant growth, development, and yield without compromising with main goals of functional breeding and crop improvement program.

18.5.3 Pathway Modeling and the Concept of "Virtual Plant"

Plant tissues consist of heterogeneous cells with multiple cellular compartments. Consequently, diverse gene and pathway types exist in terms of complex molecular concentration gradients in different tissues. These properties of highly compartmentalized intercellular networks and the resulting complexity arising from the environmental interactions create great challenges for plant biologists [123]. Plant systems biology helps in predicting functions of many genes and find missing links and crosstalk between various pathways and their effect on the plant [102]. With the advent of high-throughput omics data and informatics tools, one can now build mathematical models of different biochemical or physiological processes [124]. A model should preferably include the possibility of exploiting the dynamic processes in plant cells and tissues. With the help of information available from metabolic pathway databases such as KEGG [125], MetaCyc [126], and AraCyc [127], the building of topologically accurate models is possible for various organisms. Based on such information, stoichiometric models (e.g., flux balance analysis) [128, 129] are built that assume physicochemical constraints that have to be satisfied when an organism reaches a steady state (e.g., mass and energy balance, system boundaries, and flux limitations). The limiting factor is that such constraints are not known for every organism and every environmental condition. So the possible steady-state solutions have to be further restricted by optimization with regard to an assumed objective (e.g., optimal growth, minimization of damage by excess light, or maximization of nutrient uptake). The effect of various combinations of stress in a particular crop variety and the interplay with other signaling systems that are activated or deactivated in response to stress remain difficult to predict [130, 131]. All these concerns have inspired efforts to build Virtual Plant (www.virtualplant.org) [121, 132] or plant part models [133, 134]. These plant and plant part models will be of utmost value for research in plants and will provide unique modeling opportunities for developing better crop varieties. Model-based predictions and hypothesis generation will help to rationalize the efforts and resources spent on wet lab research.

18.5.4 Network-Based Approaches

Networks have been proven to be a vibrant tool to describe, visualize, and simulate complex systems [135]. Each component of a complex system can be described as a node and connections or relationships can be drawn between these nodes based on certain criteria (Figure 18.2). In biology, this relationship is referred to as *emergent behavior*: a function that derives from the interaction of network components [100]. Because of the complex multiple levels of hierarchical organization present in biological systems, biological networks have been classified into two categories – microscopic (molecular level, process level, tissue level, and organ level) and

macroscopic (organism level and ecosystem level). Under natural conditions, plants/crops encounter combinations of stress and, therefore, have to mount an integrated response toward this stress via synergistic and antagonistic actions. Various stress signaling pathways are likely able to crosstalk and adjust their contribution to the total response. Plants have evolved intricate mechanisms to perceive external signals, allowing optimal response to environmental conditions. As described earlier, crop systems biology employs a global approach to model complex crop traits relevant to global food production and energy supply, via establishing the links between omics-level information, underlying biochemical understanding, and physiological component processes in related environmental conditions. Network-based approaches offer extreme flexibility in the study of such complex multiscale crosstalking events.

Building meaningful networks from biological data such as sequences, transcripts, proteins, or metabolites is tricky. Much more information such as interactions or process of regulation is necessary to build up a network between the components of the system. Such a network brings heterogeneous data into a single model. Some user-friendly software tools, for example, *Cytoscape* [136] and *CellDesigner*TM [137], have been developed to construct and visualize such networks. Many different methods and algorithms have been developed to explore biologically relevant information from these networks [138–140]. Several such network-based approaches are dealt with in the following sections.

18.5.4.1 Correlation Studies Using Multivariate Data

Genes and metabolites showing similar behavior or clustering pattern suggest that they participate in the same biological process (this is a basic network concept). Clustering algorithms such as PCA (principal component analysis), SOM (selforganizing maps), and ICA (independent component analysis) are benchmarked methods to construct such gene to metabolite networks.

18.5.4.2 Protein–Protein Interaction (PPI) Networks

Interactions between various proteins at a physical level are determined by techniques such as Y2H (yeast two hybrid) systems and *in vivo* methods such as FRET (fluorescence resonance energy transfer), BiFC (bimolecular fluorescence complementation), and TAP-tagging (tandem affinity purification protein-tagging). Based on these experimental and predicted information, protein–protein interaction (PPI) networks are built and stored in various databases, for example, *IntAct* [140, 141] and *MIPS* [142].

18.5.4.3 Gene Regulatory Networks

A gene regulatory network describes how genes interact with other regulatory genes during the biological process to perform a function [143]. The relationships between the genes in the network can be defined in terms of activation, repression, and other types of functional interactions. Taking the concept from control engineering, such networks can be represented as circuit diagrams. The transcription regulatory network describes the interaction between transcriptional regulatory

genes and downstream genes [144]. The data are often based on interactions between regulatory genes and downstream genes, as defined by mutant studies, global gene expression profiling, computational prediction of *cis*-elements, and protein–DNA interaction studies using gel-shift assays.

18.5.4.4 Coexpression Networks

Coexpressed or coregulated genes indicate their involvement in similar biological processes, meaning that individual modules can be attributed to specific biological processes. Using this basic concept, group of genes with similar expression pattern in different space, time, genotype, or experimental conditions can be put together to build modules. Such modular network topology-based analysis has been proven to be useful in identifying functional modules [145]. In a coexpression study, Weston *et al.* [146] have shown how a mechanistic understanding of adaptive physiological responses to abiotic stress can provide plant researchers with a tool of great predictive value in understanding species and population level adaptation to climate change. In another study by Lee *et al.* [147], abiotic stress phenotypes were linked with gene coexpression network analyses to find out the genes responsible for a particular phenotype. With the availability of more high-quality microarray or next-generation sequencing data, such methods will be more and more efficient in coming days.

18.6 Conclusions and Future Prospects

One major obstacle in traditional crop breeding has been the complexity of traits on the one hand and the limitation to address only distinct traits based on gene identification by forward and reverse genetics on the other. The feasibility of QTL mapping has opened up the successful identification of multiple traits, not least due to the availability of sequence and necessary marker information. Yet, the genetic architecture of quantitative traits still needs to be elucidated and trait effects to be evaluated by population mapping, which is a costly and time-consuming method. Detailed SNP information in particular allowed association mapping (linkage disequilibrium) through correlation of genetic markers with phenotype within a collection of genotypes. Nowadays, the combination of comprehensive SNP sequencing [148] with information from F. vesca T-DNA mutant lines for the elucidation of gene function [80, 149] have moved trait-oriented mapping toward the socalled genome mapping and genomic selection. This implies that sequence contigs can be positioned on a SNP-based linkage map, and targeted gene loci are monitored genetically with regard to solely SNP diversity, and not, as usual, phenotypic (trait) variation [148]. Moreover, individuals might be selected much earlier in the breeding cycle, for example, before the reproductive stage, thus reducing work load and speeding up the breeding process [150]. In the following, recent innovations and developments are summarized, which may further aid and guide the breeding of cultivated strawberry and Fragaria sp. in the future.

18.6.1

Technology-Driven Innovations for Fragaria Breeding and Development

- New-generation sequencing technologies [151] for potential identification of genes, markers, and biological functions.
- Quantitative proteomic profiling using label-based and label-free approaches [152] for the potential identification of biomarkers.
- Metabolomics in integrated approaches [153] for coexpression network analysis, functional annotation, identification of phytochemicals, and metabolome QTL (mQTL) analysis for breeding purposes.
- Curation of publicly available databases and information resources [4, 154], and further extending accessible information of genome and proteome data by also including metabolome database information.

18.6.2

Biology-Related Issues for Improvements in the Fragaria Genus

- Marker-assisted selection and marker-assisted breeding in cultivated strawberry based on linkage mapping with diploid *F. vesca* [155] for multitrait transfer into elite selections and variety development.
- Reconstruction of today's strawberry through interspecific hybridization [156, 157] for *Fragaria* crop improvement.
- Innovative hybrids due to heterosis and ploidy not only toward fruit and yield traits [158] but also with regard to abiotic stress tolerance [52].

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the Research Council of Norway (RCN) Grant No. 179466 and Graminor Breeding Ltd. In addition, a fellowship for stay at the Max Planck Institute of Molecular Plant Physiology (MPI-MP) at Potsdam-Golm, Germany, and platform technology funding (microarray analyses in 2008) were granted from RCN/FUGE Mid-Norway (J. Rohloff). Financial support by RCN (Grant No. 182897) for a PhD study, under which parts of this book were elaborated, is greatly acknowledged (P. Barah).

References

- 1 FAO (2011) FAOSTAT, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). http://faostat.fao.org (accessed March 15, 2011).
- 2 Rohloff, J., Kopka, J., Erban, A. et al. (2009) Acta Hortic., 842, 785–788.
- 3 Shulaev, V., Korban, S.S., Sosinski, B. et al. (2008) Plant Physiol., 147, 985–1003.
- 4 Jung, S., Staton, M., Lee, T. *et al.* (2008) *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 36 (Database Issue), D1034–D1040.

- 5 Shulaev, V., Sargent, D.J., Crowhurst, R. N. et al. (2011) Nat. Genet., 43, 109–116.
- 6 Rousseau-Gueutin, M., Lerceteau-Köhler, E., Barrot, L. *et al.* (2008) *Genetics*, **179**, 2045–2060.
- 7 Ruelland, E., Vaultier, M.-N., Zachowski, A. et al. (2009) Adv. Bot. Res., 49, 35–150.
- 8 Yin, X. and Struik, S.P. (2007) Crop systems biology: an approach to connect functional genomics with crop modelling, in *Scale and Complexity in Plant Systems Research: Gene Plant–Crop Relations* (eds J.H.J. Spiertz, P.C. Struik, and H.H. van Laar), Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 63–73.
- **9** TROPICOS (2011) TROPICOS[®], Missouri Botanical Garden. http://www. tropicos.org (accessed March 15, 2011).
- 10 Hummer, K., Bassil, N., and Njuguna, W. (2011) Fragaria, in Wild Crop Relatives: Genomic and Breeding Resources – Temperate Fruits (ed. C. Kole), Springer, Berlin, Germany, pp. 17–44.
- 11 Njuguna, W. (2010) Development and use of molecular tools in *Fragaria* L. PhD dissertation. Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- 12 Tulipani, S., Mezzetti, B., Capocasa, F. et al. (2008) J. Agric. Food Chem., 56, 696–704.
- 13 Anttonen, M.J., Hoppula, K.I., Nestby, M.J. et al. (2006) J. Agric. Food Chem., 54, 2614–2620.
- 14 Aaby, K., Ekeberg, D., and Skrede, G. (2007) J. Agric. Food Chem., 55, 4395–4406.
- 15 Lunkenbein, S., Coiner, H., De Vos, C.H. R. et al. (2006) J. Agric. Food Chem., 54, 2145–2153.
- 16 Zhang, Y.J., Seeram, N.P., Lee, R. et al. (2008) J. Agric. Food Chem., 56, 670–675.
- 17 Josuttis, M., Dietrich, H., Treutter, D. et al. (2010) J. Agric. Food Chem., 58, 12692–12702.
- 18 Tulipani, S., Marzban, G., Herndl, A. et al. (2011) Food Chem., 124, 906–913.
- 19 Capocasa, F., Scalzo, J., Mezetti, B. et al. (2008) Food Chem., 111, 872–878.
- 20 Crespo, P., Bordonaba, J.G., Terry, L.A. et al. (2010) Food Chem., 122, 16–24.
- Rohloff, J. (2011) *Eur. J. Plant Sci. Biotechnol.*, 5 (Special Issue I), 17–34.
- 22 Lawrence, F.J., Galletta, G.J., and Scott, D.H. (1990) *HortScience*, 25, 895–896.

- 23 Krüger, E., Nestby, R., Toldam-Anderson, T.B. et al. (2011) Acta Hort, [in press].
- 24 Galindo, F.G., Sjöholm, I., Rasmusson, A.R. et al. (2007) Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr., 46, 749–763.
- 25 Wang, S.Y. (2007) Antioxidant capacity and phenolic content of berry fruits as affected by genotype, preharvest conditions, maturity, and postharvest handling, in *Berry Fruit: Value-Added Products for Health Promotion* (ed. Y. Zhao), CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp. 147–186.
- 26 Sønsteby, A. and Heide, O.M. (2008) Sci. Hortic. (Amsterdam), 119, 49–54.
- 27 Sønsteby, A. and Heide, O.M. (2008) J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol., 83, 641–647.
- 28 Sønsteby, A. and Heide, O.M. (2009) J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol., 84, 267–272.
- Kasperbauer, M.J., Loughrin, J.H., and Wang, S.Y. (2001) *Photochem. Photobiol.*, 74, 103–107.
- 30 Valkama, E., Kivimäenpää, M., Hartikainen, H. et al. (2003) Agric. Forest Meteorol., 120, 267–278.
- 31 Chen, K., Hu, G.Q., Keutgen, N. et al. (1997) J. Appl. Bot., 71, 179–182.
- 32 Grant, O.M., Johnson, A.W., Davies, M.J. et al. (2010) Environ. Exp. Bot., 68, 264–272.
- 33 Razavi, F., Van Labeke, M.C., and De Riek, J. (2009) Acta Hortic., 839, 491–497.
- 34 Milosevic, T.M., Milosevic, N.T., and Glisic, I.P. (2009) An. Acad. Bras. Cienc., 81, 265–269.
- 35 Saied, A.S., Keutgen, A.J., and Noga, G. (2005) Sci. Hortic. (Amsterdam), 103, 289–303.
- 36 Cieśliński, G., Neilsen, G.H., and Hogue, E.J. (1996) *Plant Soil*, 180, 267–276.
- 37 Wieczorek, J., Pietrzak, M., Osowski, A. et al. (2010) J. Toxicol. Environ. Health A, 73, 1236–1243.
- 38 Warner, D.J., Davies, M., Hipps, N. et al. (2010) J. Agric. Sci., 148, 667–681.
- 39 Harbut, R.M., Sullivan, J.A., Proctor, J.T. A. et al. (2003) HortScience, 38, 793.
- 40 Keutgen, A.J., Noga, G., and Pawelzik, E. (2005) *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 53, 271–280.
- 41 Keutgen, N. and Lenz, F. (2001) Gartenbauwissenschaft, 66, 27–33.

- 482 18 Improving Crop Productivity and Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Cultivated Fragaria
 - 42 Jaggard, K.W., Qi, A., and Ober, E.S. (2010) *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B*, 365, 2835–2851.
 - 43 Rajashekar, C.B., Zhou, H., Marcum, KB. et al. (1999) Plant Sci., 148, 175–183.
 - 44 Beckers, G.J.M. and Conrath, U. (2007) Curr. Opin. Plant Biol., 10, 425–431.
 - 45 Borowicz, V.A. (2010) Pedobiology, 53, 265–270.
 - 46 Wang, S.Y. (1999) J. Plant Growth Regul., 18, 127–134.
 - 47 Karlidag, H., Yildirim, E., and Turan, M. (2009) J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci., 172, 270–276.
 - 48 Kaya, C., Ak, B.E., and Higgs, D. (2003) *J. Plant Nutr.*, 26, 543–560.
 - 49 Olbricht, K., Ulrich, D., Weiss, K., and Grafe, C. (2011) J. Agric. Food Chem., 59, 944–952.
 - 50 Schwab, W., Schaart, J.G., and Rosati, C. (2009) Functional molecular biology research in *Fragaria*, in *Genetics and Genomics of Rosaceae*. *Plant Genetics and Genomics: Crops and Models*, vol. 6 (eds K. M. Folta and S.E. Gardiner), Springer, New York, pp. 457–486.
 - **51** Dziadczyk, P., Bolibok, H., Tyrka, M. *et al.* (2003) *Euphytica*, **132**, 49–55.
 - 52 Harbut, R.M., Sullivan, J.A., and Proctor, J. T.A. (2010) Can. J. Plant Sci., 90, 885–892.
 - 53 Koehler, G., Wilson, R.C., Goodpaster, J. V. et al. (2012) Plant Physiology, 159, 1787–1805.
 - 54 Semagn, K., Bjørnstad, Å., and Ndjiondjop, M.N. (2006) Afr. J. Biotechnol., 5, 2540–2564.
 - 55 Zhang, Y. and Shih, D.S. (2007) J. Plant Physiol., 164, 68–77.
 - 56 Anzlovar, S. and Dermastia, M. (2003) *Plant Biol.*, 5, 116–124.
 - 57 Nishizawa, A., Yabuta, Y., and Shigeoka, S. (2008) *Plant Physiol.*, 147, 1251–1263.
 - 58 Cook, D., Fowler, S., Fiehn, O. *et al.* (2004) *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 101, 15243–15248.
 - 59 GMO COMPASS (2011) GMO Database. Genius GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany. http://www.gmo-compass.org (accessed June 20, 2011).
 - 60 Schwab, W., Kaldenhoff, R., and Wein, M. (2003) Cloning, sequence, and catalytic properties of multifunctional caffeic acid O-methyltransferase from

strawberry fruit and use for enhancement of flavor and taste in plants, Patent No. WO 2003046163/Appl. No. WO 2002-EP13320.

- **61** Aharoni, A., Jongsma, M.A., Verhoeven, H.A. *et al.* (2002) Cloning and characterization of terpene synthase genes from strawberry and use thereof in preparation of flavors, fragrances, and biocontrol agents, Patent No. EP 1231273/Appl. No. EP 2001-200488.
- 62 Aharoni, A., Lucker, J., Verhoeven, H.A. et al. (2000) Genes for enzymes involved in the synthesis of volatile ester components of fruit flavors and their uses, Patent No. EP 1006190/Appl. No. EP 1998-204018.
- 63 Myskja, B. (2006) J. Agric. Environ. Ethics, 19, 225–238.
- 64 Schaart, J.G. (2004) Towards consumerfriendly cisgenic strawberries which are less susceptible to *Botrytis cinerea*. PhD dissertation. Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands.
- 65 Schaart, J.G., Krens, F.A., Pelgrom, K.T. B. et al. (2004) Plant Biotechnol. J., 2, 233–240.
- 66 Jin, W.M., Dong, J., Yin, S.P. et al. (2007) Acta Bot. Boreal.-Occid. Sin., 27, 223–227.
- 67 Owens, C.L., Thomashow, M.F., Hancock, J.F. et al. (2002) J. Am. Soc. Hortic. Sci., 127, 489–494.
- 68 Houde, M., Dallaire, S., N'Dong, D. et al. (2004) Plant Biotechnol. J., 2, 381–387.
- 69 Wang, J.L., Ge, H.B., Peng, S.Q. et al. (2004) J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol., 79, 735–738.
- 70 Husaini, A.M. and Abdin, M.Z. (2008) Ind. J. Biotechnol., 7, 465–471.
- 71 Aharoni, A., Keizer, L.Z.P., Bouwmeester, H.J. *et al.* (2000) *Plant Cell*, 12, 647–661.
- 72 Aharoni, A. and O'Connell, A.P. (2002) J. Exp. Bot., 53, 273–287.
- 73 Aharoni, A., Keizer, L.C.P., Van den Broeck, H.C. *et al.* (2002) *Plant Physiol.*, 1291019–1031.
- 74 Aharoni, A., Giri, A.P., Verstappen, F.W. A. et al. (2004) Plant Cell, 16, 3110–3131.
- 75 Sargent, D.J., Davis, T.M., Tobutt, K.R. et al. (2004) Theor. Appl. Genet., 109, 1385–1391.

- 76 Sargent, D.J., Clarke, J., Simpson, D.W. et al. (2006) Theor. Appl. Genet., 112, 1349–1359.
- 77 Tombolato, D.C.M. (2007) Structural genomics of *Fragaria*: wild and cultivated strawberries. PhD dissertation. University of Florida, Gainesville, FL.
- 78 Illa, E., Sargent, D.J., Girona, E.L. et al. (2011) BMC Evol. Biol., 11, 9.
- 79 Davis, T.M., Shields, M.E., Zhang, Q. et al. (2010) BMC Plant Biol., 10, 81.
- 80 Oosumi, T., Ruiz-Rojas, J.J., Veilleux, R. E. et al. (2010) Physiol. Plant., 140, 1–9.
- 81 Li, H., Zhang, Z., Huang, F. et al. (2009) Plant Cell Rep., 28, 891–902.
- 82 Kalinowski, G.K. (2009) Establishment of a RNAi method for functional genomics in strawberry. PhD dissertation. The Entrepreneurial University, München, Germany.
- 83 Folta, K., Clancy, M.A., Chamala, S. et al. (2010) Plant Genome, 3, 90–105.
- 84 Fang, X.P., Ma, H.S., Lu, D.Z. et al. (2011) Proteome Sci., 9, 26.
- 85 Aragüez-Rey, I., Botella, M.A., Valpuesta, V. et al. (2008) Proteómica, 1, 62–63.
- 86 Bianco, L., Lopez, L., Scalone, A.G. et al. (2009) J. Proteome., 72, 586–607.
- 87 Alm, R., Ekefjärd, A., Krogh, M. et al. (2007) J. Proteome. Res., 6, 3011–3020.
- 88 Alsheikh, M.K., Svensson, J.T., and Randall, S.K. (2005) *Plant Cell Environ.*, 28, 1114–1122.
- 89 Hakala, M.A., Lapveteläinen, A.T., and Kallio, H.P. (2002) *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 50, 1133–1142.
- 90 Pyysalo, T., Honkanen, E., and Hirvi, T. (1979) J. Agric. Food Chem., 27, 19–22.
- 91 Ulrich, D., Komes, D., Olbricht, K. et al. (2007) Genet. Resour. Crop Evol., 54, 1185–1196.
- 92 Morvai, M., Molnár-Perl, I., and Knausz, D. (1991) J. Chromatogr., 552, 337–344.
- 93 Lisec, J., Schauer, N., Kopka, J. et al. (2006) Nat. Protoc., 1, 387–396.
- 94 Aharoni, A., De Vos, R.C.H., Verhoeven, H.A. et al. (2002) OMICS, 6, 217–234.
- **95** Hanhineva, K., Rogachev, I., Kokko, H. et al. (2008) *Phytochemistry*, **69**, 2463–2481.
- 96 Zhang, J.X., Wang, X., Yu, O. et al. (2010) J. Exp. Bot., 62, 1103–1118.

- 97 Hanhineva, K., Soininen, P., Anttonen, M.J. et al. (2009) Phytochem. Anal., 20, 353–364.
- 98 Li, Y., Shrestha, B., and Vertes, A. (2007) Anal. Chem., 79, 523–532.
- **99** Rohloff, J., Nestby, R., Folkestad, J.A. *et al.* (2004) *J. Food Agric. Environ.*, **2**, 74–82.
- 100 Trewavas, A. (2006) Plant Cell, 18, 2420–2430.
- **101** Kitano, H. (2002) *Science*, **295**, 1662–1664.
- 102 Hammer, G.L., Sinclair, T.R., Chapman, S.C. et al. (2004) Plant Physiol., 134, 909–911.
- **103** Kirschner, M.W. (2005) *Cell*, **121**, 503–504.
- 104 Kitano, H. (2002) Nature, 420, 206-210.
- 105 Ideker, T., Galitski, T., and Hood, L.
 (2001) Annu. Rev. Genomics Hum. Genet.,
 2, 343–372.
- 106 Snoep, J.L. and Westerhoff, H.V. (2005) Top. Curr. Genet., 13, 13–30.
- 107 The Arabidopsis Initiative (2000) *Nature*, 408, 796–815.
- 108 Ware, D.H., Jaiswal, P., Ni, J. et al. (2002) Plant Physiol., 130, 1606–1613.
- 109 Sargent, D.J., Davis, T.M., and Simpson, D.W. (2009) Strawberry (*Fragaria* spp.) structural genomics, in *Crops and Models: Genetics and Genomics of Rosaceae*, vol. 6 (eds K.M. Folta and S.E. Gardiner), Plant Genetics and Genomics, Springer, New York, pp. 437–456.
- 110 Kouranov, A., Xie, L., De La Cruz, J. et al. (2006) Nucleic Acids Res., 34 (Database Issue), D302–D305.
- 111 Alonso, J.M. and Ecker, J.R. (2006) Nat. Rev. Genet., 7, 524–536.
- 112 Rihn, B.H., Vidal, S., Nemurat, C. et al. (2003) Med. Sci. Monit., 9, MT89–MT95.
- 113 Bittner, M., Meltzer, P., and Trent, J. (1999) Nat. Genet., 22, 213–215.
- 114 Edwards, D. and Batley, J. (2004) Trends Biotechnol., 22, 232–237.
- 115 Gehlenborg, N., O'Donoghue, S.I., Baliga, N.S. *et al.* (2010) *Nat. Method*, 7, S56–68.
- 116 Peleman, J.D. and Van Der Voort, J.R. (2003) *Trends Plant Sci.*, 8, 330–334.
- 117 Jung, S., Staton, M., Lee, T. et al. (2004) BMC Bioinformatics, 5, 130.

- 84 18 Improving Crop Productivity and Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Cultivated Fragaria
 - 118 Jung, S., Cho, I., Sosinski, B. et al. (2010) BMC Res. Notes, 3, 168.
 - 119 Vilanova, S., Sargent, D.J., Arús, P. et al. (2008) BMC Plant. Biol., 8, 67.
 - 120 Dirlewanger, E., Graziano, E., Joobeur, T. et al. (2004) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 101, 9891–9896.
 - 121 Gutierrez, R.A., Shasha, D.E., and Coruzzi, G.M. (2005) *Plant Physiol.*, 138, 550–554.
 - 122 Hammer, G.L. and Jordan, D.R. (2007) An integrated systems approach to crop improvement, in *Scale and Complexity in Plant Systems Research: Gene-Plant-Crop Relations*, vol. 21 (eds J.H.J. Spiertz, P.C. Struik, and H.H. van Laar), Springer, Wageningen, The Netherlands, pp. 45–61.
 - 123 Sumner, L.W., Mendes, P., and Dixon, R. A. (2003) *Phytochemistry*, 62, 817–836.
 - 124 Poolman, M.G., Fell, D.A., and Raines, C.A. (2003) *Eur. J. Biochem.*, 270, 430–439.
 - **125** Kanehisa, M. (2002) *Novartis Found. Symp.*, **247**, 91–101.
 - 126 Caspi, R., Altman, T., Dale, J.M. *et al.* (2010) *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 38 (Database Issue), D473–D479.
 - 127 Mueller, L.A., Zhang, P., and Rhee, S.Y. (2003) Plant Physiol., 132, 453–460.
 - 128 Vahala, E., Ylihautala, M., Tuominen, J. et al. (2001) J. Magn. Reson. Imaging, 13, 93–98.
 - 129 Schuster, S., Dandekar, T., and Fell, D.A. (1999) Trends Biotechnol., 17, 53–60.
 - 130 Bowler, C. and Fluhr, R. (2000) *Trends Plant Sci.*, 5, 241–246.
 - 131 Mittler, R., Vanderauwera, S., Gollery, M. et al. (2004) Trends Plant Sci., 9, 490–498.
 - Katari, M.S., Nowicki, S.D., Aceituno, F.
 F. et al. (2010) Plant Physiol., 152, 500–515.
 - 133 Benfey, P.N., Bennett, M., and Schiefelbein, J. (2010) *Plant J.*, 61, 992–1000.
 - 134 Péret, B., De Rybel, B., Casimiro, I. et al. (2009) Trends Plant Sci., 14, 399–408.
 - 135 Barabasi, A.L. and Oltvai, Z.N. (2004) Nat. Rev. Genet., 5, 101–113.
 - 136 Shannon, P., Markiel, A., Ozier, O. et al. (2003) Genome Res., 13, 2498–2504.

- 137 Funahashi, A., Jouraku, A., Matsuoka, Y. et al. (2007) In Silico Biol., 7, S81–S90.
- 138 Breitling, R., Gilbert, D., Heiner, M. et al. (2008) Brief. Bioinform., 9, 404–421.
- 139 Gilbert, D., Fuss, H., Gu, X. et al. (2006) Brief. Bioinform., 7, 339–353.
- 140 Van Riel, N.A. (2006) Brief. Bioinform., 7, 364–374.
- 141 Bader, G.D., Donaldson, I., Wolting, C. et al. (2001) Nucleic Acids Res., 29, 242–245.
- 142 Pagel, P., Kovac, S., Oesterheld, M. et al. (2005) *Bioinformatics*, 21, 832–834.
- 143 Alvarez-Buylla, E.R., Benótez, M., Dávila,
 E.B. *et al.* (2007) *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*,
 10, 83–91.
- 144 Carrera, J., Rodrigo, G., Jaramillo, A. et al. (2009) Genome Biol., 10, R96.
- 145 Williams, E.J. and Bowles, D.J. (2004) Genome Res., 14, 1060–1067.
- 146 Weston, D.J., Gunter, L.E., Rogers, A. et al. (2008) BMC Syst. Biol., 2, 16.
- 147 Lee, I., Ambaru, B., Thakkar, P. et al. (2010) Nat. Biotechnol., 28, 149–156.
- 148 Celton, J.M., Christoffels, A., Sargent, D. J. et al. (2010) BMC Biol., 8, 155.
- 149 Ruiz-Rojas, J.J., Sargent, D.J., Shulaev., V. et al. (2010) Theor. Appl. Genet., 121, 449–463.
- 150 Jannink, J.L., Lorenz, A.J., and Iwata, H. (2010) Brief. Funct. Genomics, 9, 166–177.
- 151 Deschamps, S. and Campbell, M.A. (2010) *Mol. Breed.*, 25, 553–570.
- 152 Bindschedler, L.V. and Cramer, R. (2011) *Proteomics*, 11, 756–775.
- 153 Saito, K. and Matsuda, F. (2010) Annu. Rev. Plant Biol., 61, 463–489.
- 154 PFR Strawberry Server (2011) Plant & Food Research. http://www.strawberry. org (accessed June 20, 2011).
- 155 Sargent, D.J., Fernandéz-Fernandéz, F., Ruiz-Roja, J.J. *et al.* (2009) *Mol. Breed.*, 24, 293–303.
- 156 Hancock, J.F., Finn, C.E., Luby, J.J. et al. (2010) HortScience, 45, 1006–1013.
- 157 Stegmaier, T.L., Finn, C.E., Warner, R.M. et al. (2010) HortScience, 45, 1140–1145.
- 158 Harbut, R.M., Sullivan, J.A., Proctor, J.T. A. et al. (2009) Can. J. Plant Sci., 89, 1117–1126.

19 Rose: Improvement for Crop Productivity

Madhu Sharma, Kiran Kaul, Navtej Kaur, Markandey Singh, Devendra Dhayani, and Paramvir Singh Ahuja

Abstract

Roses are economically important and much in demand in domestic and international markets and in perfumery industry. The genus Rosa contains 200 species and more than 18 000 cultivars. Light, temperature, humidity, and mineral nutrition are essential factors for rose production. Abiotic (salt and drought) stresses adversely affect growth and productivity of rose. Drought is the most common stress responsible for elevated release of ethylene resulting in senescence and abscission. Much work has been done on rootstocks and emphasis has been laid on their potential to be used for increased productivity. Senescence as a result of drought in rose petals and other plant parts is associated with overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that damage protein, lipids, carbohydrates, and DNA. Substantial progress has been made in the identification of genes involved in abiotic stress tolerance and many stress-related genes are derived from petals in Rosa spp. Osmotin, a stress-responsive protein adapted to salinity and desiccation, accumulates in salt-adapted cells. Overexpression of osmotin gene induces proline accumulation and tolerance to osmotic stress. Stable integration of osmotin gene in Rosa bourboniana, a scented rose species, was successfully attempted. Most of the prevailing rootstocks in our country do not respond to cold stress of winter. CSIR-IHBT has developed winter-active rootstock selections that are successfully tested over a decade and deployed in the northern region. In roses, effect of different types of stresses has been studied on cut flowers, potted plants, and on plants under field conditions.

19.1 Introduction

The genus *Rosa* (family Rosaceae) is endemic to temperate regions of Northern Hemisphere. Many broad rose classes are known that have been grouped into

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

Improving Crop Productivity in Sustainable Agriculture, First Edition.

^{© 2012} Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

486 19 Rose: Improvement for Crop Productivity

European roses, China roses, Hybrid Perpetuals, Tea roses, and Hybrid Tea roses [1]. The poetess Sappho has addressed roses as "Queen of Flowers" [2].

Roses are generally used for beautifying the gardens and walkways as cut flowers and for essential oils. Internationally, the cut floral industry, of which roses account for two-thirds of all selections, exceeds \$40 billion per year. Commercial flower growers cultivate Hybrid Tea and Floribunda-type roses for the cut flower market and for domestic and industrial landscaping. In addition to *Rosa hybrida*, a number of species are cultivated as ornamentals and for the food and medicinal value of their hips. Many ornamental roses are also grown for attractive or scented foliage (*Rosa glauca* and *Rosa rubiginosa*), ornamental thorns (*Rosa sericea*), or for their showy fruit (*Rosa moyesii*). Ornamental roses have been cultivated for millennia, the earliest known cultivation dates back to 500 BC in Mediterranean countries, Persia, and China [3].

At present, three species of the scented roses, namely, *Rosa damascena, Rosa centifolia*, and *Rosa gallica* are used for the production of quality perfumery products. However, rose oil distilled from the Bulgarian *R. damascena* is traditionally sought after [4, 5]. Rose water is very soothing to irritated skin and is very valuable as an antiseptic in eye infections. The rose syrup, most commonly made from an extract of rose petals, is much in use in France. In the United States, the French rose syrup is used to make rose scones and marshmallows. In India, "gulkand" made by the mixture of rose petals and sugar in equal proportion is used as a tonic and also as a laxative [6]. The Bourbon roses (*Rosa bourboniana*) also belong to scented class of roses having a wide range of growth habit in form and height. *R. bourboniana* is a natural crossing between the China rose (repeat blooming) and the Autumn Damask rose. With their sublime fragrance, tolerance for cold temperatures, and recurrent blooming, bourbons are among the most distinctive of all roses.

Rose seed is an achene with thick hard pericarp and germination is always lower than 50%. The amount of ABA in rose achene is 10–1000 times more than that in other plants. The gibberrellic acid needed to interrupt dormancy is higher in immature seeds and decreases as the seeds mature. Different treatments have been used to enhance seed germination, for example, gibberrellic acids and cytokinins, stratification, and scarification to remove physical obstacles from the pericarp. In nature, microorganisms on dead leaves overcome the physical problems of achene pericarp. In *Rosa corymbifera* "Laxa," seed germination rate was enhanced considerably upon addition of commercial compost activator to the sowing compost. However, in surface sterilized seeds, similar effect was not seen, thus indicating the role of microorganisms already present on achene pericarp [7].

Modern roses are a product of many years of selection and careful hybridization. This makes it impractical to propagate true to types from seeds. True to type cultivars can be achieved using vegetative methods, that is, budding, cutting, stenting, layering, and also through *in vitro* culture for mass multiplication of disease-free plants. Plants from cuttings take longer to reach a saleable size (mostly for garden roses) and not all cvs. or varieties can be grown vigorously without a rootstock. Slow growing roses often produce smaller and fewer blooms than their grafts. Hence, in much of the work reported, particularly in relation to stress, rootstocks have been used in experiments.

Rosa indica var. *odorata* and *R. multiflora* are the two rootstocks most widely utilized in India for obtaining plants with quality and quantity flowers. Different rootstocks have been used with great success across the world, for example, *R. multiflora* (the United States, Zimbabwe, Japan, and Zambia), *Rosa canina, R. laxa, R. manetti, R. multiflora, and R. rugosa* (Europe). In Kenya, however, *R. multiflora* has been found to be prone to nutrition deficiency problems [8]. Most of prevailing rootstocks in our country do not respond to cold stress of winter. In this regard, CSIR-IHBT has recently developed winter-active rootstock selections that are successfully tested for over a decade and deployed in the northern region. Details of this are mentioned in Section 19.2.4.

19.2 Abiotic Stress and Rose Yield

As in other plants, abiotic stresses adversely affect growth and productivity of roses. These include drought, floods, high soil salinity, soils poor in nutrients, extreme temperatures (too high or too low), reduced light level, or excess of UV radiation. Cultivated plants are more sensitive to abiotic stress conditions than their wild ancestors. Nearly all species of roses are able to tolerate hot summers and low temperatures even up to -15 °C [9]. Some of the species found in China do not withstand cold temperatures (-10 °C), including *R. gigantea*. This species was used in the development of hybrid tea roses and as a result hybrid teas are also susceptible to cold climates [9]. Different abiotic stresses experienced by the genus *Rosa* are summarized in Table 19.1. Herein plant responses to various types of abiotic stresses that are manifested at morphological, physiological, biochemical, and molecular levels are summarized.

19.2.1

Drought Stress

Water deficit is a key factor limiting plant growth and development during both the vegetative and reproductive stages, leading to decreased productivity [29, 30]. The degree of drought tolerance exhibited by a plant is related to its ability to respond to adverse conditions. Under water deficit conditions, the availability of water in supporting materials such as soil, vermiculite, perlite, or peat moss is restricted, thereby causing low water use efficiency in plant cells [30, 31]. Williams *et al.* [10] studied the response of potted miniature roses (*R. hybrida*) to reduced water availability during production. All plants produced under water deficit conditions were more compact than the control plants and the cyclic grown plants (cyclic water-deficit treatments) most closely resembled commercially produced plants. It was observed that all drought treatments significantly reduced the number of flower buds, but the time to flowering was not influenced. Importantly, plants produced with reduced water availability were more efficient in dry matter production per volume of water consumed compared to that with controls. Niu *et al.* [12] compared the growth and physiological responses to drought stress in four rose rootstocks,

488 19 Rose: Improvement for Crop Productivity

Type of stress	Species/cultivar	Response	References
Drought stress	Potted miniature roses (R. hybrida)	More compact plants, reduced number of flower buds	[10]
		<i>In vitro</i> flowering and the number of flowers per plantlet declined significantly, pigment degradation, chlorophyll a fluorescence, and net photosynthetic rate (Pn) greatest in plantlets exposed to a water deficit stress Increased proline levels	[11]
		Development of reproductive organs	
	R. odorata, R. multiflora, and cv. "Dr. Huey"	Plant growth reduction	[12]
	Roses cv. "Madelon"	Flower quality affected Malformed buds with no carpels and stamens tightly packed on the center of the receptacle	[13]
	Pot cultured rose, soilless cultures, and <i>in vitro</i> cultures	Development of reproductive organs suppressed	[14–16]
	R. chinensis	No flowering, induction of dormancy, leaf injury, leaf necrosis and chlorosis	[17, 18]
Salt stress	Pot cultured rose, soilless cultures, and <i>in vitro</i> cultures	Development of reproductive organs suppressed	[14–16]
	R. chinensis	No flowering, induction of dormancy, leaf injury, leaf necrosis and chlorosis	[17, 18]
	<i>R. hybrida</i> Miniature roses	Aberrant color changes in flowers <i>In vitro</i> flowering sensitive to salt stress, low numbers of flowers per plant and low flower initiation, maximum pigment degradation, low photosynthetic abilities and maximum growth reduction	[19] [16, 20, 21]
	R. <i>hybrida</i> cv. "Hot Lady"	Chl a and Chl b pigments damaged significantly	[19]
		Sodium enrichment at cellular level leading to induced program cell death	[22]
		Inhibition in fresh weight, dry weight, and leaf area	[16, 23]
	R. fortuniana, R. multiflora, and R. odorata	Significant growth reduction in rootstocks, chlorophyll concentration reduced	[24]
			(continued

 Table 19.1
 Response of genus Rosa to various abiotic stresses.
Type of stress	Species/cultivar	Response	References	
	R. chinensis	No flowering, induction of dormancy, leaf injury – leaf necrosis and chlorosis	[17, 18]	
Deicing salts	R. rugosa	Decrease of chlorophyll content, potential photochemical efficiency, performance index, and biomass accumulation	[25]	
Light stress (quantity and quality)	Roses	High light interception increases the photosynthesis rate, dry mass gain, ultimately flowering shoot quality improved in terms of larger stem and bud diameter and increased fresh weight	[26]	
		In Mercedes roses, the bent shoot technique reduced the number of leaves by 25%	[26]	
		The bent stems form a floor of green matter like a dense crop and transmit and reflect more strongly on FR than on R wave band resulting in smaller R:FR ratio that advances flowering	[27]	
Low- temperature stress	Roses cv. "Madelon"	Flower quality affected Malformed buds with no carpels and stamens tightly packed on the center of the receptacle	[13]	
High- temperature stress	Rosa sp.	Increased gamete ploidy level, leaves turn yellow	[28]	
	R. chinensis	No flowering, induction of dormancy, leaf injury – leaf necrosis and chlorosis	[17, 18]	

Table 19.1 (Continued)

namely, *R. hybrida* cv. "Dr. Huey," *Rosa fortuniana*, *R. multiflora*, and *R. odorata*. Well-irrigated plants were subjected to mild drought stress for five to six cycles. Maximum growth reduction occurred in *R. odorata*, followed by *R. multiflora* and *R. hybrida* cv. "Dr. Huey." *R. fortuniana* was found to be the most tolerant and *R. odorata* to be the least tolerant to drought stress. Two cultivars of potted miniature roses, Apollo Parade and Charming Parade (R), were exposed to repeated drought stress and recovery cycles from second cut to flowering [32]. Maximum responses were recorded following the first exposure to drought. This first exposure to drought had a conditioning effect on the plants, which also improved their tolerance to subsequent exposure to drought. The two cultivars used different

mechanisms to respond to drought in that cv. "Apollo" utilized osmotic adjustment, while cv. "Charming" modified its stomatal closure.

Reproductive development has been reported as being susceptible to water deficit stress in pot-cultured rose [13, 14] soilless cultures [15], and *in vitro* cultures [33]. Cha-Um and Kirdmanee [11] studied tolerance to water deficit in miniature roses. *In vitro* flowering and the number of flowers per plantlet declined significantly when miniature rose plantlets were exposed to water deficit stress. Such knowledge would be useful for selection of water deficit-tolerant genotypes in miniature rose breeding programs.

Under water deficit conditions, varying degree of biochemical changes occur. These include decreased ribulose-1,5-bisphosphatase carboxylase/oxygenase (Rubisco) activity, reduced photochemical efficiency and net photosynthetic rate (Pn), accumulation of stress metabolites, increased activities of antioxidant enzymes, and reductions in the levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Proline is a vital compatible solute. Its accumulation in water-deficit stressed plants has roles in cellular osmotic adjustment and in the scavenging of toxic oxidants [34–36].

Jin et al. [37] investigated the role of ascorbate peroxidase (APX) in protecting flowers of cut rose cv. Samantha from the damage caused by water deficit. The water deficit inhibited flower opening process and caused a decrease in APX activity. In addition, both pretreatments affected superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity. APX activity was induced by water deficit stress and reached the peak in 9-12 h, but SOD activity remained low until 9h after water deficit stress and then increased. This shows that antioxidant systems, at least APX and SOD, cooperatively act in a defense system under water deficit conditions. The antioxidants improved flower tolerance to water deficit stress, and increased SOD and POD (peroxidase) activities [38]. The flowers were pretreated with ascorbic acid (AsA) and β-aminophenol before water deficit stress. AsA has been widely used as a basic component in many preservatives of cut flowers for several decades. Jin et al. [37] suggested that not only AsA but also its relevant artificial substrates with powerful functions of enhancing APX activity could be used to further improve the tolerance to water deficit stress in cut rose flowers. AsA tolerance to water deficit stress is partially through the regulation of Rh-APX1 at transcript level. Several studies have shown that overexpression of APX gene in transgenic plants can enhance their tolerance to oxidative stress [39-41] and water deficit stress [42]. It seems feasible to improve the tolerance to water deficit stress in cut roses through overexpressing of APX genes.

19.2.1.1 Ethylene Biosynthesis

Water deficit stress elevates the release of ethylene, resulting in senescence and abscission. Morgan *et al.* [43] stated that most reports of increase of ethylene production by water deficit stress have involved detached plant parts and that several studies with intact plants found no increase of ethylene production. Based upon their findings, use of intact plant for experimentation was emphasized. Such an approach seems essential if normal plant behavior is in view.

Ethylene is also an important signaling response hormone for many abiotic stresses and pathogen interactions [44, 45]. The two steps of ethylene biosynthesis, that is, conversion of *S*-adenosyl methionine (SAM) to 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC) and its subsequent oxidation to ethylene, are regulated by ACC synthase (ACS) and ACC oxidase (ACO), respectively [46, 47]. These enzymes are encoded by multigene families present in all plant species and consist of at least nine and four members, respectively, in *Arabidopsis* and tomato [48, 49]. Sucrose treatment also decreased the ethylene responsiveness of carnation petals and has been correlated with decreased activities of ACC oxidase and ACC synthase [50]. Kumar *et al.* [51] also reported that ethanol plus sucrose treatment suppressed ethylene production, thereby delaying aging in cut rose (*R. hybrida*).

19.2.2 Salt Stress

Salinity toxicity is a worldwide agricultural and an ecoenvironmental problem. Approximately one-third of the world land surface is arid and semiarid, of which one half is affected by salinity [52]. In cut flower species, the number of flowers per plant and total number of flowering plants are reduced when exposed to salt stress [53, 54]. Reproductive developmental processes in salt-stressed roses in pot culture have been reported as being salt susceptible [19, 55]. The reproductive stage of *in vitro* miniature roses was also found to be sensitive to salt stress [16] due to abnormal flower development, maximum pigment degradation, low photosynthetic abilities, and maximum growth reduction. In "Hot Lady" hybrid rose, the Chl "a" and Chl "b" pigments were damaged significantly under salt stress (25 mM NaCl) and were lower than the control by 46.32% [19]. Under salt stress conditions, Na⁺ is generally enriched at the cellular level, leading to induced program cell death [22] and inhibiting growth characters, especially fresh weight, dry weight, and leaf area [23].

In climatic conditions of Northern Hemisphere, use of salt for road deicing causes increased salinity of road side soils. Wrochna *et al.* [25] studied the effect of deicing substances on *R. rugosa* and observed decrease of chlorophyll content, potential photochemical efficiency, performance index, and biomass accumulation.

The effects of salt on rose depend on cultivar [56] and on the type of culture used, for example, soil or hydroponics [57]. Improvement of nitrate uptake and assimilation by rose plants have better implications in terms of increased flower production. Thus, the relationship between production and any element that could interfere with nitrate assimilation is very important. Under high sodium concentrations, the uptake of nitrate, potassium, and phosphate is adversely affected and nitrate reductase (NR) activity decreased by up to 50%. An increase of NR activity and leaf glutathione synthase (GS) takes place at low sodium concentrations [58].

In rootstock roses, namely, *R. chinensis* cv. "Major," Na⁺ in the leaf tissues caused injury to the leaves (90.8%) when exposed to 30 mM NaCl for 13 months [17]. In hydroponic culture of roses (*R. hybrida* L.), Na⁺ in the salt-stressed leaves reached

150 mM/kg after cultivation for 100 d in 40 mM NaCl salt treatment [59]. In in vitro cultivated rootstocks of roses, Na⁺ has been reported as a toxic ion that accumulates in the leaf tissues leading to leaf necrosis and chlorosis symptoms [17]. Vegetative growth and quality of cut flowers were affected by NaCl treatment in R. chinensis cv. "Major," R. rubiginosa, and R. hybrida cv. "Kardinal" [60]. Leaf injury was more pronounced in R. chinensis cv. "Major" compared to the other two genotypes. The rootstock R. rubiginosa showed a higher tolerance to the NaCl stress than R. chinensis cv. "Major." The tolerance in the cultivar R. hybrida cv. "Kardinal" and rootstock R. rubiginosa was approximately the same. The survival of the plants under increased duration of NaCl stress as well as extent of leaf injury could be used in the determination of tolerance of the rose genotypes. Increasing of NaCl concentration leads to a significant reduction in the length of the cut flowers in R. hybrida cv. "Kardinal". Niu et al. [24] studied the effect of saline water irrigation on growth and physiological responses of three rose rootstocks, namely, R. fortuniana, R. multiflora, and R. odorata. The elevated salinity of the irrigation water reduced the relative chlorophyll concentration and maximal photochemical efficiency of photosystem II (PSII) and minimal fluorescence (F-o)/maximum fluorescence (F-v/F-m), with largest reduction in F-v/F-m at 2.4%. Based on growth and visual quality, R. fortuniana was relatively more salt tolerant followed by R. odorata and R. multiflora. Cabrera et al. [61] evaluated the vield and quality and the ion accumulation responses of roses grafted on various rootstocks to increasing salinity stress. Salt concentration increases significantly and affected the biomass, cut flower production, and foliage and quality of the roses, but the responses were modulated by rootstock selection. Cultivar "Manetti" plants in general sustained better absolute and relative biomass and flower yields, accumulated less Na⁺ and Cl⁻ in its tissues, and showed less toxicity symptoms with increasing salinity compared to R. odorata (Andr.) cv. "Natal Briar" and cv. "Dr. Huey" rootstocks.

Salt tolerance of many crop plants is reported to be enhanced by addition of silicon. The nutritional properties of silicon in plant growth are not well established. The stimulation of growth by silicon may be either indirect, owing to the protective effects of Si against pathogens [62, 63], or direct originating from implications of silicon to both morphological changes and physiological processes in plants.

The quality determinants of cut flowers depend upon their visual appearance. Various factors are responsible for aberrant color changes in flowers. Reezi *et al.* [19] reported that silicon controlled salt stress, decreased malondialdehyde content, reduced chlorophyll content, and affected petal color of cut rose (*R. hybrida* L.) cv. "Hot Lady." Addition of 50 ppm Si increased the flower number in plants grown under both salinity and unstressed conditions. It may act to alleviate salt stress in rose by decreasing permeability of plasma membranes and membrane lipid peroxidation and by maintaining the membrane integrity and function. Liang *et al.* [52, 64] reported that silicon decreased the permeability of plasma membrane of leaf cells and significantly improved the ultrastructure of chloroplasts that were badly damaged by the added NaCl [65].

Proline accumulation in the salt-stressed leaves is a defense response of plants to salt stress [66]. Alternatively, proline, well known as an antioxidant or

alleviator of oxidative stress, is identified by antioxidant enzyme regulation [67] and malondialdehyde content [68]. In addition, endogenous and exogenous proline in the petals of roses may play a key role in delaying senescence in cut flowers [20, 21].

19.2.3 Light Stress

A perusal of literature reveals a correlation between radiation [69–71] plantation density and radiation interception [72] and Leaf Area Index (LAI) [73] on rose production. Decrease in light intensity and the duration of light period owing to the seasonal changes or shading reduce the yield of roses, total plant weight, and growth of plant. Flower bud abortion in rose is affected by low light intensity at early stages of shoot development. High light intensity is necessary for anthocyanin formation and hence color in rose cultivars. The plants regulate their metabolism and development depending upon the quantity and quality of light [74]. The interception by the plant photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) and LAI is very important because it is correlated with canopy photosynthesis and the dry mass production in plants that grow free of biotic or abiotic stress [75].

Mascarini et al. [27] assessed the changes in light quality, Leaf Area Index, plant water content and its impact on rose flowering, shoot quality, and yield using spectral reflectance in different rose canopy management. The bent stems form a floor of green matter like a dense crop and transmit and reflect more strongly on FR than on R wave band resulting in smaller R: FR ratio that advances flowering. High light interception increases the photosynthesis rate, thereby enhancing dry mass gain [76]. Ultimately, flowering shoot quality improved in terms of larger stem and bud diameter and increased fresh weight. In Mercedes roses, the bent shoot technique reduced the number of leaves by 25%, but light interception was 89% greater in comparison to traditional management. Whole plant net photosynthetic rate was 28% higher in plants grown with shoot bending than in those grown with traditional upright growing technique. The bent shoots also provide good hiding places for beneficial predators and parasites between the flushes, which is an advantage in the biological pest control of cut roses. Bending the blind shoots in the traditional cultivation technique is recommended for cultivars like "Mercedes" that are not as strongly growing cultivars as "Frisco." However, blind shoot bending results in long flowering stems in both cultivars [73].

Under greenhouse conditions in hot climates, high summer temperatures limit productivity of roses due to heat stress. Common approaches to reduce the damage are using shadow screens or white washing having 50% reflectivity across the whole solar spectrum including PAR, thereby reducing photosynthesis and crop production. Baille *et al.* [77] found that glass whitening had positive effect on crop yield of *R. hybrida* cv. First Red. However, Stanghellini *et al.* [78] suggested filtering of near-infrared (NIR) range (400–700 nm) to reduce warming of greenhouse and hence transpiration without affecting crop photosynthesis and yield. They discussed the application of NIR selective filters

in *R. hybrida* cv. Passion under greenhouse conditions for increasing photosynthesis and crop productivity.

19.2.4 Low-Temperature Stress

Chlorophyll fluorescence (CF) is an indicator to assess chilling injury in leaves of roses [79]. The technique provides a rapid method to prescreen genotypes for chilling tolerance in *Rosa* sp., as required in plant breeding. As the temperature decreases, variable fluorescence (Fv) decreases dramatically in the more susceptible genotypes, whereas it is more stable and decreases more slowly in the less susceptible genotypes.

Wild roses growing in and around Palampur area of Kangra district of Himachal Pradesh were collected and domesticated at CSIR-IHBT for their identification, conservation, and possible future utilization in the development of new variants of roses through breeding, selection of suitable types for rose rootstocks, and maintenance of potential indigenous rose germplasm having other desirable characters. Based on taxonomic and morphological studies, the accessions were identified and kept in to their respective grouped species. Furthermore, experiments were carried out for the evaluation of better compatibility, easy to multiply, and winter-active strains of wild rose from the domesticated population for selection and utilization as suitable germplasm.

A well-known rose rootstock (*R. indica* var. *odorata*) and scion bud of Scarlet Queen Elizabeth were used as a control for all the experiments. Based on information generated by these experiments, out of 21 wild strains 4 strains belonging to the 4 different species were selected as potential wild germplasm of roses. These selected germplasm are better or *at par* in terms of compatibility, propagation, plant vigor, production of higher number and better height of flowering shoots, and active growth during severe winter (November 15–February 15) months under Palampur conditions than the control. The selected germplasm can be utilized as rose rootstocks and in the improvement of roses and rootstocks through breeding. These four domesticated and potential germplasm accessions of IHBT were awarded registration numbers and national identity number also by the National Germplasm Registration Committee, New Delhi. Details of these winter-active rootstocks are given in Tables 19.2 and 19.3.

19.2.5

High-Temperature Stress

Heat stress during summer months causes leaf yellowing in roses. Recently planted roses with less developed strong root system are most susceptible to heat stress due to increased rate of transpiration. Heat stress causes scorched leaf margins, wilting, and dark-edged rose petals. Under heat stress, rose buds that start to develop turn brown and drop off. When plants are under heat stress, they stop Table 19.2 Winter-active wild rootstocks cultivated at CSIR-IHBT Palampur.

Rose accession/germplasm registration number/National Identity Number

Floral characteristics

IHBT- WR-24/INGR 08066/IC549905 (wild strain of *R. multiflora*)



Winter-active, easy to multiply, compatible to scion, and produced better number and height of flowering shoots than the standard rootstock of *R. indica var.*

odorata under Palampur conditions. Potential indigenous rootstock. Flower white double, diameter 5.64 cm, flowers/panicle 54.2 and number of petals/flower 29.2, sepals and thalamus hairy. Number of hips/panicle 18.8, size of hips 0.73 cm. No. of seeds/hip 10.3



Vigorous, winter-active, easy to multiply through stem cuttings, compatible to scion, and produced number and height of flowering shoots at par to the standard

rootstock of *R. indica* under Palampur conditions. The strain has potential to be utilized as rootstock and further improvement of roses through breeding. Flower white, single, diameter 5.31 cm. Number of flowers/panicle 44.7 and number of petals/flower 5–9. Sepals and thalamus glandular. Number of hips/panicle 34.80, size of hips 0.73 cm, and number of seeds/hip 11.2.



Winter-active, easy to multiply, better compatible to scion, and produced better number and height of flowering shoots than the standard rootstock of *R. indica var. odorata* under Palampur

conditions; Potential suitable rootstock. Flowers double, pink color, diameter 4.16 cm, number of petals/flower 28, number of flowers/panicle 32. Sepals hairy and glandular, thalamus hairy, number of hips/panicle 1, size of hips 0.6 cm, and number of seeds/hip 7.0

(continued)

IHBT-WR-16/INGR 08067/IC549906 (wild strain of *Rosa brunonii*)

IHBT-WR-23/INGR 08068/IC549907 (wild strain of *Rosa cathayensis*)

Table 19.2(Continued)

Rose accession/germplasm registration
number/National Identity Number

IHBT-WR-21/INGR 08069/IC549908 (wild strain of *Rosa alba*)



Floral characteristics

Winter-active, easy to multiply, compatible to scion, and produced better number and height of flowering shoots than the standard rootstock of *R. indica* under

Palampur conditions. Potential suitable rootstock for improvement of roses. Flower white with pinkish tinge in early stage, double, diameter 4.16 cm, number of flowers/panicle 16.7, and number of petals/flower 75. Sepals and thalamus hairy. Number of hips/panicle 4.1, size of hips 0.6 cm, and number of seeds/hip 7.0.

IHBT-0 (Control) R. indica var. odorata



Grows up to 8–10 feet and suckers easily. Nonrecurrent flowering behavior. The flower color whitish pink. Commonly used rootstock, for easy multiplication of

roses under north Indian conditions, performs well in soil with pH above 7.5–8.

their less essential functions – such as producing flowers – in favor of simple survival. Expression and accumulation of sHSPs in plants can be triggered by various abiotic stress conditions, such as extreme temperatures [80–83], salinity [84], drought [85], and osmotic [86] and oxidative stresses [87–89]. RcHSP17.8 expression in *R. chinensis* was induced by heat, cold, salt, drought, and osmotic and oxidative stresses.

Table 19.3	Comparative	evaluation	of winter-active	rootstocks
------------	-------------	------------	------------------	------------

S. No.	Accession	Species	% Winter-active growth	% Compatibility	
1	IHBT-WR-23	Rosa cathayensis	44.68	47.19	
2	IHBT-WR-24	R. multiflora	4.41	42.58	
3	IHBT-WR-16	R. brunonii	8.39	22.21	
4	IHBT-WR-21	R. alba	53.46	23.14	
5	IHBT-0 (Control)	R. indica var. odorata	2.45	24.99	

19.3 Abiotic Stress and Reactive Oxygen Species

Various abiotic stresses [90–92] lead to the overproduction of reactive oxygen species in plants that are highly reactive and toxic and cause damage to proteins, lipids, carbohydrates, and DNA, which ultimately results in oxidative stress [93]. SOD is the key enzyme in plant defense against the damage caused by $O_2^{\bullet-}$ [94]. Various isoforms of superoxide dismutase were detected in senescing rose petals. Changes in SOD activity are induced by the substrate $O_2^{\bullet-}$, which increases under stress conditions. Higher SOD activity leads to an increased synthesis of H₂O₂. This signal molecule then induces the activities of other antioxidant enzymes. The balance between SOD and the different H₂O₂ scavenging enzymes in cells is crucial in determining the steady-state levels of $O_2^{\bullet-}$ and H_2O_2 . Petal senescence, the final stage in petal development, involves an array of physiological and metabolical changes. Senescence in rose petals is associated with increased production of $O_2^{\bullet-}$ radicals up to stage-5 of flower bud development. SODs efficiently remove $O_2^{\bullet-}$ but generate H₂O₂ as a by-product [95]. Higher concentration of H₂O₂ was detected during senescence of rose petals [96, 97], which may have inactivated both Cu-Zn-SOD and Fe-SOD [98]. Being resistant to H₂O₂ concentrations, Mn-SOD remains functional at higher concentrations of H₂O₂ and protects the petals from deleterious effect of more toxic $O_2^{\bullet-}$.

In plants, proline constitutes less than 5% of the total pool of free amino acids under normal conditions, but under stress it is 80% of the total amino acid pool [99], indicating a positive relation between intracellular proline levels and resistance to oxidative stress. Proline metabolism imparts a protective effect during petal senescence in rose. Exogenous proline suppressed the oxidative stress and increased the vase life of cv. "Grand Gala" rose (*R. hybrida* L.) [21] and cv. "First Red" cut rose [100]. Proline dehydrogenase (PDH) activity was also very high in proline-treated flowers. Proline catabolism might provide higher energy to delay the aging of flower petals. Similarly, higher reduced glutathione (GSH) content and GSH/GSSG (oxidized glutathione) ratio showed the existence of reduced redox state in cells of proline-treated flower petals. Total SOD activity was substantially higher in treated flower, which might suppress the rate of $O_2^{\bullet-}$ generation. Use of proline is therefore recommended in commercial formulation for enhancing vase life of roses.

19.4

Stress-Related Genes Associated with Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Rose and Attempts to Transgenic Development

Currently, transgenic technology provides the best hope for improvement in plants where traditional breeding is not feasible due to polyploidy that complicates breeding efforts. Substantial progress has been made in the identification of genes involved in abiotic stress tolerance and in their transfer to crops of economic

Gene (s)	Species	Response	Reference
Ethylene receptor genes <i>Rh-ETR1</i>	R. hybrida	Ethylene regulates flower opening through expression of two ethylene receptor genes (Rh-ETR1 and Rh-ETR3) and two CTR (Rh- CTR1 and Rh-CTR2) genes	[102]
Rh-ETR3 CTR-like protein kinase genes Rh-CTR1			
Rh-CTR2			
CTR genes	R. hybrida	RhCTR1expression increases during flower senescence	[103]
Rh-CTR1		RhCTR2 constitutively expressed during flower development	
Rh-CTR2		Expression of both the genes increased in response to ethylene	
RcHSP17.8	R. chinensis	Overexpression of gene simultaneously enhances thermotolerance, oxidative and osmotic stress tolerance intransformed <i>Escherichia coli</i> yeast and <i>Arabidowis thaliana</i>	[104]
Vacuolar Na ⁺ /K ⁺ antiporter gene <i>RhNHX1</i>	R. hybrida	Expression increases in presence of NaCl. The gene product functions as Na ⁺ /H ⁺ antiporter in plants	[105] I
Plasma membrane aquaporin gene: <i>Rh-PIP2</i> ·1	R. hybrida	Plays an important role in petal expansion. Ethylene inhibits petal expansion by suppressing Rh-PIP2;1 expression	[106]
Sucrose transporter gene: <i>Rh-SUC2</i>	R. hybrida	Modulation of sucrose import during bud break	[107]
Rh-TIP1;1	R. hybrida	Gene expression during flower opening influenced by ethylene and water deficit	[108]
Rh-DREB1A and Rh-DREB1B	R. hybrida	Involved in signaling pathway of water deficit stress	[18]
Ascorbate peroxidase gene: <i>Rh-APX1</i>	R. hybrida	Regulation of APX at the transcript level may be involved in the response to water deficit stress	[18]

Table 19.4	Stress-related	genes	in	genus	Rosa.
------------	----------------	-------	----	-------	-------

importance for increased stress tolerance. Many stress-related genes are active in developing rose petals. The information available on stress-related genes in the genus *Rosa* is summarized in Table 19.4. A large number of stress-related proteins were identified in developing petals, including low and high molecular weight HSPs, peroxidase, superoxide dismutase, and catalase [101]. The accumulation of stress-related proteins in petals may be indicative of the requirement for protection

of the cell during flower development against either intracellular stress (e.g., an oxidative environment) or external stresses.

Osmotin is a stress-responsive protein adapted to salinity, desiccation, and low temperature and accumulates in salt-adapted cells [109]. Overexpression of osmotin was reported to induce proline accumulation and tolerance to osmotic stress in transgenic tobacco [110]. Husaini and Abdin [111] introduced osmotin gene directly into strawberry and transgenic plants tolerant to salt stress were produced. Osmotin is a multifunctional 24 kDa basic protein belonging to PR-5 protein family. It provides osmotolerance to plants probably by facilitating compartmentation of solutes or by being involved in metabolic or structural alterations during osmotic adjustment. Singh et al. [112] hypothesized that the synthesis of osmotin protein could induce synthesis and accumulation of certain solutes or could be involved in metabolic or structural changes. At CSIR-IHBT, biolistic-mediated transformation of R. bourboniana somatic embryos was carried out employing the osmotin gene of Nicotiana tabacum, under the control of constitutive 35S CaMV promoter. The transformed plants grown in the contained facility were tested for the stable integration of the gene using PCR and Southern blot hybridization. The transgenic lines were tested for salt and drought stress using NaCl (0, 400 and 800 mM) and PEG (0%, 5%, and 10%).

Experiments were conducted with leaf disks from transformed and untransformed plants. In case of untransformed plants, the leaf disks turned brown after 4 days, whereas transformed ones remained green. The chlorophyll content was also higher in transgenic plants, indicating an increased salt tolerance of the transgenic plants of R. bourboniana. At 400 and 800 mM NaCl concentration, total chlorophyll content of leaf disks derived from transgenic plants $(T_1 \text{ and } T_2)$ ranged from 2.6 to 2.77 mg/g fr. wt. compared to 2.3–2.4 mg/g fr.wt in leaf disks derived from untransformed ones, indicating increased salt tolerance of the transgenic R. bourboniana. Cut shoots from transgenic plants cultured in NaCl solutions (0, 400, and 800 mM) for 4 days showed higher total chlorophyll and relative water content at all levels of treatment compared to untransformed. Cut shoots cultured in solutions of 0%, 5%, and 10% polyethylene glycol (PEG 6000) at 25 °C under 16 h photoperiod for 24 h were analyzed for total chlorophyll and relative water content. At all levels of treatment, chlorophyll content and RWC of cut shoots derived from transgenic plants were found higher than untransformed, thereby suggesting increased tolerance to drought stress.

19.5 Conclusions

High economic value and widespread cultivation of rose makes it one of the commercially important ornamental crops. Rose crop production is strongly affected by stresses like drought, soil salinity, heat, and cold. Susceptibility to different abiotic stresses varies according to the species, the scion, the rootstock

and their interaction, and the developmental stage of the plant. The possibility of growing rose crops on marginal land would depend on the successful selection of varieties tolerant to these abiotic stresses. In view of global scarcity of water resources and the increased salinization of soil and water, abiotic stress is a major limiting factor in plant growth. The need of the hour is to integrate biotechnology with classical physiology and breeding. Understanding of the underlying physiological, biochemical, and molecular events leading to stress in plants is much warranted.

Our limited knowledge of stress-associated metabolism is still a major gap in our understanding of stress tolerance in many plant species including roses. Therefore, comprehensive profiling of stress-associated metabolites, combined with stress metabolomics of major crop plants, will be a key factor in molecular breeding for tolerance. Another area for future studies will be the detailed analysis of physiological and molecular mechanisms underlying abiotic stress tolerance in salt-tolerant model species, which will enable future molecular dissection of salt tolerance mechanisms in important crop plants.

The use of transgenic approaches to improve the tolerance of roses to abiotic stresses remains an attractive option. Options targeting multiple gene regulation appear better than targeting single gene regulation. A well-focused approach combining the molecular, physiological, and metabolic aspects of abiotic stress tolerance is required for bridging the knowledge gaps between the molecular or cellular expression of the genes and the whole plant phenotype under stress.

Acknowledgments

Authors gratefully acknowledge financial assistance from Council of Scientific and Industrial Research, New Delhi.

References

- Sinclair, A. and Thodey, R. (1997) Gardening with Old Roses: an Australian Guide, Florilegium, Balmain, NSW, p. 185.
- 2 Bose, T.K., Yadav, L.P., Pal, P., Das, P., and Parthasarthi, V.A. (eds) (2002) *Commercial Flowers*, vol. 1, Naya Prakash, Kolkata, India.
- 3 Stewart, L. and Brandis, D. (1974) *The Forest Flora of North, West and Central India*, W.H. Allen, London.
- 4 Shepherd, RE. (1954) *History of the Rose,* Macmillan, New York.
- 5 Krussman, G. (1981) The Complete Book of Roses, Timber Press, Portland, OR.

- 6 Anonymous (1972) *Rosa. Wealth of India-Raw Materials*, vol. 9, Publications and Information Directorate (CSIR), New Delhi, pp. 65–78.
- 7 Ueda, Y. (2003) Seed maturation and germination, in *Encyclopedia of Rose Science*, vol. 2 (eds A.V. Roberts, T. Debener, and S. Gudin), Elsevier Academic Press, New York, pp. 623–626.
- 8 Mukherjee, D. (2006) *Speciality Cut Flowers: Production Technology*, Naya Udyog, Kolkata, India.
- 9 Phillips, R. and Rix, M. (1988) *Roses,* Random House, pp. 224.

- 10 Williams, M.H., Rosenqvist, E., and Buchhave, M. (1999) Response of potted miniature roses (*Rosa x hybrida*) to reduced water availability during production. *J. Horticult. Sci. Biotechnol.*, 74 (3), 301–308.
- 11 Cha-Um, S. and Kirdmanee, C. (2010b) Acclimatisation to mannitol-induced water deficit in miniature rose (*Rosa x hybrida*) plantlets cultivated *in vitro* under autotrophic conditions. *J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol.*, **85** (6), 533–538.
- 12 Niu, G.H. and Rodriguez, D.S. (2009) Growth and physiological responses of four rose rootstocks to drought stress. J. Am. Soc. Hortic. Sci., 134 (2), 202–209.
- 13 Chimonidou-Pavlidou, D. (2004) Malformation of roses due to drought stress. *Sci. Hortic.*, 99, 79–87.
- 14 Mortensen, L.M., Ottosen, C.O., and Gislerod, H.R. (2001) Effects of air humidity and K: Ca ratio on growth, morphology, flowering and keeping quality of pot roses. *Sci. Hortic.*, 90, 131–141.
- 15 Liu, F., Cohen, Y., Fuchs, M., Plaut, Z., and Grava, A. (2006) The effect of vapor pressure deficit on leaf area and water transport in flower stems of soil-less culture rose. *Agric. Water Manage.*, 81, 216–224.
- 16 Cha-Um, S. and Kirdmanee, C. (2010) *In vitro* flowering of miniature roses (*Rosa* × *hybrida* L. 'Red Imp') in response to salt stress. *Eur. J. Hortic. Sci.*, **75** (6), S239–S245.
- 17 Wahome, P.K., Jesch, H.H., and Pinker, I. (2001) Effect of sodium chloride stress on *Rosa* plants growing *in vitro*. *Sci. Hortic.*, **90**, 187–191.
- 18 Wang, T., Tong, Z., Ma, N., Gao, J. (2009) Isolation and expression analysis of Rh-DREB1s gene in cut roses (*Rosa hybrida*) under ethylene treatment and water deficit stress. *Acta Horticulture Sinica* 36 (1), 65–72.
- 19 Reezi, S., Babaalar, M., and Kalantari, S. (2009) Silicon alleviates salt stress, decreases malondialdehyde content and affects petal color of salt-stressed cut rose

 $(Rosa \times hybrida L.)$ 'Hot Lady'. Afr. J. Biotechnol., 8, 1502–1508.

- 20 Kumar, N., Pal, M., and Srivastava, G.C. (2009) Proline metabolism in senescing rose petals (*Rosa hybrida* L. 'First Red'). *J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol.*, 84, 536–540.
- 21 Kumar, N., Pal, M., Singh, A., Sairam, R.K., and Srivastava, G.C. (2010) Exogenous proline alleviates oxidative stress and increase vase life in rose (*Rosa hybrida* L. 'Grand Gala'). *Sci. Hortic.*, 127, 79–85.
- 22 Affenzeller, M.J., Darehshouri, A., Andosch, A., Lütz, C., and Lutz-Meindl, U. (2009) Salt stress-induced cell death in the unicellular green alga *Micrasterias denticulata. J. Exp. Bot.*, **60**, 939–954.
- 23 Takemura, T., Hanagata, N., Sugihara, K., Baba, S., Karube, I., and Dubinsky, Z. (2000) Physiological and biochemical responses to salt stress in the mangrove, *Bruguiera gymnorrhiza*. *Aqua*. *Bot.*, **68**, 15–28.
- 24 Niu, G.H., Rodriguez, D.S., and Aguiniga, L. (2008) Effect of saline water irrigation on growth and physiological responses of three rose rootstocks. *HortScience*, **43** (5), 1479–1484.
- 25 Wrochna, M., Malecka-Przybysz, M., and Gawronska, H. (2010) Effect of road deicing saltswith anti corrosion agents on selected plant species. *Acta Sci. Pol. Hortorum cultus*, 9 (4), 171–182.
- 26 Wilson, J.W. (1981) Analysis of light interception by single plants. Ann. Bot., 48, 501–505.
- 27 Mascarini, L., Lorenzo, G.A., and Vilella, F. (2006) Leaf area index, and red: far red ratio calculated by spectral reflectance and its relation to plant architecture and cut rose production. J. Am. Soc. Hortic. Sci., 131, 313–319.
- 28 Pécrix, Y., Rallo, G., Folzer, H., Cigna, M., Gudin, S., and Le Bris, M. (2011) Polyploidization mechanisms: temperature environment can induce diploid gamete formation in *Rosa* sp. *J. Exp. Bot.*, **62** (10), 3587–3597.
- 29 Reddy, A.R., Chaitanya, K.V., and Vivekanandan, M. (2004) Droughtinduced responses of photosynthesis and antioxidant metabolism in higher

plants. J. Plant Physiol., **161**, 1189–1202.

- 30 Shao, H.B., Chu, L.Y., Jaleel, C.A., and Zhao, C.X. (2008) Water-deficit stressinduced anatomical changes in higher plants. C. R. Biol., 331, 215–225.
- **31** Costa, J.M., Ortuno, F., and Chaves, M. M. (2007) Deficit irrigation as a strategy to save water: physiology and potential application to horticulture. *J. Integr. Plant Biol.*, **49**, 1421–1434.
- 32 Riseman, A., Jensen, C., and Williams, M. (2001) Stomatal conductivity and osmotic adjustment during acclimation to multiple cycles of drought stress in potted miniature rose (*Rosa x hybrida*). *J. Horticult. Sci. Biotechnol.*, 76 (2), 138–144.
- 33 Sallanon, H., Berger, M., Genoud, C., and Coudret, A. (1998) Water stress and photoinhibition in acclimation of *Rosa hybrida* plantlets. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Plant*, 34, 169–172.
- 34 Yamada, M., Morishita, H., Urano, K., Shiozaki, N., Yamaguchishinozaki, K., Shinzaki, K., and Yoshiba, Y. (2005) Effects of free proline accumulation in petunias under drought stress. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 56, 1975–1981.
- 35 Valliyodan, B. and Nguyen, H.T. (2006) Understanding regulatory networks and engineering for enhanced drought tolerance in plants. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, 9, 189–195.
- 36 Seki, M., Umezawa, T., Urano, K., and Shinozaki, K. (2007) Regulatory metabolic networks in drought stress responses. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, 10, 296–302.
- 37 Jin, J., Shan, N., Ma, N., Bai, J., and Gao, J. (2006) Regulation of ascorbate peroxidase at the transcript level is involved in tolerance to postharvest water deficit stress in the cut rose (*Rosa hybrida* L.) cv. Samantha. *Postharvest Biol. Technol.*, 40, 236–243; Bajaj, Y.P.S. (1995) Somatic embryogenesis and its applications for crop improvement, in *Biotechnology in Agriculture and Forestry: Vol. 30. Somatic Embryogenesis and Synthetic Seeds I*, Springer, Berlin, pp. 221–233.

- 38 Li, Y., Zhang, C., Tan, H., and Jin, J. (2003) Effects of antioxidants on tolerance to water deficit stress and activities of SOD and POD in cut rose. *J. China Agric. Univ.*, 8, 14–17.
- 39 Pitcher, L.H., Repetti, P., and Zilinskas, B.A. (1994) Overproduction of ascorbate peroxidase protects transgenic tobacco plants against oxidative stress. *Plant Physiol.*, 105 (Suppl.), 116.
- 40 Webb, R.P. and Allen, R.D. (1996) Overexpression of pea cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase confers protection against oxidative stress in transgenic *Nicotiana tabacum. Plant Physiol.*, 111 (Suppl.), 48.
- 41 Wang, Y., Wisniewski, M., Meilan, R., Cui, M., Bebb, R., and Fuchigami, L. (2005) Overexpression of cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase in tomato confers tolerance to chilling and salt stress. *J. Am. Soc. Hortic. Sci.*, **130**, 167–173.
- 42 Badawi, G.H., Kawano, N., Yamauchi, Y., Shimada, E., Sasaki, R., Kubo, A., and Tanaka, K. (2005) Over-expression of ascorbate peroxidase in tobacco chloroplasts enhances the tolerance to salt stress and water deficit. *Physiol. Plant*, 121, 231–238.
- 43 Morgan, P.W., He, C.J., De Greef, J.A., and De Proft, M.P. (1990) Does water deficit stress promote ethylene synthesis by intact plants? *Plant Physiol.*, 94, 1616–1624.
- 44 Chung, K.M., Igari, K., Uchida, N., and Tasaka, M. (2008) New perspectives on plant defense responses through modulation of developmental pathways. *Mol. Cells*, 26, 107–112.
- 45 Díaz, J., ten Have, A., and van Kan, J.A. (2002) The role of ethylene and wound signaling in resistance of tomato to *Botrytis cinerea. Plant Physiol.*, 129, 1341–1351.
- 46 Bleecker, A.B. and Kende, H. (2000) Ethylene: a gaseous signal molecule in plants. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol., 16, 1–18.
- 47 Nehring, R.B. and Ecker, J.R. (2004) Ethylene responses in seedling growth and development, in *Plant Hormones Biosynthesis, Signal Transduction, Action!* (ed. P.J. Davies), Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 350–368.

- 48 Chae, H.S., Faure, F., and Kieber, J.J. (2003) The eto1, eto2, and eto3 mutations and cytokinin treatment increase ethylene biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis* by increasing the stability of ACS protein. *Plant Cell*, 15, 545–559.
- 49 Ralph, S.G., Hudgins, J.W., Jancsik, S., Franceschi, V.R., and Bohlmann, J. (2007) Aminocyclopropane carboxylic acid synthase is a regulated step in ethylene-dependent induced conifer defense. Full-length cDNA cloning of a multigene family, differential constitutive, and wound- and insectinduced expression, and cellular and subcellular localization in spruce and Douglas fir. *Plant Physiol.*, 143, 410–424.
- 50 Verlinden, S. and Garcia, J.J.V. (2004) Sucrose loading decreases ethylene responsiveness in carnation (*Dianthus caryophyllus* cv. White Sim) petals. *Postharvest Biol. Technol.*, **31**, 305–312.
- 51 Kumar, N., Srivastava, G.C., and Dixit, K. (2008) Effect of ethanol plus sucrose on the vase-life of cut rose (*Rosa hybrida* L.). *J. Horticult. Sci. Biotechnol.*, 83 (6), 749–754.
- 52 Liang, Y.C., Shen, Q.R., Shen, Z.G., and Ma, T.S. (1996) Effects of silicon on salinity tolerance of two barley cultivars. *J. Plant Nutr.*, 19, 173–183.
- 53 Shillo, R., Ding, M., Pasternak, D., and Zaccai, M. (2002) Cultivation of cut flower and bulb species with saline water. *Sci. Hortic.*, 92, 41–54.
- 54 Ishida, A., Shigeoka, H., Nukaya, A., and Masul, M. (1978) Effect of diluted sea water on the growth and yield of roses. *Bull. Fac. Agric. Kyushu Univ.*, 34, 255–263.
- 55 Safi, M.I., Fardous, A., Muddaber, M., El-Zuraiqi, S., Al-Hadidi, L., and Bashabsheh, I. (2005) Effect of treated saline water on flower yield and quality of roses (*Rosa hybrida*) and carnation (*Dianthus caryophyllus*). *Sci. Asia*, **31**, 335–339.
- 56 Singh, B.P. and Hitkara, S.D. (1982) Effect of different salinity and sodicity levels on establishment and bud take performance of various rose rootstocks. *Haryana J. Hortic. Sci.*, 11, 204–207.
- 57 Ishida, A., Masui, M., Nukaya, A., and Ogura, T. (1979) Salt tolerance of roses in

sand and soil culture. J. Jpn. Soc. Hortic. Sci., 47, 517–523.

- 58 Lorenzo, H., Cid, M.C., Siverio, J.M., and Ruano, M.C. (2000) Effects of sodium on mineral nutrition in rose plants. *Ann. Appl. Biol.*, 137, 65–72.
- 59 Savvas, D., Gizas, G., Karras, G., Lydakis-Simantiris, N., Salahas, G., Papadimitriou, M., and Tsouka, N. (2007) Interactions between silicon and NaClsalinity in a soilless culture of roses in greenhouse. *Eur. J. Hortic. Sci.*, 72, 73–79.
- 60 Wahome, P.K., Jesch, H.H., and Grittner, I. (2001) Mechanisms of salt stress tolerance in two rose rootstocks: *Rosa chinensis* 'Major' and *R. rubiginosa. Sci. Hortic.*, 87, 207–216.
- **61** Cabrera, R.I., Solis-Perez, A.R., and Sloan, J.J. (2009) Greenhouse rose yield and ion accumulation responses to salt stress as modulated by rootstock selection. *Hortic. Sci.*, **44** (7), 2000–2008.
- **62** Blanger, R.R., Bowen, P.A., Ehret, D.L., and Menzies, J.G. (1995) Soluble silicon: its role in crop and disease management of greenhouse crops. *Plant Dis.*, **79**, 329–336.
- 63 Blanger, R.R. and Benyagoub, M. (1997) Challenges and prospects for integrated control of powdery mildews in the greenhouse. *Can. J. Plant Pathol.*, 19, 310–314.
- 64 Liang, YC. (1999) Effects of silicon on enzyme activity and sodium, potassium and calcium concentration in barley under salt stress. *Plant Soil.*, 209, 217–224.
- 65 Liang, YC. (1998) Effects of silicon on leaf ultrastructure, chlorophyll content and photosynthetic activity in barley under salt stress. *Pedosphere.*, 8, 289–296.
- **66** Ashraf, M. and Foolad, M.R. (2007) Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, **59**, 206–216.
- 67 Kumar, N., Pal, M., Singh, A., Sairam, R.K., and Srivastava, G.C. (2010) Exogenous proline alleviates oxidative stress and increase vase life in rose (*Rosa hybrida* L. 'Grand Gala'). *Sci. Hortic.*, 127, 79–85.

- 504 19 Rose: Improvement for Crop Productivity
 - 68 Li, G., Wan, S., Zhao, J., Yang, Z., and Qin, P. (2010) Leaf chlorophyll fluorescence, hyperspectral reflectance, pigments contents, malondialdehyde and proline accumulation responses of castor bean (*Ricinus communis* L.) seedlings to salt stress levels. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 31, 13–19.
 - 69 Maas, F.M. and Bakx, E.J. (1995) Effects of light on growth and flowering of *Rosa hybrida* 'Mercedes'. J. Am. Soc. Hortic. Sci., 120, 571–576.
 - 70 Van Labeke, M.C., Dambre, P., and Bodson, M. (2000) Effects of supplementary lighting and bending technique on growth, flowering and carbohydrate status of *Rosa hybrida* 'Frisco'. *Acta Hortic.*, 515, 245–255.
 - 71 Zieslin, N. and Mor, Y. (1990) Light on roses: a review. *Sci. Hortic.*, 43, 1–4.
 - 72 Kool, M.T.N., De Graaf, R., and Rou-Haest, C.H.M. (1997) Rose flower production as related to plant architecture and carbohydrate content: effect of harvesting method and plant type. J. Hortic. Sci., 72, 623–633.
 - 73 Warner, R.M. and Erwin, J.E. (2002) Estimation of total canopy photosynthetic capacity of roses grown under two canopy management systems. *Acta Hortic.*, 580, 89–93.
 - 74 Ballaré, C.L. and Casal, J.J. (2000) Light signals perceived by crop and weed plants. *Field Crops Res.*, 67, 149–160.
 - 75 Asrar, G., Kanemasu, E.T., and Yoshida, M. (1985) Estimation of leaf area index from spectral reflectance of wheat under different cultural practices and solar angles. *Remote Sens. Environ.*, 17, 1–11.
 - 76 Wilson, J.W. (1981) Analysis of light interception by single plants. Ann. Bot., 48, 501–505.
 - 77 Baille, A., Kittas, C., and Katsoulas, N. (2001) Influence of whitening on greenhouse microclimate and crop energy partitioning. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.*, **107**, 93–106.
 - 78 Stanghellini, C., Dai, J., and Kempkes, F. (2011) Effect of near-infrared-radiation reflective screen materials on ventilation requirement, crop transpiration and water use efficiency of a greenhouse rose crop. *Biosyst. Eng.*, **110**, 261–271.

- 79 Hakam, N., Khanizadeh, S., DeEll, J.R., and Richer, C. (2000) Assessing chilling tolerance in roses using chlorophyll fluorescence. *HortScience*, 35, 184–186.
- 80 Lopez-Matas, M.A., Nunez, P., Soto, A., Allona, I., Casado, R., Collada, C., Guevara, M.A., Aragoncillo, C., and Gomez, L. (2004) Protein cryoprotective activity of a cytosolic small heat shock protein that accumulates constitutively in chestnut stems and is up-regulated by low and high temperatures. *Plant Physiol.*, 134, 1708–1717.
- 81 Malik, M.K., Slovin, J.P., Hwang, C.H., and Zimmerman, J.L. (1999) Modified expression of a carrot small heat shock protein gene, hsp17.7, results in increased or decreased thermotolerance double danger. *Plant J.*, 20, 89–99.
- 82 Sanmiya, K., Suzuki, K., Egawa, Y., and Shono, M. (2004) Mitochondrial small heat-shock protein enhances thermotolerance in tobacco plants. *FEBS Lett.*, 557, 265–268.
- 83 Charng, Y.Y., Liu, H.C., Liu, N.Y., Hsu, F. C., and Ko, S.S. (2006) *Arabidopsis* Hsa32, a novel heat shock protein, is essential for acquired thermotolerance during long recovery after acclimation. *Plant Physiol.*, 140, 1297–1305.
- 84 Hamilton, E.W., 3rd, and Heckathorn, S. A. (2001) Mitochondrial adaptations to NaCl. Complex I is protected by antioxidants and small heat shock proteins, whereas complex II is protected by proline and betaine. *Plant Physiol.*, 126, 1266–1274.
- 85 Sato, Y. and Yokoya, S. (2008) Enhanced tolerance to drought stress in transgenic rice plants overexpressing a small heatshock protein, sHSP17.7. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 27, 329–334.
- 86 Sun, W., Bernard, C., van de Cotte, B., Van Montagu, M., and Verbruggen, N. (2001) At-HSP17.6A, encoding a small heat-shock protein in *Arabidopsis*, can enhance osmotolerance upon overexpression. *Plant J.*, 27, 407–415.
- 87 Lee, B.H., Won, S.H., Lee, H.S., Miyao, M., Chung, W.I., Kim, I.J., and Jo, J. (2000) Expression of the chloroplastlocalized small heat shock protein by

oxidative stress in rice. *Gene*, **245**, 283–290.

- 88 Neta-Sharir, I., Isaacson, T., Lurie, S., and Weiss, D. (2005) Dual role for tomato heat shock protein 21: protecting photosystem II from oxidative stress and promoting color changes during fruit maturation. *Plant Cell*, 17, 1829–1838.
- 89 Volkov, R.A., Panchuk, I.I., Mullineaux, P.M., and Schoffl, F. (2006) Heat stress-induced H₂O₂ is required for effective expression of heat shock genes in *Arabidopsis. Plant Mol. Biol.*, 61, 733–746.
- 90 Quartacci, M.F. and Navari-Izzo, F. (1992) Water stress and free radical mediated changes in sunflower seedlings. J. Plant Physiol., 139, 621–625.
- 91 Sairam, R.K., Srivastava, G.C., and Saxena, D.C. (2000) Increased antioxidant activity under elevated temperature: a mechanism of heat stress tolerance in wheat genotypes. *Biol. Plant.*, 43, 245–251.
- 92 Mehlhorn, H., Tabner, B.J., and Wellburn, A.R. (1990) Electron spin resonance evidence for the formation of free radicals in plants exposed to ozone. *Physiol. Plant*, **79**, 377–383.
- 93 Shigeoka, S., Ishikawa, T., Tamoi, M., Miyagawa, Y., Takeda, T., Yabuta, Y., and Yoshimura, K. (2002) Regulation and function of ascorbate peroxidase isoenzymes. J. Exp. Bot., 53, 1305–1319.
- 94 Starzynska, A., Leja, M., and Mareczek, A. (2003) Physiological changes in the antioxidant system of broccoli flower buds senescing during short-term storage, related to temperature and packaging. *Plant Sci.*, 165, 1387–1395.
- 95 Fridovich, I. (1995) Superoxide radical and superoxide dismutases. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.*, 64, 97–112.
- 96 Kumar, N., Srivastava, G.C., and Kiran, D. (2008) Senescence in rose (*Rosa hybrida* L.): role of endogenous antioxidant system. J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol., 83, 125–131.
- 97 Kumar, N., Srivastava, G.C., and Kiran, D. (2008) Antioxidant metabolism during rose (*Rosa hybrida* L.) petal senescence. *J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol.*, 83, 755–759.

- 98 Asada, K., Yoshikawa, K., Takahashi, M., Maeda, Y., and Enmanji, K. (1975) Superoxide dismutase from a blue-green alga *Plectonema boryanum. J. Biol. Chem.*, 250, 2801–2807.
- 99 Aspinal, D. and Paleg, G. (1981) Proline accumulation: physiological aspects, in *The Physiology and Biochemistry of Drought Resistance in Plants* (eds L.G. Paleg and D. Aspinall), Academic Press, Sydney, Australia, pp. 280–295.
- 100 Kumar, N., Pal, M., and Srivastava, G.C. (2009) Proline metabolism in senescing rose petals (*Rosa hybrida* L. 'First Red'). J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol., 84, 536–540.
- 101 Dafny-Yelin, M., Guterman, I., Menda, N., Ovadis, M., Zamir, D., Adam, Z., Weiss, D., and Vainstein, A. (2005) Flower proteome: changes in protein spectrum during the advanced stages of rose petal development. *Planta*, 222, 37–46.
- 102 Ma, N., Tan, H., Liu, X.H., Xue, J.Q., Li, Y.H., and Gao, J.P. (2006) Transcriptional regulation of ethylene receptor and CTR genes involved in ethylene-induced flower opening in cut rose (*Rosa hybrida*) cv. Samantha. J. Exp. Bot., 57, 2763–2773.
- 103 Müller, R., Owen, C.A., Xue, Z.-T., Welander, M., and Stummann, BM. (2002) Characterization of two CTR-like protein kinases in *Rosa hybrida* and their expression during flower senescence and in response to ethylene. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 53, 1223–1225.
- 104 Jiang, C., Xu, J., Zhang, H., Zhang, X., Shi, J., Li, M., and Ming, F. (2009) A cytosolic class I small heat shock protein, RcHSP17.8, of *Rosa chinensis* confers resistance to a variety of stresses to *Escherichia coli*, yeast and *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Cell Environ.*, **32** (8), 1046–1059.
- 105 Kagami, T. and Suzuki, M. (2005) Molecular and functional analysis of a vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter gene of *Rosa hybrida. Genes Genet. Syst.*, 80, 121–128.
- 106 Ma, N., Xue, J., Li, Y., Liu, X., Dai, F., Jia, W., Luo, Y., and Gao, J. (2008) Rh-PIP2;1, a Rose aquaporin gene, is involved in ethylene-regulated petal expansion. *Plant Physiol.*, 148, 894–907.

- **506** 19 Rose: Improvement for Crop Productivity
 - 107 Henry, C., Rabot, A., Laloi, M., Mortreau, E., Sigogne, M., Leduc, N., Lemoine, R., Sakr, S., Vian, A., and Pelleschi-Travier, S. (2011) Regulation of RhSUC2, a sucrose transporter, is correlated with the light control of bud burst in *Rosa* sp. *Plant Cell and Environ*, **34** (10), 1776–1789.
 - 108 Xue, J., Yang, F., and Gao, J. (2009) Isolation of *Rh-TIP1*;1, an aquaporin gene and its expression in rose flowers in response to ethylene and water deficit. *Postharvest Biol. Technol.*, **51**, 407–413.
 - 109 Bressan, R.A., Singh, N.K., Handa, A.K., Mount, R., Clithero, J., and Hasegawa, P. M. (1987) Stability of altered gene expression in cultured plant cells adapted to salt, in *Drought Resistance in Plants: Physiological and Genetic Aspects* (eds L.

Monti and E. Porceddu), Commission of the European Communities, Brussels, pp. 41–57.

- 110 Barthakur, S., Babu, V., and Bansal, K.C. (2001) Over-expression of osmotin induces proline accumulation and confers tolerance to osmotic stress in transgenic tobacco. J. Plant Biochem. Biotechnol., 10, 31–37.
- Husaini, A.M. and Abdin, M.Z. (2008) Development of transgenic strawberry (*Fragaria* × *ananassa Duch*.) plants tolerant to salt stress. *Plant Sci.*, **174**, 446–455.
- 112 Singh, N.K. *et al.* (1987) Characterization of osmotin: a thaumatin-like protein associated with osmotic adaptation in plant cells. *Plant Physiol.*, 85, 529–536.

а

AABB genome 390 ABA-inducible genes 213 abiotic stress - affecting pulse crops 424-426 – and reactive oxygen species 497 - and rose yield 487 - traits mediated by multiple genes 165-167 abscisic acid 94, 166, 167, 205, 208, 459 acetolactate synthase (ALS) chloroplast protein 32 acetyl-CoA carboxylase 389 Achromobacter piechaudii 144 acid soil tolerance, in plants 49 - aluminum, phytotoxic effect 50 -- Al³⁺ ions with cell wall and plasma membrane 52 -- cytoskeletal network of plant cells 51 -- morphophysiological changes in roots 50.51 -- oxidative stress response to Al toxicity 52, 53 - threat to agricultural productivity 49 acquired thermotolerance (ATT) 388, 389 acquired tolerance 325 active oxygen species 35 adaptations, in plants against abiotic/biotic stresses 10, 17-19, 136, 146, 210, 265, 270, 272, 305, 306, 314, 326, 406, 426 aerial fungal diseases 384 Affymetrix ATH1 GeneChip 124 aflatoxins 306, 319 agricultural crops - economic loss, due to O₃ 87 - impacts of ozone, different approaches for assessment 92-94 agricultural productivity - high-yielding crop cultivars 31 - threat, acid soil tolerance, in plants 49

- total factor productivity (TFP) 28 Agrobacterium tumefaciens 33, 146, 397 air pollutant 70 Al-accumulating plants 54 allele-specific associated primers (ASAPs) 371 Al-resistant bean genotype 61 Al-tolerant plants, genetic approach 57-60 - transcriptomics and proteomics tools 60.61 Al toxicity 50, 51 aluminum signal transduction, in plants 55, 56 aluminum stress signaling pathway, in plant cells 53 aluminum tolerance mechanisms, in plants - detoxification, organic acids role 54, 55 - prevention 53 AmA1 gene 36 amino acids 76, 137, 145, 204, 205, 214, 240, 331, 427, 497 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC) 138, 491 - oxidase 491 - synthase 37 amplified fragment length polymorphisms (AFLPs) 39, 330, 390, 397, 432 α -amylase inhibitor-1 (α AI-1) gene 403 Anabaena azollae 188 anemia 238, 239, 241 anoxia response element (ARE) 221 anthropogenic climate change 23. see also global warming antifungal compound-mediated resistance 35, 36 antifungal protein-mediated resistance 35 antiviral RNAi technology 34 Aphis craccivora 363, 395 Aphis glycine 385

Improving Crop Productivity in Sustainable Agriculture, First Edition.

Edited by Narendra Tuteja, Sarvajeet Singh Gill, and Renu Tuteja.

© 2012 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2012 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

apoplast 77 aquaporin (AQP) 206 Arabidopsis thaliana 33, 57, 114, 144, 145, 206, 466, 467 - gene ILR2 160 magnesium transport family 58 Arachis hypogaea. see groundnut; peanut arbuscular mycorrhizae 190, 425 ART1 gene 56 Asaia bogorensis 192 ascorbate peroxidase 52, 78, 93, 143, 209, 490 ascorbic acid (AsA) 59, 77, 78, 94, 96, 137, 218, 455, 458, 471, 490 Aspergillus flavus 306, 319, 390, 391 Aspergillus fumigatus 194, 246 Aspergillus niger 194, 245, 246, 309 Aspergillus parasiticus 306, 319, 334, 390, 391 AtBCB gene 59 AtELP1 receptor genes 61 atmospheric cycle of surface level/ tropospheric O₃ 70 At-mtCS gene 57 AtOPT3 gene 250 ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters 56, 59 auxin downregulated-like protein (ADR6like) 60 auxins 141, 144, 188, 297 Avena fatua 158 Azospirillum brasilense 189 Azotobacter chroococcum 192

b

- Bacillus amyloliquefaciens 36 Bacillus polymyxa 189 Bacillus subtilis 138, 140, 174 Bacillus thuringiensis 32, 33, 146, 372, 394, 397 bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) 397 bacterial biofertilizers 192, 193 bacterial resistance 34, 35 bamboos 289 - annual trade estimation 289 - categories 290 – Dendrocalamus strictus 292 -- factors influence transplantation process 298 -- field trial of 297 -- germination frequencies 297 -- plant regeneration via somatic embryogenesis in callus cultures 298 –– propagation methods 292 -- reports on micropropagation
- reports on micropropagation protocols 294, 295

-- in vitro propagation of 296 - export 290 - genetic improvement for abiotic stress tolerance 291, 292 - micropropagation methods 291 - traditional uses 289 - vegetative propagation 290, 291 Bambusa arundinacea. see bamboos Banana streak virus 159 Barley yellow dwarf virus (BYDV) 158 basic leucine zip-per (bZIP 94) 60 transcription factor 166 bean common mosaic necrotic virus (BCMNV) 385 bean golden mosaic virus (BGMV) 385 begomoviruses 155, 158 Bemisia tabaci 158 bHLH proteins 248 biodiversity 3, 13, 15, 18, 157 biofertilizers 144, 183, 184 - defined 184 - functions of microbes 184, 187 -- Azospirillum 187 -- Azotobacter 187 -- cyanobacteria 188 - inoculation 190 -- carrier materials for 190-192 - mycorrhizae 189, 190 - phosphate solubilizing bacteria 189 - plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) 187, 189 role in crop production, and improvement 192 - type of 184 - vs. chemical and organic fertilizers 184-186 biofilm 139 biofortification 242 - by decreasing antinutrient contents 245, 246 - by increasing iron bioavailability promoting compounds 246, 247 through classical breeding approach 243 - through genetic engineering approach 244, 245 biological nitrogen fixation 369 biotechnology for resistance to biotic stresses 389-391. 403-405 - for tolerance to abiotic stresses 388, 389, 396, 398, 402-404 biotic stresses 135, 144, 173, 331 breeding programs 408, 437, 453 Bruchids-resistant chickpeas 370 Bt crops 146

С

calcineurin 51 calcium 49, 51, 58, 240, 318, 461 - sensors 427 calcium-dependent protein kinases (CDPKs) 166, 427 Calvin cycle 82.84 carbon dioxide (CO₂) 25, 69 - atmospheric concentrations 364 - emission, global share 26 - plant canopy CO₂ levels 460 plant growth 27 carbon monoxide (CO) 71 carotenoids 80, 362 case studies, in major crop plants 88 - bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) 92 - linseed (Linum usitatissimum L.) 92 - maize (Zea mays L.) 91, 92 - pepper (Capsicum annuum L.) 92 - rice (Oryza sativa L.) 88, 89 - wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) 89, 91 cassava mosaic disease (CMD) 156 cassava mosaic virus 156 catalase 96, 120, 143, 144, 209, 210, 217, 218 cauliflower mosaic virus 158 CBF-dependent signaling pathway 466 CBF protein 175 C. cajan hybrid proline-rich protein (CcHyPRP) 396 cDNA library 388, 391, 392, 434, 452 cereals 237 chaperones 137, 146, 167, 207, 208, 212, 393 – molecular 167 Chenopodium amaranticolor 158 chickpea 11, 123, 176, 206, 207, 362 - biotechnology for tolerance to abiotic stresses 392-395 - gene technology, applications 372 genetic engineering for abiotic stresses tolerance 365, 366 - modern molecular breeding approaches for biotic stress tolerance 369-372 - production -- abiotic constraints to 363, 364 -- biotic constraints in 366-369 children - undernourished 7.8 - underweight 8, 9 China 70, 72 - ESTs generated in peanut by different approaches 332 - exporter of bamboo shoot products 290 – groundnut as major crop 307

- as pulse-importing countries 424

– roses 486 chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) emissions 25, 26 chlorophyll 80, 93, 94, 269, 388, 491, 499 chlorosis 245 Chorispora bungeana 119 Cicer arietinum L. see Chickpea citrate synthase (CS) gene 57 climate change impact, and vulnerability 9-13 climate fund 21, 22 climate resilient agriculture 18-22 climate smart agriculture (CSA) 21 coat protein-mediated resistance (CP-MR) 34 cold shock proteins (CSPs) 167 Colletotrichum lagenarium 36 Colocasia esculenta L. 54 conservation agriculture (CA) technologies 30 corporate social responsibility (CSR) 22 C₄ plant 262 crop productivity, improvements 28, 29 - climatic factors 29 -- atmospheric humidity 30 -- precipitation 29 -- solar radiation 30 -- temperature 29 -- wind velocity 30, 31 - molecular breeding 39, 40 - plant genetic engineering 31 -- abiotic stress tolerance 38, 39 -- disease resistance 33-36 -- herbicide resistance 32 -- improving postharvest traits 37 -- insect resistance 32, 33 -- male sterility 36 -- molecular farming/pharming 37 -- nutritional quality, improving 36 cucumber mosaic virus (CMV) 34, 158 cultivar sensitivity, in relation to growth and vield 84, 85, 87 Curvularia protuberata 159 Cyamopsis tetragonolobus 192 cyanamide hydratase 400 Cymbopogon martinii 189 cytokinins 94, 144, 214, 249

d

deforestation 16, 24, 290 dehydration response element binding protein 166, 207, 213, 365, 437 dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR) 52, 59, 78.218 Dendrocalamus strictus. see Bamboos

detoxification 32, 54, 59, 78, 137, 210, 325

 ROS detoxification mechanisms 77, 78 detoxifying genes 208-210 dietary energy supply (DES) 6 DNA fingerprinting 370, 463 DNA marker technologies 31 DNA profiling 39 DNA viruses 159 DREB1A transgenic wheat 222 drought-resistant 176, 404, 429 genotypes 268 drought responsive element (DRE) 428 drought stress-induced MAPKs 117, 119 drought tolerance 137, 263, 386 – in *C. cajan* 431 - in chickpea 434 - constitutive expression of ABF3 or ABF4 and 213 - in cowpea 402 - genetic improvement in 265, 266 maize modified for 175 - in Malus 139 physiological mechanisms contributing in groundnut 320 - PVC pipes for 208 - transgenic approach to enhance 340 - in transgenic Arabidopsis 214

– and water use efficiency 425

е

Ebola virus 155
5-enol-pyruvylshikimic acid 3-phosphate synthase (EPSPS) 32
environmental safety 16
Erysiphe pisi 384
Escherichia coli 146, 174, 205, 210
expressed sequence tags (EST) 39, 391, 399, 423, 430
extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins 393

f

ferritin 239, 240, 244, 245, 252 fisheries 20, 21 flavonol 3-O-glucosyl-transferase (F30GT) gene 331 Flavr Savr, tomato variety 37 food fortification 240, 241, 242 – programs 238 food grain production 19 food security 382 – agricultural production 3 – climate change 3 – GDP in agriculture/nonagriculture sectors 4, 5 – Green Revolution, in India 4 - natural resources 3 - state of 6-9 forests, benefits 16 fossil fuel combustion 25 Fragaria - abiotic factors, and agronomic aspects 453-466 -- botany and distribution 453, 454 -- nutritionals and phytochemicals 454, 455 -- production and environment, economic aspects 455-457 - abiotic stress, omics approaches 467-473 -- genomic approaches 467-469 -- metabolomic approaches 470-473 -- proteomic approaches 469 - biology-related issues for improvements 480 - breeding and development, technologydriven innovations 480 - breeding toward abiotic factors 461-466 –– cultivation and berry production 461, 462 -- fresh market quality and consumer demand 462 --marker-assisted breeding (MAB) 463-466 -- postharvest and food chain 462 -- processing and industry 462, 463 -- varieties and hybrids, classical breeding 463 - economically important species worldwide 454 - genetically modified (GM) plants 466 - production, abiotic factors in 458-461 -- abiotic stress alleviation, through agricultural practice 461 -- atmospheric gases and airborne contamination 460, 461 -- light 458, 459 -- soil 460 -- temperature 459 -- water 459, 460 - production, economy, and climatic parameters 456, 457 - systems biology as tool 473-479 -- network-based approaches 477-479 -- omics data integration 474-476 -- pathway modeling and "virtual plant" concept 477 -- plant/crops systems biology 476 freezing tolerance 452 frost-tolerant varieties 459 fruit ripening 37 functional genomics approaches 392 functional proteins 217

fungal biofertilizers 194

fungal resistance 35, 36 *Fusarium oxysporum* 35, 368, 384 Fusarium wilt (FW) 384

g

galactinol 204, 471, 473 GDP in agriculture/nonagriculture sectors 4.5 Generation Challenge Programme (GCP) 438 genetically modified (GM) crops 163, 466 - abiotic stress 164, 165 -- traits mediated by multiple genes 165-167 - commercialization 163, 164 - development 365 - engineered by traditional breeding, and mutagenesis 176, 177 - pleiotropy and abiotic stress responses 167, 168 - risk assessment, and abiotic stress tolerance 169-171 -- allergenic/toxic substance, production of 171, 172 -- gene transfer to another organism 175, 176 -- horizontal gene transfer 175, 176 -- invasiveness/weediness 172, 173 -- pleiotropic effects 173-175 -- standard comparator for 171 genetic improvement for abiotic stress tolerance 291, 292 genetic linkage maps 337-339 Genome Database for Rosaceae (GDR) 475 genome projects of higher plants 464, 465 genotoxic agents 111 gibberellins 94, 144 global food security 70 global hunger index (GHI) 7, 8 global warming 4, 11, 23, 24, 27, 290, 362, 367.382 Glomus aggregatum 189 Glomus intraradices 144 Glomus mosseae 144 glutamate 141, 142 glutathione 78, 137, 246 glutathione reductase (GR) 52, 78 glutathione S-transferase (GST) 209 glutathione synthase (GS) 491 glycine betaine 141, 204, 205 Glycine max 205, 426, 464 Gossypium hirsutum 119 grain legumes - biotechnological interventions in crop improvement 381-409

- future prospects 407 - improvement, biotechnological interventions in 387-407 -- chickpea 391-395 -- common beans 403-405 -- cowpea 401-403 -- groundnut 387-391 -- lentils 405-407 -- pigeonpea 395-398 -- soybean 398-401 - integration of technologies 407, 408 - production, constraints for 383-386 -- abiotic stresses 386 -- biotic stresses 383-386 Green Agriculture 16 greenhouse gases (GHGs) 4, 24-26 Green Revolution - food-deficit country to food self-sufficient nation 6 – in India 4 - process 14 groundnut - diversity 307 - drought adaptation, physiological traits to improve 326-330 - drought tolerance, physiological mechanisms contributing to 320, 321 -- acquired thermotolerance 325, 326 -- epicuticular wax 324 -- surrogate measures of TE 322-324 -- survival under, and recovery from drought 324, 325 -- transpiration efficiency (TE) 321, 322 -- water extraction efficiency 321 - genetic linkage maps 337-339 - genetic variability, biometric parameters among germplasm 340 - genomic resources 330, 331 -- ESTs libraries 331-337 -- genic and genomic SSR marker resources 330 - global groundnut area 307, 308 - grain legumes improvement, biotechnological interventions in 387-391 -- for abiotic stresses tolerance 388, 389 -- for biotic stresses resistance 389-391 - importance of 306 - major abiotic stresses 307, 309 - origin 307 - production 307, 308 - response to water deficits at crop level 309 -- at different stages of crop growth 311-313 -- effects of multiple water deficits 309-311

-- effects on yield 309

- on physiological processes 313–318
- on seed quality 318–320
- transgenic approach to enhance drought tolerance 340–343
groundnut rosette disease (GRD) 390
guaiacol peroxidase (GPOX) 52

h

Halliwell–Asada cycle 78 Hardenbergia comptoniana 157 Hardenbergia mosaic virus (HarMV) 157 heat shock protein genes 211, 212 heat tolerance 263 helper component of proteinase (HC-Pro) gene 34 hemochrome 239 herbicide-resistant crops (HRCs) 146 herbivory 135 horizontal gene transfer, in plants 175 hormones 249 H₂O₂ scavenging enzymes 497 host-pathogen system 406 human endogenous retroviral (HERV) elements 159 hunger, in developing world 6 HVA1 gene 207 HvNAS1 gene 244 hybridization 3, 60, 173, 176, 271, 331, 337, 387, 429, 437, 453, 486 hydrologic cycle 29

i

independent component analysis (ICA) 478 India 70 - economically important bamboos 292 - food security, Green Revolution 4 - future O₃ hot spot 74 - management of rains 15 - trends of tropospheric ozone concentration in 73 – undernourished people 7 insect-resistant crops 146 integrated crop management (ICM) 16 integrated nutrient management (INM) 16 integrated pest management (IPM) 16 integrated systems approach 476 integrated water management (IWM) 16 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) 24 International Center of Tropical Agriculture (CIAT) 429 International Structural Genomics Organization Initiatives (ISGO) 474 iodine (I) 238, 239

iron

- absorption 240 - deficiency anemia 238 - in human physiology, importance 239 - signaling, and sensing in plants 249 - source for human nutrition 239-241 - supplementation 241 -- pharmaceutical preparation 241 - transport within plant 249 -- chloroplasts 251, 252 -- intercellular iron transport 249, 250 -- mitochondria 252 -- subcellular iron transport 250 -- vacuoles 251 - uptake and transport in plants 247 -- chelation strategy 248 -- reduction strategy 247 -- regulation of the reduction strategy 248

k

kernels 306 Klebsiella ozaenae 32

I

Lactuca sativa L. 144 late embryogenesis abundant proteins 207, 208 late embryogenesis abundant (LEA) proteins 38, 207, 208 leaf area index (LAI) 27, 493 life savior 25 linoleic acid 318 lipid biosynthesis 389 – multifunctional genes 210 low-temperature-responsive elements (LTRDs) 221 Lupinus angustifolius 157 Lycopersicon esculentum 33

m

Macrotyloma uniflorum 435 malnutrition 238, 239 Manihot esculenta 155 man-made intelligent systems 475 mannitol 204 mannopine (MOP) 141 mannose-6-phosphate reductase (M6PR) gene 205 MAP kinase 38 MAPK phosphatases 112 marker-assisted backcrossing (MABC) 408,433 marker-assisted breeding (MAB) 434, 463 marker-assisted recurrent selection (MARS) 408

marker-assisted selection (MAS) 361, 388, 399, 405, 432, 433, 463 matrix attachment regions (MARs) 394 Medicago sativa 114, 192, 209 Melastoma malabathricum 55 Mendel's laws 429 metabolic pathway databases 477 metabolome 125, 364, 475, 480 metabolomics 87, 111, 123, 127, 408, 467, 471, 474, 480 metallothionein proteins (MTs) 246 metal transporters 251 methane 71 O-methyl inositol (D-ononitol) 205 microarray analyses 500 micronutrient malnutrition (MNM) 237, 238 - approaches to decrease 238-240 - biofortification 242 -- by decreasing antinutrient contents 245, 246 -- by increasing iron bioavailability promoting compounds 246, 247 – through classical breeding approach 243 -- through genetic engineering approach 244, 245 - daily requirements in human diet, guide lines 238 - disease reduction 241 - food fortification 241, 242 - pharmaceutical preparation 241 Microplitis mediator 367 Millennium Development Goal 1 (MDG1) 6 mitigations programs 10, 17, 18 mitochondria 55, 76, 209, 252 mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAP kinases) 110, 166, 167 - crosstalk between plant -- in abiotic stress signaling 122, 123 - from different plant sources involved in abiotic stresses 118 - in heavy metal signaling 122 - MAP kinase cascades 111 -- under salt stress 117 - MAPK kinase kinases 110 - MAPKKKs, phylogenetic tree of -- from different plant species 113 - MAPK pathway, and components 112 -- MAP2Ks 114 -- MAP3Ks 112-114 - omics analyses of plants under abiotic stress 123-127 – ozone-induced 121 - signaling cascade in abiotic stress 115-117, 122, 123, 427

- stressor-specific induction of MAPK genes 111 - temperature stress response, and MAPK cascades 119, 120 - wounding-induced 121 monitoring, reporting, and verification (MRV) 21 monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDAR) 52, 59, 78, 209 mugineic acids (MAs) 248 multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) family 57, 58, 61 multi-parallel "-omics" approaches in modern biology 88 multiple sequence alignments (MSA) 392 mutagenesis 176 mutants - Arabidopsis frataxin mutant 250 - fit mutant 248 - fro7 mutant 252 - nramp3 nramp4 double mutants 251 - opt3-2 mutant 250 - pic1 mutant 252 - sta1 mutant 252 myelin basic protein (MBP) 111 myo-inositol methyltransferase (IMT) 205

n

natsiRNA (nat-siRNAATGB2) 33 natural resources management 13-16 necrosis 206 necrotrophic fungal disease 384 network-based approaches 477-479, 478 - coexpression networks 479 - correlation studies using multivariate data 478 - gene regulatory networks 478, 479 - protein-protein interaction (PPI) networks 478 next-generation sequencing (NGS) 435, 480 N₂-fixing bacteria 190 Nicotiana benthamiana 57, 158, 331 Nicotiana tabacum 158, 244 nitrate reductase (NR) 491 nitric oxide (NO) 249 - antioxidant role of 56 nitrogen 93, 138, 316, 326 - biological fixation 369, 409, 434 - symbiotic nitrogen fixation 315 - use efficiency (NUE) 28 nitrogen-fixing biofertilizer 184 nitrogen oxides (NO_x) emissions 72 nonmethane organic compounds 71 NPK fertilizer 93

Nrat1 (Nramp aluminum transporter 1) 58 nuclear transfer factor (NTF) domain 117 nucleotide binding domain (NBD) 59 NUE. *see* nitrogen, use efficiency (NUE) null phenotype 36 Nutritional Anaemia Control Programme 239 nutritional deficiencies 237, 238. *see also* micronutrient malnutrition (MNM)

0

Ochrobactrum anthropi 146 Oidium lycopersicum 146 oleic acid 318, 319 omics analyses, of plants under abiotic stress 70, 87, 88, 123-127, 453, 475 organic waste management 26 orphan crop legume 395 Oryza sativa L. 57, 112, 204, 237 osmoadaptation 137 osmolytes 137, 141, 142, 222, 365, 394 osmoprotectants 204-207 osmotin 207, 499 oxalic acid 54, 55, 194, 263, 369, 391 oxidative injury 218 oxidative protection 209 oxidative stress 52, 59, 60, 111, 121, 209, 210, 316, 490, 496, 497 ozone (O₃) 71 - causing reduction in level of RNA transcript 82 – flux 82 - formation, depends upon 71 - induced MAPKs 121 - mechanism of uptake 75, 76 - mode of action 76, 77 - sensing, and signal transduction 76, 77 - tolerant genotypes 78

р

Paenibacillus polymyxa 144, 193 Pantoea agglomerans 193 papaya resistant to papaya ringspot virus (PRSV) 34 pararetroviruses 159 *pAtGSTII::GUS* gene 56 pathogen-derived resistance (PDR) 34, 390 pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins 89 peanut clump virus 390 peanut stripe potyvirus (PStV) 390 pearl millet 262 – abiotic stresses 263 – agroclimatic conditions 262 – biotic stresses 263 - conventional breeding 266 -- adapted germplasm for stress environments 270, 271 -- exploitation of heterosis 272, 273 -- genetic diversification of drought-adapted germplasm 271 -- selection criteria 268-270 -- selection environment 266-268 -- yield improvement 270 - cultivation across world 262, 263 - drought effects, at specific growth stages 264 -- reproductive phase 265 -- seedling phase 264 -- vegetative phase 264, 265 - genetic improvement, in drought tolerance 265, 266 - heat tolerance 274 -- at reproductive stage 275-277 -- at seedling stage 274, 275 - molecular breeding 273, 274 -- general combining ability (GCA) for grain vield 274 -- quantitative trait loci (QTL) 274 - salinity tolerance 277-279 -- salinity-tolerant breeding material, performance of 278 pectin methylesterase (PME) 60 PEG in hydroponics 222 Penicillium bilaiae 194 Penicillium radicum 194 Pennisetum glaucum. see pearl millet permease in chloroplasts 1 (PIC1) 252 peroxidase 93 pest management programs 373 PGPR as abiotic stress ameliorating agent 138, 139 phaeophytin 84 Phaseolus vulgaris 192 phloem-specific rolC promoter 395 phosphate solubilizing bacteria (PSB) 189 phosphinothricin acetyltransferase (PAT) 32, 125 phosphoenol pyruvate (PEP) 366 phosphoenol pyruvate carboxylase (PEPC) 366 phosphorous 49, 54, 138, 263 photooxidation 80 photooxidative stress 82 photoperiod affect 396 photophosphorylation 82 photorespiration 28 photosynthesis 27, 30, 80, 82, 94, 274, 316, 317, 493, 494

photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) 458, 493 photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) 458 photosystem II (PSII) 492 phylogenomics 125 physiological evaluation, stress effect 221 physiological mechanisms 217, 364 contributing to drought tolerance in groundnut 320 phytic acid 240, 242, 243 phytohormone 144 Phytophthora parasitica 146 phytoremediation 143 plant-delivered RNAi 372 plant genetic engineering 31, 372 - abiotic stress tolerance 38, 39 - disease resistance 33-36 - DNA marker technologies 31 - herbicide resistance 32 - improving postharvest traits 37 - insect resistance 32, 33 - male sterility 36 - molecular farming/pharming 37 - nutritional quality, improvements 36 plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) 138, 145 - as abiotic stress ameliorating agent 138, 139 - action against multiple pathogens 139, 140 determinants of colonization in stressed environment 140-143 - development and commercialization -- approaches and limitations 145, 146 - implications of bacterial genes for transgenic development 146 - mediated induction of defense mechanism 143, 144 - modulation of plant genes through bacterial intervention 144, 145 plant-mediated strategies to elicit stresses 136, 137 plant nutrient uptake, effect of stress on 137, 138 plasma membrane 52 Plasmodium vivax 241 plastoquinone acceptor 84 pleiotropy 167 polluting gas 25 polyamines 204, 206, 220 polyphenolic compounds 240 polyphenol oxidase (PPO) 143 popA gene 146

Populus trichocarpa 112 poverty, in developing world 6 precision agriculture 30 principal component analysis (PCA) 478 program cell death 491 projected trends of ozone concentrations 74.75 proline 137, 141, 142, 206 proline dehydrogenase (PDH) 497 promoters selections 220, 221 protease inhibitors 370 Protein Data Bank (PDB) 474 protein nutritive value 382 protein-protein interaction (PPI) networks 124, 478 proteomics 60, 61, 87, 92, 111, 125, 393, 474 protocols, to apply drought and salinity stress 223, 224 - phases, plant undergo under drought 223 - procedures for salinity evaluation 224 -- avoidance of Na⁺ accumulation 224 -- salt concentrations 224 Pseudomonas aeruginosa 57 Pseudomonas bacterial flagellin-derived peptide 33 Pseudomonas fluorescens 140 Pseudomonas fortinii 193 Pseudomonas mendocina 144 Pseudomonas putida 140, 193 Pseudomonas syringae 33 PTrx gene 60 pulse crops - abiotic stress tolerance enhancement, biotechnological strategies to 423-438 -- breeding 428-430 -- genetic mapping and QTL analysis 432-434 -- mining germplasm resources 430 -- mutagenesis and tilling 430-432 -- transcriptomic resources 434, 435 -- transgenic approaches 435, 436 -- in vitro regeneration and transformation 436-438 - major and minor 423, 424 - production, global and different countries from FAOStat 424 - stress tolerance mechanisms 426-428 pyramiding drought traits, by transgenic approach 341 Δ^1 -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS) 205, 365, 399, 437 pyruvate decarboxylase 1 (pdc1) gene 206

q

quantitative proteomic profiling 480 quantitative trait locus (QTL) studies 39, 339, 364, 371, 386, 401, 406, 423, 432, 463, 479 quaternary ammonium compounds 137

r

raffinose pathway 471, 473 rainwater harvesting 15 Ralstonia solanacearum 146 RAPD markers 371 reactive oxygen species (ROS) 52, 70, 120, 206, 251, 426, 485, 490, 497 Reaumuria soongorica 128 redox state 77 reduced glutathione (GSH) 78 regulatory genes 212 reproductive developmental processes 491 restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLPs) 39 retrovirus 159 Rhizobium leguminosarum 192 ribosome inactivating proteins (RIPs) 35 ribulose-1,5-bisphosphatase carboxylase/ oxygenase 490 Rice Proteome Database 125 RIL mapping population 370 Rinderpest 155 RNAi technology 390 RNA-mediated gene silencing (RNA silencing) 35, 467 RNA viruses 159 roots, growth inhibition 51 root system 494 Rosa corymbifera 486 Rosa glauca 486 Rosa moyesii 486 Rosa multiflora 487 Rosa rubiginosa 486 Rosa sericea 486 rose abiotic stress and reactive oxygen species 497 - abiotic stress and rose yield 487-496 -- drought stress 487-491 -- ethylene biosynthesis 490, 491 -- high-temperature stress 494-496 -- light stress 493, 494 -- low-temperature stress 494 -- salt stress 491-493 - abiotic stress tolerance, stress-related genes 497-499 – crop productivity improvement 485–500

– stress-related genes 498

Rosellinia necatrix partitivirus 2 (RnPV2) 160 ROS scavenging system 137, 217, 218, 393 Rubisco activity 80, 366, 490

S

Saccharomyces cerevisiae 252 S-adenosyl methionine (SAM) 491 Salicornia brachiata 119 salicylic acid 94, 140, 144 salinity 111, 134, 135, 136, 263 - stress 392 - tolerance 263 salinity tolerance index (STI) 278 salt-adapted cells 499 salt-sensitive plant 136 salt stress 117 SAT areas 382 scaffold attachment regions (SARs) 394 selenium (Se) 239 self-organizing maps (SOM) 478 semiarid tropic (SAT) regions 391, 425 sequence-characterized amplified regions (SCARs) 39 sequence tagged microsatellite sites (STMS) markers 394 sequence-tagged sites (STS) 39 signaling systems 477 signal transduction genes 216, 217 signal transduction pathways 427, 428 simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers 39, 388, 397 single action genes 204 - detoxifying genes 208-210 - functional proteins 217 - heat shock protein genes 211, 212 - late embryogenesis abundant proteins 207.208 - multifunctional genes for lipid biosynthesis 210 - osmoprotectants 204-207 - regulatory genes 212 - ROS scavenging system 217, 218 - signal transduction genes 216, 217 - sodium transporters 218, 219 - transcription factors 212-215 single feature polymorphisms (SFPs) 396 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) 39.435 - based linkage map 479 SNAC1-overexpressing rice plants 39 sodium transporters 218, 219 soil loss/annual runoff, from agroecological regions 13 Solanum chacoense 114

Solanum habrochaites 158 Solanum lycopersicum 248 Solanum tuberosum 120 solulin 37 Sorghum bicolor 112 soybean trypsin inhibitor (SBTI) genes 398 special economic zones (SEZs) 15 SSR marker 390, 433 sterility mosaic disease (SMD) 385 sterilization 191, 192 Strawberries. see Fragaria Strawberry Genome Sequencing Consortium 468 Streptomyces hygroscopicus 32 stress-induced protein 466 stress-responsive gene SNAC1 38 stress-responsive protein 485, 499 stress tolerance mechanisms 426-428 stress-tolerant organisms 204 stress-tolerant transgenic crops 137 sulfur transmembrane transport protein 60 superoxide dismutase (SOD) 52, 93, 143, 209, 490 suppressive subtractive hybridization (SSH) 391

system of rice intensification (SRI) 19

t

targeting-induced local lesions in genomes (TILLING) strategy 431, 432 temperature-humidity index (THI) 11, 12 thermal dissipation energy, under O₃ exposure 80 tissue culture approaches 291 tobacco GDP-dissociation inhibitor gene (NtGDI1) 59 tobacco mosaic virus (TMV) 158 tobacco rattle virus (TRV) 158, 372 Tobacco vein clearing virus 159 tolerance, and yield stability 136 tomato spotted wilt virus (TSWV) 390 tonoplast intrinsic protein (TIP) 206 total factor productivity (TFP) 28 traits - abiotic stress, mediated by multiple genes 165 - associated with -- cell turgor 321 -- cellular level tolerance 321

-- plant type 321

- -- positive carbon balance 321
- GM abiotic stress tolerance 171, 177
- integration to improve drought adaptation 326–330

- nutritional 176 - postharvest, engineering for improvement 37 transcript (transcriptomics) 80, 87, 88, 110, 123, 127, 395, 474 transcription factors 212-215 transcription regulatory network 478 transgenic approaches 436, 500 transgenic composite plants 405 transgenic modifications, of biosynthetic and metabolic pathways 206 transgenic tobacco 365, 499 transpiration efficiencies (TE) 321-324, 389 trehalose 141, 146, 204, 220 tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle 54 Trifolium repens 82 Trigonella foenum-graecum 192 trihydroxynaphthalene (THN) reductase gene 36 Triticum aestivum L. see wheat Triticum turgidum root tips 51 tropospheric ozone (O_3) 69 - estimates of economic loss for different crops due to 86 - and generated ROS 80 - impact on lipid peroxidation 79 interaction with other components 94 -- elevated CO2 and O3 interaction 94, 95 -- O3 and drought interaction 95 -- O3 and UV-B interaction 95, 96 - on photosynthetic pigments, impact 81

и

- United States 70
- breeding efforts 461
- Chickpea introduction 391
- CO₂ emission 25
- Lentils 405
- ozone concentrations 72
- strawberry industries 466
- tomato variety "Flavr Savr" 37
- Uromyces viciae-fabae 384

V

vacuolar iron transporter 1 (VIT1) 251 vertical gene transfer, in plants 176 *Vicia faba* roots 52 *Vigna aconitifolia* 38 virus resistance – antiviral RNAi technology 34, 35 – coat protein-mediated resistance (CP-MR) 34

vitamin A 241, 242, 466

- supplementation programs 238

Vitis vinifera 112 volatile organic compounds (VOCs) 72

w

water conservation, uses 13, 14 water deficiency 460 water extraction efficiency 321 water-use efficiencies (WUE) 222, 366 weather, statistical distribution. see climate change weediness 171-173, 175, 177 West Asia-North Africa (WANA) region 405 wheat - abiotic stress tolerance traits 170 - heat waves affect 133 – metadata analyses 80 - in open-top chamber studies 85 - O₃ response 89, 91 - osmotic adjustment 326 - overexpression of -- DREB1A 365

- -- TaALMT1 58
- proteome under elevated O3 stress 91

tolerant wheat varieties and buckwheat 55
transgenic wheat line 35
white clover cryptic virus (WCCV) 159
whole-genome sequencing approaches 467, 474
winter-active rootstocks
comparative evaluation 496
selections 485

x

Xenopous oocytes 57 Xenopus laevis oocytes 59 xerophthalmia 241 X-ray crystallography 474

Y

ysl1 ysl3 double mutants 250

z

Zea mays 117, 248 zinc (Zn) 239 ZIP transporters 252